ARTICLES WRITTEN BY 

Dallas Bogan for The LaFollette Press

And The Volunteer Times

Campbell County, Tennessee

SOAP MAKING IN THE OLD DAYS


I can well remember my grandmother making soap in years gone by. I have been searching for some time the method of this process. I have received  permission from the author of the following to write of this procedure. Perhaps many of the readers remember the times of soap making and possibly have been involved in this somewhat ancient craft.


At first the earliest settlers simply brought an abundant supply of soap along with them. The Talbot, a ship chartered by the Massachusetts Bay Company to carry persons and supplies from England to its colonies at Naumbeak, now known as Salem and Boston, listed among its cargo 2 firkins of soap. A firkin is an old measurement which was a wooden, hooped barrel of about nine gallon capacity. John Winthrop, who was to become the first governor of the Massachusetts Bay Colony, when writing to his wife in 1630 from Boston included soap in a list of requirements to be brought on her crossing to the New world.


After the colonists were settled and had been able to survive the first years of hardships, they found it more beneficial to make soap themselves using the plentiful amount of wood ashes, an accepted result of their farmstead activities. With also a plentiful supply of animal fat from the butchering of the animals they used for food, the colonists had on hand all the ingredients for soap making. They did not have to rely on waiting for soap to be shipped from England and waste their goods or few pieces of currency in trade for soap.


Soap with some work and luck could be made for free. Soap making was performed as a yearly or semiannual event on the homesteads of the early settlers. As the butchering of animals took place in the fall, soap was made at that time on many homesteads and farms to utilize the large supply of tallow and lard that resulted. On the homes or farms where butchering was not done, soap was generally made in the spring using the ashes from the winter fires and the waste cooking grease, that had accumulated throughout the year.


In making soap the first ingredient required was a liquid solution of potash commonly called lye. The lye solution was obtained by placing wood ashes in a bottomless barrel set on a stone slab with a groove and a lip carved in it. The stone in turn rested on a pile of rocks. To prevent the ashes from getting in the solution a layer of straw and small sticks was placed in the barrel then the ashes were put on top. The lye was produced by slowly pouring water over the ashes until a brownish liquid oozed out the bottom of the barrel. This solution of potash lye was collected by allowing it to flow into the groove around the stone slab and drip down into a clay vessel at the lip of the groove.


Some colonists used an ash hopper for the making of lye instead of the barrel method. The ash hopper was kept in a shed to protect the ashes from being leached accidentally by a rain fall. Ashes were added every so often and water was poured over at intervals to insure a constant supply of lye. The lye dripped into a collecting vessel located beneath the hopper.


The preparation of the fats or grease to be used in forming the soap was the next step. This consists of cleaning the fats and grease of all other impurities contained in them.


The cleaning of fats is called rendering and is the smelliest part of the soap making operation. Animal fat, when removed from the animals during butchering, must be rendered before soap of any satisfactory quality can be made from it. This rendering removes all meat tissues that still remain in the fat sections. Fat obtained from cattle is called tallow while fat obtained from pigs is called lard.


If soap was being made from grease saved from cooking fires, it was also rendered to remove all impurities that had collected in it. The waste cooking grease being saved over a period of time without the benefits of refrigeration usually became rancid, This cleaning step was very important to make the grease sweeter. It would result in a better smelling soap. The soap made from stale fats or grease would work just as well as soap made from sweet and clean fats but not be as pleasant to have around and use.


To render, fats and waste cooking grease were placed in a large kettle and an equal amount of water was added. Then the kettle was placed over the open fire outdoors. Soap making was an outside activity. The smell from rendering the fats was too strong to wish in anyone's house. The mixture of fats and water were boiled until all the fats had melted. After a longer period of boiling to insure completion of melting the fats. The fire was stopped and into the kettle was placed another amount of water about equal to the first amount of water. The solution was allowed to cool down and left over night. By the next day the fats had solidified and floated to the top forming a layer of clean fat. All the impurities being not as light as the fat remained in water underneath the fat.


In another large kettle or pot the fat was placed with the amount of lye solution determined to be the correct amount. This is easier said than done. We will discuss it more later. Then this pot was placed over a fire again outdoors and boiled. This mixture was boiled until the soap was formed. This was determined when the mixture boiled up into a thick frothy mass, and a small amount placed on the tongue caused no noticeable "bite". This boiling process could take up to six to eight hours depending on the amount of the mixture and the strength of the lye.


Soap made with wood ash lye does not make a hard soap but only a soft soap. When the fire was put out and the soap mixture was allowed to cool, the next day revealed a brown jelly like substance that felt slippery to the touch, made foam when mixed with water, and cleaned. This is the soft soap the colonists had done all their hard to produce. The soft soap was then poured into a wooden barrel and ladled out with a wooden dipper when needed.


To make hard soap, common salt was thrown in at the end of the boiling. If this was done a hard cake of soap formed in a layer at the top of the pot. As common salt was expensive and hard to get, it was not usually wasted to make hard soap. Common salt was more valuable to give to the livestock and the preserving of foods. Soft soap worked just as well as hard and for these reasons the colonists, making their own soap, did not make hard soap bars.


In towns and cities where there were soap makers making soap for sale, the soap would be converted to the hard soap by the addition of salt. As hard bars it would be easier to store and transport. Hard bars produced by the soap maker were often scented with oils such as lavender, wintergreen, or caraway and were sold as toilet soap to persons living in the cities or towns.


Hard soap was not cut into small bars and wrapped as soap is sold today. Soap made by the soap makers was poured into large wooden frames and removed when cooled and hard.


The amount of soap a customer wanted was cut from the large bar. Soap was sold usually by the pound. Small wrapped bars were not available until the middle of the 19th century.


Another thought to remember is the soap making procedure described is not only how the homesteading colonial women made their soap. Soap making was generally a task the women did. This was essentially the method used by all soap makers of the period. Soap making was always considered one of the most difficult jobs on the farm or homestead.

THE BRICEVILLE AIR FORCE BASE


The Federal Government, in the late 1940s, deemed it necessary to install an early warning system for Oak Ridge. The solution for this plan was the organization of the 663rd Aircraft Control and to install a radar facility as a warning in case of an enemy attack. 


Construction began in 1950 and was finalized in 1951. And-so, the 663rd Aircraft Control and Warning Squadron (AC&W) was conceived and moved into its new facility on Cross Mountain above Briceville in Anderson County, Tennessee. 


The road to this facility was in an atrocious state. Apparently some Air Force person painted a sign which read, “Speed Limit, Eighteen holes per hour.” Another read, “Bridge Not Out, Just Going.” Major Lockwood, base commander, stated that he was authorized by the United States Government to spend money on the road if needed. It was further stated that a road be built from Vasper to the base, nearly all of it in Campbell County. This never happened.


The base, after a shaky start, was finally established. To reach the top of Cross Mountain and the radar base, a “bucket system” was used by way of a 10,000-ft. (nearly two miles) tramway. (The radar tower reached a height of nearly 1,000-ft. above the mountain.) 


In February 1958, Guy Easterly, former “LaFollette Press” reporter, wrote a short story concerning the “bucket” transportation. The account goes: 


“The Bucket is swung to a cable, which trails off up the mountain, dotted here and there by steel towers. Between the towers the cable car sways down toward the mountain side, and approaching the tower it rises and sways, and dips as it crosses, giving the feeling of hitting an air pocket. 


“The trip down was interesting but uneventful. It was crew change time now, whereas some ten people had ridden to the top, about twenty-five were going down. When we were pretty well stashed in, like sardines in a can, the thing began to move toward the edge of the cliff, slowly at first and then faster, it seemed, as we swung out over a snowy void. The ceiling was zero. Snow was peppering down on that mountain.  


“The ‘bucket’ did not fall, and no one jumped or fell from it. We landed safely and were led away to officer quarters and a briefing on the operation of the 663rd AC&W Squadron. 


“Ordinarily when we have ridden such contrivances, we have had to sign release papers, for Army and Navy, but as Major Lockwood explained, for self-assurance, there had been no fatal accidents on the cable car, and release was unnecessary.”


 Stationed at the base at this time were 14 officers, 227 airmen and 26 civilians. From January 1, 1958, to June 30, 1958, the payroll was approximately $442,000. This meant a total of $884,000 for the entire year. 


Of the families represented on the base, 61 lived in Lake City, 37 in Clinton, six in Norris and twelve in Campbell County. This large expanse meant that the adjoining communities/cities merchants benefited greatly.


The estimate for the entire value of the base and property was $3,500,000; the radar equipment itself was valued at $909,000. Food and supplies at the base during fiscal year 1958-59 was estimated at $230,000. 
Project appropriations expenditures for the upcoming year were set at $516,000, which would include modernization of the tower operations building. A new access road, costing $24,000, was to be built which would run to the operations tower, which at that time was only accessible by cable car. Other new improvements would be the repair of the tramway car at a cost of $13,000; construction of 18 new housing units at a cost of $350,000, and repair of the present roadways and the water system. 


The radar station was believed virtually doomed from the start. It was too high to pick low flying aircraft while lower units picked up too much ground clutter from the surrounding mountains to be operative. Accordingly, such things as drought on the radar was another incident which was a negative approach.


As for Campbell County, it was pointed out that the station bought some supplies here, and that they used the LaFollette Municipal Hospital and the LaFollette Country Club, with the green fees being reduced. The Air Force personnel also donated blood for the local hospital. The County also had about four acres incorporated into the base. 



Many servicemen married local ladies and a few returned to the area after leaving the service.



During the 1950s and early 1960s decreases in military spending brought about the closing of many bases, which included the radar base at Briceville.

PRODUCE PRICES IN THE MID-19TH CENTURY


I’m sure the fine ladies of today know most of the produce prices and keep track of the everyday sales. At this time we will travel back to mid-19th Century and check the prices of yesteryear. 


Around 1835 corn sold from 20 t0 25 cents per bushel. At times the price was set lower than that. Pork was put on the market at $2 per hundred. Lard sold for 8 1/2 cents per pound, and butter and tallow sold at 8 1/3 cents per pound. Turkeys ranged from 37 1/2 cents to 50 cents each. Hens were 8 1/3 cents each; eggs 6 1/4 cents per dozen. Mutton was seldom used only in case of sickness and suggested by the doctor. Venison and wild turkeys were abundant in numbers and acquired very cheap. Venison hams were secured and would be dried for spring use. Flour sold from $2 to $2.50 per hundred pounds; it was extra good in those days


The local rivers and streams flourished in fish at that time with the grand delicacy being brought to town in great abundance. Fish in present times are not near as abundant as they were in olden times. The large drum fish were nearly free from bones except the ribs and backbones, in essence, they provided a delicacy to those folks of the past. 


Tree sugar was made in large measures with its main use as sweetening of the foods. It was also made for molasses. Honey was also found in great quantity. The wintertime found dried apples and peaches being used in making pies. Canning of fruits had not yet been invented. Strawberries, raspberries, blackberries and dewberries were somewhat scarce. Gooseberries were nonexistent and grapes were in short supply. Apple butter had not yet been introduced. 


Brown sugar sold for 25 cents per pound, and was rarely used except for specific cases. Preserves and jellies were seldom used, and pound cakes were used only at parties and weddings. “Goodies” in that day and time would be termed as too extravagant on the standard table. Molasses was transported in barrels from New Orleans and sold at $1.00 per gallon. Ginger cakes would be made with this delightful sweetening, but these cakes were used sparingly. These folks of the past claimed that their children were much healthier without the added sweets. 


Fruits were plentiful they being apples, peaches, and pears, along with cherries which grew abundantly on the local farms. It seems that the growing of the fruits was more suited in the past than in the present. Peaches were plentiful every year and every three years there tended to be an overflowing crop. 


Sugar cane was commenced in our country in the late 1850s. It was planted in gardens with only three or four short rows being planted by each family. At this time the art of making molasses was unknown. The method used was to cut it into small pieces and into small parts and beat it. It would then be boiled and strained through a cloth. The juice was then boiled down as jelly was until it was thick. The color was green and the thought of it being molasses was second thought. 


A few years later a process was ‘invented” which was composed of large wooden rollers about two feet in diameter. They then placed cogs in the rollers and placed them in a frame, which did not produce a “really” reliable setup. Two weeks were spent, working from daylight to dark, to make about 35 gallons of molasses. When they had finished they were very proud of their hard work and results. 


Spinning wheels and looms were utilized by nearly family in the country until about 1865. The ladies raised their own cotton, completely fabricating it and then coloring it with their own homemade dyes, striping it according to their own tastes. Weaving it into their own clothes was a joyous occasion for the whole family. 


They also raised their own flax and spun and wove it into tablecloths, towels and linens. The ladies also fabricated a supply of flax jeans, and linen for clothing for their husbands and sons. They also made countless yards of flax and tow lining for sale, it being used for sacks and bed ticking. It brought from 16 1/3 to 25 cents per yard. 


Large flocks of sheep were raised and many yards of woolen cloth and jeans were made which sold for $1.00 per yard. This commodity was sold to stores with the primary wearer being the gentlemen. Broadcloth was also kept in the stores with the purpose of making suits for the men. It sold for $12 to $14 per yard. It was about two yards in width and it took about 3 yards to make a suit. With the accumulation of all this, and the tailor’s charge for making a suit set at $8, a fine suit of clothes would cost about $50. The cloth was very long lasting and would keep for years. 


The ladies manufactured a fine lot of jeans, flax and tow linen, and would exchange them with the merchants for silks and other fineries. 


All the ladies did not spin and weave but some tended to be a helpmate for their husbands. Many were employed to assist in the cash flow for the family. Sewing machines were nonexistent in these days and for those ladies that could cut the cloth and make coats, etc., could make money fast. 


Cooking stoves appeared in the early days about 1845. Prior to this method  cooking of the meals was by old-fashioned pots and ovens and heated on the fire. Stoves were quite expensive which ranged from $40 to $50. At this price everyone wasn’t able to obtain one. At any rate, most folks would rather cook the old fashioned way.


Pewter was the main ingredient in dishware. When rubbed vigorously the dishes would shine as brightly as the silverware. Pewter buttons were used on gentlemen’s wear, with flax thread being used. Cotton boss balls were brought in and sold for 10 cents each, spool thread being absent at that time. Silk thread was bought in skeins which contained 12 needles full, and sold for 10 cents. Buttons were considered a luxury with gutta-percha buttons being established about 1860. These were considered very costly and exceedingly prized by the men. 
INDIAN AND WHITE ENGAGEMENTS


The year 1775 had been a peaceful one along the western waters of Virginia, with not a single recorded incidence of Indian violence. This year of peace had been brought about by Lord Dunmore's War against the northern Indians with the end of the Point Pleasant Campaign. 1776 dawned with a fury of Indian depredations hitherto unknown from the Cherokees whose proximity to the western settlements made them a more formidable foe than the Shawnee, although the Shawnee attacks did not cease. The Revolutionary war was raging and the western settlers were faced with an enemy to the east, one to the south and another to the north, with British agents abetting and arming the hostile Indians, and in the midst were Tory traitors waiting and ready to strike.


Indian foraging parties, both large and small, were constantly prowling along the rivers and valleys of the Clinch, Holston and Powell Rivers. Not only were their sudden and unexpected appearances dangerous, but not knowing when and where they would strike next the settlers were forced to live in the forts the entire spring, summer and fall, thus preventing their growing any crops and suffering was perhaps more acute in this year than any along the western waters. Official records and contemporary writings of that time give an inkling of the situation on the frontiers in the many appeals for flour and ammunition which had to be sent in from the east by pack train and heavily guarded by troops through the dangerous gaps and valleys of Southwest Virginia.


In the spring all of Powell Valley had been evacuated  and the forts closed with the settlers moving into the forts further into the interior. The Battle of Long Island Flats (near Kingsport, TN) fought on July 20, 1776, and the Cherokee Campaign under Col. William Christian in the fall, somewhat relieved the dangerous situation, but not a single year passed from 1776, until the half-breed Chief Benge was killed in Wise County, Va., in 1794 without settlers along the frontier being killed and captured.


John Anderson of near Long Island, (Kingsport) Sullivan Co., TN, who settled there in the year 1773, sums up very well the frontier situation of 1776 in his unpublished memoir. 


The Cherokee Indians in the year 1776 came with a force of three or four hundred to within ten miles of my father's house before they were repulsed. The spys came in great speed and the news was given. (We could) hear their voices and our men and boys went out to meet them and they had sixteen or eighteen killed, and the number wounded not known. Our people had three wounded, none killed, notwithstanding we had 150 and the Indians more than double that number.


The author of these remarks recollects well to have seen, on the next day or two, after the battle, the scalps taken by some of our boys. He remembers to have seen one of the said scalps in the hands of a certain Mr. Moore, who took it off himself. My father and his family was then in Shelby's Fort (near Bristol) where there was at that time, upwards of 100 families in Shelby's Fort.


Immediately after the battle aforesaid the Indians traveled all over the country in small parties aiming to do us all the harm in their power. They killed a considerable quantity of people in different parts of the country that would venture out of the forts to get something to subsist no. After my father and his family had been at Shelby's Fort a number of days, we went back to Looney's Fort, that being more convenient to our home than Shelby's Fort. We continued at Looney's until an army commanded by Col. Christian went against the Cherokee Nation. Shortly after the army passed our fort we moved home, and nearly all the families that was in said fort, which was a large quantity. Several men was killed there during the time we was forted and some wounded.

Adventures of Gen. Joseph Martin. 


In speaking of the conditions at Martin's Station (in now Lee Co., VA) in 1776, John Redd, who had come to that Station with Col. Joseph Martin in January of 1775, from Henry Co., VA states: 


In May, 1776, General Martin returned home, (to Henry Co., VA) promising to return in four weeks. The four weeks expired and we heard nothing from General Martin. The settlers from Priest's and Mump's Forts had all left, and some of our men. Days rolled on and we could hear nothing from Martin or the settlement. We became alarmed at our situation. We knew that something of great moment had taken place or Martin would have returned or sent a messenger out to let us know why he did not come at the appointed time. As our number had decreased to about ten (men) and we could not hear from Martin, we held a council, determined to remain three days longer, and, if we could hear nothing from the settlement in that time, to start home. 


The day we held our council, William Parks, one of our number, insisted on going some eight miles below the fort, and put up a few poles in the shape of a house, kill some trees, dig some holes in the ground, and plant some corn, so as to secure a "corn-right", and return the third morning time enough to start with us if we should leave for the settlement. We very reluctantly gave our consent. On the same evening, Parks, his nephew Thomas, and his Negro man set out to secure the corn-right. The third morning after Parks left, the day he promised to return, to our great surprise young Parks came and informed us that his uncle had left the evening before to kill some meat. Shortly after his leaving he heard him about, and had heard nothing from him since. I, and two others set out with young Parks, and, on arriving at his cabin, he showed us the way his uncle went. We found his track and followed it with great care. After going about one mile we came to where some Indians had been lying among some limestone rocks on the Kentucky Trace. 


About fifty yards from where the Indians had been, we saw old Parks lying dead on his face. On examining him we found he was shot through the heart. From his tracks he must have run some thirty yards from where he was shot. He was scalped, and a war club left sunk in his brain. We skinned some tough bark and with it lashed old Parks to a pole, and two of us, with an end of the pole on our shoulders, carried him to his cabin and buried him.


The same evening we returned to the fort. On arriving there, we found an express sent out by General Martin, informing us that the Indians (Cherokee) had declared war, and were doing a great deal of mischief. The morning after the arrival of the express we broke up and came to Blackmore's Fort on Clinch River. At this fort, we found the greater part of the men who had left Mump's and Priest's forts.

(These articles were taken from the unpublished manuscript, Indian Atrocities Along the Clinch, Powell and Holston Rivers, by Emory L. Hamilton)
KASPER MANSKER....LONGHUNTER


Regardless of the Mansker family's uncertain location on the South Branch of the Potomac, it was not long before young Kasper was attracted to the unexplored western wilderness, probably by way of New River, Virginia. At about the same time, Kasper also became attracted to Miss Elizabeth White of Berkeley County, [now] West Virginia, and they were married, the date and place unknown.


According to information given twenty years after Mansker's death by Jenny, a mulatto woman who had formerly been a slave property of the Manskers, Elizabeth White's parents so opposed her proposed marriage that she and Kasper eloped and settled at the head of the Holston River. Jenny said that it was from this place that Mansker began his long hunts into the western country. 


The first account of Mansker's participation in a long hunt is reported by Judge Haywood. In June, 1769, Kasper Mansker was one of "a company of twenty men or more" who assembled with their pack horses on Reedy Creek to cross over into what is now Middle Tennessee on an extensive hunting trip. Among Mansker's fellow hunters were Abraham Bledsoe, John Rains, John Baker, Joseph Drake, Uriah Stone, Obediah Terril, Ned Cowen, and Henry Smith. 


During the second week in June, the hunters set off for the head of the Holston River which they then followed down to what is now Abingdon, Virginia. From Abingdon they went to the north fork of the Holston and from there crossed to Moccasin Gap on the Clinch River. They then came to Powell's Valley and Cumberland Gap, through which they passed and soon reached the Cumberland River. Before attempting to cross the river they traveled some six miles or so to Flat Lick from which point they followed tributary streams back to the river and crossed in what now the state of Kentucky at "a remarkable fish dam, which had been made in very ancient times." Near the fish dam they passed the place known as the Brush, its name derived from the intense undergrowth of briers and vines that laced trees and tree limbs together in an almost impenetrable wall of living plants.


From the Brush, the hunters went in a southerly direction and soon reached the south fork of the Cumberland River which they followed down into the barrens of Kentucky to a place called Price's Meadow. Here their first base camp was made and they hunted and explored the surrounding country for the next eight or nine months. Some of the hunters returned to he settlements in 1770 but Mansker, along with Stone, Baker, Humphrey Hogan, Cash Brooks, Thomas Gordon, and four others unnamed, built two trapping canoes and two boats and loaded the makeshift craft and a third boat, that had been left by others, with furs and bear meat and pushed off down the Cumberland headed for Natchez where they planned to sell their cargo.


When the fur-laden craft reached the present site of Nashville, the hunters saw at the French Lick the largest number of buffalo and wild game that they had ever seen at any one place. They stopped and killed a few of the animals from which they obtained hides to cover their open boats. Then they resumed their downstream journey and presently reached the mouth of the Cumberland River. With their meat beginning to spoil, it was decided to convert it into oil for the market. While they were thus engaged, an Indian chief called John Brown and twenty-five braves robbed them of two guns, some ammunition, salt, and tobacco. Passing French traders however, were more friendly, trading in exchange for fresh meat, salt, flour, tobacco, and some liquor, the first spirits they had tasted for several months.


Mansker and his associates continued their travels by entering the Ohio River, following it to the Mississippi, and floating down the great river to Fort Natchez. Finding no sale for their cargo at the fort, the tiny flotilla proceeded farther downstream to Spanish Natchez. Here they sold the furs and oil that they brought from the middle Cumberland. Before they had disposed of all the goods, one of the boats broke loose from its moorings and floated down the Mississippi. Mansker and Baker pursued it and finally overtook it at Fort Kaspel, from which place they were able to return it to Natchez and sell its cargo.


After completing their business at Natchez, Mansker's party split up. Some returned homeward while others seem to have remained. Mansker was one of those who chose to stay behind, his decision apparently dictated by an illness which was upon him from May until November. After recovering his strength, Kasper and John Baker set out by boat upriver. At Ozinck, Mansker and Baker joined a party bound overland to Georgia with a herd of horses. From the north Georgia the long hunters turned northward and followed through the valleys of East Tennessee to New River, from whence they had departed a year and half earlier.


In the fall of 1771, less than a year after his return from Natchez, Mansker set out again for the western wilderness, this time in company with Isaac Bledsoe, Joseph Drake, John Montgomery, Henry Suggs, James Knox and others. The group encamped on Russell's Creek in what is now Kentucky, built a house there in which to store the furs and pelts they took, and hunted in the surrounding country until February 1772. Discovering their supply of ammunition running low, Mansker and all of the party, except Isaac Bledsoe and four others who were left to protect the camp, returned to the settlements to replenish their supplies. While awaiting an improvement in the severe late winter weather to permit their return to camp, the long hunters found Isaac Bledsoe coming in to the settlements to bring David Linch, who had been stricken ill at camp. Bledsoe was then weather-bound with the others and two months passed before they plunged westward to their camp on Russell's Creek. Before reaching their destination, the hunters met one of the three men who had been left behind at the camp when Bledsoe and Linch came back to the settlements. He had escaped an Indian attack on the camp but reported that his two fellows had been captured by the Indians and taken away. On reaching Russell's Creek the long hunters found no trace of the two missing men. The camp had not been disturbed by the Indians and the stored "skins" were all intact.


Mansker and the hunters did not resume camp here but pushed farther west, arriving finally in the middle Cumberland country, probably in late May, 1772. A station camp was established on a northern tributary of the Cumberland River at a point near Pilot Knob hill in Sumner County. The tributary stream has since been known as Station Camp Creek and along its fertile valleys ten years later were located some of the earliest North Carolina preemption land grants.


The long hunters found an abundant supply of game within a convenient radius of their station camp. They had been in camp but a short time when Indians plundered it and destroyed, among other things, over 500 deerskins. But game was so plentiful that the hunters resumed camp and quickly restored most of their losses, breaking up only when their supply of ammunition was exhausted.


The most important events of this hunting expedition, conducted in 1772, were the separate discoveries of three important salt licks. Approximately six miles northwest of the station camp, Kasper Mansker discovered two salt licks a short distance apart lying adjacent to a creek which, two miles to the south, emptied into the Cumberland River. The lick area and the creek were given Mansker's name and a spring on the west bank of the creek became the site of Mansker's fort, erected in 1780. John Carr recalled that Mansker said that "When he discovered the two licks which were only a few hundred yards apart, in passing from one to the other, he killed nineteen deer." The sites of the two salt licks are within the present boundaries of the city of Goodlettsville in Davidson County.


Nearer the camp, Joseph Drake discovered Drake's Lick and nearby, Drake's Pond, a favorite watering place for deer. Sixteen miles east of the camp, Isaac Bledsoe, following the buffalo trail, came upon the sulphur springs and creek that were given the name Bledsoe's Lick and Bledsoe's Creek.


Mansker and his company began the long journey home in August but, meeting another company of hunters in Kentucky, Mansker and four or five others joined the fresh party and returned to middle Cumberland where they hunted until the end of the season. Mansker then returned to New River.

(Permission was given for this article through the Mansker website.)

TENNESSEE’S EARLY DISTILLING PROCESS


This article is intended for historical purposes only. I feel it is directly connected to  early Tennessee culture. 


In modern times, distilling is more closely associated with Kentucky than Tennessee. Yet the two remaining producers of Tennessee sour mash whiskey, Jack Daniel and George Dickel, represent a much larger industry that was from earliest settlement an important contributor to the state's economic development. A study of the rise, fall, and re-emergence of Tennessee distilleries will demonstrate this industry's substantial and complex role in Tennessee's economic and political history.


The process of converting corn and small grains such as rye and barley into whiskey was well known to the predominantly Scots, Scotch-Irish, and Irish immigrants who poured into the Tennessee country from Pennsylvania, Virginia, and North and South Carolina. Evan Shelby's East Tennessee distillery, located at Sapling Grove near Shelby's Station on the Holston, was in existence by 1771 and perhaps the earliest on record in the state. By 1785 East Tennesseans were producing significant quantities of rye whiskey which they used to pay taxes at only two shillings, six pence per gallon.


Middle Tennessee was close behind. In 1787 the Red Heifer, a combined distillery and tavern, was established in Nashville by John "King" Boyd. In October of 1792, Indians burned Frederick Stump's distillery, but by 1795-96 he was producing 600 gallons with four stills, on which he paid taxes of $41.93. By 1799 there were sixty-one stills for less than 4,000 people in Davidson County, according to records kept by John Overton, who was then serving as Supervisor of Internal Revenue for the District of Tennessee.


Both East and Middle Tennessee were well suited for the production of whiskey, having good soil for growing corn, an abundance of firewood, white oak for the manufacture of barrels, and a good network of rivers upon which to ship the whiskey to marketing centers like Knoxville, Chattanooga, Nashville, Memphis, and beyond. Many Tennesseans shipped their whiskey by flatboat to Natchez where it brought $2 a gallon, twice the going price in Nashville. On the farm the mash was fed to hogs and cattle which, in the form of salted meat and hides, were also suitable for export.


Always the demand exceeded the supply. As one old-timer said in more recent years, "They never did charge enough for it." To the frontiersman, whiskey was more than a drink; it was an anesthetic, disinfectant, and either a stimulant or a tranquilizer, depending on the situation and the individual. Andrew Jackson even advised his old friend John Coffee, who was suffering from arthritis, to bathe himself in whiskey.


During the Revolution and after, soldiers were partially paid in whiskey and expected their half pint daily. Most of it was consumed straight or mixed with sugar and water as a today. Although whiskey consumption was high, Harriette Simpson Arnow concludes in Flowering of the Cumberland that drunkenness was frowned on and relatively uncommon on the Tennessee frontier.


As the frontier gave way to settlement, whiskey consumption increased, not only in Tennessee, but also throughout the nation. By 1810, 14,191 registered distilleries were producing 25.5 million gallons of whiskey, a five-fold increase over statistics for 1792. 
Registration fees for the distilleries were high enough to discourage small private producers; increasingly what had begun as a home industry became a more large-scale industry, with some farm producers in some counties making the transition.


As production increased, so did consumption and drunkenness. Congregationalists and Quakers in New England and Pennsylvania were the first to oppose the use of whiskey altogether. Fledgling temperance and prohibition movements spread south and west, to be carried over the mountains to the earliest settlements by Methodist circuit riders like Bishop Francis Asbury, who first visited Tennessee in 1788.


In 1829 the first temperance societies were established in Tennessee, with support increasing in the 1830s and 40s. In 1848 the legislature chartered the Sons and Daughters of Temperance, the strongest temperance group in the state. The movement scarcely had gotten started when the threat of war diverted attention from it, but the groundwork had been laid.


In the interim, Tennesseans were not only consuming more alcohol but they were becoming major producers as well. In 1820 the Fourth Census showed that New York, Pennsylvania, Ohio, and Tennessee had more capital invested and employed more men in the production of spirits than any other states in the Union. The industry continued to grow right up until the Civil War, gradually becoming concentrated in certain areas. One of these was Robertson County, extending north of Davidson County to the Kentucky line.


During the war, occupying Union forces banned the distillation of whiskey because corn and other grains were needed to feed both humans and livestock. .


In 1886 the Nashville Union reported that the distilling industry was the largest manufacturing industry in the state of Tennessee, annually consuming 750,000 bushels of corn and 500,000 bushels of apples and peaches. By the late 1880s, however, the industry had begun to decline. Smaller and less successful distillers had gone into other businesses, faced with intense competition from the larger distillers on the one hand, and mounting pressure from church and temperance groups on the other. The Women's Christian Temperance Union had organized in the state in 1874 and would be joined by the Anti-Saloon League in 1899.


In 1903, the Adams Law, which extended the Four Mile Law first passed in 1877 to towns of 5,000, closed the saloons of Springfield. In 1909, with the state-wide prohibition on the manufacture of whiskey, the two remaining Robertson County distilleries, Nelson's Greenbrier and Pitt's Cave Spring, and all others in Tennessee went out of business, although some tried to conduct sales through retail and manufacturing activities in other states.


The re-emergence of Tennessee distilleries after prohibition is in both cases one of modern business involving politics, advertising, and acquisition by larger companies from outside the state. The quality of the product was upheld: both distilleries utilize the leaching process through maple charcoal which is the most distinctive characteristic of Tennessee sour mash whiskey. 


(The preceding article was taken from Border States: Journal of the Kentucky-Tennessee American Studies Association, entitled, “TENNESSEE DISTILLERIES: THEIR RISE, FALL, AND RE-EMERGENCE,” written by Kay Baker Gaston.)

EARLY BUSINESSES ALONG THE EASTERN SECTION OF THE COUNTY


Many stores sprang up in the eastern part of Campbell County in early times along the Powell River. Carter Brown operated a store about two miles downriver from the Robbins General Store. Baldwin Sweat operated a store near Riverview School but it became extinct shortly thereafter. Isaac Robbins organized a place of business below Cannon Bridge from before 1900 until about 1918. 


Hugh McNeeley operated a business across the ridge from Powder Mill Hollow for about 50 years, from 1900 until 1949-50. The home of Hugh McNeeley was started in 1903 and was located where Fast Freddy’s Market and Deli is located today.  The original McNeeley store was located on the opposite side of the Alder Springs Road at the intersection with Powder Mill Hollow Road. Around 1946 this store was sold to Claude and Martha Robbins Goins and still later to her brother, Ebb, and his wife, June.


After Ford’s Chapel school was discontinued, Riverview School became its successor utilizing a two-room frame building that was located on the north bank of the Powell River, facing south. As was Ford’s Chapel, primer through eighth grades were offered, which necessitated a need for housing of schoolteachers. 


Of this necessity, beds and daily meals were utilized. Everyday washing of laundry and bed linens was done by hand on a scrub board-using Octagon bar soap. The contents were boiled in an outdoor iron kettle and pressed with aged irons heated on the wood stove or hearth. Also included was the massive amount of dishwashing. 


Cooking of the fine foods was also an imperative operation. Delicious meals were prepared and eaten with great enthusiasm.


Living with the school teachers under the same roof always meant having your homework done, never being absent without a good reason, and being on your best behavior. 


Hope Dossett was described as a caring and affectionate teacher. Other teachers who were boarders were Georgia Bolton Hobbs, Gladys Sharp and Emma Teague. Some of the classmates were Wanda Marsee and her brothers, Clifton and Burton McNeeley, and Hazel Sweat. James F. Jones was principal while Ethel Moore began teaching in 1927. Sam White was a teacher and did not board. 


School in session meant there no “weather days” that kept the doors closed. The schoolmaster and teachers that did not board walked to work;  the students were expected to attend, rain or shine. 


When the classmates graduated from Riverview’s eighth grade, they rode a bus to LaFollette. The students would walk from their homes to the forks of the creek below Robbins General Store and wait for the bus, driven by Hugh McNeeley. The bus was uncomfortable with hard plank seats running horizontally along the interior. McNeeley drove the Powder Mill students to his store where they were dropped off to wait outside. Meanwhile, he drove to Alder Springs and gathered the high school students from that area. 


When the weather turned bad, the Powder Mill students were allowed to wait inside the store, which was warmed by a wood-burning stove. After the return of McNeeley, the Powder Mill students would once again climb aboard for the long, winding drive on Long the Long Hollow Road to LaFollette.


Churches sponsored a few schools. Liberty Baptist operated a school from 1890 to March 1929, along Powell River. Victory Baptist provided two buildings for a county school. Bethlehem, not far away, also supported a county school. 


Riverview School was in operation from 1916 until its removal November 28, 1934. At its climax, it supported two teachers per term. Powell River School, very possibly the oldest school in the river basin, had become known as Cedar Creek School, and then in 1931, merged with Demory.


Enrollments prior to removal were Riverview, 48; Victory, 50; Walnut Grove Elementary, 68; Alder Springs Elementary, 103; Demory, 136; Agee, 57; Flat Hollow Elementary, 61; Davis Creek Elementary, 69; Valley View Elementary, 116; Well Springs Elementary along with two years of high school, 176. 


The Robbins women were faithful church attendees along with the other women in the hollows and ridges. Most of these women were Baptists. The young men would go to church and hang around outside hoping to walk a girl home, possibly even hold her hand. 


The Powder Mill Robbins favored Liberty Baptist Church, while others attended Alder Springs, Cedar Creek, Victory Baptist and still others traveled to Powell River/Cedar Creek Baptist. 


Alvis Robbins, in the late 1920s, purchased for himself a recent invention...the automobile. It seems that he was not a very good driver and the roads were in an atrocious state. These avenues of travel were steep and worn by a hundred years of wagon wheels along with an immense erosion problem. Several times Alvis had to be pulled out of off-road mishaps. 


More times than one the vehicle would break down. Replacement parts, repair garages and auto mechanics were very scarce. When the first one broke down it was hauled back to Alvis’s place by mule. He later would buy another one and when that one broke down it was also hauled by mule back to the reclamation area and parked. It seems that Alvis’ barns were cluttered with a bunch of broken-down disabled vehicles. 


The area was hit with another invention in the 1930s, a new variation of the plow. The newest and best plow was the “Gee-Whiz” plow, which had about seven or eight spring teeth. This implement was lightweight, which was a noteworthy improvement to anyone who had ever had to manhandle a plow. It did not cultivate deep; its chief use was to turn weeds in spaces between furrows. Because it did not plow deep, roots of corn and other crops in the furrows were not disturbed. 


(This article was taken from a manuscript written by Jocelyn Lavonna Woods, a descendant of the Robbins family.)

VETERANS PENSIONS OF LONG AGO


Many, many years ago, in 1883, there were about 50 Campbell Countians receiving pensions from the Federal Government, either as veterans or widows or parents of veterans. In 1883 the amount of money received for pensioners ranged from $2.00 to $18.00 per month. Names of these pensioners are familiar to many present day Campbell Countians. Some of the names listed are the Sharps, Dagleys, Dossetts, Mozingos, Wilson, etc. 


There were three of the War of 1812 survivors living in Campbell County in 1883, and several women receiving pensions as widows of veterans of the War of 1812. Some reasons for awarding the pensions were gunshot wounds, bronchitis and frozen feet. 


The survivors of the War of 1812 still living in 1883 were John Sharp of Fincastle, Thomas Chapman of Jacksborough (Jacksboro) and James Bailey of Well Springs. Each of these men received $18.00 per month. Mr. Sharp started receiving his pension in February of 1872, Mr. Chapman in March of 1872, and Mr. Bailey in September of 1872. 


Besides Mr. Chapman, eight other Jacksboro men and 18 Jacksboro women received Federal pensions in 1883. Eight of the 18 women were widows of veterans of the War of 1812. 


All the women on the pension roll received $8.00 per month. The Jacksboro women, widows of veterans of the War of 1812 were: Zemah Gardner, Barbara Dagley, Jennie Dossett, Sarah Stepp, Sarah Smith, Elizabeth Bullock, Dolly Ellison, Nancy Mozingo, and Rebecca Cooper. Other Jacksboro women receiving pensions were Easter Hicks and Mainda Sweat, listed as dependent mothers, and Esther Smiddy, Elmira Sharp, Barbara Stout, Nancy Walton, Lydia Williamson, Ada Cooper, and Hannah H. Gray, all listed as widows, probably of veterans of the Civil War.


Besides the War of 1812 veteran, Mr. Chapman, other Jacksboro men receiving pensions in 1883 were John M. Hayes, who drew $2.00 per month for a wound in the right thigh; John C. Hollingsworth who also got $2.00 per month for a gunshot wound in the left arm; Franklin Maples who drew $2.00 per month for a wound in the right thigh; Sylvester Cooper got $6.00 per month for a fractured left leg; John Smiddy who got $2.00 for a gunshot wound in the right hip; Stephen A. Woods who got $8.00 per month for chronic rheumatism; Preston Willoughby who got $4.00 per month for an abdominal injury; and Israel Wilson who got $2.00 per month for a gunshot wound in the left thigh.


The person drawing the largest pension was Elisha Joy of Fincastle who got $18.00 per month for a gunshot wound in the neck. 


Besides Mr. Joy and Mr. Sharp, one of the three surviving veterans of the War of 1812, the only other person at Fincastle drawing a pension was Nancy Ivey, a widow of a veteran of the War of 1812. 


In the number of people receiving pensions, Well Springs was next to Jacksboro. Nine women and seven men living at Well Springs were pensioners in 1883. 


Of the seven men one was the above mentioned James Bailey, a veteran of the War of 1812. The other men were: James Chadwell, receiving $2.00 per month for gunshot wound of the right foot; Marion Hubbard, receiving $2.00 per month for frostbitten right foot; Andrew J. Henegar, receiving $2.00 per month for gunshot wound of the right leg; John McLane, who received $6.00 per month for an unspecified cause; John W. Dossett was receiving $8.00 a month for a gunshot wound in the right arm; and James E. Smith was getting $3.00 a month for a gunshot sound in the left hand.


Of the nine women at Well Springs receiving pensions, two were widows of veterans of the War of 1812. They were Sophia Bailey and Wealthy Dossett. Two, Elizabeth Turner and Lena Mozingo, were dependent mothers. The others were all widows of veterans, presumably Civil War veterans. They were Mary Green, Nancy Miller, Phebe Lumpkins, Sarah Butler and Mary Elmore.

THE TENNESSEE WALKING HORSE


The hill people of Kentucky, Virginia and Tennessee began crossing the Mississippi River about 150 years ago, their purpose being to settle the Ozark Mountain regions of Missouri and Arkansas. With them went their best horses. These square trotting horses were able to cover the ground, but their gait was uncomfortable. This dilemma caused the tiring of both the horse and rider in just a short distance. 


Before we get into the short history of the Tennessee Walking Horse we shall delve into the ancestry of the horse, as we know it today. These small ancestors of today’s modern horses were named Hyracotherium. They were a mere half a yard of less in length and about the size of a fox terrier. Their legs were shorter; they had longer heads relative to their bodies, along with a more complete series of teeth.  They had three toes on their hind feet and four on their forefeet. Each toe had a pad on its underside; much likes dogs have today. 


Modern horses have long legs, each ending in a single, powerful toe with a hoof, but no pad. Eohippus lived about 50 million years ago. Although these horses of the past were present in Europe as well as North America, the majority of horse evolution occurred on the latter continent.  


The Tennessee Walking Horse was originally called the Walking Saddle Horse, or Plantation Horse, and would do a running walk, which was fast and comfortable. Its bloodline was a cross between the Gray Johns, Copperbottoms, Slashers, Hals, Brooks and Bullett families. This combination produced a type known as the Tennessee pacer prior to the arrival of Allan F-1 in Middle Tennessee. It was a cross between Allan and the Tennessee Pacer that produced today’s Tennessee Walking Horse. During this time, the most prominent saddle horse was the now-extinct Narragansett Pacer, which originated around Narragansett Bay, in Rhode Island. 


Let’s go back many, many years ago, to the Middle Basin of Tennessee, where the Tennessee Walking Horse was created. The early settlers of this region arrived from Virginia, the Carolinas and other surrounding states and brought with them fine Narragansett Pacers. The fine traits of these horse families were combined which laid the foundation for the Tennessee Walker who developed distinctive qualities of its own.


This fine horse was developed for the purposes of riding, driving and light farm work. They also became very popular with Southern plantation owners who called them Plantation Walkers.  A constant need was for horses with comfortable gaits that could carry them the many miles necessary for inspecting massive fields. 


Country doctors also favored the Walker because of the many hours spent on horseback. The Circuit Rider and country preacher also favored the Walker because of its fast and steady gait. (Bred in Virginia, Traveler was bought by General Lee in 1861. His breeding was possibly of Thoroughbred, Morgan and Narragansett blood, which flows through so many well known Tennessee Walking Horses,)


The stallion who was chosen as the foundation sire of the Tennessee Walking Horse (the registry was formed in 1935) was Allan. This great black stallion’s ancestry was a mixture of Morgan and Hambletonian, who was the founding sire of the Standardbred. Allan was the greatest contributor to the Walking Horse breed.


Tennessee’s soil is rich in minerals via the water flow over the limestone rocks. This in turn produced the hardy Tennessee Walkers making them whole and free from disease. These qualities have been passed on throughout the breed in all parts of the world.


Common Walkers are considered friendly, gentle and intelligent animals. Colors of the breed vary including brown, black, bay, chestnut, roan, palomino, white or gray. Their face, legs and body may also be marked with white. The average height is 15.2 hands, they have a long graceful neck, short back, well-built hindquarters, sloping shoulders, slender but strong legs, and sound feet. The Walker’s head is well refined with bright eyes, outstanding nostrils, and pointed well-shaped ears. Their manes and tails are usually left long and flowing.



The Walking Horse has three natural gaits, the flat-foot walk, the funning walk, and the canter. All three of which are natural smooth gaits. 


The Flat walk is the slowest of the three, described as bold, even and comfortable for the rider. 


The Running walk is a faster movement and gives the rider a sensation of ‘gliding.’ therefore, the Walker is called the Walking Horse a ride with a glide. 


The Canter is a rise and fall movement. It is described as a spring and rhythm movement without jar or jolt to the rider.


The Tennessee Walking Horse is a trail and show horse throughout the country. They have developed good manners and extraordinarily comfortable gaits which make them ideal for novice, middle-aged and elderly riders. 

DOING THE LAUNDRY IN ANOTHER DAY


I found the following to be a quite humorous but true story relating to another day.....It reflects upon the quite laborious life concerning one of the  everyday chores of the folks of the past, “wash day.” (The writer is anonymous.) 


Eugene, you took me back in time to when I was a little girl growing up on a farm in W. TN...Washday started very early at our house, as there was a lot to do...The boys had drug up limbs out of the woods the day before, and set the legs of the old black kittle up on tin cans so they could build a fire under it...We knew to be careful around that fire, 'cause Mama's aunt Margaret Bell 's long dress caught on fire when she was washing, and she burnt to death .


We drawed up water till the kittle was filled nearly to the top and built the fire under it, set up the tubs and filled them part way with buckets of water....Mama mixed up the blueing, and a pan of starch...then she carefully toted buckets of hot water from the steaming wash kittle and mixed it with the cold water in the wash and rinse tubs till it was

hot enough to jist barely keep your hand in....Clothes were sorted into piles ...Delicate white clothes on down to the work overalls....and then the mop rags, etc...


Lye soap made back after we killed hogs in the Fall was rubbed onto the ridges of the scrub board, and the backbreaking job of scrubbing clothes for 10 people began...Whites were boiled in the kittle, put through the wash tub if necessary then in the bluing to make them sparkling white...{This part of boiling the clothes is a little unclear after all these years .} Bleach mixed with water was used in there, too. When he was about 5, brother Jerry  got a jar of this bleach water down off a shelf in the well house so little sister Reba could drink it.....As I remember, he had trouble sitting down for quite awhile...Sis seemed none the worse for wear, but has trouble with her throat all these many years later...and we wonder...


After hours of scrubbing, wringing, rinsing ,wringing, bluing, wringing etc., the clothes were hung on lines that went around 3 sides of the back yard....They looked so pretty blowing in the breeze, and one knew how fresh and clean the beds would smell that night... After all the folding and bed making was over, of course! We tried not to think of ironing all those clothes...Yes, just about everything had to be ironed, as there was no Permanent Press back then....Remember the pan of starch? Dresses, shirts, dresser scarves, etc. went in first, then the things you didn't want heavily starched...When they came in off the lines they were sprinkled with water, [A special thing culd be bought to fit on a bottle.] rolled up and set aside to be ironed the next day...With heavy flatirons heated on the cook stove....You used one till it got cold then traded it for another .....I was about 10 when we got our first washing machine...


We had just done an unusually big wash when we saw a strange pickup truck coming slowly down our  lane...It turned out to be a distant cousin and friends, and they had a truckload of used washing machines to sell....This wasn't long after electricity had been put in that area, so they must have gone to a big town and bought up a load of washers....Well, Mama bargained for the best looking one, and we just couldn't wait till wash day came around again....Why, it was SO easy now! All we had to do was drag up the limbs to heat the water we had drawed up from the well, etc., etc., etc *grin*


Think of this the next time you casually load your washer, add soap from a box and fabric softener...Push a button and go on your way.....After the machine has worked it's miracle the clothes are tossed in the dryer...push a button, come back later and your clothes are ready to fold or hang....Friend Kathy's washer quit right in the middle of a load of clothes awhile back and she had to wring them out ...hurting her wrist....I'm afraid I wasn't properly sympathetic as I listened to her tale of woe, remembering all the times we washed, wrung out, rinsed , wrung out, etc. etc. clothes for 10 people! {Y'all 'scuse me while I go put in another load of clothes ?) Posies for all those hardy souls who ever bent over a washtub with a cake of lye soap in their hand !

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Eugene wrote : I can remember when Dad brought Mom the first washing machine.   Mom looked upon that contraption with some doubt, and with her hands on her hips said:  "Maybe, but will it get the clothes clean ?"

The following accounts are taken from J.J. Burnett‘s, “Sketches of  Tennessee's Pioneer Baptist Preachers“ by J.J. Burnett, dated 1919.

LINDSAY COOPER


Lindsay Cooper was born in Campbell County, Tenn., November 1, 1833. He was a son of John Cooper, who was born, at Ellicott's Mills, in the state of Maryland, and served in the War of 1812. In May, 1850, young Cooper professed faith in Christ and was baptized into the fellowship of Indian Creek Church, in his native county. December 21, 1856, he was married to Miss Mary Gaylor. To this union were born nine children, seven sons and two daughters. In December of 1860 he moved to Morgan County. At the outbreak of the Civil War he "refugeed" for a time in Kentucky. August 8, 1861, with Capt. Joseph A. Cooper, who afterwards became General Cooper, and three other brothers, he was mustered into the service of the Union army, as a member of "Company A, First Tennessee Infantry," He served in the war three years and seven months. Returning from the war he changed his church membership from Longfield Church, near Coal Creek, to Liberty Church, in Morgan County. By this church he was "licensed to exercise a public gift," and in 1866 Pleasant Grove Church "ordained" him to the full work of the ministry. He was pastor of Union, Liberty, Pleasant Grove, Indian Creek, Coal Hill, Pine Orchard, Crab Orchard, Emory, Black Creek, New River, Cooper's View, Pisgah, Glen Mary, and other churches. He was chiefly instrumental in the constitution of five new churches and in the erection of two new meeting houses. He did a great deal of missionary and evangelistic work, and baptized hundreds of people. His ministry was mostly in Campbell, Scott, Morgan and Roane counties, extending over a period of forty-nine years, and, for the most part, was pioneer work, laying Baptist foundations and fostering weak Baptist interests in a comparatively new and undeveloped country. His mission was to preach the gospel to the poor, to supply "destitute" places with the Word of God. He had good evangelistic gifts and was an uncompromising Baptist ', contending always and under all circumstances, conscientiously and earnestly, for the "faith delivered once for all to the saints," never shunning to "'declare all the counsel of God."


From the home of one of his daughters, near Wartburg, Morgan County, February 171, 1916, Elder Cooper departed  this life, being in his 83rd year. At the time of his death he was a member of Cooper's View Church. Funeral services were conducted by Elder John Wilson, who drew lessons for the living from the respective and divinely contrasted character and destiny of the rich man and Lazarus (Luke 16:19-31). The remains of the deceased were the first to be deposited in the new church yard of Coopers Chapel, a meeting house just built and named in honor of the chief builder, Brother Cooper.

Elder Cooper is survived by his widow and six children, twenty-eight grandchildren, two great-grandchildren, an only brother, Sylvester Cooper, who is upwards of 90, and two nephews, deserving of special mention on account of their marked service to the denomination: Dr. D. H. Cooper, formerly of the East, at one time a schoolmate of the writer, now of Oklahoma, and W. R. Cooper, since 1874 a deacon of the Broadway (or McGee Street) Church, Knoxville, for nineteen years clerk of the Tennessee Association, and for other "nineteen years" the efficient and stalwart moderator of that body.

ALVIS STOOKSBURY


Alvis, son of Jacob and Huldah Stooksbury, was born April 20, 1845, near Loy's Crossroads (now Loyston), Union County, Tennessee, Robin Stooksbury, came from Virginia to Tennessee, with his family, early in the last century. His great-grandfather, Jacob, was the son of Wm. Stooksbury, who was the only son of Lord Stooksbury, of England, and came across the waters to seek a home in the new world before the War of the Revolution.


The subject of our sketch was brought up on a farm, and in early life had few educational advantages. In fact, the only school education he ever received was obtained at two or three short sessions of the public schools of his native county; the rest of his equipment he got from the school of life and experience. In this school he acquired the virtue of self-reliance and self-help.


In August of 1862, in a meeting held by Elder Reuben Green, he professed faith in Christ, and was baptized, uniting with Big Springs Church, Union County.


July, 1871, his church licensed him to preach, and December 20, 1873, ordained him. He was pastor of this, his home church, twelve years. He was also pastor of Alder Springs. Liberty, Big Valley, Loy's Crossroads, Powell's River, Fincastle, and Maynardville churches; for a number of years, serving them faithfully and well.


In addition to his pastoral work, he obeyed Paul's injunction to his son Timothy, "did the work of an evangelist." This he did extensively and successfully, not only among his own churches but on destitute fields and assisting his fellow-pastors. There were few more successful revivalists than Alvis Stooksbury. He was a tender, winsome, persuasive preacher; popular with all denominations, popular at funerals, popular with the young people.


In October, 1865, he was married to Elizabeth Duke, a daughter of William Duke, of Union County. To this union were born seven children, five sons and two daughters, all of whom were converted and became working members of Baptist churches. One of his sons, Prof. W. L. Stooksbury, at one time professor in the American Temperance University, at Harriman, later a professor in Carson and Newman College, and now of Knoxville, is one of our most successful educators; and another of his sons, Dr. J. M. Stooksbury, is a successful physician.


That Alvis Stooksbury was a trusted citizen and had the confidence of the people was evidenced by the fact that he was elected Trustee of his county (Union) and served in that capacity from 1872 to 1874, with entire satisfaction to the people of the county. For six years he tried his hand and head at the mercantile business, along with preaching, but did not succeed, for the reason that his heart was divided - he was not wholly following the Lord. He gave up the "goods business" and gave himself wholly to preaching the gospel. This brought him peace of mind and a good conscience, and the Lord "added the living," which had been previously withheld.


September 1, 1892, he was made a "Master Mason,", and was "chaplain" of his lodge at the time of his death.


February 15, 1895, he left home for an evangelistic campaign. He was preaching in a successful revival at Sharon Church, Knox County; on the second Sunday of the meeting he preached three times, and at night was stricken with pneumonia, from which he never recovered. Lingering nine days on the border-land between earth and heaven, he passed to his reward May 5, 1895. His body was taken to his home in Campbell County, where "hundreds of friends from Campbell, Anderson, Knox and Union counties thronged to see the face of and pay the last tribute of respect to one whom they had loved in life and now delighted to honor."


The love of Christ constrained him, and his consecration deepened to the end. His life-motto still speaks from above his grave: "The longest talks and the longest walks I ever made were for Jesus."

JOEL BOWLING 


Joel Bowling, a son of Larkin H. Bowling, was born in Anderson County, Tenn., May 2, 1817.  His grandfather, Joseph Bowling, was a native of Virginia.  Joel was the son of a farmer, and was brought up to farm life.  He was converted in North Carolina, in this twenty-eighth year, but uniting with Brasstown Church, Georgia, this church licensed him to preach, soon after his conversion.


August 8, 1838, he married to Adaline M. Carroll, of North Carolina, to which  union there were born eight children.


About the year 1857 he was ordained by the Longfield Church, Anderson County - Thomas Sieber, Wm. Lindsay, Paul Harmon, and J. C. Hutson serving as a presbytery.   At the close of the war he "refugeed" some three years in Kentucky, preaching to Mt. Hebron, Macedonia, and Pleasant Ridge churches.  Returning to his native State, he was active in the organization of the Coal Creek Church, becoming  its pastor and serving as such for about six or seven years.   He was also pastor of Pleasant Hill Church, Anderson County.  He also labored extensively in the destitute sections of Campbell and Scott counties, and other places.


He was a great admirer of Joshua Frost, and claimed him as his "spiritual father."   His associates in the ministry were Paul Harmon, the two Sieber brothers, Thomas and John, Jonathan and William Lindsay, J. C. Hutson, and Joshua Frost.


He was rather fond of preaching from Old Testament subjects, and was considered by some of his brethren a "law preacher," and not as strictly evangelical and as fervently spiritual and evangelistic as they would like.


He considered himself a "landmark Baptist," and when I last met him he had been a reader of the Tennessee Baptist for forty years.  He was getting up in his "eighties," had not been able to preach "much" for a year or so, and was not quite able to get himself reconciled to some "financial troubles and reverses" that had befallen him.

The following accounts are taken from J.J. Burnett‘s, “Sketches of  Tennessee's Pioneer Baptist Preachers“ by J.J. Burnett, dated 1919.

ELDER JOHN SEIBER

The following interesting sketch is condensed from the author's manuscript, entitled "The Autobiography of Elder John Seiber." I preserve the author's words and original style, as far as possible, which will add interest to the sketch.


"I was born April 28, 1816, in Anderson County, Tenn., on the headwaters of Poplar Creek. Was married January 28, 1840, to Alvina Kincaid. We have raised a family of seven girls. To keep a supply for my family I have had to work every day, when at home, and every hour of the day, either on the farm or in the blacksmith's shop. This necessity was a great hindrance to my ministry. I professed faith in Christ September 4, 1848, and was baptized the second Sabbath of the same month. The following month, at the "Arm" of Zion church, Elder Joshua Frost called on me to pray in public, which was the beginning of my public life. This "Arm" was in the midst of destitution of some 15 or 30 miles' extent. I met with this little band monthly and held prayer meetings. In 1849 I was liberated by the "Arm" to exercise my gift. At a night meeting in the neighborhood my mind was impressed with a text and the Lord helped me to preach my first sermon, which was blessed to the salvation of four souls. The revival continued, there were other converts, and we sent for an ordained minister to do the baptizing. The next year we were constituted a church, known as New Bethel (Roane County), W. DeRossett and S. Hendrickson acting as a presbytery. I was then invited to the Robertson schoolhouse, a small house made of round logs, where Mt. Zion church and Roane College now stand. On Sunday Brother Agee came, and later Brother E. B. Walker. A revival started, and Mt. Zion church was the result. A little afterwards I went to another log schoolhouse, three miles north of Kingston. The Lord, was with me, and we had a revival that was the beginning of Sugar Grove church. Meanwhile I had again been licensed to preach, this time by Zion church.


In February, 1852, I was ordained; in 1855 I was called to the care of New Bethel and Mt. Zion churches. In March of 1856 I was invited to Poplar Creek, three miles below Oliver Springs, where I had the privilege of preaching to the companions of my youth. Here I labored and was pastor once and again, baptizing nearly all the people in the neighborhood.


In 1866 I went to the X-Roads, near Lea's Ferry, and preached in a schoolhouse. Ten converts were baptized. Mt. Zion extended an ".arm" here, and in a short time New Hope church was constituted. In 1867 1 bought land in East Fork Valley, where I now live. There was no house of worship in the neighborhood. I commenced to hold meetings in my dwelling house, and in 1869 we built a log-house where East Fork Church now stands, and a church was constituted. In 1857 I was chiefly instrumental in rebuilding the old church at Robertsville, constituting that church anew (by permission of the East Fork Church), in May, 1888.


As pastor I preached several years at Zion and several years at Poplar Creek. Have preached some in Clinton and some in Kingston. I do not know how many persons I have baptized. I have baptized in every stream of note from Morgan County to Knox County, in the lower end of Anderson and the upper end of Roane, not only in creeks but in branches, and in Clinch River from Lea's Ferry to Kingston, and across the river, in Beaver Creek and in Bull Run. I have baptized all my children, except one, and several of my grandchildren. I have been instrumental in establishing seven churches, and have had more destitution right at my door than I could possibly supply. I have helped ordain several ministers and deacons. As pastor I have received very little for my work. I did not justify the churches in this, but did the best I could. I had the anti-mission spirit to contend with and was called "money-hunter," without getting the money. In my labors as a missionary on destitute fields I have never received more than 25 cents a day. I have been in many close places and have had to endure hardships, but the Lord has been with me.


I have now passed the seventy-third milestone in my pilgrimage. I am admonished by the state of my health that the time of my departure is near at hand. In the language of another, I expect soon to pass through the valley of the shadow of death upon the "car of salvation, which runs upon the iron track of God's predestination, with the Holy Spirit as the engineer and Jesus Christ as the conductor who has never missed connection."


May 25, 1891, Elder Seiber died as he had lived, in the triumphs of a living faith.

BRADFORD DEMARCUS


Bradford Demarcus was a son of Solomon and Mary Demarcus. He was born near Andersonville, Anderson County, Tenn., May 5, 1820. He was one of eight children, and was brought up to farm life, his father being a farmer. His grandfather, William Demarcus, was a native of France, but at an early day came to this country and settled in North Carolina. His mother was a daughter of Wm. James, from England. She was a "pious woman and a strong Baptist. She knew Bunyan and the Bible pretty much by heart, and would have been a preacher if she had only been a man." Young Demarcus owed much to the piety and godly counsel of his mother. He was converted in his twenty-second year, in a meeting held by Elders Chesley Boatwright and Woodson Taylor in a school­house where the New County Line Church (Grainger County) now is, and was later baptized into the fellowship of that church by Elder Taylor. Soon after his conversion he began to exercise his "gift" in the way of prayer and exhortation. In 1842 he was "licensed" to preach by Bethel Church, and in August of 1847 was ordained by Beaver Dam Church, Elders J. S. Coram, Homer Sears and Gordan Mynatt constituting the ordaining council.


Elder Demarcus made a remarkable record as pastor. In November, 1847, in connection with the venerable Joshua Frost, he organized the Mount Harmony Church (Knox County), and was called to the pastorate of the church the following April. To this church he received fifty-two annual calls, the last one being extended him just one hour before his death. He was pastor of Beaver Dam Church twenty-nine years, of Zion Hill twenty-five years, of Third Creek Church twenty odd years. He was also pastor of Fair View, Valley Grove, Pleasant Hill, Sharon, Union, and other churches. He was mainly instrumental in the organization of four of the above churches. During his pastorate of Beaver Dam, Zion Hill, Mt. Harmony, and Third Creek churches there went out from these churches fifteen new churches to keep house for themselves.


Elder Demarcus was eminently successful in revival meetings. In a ministry of more than fifty years he witnessed over 2,000 conversions, baptizing nearly that number with his own hands.


Brother Demarcus was an East Tennessean by birth, and never was off his native heath [sic]. He traveled considerably in his preaching tours, went "around the borders" pretty well, but was "never out of East Tennessee" till he went to heaven. He "believed in foreign missions," he said, "but never could get very far from Jerusalem." He never preached for a "set salary," but received whatever the churches would "give."  If a church was "hot," the pay was good; if the church was "luke-warm," he didn't get much; if the church was "cold," he got nothing at all.


Next to his mother his greatest helper, in his younger days, was Chesley H. Boatwright, who taught him his letters in a log cabin, in Hickory Valley, Anderson County, who also for some years was a father to him in the ministry. His true and most constant yoke-fellow in the gospel was William Hickle, a man after his own heart.


Elder Demarcus was, we might say, a self-made man, and for the most part a man of one book - the Bible- although in his twenty-fourth year he spent some time in the University at Knoxville, where he received training and equipment enough to teach school.


Brother Demarcus was married three times: First, to a Miss Emily Weaver; second, to Mary Smith;  third, to Mary Ellis . By his first wife he had seven children; by his second. twelve. One of his sons, J. W. Demarcus, is an alumnus of Carson and Newman College and a Baptist preacher.


Like Barnabas, Elder Demarcus was a good man. He lived his religion, and had the confidence of the people. He preached more funerals and married more people, it is thought, than any country preacher in all East Tennessee.

Just a week before his passing he preached at Salem Church on the subject of forgiveness. He stood to the last firm and unshaken on the solid rock, and sung with his expiring breath, 'How Firm a Foundation." He died at his home in Knox County, near Beaver Dam Church, April 22, 1899, near the close of his 79th year.

 The following accounts are taken from J.J. Burnett‘s, “Sketches of  Tennessee's Pioneer Baptist Preachers“ by J.J. Burnett, dated 1919.

PRYOR A. MORTON


Pryor A. Morton was born in Union County, Tennessee. March 26, 1833. His father was David Morton; his mother's maiden name was Nancy James . He was one of a family of ten children. He professed faith in Christ at the age of fourteen, and united with the Methodist Church, and was a "class leader" in that denomination. But he married a Baptist woman, Margaret Shipe, an intelligent, well-posted Bible leader, who could always beat her husband in argument on  controverted doctrinal points. Mrs. Morton's pastor.


Elder J. S. Coram. Brother C. and Brother M. had many good-natured arguments over the questions that divide the Methodists and the Baptists; and in their discussions they made an agreement that if Coram ever decided to join the Methodists, Morton should sprinkle him, and if Morton at any time should become convinced that he was wrong and decided ,join the Baptists Coram should immerse him. In due time Coram baptized him (at the age of 25) into the fellowship of the Milan Church, Union County.  Dr. J. W. Jenkins, who elates the above incident; was baptized the same day and the same hands. Brother Morton soon entered the Baptist ministry,  and subsequently served as pastor the following churches: Locust Grove, some twenty years; Milan, Texas Valley, Nave Hill, Maynardville, Bethany, Alder Springs, Big Valley, Big Sycamore, Providence, Powell's Valley, and a score of other churches. For years he was moderator of the Northern Association, and was one of the strongest and most influential preachers in that body. He was a good moderator and a good preacher. He was distinctly a doctrinal preacher, emphasizing doctrine on all occasions. He had the shepherd', heart, and was a real pastor, taking care of the flocks over which he was overseer, healing, restoring and feeding the sheep. During his ministry Elder Morton, it is said. baptized  "ninety-nine" Methodists into Baptist churches.


"Elder P. A. Morton departed this life on the 19th day of April, 1892, aged 59 years and 23 days. He served more than thirty of our churches as pastor, one of which he served twenty years and another one seventeen years. As a defender of Baptist principles he had no superior in the association. He was a deep preacher and endowed with extraordinary reasoning powers, but with all his logical force and ability as a preacher he had genuine meekness and humility. In his death our association has lost one of its brightest lights." (In Memoriam, as published in minutes of Northern Association.) He had money "laid away" with which to purchase a plain marble slab for his grave, on which were to be inscribed, according to his request, his name and dates of his birth and death. with the added words, "A sinner saved by grace."


P. A. Morton had six children, two sons and four daughters. His oldest son, Elder J. W. Morton, is a Baptist preacher of standing in the Northern Association; his nephews, Elders G .W. and J. C. Shipe, are able ministers of the New Testament and among our best pastors.


The following story is told of Elder Morton and a young man, a school teacher who was attending one of Brother M.'s meetings and was a "mourner." The young man was a little eccentric but thoroughly in earnest. The preacher happening upon the young teacher and wishing that he might help him in his search for light and relief from his burden, thus addressed him: "Well, my young friend, how are you getting along in your seeking?" and so forth. The answer was a little unexpected: "I'm not through yet, but I'm expecting to come through with flying colors." He made a profession and was urged to join the church. But he had been raised a Presbyterian, had heard a good deal about the "perseverance of the saints," and wanted to be sure he had a religion that would "hold out" to the end. He wanted to "try" his religion of what sort it was. He had a stumpy piece of "new ground" to plow; he would try "Jack and Eleck" in that, and if he kept his religion - didn't "swear" - he would be "all right" and would join the church."


Elder Morton, coming down from the pulpit, after preaching on a certain occasion, was accosted by one of his hearers, who frankly said to the preacher: "I don't believe what you preached today," and was answered as follows: "The Lord didn't commission me to make you believe the gospel, but only to `preach the gospel' to you."

JOSEPH JANEWAY


Joseph Janeway was born in Claiborne County, Tenn., June 28, 1831. He was the son of a minister and farmer, and was brought up to farm life in his native county, enjoying such educational advantages as his part of the country afforded in his day. Later he took a literary course in Mossy Creek College, now Carson and Newman, Jefferson City, Tenn.  February 12, 1852, he was married to Jane Helms, of Claiborne County, a cousin of Editor John Helms, of Morristown, Tenn. To this union were born nine children, six sons and three daughters. Soon after his marriage he moved to Loudon County. In 1855 he located in McMinn County. The second Saturday of July, 1859, he was ordained to the ministry by the Mt. Harmony Church. He was the beloved pastor of many of our strongest and most influential churches, among others the following: Cedar Fork, Post Oak, Stockton's Valley, Providence (Roane County), Prospect, Philadelphia, Loudon, Blair's Cross Roads and Mars Hill, in Knox County, Union, in McMinn, Goodfield, Decatur, Sewell, Mt. Harmony, County Line, Eastanallee, Hiwassee, and New Friendship.


Elder Janeway was a benediction wherever he went, was greatly admired for his even temper and smooth disposition, and enjoyed the confidence of all who knew him. He retired from the active ministry at the age of 70, not wanting to stand in the way of the progress of the churches.


He passed to his reward June 16, 1913, having read his Bible through more than fifty times, and having served the Lord and the Baptists, by the will of God, as a faithful minister of the Word for more than fifty years. He leaves a large connection of kindred and a host of friends to mourn his loss. Blessed be his memory.

THE SAGA OF JOHNNY GOINS

Preston Goins and his wife, Annie Smith Goins were residents of Campbell County in 1889 when their son, John Peter Goins was born.  John Peter Goins, at a very young age, fell under the spell of a West Texas land agent and his life was changed forever, according to an article in the March 12, 1961 edition of "The Crosbyton Review" of Crosbyton, Texas: 

J. P. "Johnny" Goins was a Tennessee schoolboy when he overheard a West Texas land developer, B. W. Ellison, expounding on the merits of Crosbyton‑area land owned by the C. B. Livestock Co. Ellison told J. C. Ausmus about the future of this new land and unfolded a map showing 90,000 acres being offered for sale.  Ausmus was convinced, and so was young Goins on this September day in 1908. 
The youth who was born March 21, 1889 in Campbell County, excitedly raced home to inform his parents of his plans to migrate west.  His father was less than enthusiastic. 'I don't guess you will,' he firmly told his son. But the determined Johnny Goins won out.  
He left his parents' home on November 4, 1908, 'the day William Howard Taft was elected president of the United States.' Although he failed to realize fully the impact this decision would have on the remainder of his life, Johnny Goins became a pioneer in a developing country. The Tennessee farm boy informed his parents, 'I'll be home in one year.'  He didn't make it!  In fact, it was 16 years before he returned to Tennessee for a visit.
 Goins and the Ausmus family bought railroad tickets to Texas. They changed cars in Kentucky, and stayed overnight in Kansas City where they turned south.   The group 'landed in Seymour, Texas on November 4' and stayed at the B. W. Ellison place three days.
On the 11th, they hired John Bradford to drive them to Crosbyton in a horse‑drawn wagon.  Ausmus paid Bradford $25 to deliver his family and possessions, and Goins' fee was $10.
Camping overnight at Benjamin, Texas, the Tennesseeans-turned-Texans met Henry Leatherwood and his hired hand.  'Mr. Leatherwood was the first Crosby County man I met' the slightly-built Goins remembers.  He also got acquainted rapidly with the rawness of West Texas, observing Leatherwood handling wild mules. Stock back home in Tennessee was 'raised right in the pen and was always tame.' 
Goins recalls that Mrs. Ausmus cried the night they were camped at Benjamin, expressing a desire to 'go back home to Tennessee.'  The Ausmus family 'didn't stay long; they went to Illinois.' Despite the adversities of this pioneer land, J. P. Goins stayed!

The 19-year-old lad had '$15 in cash when I got to Crosbyton.  I bought a little food, and we stayed that night in a half dugout on B. W. Ellison's place west of town.  Along about midnight, Harley Coffey. Ewing Lawson and Luther Collier reached the dugout to overnight.' Early the next morning, 'Harley Coffey made breakfast. He cooked the first biscuits I ate in Crosby County.  Ausmus killed an antelope, and we had fresh meat.'
 Saturday afternoon, Goins came to Crosbyton where he met Julian M. Bassett, general manager of the C. B.  Livestock Co, R. D. Wicks and others.  Loyd A. Wicks was the livestock company's attorney. When he returned to town Monday morning to 'mail a letter to my parents. Mr. Boggs took me to the supply store.'  Here, young Goins was offered a job by Mr. Craddock for '$25 a month and board.'  The employment lasted until Craddock 'tried to cut my wages $5.
 Again, the newcomer was job ​hunting.  He met ranch foreman Jay Walling, 'one of the finest men I ever knew' and became a cowboy.  Ironically 'when Mr. Walling hired me, he sent me to Crawfish Ranch to feed cattle. That ranch was the same section in Fairview Community where Goins six years later purchased land, which has since been his home for 63 years.
 While working for Walling on the ranch Goins helped 'lay off the route from Crosbyton to Petersburg.'  A sled pulled by four mules was utilized for developing the road. We went across many farms; most land owners were agreeable. All molding out civilization in a rugged. new land was hard; there also were fond memories.
 Johnny Goins remembers driving a chuck wagon with the crew which was building the road.  Other crew members were Walling, A. R. Dees, the cook and several cowboys on horses. Goins jumped from the chuck wagon to open a gate. He was unprepared to see the horses running off.  The mounted cowboys soon had the runaway team under control.
 Goins' roots sink deep into this agriculture country which he literally helped build.  In 1909 and 1910 the C. B. Livestock Co. was erecting Crosbyton's second school.  Goins hired on and worked making concrete blocks. The late Lige Ellison was one of the men hauling sand from the canyon for the construction job.  This sand was screened to make blocks. Goins explains that 'kerosene was poured on the cylinder before each block' was produced.  The blocks then were wet down each day until they were cured.  An early-day Presbyterian preacher of whom Goins became fond was another employee. The blocks were produced in a pit which was covered with a tarp.  After the C. B. Livestock Co. had completed the school building, the school board voted bonds for its purchase.
 This became the basis for one of the area's first major lawsuits. The structure was condemned in 1914, and the school board filed suit against the livestock company for reimbursement.  C. B. Livestock Co. won, but the school board appealed, and the case went before Judge Dix in New Orleans.  The federal judge reversed the earlier decision and ruled in favor of the school board.  Goins remembers that Bassett said this was one of only two cases he ever lost."
 Crosby County and neighboring counties were beginning to change somewhat from grassland to farmland by 1910.  'Mr. Hayden was the first ag man' employed by C. B. Livestock Co.  Goins was employed on the C. B. farm when 'the second manager was hired.  It didn't work out because he hired men on an hourly basis--they quit before dark."   C. P. Sanders was the "third ag man" employed by C. B.
 Another landmark came for Goins on Jan. 1, 1909 when 'a bunch of us poured the foundation on the first bank' [now the site of the present Citizens National Bank].  The men were mixing concrete by hand 'on the foggiest day you've ever seen.'
 Another first was seeing Frank White distribute the first issue of the 'Crosbyton Review' in January 1909.  In fact, he had spent part of Christmas Day in White's office watching him set type for that initial publication by hand.  A copy of the first issue of 'Crosbyton Review' was sent 'to my father in Tennessee.'  Johnny Goins, who has been taking the Crosbyton papers most of the time since then, must surely be the Review's longest subscriber.
 The former Tennessee farm boy worked as a freighter in 1909. He hauled freight on a wagon, going to Plainview on a route. The job had its good points.  'You could get good meals for 25 cents at a boarding house run by a family in Plainview.  It also had its bad features.  'I had a full load of Irish potatoes when it came up a freeze, and they all spoiled.'  The 'bad' finally won out! 'I burned out on that job because of the weather.  One night, me and my team nearly froze.'
 Despite the advice of 'Uncle Joe McCarty. a fine fellow' who was staying with the Ellisons, Johnny Goins had an even worse job experience.  Uncle Joe warned the youngster that 'I was making a mistake working for a man who couldn't pay me.'  The advice rang true.  'After several weeks work, I gave the man my watch to help him out, and I never got paid.'
 Soon after, Uncle Joe McCarty, another of Johnny Goins' favorites, 'got a splinter under his fingernail, took blood poisoning and died.'
 Although Johnny Goins admits 'I never had a chance to go to school much,' he was rapidly learning the ways of foundling West Texas. In 1910, he had an opportunity to vote 'for the first time.'  The decision was whether to move the county seat from Old Emma to Crosbyton.  Did he vote for the change?  'l sure did,' Goins replied without hesitation.
 After seven years in Crosby County, Goins, now a full-fledged Texan, became a landowner.  He made a deal with Bassett of C. B. Livestock Co. for 160 acres of land in the Fairview community.  Actually it was an agriculture lease for five years. The agreement called for $1 per acre lease the first year, $1.25 the second year, $1.50 the third year, $1.75 the fourth year, and $2.00 the fifth and final year.  'The lease money was to be deducted from the $5 an acre."
 The transaction was finalized in August 1916, and Goins took possession of the land December 31, 1916.  The diligent little man moved to the site January 17, 1917 and 'broke out the sod with a walking plow.'  Actually, Goins moved to Fairview community in 1912 and was self-employed until 1959.
 'Exceptionally dry years' prevailed across West Texas in 1917 and 1918.  And World War I was declared in 1917.  These were troubled years. Goins 'registered at Cone' for military service on June 7, 1917. He was re-classified three times and never did have to go into the army.  The war ended November 11, 1918.  The situation was improving. 'The drought broke, and we had a good crop in 1919.'  He planted and harvested 'wheat, oats, and high-gear' [heigera, a form of maize].
 Goins 'bought my first car' October 11, 1921.  His first registration papers were issued by the late B. W. Mitchell, then sheriff and tax collector.  
 Goins, who has a penchant for recalling events from the early years in Crosby County, also has a tendency to keep items from yester-year.  He has in his possession 'my first poll tax receipt from 1910 and the last one I ever paid.'  He also, kept his first auto registration papers and auto tags, his registration cards from the first world war and World War ll.
 The spry pioneer points out that he vividly recalls events from his childhood in Tennessee -- recalling the Bible verse from his final Sunday school lesson there-- and 'things when I first came out here are fresh, but I don't remember other things' more recent.

(I have contributed much more history/genealogy on the ‘local’ Goins family to the Campbell County Historical Society/Museum in Lafollette.  

THE FRATERSVILLE MINE EXPLOSION AS WRITTEN BY PHILIP FRANCIS


In this article we shall capture the dramatic scene of the Fratersville mine explosion in Anderson County, Tennessee,  as it actually happened. The following are the heartfelt words of Philip Francis as he wrote them. 


In the year 1902, when the explosion occurred at Fraterville, causing the death of 184 miners; when the morning explosion happened, they wired for me to come at once and to bring experienced miners with me.  This I did.  When I arrived at the mine, all was confusion.  A few bodies had been brought out.  Men, women, and children were crying at the entrance of the mine.  It was heart-rending to hear them.  I met a Mr. Davis who had charge of a mine nearby.  He said he wanted me to take charge of getting the bodies out.  There was no map near, but he drew a plan of the mine on the ground for me to go by.  He told me he was sick and could not help but the risk was a lingering fire in the mine and may cause another explosion that would destroy all resources in the mine.  This did really happen a few months before; one in West Virginia and one in Wyoming, taking all the lives that were in the rescue party.

    
Knowing this, I led the men into the mine, where bodies would be found nearly three miles underground.  We had one safety lamp with us and it gave a very poor light.  No open lamps were allowed for fear of coming in contact with gas.  The ventilation was poor, as all batteries were blown down.  We had to be cautious and careful and not go into gas.  That would cause you to fall down and your breathing would soon cease unless someone picked you up and took you into purer air.  Several of the rescuers had fallen down and were taken outside of the mine and laid in the blacksmith shop unconscious with the doctor working to restore them.  The rescuers were not familiar with the effects of "black damp" in mines.

    
I had charge of several men.  I told them that there could not be a living miner in the mine and that we should go carefully and not get into foul air, and that I would go in front.  I knew the effects of "black damp" and "white damp".  There comes a shortness of breath and a feeling of weakness in the knees and elbows and stillness.  In that state, you must gather up all your will power to know where you are and what you are doing and not turn yourself around too quickly or you may fall down and lose consciousness.  In one damp, your light will not burn while in another damp, it burns and both are dangerous to life.  No open lights were allowed in the rescue party.  I carried my own safety lamp, but it gave a very poor light.  The mine had penetrated into the mountain for nearly three miles at this time and I could not travel the main entry but by byways and airways and then had to travel in a stooping position.  The height was less than four feet.  This made traveling tiresome.  Some of the men had no light, but followed along the best they could.  Some were uneasy when told on the outside of the mine that some fire may be left in the old workings and that a second explosion may take place.


Only a few months previous, a second explosion occurred in the Wyoming coal mines and also one in West Virginia, where all the miners lost their lives.  All this I knew before I entered the mine.  Some of the men only went part of the way in the mine.  Their courage failed them.  On the inside, you must forget the cries of women and children and also forget many dangers that surround you in the mine.  You have a duty to perform to a fellow miner and to remove dead bodies to their relatives on the outside.  The first bodies we came to were four.  Two of them were on their knees in a praying position, the other two being partly on their side, just a few yards away, at the head of the entry.  The men were sitting close to each other with their arms on their knees folded and their heads on their arms.  In this position 17 of them had died.  I lifted their heads up so I could see their faces to see if there could be any life there, but none was found.

    
Some faces looked calm, while a few looked distorted.  Our lights were dim and I did not try to identify any of them.  Those men had rushed from another part of the mine for safety, but after the damp took their breath, they must have passed over many dead bodies to reach this

part of the mine.  I made arrangements to remove the bodies to the outside of the mine.  This was difficult on account of no conveyance.  It could only be done by partly carrying and dragging them through low places until we got them to a point where they were loaded into mining cars and then taken outside and then into a building where the doctors washed them and prepared them to send them to their homes or relatives.

    
After removing 21 bodies from that section and as I was walking down the entry a short distance I came upon two bodies in a kneeling position. Their foreheads were touching the floor of the mine and they appeared as if they were alive.  Placing my hand on the hip of the one nearest to me, I pushed slightly and the body fell over on it side.  Looking closely at them I thought I knew them.  They worked for me at Jellico.  They were both young men.  When we removed the bodies we concluded that they were part of the 17 men huddled together a short distance from where they died; it seemed that they had made an effort to escape.  It was sad to think of young men dying in that manner--a slow, gasping death.


Going toward the main entry, where the force of the explosion could be seen, we came upon a body terribly mangled.  Then more bodies with several dead mules were lying around.  Before the mules could be removed, their legs were chopped off, so that they could be taken outside, on account of the small places to go through.  The men were now complaining.  They felt sick and needed gloves on their hands to protect them while handling the dead bodies.  They also wanted hot coffee.  I sent word to the outside of the mine to supply these men with gloves and a galvanized wash tub.  It was sent in almost full of hot coffee.  This gave the rescuers more strength and the ventilation was getting better almost every hour.  By replacing batteries and canvas curtains, the bodies were being removed to the outside rapidly.

    
There were not many large falls of slate on the entrance, so the explosion was terrific at the main entrance.  Heavy steel mining cars' axles were broken off in the cars' wheels.  Loaded cars were hurled against the side of the entries and broken to pieces.  No flesh could stand against such force.  I worked three days in getting all the bodies out.

    
The last evening, when I reached the outside of the mine, an old white haired man came running to me and asked me if we had found his grandson, who was a door tender on the main entry.  He said he had a wide leather belt around his waist.  The old man was heart-broken because, as yet we had not found the body of his boy.  It took force to keep him from going into the mine.  He could not sleep, watching everybody that brought out a body.  He was broken with grief.  Finally, part of a boy's body was brought out.  It was his grandson.  When clearing up the mine they found a boy's torso with the belt still around his body.

    
The clothes that I wore in the mine, I had to destroy on account of the peculiar odor which could not be gotten rid of.  The scene around the entrance of the mine could not be forgotten with 184 parts of many bodies that could be recognized by relatives.


(The preceding was taken from the book, “Seventy Years in The Coal Mines,” as written by Philip Francis. Permission was given for these works by his Great-Grandson, Bailey Francis.)

Bear Hunting in Tennessee By Davy Crockett


I guess like many Americans I tend to lean toward the adventures of the old pioneers. At this time we shall venture into one episode of the life of Davy Crockett, entitled Bear Hunting in Tennessee. I shall now take from the original writings of the great adventurer. It goes as such:



In the fall of 1825, I concluded I would build two large boats, and load them with pipe staves for market. So I went down to the lake, which was about twenty-five miles from where I lived, and hired some hands to assist me, and went to work; some at boat building, and others to getting staves. I worked on with my hands till the bears got fat, and then I turned out to hunting, to lay in a supply of meat. I soon killed and salted down as many as were necessary for my family; but about this time one of my old neighbours, who had settled down on the lake about twenty-five miles from me, came to my house and told me he wanted me to go down and kill some bears about in his parts. He said they were extremely fat, and very plenty. I know'd that when they were fat, they were easily taken, for a fat bear can't run fast or long. But I asked a bear no favours, no way, further than civility, for I now had eight large dogs, and as fierce as painters; so that a bear stood no chance at all to get away from them. So I went home with him, and then went on down towards the Mississippi, and commenced hunting.


We were out two weeks, and in that time killed fifteen bears. Having now supplied my friend with plenty of meat, I engaged occasionally again with my hands in our boat building and getting staves. But I at length couldn't stand it any longer without another hunt. So I concluded to take my little son, and cross over the lake, and take a hunt there. We got over, and that evening turned out and killed three bears, in little or no time. The next morning we drove up four forks, and made a sort of scaffold, on which we salted up our meat, so as to have it out of the reach of the wolves, for as soon as we would leave our camp, they would take possession. We had just eat our breakfast, when a company of hunters came to our camp, who had fourteen dogs, but all so poor, that when they would bark they would almost have to lean up against a tree and take a rest. I told them their dogs couldn't run in smell of a bear, and they had better stay at my camp, and feed them on the bones I had cut out of my meat. I left them there, and cut out; but I hadn't gone far, when my dogs took a first-rate start after a very large fat old he-bear, which run right plump towards my camp. I pursued on, but my other hunters had heard my dogs coming, and met them, and killed the bear before I got up with him. I gave him to them, and cut out again for a creek called Big Clover, which wa'n't very far off. Just as I got there, and was entering a cane brake, my dogs all broke and went ahead, and, in a little time, they raised a fuss in the cane, and seemed to be going every way. I listened a while, and found my dogs was in two companies, and that both was in a snorting fight. I sent my little son to one, and I broke for the other. I got to mine first, and found my dogs had a two-year-old bear down, a-wooling away on him; so I just took out my big butcher, and went up and slap'd it into him, and killed him without shooting. There was five of the dogs in my company. In a short time, I heard my little son fire at his bear; when I went to him he had killed it too. He had two dogs in his team. Just at this moment we heard my other dog barking a short distance off, and all the rest immediately broke to him. We pushed on too, and when we got there, we found he had still a larger bear than either of them we had killed, treed by himself. We killed that one also, which made three we had killed in less than half an hour. We turned in and butchered them, and then started to hunt for water, and a good place to camp. But we had no sooner started, than our dogs took a start after another one, and away they went like a thunder- gust, and was out of hearing in a minute. 
We followed the way they had gone for some time, but at length we gave up the hope of finding them, and turned back. As we were going back, I came to where a poor fellow was grubbing, and he looked like the very picture of hard times. I asked him what he was doing away there in the woods by himself? He said he was grubbing for a man who intended to settle there; and the reason why he did it was, that he had no meat for his family, and he was working for a little.


I was mighty sorry for the poor fellow, for it was not only a hard, but a very slow way to get meat for a hungry family; so I told him if he would go with me, I would give him more meat than he could get by grubbing in a month. I intended to supply him with meat, and also to get him to assist my little boy in packing in and salting up my bears. He had never seen a bear killed in his life. I told him I had six killed then, and my dogs were hard after another. He went off to his little cabin, which was a short distance in the brush, and his wife was very anxious he should go with me. So we started and went to where I had left my three bears, and made a camp. We then gathered my meat and salted, and scuffled it, as I had done the other. Night now came on, but no word from my dogs yet. I afterwards found they had treed the bear about five miles off, near to a man's house, and had barked at it the whole enduring night. Poor fellows! many a time they looked for me, and wondered why I didn't come, for they knowed there was no mistake in me, and I know i they were as good as ever fluttered. In the morning, as soon as it was light enough to see, the man took his gun and went to them, and shot the bear, and killed it. My dogs, however, wouldn't have anything to say to this stranger; so they left him, and came early in the morning back to me.


We got our breakfast, and cut out again; and we killed four large and very fat bears that day. We hunted out the week, and in that time we killed seventeen, all of them first-rate. When we closed our hunt, I gave the man over a thousand weight of fine fat bear-meat, which pleased him mightily, and made him feel as rich as a Jew. I saw him the next fall, and he told me he had plenty of meat to do him the whole year from his week's hunt. My son and me now went home. This was the week between Christmas and New-year that we made this hunt.

DAVY CROCKETT

Part II


 When I got home, one of my neighbours was out of meat, and wanted me to go back, and let him go with me, to take another hunt. I couldn't refuse; but I told him I was afraid the bear had taken to house by that time, for after they get very fat in the fall and early part of the winter, they go into their holes, in large hollow trees, or into hollow logs, or their cane-houses, or the hurricanes; and lie there till spring, like frozen snakes. And one thing about this will seem mighty strange to many people. From about the first of January to about the last of April, these varments lie in their holes altogether. In all that time they have no food to eat; and yet when they come out, they are not an ounce lighter than when they went to house. I don't know the cause of this, and still I know it is a fact; and I leave it for others who have more learning than myself to account for it. They have not a particle of food with them, but they just lie and suck the bottom of their paw all the time. I have killed many of them in their trees, which enables me to speak positively on this subject. However, my neighbour, whose name was McDaniel, and my little son and me, went on down to the lake to my second camp, where I had killed my seventeen bears the week before, and turned out to hunting. But we hunted hard all day without getting a single start. We had carried but little provisions with us, and the next morning was entirely out of meat. I sent my son about three miles off, to the house of an old friend, to get some. The old gentle- man was much pleased to hear I was hunting in those parts, for the year before the bears had killed a great many of his hags. He was that day killing his bacon hogs, and so he gave my son some meat, and sent word to me that I must come in to his house that evening that he would have plenty of feed for my dogs, and some accommoda- tions for ourselves; but before my son got back, we had gone out hunting, and in a large cane brake my dogs found a big bear in a cane-house, which he had fixed for his winter-quarters, as they some. times do.


When my lead dog found him, and raised the yell, all the rest broke to him, but none of them entered his house until we got up. I encouraged my dogs, and they knowed me so well, that I could have made them seize the old serpent himself, with all his horns and heads, and cloven foot and ugliness into the bargain, if he would only have come to light, so that they could have seen him. They bulged in, and in an instant the bear followed them out, and I told my friend to shoot him, as he was mighty wrathy to kill a bear. He did so, and killed him prime. We carried him to our camp, by which time my son had returned; and after we got our dinners we packed up, and cut for the house of my old friend, whose name was Davidson.


We got there, and staid with him that night; and the next morning having salted up our meat, we left it with him, and started to take a hunt between the Obion lake and the Red-foot lake; as there had been a dreadful hurricane, which passed between them, and I was sure there must be a heap of bears in the fallen timber. We had gone about five miles without seeing any sign at all; but at length we got on some high cony ridges, and, as we rode along, I saw a hole in a large black oak, and on examining more closely, I discovered that a bear had clomb the tree. I could see his tracks going up, but none coming down, and so I was sure he was in there. A person who is acquainted with bear-hunting, can tell easy enough when the varment is in the hollow; for as they go up they don't slip a bit, but as they come down they make long scratches with their nails.


My friend was a little ahead of me, but I called him back, and told him there was a bear in that tree, and I must have him out. So we lit from our horses, and I found a small tree which I thought I could fall so as to lodge against my bear tree, and we fell to work chopping it with our tomahawks. I intended, when we lodged the tree against the other, to let my little son go up, and look into the hole, for he could climb like a squirrel. We had chop'd on a little time and stop'd to rest, when I heard my dogs barking mighty severe at some distance from us, and I told my friend I knowed they had a bear, for it is the nature of a dog, when he finds you are hunting bears, to hunt for nothing else; he becomes fond of the meat, and considers other game as "not worth a notice," as old Johnson said of the devil.


We concluded to leave our tree a bit, and went to my dogs, and when we got there, sure enough they had an eternal great big fat bear up a tree, just ready for shooting. My friend again petitioned me for liberty to shoot this one also. I had a little rather not, as the bear was so big, but I couldn't refuse; and so he blazed away, and down came the old fellow like some great log had fell. I now missed one of my dogs, the same that I before spoke of as having treed the bear by himself sometime before, when I had started the three in the cane break. I told my friend that my missing dog had a bear somewhere, just as sure as fate; so I left them to butcher the one we had just killed, and I went up on a piece of high ground to listen for my dog. I heard him barking with all his might some distance off, and I pushed ahead for him. My other dogs hearing him broke to him, and when I got there, sure enough again he had another bear ready treed; if he hadn't, I wish I may be shot. I fired on him, and brought him down; and then went back, and help'd finish butchering the one at which I had left my friend. We then packed both to our tree where we had left my boy. By this time, the little fellow had cut the tree down that we intended to lodge, but it fell the wrong way; he had then feather'd in on the big tree, to cut that, and had found that it was nothing but a shell on the outside, and all doted in the middle, as too many of our big men are in these days, having only an outside appearance. My friend and my son cut away on it, and I went off about a hundred yards with my dogs to keep them from running under the tree when it should fall. On looking back at the hole, I saw the bear's head out of it, looking down at them as they were cutting. I hollered to them to look up, and they did so; and McDaniel catched up his gun, but by this time the bear was out, and coming down the tree. He fired at it, and as soon as it touch'd ground the dogs were all round it, and they had a roll-and-tumble fight to the fact of the hill, where they stop'd him. I ran up, and putting my gun against the bear, fired and killed him. We now had three, and so we made our scaffold and salted them up.

THE LITTLE VILLAGE OF CUMBERLAND GAP


The small settlement of Cumberland Gap developed after the changing of the frontier from family survival farms to an organized marketable center. The small village was limited geographically but not isolated. It was invigorated by the travel that obviously passed through the Cumberland Gap. Framed by the mountains, the village had little flat land on which to grow crops. Income varied from timber cutting, storekeeping, and foundry work, which allowed the Gap families to purchase food from produce farmers in Powell’s Valley. 


Cumberland Gap, by 1840, was a thriving Tennessee community and was also a full contributor in the political life of the nation. This year found that the Gap hosted a crowd of from six to eight thousand Whigs who traveled by foot, horseback, wagon, and buggy to cheer for “Tippecanoe and Tyler too!” 


Twas the following year that new settlers arrived. Virginian John Newly and his four slaves operated an iron furnace (still in existence, but not used), while other associates of his militia company settled throughout Powell’s Valley. Robert Crockett, Daniel Huff, and James Patterson used twenty to thirty slaves each on their large farms in the Valley. The census of 1850 lists approximately thirty-three slave owners in or near the Gap. 


East Tennessee African-Americans continued to live in small groups much as they had in the early frontier days. A few free blacks began to settle in the countryside, “in drafty shacks on the most hilly and marginal land” and in the “rabbit town” section of Tazewell, the county seat of Claiborne County. Free blacks “Uncle” Stephen Graham and “reliable” Godfrey Posey drove the stage between Tazewell and the Gap. The weekly stage between these stops carried freight, mail and passengers. This line was a convenient method for the movement of goods and the arrival of people, residents and tourists, which gave the historic village the look of a much larger community.


Slave owners Huff and Patterson operated their farms, started schools for their children, and opened crossroad stores, tanneries and other commercial enterprises in the Valley. Business partnerships were also formed with Newly and another Gap resident, Dr. J.H.S. Morison. 


The village of Cumberland Gap changed dramatically during the Civil War with the North and South changing hands four times. As each side moved in and then were forced out, they disabled the mill, the furnace, and the pass above the town. The residents of Cumberland Gap recognized the contrasting armies and accepted them much like the travelers along the Wilderness Road. 

Many of the local African-Americans, ex-slaves, followed the creek south, settling in the Tiprell area a mile from the iron furnace. Others remained near the destroyed Huff and Patterson farms. 


The road across the mountain remained “in terrible shape during the war.”
It was not immediately repaired, but the community returned to Cumberland Gap by 1870. This census lists white doctors, schoolteachers, and ministers. The African-Americans included blacksmiths, foundry and sawmill operators, and cabinet workers. Many African-Americans, who were forced to leave the Tiprell after Confederate Tip Cockrell’s return, joined families in the Gap, constructing their own houses around the large spring and working at the iron furnace. The Morisons, Newlys, and other whites returned to their prewar positions of distinction in the community.


Lack of good roads and access to the railroads caused business growth to come to a standstill. Expansion of the local trade had been discussed for years, but the war interrupted all their efforts. In 1886, local businessman persuaded Alexander Arthur, an agent of the Richmond and Danville Railroad, to consider constructing a tunnel through the mountains. Yellow Creek Valley of Bell County, Kentucky lay across the mountains. The Colson family, largest landowner in the valley, revealed to Arthur virgin forests and coal banks around the border of the valley. Arthur in turn created in his mind a massive development, supported by plentiful natural resources and a connection to rail and onto the world marketplace. 


Arthur secured capital from the Baring Bank of London and became President of the American Association, Ltd. Apparently Arthur was presented with a “blank check” and with the assistance of Colson and Morison, the American Association, Ltd. optioned, surveyed, and purchased over 100,000 acres in Kentucky, Tennessee, and Virginia.


Arthur was blessed with enthusiasm, promotional skill, along with business skills, as well as the historic means such as retired British Colonel Railton. Some of the younger investors, who found these less settled areas too distant for their tastes, subsequently assembled at Cumberland Gap.


The Watts Steel Company of England sent the Watts brothers, Edgar and Frank, to manage their business in Middlesborough. At this time, the rough frontier settlement at Yellow Creek proved to be too much for the Englishmen and they therefore set up headquarters in Cumberland Gap. 


The townspeople soon cleared small orchards and kitchen gardens for the new business district. Apartments were let over the grocery stores, shoe shops, printing offices, barber shops, restaurants, and other business enterprises served as a living space for newly hired store clerks and delivery men. Overnight visitors had their choice of three hotels and several boarding houses a few blocks from the railroad depot. The Claiborne County newspaper editor made regular trips to the Gap and encouraged the Claiborne Countians to invest in a railroad tunnel through the mountains. 


At last the tunneling of the great mountain had begun. A series of tunnel cave-ins hampered its completion. Dr. Morison was often required to treat the injured caused by the cave-ins. He was many times involved in the treating of the injured inside the tunnel or on the side of the mountain in hastily constructed houses or tents. 


The African-Americans and poor whites working on the tunnel and railroad made their living quarters on the only land in the Gap not being surveyed and divided into costly town lots.  Since the end of the Civil War the African-Americans had moved in and out of town, staying anywhere from a few days to a few years. The largest group of African-Americans migrated to the Gap when the Company needed lumbermen, railroad laborers, and miners. Many of them, like the white laborers, moved to town from nearby farms. African-American workers were “limited by local racial custom in their right to mingle casually with the whites.”


While Alexander Arthur and other business investors concentrated on developing the surrounding land resources, Reverend Aaron Arthur Myers and his wife, Ellen, began building a Congregational Church and school in the Gap. They represented the reformers who discovered Appalachia in the late 1890s. Not only did the community support two churches before the Myerses arrived, but nearby Middlesboro built and maintained seven large churches. 


The village of Cumberland Gap was incorporated in 1890 and was the largest community in Claiborne County. And by 1900 the ethnically assorted community had withstood the Civil War and the assault of industrial might and evangelical force. The unparalleled growth of the previous twenty years, 1880-1900, tested the community’s ability to maintain itself as a separate workable body. However, Cumberland Gap, Tennessee, still survives.

(Material for this article was provided by “Border States,” author, Rebecca Vial.)


THE INDIAN FUR TRADE

 
The fur trade, more than any other activity, contributed to the white exploration and opening of the wilderness north of Mexico, and, subsequently, it led to widespread contacts between whites and Indians.


All the colonial powers were involved in the mass profit-making operation of animal pelts and skins. Many countries such as France, England, the Netherlands, Russia, and to a lesser extent, Spain, tended to fulfill the enraged demand for furs in Europe, especially beaver pelts for hat making.


Competition among the European nations and among the Indian tribes for the fur trade was a major factor in many of the intertribal conflicts and imposing wars. And reaction to white traders on Indian lands produced major native opposition. The world fur market remained essential after colonial times into the 19th century, and it played a critical part in the opening of both U.S. and Canadian wilderness to white settlement.


Over the course of the 17th through the 19th century, impact on the Indians as a result of the fur trade came about in various ways. First, as skilled hunters and suppliers of pelts, the Indians were sought after as trading partners and, as a result, were exposed to white culture. In exchange for their goods, the Indians received European products, both practical, such as iron tools and utensils, and decorative items, such as bright-colored cloth and beads. The Indians also received firearms and liquor, both of which had a substantial influence on their life styles.


A second and disturbing effect from trade with whites was the outbreak of European diseases among the Indian population. 


A third effect was the long-term environmental problem of the food chain by the exhaustion of fur-bearing mammals. And finally, the fur trade had another long-term impact with the Indians by bringing whites onto their lands.


After the white traders, trappers, and hunters came the trading and military posts, and after the posts came the settlers. In early colonial times, the French cautiously exploited the fur trade.

 
Mining and the raising of livestock had a greater economic bearing on the development of Spanish colonies, while farming dominated the economy and land use of the English colonies. All the time commerce in furs created French growth.


The French and Indian fur trade began with Jacques Cartier in 1534 along the St. Lawrence River. His original intent had been to find the Northwest Passage to the Orient, 

but he found instead an untouched source of furs among the Indians who were eager to trade for European goods. 


Based on the results of Cartier’s expeditions, Samuel de Champlain arrived in New France in 1603, having the express purpose of trading with the Indians for furs. Over the next several years, Champlain explored the northern woods and established trade harmony with various tribes to deliver their pelts to French trading posts. Port Royal in Acadia (now Annapolis Royal, Nova Scotia), Quebec City, and Montreal all became thriving centers for commerce.


Eastern tribes, such as the Algonquian-speaking Micmacs, Montagnais, Naskapis, Abenakis, and Crees, were all involved in the French fur trade. Yet the Iroquoian-speaking Hurons, living further to the west, became the leading suppliers. From the years 1616 to 1649, the Hurons, in connection with the Algonquian Ottawas and Nipissings, developed a trade empire among the Indians from the Great Lakes to the Hudson Bay to the St. Lawrence.


Each of the three main trading partners had its own river and portage route for travel by canoe, plus a yearly schedule, linking them up with other tribes as well, such as the Iroquoian Tobaccos and Neutrals.


Acting as middlemen, the Hurons traded farm products to other tribes for pelts, which they then carried to the French in Quebec City or Montreal, to trade for European products. In their task force of canoes now weighed down with such products as textiles, beads, paints, knives, hatchets, and kettles, they then completed the trade circle, returning to the other tribes to trade a percentage of their take for still more furs. This complex trade relationship lasted until the mid-17th century, ending with the military and economic expansion. 


As for the Mountain Men and other compatriots many of them stayed active long after the fur decline as scouts and guides for the army or settlers. Some became the retaliation of the very people from whom they had learned so much as they were among the only whites skilled enough to track the hostile Indians.


In the meantime, however, many Frenchmen, some of them sponsored by Champlain and others by the Catholic Church, had already ventured along lakes and rivers, deeper into the wilderness in search of new sources for furs. Many more would follow. The men who earned a livelihood b222222y paddling large canoes into the wilderness Indian-style in quest of furs came to be known as “voyageurs.” And in terms of life-style, of all the whites to settle North America, the backwoods seekers of furs had the most in common with the Indians. But there were also those traders who held the Indians in contempt, using whatever means they could, especially alcohol, to cheat them.


There is little comparison between the destruction that these traders imposed on the Indians and those imposed by the majority of Spanish conquistadors. Whoever sought to conquer, plunder, and enslave the Indian population, included certain traders who might nevertheless be called the forerunner of a thoughtless and intolerable white culture.


Many of the men who worked for and traded with the Indians came to be known as the Mountain Men. Active in the 1820s and 1830s as hunters, trappers, and traders, they traveled the Indian trails and passes of the West. 

WHAT THE INDIANS ATE AND HOW THEY PREPARED  IT.

 
What were the early Indian foods like? What was their method of cooking? An early account by Col. James Smith writes of the food customs of the Native Americans as experienced during his capture in the years 1755 thru 1759. 


Col. Smith was a Scotch-Irish native of Pennsylvania, but later in life became a resident of Kentucky where he was licensed as a minister of the Presbyterian Church. 
Col. Smith's account of the early Indian foods reads that they feasted upon "venison and green corn, boiled in large brass kettles, and eaten from a large bowl with a wooden spoon; of a kind of rough brown potato, which grows spontaneously; the potatoes, peeled and dipped in raccoon's fat, taste nearly like our sweet potatoes." 


They also had "a kind of hominy, made of green corn dried, and beans mixed to- gether." The statement "green corn dried," was evidence of early corn-drying procedures in Ohio among the primitive Indians. 


Hominy was occasionally served by itself, without bread, salt, or other additives. Col. Smith says that "sometimes we had bread made of Indian corn meal, pounded on a hominy block and mixed with boiled beans, and baked in cakes under the ashes." He writes that when the warriors went on a military campaign, "all we had to live on was corn pounded into meal of small hominy; this they boiled in water."


Corn and beans were the Indians staple crop, although Smith mentions tobacco, squash-skins and gourds; no mention was made as to where the crops were grown.


Feasting or starving was described by Smith regarding the Indians. He writes that the season of greatest reward was in the Fall when their crop of green corn was used for roasting and boiling. At this festival the women would bring in the ears of corn and other field products, while the hunters would supply meat from the forest. An offering was made to the Great Spirit during this time.


Hunting was essential in the Winter. Their supply of corn and other vegetable foods were eventually exhausted. The hunter would ever-so discreetly walk onto the hardened snow crust, careful not to scare away the game. But, even though all precautions were attempted, the game would slip away, and for days the Indian would scarcely have a mouthful to eat.


Col. Smith, in the winter of 1757-58, made a trip with some Indians on their long winter's hunt. They made a bark canoe and started down the Darby Creek (then called the Olentangy) for the Scioto River in Southern Ohio. The water level of the creek was so low that the party had to wait for a rain. The chief made a prayer to the Great Spirit for rain while in waiting. Smith translated this prayer into English. He writes: "Grant that on this voyage we may frequently kill bears as they cross the Scioto and the Sandusky. Grant that we may kill plenty of turkeys along the banks to stew with our fat bear meat. 


"Grant that rain may come to raise the Olentangy about two or three feet that we may pass safely down to the Scioto without danger to our canoe being wrecked on the rocks. And now, O Great Being, thou knowest how matters stand. 


"Thou knowest I am a great lover of tobacco, and tho I know not when I may get any more, I now make a present of this, the last I have, unto thee as a free burnt offering. Therefore I expect thou wilt hear and grant these requests and I thy servant, will return the thanks and love for thy gift."


Col. Smith remarks that the rains came in a few days, and so raised the waters of the Olentangy and the party soon reached the waters of the Scioto. The supply of furs accumulated on the hunt was taken down the Sandusky to Lake Erie and traded to the dealers at Detroit.


The Indians at this time already had the white man's gun, his iron tomahawk and brass kettle. 


Henry Hudson, in 1609, sailed up the great river to New York, which later bore his name, and observed Native Americans who had never before seen a white man. Some of the natives were friendly and some were not. Hudson recorded some 150 years before Col. Smith an occasion of one of the feasts of the more friendly tribes. Hudson writes:


"I sailed to the shore in one of their canoes with an old man who was the chief of a tribe consisting of forty men and seventeen women. These I saw there in a house well constructed of oak bark and circular in shape, so that it had the appearance of being well built, with an arched roof. 


"It contained a great quantity of maize and beans of last year's growth, and there lay near the house for the purpose of drying enough to load three ships, besides what was growing in the fields. On our coming into the house, two mats were spread out to sit upon, and immediately some food was served in well made red wooden bowls; two men were dispatched with bows and arrows in quest of game, who soon after brought in a pair of pigeons which they had shot.


"They likewise killed a fat dog and skinned it in great haste with shells which they had got out of the water. They supposed that I would remain with them for the night, but I returned after a short time on board the ship."


Another historian references that the fat dog mentioned in Hudson's account possibly took the place of the fatted calf. He says that the dog seems to have been among the Indian tribes when the continent was first discovered. Taming it could possibly have been used as a food source rather than joining in the hunt. 


Natural fats were an essential item in the Indians cooking procedures in the colder climates. Without milk products, and few vegetable oils, fats were collected from the beaver, raccoon and the bear. 


Col. Smith describes the work of the squaws in the latter end of March as frying out the last of the bear's fat and making vessels to hold it. These containers were made by pulling the skin from a deer's neck without ripping, one of which would hold about four or five gallons; in these vessels they carried their bear's oil. One practice was that the Indians preserved fat by stuffing it into the entrails of large animals. 


Salt making was not common among the mound building tribes. Col. Smith writes that he was taken to a buffalo lick somewhere in eastern Ohio where the Indians killed several buffalo, and in their small brass kettles they made about half a bushel of salt. 


Evidence of the Indians manner of making salt or sugar by boiling, before the white man supplied their metallic vessels, is not found. The primitive method of boiling was by stones heated hot and placed in the water collected into holes in the ground or in rocks, or into wooden vessels.


Much attention was paid to the making of maple sugar. The Indian sometimes traveled many miles for this purpose.
Col. Smith describes the making of sugar in Ohio in February 1756. Bark from the elm trees was peeled by the tribal women and made into 100 vessels each holding about two gallons. Sugar water was then collected into these containers from notches made in sugar maple trees. Vessels that would hold about four gallons apiece were made for carrying the water from the trees. 


Two large brass vessels were used that would hold about fifteen gallons each; smaller vessels were used in which they boiled the water. The sugar water could not be boiled as fast as it ran, so they made other vessels of bark that would hold about 100 gallons of the water. The manner in which these containers were made water tight by the women were the same methods used in making their bark canoes.


Maple sugar was put into bear's fat by the Indians in which they dipped their roasted venison. Sugar was also used with their corn whether green or in the form of hominy. The Indians mixed equal quantities of maple sugar and powdered corn, this delicacy supplying a delightful treat while on their journeys.


Edible roots and herbs were developed and used by the Native Americans, of which the white man knew nothing. It was said that an Indian could flourish in the woods with only a knife and tomahawk, and would fatten where a wolf would starve.


Edible acorns and an abundance of hickory and chinkapin nuts were consumed. One writer says he saw over 100 bushels of shell-bark hickory nuts collected by one family of Creeks. These nuts were eaten raw and some pounded into pieces and put into boiling water, thus producing the oily part of the nut which they called hickory milk.


Names such as hickory, chinkapin, maize, potato, tobacco, squash, hominy, succotash, samp, pone, tomato and chocolate, the last two being from the Mexican language, are all derivations of the Native American tongue.

COAL DISCOVERY IN JELLICO


The writer has located an interesting story concerning the discovery of coal in the Jellico region. It deals with the detection of the coal in a hog wallow, and was told by Col. B.H. Hutchcraft of Kentucky. The Colonel was the first to explore the coal beds of this territory. 


Col. Hutchcraft was a visitor in Knoxville on Tuesday, February 11, 1913, attending the annual convention of the Southern Appalachian Coal Operators’ Association. He told that in the spring of 1882 he started from Livingston, Ky., along the newly surveyed L.&N. Railroad line, prospecting for coal. 


The Colonel stated that he had made a sixty-mile journey through woodland and field, which was a sparsely populated country at the time. He arrived at the point on the Tennessee and Kentucky line now known as Jellico. Col. Hutchcraft stopped and talked with a citizen named Uriah Patterson. Mr. Patterson informed him that a large coal formation existed on his property. The Colonel inquired if there were any places in the mountains where hogs wallowed or where deer had settled. 


Getting directions, the Colonel shouldered a pick and climbed the mountain to his designated locations. A few hours later he discovered the vein of coal that has since become famous throughout the world. He stated that he dug into the mountain and pulled down several hundred pounds of this coal. He then later cleared away the leaves, built a fire and placed the coal upon the blaze. He was totally surprised when the coal burned rather rapidly into an inferno mounting several feet into the air. 


Colonel Hutchcraft then secured a large block of this coal, placed it on the pommel of his saddle, and carried it sixty miles back to Livingston. A few days later the first coal company was organized to develop coal in the vicinity of Jellico, which afterwards was known as the old Woolridge mine.


Soon after the vein of coal had been located Col. Hutchcraft discovered the Blue Gem vein, which was situated about 119 feet below the Jellico vein in the same mountain. Shortly after this discovery he had carried some of the coal to the home of Col. Sam Woolridge. This coal burned so fiercely the blaze occasioned comment from members of the family. Col. Woolridge asked Hutchcraft what kind of coal it was, and looking at the fire, then later at the coal, the latter saw the blue blazes of the slate on the coal showing brightly in the glow of the fire and he immediately replied: “It is the Blue Gem Coal.” And this is how the name originated. 

CIVIL WAR REUNION


A past news item, taken from an old Jacksboro newspaper in 1909, tells of a Grand Army of the Republic (G.A.R.Union) reunion at Newcomb in Campbell County on September 17-18, 1909. The soldiers were under the sponsorship of the A.C. Baird G.A.R. Post, who held their annual reunion on the past Friday and Saturday. 


Tents were pitched in a grove at night in Newcomb. The war camp fires were built, and the beef and sweet potatoes were broiled in the old war time fashion.  


The old heroes recounted their war experiences and told of the hardships they endured during the struggle of 1861-65. They sang the battle and march songs and indulged in playing pranks. They also enjoyed discussing some of the pastime pleasures which they enjoyed in the army, imitating in many ways very vividly the warfare through which they passed from 1861 to 1865 during the American Civil War.  


There was a rather large attendance of the citizens, men, women and children of Newcomb and Jellico and various other parts of Campbell County. An assortment of parties were attended and many speeches during the two days of the encampment were made. Also, good singing was enjoyed and the entire time was one of gratification. 


The camp commissary was amply supplied with provisions such as potatoes, beef, bread and pork, crackers, “sow-belly,” and hard tack. When eating time came, everybody ate and was filled. The occasion, as a whole, was very delightful and highly enjoyed. 


At the close of the exercise the old soldiers were numbered and it was found that since the last reunion at this place, four years earlier, eleven of the old noble heroes had fought their last battle and answered their last roll call and had been mustered into the Grand Army of God. And now they had advanced to the high rank of the Heavenly Host where they will serve eternally and await the coming of their comrades. 


The comrades present at the meeting were as follows: A.J. Artist, D.H. Rosier, Archie Doyle, Menual Main, M.E. Rosier, W.H. Smith, George Snodderly, Green A. Gregory, B.F. Fox, John Smiddy, Elijah Moore, Calvin Allen, Wm. M. Davis, John W. Cates of Newcomb; James Smiddy, Wm. Baird, E.R. Davis, Jellico; P.P. Baird, Cupp; Wm. Petree, Saxton, Ky.; Hiram Baird, John Dickerson, Elk Valley; Wm. Allen and Sylvester Cooper, Jacksboro.


CAMPBELL COUNTY IRON WORKS


Jonathan Cunningham, on June 12, 1802, bought a portion of land on the west side of Powell’s River and Grant’s (Cedar) Creek. This land was in addition to the lands he owned at the fork of the Clinch and Powell’s rivers, later known as Walnut Grove. David Haley and his children’s families had settled in the same section by 1800. 


Robert Burton, in 1801, encouraged the iron works on Grant’s Creek. Jonathan Cunningham, along with his sons David, James and Hugh, built a dam 13 feet high across Cedar Creek just above the mouth of Sugar Hollow. Joel Bowling and several other masons erected the forge and fireplace. Ore for the forge was to be taken from “an entry of an iron ore bank built for Robert Burton by John A. Reeves” at the foot of the mountain near Big Creek Gap” ( present day LaFollette).


(The road over which the ore to the new forge was hauled was a “trail cut out for Thomas Campbell, William Barbour and Thomas Chrisman” by John Whitman. The latter enlisted in the Revolutionary War from Hampshire County, Va., and did his part in building Fort McIntosh about thirty miles below Fort Pitt (Pittsburgh). He then marched to the head of the Muskingum River in Ohio and assisted in building Fort Laurens. He again enlisted and was discharged on January 28, 1782, because of sickness. He died near the mouth of Whitman Hollow on Indian Creek in 1846 at the age of ninety-five.)


Captain Jason Cloud and several rivermen transported the heavy hammers and irons for the forge. Captain Cloud enlisted himself in the flatboat trade down the river and was linked with the small alliance of men who participated in the settlement of the Mississippi River Valley. 


The Cunningham family supplied the charcoal for the forge. The area around the forge at that time was littered with virgin timber. The enormous oaks were cut into cordwood for the coal hearths. The massive stocks of oak were piled several feet high. After firing the wood the earth was thrown over the whole mass which the collier watched day and night until the whole accumulation was burned into charcoal. With the deleting of the giant trees the fields were then cleared for corn. 


In 1816 a flatboat of pork valued at $909.09 left the mouth of Cedar Creek for New Orleans. Those receiving their wages for their helping hand was John Williams, Sr., who was to receive $50 for his services, along with Solomon Mason who was to receive $75 for his labor down the river. (One Solomon Welch, a boat hand, was arrested in Natchez with his fine and costs amounting to $7.34.) The account for their supplies for the trip included “potatoes and pork $4.; Flower, $3.; Whiskey $1; and $5 received for the use of the boat.” 


On November 4, 1814, Harris Ryan advanced to “David Cunningham all his things and hogs in Pulaski County, Kentucky,” to secure payment for the forge. And on May 15, 1822, Ryan sold to George, James, William and Bowling Baker a parcel of land, which he bought from Cunningham’s heirs. This parcel of land began on the west side of Grant’s (Cedar) Creek twenty-five poles below the iron works and then near a west course so as to take in the house where the Baker’s lived. From this time on the location was known as Bakers Forge.


A rather crude accident happened to George Baker in the summer of 1826 when he was returning from Jacksboro riding a rather energetic black horse. As he crossed the divide from Sweaton Spring Hollow to Sugar Hollow, the horse bucked and refused to continue past a scrubby post oak. Baker and the horse made several tries to pass the tree by the path. The horse suddenly reared and bolted through the heavy timber hitting Baker’s head on a giant oak tree. He was dead on impact. For years men on horseback made a half circle in the path past the oak where the incident happened.  


Byrd Flemming purchased John Archer’s plantation on Cedar Creek for $600 worth of bar iron. For several years the iron from Baker’s Forge was transported to South Carolina. Drivers who drove their mules to the Carolina marketplace handled the shipments. A post office was established in the area named Boy in tribute to Judge Elihu Hall Boy.


The estate of Ewin Baker, minor and orphan of George Baker, on June 30, 1830, wrote of the amount of iron produced at the forge. The following notes by the owners and forge worker were: John Comer, Phillip Mallicoat, Thomas Nations, William York, John Madren, William Stanley, James and William Baker, and Bowling Baker.


James Baker, in 1837, sold his land which he rented to the ore miners “at the east side of the branch [in Powell’s Valley] near Hunter’s mill extending to the ford opposite where William Cox formerly lived on the west side of the Branch and near the mouth of a branch where Reason Wright lived in 1836.”


Baker’s Forge was not as profitable after the death of George Baker due to the difficulties of mining the ore and the declining supply of appropriate wood for charcoal, along with the added operating expense in hauling the ore. Among the number of killed at the forge included a slave who was killed on top of the ridge north of Sugar Hollow. From this fatality the ridge has been known as Negro Ridge. 


Different individuals and partnerships advanced many iron works after the building of the forge on Cedar Creek. The Doaks constructed a forge on Davis Creek, as did William Lindsay on Cove Creek. William Crosswhite, John Cooper and William Wilson worked the latter forge.


On September 1, 1843, John Jones bought a parcel of land at the mouth of Sugar Hollow, “Beginning at the forge and fireplace.” Jones later became a well-known physician and was elected County Clerk of Campbell County. 


On October 20, 1849 David Sharp sold Laban Sharp a piece of land “near an oar [ore] bank of George Baker and Company.” George W. Baker and John Comer, in 1852, mortgaged the forge and the house where “Alexander Rogers formerly lived” to James Cooper, David Sharp and James H. Grant. The iron industry was almost discarded during the Civil War. However, a few years after the war the forge was operated by Isaac N. Jones, William Harris, Eli Wilson, James McGlothin, Crockett Rosier and John F. Longmire. Matt Easter, an ore miner, was killed at the ore bank in the valley and was buried at the old Baker’s Forge.


The article this week was taken, with the kind permission of the fine folks at the Campbell County Historical Society, from the excellent book, “Land of the Lake,” written by Dr. George L. Ridenour. I would highly recommend this book to the folks who are interested in the early history of Campbell County. It can be purchased through the Campbell County Historical Society/Museum in LaFollette. 

THE MUSE FAMILY


The writer has discovered, through his genealogy project, that he is directly related to the Muse family in the Bedford, Scott and Campbell counties of Tennessee.  However, at this time, we shall relate the experiences of the Muse family in Campbell County and their beginnings. The article this week will consist of the family of Isaac and his son, John Perry Muse.


Ozias “Zie” Muse wrote a booklet entitled, “The Joys and Sufferings of a Poor Mountain Family,” from which we shall take. This very informative book can be purchased through the Campbell County Historical Society/Museum in LaFollette.


Our story begins with Isaac Muse being born in Kentucky, possibly in Pulaski County, where he worked on the family farm and other jobs, earning a daily wage of 50 cents. This money was used to purchase clothing and other domestic needs. 


Isaac had developed into early manhood and began noticing the local girls, especially one Elizabeth Collins. He spruced up real nice one Sunday and asked if he could walk her home from church. It seems that young folk in that day and time were especially shy. However, he received permission to walk her to the gate and asked permission to walk her home from church the next Sunday. She agreed and from that Sunday on they began going steady which lasted almost a year.


Then on one beautiful Sunday morning he asked her hand in marriage, which she eagerly agreed. Of course, it was up to her parents whether matrimony was agreeable with them. Upon a short consultation, Mr. and Mrs. Collins agreed. Isaac and Elizabeth set their wedding date in the fall of 1873. 


Folks in those days simply could not afford a lavish wedding. The bridegroom, Isaac Muse, pulled on his overalls and blue shirt and brogan work shoes for the occasion. The bride, Elizabeth, put on a washed gingham dress with high-topped buttoned shoes for the event. The wedding was officiated by the local country preacher. 


A few days later, the couple moved into a small two-room shack on the Collins farm, with the housekeeping and the farm work commencing at full scale. The work went on for about one year when they discovered they were to become mama and papa. On May 8, 1875, a son was born to the couple in Campbell County and given the name of John Perry. Through the years an additional four sons and three daughters were born to this pair. 


Through the years John, the eldest, matured into adulthood. He, along with his brother Frank, worked in the timber industry for several years. A neighbor, Pleasant Witt Rutherford, had recently moved to the neighborhood along with his son and five daughters. This family was very religious and attended church regularly every Sunday. 


John had his eye on one of the Rutherford girls, Lucinda, who was eighteen at the time. John cared little about church and decided to show up just as it was dismissed. He wore his washed overalls and blue denim shirt along with his work shoes. John asked Lucinda if he could walk her home from church. She hesitated and then stated that he could walk her as far as to the gate. “Cindy” agreed that John could accompany her to church the next Sunday. From that Sunday in May they went steady for almost a year. He finally talked her into marriage, the wedding date being set in the early spring of 1902.


John Muse worked in the construction of the L&N Railroad near the Tennessee and Kentucky State line earning a daily wage of $1.00. This was the average wage for unskilled labor in the early 1900s. With total confidence, he was sure he could support his new bride.  


Just about a year from their marriage, on June 3, 1902, a son was born, which was named Isaac. On February 19, 1905, another son was born which was named William Franklin. 


Campbell County at this time was a much-depressed area with employment being next to nothing. A neighbor, who had relatives living in Leavenworth, Washington, began telling of a big boom in the timber woods and the lumber industry in Washington State. The get-rich-fever had attacked. John Muse and family decided to pull up stakes in Campbell County and head off to the far-away land and cash in on the easy money they heard about.


In late 1905, the John Perry Muse family, along with their two sons, their relatives and neighbors, headed for their dream of prosperity. They took the L&N train and headed for the promise land, Washington State. They changed trains in Chicago by riding a horse-drawn wagon from one depot to another. Finally, after several days on the train, they arrived at Leavenworth where John purchased a tent to live in. He was fortunate to find a fairly good paying job in the lumber industry.


Winter began rather early, around October 15th. The temperature later on dropped to well below zero with an abundance of ice and snow. Dogs and sleighs were used for transportation to and from the store and post office. The neighbors and relatives gathered in the firewood for the next night, and then lumbered to the country store to discuss their problems. 


The loggers had dragged in a plentiful supply of logs to the mills in the fall prior to the snowfall. The mill crews worked one and two days a week, and hunted for rabbits and squirrels while not working. The post office was visited every day, they being proud to receive mail from the home folks in Campbell County. The relatives back home wrote about the sunny days and their adventures hunting wild turkeys and squirrels. The winter dragged by very slowly with little employment available to those men who had hoped to hit the jackpot. Spring finally arrived and employment went almost full scale.


Late in the fall of 1906, the Campbell countians began getting homesick. They dreamed of their old surroundings and of hunting squirrels and wild turkeys. The Muse couple, expecting their third child, could not leave until its arrival. A third child was born on November 6, 1906, in the tent in which they had lived for three years. The infant was given the name of Charles Ellison.


Soon after, the couple, along with their three sons, headed back for Tennessee. They were proud to be heading back to the place of their surroundings and to the place where they were born. After almost a week on the railroad, they arrived back in Campbell County staying with in-laws for a few days. 


John started looking for a place to live. He walked several miles from the Duff and White Oak settlement. He walked up Lowe’s Creek and discovered a small one-room lumber hut left by the timber cutters and loggers. John had a well paying job during his last summer in Washington and, subsequently, he managed to save a few dollars. After discovering the small hut on Lowe’s Creek, he contacted the Land Company to see about leasing the dwelling. John secured permission to move into the hut with the rental price coming later. And-so, the family and dog and shotgun located into the little one-room shack with no furnishings. 


While wandering and searching, he had found another lumber shack located about three miles away on Walnut Mountain. He again reached the Land Company and leased the shack with a small acreage for farming purposes. They ultimately nailed up beds stuffed with leaf bed-tics. John Muse walked to the town of LaFollette to purchase the necessities needed. He eventually became financially able to buy a horse. 


Early in the year of 1907, John, who had memories of working hard for almost nothing, began to clean up the land for the production of food. Cindy was doing the cooking out in the yard and attending her three small sons, and still found time to help her husband put out a small garden. 


John built a small sled and traveled to town where he bought a small cook stove, moving it into the small kitchen he had just built. This was greatly appreciated by Mrs. Muse. 


Cindy Muse was a hard worker, going through her daily chores, even helping with the outside projects, almost through the entire month of January. On January 30, 1909, a daughter was born with the given name of Mary Elizabeth. 


During the years of 1908 and 1909 the family worked almost day and night, clearing up about four acres of land plus a good-sized garden. Their relatives helped tremendously as they gave them some old bedsteads and necessities for the new home. Cindy bought canvas cloths and made bed-tics and stuffed them with leaves or oat-straw to sleep on. John Muse built a plow stock from oak wood to do his plowing. They raised potatoes and corn to sell and bought such commodities as coffee and sugar. Everything was raised on the small acreage where they finally accumulated enough money to buy a calf and a couple of hogs. 


On April 17, 1910, a fourth son was born to the couple and was given the name Clyde. By this time, they had two sons in elementary school near the head of Hickory Creek, about three miles from home. 


On December 25, 1911, another son was born and given the name of Ozias “Zie” Muse. The winter was long and hard and dragged by with the two eldest walking down a winding creek for three miles to school, crossing the creek several times by foot-logs. These two sons were changed from the small school on Hickory Creek to a school on a small mountain that divided between Walnut Mountain called the “Divide.” The school was constructed on a smooth flat rock and called “Flat Rock School.”


On August 11, 1915, another daughter was born, namely, Stella. And again, on April 8, 1918, another daughter was born to this couple who was named Carrie. The latter was about two years old when she walked out into the yard where her mother had been cooking meats or beans, which was the custom of those days. The youngster walked into the bed of the fire left from her mother’s cooking and burned her tiny feet until the skin peeled off them. Fever set up and she later died. 


I must say this a very sad story of a native Campbell countian and his family. If we cannot live through the many trials and tragedies that the Muse family suffered through, then we cannot possibly appreciate the many ordeals they encountered.

AGING AND THE SOCIAL SECURITY PROGRAM
all regardless of economic security, society classes, or stature in one’s community. Saving for retirement is virtually meaningless to the young and energetic. Retirement after a long life of labor is a feature of life we now take for granted. This lifestyle was not always viable. In the days of the early pioneer retirement was practically unheard of.  During these times of old it was a struggle to develop a system for retirement.


One of the first people to propose a plan for retirement security was Revolutionary War figure Thomas Paine. His strategy for a “modern” social insurance plan was written in his pamphlet, published in the winter of 1795. He called for the “establishment of a public system of economic security for the new nation.” Entitled, “Agrarian Justice,” it called for the creation of a system whereby those inheriting property would pay a 10 percent inheritance tax which would create a special fund out of which a one-time earnings of 15 pounds sterling would paid to each citizen upon attaining age 21. This initiative would give them a start in life. Annual benefits of 10 pounds sterling was to be paid to every person age 50 and older, to guard against poverty in old age.


Civil War pensions were America’s first “Social Security” program. The actual Social Security program arrived in America in 1935. This was one forerunner that offered something that could be recognized as a social security program to a special portion of the American population. Following the Civil War, there were hundreds of thousands of widows and orphans, along with hundreds of thousands of disabled veterans. The fact remains that immediately following the Civil War a much higher proportion of the population was disabled or survivors of deceased breadwinners than at any time in America’s history. This calamity led to the development of a liberal pension program, which paralleled later developments in Social Security. 


(The first national pension program for soldiers was actually passed in early 1776, prior to the signing of the Declaration of Independence. Throughout America’s ante-bellum period pensions of limited types were paid to veterans of America’s various wars. However, it was the creation of Civil War pensions that a somewhat completed pension system developed in America for the first time.)


 The Civil War Pension program began shortly after the start of the War which began in 1861 and ended in 1865. The first legislation was initiated in 1862 providing for benefits coupled to disabilities “incurred as a direct consequence of military duty.” Widows and orphans could receive pensions equal in amount to that which could have been payable to their deceased soldier if he had been disabled. The link with service connected disability was broken in 1890, whereby any disabled Civil War veteran qualified for benefits.


Old age was made an ample qualification for benefits in 1906. And-so, by 1910, Civil War veterans and their survivors enjoyed a program of disability, survivors and old-age benefits similar in some ways to the later Social Security programs. Also by 1910, over ninety percent of the remaining Civil War veterans were receiving benefits under this program. However, they comprised barely .6 percent of the total U.S. population of that era. This pension system attracted young ladies to elderly veterans whose pensions they could inherit as the widow of a war veteran. It is hard to believe but surviving widows of Civil War veterans were receiving pensions as late as 1999.


Military pensions were an important foundation of economic security in the early years of the nation. For example, in 1893, the $165 million spent on military pensions was the largest expenditure ever made by the federal government to that time. Military pensions accounted for 37 percent of the total federal budget in 1894. 


Features were installed into the federal pension program which read that former Confederate soldiers and their families were barred from receiving Civil War pensions. And-so, in 1910, the per capita average military pension for residents of Ohio was $3.36 and for Indiana it was $3.90. By comparison, the per capita average for the Southern states was 50 cents, and in South Carolina, 17 cents. 


The fact lies that in America a social security program in the form of Civil War pensions since 1862 did not extend itself to the general population until the official act of “Social Security” in 1935.

BEECH GROVE


(This week we shall take from the fine book entitled, “Coal Mining Towns,” compiled by Marshall L. McGhee. The title of the text is “Some Memories about Beech Grove,” written by William (Bill) McGhee.) 


Our story begins with William McGhee telling that his father’s name was Joseph Marion McGhee and his mother’s name was Mary E. Bennett McGhee. Mr. McGhee was a coal miner and lived with his family in the coal mining community of Beech Grove, about three miles northwest of Coal Creek, Tennessee. 


William was born in June 1916 in Coal Creek, and one year later the family moved to Beech Grove where he grew up. William reminiscences about the early coal miners. By the time he was fifteen there was much to be said of his life and his coal mining stories. 


In the late 19th and early 20th century’s mules deep in the mines gathered coal with mule drivers and muleskinners being hired for that purpose. Mr. Cal Andrews tended a huge mule barn where perhaps a hundred or more mules were cared for. It was during this time that a large powerhouse with many buildings was constructed across the creek from the mine superintendent’s house, Mr. Peck. Quite a few large boilers were fired and the steam powered the generators. 


Battery operated motors were next utilized which took the place of the mules, thus the extinction of the four-legged workers. A large battery charging shop was constructed with the operators being a Mr. Deal and “Uncle” Sherman Snodderly. Shortly thereafter a fire destroyed the entire facility. It was then that electricity was brought to Beech Grove commercially. 


Electric motors were then transported in with electric cables thus being installed in the mines. Subsequently, trolley poles on the motors made contact with the cables and the mining operation was improved. Coal cutting machines also took over most of the pick work. Mr. McGhee states that “a face of coal was undercut by the machines, holes drilled, black powder inserted and blasted and the miner had a day’s work shoveling coal into the coal cars. The day of pick and shoves were gone. Of course some picks were necessary.”


McGhee asserts that in the village of  Beech Grove was the only place he ever heard the word ”sprag” used. Sprags were employed to keep coal cars from running over the mules. “A sprag was a piece or rod made mostly of wood that could be stuck in a wheel with spokes and when it came to the frame of the coal car it would lock the wheel from turning.”


As a small child Mr. McGhee would rise early to see his dad off to work. Far off on Walden Ridge, Vowell Mountain, and back in the Cumberland Mountains shone a stream of lights (carbide lights on miner’s caps) from all directions. 


There were two mines in operation; one mine, the oldest was called Number One mine. It was located deep under Vowell Mountain. It has been said that the mine was two or three miles through the mountain. The mine had a small amount of gas and every precaution was taken to reduce the chance of explosion. Carl Armstrong was the safety officer. During his tenure, the carbide light was replaced by battery type electric lights, which were referred to as safety lights. Also installed was a main fan along with some smaller ones to push fresh air into the mine and, of course, this movement of air allowed airways throughout the mines. Because of these safety features, no explosion ever occurred in the Vowell Mountain mine. 


The other mine was called the Klondike Mine. McGhee remembers the men talking about six feet coal meaning the face of the coal was six feet high. This mine had water problems and engineers made every effort to find the source of the water. Concrete was poured into every crevice trying in vain to find the leak, however, to no avail. The Klondike Mine was ultimately abandoned. 


Beech Grove was a well-managed community when the McGhee family moved in. The neighborhood included a large commissary managed by Wade Mitchell. Also, there was a movie theater with a big game room bordering. A baseball team, a brass band, and a small park were also enclosed within the small community. There was also a hotel in Beech Grove, which had two stories and a huge dining room. The floors were natural wood and buffed to perfection. 


William McGhee, our subject, was eight years old in 1924 and remembers work in the mine was slow and at this time his father decided to move over in the “holler,” where about four or five acres could be cultivated. William’s dad had a “green thumb,” figuring that he could grow just about anything. 


The McGhee family was the only family in the “holler.” They could sit on the front porch and figure just about where everybody lived. But on the back porch, this was impossible because nobody lived in the back. 


William’s father, Joseph, would work in the mine, come home, feast on  supper, and then on to the fields to work by carbide light until ten or eleven at night. Food was plentiful. Hogs, chickens, veal, with every known vegetable, syrup, fruit, were the main selections the family had at every meal.


 Joseph was a Deacon at the nearby church and every time the doors were open the family was there. There was plenty of “Sunday visiting” among the locals. Joseph and his fellow Deacons and Preachers would sit on the front porch, each with a Bible, discussing a subject. Sometimes the children would get a little noisy and would have to be settled down because of respect for the Sabbath. 


The church was the center of community social life and worship. Everyone knew just about everyone else in Beech Grove. Crime was practically unheard of in the small community, and in consequence, no windows or doors were locked. 

EARLY AGRICULTURE IN TENNESSEE


Agriculture and commerce have been Tennessee’s exceptional background for cultural substance. During prehistoric times the region supported an agricultural people, the Mound Builders. The culture of these people, like the Mayas of Central America, was based upon the staple crop, maize. Archaeologists have discovered and unearthed their granaries and the baskets of corn, which they buried with their dead.


Many years later the Cherokee and Chickasaw populated the old village sites of the Mound builders, and cultivated the same cornfields in much the same manner.

    
The white hunters and trappers arrived in the region in the early 18th century occasionally doing irrelevant farming during the summer months. Small areas of ground were cleared in the makeshift patches that the Indians had farmed before them. Seeds, which they had bartered from the Indians, were planted and months later the  pioneer returned to harvest the crops and thus provided themselves with corn and vegetables to go with their venison and bear meat. 

  
About 1769 farmers from backwoods Virginia and Carolina began crossing the mountains to settle the fertile lands described by the hunters and trappers in present Tennessee. Their farms were at first and almost entirely self-sufficient. Plows, hoes and crude homemade implements were fashioned by the pioneer. Just about every necessity was either grown on the site or made from materials from the surrounding hills and forests. This self-sufficiency continued to be a characteristic of small farmers in the State for generations and still continues to a degree.

 
From the beginning, corn was the chief crop because it was easily cultivated and because its growth was encouraging to hog raising. Subsequently, Tennessee’s first agricultural exports were bacon, lard, and corn whisky. All these products were shipped and marketed to New Orleans, Baltimore, and Philadelphia. Wheat and tobacco were soon an addition to the list of money crops and were exported in small quantities. Crops produced for home consumption included cotton, hemp, flax, indigo, timothy hay, and vegetables.


East Tennessee is a high plateau area broken by countless narrow valleys and steep ridges making the size of the farms small. It was discovered that Tennessee wheat matured early enough to be shipped to eastern markets ahead of the northern crop - and so - farmers turned to wholesale wheat growing. Even East Tennessee joined the crop market. However, through over-production, the wheat market collapsed and never regained its early lead as a wheat growing region


 Farmers in East Tennessee, except for the fertile valley of the Tennessee River, returned to their pioneer type of small subsistence farms. However, in Middle Tennessee, the farmers held on to the system of deliberate farming and its large profits. Tobacco and fruit crops were raised as cash crops. Others turned to stock raising and dairying on the bluegrass pasture lands of the Central Basin where the mild climate lessened feeding costs. 


Arabian horses were imported as early as 1825 and Middle Tennessee became well known for breeding them.  There was also an increasing demand for the brawny mule. 


By 1810 improvements in the cotton gin and spinning machinery had created a considerable demand for cotton. Though some cotton was grown in East Tennessee, its quality was poor and the boom affected the section very little. All three divisions were laid out  - small continued existence farms in the east; dairy cattle, livestock raising, tobacco, and truck farming in the central basin; and large scale cotton production in the west. Tennessee, with all its expertise, crossed the threshold of an agricultural prosperity that continued until the Civil War era.


The State’s first agricultural bureau was organized with Governor Andrew Johnson as president; the following year the first fair was opened. Prior to this event, Tennessee farmers received international fame at the Great Exhibition in London. The 1860 Tennessee census displayed some 82,000 farms under cultivation, with nearly seven million acres, valued at 340 million dollars.


Four years of civil war practically erased the development of three-quarters of a century of expertise and toil. Not until about 40 years later were the farm rates restored. The Reconstruction period found the ‘farm occupancy’ having its beginnings in the State. Farmers, who were forced to borrow to hold onto their farms, were found delinquent in their payments to the bank. At this time no other means of livelihood were created and so they became tenant on the farms they once owned. Most of the slaves that had been freed also became tenants. 


The sharp decline in the size of the farm was caused by land sales simply to raise funds for operating expenses. The 1860 average of 251 acres declined by 1900 to 91. The great depression of 1929 caused additional reductions. The average farm size, according to a 1935 census, diminished to 73 acres. 

EARLY EAST TENNESSEE RELIGION


At the close the 18th century was found in America a deep spiritual gloominess. Looking upon the national census of 1790 was found that no more than five percent of the people claimed church membership. It was during this time period that those who traveled into the Southwest Territory, later known as Tennessee, were in total shock in regards to the spiritual immorality that preceded them. One spiritual leader reported that his entire congregation was so drunk they could not listen to him. Another told of consistent encounters with refugees, escapees from justice, while still others practiced their own vices such as gambling, horse racing, fighting and other unpopular sins.


Many Tennesseans had fallen into the trap that absorbed the anti-religious spirit of the time. Immediately following the Revolutionary War the sophisticated folks of New England and the Seaboard states were to a great extent influenced by the disbelief of the French Rationalists. Perhaps the reason for this attitude was that anti-clerical and anti-established church state of mind influenced Anglican ministers that had taken sides with the British. Other religious groups felt the consequences of this rivalry as well.   


History tells us that the first preachers in the State of Tennessee were Presbyterians. Charles Cummings, a Presbyterian clergyman, journeyed down from Southwest Virginia to preach to his brethren. Samuel Doak was the first Presbyterian to take up residence in the State of Tennessee in the year 1777. Rev. Doak established Martin Academy, later to be known as Washington College in Washington County, his school being the first institute of education in the territory. By 1796, the Presbyterian organization had established 27 congregations in the new East  Tennessee. These schools made a great impression on the education and improvement of the mountain citizens.


The Baptist organization also played a prominent role in the religious history of the State with the earliest Baptist churches being founded in 1765. Among the first permanent settlers in what is now called East Tennessee were Separate Baptists who had migrated from North Carolina. They had followed Shuble Starnes, a Congregationalist minister  from New England. 


Starnes began to preach immersion to cleanse one’s soul, which was looked down on by his fellow Congregationalists who sprinkled. Due to this new procedure of immersion he and his followers were cast off and branded as Separate Baptists. 


Tidence Lane, a Separist Baptist preacher led an assemblage of his people to relocate from North Carolina into the Southwest Territory (East Tennessee). They settled and built the Buffalo Ridge Church near Boone’s Creek in what is now Washington County, Tennessee. A later assemblage of these Christians embraced the Gospel and fashioned one of the earliest New Testament churches in the State.


The Holston Baptist Association was formed in 1786 with seven churches. These Baptists brought with them a missionary enthusiasm along with a belief that preachers need not be educated or associated with one church. Most of the Holston Baptists men were self-supporting and preached to overflowing followers by appointment. With this association of man to God, Baptists grew by great numbers in the wild mountain country.


The religious or God seeking folks in the Great State of Tennessee also included the Methodists faith, they playing a major role in the religious foundation. The Holston Conference of Methodist churches was established in 1783, with Jeremiah Lambert being the first circuit rider in the soon to be State of Tennessee. By 1796, the Methodists claimed 550 members in the State. Subsequently, substantial progress of the Methodists was made in the following century.


At the turn of the 19th century, the “Great Revival of the West” and its happenings  changed the whole religious atmosphere. This immense occurrence had totally shaken up the religious community as well as the sinful population. James McGready, a Presbyterian, set in motion this religious upheaval. He had a great influence on anyone who would listen to him. 


The grand event occurred at Cane Ridge in Logan County, Kentucky, in 1799. By 1800 revival fervor had swept into Tennessee. Methodists, Baptists, and Presbyterians alike had forgotten their own doctrines and now dealt with the un-saved. Luke-warm church members were rejuvenated; sinners poured into the churches in huge numbers. The earliest established preachers won thousands of souls to the old paths of salvation. Estimates have placed the nightly revival attendance sometimes at 5,000 with a total of 25,000 participants receiving Jesus Christ as their personal Savior.


The Methodists wisely took advantage of the camp meeting making the most of the situation. By 1800 they could boast of 10,000 members in Tennessee which made them the largest religious body in the State at  the time. 


The Baptists almost immediately rejected the camp meeting approach and turned to prolonged meetings to broaden their beliefs. During the 1820s and 1830s an anti-missions controversy was challenged. In 1833 those who supported controlled missionary triumphs structured the Tennessee Baptist convention. 


Today, in East Tennessee, the Baptists are the leading group of church organizations. In 1790 they had 18 churches, 21 preachers, and 889 members. A few years later, in 1814, listed were 174 churches, 133 preachers, and 12,194 members. In 1845 they numbered 32,159 members and by 1860, 46,564 members.


Christian Churches of Christ did not divide at this time. However, some 40 years later, a division took place and remained clearly along sectional boundaries.



The Cumberland Presbyterian Church appeared out of the Great Revival and was established in 1825. In short time this congregational group became the largest group in the State. 


Catholics were scantily located throughout the State. In 1830 the first parish was organized in Nashville. By 1858 there were only 11 Catholic churches statewide. 


Jews were practically non-existent in 19th century Tennessee with a population of some 2,500 in 1858. In 1867 they established a synagogue in Knoxville.


Most Methodists, Presbyterians and Baptists churches were against slavery. East Tennessee remained devoted to the Union during the Civil War. Middle and West Tennessee teamed up with the Confederacy. The majority of the slave population in Tennessee were members of the assorted churches, usually serving with their masters. It is estimated that ninety percent of Tennessee’s slaves attended church. By and large whites and blacks worshipped together with slaves generally seated in the balcony. The Negroes in East Tennessee were sparsely populated because the desire for cotton and the money crops were almost non-existent due to the poor terrain.  

(Source: “Churches of Christ in East Tennessee” by John Waddey. 

Web Site    http://www.firstcenturychristian.com/writer.htm)

THE EARLY CANAL SYSTEM           


The canal laborers were men who came from near and far. The many foreigners that worked on the canals were mostly from Germany and Ireland. During the first few years laborers were paid thirty cents a day with plain board and were lodged in a shanty.  During the first four months they also received in addition to board a "jiggerful of whiskey."


The canal boats were in the general range of 78 feet long, 14 feet 10 inches wide and the cost would generally range in the $2,000 figure. 


The packet boats were the exception to the canal travel. This particular boat was a haven to travel. It accommodated the statesmen, financiers, and in general the wealthy seekers of pleasure. These pleasure boats consisted of a "diner, sleeper, smoker, parlor car, baggage and mail coach" all in one enterprise.


From one to four mules were used to pull the canal boat. This was the only method that could be used because machinery (see electric mule in later section) in this particular era was practically nonexistant. A stronger current flowed in the southward direction so therefore more mules were used to pull the boat in the northerly direction. Housing of the extra mules in the southerly  direction was on the canal boat. 


Along side of the canal was a dirt towpath, with a slight  elevation from four to ten feet wide. A path of this type was used for the mules or horses to travel on. These animals were fastened to the boats by towlines which were seventy to ninety yards in length. The poles used to maneuver or simply "unstick" the boats were of an irontipped sort. The meeting of two boats along the towpath took drivers of great skill to actually allow for the passing of these two craft. When the two boats met, the team of the down-stream boat stepped to the outside of the towpath and stopped, letting the towline lie on the ground and sink into the water. Meanwhile, the boat steered to the opposite side of the canal, away from the towpath. The upstream boat and team passed between the other boat and its team, the mules stepping over the other's towline, and the boat passing over the line in the water. A similar procedure took place when one boat passed another going in the same direction, as packets did the slower freight boats. 


The towpath, being only on one side of the canal, frequently changed sides in which a bridge was necessitated. The mule consequently had to change from one side to the other. The mules would go under the bridge, and with the greatest promptness, cross over the bridge with the boat slowly moving. The change of this sort had to be made with complete accuracy or the mule was abruptly yanked into the canal.


Life on the canal boat was a mere adventure in itself. The crew generally consisted of from two to six men and very possibly included one woman. The staff of the freight and line boats comprised of: a driver, or mule manipulator; a steersman who guided the boat; most certainly the captain who was  possibly the owner; a cook, generally a woman who did "boat domestic work." A handy man, called a bowsman, was generally employed in the more prosperous boats.


The captain's stature was one of  "truly American" distinction. He was set up as a hero type in the transportation of the early canals. He was always the master of his "ship." His leadership quality was one to be respected by all concerned, especially the crew. 


The captain sometimes chose his crew with respect to their fighting ability. More than once quarrels or squabbles led to fights between the crews of two different boats. Sometimes boats were pulled over and brawls included the use of fists, clubs and stones; tow lines were cut and many men found out the condition of the water. 


Morals were low pertaining to the boat employees. The canal boat operators were  apparently a very unbecoming type of ruffian. Gambling, swearing and drinking was a way of dealing with the boredom of many days and months on the boats. Their wages were soon misused and lost due to their counterparts and debts mounted. Heavy drinking was due to the fact that whiskey was almost as cheap as water. A "fip" of whiskey could be bought for 6 1/4 cents the half pint. Whiskey could be bought by the half gallon in the 1820's for twenty-five cents. 


Of course wages play an important part in the life of the canal personnel. Before 1860, bowsmen and steersmen were comfortable with their wages of twenty dollars a month. The drivers generally received from eight to twelve dollars per month; the cook from five to ten dollars per month.  This wage included his lodging and board also. After the Civil War, wages rose sharply with a driver receiving twenty dollars per month, the steersmen thirty-five dollars per month and the captain fifty to sixty dollars per month. 


The social life of the canal crew rested on the fact that they made their stops at the canal houses, locks, taverns and mule/horse stations. These stops allowed the crew to fraternize or engage in the immediate attention of the locals. Fighting, drinking, wrestling, foot-racing, smoking and a general all-out release of tension was enjoyed by all. 


The canal boats were not the only boats on the canal. People who localized along the canal had their own sort of craft, especially farmers. Winter time created great excitement because of the frozen conditions of the canal with ice skating being very popular. Frequently their craft was used to make a living. 


The shanty boat people used the canal as a living place. They would tie up at one place for a day or perhaps for a year, and would eventually move on to another location. These people raised their families in this fashion, the decks being the playground for the children.  Some even stopped and raised gardens. 


A type of floating saloon or entertainment boat was also a part of the canal.


Ice ponds were found virtually all along the canal system. These ponds were used for the making of ice which was used practically all year round.     


Gentle slopes were built around a low place to the side of the canal. Water from the canal was funneled to these low areas which in turn would make man-made lakes. 


With the freezing of the lakes in the winter months a method for cutting the ice was developed. First the ice was marked by hitching a horse to an ice-marking device. This device made long lines parallel to one another.  A hole was cut into the ice and a saw was used to cut along the already marked lines. Small cakes of ice were then cut measuring about two by three feet with a minimum thickness of ten inches. 


A narrow opening was cut in the ice to allow the ice to be transferred from the pond/lake to the always present ice house which was near by.  The ice was moved through a channel to a platform in the ice house. The ice was stockpiled for the summer and covered with sawdust, straw, or shavings. The canal not only supplied the ice but it also supplied a means of transportation to a designated area. 

BLACK DUTCH


 Melungeon people were discriminated against by their Scots-Irish and English neighbors as they moved into the areas where the Melungeons lived. They wanted the rich valley lands occupied by the Melungeons they found residing there. They discriminated against the Melungeons because they were darker skinned than their own anglo-saxon ancestors and because this helped them obtain the lands they coveted. This discrimination carried into the 1940’s-50’s and perhaps even longer because of the work of a man called Plecker who was the state of Virginia’s Director of Vital Statistics and an avowed racist. He labeled the Melungeons, calling them mongrels and other worse terms - some were labeled - Free Person of Color in Virginia. This in turn led to their children being labeled as Mulatto (M) and both of those terms came to mean ‘BLACK.’ If you find such a term for any of your ancestors, it does not necessarily mean that they actually were black. 
Some Melungeon families married white, some black, some Indian, some a combination. But for all of them the terms led to decisions in which they couldn’t own property, they couldn’t vote, and they couldn’t school their children. As a result, they hid their backgrounds with the Indian myth, with the orphan myth,  and the adopted myth.       They changed either the spelling of their surnames or they picked an entirely new name, relocating many times, anything to distance themselves from their Melungeon heritage. They sometimes became "Black Dutch" or "Black Irish", or some other combination.


One theory concerning the “Black Dutch” is that in 1588 the Spanish armada having being defeated by the British or by a bad storm, went east and then north. They made landfall in Ireland and did the usual things conquistadors were supposed to do: looted, pillaged and raped the local women. The offspring of their activities in Ireland who have dark hair are referred to as Black Irish. 


Black Irish also can indicates those who came as immigrants from other places (generally England) and sometimes their names were noted as such: "Fitz" as in Fitzwilliam. The English king gave land to those who could hold it, take it and keep it. The black part was not referring to skin or hair or even eye color; it was indication of 'blaggard' = black = a negative association.


Some say that the term Black Dutch refers to Sephardie Jews who married Dutch Protestants to escape the Inquisition,. Many of their descendants later moved to the Americas, the "black" referring to their dark hair and complexions, perhaps infrequently, German immigrants from the Black Forest region, e.g., "For the most part, the Black Dutch came after 1740." Others disagree and say it is doubtful that the Black Dutch were of Jewish or  Dutch heritage.


Some say that there are strong indications that the original Black Dutch were rugged complexioned Germans; but Anglo-Americans sometimes applied the term to any dark-complexioned American of European descent. Some say the term was adopted as an attempt to disguise Indian or tri-racial descent. Some Cherokee & Chickasaw Indians are called Black Dutch.


Black Dutch may be synonymous with Pennsylvania Germans who settled in the area of Pennsylvania in groups together. When asked where they were from, they said "Deutsche" sounding to us like "Dutch", but actually meaning "German" in their own language. Because they weren't blonde and blue eyed but darker, they were called Black Dutch.


Some genealogists have suggested that the Black Dutch were either an offshoot of the Melungeons or one of the tri-racial isolate groups in Appalachia.


Another widely spread explanation about the Black Dutch is that they were Netherlanders of dark complexion who were descendants of the Spanish who occupied the Netherlands in the late 16th century and early 17th centuries; these in turn intermarried with the blonde natives. However, the Dutch government's Central Bureau for Genealogy is unable to offer an explanation for the term.


Some say that Black Dutch, Black Irish, and other terms, were applied to those persons who were the offspring of local citizens (women) and shipwrecked sailors from Spain or other countries where the people have darker skins. Others will say that the term pertains to a person of a very mean disposition.


One source states that a Dutch revolt against the Spanish monarch began in 1555 and continued until 1609. The nation could not find enough soldiers to defend its empire and Spain subjected neighboring Portugal and impressed Portuguese men into Spanish regiments throughout the empire. A new race was created in the southern part of Holland during the six decades that Spanish and Portuguese soldiers were stationed there. It produced dark-skinned children that were the beginning of the Black Dutch.


And so, like the Melungeon race, there is no definite of absolute record of the beginnings of the “Black Dutch.” 

WALNUT GROVE SCHOOL


The early school system in Campbell County was second to none. At this time we shall venture into the long-gone community of Walnut Grove, and others, and their school structure. 


The community of Walnut Grove was founded at the forks of the Clinch and Powell rivers. For years the school system at Walnut Grove was held in a one-room frame house. Nearby was located Chestnut Grove which held their classes in a one-room log structure. Walnut Grove’s one-room frame structure went up in flames in 1889.


The M.E. Church was built in 1890 with the lower floor being used for education. Some of the teachers in this era were: Ada Morton, John Spangler, Dr. Silas Walker, Henry Irwin, E.E. Hill, Mary Merideth, Sallie Wood, John Spangler, Wayne Longmire, Cornelia Kelly Hurst, Mary Smith, H.M Ausmus, Edgar Smith, Thomas Willoughby, Jonah Shown, Dr. Lee Gentry, Lizzie Heatherly, Blaine Albright, Elmer Crutchfield, Robert Davis, Maggie Hill, and Cordie Merideth.


Mentioned among the early students were: Adron Grant, Hesemar Grant, Ethel Haggard, Harley Haggard, Ledie Haggard, Nannie Heatherly, 
Emily Jane Boshears, Brown Boshears, Flora Mozingo, Kate Mozingo, Eschar Lay, Signal Newport, Arthur Reed, Joe Reed, Cora Rollins, John Henry Rollins, Kitty Rollins, Oscar Spangler,


Roy Reed, Irby Hutson, Nancy Catherine Heatherly, Mossie Heatherly, John Hill, Maggie Hill, Sarah Heatherly, Ada Heatherly, Ithel Heatherly, Francis Merideth, Oliver Merideth, Kelly Massengile, Hobart Sharp, Edgar Ridenour, Ada Ridenour, Artist Ridenour, Emma Spangler, John Thomas Spangler, Andrew Williams, Pena Foust, Mossie Kincaid, (Mrs. J. Will Taylor) and Sillous Spangler. 


Some later students were: Ella Mills, Reuben Mills, Shan Mills, Jim Mills, Charles Walker, Leona Walker, Effie Walker, Maggie Walker, Roscoe Walker, Edna Stout, Arthur Stout, Jerome Stout, Edith Stout, Lois Stout, Estelle Stout, Laura Stout, Tessie Stout, Harriet Stout, Nora Irwin, Bash Irwin, Nora St. John, Edith Robbins, Catherine Crumley,   


Willie Weaver, Maggie Weaver, Stiner Brock, Stiner McCoy, Elmer Wilson, Dewey Dyke, Sprugeon Dyke, Clyde Rucker, Willie Ayers, Lizzie Ayers, Merritt Ayers, Leona Ayers, Carrie Ridenour, Obie Walters, Elva Lamb, J. Meade Bowman, Mattie Bowman, Frank Jones, Isaac Lovely, Minnie Wilson, Mossie Wilson, Bill Avis, Fred Avis, Kelly Pyle, Hobart Pyle, Ernest Pyle, Luther Hill, Ada Hill, Harley Hill, Louise Dossett, and Florence Dossett.


There were several academies, or tuition schools, for higher education in the vicinity. Among these was Hills Academy in Big Valley, Union County, which was operated by Powell Valley Seminary, a branch of Grants College at Athens, Tennessee. It was operated for 10 years with the boarding charge being $6 per pupil per month. 


The Well Spring Academy, located in Powell Valley, Campbell County, was equal to a two-year college term. A board of trustees, selected or elected by the Methodist Church, operated this fine establishment. Requirements for the “elected” head of the school was a degree from a highly regarded university, with stipulations that he be a Methodist. Exceptions to this rule were Dr. W.L. Stooksbury and Dr. Silas A. Walker who were Baptists. Both of these men were highly successful. G.W. Morton, Sr., also taught at Well Spring with his sisters, Martha Jane, Cordie, Bertha, and Ethel attending school there. A branch of the church financed the Well Spring Academy; public funds were also used along with a small amount of tuition being charged each pupil. 


The Speedwell Academy, located in Caliborne County, was founded by German immigrant, George Shutter, who migrated to Tennessee from Pennsylvania in the early 1800s. The Academy was established in 1806 as Powell Valley Male Academy and was later named Speedwell Academy. The present building was built in 1827 using slave labor. General Zollicoffer, during the Civil War, used it as he prepared to take Cumberland Gap from Union forces. Both Union and Confederate troops later used it as a hospital. Soldiers used the weather vane for target practice.


    
William Nowell, John Vanbebber, James Renfro, William Robertson, and James Roddye, were the first trustees of the Speedwell Academy. This facility was helped by John VanBebber which was most likely his school of learning. At one time an education from this school was ranked with a college education. Here the young boys learned such things as law, Latin, math and other useful schooling for business purposes. Later, the Academy was used as a school for both boys and girls. 


Irwin’ Chapel was located in Union County. There was also an academy, store, and lodge across from Ernest Watkins’ house (formerly the Stooksbury home). Alvis Stookbury’s store was on the first floor and a school, lodge and post office called Forkvale were on the second floor. 


A number of people that attended Stooksbury Lodge 602 were: Mattie Heatherly, Jerry Day, J. N. Newport, Rufus Jones, Ras Lindamood, Elbert Hill, George Ridenour, A. J. Heatherly, Joe Collins, John Albright, Frank Heatherly, Jim Smith, Marshall Heatherly, Joe Tiller, Henry Irwin, Alex Heatherly, Silas Walker, Betty Heatherly, Mrs. Woods, Mrs. Henry Irwin, Mrs. Marshall Heatherly, John Hill, Cora Heatherly, and Emma Ridenour Heatherly. 


Walnut Grove was the first school in the area to accept adult education programs. The old “Blue Back Speller” was used, each word being first pronounced and then broken down into syllables. They consistently used an ‘accent mark’ over the vowels to show the pronunciation. 


One or twice a year they would have a ‘spelling bee’ at night. All persons who participated would stand in a row, but were obliged to sit down when he or she misspelled a word. The person left standing at the end or the spelling bee was honored as the winner.


Arithmetic was one of the most accomplished subjects. Each day someone would stand before the class and recite the entire multiplication table; another would count from 1 to 100; a beginner would say the alphabet. Since several grades were in a room together, much learning was done by audio rather than visual means. 


Many times the principal of the school would go to the home of a student and peek through the window to see if said student was doing his or her homework In all cases the lighting was utilized by candlelight or kerosene lamps. 


An old saying during the early school days was “spare the rod and spoil the child.” Sometimes a child was asked to sit in the corner with a ‘dunce cap’ on his head. The duty of a truant officer was to see that every child attended school. Many children such as the Isaac Irwin children had to walk three miles to school and three miles back....rain or shine!


John Ayres was the building contractor for the Walnut Grove schoolhouse with  help from two other builders. The new building consisted of four classrooms, an auditorium with theater seats, a stage with large dressing rooms, a library, an office, a home economics room, and a cloakroom. The basketball court and johns were on the outside. Coal was stored in the basement. 


Community and school activities were abundant. These events included box suppers, cake walks, literary society, plays, cantatas, musical programs, fiddlers’ contests, ice cream suppers, and basketball games. Pie suppers were sometimes held with the auctioneer selling the pies to the highest bidders. A lady’s boyfriend or husband generally purchased the pies and together they feasted on the delicacy.  


School lunches usually included boiled corn, baked sweet potatoes, apples, pears, peaches, plum granites, chestnuts, sausages or ham and biscuits, stack cake, and fried pies.


The playgrounds were not abundantly equipped, but there were plenty of nice rocks to slide on, grapevines to swing on and to use for jumping the rope, and rails to use for seesawing.


Other games were croquet, tic-tac-toe, thimble, blind man’s bluff, drop the handkerchief, tag, Kitty wants the corner, ride stick horses, wink, clap in and clap out, and ball over the house. 


The school had no bell system within the building. The teacher rang a hand bell, and the students lined up in two lines and waited for permission to march to their rooms. Confusion reigned when everybody wanted to be first in line, or when someone behind  was pushing.  


Perhaps some of Campbell County’s senior citizens can remember when school and its many activities were most essential in their lives. This was a time of learning, discipline, and respect for one another. 

COAL MINE


Part I


The writer was searching for more “coal mine” stories and came across this excellent write-up written by Stephen Crane and placed in “McClure’s Magazine,” dated,  August, 1894. I certainly cannot improve upon the writings of Crane and so it shall be as he wrote it. It is entitled, “In The Depths Of A Coal Mine.”


THE "breakers" squatted upon the hillsides and in the valley like enormous preying monsters, eating of the sunshine, the grass, the green leaves. The smoke from their nostrils had ravaged the air of coolness and fragrance. All that remained of vegetation looked dark, miserable, half-strangled. Along the summit line of the mountain a few unhappy trees were etched upon the clouds. Overhead stretched a sky of imperial blue, incredibly far away from the sombre land. 


We approached the colliery over paths of coal dust that wound among the switches. A "breaker " loomed above us, a huge and towering frame of blackened wood. It ended in a little curious peak, and upon its sides there was a profusion of windows appearing at strange and unexpected points. Through occasional doors one could see the flash of whirring machinery. Men with wondrously blackened faces and garments came forth from it. The sole glitter upon their persons was at their hats, where the little tin lamps were carried. They went stolidly along, some swinging lunch-pails carelessly; but the marks upon them of their forbidding and mystic calling fascinated our new eyes until they passed from sight. They were symbols of a grim, strange war that was being waged in the sunless depths of the earth.


Around a huge central building clustered other and lower ones, sheds, engine-houses, machine-shops, offices. Railroad tracks extended in web-like ways. Upon them stood files of begrimed coal cars. Other huge structures similar to the one near us, upreared their uncouth heads upon the hills of the surrounding country. From each a mighty hill of culm extended. Upon these tremendous heaps of waste from the mines, mules and cars appeared like toys. Down in the valley, upon the railroads, long trains crawled painfully southward, where a low-hanging gray cloud, with a few projecting spires and chimneys, indicated a town. 


Car after car came from a shed beneath which lay hidden the mouth of the shaft. They were dragged, creaking, up an inclined cable road to the top of the "breaker." 


At the top of the " breaker," laborers were dumping the coal into chutes. The huge lumps slid slowly on their journey down through the building, from which they were to emerge in classified fragments. Great teeth on revolving cylinders caught them and chewed them. At places there were grates that bid each size go into its proper chute. The dust lay inches deep on every motionless thing, and clouds of it made the air dark as from a violent tempest. A mighty gnashing sound filled the ears. With terrible appetite this huge and hideous monster sat imperturbably munching coal, grinding its mammoth jaws with unearthly and monotonous uproar.

“The "Breaker."


In a large room sat the little slate-pickers. The floor slanted at an angle of forty-five degrees, and the coal, having been masticated by the great teeth, was streaming sluggishly in long iron troughs. The boys sat straddling these troughs, and as the mass mover slowly, they grabbed deftly at the pieces of slate therein. There were five or six of them, one above another, over each trough. The coal is expected to be fairly pure after it passes the final boy. The howling machinery was above them. High up, dim figures moved about in the dust clouds.


These little men were a terrifically dirty band. They resembled the New York gamins in some ways, but they laughed more, and when they laughed their faces were a wonder and a terror. They had an air of supreme independence, and seemed proud of their kind of villainy. They swore long oaths with skill.


Through their ragged shirts we could get occasional glimpses of shoulders black as stoves. They looked precisely like imps as they scrambled to get a view of us. Work ceased while they tried to ascertain if we were willing to give away any tobacco. The man who perhaps believes that he controls them came and harangued the crowd. He talked to the air.


The slate-pickers all through this region are yet at the spanking period. One continually wonders about their mothers, and if there are any schoolhouses. But as for them, they are not concerned. When they get time off, they go out on the culm heap and play baseball, or fight with boys from other " breakers " or among themselves, according to the opportunities. And before them always is the hope of one day getting to be door-boys down in the mines; and, later, mule-boys; and yet later, laborers and helpers. Finally, when they have grown to be great big men, they may become miners, real miners, and go down and get "squeezed," or perhaps escape to a shattered old man's estate with a mere "miner's asthma." They are very ambitious. "A few projecting spikes and chimneys indicated a town."


Meanwhile they live in a place of infernal dins. The crash and thunder of the machinery is like the roar of an immense cataract. The room shrieks and blares and bellows. Clouds of dust blur the air until the windows shine pallidly afar off. All the structure is a-tremble from the heavy sweep and circle of the ponderous mechanism. Down in the midst of it sit these tiny urchins, where they earn fifty-five cents a day each. They breathe this atmosphere until their lungs grow heavy and sick with it. They have this clamor in their ears until it is wonderful that they have any hoodlum valor remaining. But they are uncowed; they continue to swagger. And at the top of the "breaker' laborers can always be seen dumping the roaring coal down the wide, voracious maw of the creature. 


Over in front of a little tool-house a man smoking a pipe sat on a bench. "Yes," he said, "I'll take yeh down if yeh like. " He led us by little cinder paths to the shed over the shaft of the mine. A gigantic fan-wheel near by was twirling swiftly. It created cool air for the miners, who on the lowest vein of this mine were some eleven hundred and fifty feet below the surface. As we stood silently waiting for the elevator we had opportunity to gaze at the mouth of the shaft. The walls were of granite blocks, slimy, moss-grown, dripping with water. Below was a curtain of ink-like blackness. It was like the opening of an old well, sinister from tales of crimes.  (To be continued.)

Part II


The black, greasy cables began to run swiftly. We stood staring at them and wondering. Then of a sudden the elevator appeared and stopped with a crash. It was a plain wooden platform. Upon two sides iron bars ran up to support a stout metal roof. The men upon it, as it came into view, were like apparitions from the center of the earth.


A moment later we marched aboard, armed with little lights, feeble and gasping in the daylight. There was an instant's creak of machinery, and then the landscape, that had been framed for us by the door-posts of the shed, disappeared in a flash. We were dropping with extraordinary swiftness straight into the earth. It was a plunge, a fall. The flames of the little lamps fluttered and flew and struggled like tied birds to release themselves from the wicks. "Hang on," bawled our guide above the tumult.


The dead black walls slid swiftly by. They were a swirling dark chaos on which the mind tried vainly to locate some coherent thing, some intelligible spot. One could only hold fast to the iron bars and listen to the roar of this implacable descent. When the faculty of balance is lost, the mind becomes a confusion. The will fought a great battle to comprehend something during this fall, but one might as well have been tumbling among the stars. The only thing was to await revelation. It was a journey that held a threat of endlessness.


Then suddenly the dropping platform slackened its speed. It began to descend slowly and with caution. At last, with a crash and a jar, it stopped. Before us stretched an inscrutable darkness, a soundless place of tangible loneliness. Into the nostrils came a subtly strong odor of powder-smoke, oil, wet earth. The alarmed lungs began to lengthen their respirations.


Our guide strode abruptly into the gloom. His lamp flared shades of yellow and orange upon the walls of a tunnel that led away from the foot of the shaft. Little points of coal caught the light and shone like diamonds. Before us there was always the curtain of an impenetrable night. We walked on with no sound save the crunch of our feet upon the coal-dust of the floor. The sense of an abiding danger in the roof was always upon our foreheads. It expressed to us all the unmeasured, deadly tons above us, as if the roof were a superlative might that regarded with the supreme calmness of almighty power the little men at its mercy. Sometimes we were obliged to bend low to avoid it. Always our hands rebelled vaguely from touching it, refusing to affront this gigantic mass.


All at once, far ahead, shone a little flame, blurred and difficult of location. It was a tiny, indefinite twig, like a wisp-light. We seemed to be looking at it through a great fog. Presently there were two of them. They began to move to and fro and dance before us.


After a time we came upon two men crouching where the roof of the passage came near to meeting the floor. If the picture could have been brought to where it would leave had the opposition arid the contrast of the glorious summer-time earth, it would have been a grim and ghastly thing. The garments of the men were no more sable than their faces, and when they turned their heads to regard our tramping party, their eyeballs and teeth shone white as bleached bones. It was like the grinning of two skulls there in the shadows. The tiny lamps in their hats node a trembling light that left weirdly shrouded the movements of their limbs and bodies'. We might have been confronting terrible spectres.


From this tunnel of our first mine we went with our guide to the foot of the main shaft. Here we were in the most important passage of a mine, the main gangway. The wonder of these avenues is the noise—the crash and clatter of machinery as the elevator speeds upward with the loaded cars and drops thunderingly with the empty ones. The place resounds with the shouts of mule-boys, and there can always be heard the noise of approaching coal-cars, beginning in mild rumbles and then swelling down upon one in a tempest of sound. In the air is the slow painful throb of the pumps working at the water which collects in the depths. There is booming and banging and crashing, until one wonders why the tremendous walls are not wrenched by the force of this uproar And up and down the tunnel there is a riot of lights, little orange points flickering and flashing. Miners stride in swift and sombre procession. But the meaning of it all is in the deep bass rattle of a blast in some hidden part of the mine. It is war. It is the most savage part of all in the endless battle between man and nature. These miners are grimly in the van. They have carried the war into places where nature has the strength of a million giants. Sometimes their enemy becomes exasperated and snuffs out ten twenty, thirty lives. Usually she remains calm, and takes one at a time with method and precision. She need not hurry. She possesses eternity. After a blast, the smoke, faintly luminous, silvery, floats silently through the adjacent tunnels. 

EARLY SETTLERS IN WALNUT GROVE


The settling of Walnut Grove in Campbell County, between the Powell and Clinch rivers, began many years ago. In the 1770’s no white man had ever set foot between the rivers or had seen what is now called Walnut Grove unless it was the longhunters from North Carolina. An assumption of the name Walnut Grove possibly came from the many walnut trees surrounding the area. Historians claim that the Indians called the Clinch River “Turkey River” or “Pellissippi.” 


Years before the Revolutionary War, Frank Irwin and a younger brother crossed the mountains of North Carolina, now Tennessee. They both took part in the Battle of Kings Mountain, a very decisive encounter for the Continental Army. It should be noted that Frank could have possibly fired the deadly bullet into the body of General Ferguson, the only Englishman. Frank’s brother was possibly killed in this battle. 


After the Land Grab Act, about 1789, Frank Irwin and William Hancock ventured west among the Indians and the wild animals. They arrived on the Holston River and then pressed forward to Big Valley where Frank met and married Nellie Lyons. In this area Frank purchased 1,000 acres, possibly from the Indians. 


While on a hunting venture one day, Frank forded the Clinch River and found the valley between the rivers, Walnut Grove. Frank and William Hancock became the first settlers, each buying 500 acres of land and building shelters or huts about 1 1/2 miles apart. Frank gave a filly and a rifle for his share of the purchase. William built his homestead on Powell River, which later became the home of Henry Irwin. 


John Stout built on the Clinch River; William Ridenour built on Powell River, William Bolinger built further down; William Lett built near Hancock; Joe Campbell built farther down on Powell River; Martin Nelson built farther down between the rivers; Abe Sanders built on Frank Irwin’s land.


Frank Irwin was the first blacksmith, cobbler, and mechanic for the whole neighborhood. A lady named Robinson reared six children in a hut on Martin Nelson’s land. Frank Irwin later built a house that later became the Silas A. Walker property. Here he reared four children. 


Presenting themselves as properly as could be expected, the men wore long hair to their shoulders and long beards. The women wore long hair and long dresses. All clothing was home made from cloth they had woven; some being from hides and furs of animals. These pioneers were very inventive. They cut out and prepared paths, by-ways, bridleways, and roads to travel from one house to the other and to reach places such as the hominy pounder. The hominy pounder was constructed as a rude mill that would mash corn into rough meal. 


Roads were later laid out for sleds, oxcarts, and wagons. Building of these roads was to let them run up hollows in the center to the top of the hill and straight down the hill on the other side or along the tips of the ridges. These roads had to be laid out so the vehicles would not turn over.


Initially, they fought and killed wild animals and Indians. Because the forest was of great thickness, only a small bit of land could be cultivated. However, a large number of hogs could be raised in the woods. Horses were few as they had to more-or- less depend on the steers, cows and heifers for their plowing. 


Wild game such as bear, deer, turkey, pheasant, along with other small animals and birds were plentiful. Raising of hogs and sheep was quite easy in the wintertime, but wintering the cattle and horses was somewhat more difficult. They caught and tamed wild pigs and hogs.


Ridding the forest of the many trees was no easy task. The land was so plentiful with the huge forests that there was no market for them, and so, they, without the proper tools to cut them, would kill the trees by cutting a ring around them.


The soil was rich and unused and a few people produced around 35 bushels of corn per acre with 50 per acre tops. Oats was raised but no wheat. Their hay crop consisted of crab grass, which they pulled by hand.


Their working implements were very limited as well as their tools, livestock, and clothes. Their foodstuffs were of no variety. Their furniture was hand made after some time in settlement. Their dogs and guns were just about the most important possessions they had. They had nothing to sell and buy and nothing with which to buy.


These early settlers depended on God and the land on which they lived, and were solid in their beliefs of survival. They had gatherings for worship in their homes. Here they discussed their problems and taught the children to read and write. 


Could we, in our great environment of today, possibly relate to the early settlers in Walnut Grove? These folks were wholly sensible people who could face the test and pass it with glory. 


PLACE NAMES IN CAMPBELL COUNTY

The following are the place names in Campbell County. Many of the older residents may remember most of them. They are arranged in alphabetical order.


Agee, Demory--Alder, White Hollow--Alder Springs, Demory--Anthras, Eagan--Beech Fork, Duncan Flats--Bethlehem, Well Spring--Block. Block--Boy, Demory--Brookside, Block--Broyles, Ivydell--Buckeye, Pioneer--Caryville,Caryville--Chaska, Jellico East--Clinchmore, Duncan Flats--Coal Mine, Jellico West--Cotula, La Follette--
Cove Creek, Jacksboro--Cove Lake Estates, Jacksboro--Cumberland View, Jacksboro--Davis Chapel, La Follette--De Lap, Jacksboro--Demory,  Demory--Disney,  Lake City--Duff,  La Follette--Elk Valley,  Ivydell--Fincastle, La Follette--Flat Hollow, Well Spring--Fordtown, Demory--Forkvale, White Hollow--Gennett Camp, Duncan Flats

Girlton, White Hollow--Grantsboro, Demory--Habersham, LaFollette--Hatmaker, Demory--Hickey, Block--High Point, Jacksboro--Highcliff , Jellico East--Highland Park, Jacksboro--Holton, Jellico East--Hunter, Jacksboro--Ilford, LaFollette--Indian Creek,  Jacksboro--Ivydell,  Ivydell--Jacksboro, Jacksboro--Jellico, West--Kilsyth, LaFollette--
LaFollette LaFollette--Lindsay Mill , Jacksboro--Little White Oak,  Jellico East--Long Hollow, LaFollette--Morley,  Jellico East--Newcomb, Jellico West--Oak Grove,  Jacksboro--Oswego, Jellico West--Peabody, LaFollette--Peewee, Block--Pine Crest , Jacksboro--Pine Mountain, Ivydell--Pioneer, W. Pioneer--Powells River,  White Hollow--
Primroy,  Demory--Red Ash, Jacksboro--Remy, LaFollette--Ridgewood , Jacksboro--Round Rock, Block--Royal Blue, Pioneer--Russell Fork, LaFollette--Shea , Duncan Flats--Silica,  Jacksboro--Stanfill, Pioneer--Stinking Creek,  Jellico West--Stockville, Well Spring--Tackett Creek,  Jellico East--Terry Creek, Pioneer--Titus,  Pioneer--Turley, Block--Vasper,  Jacksboro--Victory, LaFollette--Walnut Grove,  White Hollow--Welch Camp, Duncan Flats--Westbourne, LaFollette--White Oak, Jellico East--Whitman,  Demory--Wooldridge, Jellico-- WestWynn,  LaFollette

CAMPBELL COUNTY HAD 150 WAR DEAD DURING WW II


Some 62 years ago, on Sunday, December 7, 1941, occurred the most tragic event to date in America history - the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor. 


That Sunday morning 62 years ago plunged the United States headlong into the greatest war in history and before the conflict ended nearly four years later a half million Americans were killed or died of wounds or disease.


As near as can be ascertained, 150 Campbell Countians lost their lives during World War II. Campbell Countians saw service all over the world in every place where American troops were stationed. Four thousand, three hundred and seven served from Campbell County during the war. 


The attack on Pearl Harbor came when over 100 Japanese planes and several midget submarines attacked the US fleet at harbor. The attack was made at 7:55 a.m. Hawaiian time (1:25 p.m. Eastern Standard Time.)


Of the 86 ships in the fleet, one battleship was totally lost and several other vessels severely damaged. The Navy lost 80 airplanes and the Army 97.


In the Navy there were 2,117 men killed, 960 missing, and 876 wounded. In the Army there were 226 men killed and 396 wounded.


In the attack, the Japanese lost 28 planes to the Navy, 20 planes to the Army and three submarines, each 45 tons.


Nearly fours later, on August 14, 1945, Japan surrendered: Germany had surrendered on May 8, 1945. The Japanese decision to give up came after atomic bombs were dropped on Hiroshima on August 6 and on Nagasaki, on August 9, killing well over 150,000 people. 


The former terms of surrender were signed on board the USS Missouri on September 2, 1945.


Between Pearl Harbor and the surrender of Japan a total of 14,903,213 men and women served in America’s armed forces. The United States suffered 1,978,674 casualties. Of these 407,828 died and 670,846 were wounded. Battle deaths were 292,986.


At this late date very little can be said in payment of the sacrifice made by those who died, although they should hold the highest places in memory of the living.


Among the Campbell Countians to die in World War II was one, George F. Lamb, who was posthumously awarded the Distinguished Service Cross for gallantry in action. Julia M. Zechini, a Navy nurse, died in the service. As far as can be learned the first Campbell Countian to die in World War II was Private Arthur Summers of LaFollette. 


Following are the names of Campbell County’s war dead of World War II.


Conley E. Adams, John E. Anderson, Joseph B. Arnette, Clayton Artis, Lamon D. Ball, Johnnie M. Bates, John H. Bell, William E. Bell, Lewis B. Balton, Herndon C. Bowman, James F. Branam, Willis Branam, Paul Brashears, Everette Brassfield, Jr., Wallace Breedwell,


Glenn L. Bridges, Frederick W. Bruce, Charlie Bryant, Jordan Carroll, Charles Caldwell, James M. Childress, Lee M. Clotfelter, Wendall D. Copeland, Ross Hollingsworth, Ralph W. Cook, David H. Creekmore, Arthur Cross, Archie A. Dalton, Howard E. Daugherty, Lonzo Daugherty, William G. Davenport, Ethon Davis, Roy W. Davis, Charles Dilbeck, Daniel H. Disney, Charlie Douglas, Clyde A. Douglas,  


General P. Douglas, Henry L. Douglas, Hazel H. Duncan, Marion Duncan, Owen H. Evans, Billie V. Franklin, Edd Fuston, Joe Gaylor, Jr., Byron L. Goins, Roy Goodman, Elihue Greene, Ralph Griffith, Willie Hale, Arvel H. Hall, William G. Hatfield, Wilmer W. Hatmaker, Andrew J. Hawkins, Earl E. Hayes, Maynard W. Heatherly, Paul E. Heatherly, 
Woodrow Heatherly, James I. Hensley, Henry Hooper, George T. Houston, John L. Huddleston, Ted Hunter, Kleetis C. Ivery, Vernon Ivey, James C. Jeffers, Joseph E. Johnson, Willie T. Justice, Lewis King, Jr., Alvis H. Lamb, Jr., George F. Lamb, James T. Land, Waymon R. Lawhorn, Bishop Lawson, James F. Leach, Norman Lingerfelt, Arlie Long, James D. Longmire,


Shirley Lowe, James T. Lynch, Lonnie Lynch, Verda Lyons, Homer Marcum, Charles H. Marple, Gus Martin, Glenn McGhee, Shirley McGhee, Lawrence L. McCarty, Cal  Miller, Walter C. Nelson, Loyd W. Nichols, Lee. R. Norman, Barton W. Owens, Clifford Osborne, William M. Parker, George W. Partin, Fred Paul, Charles H. Patterson, Thomas E. Perkey, Oscar L. Perkins, Thomas E. Perkins, William E. Petitt, Earl Phillips,


Robin Phillips, Prinston D. Quarls, Jacob H. Queener, John C. Richardson, John C. Ridenour, William W. Ridenour, Earl Roach, Warren G. Roaden, William F. Robbins, Homer L. Rodeheaver, Leon Russell, J.V. Russell, Edward Schugart, Henry C. Scott, Charles V. Sharp, Clyde Shoffner, James T. Shepherd, Joseph H. Siler, Martin Siler, 
Gilmore W. Smith, Ova Smith, Harley F. Spradlin, Merl Stevens, James W. Stewart, Elwood J. Stiner, James E. Stone, Arthur Summers, Milton G. Sutton, Walter Tackett, Venis Todd, Carl W. Thompson, James H. Walden, James R. Walden, Eric W. Warming, Eukle Welch, Jess W. White, Joseph B. White, Robert T. Williams, Archie Wilson, James Wilson, Thomas W. Wilson, Leonard Woods, Miller D. Yoakum, Julia M. Zechini, and Peter Tom Zechini.

REVOLUTIONARY SOLDIERS WHO RECEIVED PENSIONS WHILE RESIDING IN CAMPBELL COUNTY



The writer inserted in The LaFollette Press, date, August 10, 2000, a compilation of the Revolutionary War soldiers who received pensions from the Federal Government while residing in Campbell County. I have been asked by several to re-insert this article.


In 1818 an Act was passed by Congress granting pensions to soldiers of the Revolution.  This Act was very strict which in turn allowed very few persons to qualify for benefits.  The document was still not inclusive enough to assist many of the soldiers who provided themselves in the winning effort against British rule.


By 1832, public interest had so united toward compensation for the veterans that Congress then passed a Pension Act which included even militiamen who had provided as little as three months' service in the war for independence.


Immediately afterward, within a year or two, veterans who had survived qualified before their country courts to obtain the pensions they so deserved.  In 1835, a total list of veterans was published by an Act of Congress.

Included were:


Isaac Armstrong, Pension Number: S16312, born: July 1762 in Maryland, military: Virginia Line, applied: Oct. 9, 1832, Anderson County;


Charles Bratcher, Pension Number: S1501, born: 1762, Bedford County, Virginia, died: August 11, 1833, military: Virginia Line, applied: June 12, 1833, Campbell County;


James Cabbage, pension number not found;


John Cabbage, Pension Number: S3134, born: February 24, 1758, Chester County, PA; military: Virginia Militia; applied: March 11, 1834, Campbell County;


Robert Chapman, DAR Number: 1779193, Military: 7th Virginia Regulars; Residence: Campbell County 1830-1840;


James Chitwood, Pension Number: S1751; born: June 21, 1751, Cumberland County, VA; military: South Carolina Line; applied: Dec. 11, 1832, Campbell County;


Richard Crabtree, Widow’s Pension Number: W8642, born: January 29, 1758, Louden County, VA, died: June 29, 1849, wife: Sarah Richardson, married: Aug. 10, 1792, Russell County, VA, military, North Carolina Line, applied, Aug. 2, 1834, Morgan County, TN (Soldier's Pension), applied Feb. 1, 1851, Scott County, TN;


John Day, Pension Number: S2532, military: Maryland Line, applied: Dec. 30, 1833, Campbell County;


Manoah Dyer, Pension Number: S2532, born: Sept. 25, 1755, Caroline County, VA, military: North Carolina and Virginia Line, applied: Nov. 12, 1832, Monroe County, TN;


Daniel Going [Goins], Pension Number: S38744; In 1820: Age 65; wife age 67; military: Virginia Continental Line, applied: June 3, 1818;


James Grant, Pension Number: S38759, died: January 21, 1824, applied: June 2, 1818, Campbell County;


Joseph Hatfield, Pension Number: W5, died: August 26, 1832, wife: Rachel, married: Oct. 28, 1779, military: Virginia Line, applied: Oct. 21, 1843, Campbell County;


Drewry Hembree, Pension Number; Not Found, born: Dec. 12, 1755, Spartanburg District, SC, applied: Oct. 10, 1834, Campbell County;


Churchwell Jackson, Sr., Pension Number: S4432, born: Feb. 15, 1758, Orange County, VA, military: North Carolina Line;


Rollings James, Pension Number: S2018, born: 1762 in MD, Military: North Carolina State Troops, applied: Sept. 10, 1832, Campbell County;


David Lawson, Pension Number: R6200, died March 1, 1852, wife, Elizabeth, married Oct. 18, 1794, military, North Caro-lina Line, applied: Oct. 28, 1843, Campbell County;


Dickeson Lumpkin(s), Pension Number: R6521, died: September 8, 1851, wife: Susan Luker, married, May 22, 1820, military: Pennsylvania and Virginia Line, applied: Sept. 11, 1832, [age 73] Campbell County; applied: April 2, 1855, Campbell County; [Widow's Pension];


James McDonald, Pension Number: W7424, born: Aug. 21, 1758, Cumberland County, NC, died: Jan. 12, 1848, Campbell County; wife: Sarah Cox; married: July 20, 1797, Randolph County, NC, military: North Carolina Line, applied: May 31, 1834, Morgan County, TN, applied: Feb. 15, 1851, Scott County;


Richard Muse, Pension Number: unknown; born: 1752, military: unknown, applied: 1840, Pulaski County, KY;


Frederick Nester, Pension Number: S1572, born: April 24, 1739, Germany, military: North Carolina Militia, applied: Sept. 10, 1833, Campbell County;


John Ousley/Oysley/Hously, Pension Number: R16894, born: Nov. 6, 1757, died: Dec. 19, 1845, wife: Tabitha Barton, mar-ried, Aug. 16, 1778, military: Virginia Line, applied: March 19, 1833, Claiborne County, applied: April, 1846, Claiborne County, [Widow's Pension];


John Reed/Read, Pension Number: W193, died, Dec. 9, 1838, Morgan County, TN; wife: Nancy Morris, married, Septem-ber, 1783, Greenville District, SC, military: South Carolina Line, applied: Sept. 10, Campbell County; applied, June, 1839, Morgan County, TN [Widow's Pension];


Henry Ridenour, Pension Number: not found;


John Ridenour, Pension Number: not found;


Benjamin Rogers/Rodgers, Pension Number: W867, Born: Jan. 29, 1754/55/56, Culpepper County, VA; wife, Martha Brawley; married: March 24, 1788; military: Virginia Line; applied: Dec. 11, 1832, Campbell County, applied: March 12, 1840, Campbell County;


William H. Rose, rank: Sergeant, military: First Battalion, 4th Reg. N. C. Continental Line, enlisted: April 23, 1776 to August 1783;


Robert Ross, Pension Number: W1496, died: Jan. 23, 1825, wife: Lucy Arnold, married, Nov. 22, 1792, military, Pennsylvania Continental Line, applied: April 29, 1818, Campbell County; applied: Nov. 3, 1838, Anderson County, [Widow's Pension];


John Sanders/Saunders, Pension Number: W3873, died: April 6, 1833, Claiborne County, TN; wife, Mary Ann "Molly" Stotts/Statts; married, Aug. 17, 1780, Surry County, NC; military, North Carolina Line, applied: Jan. 4, 1833, Claiborne County, applied: Aug. 5, 1843, Campbell County [Widow's Pension];


 Timothy Smith, Pension: W196, died, June 18, 1832, wife, Esther, married, Aug. 18, 1780, York District, SC, military: New Jersey Cont'l Line, applied: Oct. 26, 1818, Campbell County, applied, June, 1838, Morgan County, TN [Widow's Pension];


Thomas Slape, Pension: S39075, Died, Dec., 1820, military: Virginia Continental Line;


Ali (Eli) Smith, Pension: R9751, died: April 19, 1836, wife, Jane Denny Smith, married, April 8, 1783, military, Virginia Military, applied, Nov. 6, 1843 [Widow's Pension];


Ransom Smith, Pension: S3925, born: April 11, 1761, Hanover County, VA; died, Aug. 12, 1855, military: North Carolina Line, applied: Oct. 12, 1832, Marion County, TN;


Robert Smith, Pension: R9697, died: Dec. 9, 1786, wife: Blessing, married: Fall of 1778, Botetourt County, VA, military: Virginia Continental Line, applied: Oct. 25, 1843, Campbell County, [Widow's Pension];


Jacob Stooskbury/Stukesbury, Pension: S39094, in 1818: age about 63, in 1821: Wife, age 55, in 1838: age 85; military: Virginia Continental Line, applied: Sept. 8, 1818, Anderson County, military, Wagoner in Virginia Continental Line;


Dennis Trammel, pension: R10672, born: 1759, Amelia County, VA, died: March 29, 1849; wife, Martha Cooper [sec-ond wife]; married: April 27, 1841, Russell County, KY, military: Georgia and South Carolina Lines, received pension from Special Act of Congress, applied; 1853, Taylor County, KY.

YOAKUM HISTORY


The name YOAKUM is said to be an Americanization of the German baptismal name of Joachim. The Yoakum family, from which the Yoakums of America are believed to be descended, belonged to the landed classes. It is probable that the first of the name in America was of a somewhat humble origin and that they were of that large group of German immigrants who adopted their surnames after or when coming to this country.  The Yoakum ancestors were among the German immigrants that had long been victims of a cruel and vicious conflict.


(The most well known variations of the name Joachim are Jochem, Jochems, Yokum, Yocom, Yoakum, Yoachum, and Yoakam. There is a total of over eighty different worldwide spellings depending on the area of residence and the degree of education to which the name was given.)



The Yoakum family most likely originated in the Palantine area of Germany and about 1700 or 1710 migrated to New Amsterdam (New York City). It seems that most of them likely migrated into the southeastern New York State area for a few years in the Tulphocken Creek Valley, about 1720, in present Berks County, Pennsylvania. It is clear that Jacob, Mathias, Philip Paul, George and Valentine, along with many other Yoakums, lived to this area. 


The Yoakums, along with the Stumps, Sees, and Harnesses, migrated to the South Branch of the Potomac Valley in present day Hardy County, West Virginia, during the 1730’s. From there they scattered into the westward counties of Kentucky, Ohio and Tennessee. Reasoning for this latest migration was that the demand for land was low and the supply was high; it was excellent land, along with being so cheap, sometimes free. If you owned a quarter-acre lot in New Amsterdam in 1730, you could sell it and buy a nice piece of farmland in the settled areas of eastern Pennsylvania and Virginia. One could convert this property into acres of farmland on the western frontier. (The western frontier at this time was Ohio, etc.) The farther one traveled west the cheaper the land. A poor man in the east could live like a king in the wilderness. 


Lord Fairfax received a six million-dollar Land Grant from the King of England. He put out the word among the immigrants of Pennsylvania that he could let all interested persons go to the South Branch of the Potomac River and settle where they could have land for almost nothing. 


No previous surveys were done on the land for almost a century, and then Lord Fairfax employed a survey group of which George Washington, then 16 years of age at the time, was a part. The land was surveyed into lots and estates with Philip Yoakum working with Washington during this survey. At the end of a 99-year period the immigrants would pay one-half cent per acre. 


Upon marking the land the new landowners were told to make a tomahawk mark around the land they wanted and report to Lord Fairfax. A group of four reliable settlers were asked to go south and look into the new country. Two of the men were Michael Harness and Phillip Powell Yoakum. They were given the latitude and longitude boundaries and traveled on foot with only a pocket compass to guide them.


After returning home the men reported the good news concerning the land and, consequently, Michael Harness left early enough the next spring to plant a crop. 


Winchester was the nearest town. Phillip was called on to report his knowledge of the river and the area. He told them that the name of the river was Appatomak, which was given by the Indians in the area. The name of South Branch of the Potomac was accepted after his report.


In 1738, along with the Sees, Stumps, Harness families and others, they traveled over the mountains to settle in the valley. Packing for the new land was a great chore. It is said that the daughter of Michael Harness, eleven year old Elizabeth, was the first white female that had traveled over the soil of the South Branch of the Potomac. 


In the late 1740’s Felty Yoakum, son of Francis, was the first settler to take up claim on the west side of Muddy Creek (located in Claiborne County). In October 1750, after the land had been surveyed, the following spring saw more families coming to the new land. Felty’s brothers, Mathias and Conrad, were probably in this group. The Virginia authorities had not yet approved this settlement as it was Indian country, which was not covered by treaty or by purchase, and it could not be protected. The settlers had been ordered out by authorities but had refused to budge. 


In July 1763 Indians led in a raid by Chief Cornstalk killed Frederick See and Felty Yoakum at their homes in this vicinity. Other families fled the area and the Indians had control of the land for another six years. Conrad and Mathias, brothers of Felty, were among the families that escaped. 



Valentine Yoakum, about 1771, with the possible fear of the Indians removed, moved to Muddy Creek and established Yoakum’s Station. In 1773 Indians tomahawked Valentine and most of his family at Yoakum’s Station with young George being the only one to escape. He was described as swift of foot and of great strength, killing three Indians with a frying pan handle, which he yanked from one as he passed through. 


George Yoakum, the lone survivor of the preceding incident and Margaret VanBebber were married in 1777 and had a son George, Jr. In 1784, after the child was born, the family moved to Lee County, Virginia and constructed a Yoakum’s Station there. Later, about 1794, the family moved down Powell valley about 14 miles from Cumberland Gap and established yet another settlement which was also known as Yoakum’s Station, which was sometimes referred to as Yoakum’s Fort. This new territory was to become the new State of Franklin. This land was still in controversy, as the Indian claims had not yet been extinguished.



(Located in Powell Valley on the banks of Powell River, between Dryden and Woodway, near where the highway crosses the bridge at the Wygal place. Yoakum's Station seems to have been a neighborhood fort for the scattered settlers of Turkey Cove.  It appears that the station was built some time after 1780, since this is about the time that Turkey Cove began to be settled, with Vincent Hobbs and some others settling there in this year. No description has been found for this fort and none of the military correspondence or pension claims make mention of it. This leads to the assumption that it may have been only a neighborhood fort manned by the settlers. The only intimation that militia troops might have been stationed there comes from the assignment order for militia troops in 1792, which shows a Captain, Sergeant, Corporal and 24 Privates stationed in the Turkey Cove, but does not show at what particular places, if any, they were stationed. (So far as I know, Yoakum’s Station was located near the Powell Valley High School in Claiborne County.) 


The 1791 Holston Treaty prohibited settlers from entering the Cherokee lands in the Powell Valley, however, recipients of North Carolina land grants moved into the area. President Washington ordered the pioneers to leave the valley. Captain Richard Sparks and John Wade read the executive order to the settlers at Yoakum’s Station. 


The following was taken from Roulston’s “Knoxville Gazette and Weekly Advertiser,“ February 6, 1797. I shall now summarize the contents.



It is an official message from President Washington and the Secretary of War, which conforms to an Act of Congress and passed May 19, 1790. It is “an Act to regulate trade and intercourse with the Indian tribes, and to preserve peace on the frontiers.”


The official statement gives the pioneers “full time to prepare your minds for the event, we have deemed it proper to notify you, that on or about the 20th instant, we shall meet with you at Yoakum’s Station, where we hope your numbers will be full and respectable, and your tempers calmly disposed to argue on a subject which involves in itself, consequences of material magnitude to the Union at large, and to you in particular.”


The problem concerning removal of the pioneer families went on through John Sevier’s term of office until title to the Powell Valley lands was finally settled. A final  treaty concerning these lands was held with the Indians at Tellico blockhouse in October 1798.


Pioneers attending the grand meeting at Fort Yoakum were undoubtedly men named Yoakum, Davis, VanBebber, Hunter, Ausmus, Rogers, Cawood, Thomas, Dunn, Carr, Russell, Kincaid, Sharp, and many others, all old families names of Powell Valley.

OVERHILL INDIANS


Henderson and Company purchased land from the Overhill Cherokees at Sycamore Shoals on March 17, 1775. The Transylvania Land Company, the company name chosen for the transfer of the land, was to populate this land offering practical terms to settlers.  


The land commissioners met in July, 1777 at Fort Patrick Henry, near Long Island (Kingsport) on the Holston River, to hold a peace treaty with the Overhill Cherokees concerning the legality of the land purchase. This document was dated and signed on June 18, 1777, by Richard Henderson, Thomas Hart, Nathaniel Hart, John Williams, William Johnston, John Luttrell, James Hogg, David Hart, and Leo Hen Bullock, who were all members of the company. 


The land was to be laid off in one survey commencing with the following boundaries; beginning at the old Indian town in Powell’s Valley, running down Powell’s River not less than four miles in width on one or both sides, to the juncture of Powell and Clinch Rivers; then down Clinch River on one or both sides, not less than twelve miles in width, a total allocation of 200,000 acres. 


The European’s effect upon Cherokee culture did not have much effect until the early 1700s, after the English colonies of Virginia and South Carolina had become well organized. Fur traders from these two colonies began traveling deeper and deeper into the Appalachian frontier to negotiate with the Cherokee for pelts. 


Just a few decades later, the English traders appeared as a frequent sight in their villages, where the Cherokee purchased their first muskets. Pack trains loaded with deerskins, along with furs of all varieties, rambled back and forth on the many wilderness trails between the Atlantic coast colonies and the Cherokee towns with ever escalating determination.


France, during this period, began to increase its embrace and authority southward from Canada, and to the north from the Gulf Coast, while the English migrants, who were scattered along the Atlantic seaboard and westward en route for the Appalachians, became uneasy. The desire between these two factions to set up war in the Cherokees’ own back yard had much to be desired.


England and France both recognized the wealth probablility of the forests and river valleys which lay immediately beyond their colonial frontiers. Also, the need to have the Native American as a friend in case that wealth be created. These two great powers slowly became intertwined in their struggle for the gigantic North American interior, thus, the French and Indian War (1756-1763).


The Cherokee were caught in the focal point of France and England, with both parties contesting for the Indian’s commitment. In just a few decades the Ani-Yunwiya, as the Cherokee called themselves, became a tribe of secluded mountaineers to players in the theatre of world events.


The French built Fort Toulouse on the Coosa River in Alabama country, near the present day town of Montgomery. These foreigners began pressuring the Cherokee known as the “Overhills.” This tribe was a part of the clan living on the Hiwassee, Tellico and the Little Tennessee rivers. (It should be noted that prior to a legitimate resolution in 1819, the river known today as the Little Tennessee was commonly called the “Cherakee River,” or, the “Tennassee River.”)


The English were somewhat troubled, for the Overhill Cherokee were the most warlike division of their nation. If this great tribe maintained their presence as allies of the English, they would tend to appease the Atlantic coast colonies and the French threat that became visible on the western frontier. If, for instance, the Overhills changed their minds and went over to the French side, the English would no doubt undergo some disastrous consequences. The English viewed this circumstance as divided into three concerns: the future control of North American interior, the fur trade, and certainly a guarantee that Cherokee warriors under French authority would not terrorize England’s colonies.


Contents of a letter delivered to James Glen of the colony of South Carolina from Ludovic Grant, an English trader living among the Cherokee, cautioned what would happen should the French gain favor the English regarding the Overhill Cherokees. He wrote pointing out the power and influence which the Overhill towns held within the Cherokee. “If the enemy once gets possession of the Overhill Indians, all others will quickly submit to save their lives.”


The English had problems dealing with the Cherokee on a tactful level because their tribal government did not operate reminiscent of the Europeans. Captain Raymond Demere, first commander of Fort Loudon, a stronghold constructed on the Little Tennessee River during the French and Indian War, wrote that:


“The savages are an odd Kind of People; as there is no Law nor Subjection amongst them, they can’t be compelled to do anything nor oblige them to embrace any Party except they please. The very lowest of them thinks himself as a great and as high as any of the Rest...but everyone is his own Master.”


Problems arose as how to deal with a great nation of people that did not allow their leaders any power over the individuals of that nation. Seemingly, every person was his own master. The English made an effort to merge the Cherokee regime and make it more like their own. Consequently, the English tried to persuade the tribe into choosing a single leader as their ultimate ruler and principal diplomat. 


The Conjurer of Tugalo, in 1716, was chosen to the position, but his reign eventually ran out. Other “kings” followed, with the same effect, frustrating the English to 

no end. The Cherokees simply wouldn’t participate in the white man’s rules.


The Warrior of Tannassy, during the early 1720s, was acknowledged by his own people as the primary headman of the Overhill Indian towns. With opportunities abounding, the English diplomats flattered the great Warrior. These foreign ambassadors presented themselves with an impressive manner and as a good friend of the powerful war chief. 


Trade was the Englishman’s goal. Their thoughts were that a good relationship with the Chief would influence the whole of the Cherokee Nation to their benefit, and damage any plans that the French might have for enticing the tribe into their circle. 


Chota, in the Overhill country on the Little Tennessee River, was a center of civil and religious authority; it was also known as a “Town of Refuge,” a place of asylum for the Indian criminals especially murderers. 


During the next several years diplomacy was concentrated upon the Warrior’s village, the village of Tannassy, which lay at the western foot of the Appalachians, on a horseshoe bend of the Little Tennessee River. This site has since been inundated by Lake Tellico. 

(A portion of this article was taken from the Tellico Times, Author, William Baker.)


HISTORY OF THE FIRST BAPTIST CHURCH OF JELLICO, TENNESSEE


The history of the First Baptist Church of Jellico, Tennessee, is an important account of the settlement of the town. We will begin in the year 1881 when we find a small settlement nestled in the arc made by Pine, Indian and Jellico Mountains. It was then called Smithburg, with the state line placed in the north portion of Whitley County, Kentucky. The name points out that the town basically consisted of Smiths with some Archers, Silers and Perkins residing in the settlement. 


It seems that farming was the chief occupation of the residents until the year 1881 when some stimulating events began to take place. It appears that the towns of Knoxville and Louisville had long felt the need for a relationship with one another. Reasoning for this statement was that the adjoining hills around Smithburg were loaded with giant virgin timber, with the hills abounding with coal deposits. A quick answer was the railroad. 


The deafening sound of the whistle of the locomotive, the buzz of the giant saw mill, along with the clatter and bellowing of the coal as it rushed down the newly constructed chutes into the waiting railroad cars, all to the tune of a newly developed town. 


Coal production became extremely important as it was in great demand around the world. An early operator by all accounts called it “Jellico Coal” because of its proximity to the Jellico Mountains. The small town, because of its coal production, was renamed Jellico. 


Soon, outsiders were racing to the small area of Jellico to engage in the lumber and coal business that quickly flourished. These unknown folks quickly set up stores and businesses up and down the lengthy main street. Through all this sudden development, the world of business had been busily received in the quite little settlement. Money and prosperity had now enveloped the community to no end.


The likes of Tom Smith, his brother, Josiah, Sr., hard-working Adam Siler, and Tom Mahan, still retaining the stature of community leaders, met and couldn’t quite decide what was to be done with ‘these outlanders.’ Saloons, possessed with outsider’s gambling habits, were being built on every corner. Fighting, shooting, cursing and just plain troublemakers were destroying the principles that the pioneers had fought to sustain. 


A decision was made which encompassed the building of a church, their thoughts being that a place of worship would rid the community of Smithburg of evil. Prior to this event most of the community attended church at Good Hope Meeting House, located five miles south of Smithburg, or to Boston Church House, which was located five miles to the north. Of Course, attending these churches was made possible when the streams were fordable and the road was absent of mud.


Thomas M. Smith, ordained minister of the gospel, merchant and landowner, made the future church possible by donating the land on which the facility was to be built. Those who had agreed to join the organization performed work on the new structure. Adam Siler was the overseer of the project as well as leading the choir after the finalization of the church. 


The new church house was a one-room structure, which cost $400 to build. It was sealed with weatherboard, which was painted white. The inside wall had ceilings and candles were used for light the first few years. The new church house was opened on August 24, 1884. It was simply built but filled the needs of these sincere Christians. 


The church was respectfully united into a Church of Jesus Christ. A Presbytery, composed of Jesse Lay, Moderator; R.O. Medaris, T.M. Smith, Michael Davis, and Adam Siler, Clerk, were called upon by the organization to pray and lay hands on the kneeling candidates. This act was received and  promptly pronounced a United Baptist Church. 


A list of the original 16 charter members are: William Snyder, Adam Siler, John Milton Smith, Thomas C. Mahan, Thomas M. Smith, Jesse Lay, Josiah Smith, Sr., S.A. Bryan, Susan Meadow Smith, Nancy Snyder Siler, Mary Siler, Delphia Hackler Smith, Delphia Lay, Cynthia Archer Mahan, Polly Smith, and Virginia Young - eight men and eight women. 


The first convert to Christ in the new church was J. Wesley Mahan. A few days later, Lee, his brother also converted. Both these gentlemen served the Lord in their full capacity.  


With the old church membership growing by leaps and bounds a new church was greatly needed. On September 24, 1893, a need was fulfilled when a second church building stood ready for worship. The cost of the new building had been $2,824.42 with a balance due of $1,200. Dr. W.P. Harvey of Louisville was to officiate at the dedication but the indebtedness had to be justified before he could continue. Those present finalized this matter with the amount of each gift being recorded. 


The ‘Panic of ‘93’ set in and the little church, built for the Glory of God, stood abandoned as poverty struck at most every door. However, the ladies of Jellico banded together and rallied through that dark time, and with sincere devotion they joined forces and kept a candle burning in the little church house until better times. Brother Baker resigned during this time and the church was without a pastor for about a year and a half. 


W.H. Cornelius was called as the next pastor. He came in April 1895 and stayed almost a year. He made his home on Jellico Creek. The Church gave him a good horse to allow him transportation to and from church. 


On June 23, 1895 the first collection for Foreign Missions was taken to the amount of $2.58. 


A sad occasion occurred on the evening of April 21, 1897; the Church was completely destroyed by fire. The fixtures and furniture, however, were saved, but no insurance had been secured. Children were sad because their Sunday School had been destroyed. A few days later a building committee was organized, and very quickly an effort for the preparation of a third church was underway. 


In the meantime, the Methodist brethren approached the Baptist members and asked that they use their facilities until things were finalized. The Baptists held their Sunday School and preaching services in the Methodist church house on Sunday afternoon for about three weeks, or until Deacon William Elison could arrange the hall over his store for regular church use. The Baptist members continued the use of the Methodist church for their funerals, since the Deacon’s upstairs hall was inconvenient for such gatherings. 


Dr. F.H. Kerfoot, of Atlanta, dedicated the new church building on Sunday, Dec. 3, 1899. The congregation enthusiastically accepted a brick building, complete with a separate Sunday School room and electric lights. Cost of the project was $5,000. The first marriage ceremony in the little brick church was that of Poppie Elizabeth Trammell and W.N. Proctor. It was described as: “there had never been a more beautiful one.” 


The church again outgrew itself and on May 4, 1913 a new building was dedicated by E.F. Wright of Williamsburg, Ky. Everyone, including folks from Williamsburg, drew deep down into their pockets for the offering. 


In April 1917 the country was drawn into war across the ocean. The boys of Jellico rushed to enlist and answer to conscription. Mothers and wives tried to hide their emotions as they sat alone in the church house suffering the anguish of their sons and husbands who had gone off to war. Outside the church a massive flag flowed in the breeze in remembrance of the brave. 


There is much more to this gallant story of the Jellico First Baptist Church. We should all stand in awe of our country’s freedom and the devotion of its churches to exalting God. 

INDIAN LIFE


David Zeisberger, the Moravian missionary wrote a book concerning the life, manners and customs of the Indians entitled, "A History of the Indians." The manuscript has been preserved in the Moravian archives at Bethlehem, Pa. It was written in German but has been translated into English. The publication, with the introduction, notes and index, makes a volume of 189 pages.


Zeisberger had first hand knowledge on his subject as he had spent many years in his labors with the Indians on both sides of the Alleghenies. He describes the red men - he says that their color is brown - as he saw them in their homes and in the chase, talked with them in their own language and lived among them.

Life in the Forest.


One of the most interesting features of the work is the description of the environment of the Indians, the forests before the white man's ax, rifle and plow had made the great changes in its animal and plant life. Without being a man of science the missionary describes the trees, shrubs and medicinal plants, wild fruits, berries and nuts, quadrupeds, birds, fishes and serpents of which he obtained knowledge by his own observation and from the Indians.


He saw the forests before the early settlers' cattle had eaten out the tender sprouts and young trees. Were these forest thickets of small trees and underbrush thru which a passage could be made with difficulty? Such thickets we often see today in woods, fenced in from cattle. He describes the forests with which he was most familiar as containing mainly oak trees of five varieties, but with a considerable number of other kinds, and says "they are not dense, but generally sufficiently open to allow comfortable passage on foot or horse-back."


The Indians felled trees before the introduction of the iron tomahawk by fire. They built a fire against the trunk of a standing tree and kept it burning until the tree fell, and this method the missionary found still in use among the older men and those who did not own a hatchet. Trees were felled both for firewood and for canoes. The canoes had formerly been hollowed out of a whole tree trunk by burning. Wood for fuel and for other purposes was burned into pieces of such length as to be easily carried home. They used much wood for fuel and wished their food well cooked. "When they have lived long in one place, it at last becomes troublesome to secure wood for fuel because all the wood in the neighborhood had been used. This causes them to leave the place and plan a new village for the sake of the wood and other conveniences."

    Hunting.


The bow and arrow had fallen into disuse with the tribes which traded with the whites and were used only for small game, such as the pigeon, fox and raccoon, in order to save powder. There were still, however, whole tribes to the west and northwest that used nothing but the bow and arrow and had no desire to obtain European weapons. Boys, however, were trained to shoot with the bow. The first deer a boy shot proved an occasion of great solemnity. 
The best time for hunting was in the fall when the game was fat and the hides in good condition. In September and October the men went hunting with their families, remaining away until new year or later. After new year they devoted themselves to catching the beaver, the raccoon and the fox and other fur-bearing animals. The Indians had already learned from the whites how to use the steel trap, and the beaver which had been numerous were becoming scarce. Their skins were of considerable value. They also hunted the bear. The winter hunt lasted until spring. In February and March the women made maple sugar. After planting time the summer chase began.


Deer were most sought for among the larger game, there being considerable trade in skins, and a buckskin was worth  about a dollar. The deer was killed mostly for their hides, only so much of the meat as the hunters could consume while on the chase was consumed by them. Most of the meat was left in the woods for the wild animals, the wolves especially followed the hunters, moving in the direction of the shooting.


The white man's firearms were already in general use. The Delaware Indians used no other than rifle barreled guns, but farther north muskets were more common. The Delawares had acquired some skill in repairing their gun when out of order and had learned even to furnish them with stocks. How many deer could an Indian hunter kill with his gun? The missionary says: "As an Indian shoots from 50 to 150 deer each fall, it can easily be seen that game must decrease."

Game, Large and Small.


Occasionally an elk would be shot in the region described but they do not seem to have been numerous.


The buffalo is described at length. At one time these animals appeared in great numbers un some areas but as soon as the country became inhabited by Indians they retired and were at the time of the Revolution only a few were to be seen. Zeisberger saw a yearling buffalo that had been raised by the Indians and was quite tame. 


Of smaller animals the missionary describes three kinds of squirrels, not including the ground-squirrel, viz: the black, the grey and the red. "The black are most commonly found, the grey are the largest, and the red the smallest in size. Their flesh is tender, and eaten by the Indians in case of sickness or when they are very hungry for meat."


The missionary describes over thirty different kinds of birds. Of these the largest is the crane, supposed to be the sand-hill crane, now a very rare bird. He says that when standing on its long legs and stretching its neck upwards, it is as tall as a man and its body proportionately heavy. When shot and only wounded it attacks its pursuer. He saw wild swan, white in color and quite like the domestic birds he had seen in Holland.


In the fall wild turkeys might be seen in flocks numbering hundreds. The Indians hunted their eggs and were quite fond of them.


Crows did much damage, especially in the Indians' cornfields, both when the corn was planted and when it was ripening.


The smallest bird in the region was the honey bird, (the hummingbird) which without perching on the flowers sucks the honey out of them.


It is known that the Indians in different parts of North America had, when first seen by the whites, dogs which seem to have been their only domesticated animal. These dogs were used in the chase and sometimes killed for food. The origin of this breed is unknown as it is that of the domesticated dog in every part of the world. Of the breed of dogs formerly possessed, Zeisberger says:


"Dogs they likewise possessed in former days of a kind still to be found in considerable numbers among them. These may readily be distinguished from European dogs, which are now most commonly found among the Indians, especially the Delawares. The ears of Indian dogs rise rigidly from the head and the animals have something of a wolfish nature, for they show their teeth immediately when roused. They will never attack a wolf, tho set on to do so, in this respect also differing from European dogs. Of their origin their masters can give as little information as that of the Indians themselves."


The writer also says in another place that at their war feasts they would sometimes kill a couple of dogs, not because dog's flesh was a delicacy, for the Indian dogs were very lean, but because it was thought  to  inspire them with the spirit of war and murder. He had seen women at these feasts eat dog's flesh with greediness, but he himself had always steadily but courteously refused to partake of it.

 Wesley Pitts letters 


The writer’s reasoning for inserting these letters is due directly to the vicinity in which the events take place. These correspondences are written by a Confederate soldier to his wife  “Vin” back home in Alabama. 


John Wesley Pitts was born August 5, 1836 in Dallas County, Alabama. In August 1861, he enlisted in Company "I" 18th Alabama Infantry. However, because he was involved in the state militia at the time, he was ordered back to that organization. In March 1862, he organized Company "K" 31st Alabama Infantry and served as Captain until his resignation in December 1862, due to developing a hernia (the result of a difficult march into Kentucky) preventing him from marching. 


Then in 1863, following recovery from hernia surgery, he organized Company "C" 1st Alabama Reserves (later designated 62nd Alabama Infantry) and served as Captain until he was promoted to Major. He was captured on April 12th, 1865 at the Battle of Blakeley in Mobile and sent to Ship Island prison camp where he remained until the end of the war. 

Tazwell Near Cumberland Gap 

16th Aug 1862 

My Darling Vin 


As it is thought we will commence an advance movement to-day, and as it may be some time before I get a chance to write again I have seated myself at the foot of an old oak tree to write you a few lines. We are now cooking up four days rations to go somewhere. It is thought we will go to the gap and from there to Kentucky as it is reported that the Yanks are evacuating the gap to prevent our troops from flanking them. The whole of East-Tenn is in commotion preparing for a forward movement into Kentucky. The western army has been swarming into this country for the last 10 days. We have 10 or 12,000 men at this place. It is thought that we will attack the gap in front and Gen Smith with 20 or 25,000 will cross the Cumberland Mountains at Big Creek Gap - 20 miles below here and attack them in their rear, while Bragg will advance from Chattanooga and Price from the West. If their plans can be carried out we will be in possession of the whole of Tenn and a part or the whole of Kentucky in a short time. If we start on that trip it may be some time before you will hear from me again. I will write however every chance I get and you must write me every few days. It may reach me and it would be a source of great pleasure to hear from home occasionally; and again if we get possession of the gap, it might fall to the lot of our Regiment to stay there and guard it. 


The health of my company is improving some. I will start 12 more discharged men home in afew days. It looks like I will have to discharge half of my Company. I will try and send you some money by some of them. Say to old man Wallace that it is impossible to get any flour shipped from this country as Gen Smith has issued an order preventing the shipment of any flour from the state. I will send his money back by the first one passing. 


How does the little President behave. Have you name him yet? I guess I will have to send him a Poney so that he can attend to the farm when Pa is abscent.. Did Gus Caldwell hand you you the $40.00 I sent? There has nothing new or interesting occured since my last. We have found some 10 or 12 dead yankees scattered about through the woods since I wrote and one of our men they were wounded I suppose and crawled out to the woods and died. They say the yankees did some pretty good running. 

Kiss Lula for me. My Kindest regards to all. Write to me often. 

Yours as ever 

John

Camp Near Cumberland Gap 

28th Aug 1862 

My Darling Vin 


I wrote you day before yesterday, but as Lt Wilder leaves this morning for home I thought I would drop you a few lines. Lt Wilder has resigned on account of sickness. I am very fearful I will have to do the same as I am reduced to the necessity of wearing a truss and I am afraid if I stay here I will injure myself for life. Many a man has gone home from here not half a bad off as I am, but the idea of going home and leaving my company has something about it I dont like. besides my health is so good or rather I look so healthy if I was to come home the people would say there was nothing the matter with me. So I shall stay as long as I am able to walk. 


We are still here in front of the Gap and as I write I can hear the boom of the enemy's cannon throwing shell at our forces on the other side of the mountain. They have not shelled us but very liitle today. Their attention seems to be takin up on the other side. I am in hopes they will do something soon as I am getting very tired of laying here in the woods. We may have to stay here in our present position for a month yet. We cannot find out how much provisions the enemy have left and of course they will not surrender until that is exhausted. They have been coming down after corn, but I understand from a deserter that they have a good deal to go on yet and corn was to make it hold out as long a possible - deserters are coming in all the time. 


All of the boys that are here are well. Though I have only 18. No other news of interest. Kiss the babies good bye. 

Yours John

Cumberland Gap 

4 o'clock P.M. / 9th Sept 1862 

My Darling Vin 


Since mailing the letter I wrote you this morning our Regiment has received orders to go into camp until tomorrow morning. About diner time I received yours written at Columbiana on the 13th insh, and I assure it's perusal afforded me a great deal of pleasure to know that you were well and everything moving on so smoothly. Seperated as we are it is always a great pleasure to hear from you and if I sometimes complain of your not writing as often as I could wish you must overlook and attribute it to an over anxiety to hear from you & the little ones. 


You ask me to come home. I would like very well to do so but for a healthy man like myself to resign and go home it would furnish gossip for years to come besides my company is so anxious for me to stay that it would look wrong in me to leave them as long as can possibly get along. They say that I will have to give it up and go home but as long as I can with out serious injury to myself they want me to stay. It makes me proud and mad at the same time to think they should object so strong to my leaving them. If I were a lieutenant or a private I should not hesitate one minute but apply for a discharge and go home, even if I were forced by the conscript to hire a substitute. 


Since I got me a truss I have done pretty well while I was lying around here and not walking much, but as soon as I commenced marching this week I began to get worse & have geting worse all the time, and yesterday in the march from Baptist Gap 10 miles below this. I gave completely out and had to fall back behind the Regt. If I continue to get worse I will have to give it up, as I do not care to be left behind the Regt. in such a country as Kentucky. I am only affected on one side at present but the Dr. says I may get so on the other any day. Dr Reeves says if I were at home and would take the proper care of myself I would get over it directly, but that he is afraid I will get over it in the service. I would like exceedingly if some arrangement could be made by which I could get a Company in place of the one at the Bridge, as I would then be stationery - But enough of myself. --- 


I have looking around all day at the sights in this Gap & vicinity and have not yet seen half. If I had time I could write you ten or fifteen pages. I have stood to-day in three different states at the same time - Kentucky, Tennessee & Virginia. They corner right in the Gap. It is the most magnificent view from the mountain I have ever beheld - but I have not the space to go into detail. 


Such destruction of property I never expected to see as we witnessed here - arms, ammunition, Camp & garrison equipage or a large amount of coffee and salt were burnt. Our troops saved a good deal but an immense amount was lost. They destroyed all their tents, baggage, tools, ammunition & everything they had brought here for the purpose of arming the East - Tennessee Tory's. We captured 430 of them before they could get away. They all appear very anxious to get-out-of the army. 


I will write again as soon as I get a chance. Write soon. Continue to direct your letters to Knoxville as we will have a regular mail to follow us as we advance - love to all. 

Good Bye, Yours John 

WELL SPRING SCHOOL AND UNITED METHODIST CHURCH...1993


While searching through the files at the Campbell County Historical Society in LaFollette, the writer found an interesting synopsis of the Well Spring United Methodist Church and school, dated, 1993. 


The church is located in Campbell County and lies between old Hwy. 63 and new Hwy. 63 up the Valley a piece. The Well Spring Community Center, located directly across from Hwy 63, is the site of “The Teacherage,” where teachers for the Well Spring School lived in the 1800’s and 1900’s. 


The church stands in its original site. The sanctum was remodeled to look as it did in 1893. Many of the old families still attend this church.


The Well Spring Church and School’s history is directly associated with Powell Valley since Thomas Henderson crossed the Cumberland Mountain to secure the 200,000 acres of Virginia territory from North Carolina in 1795. Within this beautiful valley he discovered three Native American tribes, one at Caryville, one at LaFollette, and one at Well Spring. 


A general belief is that the Indians in this area were Cherokee at the time white settlers came across the mountains. However, artifacts of older tribes have been found in the area. Also close to the well site are stone edges of a large pond that had to be drained for the construction of old Hwy 63.


The naming of Well Spring was derived from a spring source measuring 10 feet wide and some 70 feet deep. This well still exists on farmland owned by Clyde Claiborne who lives near the church. It has been covered to prevent injuries; it is not always filled with water. The spring source is believed to run off to Norris Lake. A rise in the lake waters does back up into the surrounding areas through the well at times. 


 The first white settlers in this area were Anglo-Saxons. Businesses such as grain mills, blacksmith shops, etc., flourished in the 1800’s in the vicinity. The most fertile of lands in Campbell County lie in Powell Valley. This beautiful valley runs from Caryville up into Virginia. It is estimated to be about 60 miles long. 


Hope Wells and Dean, his wife, were and are still possible members of the Well Spring Church. Mrs. Wells remembers when Well Spring included 2 gristmills, owned by John Miller. Also included were five mercantile stores; the largest and most central store was owned by John H. Claiborne. Another was owned by Mit McNew, one owned by Eli Wells, one by George Spangler, and still another by Bill Brown. 


The village blacksmith shop, located directly across the road from Well Spring Church, was a focal point for activity in the 1800’s. The old smith shop served as an informal meeting place for the folks traveling to and from Caryville where the farmers took their produce to be shipped to large towns such as Lexington. Sneed Smith who shoed most of the horses in the valley, repaired wagons, along with farm implements owned the old blacksmith shop. 


Local churches of the day were Miller Chapel, the Christian Church, and the Methodist Episcopal Church. The latter was held in the first Well Spring School building built on a site now covered by new Hwy. 63, located between the church and Well Spring Community Center. It seems that this building was destroyed by fire. 


The second school building was then built closer to the church. The last year recorded by the Campbell County Board of Education Minutes was 1961-62. Teachers approved by the Board that year were Emma J. Rogers (May 11, 1961), and Billy Williamson (July 27, 1961). The schoolhouse sometime later became empty and was torn down as a result of a break-in by teenagers who set fire to the second story of the building.


The Well Spring Church was operated nine months as a private school and three months as a public school. Dr. Miller McDonald, local historian, wrote that: “Later the school became a seminary and had a fine course of study that was highly regarded. With some help from the Methodist Church, and with tuition charged each pupil and some county aid, the school managed to have nine-month school years. The headmaster, or president, was required to have a college or university degree. The school was very successful, and at one time in the late 1800’s, enrolled over 125 boarding students.” The school enrolled, at least, another 125 students within the valley.


The school was phased out due to the build up of public schools. First the 11th and 12th grade students transferred to the public high school. At its height the school was reportedly teaching through the grade level of a junior college. Many of its students, Judge Jesse Rogers for example, went into 3rd year level college from Well Spring.  


The church was built in 1893 on a lot donated by John Hogan Claiborne with Albert Miller beginning the construction. However, the prepared lumber donated for the church by Alfred Dossett was destroyed by fire. Undisturbed by this tragedy, the church members donated money for new lumber and finished the project. The church’s first pastor was Hargis Oaks. Its motto is “Where Everybody is Somebody and Jesus is Lord.”


The Working Man in Tennessee


The Tennessee working man is free spirited, carrying over into his new industrial surroundings the qualities of the small farmer and tenant. His employer tends to think and act in terms of land ownership. In general, the relationship between employed and employer rests on a man-to-man footing, in the old tradition of farmers’ lands. This one fact must be dealt with which would lead into any discussion of the Tennessee working man, his past, present, and future. 


Until at least 1820 the Tennessean lived in a frontier region. Of his 422,000 neighbor Tennesseans, one-fifth were Negro slaves. The largest city, Nashville, had but 3,000 persons and throughout the State only 7,680 devoted themselves to manufacturing, mostly of locally utilized necessities. From the mountain coves of East Tennessee to the Mississippi bottomlands, the remainder of the working men - roughly 100,000 - were engaged in farming. 


Great plantations, worked by slave gangs were based on a cotton economy and were slow in obtaining a grip in Tennessee. Only the bottomlands of West Tennessee were ideally suited to the plantation, but even here the people were too typically backward in character to fall sincerely into the system. The Tennesseans of pre-Civil War days were inclined to continue the small farming practices of his pioneer fathers. The census of 1850 showed 118,941 farmers, none of whom were classified as planters. In great contrast are the census figures of South Carolina for the same year: 8,407 planters, as against 32,898 farmers. 


In the mountains of East Tennessee, frontier conditions were slack; few slaves were owned and the farmer found it necessary to do all tasks about his farm with only such help as his family could give. And as for most of the necessities, he became accustomed to the "make it yourself or do without" situation.


Craftsmen were of such importance in early Tennessee towns that they are estimated to have constituted at least 10 per cent of the population. But two factors were at work to destroy the prominent craftsman class. As a rule, the artisan who had come into the State worked at his craft only long enough to buy land. It seemed that the apprenticeship program was failing rapidly in this new country. Newspapers of the time carried many advertisements offering rewards for the capture of runaway apprentices. But few were returned to their masters; the displeasure of the people was against it. 


In Middle and West Tennessee Negro slaves began to assume increasing importance. As early as 1808 Montgomery Bell, of Nashville, advertised for "ten Negro fellows" to man his iron works on the Harpeth River. Even earlier a few slaves were employed in crude mining operations in East Tennessee. Nashville and many smaller towns kept Negroes for civic repair and forager work. With the coming of the steamboat and railroad, large numbers of company-owned Negroes furnished the unskilled labor. Very soon Negroes began filtering into the artisan class as well. So many white craftsmen had become landowners that by 1802 "when General James Winchester built his stone house, Cragfont... near Gallatin... he had to import working men from Baltimore to do the interior finishing." Most of the ant-bellum homes, churches, and public buildings were the work of slave artisans and laborers. The slaves were successor to brick making and brick laying, carpentry, blacksmithing, and metal working. Primarily, however, they were agricultural workers or domestic servants. 


The white farm hand at that time could draw $8.67 per month with board. A day laborer got 58 cents per day, 43 cents if he boarded in. Carpenters readily received $1.38 per day, and female domestics, of whom there were few, $1.00 per week. Behind all these was the threat that the work they did could be equally well done by the slaves, who could be hired from their masters or owned at two-thirds the cost of white labor. 


Reconstruction for the South meant a readjustment for the Tennessee working man. Faced with uncultivated fields and run-down industries, a second pioneer period was inevitable.  


Many of the freed Negroes migrated to the cities in search of work, or to the North. They made places for themselves in a few industries - mining, iron - and steelwork, the railroads; and in service and trades - as domestic servants, laundresses, and porters. However, they returned to the soil as hands or "croppers" and later as tenants. 


The small white farmer rented land, if his own had been lost, and began life again in the only manner he knew. Money was scarce; capital was in the North. The landowner needed a cash crop to meet his obligations, but the tenant, Negro or white, saw little cash from one year's end to another. His family of from six to ten persons, lived in a dilapidated shanty, and worked from dawn to dusk. His debt was to the commissary, which in turn was in debt to the wholesaler. The owner himself could buy in no way but on credit. The result was a vicious circle from which it was difficult for either the tenant or the landowner to escape. This condition grew in West Tennessee and to a lesser degree in the middle counties. Tenant-operated farms constituted 30 per cent of those within the State by 1890 and had increased to 40 per cent in 1900. 


By 1900 the same primary forces were at work in East Tennessee. Mills, factories, and mines attracted small farmers from long-gone mountain farmsteads. Although the pay was low and conditions deplorable in light of the present day, the worker at least did not face extended starvation for himself and his family. 

TENNESSEE AND ITS THREE DIVISIONS


 The official state flag of Tennessee was adopted on April 17, 1905. LeRoy Reeves of the Third Regiment of the Tennessee Infantry designed this flag. The three white stars in the center symbolize the three different geographical regions or an hour’s conservation of Tennessee: the Great Smoky Mountains (in eastern Tennessee), the highlands (in central Tennessee) and the lowlands (in western Tennessee, by the Mississippi River). The white circle binds them together. The blue stripe along the margin was added for when the flag is hanging with the stripe, not only the red shows while the flag is hanging.


Tennesseans lives are deliberate, they being unhurried. They all occasionally complain about the weather, crops, bad business and politics, but beneath all this they have an immense feeling of security. The farmer will leave his plowing, the lawyer his lawsuit, the business man his accounts, all for a moment’s or an hour’s conservation with a stranger or friend.



Accumulated in the Volunteer State is a strong sense of family, kin and clan. Blood relationships stand out as the greatest single connection between these hardy people. These relationships surely influence county and local politics and business affairs. When a local politician announces his intention to run for office all his kinfolk start electioneering for him. No one stands in the way of a family relationship.



Tennessee is an agricultural State with the culture of its people growing out of their struggle with the earth. And still the urban areas are dominated by the traditions of farm life. 


East, Middle, and West Tennessee are the three geographic divisions that lend to the state its belief of three separate states. The residents of the State are alike in their heritage and in general attitude, but there are conspicuous differences in the sections as to manners and customs. These differences range from the people of the Appalachian Mountain regions to those of the Mississippi Delta. 

.
Between the North Carolina line and the Cumberland Plateau is East Tennessee, an upland region whose high mountains, thickly wooded foothills, broken knob country, and narrow valleys have made it, until recent years, the most shut-in section of the State. In this section are the misty walls of the Great Smokies, the slender ridges of the Unakas and the Clinch Mountains. Within this portion of the Tennessee Valley lies Norris Dam, one of the chief components of the Tennessee Valley Authority’s vast projects. 


This region is the home of the mountain folk, descendants of British, Huguenot, and Pennsylvania. These pioneers built their log cabins deep among the ridges. These rugged people, for many years, were content to live their lives, as did the first white men. 
Throughout Tennessee, for many years, the cabins of old frontier days, with their little porthole-like windows, stood as a symbol to the rugged mountaineers and pioneer who first traversed this beautiful State. In times past, in East Tennessee, the ancient gristmills would rumble their song and call out to the rugged mountain boys to hop onto their mules and take the corn to be ground into meal. Simple pleasures such as quilting and husking parties, fiddling, singing, and dancing all came under the handle of pioneer life.


The long and meandering Tennessee River borders middle Tennessee. This beautiful country contains a gentle rolling bluegrass heritage. It is well known for its fine livestock blooded horses and mules and its tobacco crops. It is geographically the heart of the State, rich in tradition and history. Customarily, hardly a day goes by that the old timers don’t discuss the past and traditions of the Old South. The great Indian mounds of the Harpeth and Cumberland rivers are links with a more distant past. 


Descendants of the State proudly cling to their traditions. Nashville, capital of the State, was in 1780 the scene of the drafting of the Cumberland Compact, whereby 256 pioneers set up an independent government. Places of importance in Middle Tennessee are the Hermitage, home of Andrew Jackson, the town of Smyrna, birthplace of Sam Davis, hero of the American Civil War. Sixty miles south of Nashville, was where the Ku Klux was formed in 1865.


Located between the Tennessee River and Mississippi is West Tennessee. These lands once belonged to the Chickasaw Indian tribe. This area, with its rugged hills, rich valleys, and deep black bottoms, was the last frontier of Tennessee. The farms have become mostly small parcels of land and are certainly not rivals of the cotton and corn crops. The bottoms are sometimes at the mercy of floodwaters. In this section a great deal of the free-and-easy spirit of the frontier remains. Cotton once dominated its economy, which in turn allowed West Tennessee to have the largest African-American population in the State.


Memphis is located on the Mississippi River near the Arkansas boundary line; it is the metropolis of the division. It has the atmosphere of the broad-based West. 

BIOGRAPHIES OF CAMPBELL COUNTY TENNESSEE


The following biographies were taken from “Goodspeed’s History of Campbell County,“ dated ‘1887.’


A. D. Woodson was born in Lee County, Va., November 13, 1846, and is the son of William and Annie (Pebly) Woodson. The father was born in Russell County, Va., in 1801, and was the son of John Woodson, a native of Virginia. The latter was a soldier of the Revolutionary war, and was quite prominent in his day. He removed to Claiborne County, Tenn., where he followed farming, and died after a long and useful life. 


William, the father of our subject, removed to Campbell County early in life, and farmed in Powell's Valley for a number of years, and then returned to Lee County, Va., where he followed farming until his death in 1884. The mother was born in Campbell County, Tenn., in 1811, and died in 1884. Both were members of the Baptist Church, and were religious, plain people, respected and esteemed by all who knew them. 


Our subject was reared on the farm, and attended school at Fincastle, Clinton, and Tazewell, securing a good practical education. He has followed farming as an occupation, and has made a decided success of the farm in Powell's Valley, embracing about 600 acres. He is a liberal-minded and progressive citizen, and has always been a warm friend and advocate of education is better than riches. He stands high in the estimation of his fellowmen, and, though frequently solicited to seek public office, has always declined to do so, preferring the quiet life of a farmer. He was married on March 12, 1867, to Mossie Kincaid, who was born in Campbell County, Tenn., in 1851, and is the daughter of the late Col. John Kincaid, one of the most prominent citizens of the county. To this union eight children have been born, one of whom is dead, having met his death accidentally while hunting. Both our subject and wife are members of the Methodist Episcopal Church South.

J. H. Agee M. D., is one of the prominent citizens of Jacksboro, Tenn., and was born in Campbell County, February 14, 1827, and is the son of James and Elizabeth (Tudor) Agee. The father was a native of Virginia and was born in 1789. He served in the war of 1812 under Gen. Cocke and his widow received a land warrant in recognition of his services in that war. He was the son of Isaac Agee one of the pioneers of Tennessee. His mother was born in Virginia, in 1792, the daughter of Harris Tudor. The father died in 1844, and the mother in 1865. Both were members of the Baptist Church. Our subject was reared on the farm, and acquired his education in the neighboring schools and in Union County, finishing his education at Clinton. He began life at the age of sixteen years, working on the farm. He followed farming as a vocation, reading medicine at the same time, up to the breaking out of the late Rebellion. He began practicing medicine in about 1853. At the breaking out of the war, he removed his family to Pike County, Ind., where he farmed and taught school until January, 1865, joining Company I, One Hundred and Forty Third Regiment of Indiana Infantry, of which he was orderly sergeant, and served guard duty on the Nashville, Chattanooga & St. Louis Railway, and at Fort Donelson, Tenn. At the close of the war he returned to his home in Indiana, and in the latter part of 1865 returned to Campbell County, Tenn., where he followed farming until 1867. He entered politics in 1867; became the Republican candidate for the Legislature to represent Campbell County, and was elected. He was re-elected in 1869, serving through the years of 1867-70. He then retired from office, but continued in active politics. In 1880 he was elected to represent the counties of Campbell, Scott and Union in the Legislature, and in 1881 was elected to represent the counties of Campbell, Claiborne, Grainger, Scott and Union in the State Senate. At the close of his term in the Senate he was appointed to the office of clerk and master of the chancery court of Campbell County, which position he holds at the present. His official life has been characterized by ability, integrity and justice, and gave satisfaction to the public in general. He has, to a great extent, retired from the practice of medicine. He is a member of Milton L. Phillips Post, G. A. R. He was married November 22, 1848, to Mary Comer who was born in Campbell County, Tenn. To this union eleven children have been born, ten of whom are living. Both parents and two daughters are members of the Missionary Baptist Church. 

BIOGRAPHIES OF CAMPBELL COUNTY TENNESSEE


The following biographies were taken from “Goodspeed’s History of Campbell County,“ dated ‘1887.

   Capt. A. Myers is a native of Campbell County, Tenn., born April 30, 1837, and is the son of Isaac and Margaret (Lindsay) Myers. The father was born in Grainger County, Tenn., in 1801, and is the son of John Myers a native of Virginia. The father removed to Campbell County when about twenty-two years of age, where he began farming, and has continued up to the present, and now lives in the Fifth Civil District. The mother was born in Carter County, Tenn., and is the daughter of William Lindsay and a sister to Jonathan Lindsay of Campbell County. She is a member of the Missionary Baptist Church. Our subject was reared on the farm of his parents, and attended school at Big Creek and Fincastle. He worked on the farm until the breaking out of the late war. In 1862, fired by patriotism and loyalty, he organized a company of soldiers, of which he was elected captain, and, March 10, 1862, he enlisted in the Federal Army. His company was assigned a position as Company F, in the Sixth Regiment of Federal Tennessee Infantry. He served throughout the war, and was in the battles of Murfreesboro, Chattanooga, Strawberry Plains, Resaca, Lookout Mountain, Pumpkin Vine, Stone River, and was in thirty-three heavy engagements in the Georgia campaign, during part of which time he commanded a regiment, and distinguished himself for ability and bravery. He was but slightly wounded, and never captured, meeting with almost phenomenal success. From the Georgia campaign he returned with his command to Tennessee, and on December 15 and 16, 1864, was in the battle of Nashville. From that place he went to Washington, and at Alexandria, Va., embarked on the iron clad "Matansus," and conveyed to Wilmington, N. C., the trip occupying four days and nights. He was in the successful engagement at that place, and was then sent back to Nashville, where, March 24, 1865, he was mustered out and honorably discharged from the service. He returned to farm in Campbell County after the war, and in 1867 was elected revenue collector for Campbell County, with no opposition, and was re-elected in 1869, this time against opposition, which he overcame by a majority of twelve to one. Retiring from the office in 1871, he resumed his farming, and has since followed agricultural pursuits. He is Post Commander of Meador Post, No. 19, G. A. R., of Fincastle, and always attends the district encampments. He was married November 22, 1867, to Nannie E. Cross who was born in Anderson County, Tenn., in about 1849, and was the daughter of John and Elizabeth Cross both deceased. To this union seven children were born, five of whom are living. The wife was a Christian and worthy lady, a devoted wife and fond mother, and died June 16, 1883, being a member of the Missionary Baptist Church at the time of her death. In 1885 he married Ollie Irwin who was born in Campbell County in about 1858, and was the daughter of James P. Irwin of Campbell County. She was a member of the Methodist Episcopal Church, and died March 10, 1886. Our subject is a member of the Missionary Baptist Church.

   A. T. Newman, M. D. The subject of this sketch is a practicing physician at Newcomb, Campbell Co., Tenn., and was born at Dandridge, Jefferson Co., Tenn., March 30, 1854. He is the son of W. H. Newman and Malinda Aley. The father was a native of South Carolina, and was of Scotch descent. The mother was a native of Tennessee, and was of German parentage. Our subject was reared on the farm, and received a high school education at Dandridge, and up to the age of sixteen he was on the farm with his father. Somewhat later he, at the age of eighteen, engaged in the mercantile business at Dandridge, and followed it up to 1880, when he suspended merchandising and began the study of medicine at Dandridge, under the instructions of Dr. J. C. Cawood. In 1882 he entered the Jefferson Medical College, at Philadelphia, graduated in 1883, and went back to his native town, where he practiced for a short time, and later located at Newcomb, his present location. Here he has established a large practice, and is the physician and surgeon for the Standard Coal Company. September 8, 1886, he married Miss Anna Pearnil Little, daughter of Rev. J. B. Little, of Well Spring. Mr. Newman has never had the advantages that wealth can give, and has had many obstacles to contend with. He has been successful in business, and is a self-made man. He is a member of the I. O. O. F., and is a well respect citizen. 

    J. Henderson Reid, of Jacksboro, Tenn., is a native of Botetourt County, Va., born September 21, 1853, and is the son of Andrew and Eliza (Reid) Reid. The father was born in Rockbridge County, Va., in 1799, and was the son of Pennsylvanian parents. He was a farmer, and died in 1882. The mother was born in Botetourt County, Va., in 1808, and was the daughter of Jacob Reid, a native of Bedford County, Va.; she died in 1885. She was a member of the Methodist Church, while the father leaned to the faith of the Presbyterians. Our subject was reared on the farm of his parents in Virginia, and acquired his early education in the neighboring schools. Later he attended the Presbyterian and Olin Institute at Blacksburgh, Va., and finished his education at King's College, Bristol, Tenn. He began reading law at Bristol in 1874, and was admitted to the bar and licensed, in 1875, by Judges E. E. Gillenwaters and Hamilton C. Smith. He then spent a year in the West, and in August 1876, located in Jacksboro, Tenn., and began the practice of his profession, and has resided here up to the present, having built up a splendid practice and a fine professional name. He was married in 1878 to Mary J. Lindsay. Who was born in 1854, and is a daughter of J. S. Lindsay, one of the prominent citizens of Campbell County, Tenn. To this union three children have been born. Our subject is a member of Jacksboro Lodge No. 322, F. & A M., and his wife is a member of the Baptist Church.

BIOGRAPHIES OF CAMPBELL COUNTY TENNESSEE


The following biographies were taken from “Goodspeed’s History of Campbell County,“ dated ‘1887.


T. H. Rhodeheaver, was born at Morgansville, Va., January 7, 1841, the son of George and Lurena (Jenkins) Rhodeheaver, the former a native of Virginia, and both of German stock. Our subject grew up amid the scenes of rural home and school life, and was hardly of age, when he enlisted in Company H, Third Virginia Infantry, and served for a time as a non- commissioned officer. Among the severe actions in which he was engaged were Cedar Mountain, on the Rappahanock and the second Manassas, where he received a wound in the right leg. He was engaged in the oil trade in his native State for two years after the war, and in 1865 went to Ohio and married Fannie C. Armstrong, a native of W. Virginia. Their children are Isaiah (deceased), Yumbert P., Joseph N. and Homer. He then engaged in farming and stock raising in Ohio, and since 1879 has been in the lumber business. In 1882 he went to Scott County, Tenn., and since 1883 has been in Newcomb, Campbell County, where he is dealing in all kinds of lumber, and operating, saw and plaining mill, beside being engaged in merchandising. He now controls considerable capital, all gained from a beginning of nothing at all. He is a zealous Methodist, and a genial, respected man.

    Dr. William B. Russell, was born in Lee County, Va., February 22, 1831, the son of Alexander and Sallie (Hardy) Russell. The father, born in Virginia, December 25, 1800, came to Tennessee in 1846 and settled in Union County. He was a farmer, and died in 1864. The mother, born in Virginia in 1802, died in 1876, a member of the Presbyterian Church, while the father was a Methodist. Our subject grew up on the farm, and attended Walnut Grove Academy, Knox County, and in 1857 began the study of medicine under Dr. C. D. Russell, of Union County, and in 1869 began practice in Union County. He has been practicing in Jacksboro since 1874, and with the best of success professionally and financially. In 1872 Sarah A. Goforth, a native of Claiborne County, born in 1846, became his wife. Two children have been born to them. She is a Methodist. In 1857 he visited Kansas and Nebraska, and in 1862 again made a western tour. He has attended over 800 births during his practice. 

    W. H. Smith, farmer, was born near Cumberland Gap, Claiborne County, February 6, 1825, the son of Jordan and Eliza P. (Wheeler) Smith. Robert, the grandfather, was a native of North Carolina, and came to Tennessee before 1800, and settled near the Claiborne and Campbell County Line, when Powell's Valley was a cane-brake. Jordan was born in North Carolina in 1797, and was a practical and extensive farmer and land owner. During the late war he sold a portion of fine Powell's Valley land, near Jacksboro, for Confederate money, which of course, was worthless. He served in the Indian removal from the Hiwassee Purchase, under Gen. Nathaniel Smith, but did not serve in any wars. He died February 25, 1881, mourned by all who knew him. The mother, a daughter of Thomas Wheeler, a prominent citizen of this county, was born in 1807, below Jacksboro, and died January 13, 1887, a woman of unusual excellence, and a member of the Methodist Episcopal Church. Our subject was educated chiefly at Jacksboro, where he attended in the fall and winter; and although he has been engaged in other duties he has been successful in his career as a farmer, declining all solicitations for office. Among the many trusts he has held is the administratorship of the estate of the late John Kincaid. He is a stockholder of the Powell Valley High School, at Fincastle, and has also been director for several years. October 25, 1849, he married Elizabeth, a daughter of John Kincaid, and born at the homestead April 4, 1831. Their three children were Lossie A., born July 28, 1850, died June 26, 1884; Florence, born January 19, 1855, and William W., born February 20, 1861. Our subject and wife are Methodists, of the Southern Branch.

     Rev. T. M. Smith, farmer and merchant, and minister, was born in Whitley County, Ky., November 22, 1827, the son of James and Nancy (Meadows) Smith, the former born in that county March 16, 1805; the latter, a native of Kentucky, died at the age of seventy-five. The father was a farmer and stock dealer, and came to Campbell County about 1858. He was an able business man, and acquired great wealth, and died September 10, 1882, a member of the Baptist Church, and a man of such genial nature that he left many friends to mourn his loss. He had seven sons and three daughters. Our subject, the third child, has farmed and dealt in stock much of his life, and for several years has been a successful merchant at Jellico. He owns about $15,000 in real estate in this county and in Kentucky. February 16, 1848, Charlotte, a daughter of Stephen Candell, became his wife. She was born in Georgia, December 21, 1829, and died August 6, 1862. She had six sons and three daughters, and but one son deceased. On January 16, 1863, he married Delphia, a daughter of Aaron Hackler, of Campbell County, where she was born in 1834. They have four sons and four daughters. Our subject was three months in Burnside's Brigade, in the late war. A zealous Baptist from a very early age, our subject was ordained in November, 1867, as a minister, in which capacity he has married about a thousand couples. He has also been a justice, and is a success as a business man.

BIOGRAPHIES OF CAMPBELL COUNTY TENNESSEE


The following biographies were taken from “Goodspeed’s History of Campbell County,“ dated ‘1887.


Jesse Baird farmer, was born in Whitley County, Ky., November 24, 1826, the son of Lewis M. and Elizabeth (Woosley) Baird. The father, a native of North Carolina, was of Irish origin, and left fatherless when a child. He was born August 22, 1795, and farmed nearly all his life, coming to Kentucky soon after his father's death. In 1862 the Confederate soldiers took him from his home, in Tennessee, and tried, in vain, to make him take the oath of allegiance, and consequently imprisoned him, and he died in a North Carolina prison, in May, 1864. The mother of our subject was a Virginian, born of English parents December 28, 1797. She bore eleven sons and three daughters. Our subject, the sixth child, was reared on a farm in Kentucky, and since twelve years of age has been in Campbell County, Tenn. His country school education enabled him to teach, when of age, for two terms, and then after some employment in a distillery, he began his career as a farmer, in Campbell County, on his present homestead, in Elk Valley. In 1853 he married Louisa a daughter of John Smith. She was born in Whitley County, Ky,, (sic) November 9, 1836. Nine sons and four daughters have been born to them, but one of the former deceased. Our subject has been successful in life, and is a member of the United Baptist Church. 


S. C. Baird county clerk, was born November 16, 1841, in Campbell County, the son of William and Nancy (Barron) Baird; the former born in Whitley County, Ky. October 19, 1819, and deceased in April, 1886. He was a farmer, and Lewis his father, was a native of North Carolina. The mother, born in 1821, in Campbell County, was the daughter of Joseph Barron a Virginian, who removed to Tennessee, and finally to Texas. She died in December, 1861. Both parents are Baptists,(sic) Our subject grew up with country school advantages, and when nineteen years of age went to Williamsburg, Ky., where, August 2, 1861, he joined Company A, First Tennessee Infantry (Federal), and served with that regiment, until mustered out at Nashville, September 29, 1864. For two or three years he farmed, and in March, 1868, he became trustee of Campbell County, and in 1870 was re-elected. He then farmed, at the expiration of that term, and dealt in stock until 1878, since which time he has held his present office with characteristic efficiency. He is a member of the G. A. R., Milton L. Phillips Post, No. 27, of which he is Senior Vice-Commander. December 17, 1865, Sarah Bowman became his wife. She was born January 9, 1844, in Campbell County, the daughter of Elias Bowman. They had six children: Synthia E., Winston, Calaway, H. Maynard, Annie J. and Jimmie N. 


Alfred Dossett was born in Campbell County January 18, 1813, and is the son of Robert and Elizabeth (Willoughby) Dossett. The father was born in North Carolina in 1787, and was the son of William Dossett a native of North Carolina, who immigrated to Tennessee in 1804, and settled in Powell's Valley, Campbell County, at a time when the Indians were in full force. At that time the county was a vast cane brake and forest, and the life of the hardy pioneers was full of trials and tribulations. Robert the father, followed in the footsteps of his sire, and was a farmer. He served in the war of 1812, under Gen. Jackson. He was an honest upright citizen, a member of the Methodist Episcopal Church, and was highly esteemed and respected by his neighbors. He died May 12, 1879, in his one hundred and first year. The mother was the daughter of John Willoughby of Campbell County. She was a pious Christian lady, and died June 19, 1836. Our subject was reared on the farm, and acquired his education in the neighboring schools. His education was limited, as the schools of his boyhood were poor, and the opportunities for attending them very poor. He has a good practical education. He was chosen lieutenant of a company organized for the Florida war in 1836, and also of a company organized for the war with Mexico in 1847, neither of which was accepted. He has made a success of life. He was elected justice of the peace in 1882, and holds that office at present. He was united in marriage, February 1, 1838, to Julia A. W. Elliot who was born April 10, 1819. To this union ten children were born, eight of whom are living. The wife was a member of the Methodist Episcopal Church, and died May 1, 1867. He was married a second time, July 2, 1878, to Martha J. Smith who was born in Campbell County, September 13, 1835, and died March 18, 1875. He was again married, November 17, 1878 to Rhoda Bowls nee Kitchen. Our subject and wife are members of the Methodist Episcopal Church. 
BIOGRAPHIES OF CAMPBELL COUNTY TENNESSEE


The following biographies were taken from “Goodspeed’s History of Campbell County,“ dated ‘1887.

    William Allen circuit clerk, was born in New York January 13, 1844, entered the Federal Army, and served in the scouting force of the Department of the Ohio until the close of the war. He was captured several times, held as prisoner, and also slightly wounded. He then followed farming a year or more in this county, and since April, 1868, has held his present office by re-election, and excellent indication of his fitness for the position. He is now commander of Milton L. Phillips Post, No. 27, G. A. R., of which he became a member since December 23, 1884.

    James F. Archer a farmer in the Tenth Civil District, of Campbell County, Tenn., and a native of this county, was born April 24, 1847. He is the son of James and Nancy (Stanfill) Archer. The father and the mother were both natives of Kentucky. The father was a farmer and merchant, and one of the well respected citizens of Campbell County. He died at the age of fifty-two years, in July of 1862. The mother was the mother of a family of four sons and nine daughters; of these children there live twelve. Our subject is the second son, was reared on the farm, and has devoted most of his life to farming. He commenced the occupation for himself at marriage, which time was 1869. He was united in marriage with Jane Perkins daughter of William Perkins of Campbell County. Five sons and four daughters have blessed the marriage. Mr. Archer had been a successful business man and farmer. He now owns and cultivates a farm of 250 acres, and is a well respected citizen. In 1885 he was appointed postmaster for Jellico, Campbell County, and had managed the office skillfully. He is engaged in merchandising in Jellico, and is a member of the Baptist Church. 

    Lewis Bowman trustee of Campbell County, and a farmer, was born in that county January 16, 1855, the son of Elias and Nancy (Douglass) Bowman. The father was born in Virginia, in August, 1814, the son of Sherrod Bowman who was killed Elias was a child. He came to Tennessee about 1824, and settled in Union and afterward in Campbell County, where he has farmed up to the present time, and for some time served as deputy sheriff. The mother was born in the county in 1812, the daughter of William Douglass a native of Tennessee. She was a member of the Baptist Church, and died March 9, 1877. Our subject was educated in the Jacksboro schools, and afterward taught about ten years, devoting his vacations to clerking. He was elected trustee of Campbell County August 5, 1886, and is the youngest of the county officials, and one of the most efficient. December 15, 1878, Martha Smith became his wife. She was born in Campbell County, December 11, 1858, and died September 26, 1879. They had an infant, Martha deceased March 25, 1880. February 22, 1883, he married Susie Stanfill born in Campbell County July 25, 1865. She is a member of the Baptist Church. He mother died when she was three years old. Elias Bowman is now and has been a citizen of Campbell County since about 1830. He has been partly blind for six years, caused be detached retina of the eye. Mr. and Mrs. Bowman have two children. 

    G. W. Crawford was born in Carroll County, Ohio, January 26, 1858, and is the son of Nicolas and Catharine (Marshall) Crawford. The father is a native of Ohio, and is now a resident farmer of Columbiana County, Ohio. The mother is also a native of Carroll County, Ohio, and of German descent. Our subject was reared and worked on the farm until twenty-one years of age. He was educated in the common schools of his native county, and attended for two terms the Augusta Normal School. When he reached his majority he went to Indiana, and remained for a short time, when he returned to his parental home and here remained for less than one year; then went to Indiana a second time, in which State he was united in marriage with Miss Zaidee Shutts September 5, 1880, at Noblesville. In 1881 he returned to Ohio, and there remained about one year, working in the machine shops of the Buckeye & Sharps Engine Manufacturing Company. Again he went to Indiana, and here was born to him, November 28, 1882, Elsie May who died July 20, 1883. At the death of this child our subject and wife removed to Elk Valley, Tenn., where he remained about one year, engineering, and then returned to Noblesville, Ind., engaging in farming for one season; then finally came to Tennessee, where he has been ever since. He is now engaged in the hotel and livery business at Careyville, Campbell Co., Tenn. August 28, 1886, was born his second child, Goldie Newman. Our subject is an enterprising young man, and has a bright prospect before him. He is an ardent worker in the Republican party. 

BIOGRAPHIES OF CAMPBELL COUNTY TENNESSEE


The following biographies were taken from “Goodspeed’s History of Campbell County,“ dated ‘1887.

    John Jones, M. D. probably the oldest physician in East Tennessee, was born in Wilkesboro, N. C., August 9, 1803, the son of Thomas Jones a poor but honest man, who was unable to give his children the school advantages then destined only for those with larger purses. A short time after our subject's birth his father came to what is now Unicoi County, Tenn., then Carter County, and to Greasey Cove, but about his tenth year his father returned to Buncombe (now Yancy) County, N. C. Four years later, however, they returned to Greasy Cove, and there remained until after our subject had married and moved to Embreeville. In 1822 our subject's residence burned, and in it perished a six year old sister of his wife, and a young man -- William Wood. Then until about 1825 he worked for Mark Reaves & Sons, at his trade of iron maker, and then went to Roane Creek, Carter (now Johnson) County. Since 1827 he has lived in Campbell County. In 1850-52 he studied medicine, and for twenty years followed its practice in Campbell County. In the year 1861 he was elected as a Union delegate to represent the counties of Campbell and Anderson in a constitutional convention, but as the convention was voted down by the people, he could not serve, In 1868 he became county clerk, and continued so for ten years, and for six years served as justice, making such an excellent record that there was never an appeal from his decisions. Elizabeth a daughter of Benjamin Mosly of Virginia, was his faithful wife for thirty years, who died in 1851, and of their four daughters and two sons, all have died. Some of the daughter's children are now living in Campbell County. Although Dr. Jones has long been retired from active practice, no physician is more widely and favorably known in his region, both for his excellencies as a man and a doctor, and though his advantages were limited, he has, since he learned to read in his tenth year, been a close and faithful student, so that he is now not only one of the leaders in his profession, but in general culture has reached broad ground, and his experience has led him to be one of the most earnest and aggressive champions of popular education supported by public funds. He is an advocate and friend of active progressive Christianity, and in his personal relations he is a rare man, kind and generous to the weak and erring, yet ever point them to the pure and noble. His long and useful life is now nearing its end, to leave a record of well done when it is closed. He has published a valuable professional book, "The Midwife," which has a very high standing, and embodies his professional view and learning. 

    J. S. Lindsay one of the oldest citizens and most extensive farmers of the Fourth District, was born in Carter County, September 28, 1823, the son of William Lindsay a native of Virginia, and who was born July 4, 1762, a son of Matthew Lindsay of Scotland. April 12, 1824, William removed to Campbell County, and engaged in farming and building iron forges, of which he erected fourteen during his life. He was a major of militia in the early days, and died in 1848, a highly respected man. The mother, Mary a daughter of Cornelius and Nancy (Hall) Storm was born in 1772, in Virginia. Her parents came to Carter County at an early day, and afterward moved to Kentucky. They both lived to be over ninety-five years of age. The mother died in 1863, a member of the Baptist Church. Our subject was educated, chiefly, in the Jacksboro schools, and for several years after leaving school he worked at his father's trade, and rebuilt Lindsay Forge. He also built a forge for Laban Sharp, at Big Creek Gap. After his marriage he began his present career as a farmer, in which has so well succeeded. In 1851 he became a justice, and, in a new district formed, was re-elected. Since 1852 he has been a trustee of Jacksboro Academy, and in 1870 he became clerk and master of chancery, and held the office twelve years. In 1884 he was elected justice, without an effort on his part, and his official, as well as his private life, has been marked by the highest characteristics. October 3, 1850, he married Catherine Keeney born in Anderson County, April 12, 1827, the daughter of Michael Keeney. Eight of their twelve children are living. Both our subject and his wife are members of the Missionary Baptist Church. He has served on the building committee of the academy, jail and courthouse, of which latter he was superintendent. He owns a farm of 500 acres. In 1863 he was ordained, and now is, pastor of the Jacksboro Baptist Church, and has also filled the office of deacon for many years. 

BIOGRAPHIES OF CAMPBELL COUNTY TENNESSEE


The following biographies were taken from “Goodspeed’s History of Campbell County,“ dated ‘1887.


T. H. Rhodeheaver, was born at Morgansville, Va., January 7, 1841, the son of George and Lurena (Jenkins) Rhodeheaver, the former a native of Virginia, and both of German stock. Our subject grew up amid the scenes of rural home and school life, and was hardly of age, when he enlisted in Company H, Third Virginia Infantry, and served for a time as a non- commissioned officer. Among the severe actions in which he was engaged were Cedar Mountain, on the Rappahanock and the second Manassas, where he received a wound in the right leg. He was engaged in the oil trade in his native State for two years after the war, and in 1865 went to Ohio and married Fannie C. Armstrong, a native of W. Virginia. Their children are Isaiah (deceased), Yumbert P., Joseph N. and Homer. He then engaged in farming and stock raising in Ohio, and since 1879 has been in the lumber business. In 1882 he went to Scott County, Tenn., and since 1883 has been in Newcomb, Campbell County, where he is dealing in all kinds of lumber, and operating, saw and plaining mill, beside being engaged in merchandising. He now controls considerable capital, all gained from a beginning of nothing at all. He is a zealous Methodist, and a genial, respected man.

    Dr. William B. Russell, was born in Lee County, Va., February 22, 1831, the son of Alexander and Sallie (Hardy) Russell. The father, born in Virginia, December 25, 1800, came to Tennessee in 1846 and settled in Union County. He was a farmer, and died in 1864. The mother, born in Virginia in 1802, died in 1876, a member of the Presbyterian Church, while the father was a Methodist. Our subject grew up on the farm, and attended Walnut Grove Academy, Knox County, and in 1857 began the study of medicine under Dr. C. D. Russell, of Union County, and in 1869 began practice in Union County. He has been practicing in Jacksboro since 1874, and with the best of success professionally and financially. In 1872 Sarah A. Goforth, a native of Claiborne County, born in 1846, became his wife. Two children have been born to them. She is a Methodist. In 1857 he visited Kansas and Nebraska, and in 1862 again made a western tour. He has attended over 800 births during his practice. 

    W. H. Smith, farmer, was born near Cumberland Gap, Claiborne County, February 6, 1825, the son of Jordan and Eliza P. (Wheeler) Smith. Robert, the grandfather, was a native of North Carolina, and came to Tennessee before 1800, and settled near the Claiborne and Campbell County Line, when Powell's Valley was a cane-brake. Jordan was born in North Carolina in 1797, and was a practical and extensive farmer and land owner. During the late war he sold a portion of fine Powell's Valley land, near Jacksboro, for Confederate money, which of course, was worthless. He served in the Indian removal from the Hiwassee Purchase, under Gen. Nathaniel Smith, but did not serve in any wars. He died February 25, 1881, mourned by all who knew him. The mother, a daughter of Thomas Wheeler, a prominent citizen of this county, was born in 1807, below Jacksboro, and died January 13, 1887, a woman of unusual excellence, and a member of the Methodist Episcopal Church. Our subject was educated chiefly at Jacksboro, where he attended in the fall and winter; and although he has been engaged in other duties he has been successful in his career as a farmer, declining all solicitations for office. Among the many trusts he has held is the administratorship of the estate of the late John Kincaid. He is a stockholder of the Powell Valley High School, at Fincastle, and has also been director for several years. October 25, 1849, he married Elizabeth, a daughter of John Kincaid, and born at the homestead April 4, 1831. Their three children were Lossie A., born July 28, 1850, died June 26, 1884; Florence, born January 19, 1855, and William W., born February 20, 1861. Our subject and wife are Methodists, of the Southern Branch.

     Rev. T. M. Smith, farmer and merchant, and minister, was born in Whitley County, Ky., November 22, 1827, the son of James and Nancy (Meadows) Smith, the former born in that county March 16, 1805; the latter, a native of Kentucky, died at the age of seventy-five. The father was a farmer and stock dealer, and came to Campbell County about 1858. He was an able business man, and acquired great wealth, and died September 10, 1882, a member of the Baptist Church, and a man of such genial nature that he left many friends to mourn his loss. He had seven sons and three daughters. Our subject, the third child, has farmed and dealt in stock much of his life, and for several years has been a successful merchant at Jellico. He owns about $15,000 in real estate in this county and in Kentucky. February 16, 1848, Charlotte, a daughter of Stephen Candell, became his wife. She was born in Georgia, December 21, 1829, and died August 6, 1862. She had six sons and three daughters, and but one son deceased. On January 16, 1863, he married Delphia, a daughter of Aaron Hackler, of Campbell County, where she was born in 1834. They have four sons and four daughters. Our subject was three months in Burnside's Brigade, in the late war. A zealous Baptist from a very early age, our subject was ordained in November, 1867, as a minister, in which capacity he has married about a thousand couples. He has also been a justice, and is a success as a business man.


The following biographies were taken from “Goodspeed’s History of Campbell County,“ dated ‘1887.


M. D. Wheeler, farmer, was born in Campbell County April 6, 1837, the son of R. D. and Charlotte (Bridgeman) Wheeler, who are mentioned in the sketch of R. D. Wheeler, Jr. Our subject grew up accustomed to the advantages and disadvantages of rural life, and served as a Federal soldier throughout the war. He then returned to his native place, and married Sarah Hunter of Campbell County. James D. and Anna B. are their only children. His wife died July 29, 1868, and September 23, 1875, he married Emma J. Hoss, a daughter of Landon C. Hoss, of Knox County. Robert L., J. H. and Richard R. have been born to them. Mr. Wheeler now owns and cultivates 360 acres, and is also engaged in stock dealing. He is a gauger and store-keeper for the Government at Distillery No. 337, owned by F. Wilson. He is a member of the Methodist Episcopal Church South, a Master mason and K. of H.

    E. F. Wheeler was born at Caryville, Tenn., April 21, 1840, and is the son of R. D. and Charlotte (Bridgeman) Wheeler. The father was born April 1, 1801, in Virginia, and was the son of Benjamin C. Wheeler, who removed to Knox County when the son was about six years of age. He removed to Campbell County and settled near Caryville in about 1812, being one of the first settlers of the county. Our subject's father was a farmer, and an influential citizen. He represented his county in the State Legislature a number of years, and died in March, 1875. The mother was born in Virginia in about 1805, and is the daughter of William Bridgeman. Our subject was reared on the farm, and acquired his education in the neighboring school and at Jacksboro. He followed farming until the breaking out of the late war, and in 1862 enlisted in Company A, First Federal Regiment Tennessee Infantry, commanded by Col. Robert Bird. He served throughout the war, and was mustered out of service at Nashville in 1865. He then returned to Campbell County, and has since followed farming, and is one of the largest farmers of the Fourth Civil District, owning and cultivating a farm of over 300 acres one mile east of Jacksboro. He was married in October, 1876 to Anna J. Sharp, who was born in Campbell County, Tenn., in November, 1854, and is the daughter of Henry Sharp. To this union two children have been born, one of whom -- Ada -- is living. She was born September 4, 1884. Our subject's wife is a member of the Methodist Church South.

    R. D. Wheeler, Jr., was born in Campbell County, Tenn., August 30, 1846, and he is the son of R. D. and Charlotte (Bridgeman) Wheeler. The father was a native of Virginia, and was born April 1, 1801, and died n Campbell County, March 19, 1875. The mother was born in Wythe County, Va., September 23, 1807, and is in a hale old age, living with our subject (1887). These parents were married August 31, 1826, and to their marriage were born ten sons and four daughters, our subject being the twelfth child, and eighth son. Of these children, seven live (1887)-- six sons and one daughter, all married, and have families. The father was a prominent citizen of Tennessee, and served seven terms in the Lower House of the Tennessee Legislature, and early in life served his county as its sheriff. He was a man of liberal and broad views, and was a man who assisted many charitable institutions. He commenced his life pursuits without capital, but by integrity and perseverance he scaled the height of want of a capital, and became one of the wealthiest men of his county, before his death. It is to his credit that, though he, at the outbreak of the civil war, owned more than a 1,000 acres of land, he tilled, not by slave labor, but by free labor. He was a man who favored education, and accomplished, giving all his children a good education. Our subject was reared to farming and has devoted most of his life to farming and stock raising. He now owns and cultivates a farm of more than 200 acres of land in his district. He has served his county, as sheriff, two term. September 29, 1880, he was united in marriage with Miss Lucy Sharp. To this marriage has been born one child, a son, named Charles Alexander, born Mary 16, 1881. Our subject is a member of the Methodist Episcopal Church South, and is a Master Mason.


Lewis Wilson, register of Campbell County, and one of the leading citizens of Jacksboro, Tenn., was born in the above county, November 8, 1845, and is the son of Henry and Sarah (Fleming) Wilson. The father was born in Campbell County, in October, 1821, and is the son of Jeremiah Wilson, a native of North Carolina. The father has followed farming as a vocation, and is now a citizen of the Fourth Civil District. The mother was born in December, in 1822, in Campbell County, and is still living. Both parents are members of the Baptist Church, and are esteemed, and respected as worthy citizens and neighbors. Our subject was reared on the farm of his parents, and attended school in the neighboring schools, and at Big Creek school, and finished his education at Fincastle. He worked on the farm, and with his father at the iron forges, in his native county, until the breaking our of the Rebellion. In March, 1863 he enlisted in the Federal Army, in Kentucky, joining Company F, of the Sixth Regiment Tennessee Infantry, and served through the war with the same, and was discharged at Nashville, in July, 1865. He then returned to the farm, in Campbell County, where he worked faithfully and attended school. While engaged in play at school, he met with an accident, which left him cripple for life. He has since followed school teaching, and was elected, in August, 1882, to the office of county register, and re-elected in 1886, which office he fills with satisfaction to the public and himself. He is a member of the Milton L. Phillips Post, No. 27, G. A. R., and is a man universally respected for his integrity and enterprise. He is also a member of the Baptist Church.

BIOGRAPHIES OF CAMPBELL COUNTY TENNESSEE


The following biographies were taken from “Goodspeed’s History of Campbell County,“ dated ‘1887.

    A. J. Smith was born in Campbell County, Tenn., February 16, 1832, and is the son of James and Nancy (Meadows) Smith, whose life is mentioned more at length in the sketch of Rev. T. M. Smith. Our subject is the fifth child, and had the advantages of country schools. In 1854 he became the husband of Rachel, a daughter of Ambrose and Lucinda Parks. They have had, besides three sons and three daughters deceased, the following children: Nancy H., Ezriciah, Rachel, Lewis Alvine, Sarah Elizabeth, James Martin, Thomas Jesse, Emma Maria, Lucy, Flora and Hattie. Mr. Smith is one of those who have gathered strength from fighting obstacles, in his business career as a farmer, and part of his life as a merchant also, and has come out successful in the end. He is now located in the Tenth District, one of its most respected citizens, and a member of the Baptist Church.

    A. W. Smith, a farmer, was born in Whitley County, Ky., February 3, 1841, and moved to Campbell County, Tenn., in 1858. He is the son of James and Nancy (Meadors) Smith, who are mentioned more at length in the sketch of Rev. R. M. Smith. Our subject, the ninth of eleven children, was reared on the farm, and educated in the country schools, and has since been a successful farmer and merchant. He is now devoting his attention exclusively to agriculture. In 1860 he married Cyntha, a daughter of William Perkins. They have had, besides a son and daughter deceased, the following children: William, J. S., W. F., H. E., A. F., Scott, Susan, Nannie, Emma and Martha. Our subject now owns about 700 acres. His mercantile life lasted seventeen years, and was attended with marked success. He is now the postmaster at Newcomb, and is a member of the Baptist Church.


L. J. Stanfill was born in Campbell County, August 22, 1832. He is the son of Samson and Rhoda (Ellison) Stanfill. The father is a native of North Carolina, and was born January 1, 1800. He is a very old and well respected citizen of Campbell County, and has served the county as one of its officials. His wife was a native of North Carolina, and was the mother of a family of nine children, seven sons and two daughters. Our subject is the fifth son, and was reared on the farm and educated in the country schools. He has devoted nearly all his life to farming, and recently suspended farming, and engaged in merchandising at Jellico. However he has been in the mercantile business for a number of years. November 19, 1860, he married Ellen Falkner. The marriage has been blessed by two sons and two daughters; their names are Nannie, William C., Mary Susan and Joshua F. August 18, 1868, the mother of these children died, and left the children to the care of the father, who has been a worthy father, a successful business man and an useful citizen. He commenced with capital and has been a financial success.

    W. M. Stokes, farmer, was born in North Carolina May 31, 1829, the son of Thomas J. and Louisa (Donnelly) Stokes. The father was born in North Carolina in 1799, the son of Montford Stokes, who was for two terms the governor of North Carolina. The latter was a soldier of the Revolution, and was appointed Indian agent by President Jackson. M. S., his son, was a major in the Mexican war, and a colonel in the Confederate Army, and fell before Richmond, Va. Thomas, the father, came to Carter County about 1830, came by Lee County, Va., on his way to Campbell, and remained a year, and then came to Campbell County. At Jacksboro he kept a hotel, taught school, and served in various county offices as deputy. The mother, born in Wilkes County, N. C., in 1809, is the daughter of Richard Donnelly, who came to Carter County about 1800. She lives with her son. Our subject is a lineal descendant of Col. Hugh Montgomery, one of first settlers of Campbell County, and who donated the site of Jacksboro, for the city. After his early farm and school life, our subject began his long career of thirty-five years as a teacher, in 1848, and has now taught more schools than any man in the county, and in the list of his pupils are the father, son and grandson in a certain family. In October, 1863, he enlisted in Company B, Eighty-second, E. M. M. of Missouri, as first lieutenant. He served two years as county school examiner, and, in 1878, was elected superintendent of public instruction for a similar time. June 13, 1858, L. P. Jacks, of Platte County, Mo., became his wife. Her four children are E. Montford Stokes, born June 4, 1861; Mary Louisa Stokes, born July 18, 1868; Leanner Bella Stokes, born August 15, 1866; Rachel Adelaide Stokes, born September 17, 1868. The latter two died in infancy. E. M. and Mary Louisa survives, and are now engaged in teaching. Mr. Stokes is now editor of the Valley Sentinel, published at Jacksboro, Tenn. Our subject taught school the greater part of fourteen years in Platte County, Mo. 

MISCELLANEY


Found in the Lafollette Press of Apr. 20, 1950, is a short history of the Knoxville, LaFollette and Jellico Railroad. The article begins by stating that the K.L.& J. R.R. was started on May 12, 1902 and was completed on April 3, 1905, when the first through trains from Cincinnati to Atlanta, Ga. began operating. The track was constructed by the Louisville and Nashville (L. & N.) which road had previously acquired trackage from Lot, Ky. to Cincinnati and from Knoxville to Atlanta. Previously, these through trains had operated between Louisville and Knoxville, traveling over the Southern line from Jellico to Knoxville, thence down Elk Valley and though Knoxville. 


Information regarding the local railroad was presented in the Press primarily because of the L.& N. line commemorating its 100th anniversary. The locals tell of the hard times of the builders, along with the tales of the fights, tricks, etc. The opposition of other railroads and the railroad workers and their hardships in connection with pioneering a railroad through the treacherous mountains proved to be a debacle. 


The article tells that sometime between 1881 and 1883 the L. & N. lengthened its road from Livingston, Ky. to the Kentucky - Tennessee State line at Jellico. This extension allowed the coal seekers to tap the rich coalfields in Campbell County, and therefore play a big part in the history of local coal development. This addition also allowed the operation of trains between Louisville and Knoxville, thus an agreement between the local railroad and the old east Tennessee, Virginia and Georgia Railroad was finalized. (The latter became the Southern Railroad.)


Opening of the 75-mile segment between Jellico to Knoxville occurred in 1893. Therefore, a number of branch lines were anticipated into the coal fields of Campbell County, which included such streams as Laurel Fork, Hickory Creek, Clinch River and Clear Fork. 


Feuds took place from another railroad company concerning the building of this railroad, with the other firm already on the scene. These debates or protests did not always confine themselves to the verbal of legal category. Disappointment over these disturbances caused the L.& N. to give up the road from Holton to Pruden. 


The line was later operated by the Southern Railroad with the L. & N. having trailblazing rights. Because of all the ruckus the Clear Fork Branch demanded police protection. Chief of Police J.B. Harlan and a task force was sent to keep peace and order and to prevent outraged locals from tearing up at night what the construction crews achieved during the day. Police command center was set up at Pruden. 


TRIP FROM JELLICO TO JACKSBORO 

The first recorded train trip from Jellico to Jacksboro over the Knoxville, LaFollette and Jellico Railroad was recorded on August 4, 1904. The distance was 31 miles. Folks along the line stood in amazement as the iron horse galloped along. 


Added by the L. & N. was the first “mine run” by the L. & N. in this segment in the fall of 1904, between Jellico and Corbin. This operation became known as the “Turn-Around” and was operated by Conductor Green Harp and Engineer John Callahan. It contested in popularity with the “Short Dog,” an “assorted” affair, operating between Corbin and Jellico. A report states that the flagman walked virtually all of the 32 miles between the two points, since there were 19 stops in the 32 miles, with a variation in time, from ten minutes to three hours.


With out this venturesome task of railroad building, the mountain country of Campbell County could still be limbo with no outlet for its millions of tons of coal, limestone and other natural products.

CROSS MOUNTAIN


Cross Mountain is located four and one-half miles southwest of Lake City. It forms for many miles in Anderson and Campbell counties in the eastern portion of the main tableland in the Cumberlands. It is the highest point in the Cumberland Mountains west of the highlands in Harlan, Kentucky, and has an elevation of 3,600 feet. As seen from the air it is a long heavily wooded ridge with strung-out spurs, that forms a part of the dividing crest between the Cumberland and Tennessee River valleys. Extending from the southeast and northeast base runs the exceptional Walden’s Ridge, which is a part of the Cumberland Tableland.


The Great Smokey Mountains, which are more than 40 miles away, are plainly visible on clear days, and House Mountain and Clinch Mountain, 27 and 29 miles away, respectively, are renowned in the easterly direction. The plateau division of this region is to a great extent lost. 


Ascent to the top is by means of a country road leading from the south edge of Lake City to Swag Gap, is located about two miles from the top. 


JACKSBORO’S FIRST SCHOOLHOUSE


Jacksboro’s first schoolhouse was constructed by John Queener, cost, $399.80. On January 1, 1831, the Trustees of Franklin Academy, namely, Abraham Hayter, John E. Wheeler, John Phillips, Wm. and David Richardson, Joseph Peterson and Joseph Hart erected the first frame school building, and later in 1854, Tucker W. Page was awarded a contract to construct a brick building. This building was known as Franklin Academy, but was not totally completed until 1860. 


The new brick structure was closed during the Civil War (1861-65) with the building often being occupied by troops. In 1865 Trustees James Cooper, Alvis Kincaid, J.S. Lindsay, W.C. Hall, John Myers and George Delap restored the Academy and for many years afterward it was regarded as one of the best Academies in Tennessee.
FIRST STEAM SHOVEL


The first steam shovel ever in Campbell County operated in the cut just above LaFollette on the new road. Dick Gaylor was sheriff at this time, and Lee Turner operated the Quarter House, a saloon on Tennessee Ave. A story is told that one day Captain Pratt, an engineer, got drunk one day and during the day, Charlie Roos, a barber shaved him eleven times. 


The chief engineer on the first job was J.E. Willoughby and the Construction Company was the Callahan Construction Co. The mud was “belly” deep to a team of six mules hitched to a wagon tying to negotiate Tennessee Avenue. 

THE BIBLE BELT


Just what and where is the “Bible Belt?“ This expression  describes a geographical section of the South along with the mid-central part of the United States. The area depicted is a region that hosts large groups of fundamentalist Christians. 


A proper Bible Belt Christian should have an obvious understanding of the things they shouldn’t do, such as smoking, dancing, drinking, etc. This belief is that one’s actions are controlled by the Holy Spirit and that God’s will is the most essential part of one’s life. A true Bible Belt Christian, regardless of what ridiculers say, maintains the will of God in a strikingly perspective point of view.


Many groups say that people in the Bible Belt go to extremes when it comes to their religious and political customs. However, these folks have the belief that their lives are totally controlled by God. Therefore, their values, possibly derived from childhood, are anchored into their souls. 


The first known Bible Belt in America was located in the Northeast with such groups as the Massachusetts Puritans and the Pennsylvania Quakers. Something happened about 1790 in America, which totally revolutionized the state of religion: the Great Awakening. This vast religious revolution, described as the Second Pentecost, rapidly occupied the land.  


Man has from his beginnings in America set aside a time for his own personal religious beliefs. It has been said that during the 1600’s over 85% of the population have taken part in some form of church activity. Furthermore, toward the end of the 17th Century, religious commitment headed toward an even greater force. It was during this time that America experienced its first great revival and therefore the Bible Belt was born. 


The Great Awakening had swept Great Britain and shortly penetrated the American colonies. The Southern states received this “new birth” with enthusiasm. Two general opinions arose as to why this great religious eagerness collected in the South, one was because of the great number of African Americans, while others said the Southerner was closer to God, possibly because of his depressive livelihood. 


A period of healings, raising of the dead, along with many other miracles was now in the making. The Great Revival spread outward to the Methodists, Baptists, Presbyterians and other denominations. The Holy Spirit was moving thus motivating the human spirit. 


With any great success arrives some depraved individuals anxious to make money off the innocent. Scam artists and frauds quickly took advantage of this great movement and profited handsomely. 


A gentleman invited some sinful associates to hear the speech of Finis Ewing, the lecture being on sanctification. He had never heard Ewing preach and some of his companions bet him $20 that “he could not go into the church and sit through the sermon without going to the mourner’s bench when Ewing made the inevitable call for converts“. He took the bet, sat through the sermon, and resisted the call for mourners, going, instead,  to his comrades. “Gentlemen,” he said, “I have won the bet but I want none of your money. From this hour on, as long as I live, I shall not rest till I find salvation.”


Another such incident occurred at a camp meeting at Rock Spring campground at Overton County, Tennessee, Rev. Thomas Calhoun, officiating. On Sunday morning at breakfast, someone told Rev. Calhoun that two distracted young men had sounded off with a somber oath to break up the meeting that day. The Reverend replied, “We’ll see!” 


With breakfast over the Reverend exited to his usual sanctuary in the woods. Here he remained in prayer until the eleven o’clock sermon. He then entered the countrified pulpit and made known his text. He reiterated what had been told him at breakfast, adding: “I am a preacher called and sent from God. You shall this day see, and know, and acknowledge, that God is with me, and is able to give me the victory over all the opposition of men and devils.”


Instantly, the two young men rose to their feet and, with loud vows, began cursing the preacher and the meeting, moving about the crowd intending in every respect to disturb the sermon. However, Rev. Calhoun continued with his sermon, his voice abounding greatly. The penetration of his voice to the saints completely overwhelmed the service while the disturbance of the two scoundrels became quite unnoticed. As suddenly as a spring thunderstorm, the two disturbers fell to the ground and were both converted that day. One of them became a minister of the Gospel, always declaring salvation to the lost. 


Religion took the South by storm, from Presbyterians to shouting Methodists to Holy Rollers. Many sermons were composed of hell fire and brimstone preaching.  Congregations were entirely espoused with the preaching of God’s word responding with muscular spasms, or more commonly known as the jerks. They leaped, crawled, rolled on the ground, wept, moaned, their utterances triumphing in a type of a foreign language. As sudden as the Holy Spirit set in, it lifted and a smile of heavenly peace would break forth and conversation would follow. 


The unbelievers regarded this form of religion as fake. However, many northern ministers traveled the Southern circuit, preaching in different churches. They came to the conclusion that the majority of these people that exhibited these jerks, etc. were being controlled by a much higher Power. Many congregations exhibit this same power today.

A tendency for the folks at the present location of Follette to renew their religious interest was espoused as a Methodist Camp Meeting ground located on the ridge between the present LaFollette golf course and the mouth of Long Hollow. Early area residents such as the Sharp, Mullins and Richardson families, along with their neighbors, on a regular basis promoted the annual camp meetings. Folks came for miles around and took part in these services. Schools were created under the influence of the church at Fincastle (the first settlement in Campbell County) and Well Springs providing educational advantages to a large part of the county. 

CAMPBELL COUNTY COAL

Part I


The source of this article is taken from the “Knoxville Daily Tribune,” dated Sunday, May 6, 1883. The composition tells of the advent of the coal scene in Campbell County. The article goes as such:


The completion of the Knoxville and Ohio Railroad opens up one of the richest regions in the United States. From Knoxville the roads cuts east across East Tennessee in a direction almost due north, striking the Kentucky State Line at the end of its 66 miles. From this point which is now called Jellico the distance to Louisville over the Knoxville branch of the L. and N. is 200 miles. The whole line traverses one of the finest mineral regions of the South, but we shall speak only of that portion which lies in East Tennessee.


With a party of gentlemen interested in the mining of coal, we visited a few days ago the coalmines which are being opened near the State line. Within a distance of three miles, three mines are now in operation. These are all in the spurs of the Jellico mountain range, which lies west of the railroad. From a point three of four miles south of the 

State line the railroad runs through a level plain, which is bounded on the east by the rugged but unbroken chain of Pine Mountain, while on the west it is notched by the numerous spurs of Jellico Mountain. Of these spurs there are perhaps six or seven between Newcomb and Jellico, all pointing in an easterly direction and all abruptly ending within half a mile to a mile of the railroad. These mountain spurs are filled with inexhaustible beds of coal easy of access. Of course these coal beds extend through the Jellico Mountains, miles and miles to the west, but are in that region as yet inaccessible. These spurs, which are themselves mountains a thousand feet high, will demand our attention A description of one will do for all, for the same coal veins extend through them all. 


The valley or plain through which the railroad passes rests upon a bed of coal, from five feet to twenty feet below the surface, according to the undulations of the valley. Near the railroad at Newcomb the creek has exposed this bed of coal in several places. The vein is nearly three feet thick, and underlies the whole region. An examination of the mountain side will reveal no less than six other seams of coal above each other varying from sixty to two hundred feet apart in perpendicular distance, the upper vein being probably six hundred feet above the one which underlies the bottom of the valley. Some of these veins are only one or two feet thick while the best one is 52 inches in thickness. This is the vein which all the companies are working or preparing to work in their respective mountains. It is the sixth vein counting from the bottom and is probably 500 feet above the level of the valley. The upper vein which is a hundred feet above the large one is said to be cannel coal. The vein which is over a hundred feet below the thick vein is said to be the best coking coal yet discovered in East Tennessee. This vein is something more than three feet in thickness and is quite soft and brittle. A chunk of it weighing several pounds can be easily crushed in the hands breaking into small glistening pieces as large as a hickory nut or smaller. The coke made from this coal has great strength is close in texture and has the metallic ring and lustre. A careful analysis of this coke shows that it contains 92.6 percent of fixed carbon, 3.7 percent of moisture, 2,7 of ash and 1 percent of volatile matter while it contains less than three-fourths of one percent of sulphur.


The coal in the 52 inch vein is said to be of the best yet found in the coal region of 
Part II


Jellico Mountain Coal Company


This company was organized nearly two years ago under the name of the “Jellico Mountain Coal, Coke, Mining and Transportation Company,” with a capital of  $300,000. The company is composed principally of capitalists from Lexington Kentucky. Col. Samuel L. Woolridge is President, Thomas Mitchell, Secretary and Treasurer; Bret R. Hutchcraft, General Contracting Agent and James W. Fox, Superintendent and Engineer.


At the invitation of Mr. Hutchcraft we visited the Jellico mines, leaving the railroad at Newcomb Station. A railroad has been built from Newcomb up to the mines about a mile distant. All the several? which was very light was finished grading months ago, and the ties are all down and ready for the iron. At the end of this road, which is a broad gauge, is the Tip house. Here the coal is to be delivered from the team cars, screened, loaded into the railroad cars and weighed. Here are two scales arranged so that two cars can be filled at one time, one with fine coal and one with lump coal. 


The whole operation is controlled by one person, stationed in the upper story of the Tip house. From the Tip house there is a tram railroad about seven hundred yards long, the upper end reaching within 500 feet of the mouth of the mines. This tramway ascends a grade of 80 feet stopping at the foot of an incline. Here is the engine house. From this point the tram cars loaded with coal will descend by their own weight to the Tip house and will be brought back empty propelled by the power of a stationary communicated by an endless chain.


From the engine house an incline has been built 453 feet long, up to the mines. It ascends a perpendicular height of about 200 feet. The loaded tram cars will descend this incline, turn at the engine house and pass on down to the Tip house. The weight of the descending cars will, by means of a drum, pull the empty cars up the incline. At the top of the incline is the blacksmith shop, toolhouse and general store house for mining supplies.


On reaching the top of the incline we found nearly all the available space around the mouth of the mines covered with huge heaps of coal, which had been dug out of the mountain in driving the entries and opening the mines. More than 5,000 tons of coal has already been mined and is ready for shipment. Two entries have been made into the 52-inch vein of coal on the north face of the mountain. These entries are about 300 feet apart. One has been dug straight into the mountain over 1,000 feet and the other to a distance of nearly 900 feet. The entrance is a tunnel into the mountain is an opening six feet high and nearly as wide and of course follows the coal bed. 


In company with the assistant superintendent, Horace E. Fox, we went into the mines. We took lamps in our hands and got into a tram car which was drawn into the mines by a mule. As we proceeded into the heart of the mountain we were conscious of going up a slight grade. In fact the dip of the coal seam is such that the mines are perfectly drained without using any artificial means. About 600 feet from the mouth of the entrance is a cross entrance which connects the two main entrances. Several cross and side entrances have been made from the main shafts, some of them cutting several hundred feet into the coal bed.


From the outside parallel with the main entrances and about feet from them are airways. These are five feet high and five feet wide extending the full length of the main shafts. These are made for the purpose of ventilating the mines. There is only a single force of mines working now, but the mines are ready for a double force of two hundred hands as soon as the company can begin to ship the coal. About sixty rooms have already been turned. This coal is very easily mined. In the center of the vein is a mining seam. That is, there is a streak of very soft coal several inches in thickness separating the top and bottom layers of the coal bed. The miner with his pick digs out this soft coal, after which a few strokes break off the harder coal above and below in large chunks. In such coal as this miners can easily make $2 to $3 a day.

Standard Coal and Coke Company


The mines of the Standard Coal and Coke Company are situated nearly a mile south of the Jellico mines and but little more than half a mile from Newcomb. This company owns two mountains, including several thousand acres of coal lands. The property could not be purchased now for $100,000 and a few years it will be valued at several times that amount. The principal owner of these mines is Major E.E.McCrosky, of Knoxville. Captain McClure, a former East Tennessean, now of Cincinnati, and Joseph Chandler, of Sevier County, are members of the company. The coal in these mountains does not differ in structure, composition of the size of the veins from that of the Jellico mines, but is more accessible, and can be mined at somewhat less expense. 


The railroad to one of the mines of the Standard Company will be about half a mile long and the road to the other will be less than a mile. The only expense of building these roads will be for the iron and the ties. No grading will be necessary because the approaches to the mines are almost perfectly level. From the mines tram cars will bring the coal down an easy graded narrow gauge to the chute where the coal will be screened, the railroad cars loaded and the coal weighed. The empty tram cars will be taken to the mines by a small locomotive engine. By this arrangement the objectionable features of an incline are avoided, and the natural location of the mines renders the loading of the coal less expensive. Hands have been at work for several months driving the entries for the Standard Company, and large quantities of coal have already been dug out. Two entries have been driven in one of the mountains, and one in the other. The coal will be in the market this summer. If necessary 400 miners could be put to work in the Standard mines, but perhaps not more than half that number will be employed this year.


The Standard Company has a large sawmill near the mines to manufacture lumber to be used in the company’s building and for constructing houses for the miners. These lands are covered with fine timber. 

(Material for this article was submitted by personnel from the Campbell County Historical Society
TENNESSEE RIVER VALLEY RESOURCES


The importance of river navigation to the early settlers in the Tennessee River Valley cannot be fully realized without an understanding of the resources of that area. The pioneers who traveled over the Appalachians to fashion their lives in this rich region envisioned some of the major opportunities that challenged them if they could establish and keep up an inexpensive and reliable means of commercial enterprise with the trading centers of the world.


It was to the Tennessee River and its tributaries that these original settlers naturally seeked that crucial connection with the world of commerce and trade. They looked, hoped and planned as they gradually explored their agricultural, commercial, and industrial possibilities and counted their resources.


Without proper transportation facilities resources were considered useless. If transportation costs were too excessive, the producer is forced to pay more than a consumer does for what he buys or uses.


 The most determined need for transportation in the early days was for carrying cotton to market. This highly marketable product was mostly marketed for cash. In the early period of river development, Tennessee supplied much of the crop produced in the Valley. As time passed it was found that the soil and climate of the eastern section were not so suited as the country farther south in northern Alabama and south central and western Tennessee. Northern Alabama, particularly along the Big Bend of the River, enjoyed a rich soil fit for cotton raising. 


The producers were always faced with difficulties in getting their cotton to market. An estimate shows that from the 75,000 bale crop of 1838 a loss of $1,500,000 was experienced because the producers were unable to choose the time at which the crop could be offered to the market. When the river was too low for navigation, cotton was often piled up in warehouses rather than being sent on to New Orleans to be sold at advantageous prices. Generally, six months elapsed before the cotton reached New Orleans because of the many obstacles the industry faced. 


Wheat raising was also important in early days in the Tennessee River Valley, especially in East Tennessee where five to ten million bushels were grown annually around 1870. Flour from Tennessee was greatly in demand and was listed regularly among the cargo lists of early flatboats and steamboats.


Oats was an important crop, the harvest for Tennessee was running five million bushels per year. This cereal, like corn is one that is rarely raised with any expectation of moving a great distance from the place of production.


As time passed, the soil of the Tennessee Valley was found suitable for growing tobacco. Its production was confined primarily to Tennessee, which in 1874 ranked next to Kentucky and Virginia in the production of this commodity.


Other products, such as barley, rye, buckwheat, flax, peanuts, sorghum, and hemp were raised in the Valley. Hemp furnished the raw material for a cord and rope-making business that flourished for a while in the region.


Many kinds of fruits and vegetables were produced, but almost entirely for local consumption. Sweet potatoes and white potatoes were easily raised; the latter being much relied upon by the settlers.


Along with the cultivation of crops, livestock raising held an important place in the agriculture of the Tennessee Valley. The Valley was well suited for this purpose, since it is a grassy region.


The early settlers brought with them their native stock cattle from the Atlantic seaboard. These animals were hardy and flourished in the new region. As time passed the type of cattle was greatly improved by the introduction of finer blooded breeding animals cargoes of flatboats using the Tennessee, and later the steamboats.
BLACK DUTCH


 Melungeon people were discriminated against by their Scots-Irish and English neighbors as they moved into the areas where the Melungeons lived. They wanted the rich valley lands occupied by the Melungeons they found residing there. They discriminated against the Melungeons because they were darker skinned than their own anglo-saxon ancestors and because this helped them obtain the lands they coveted. This discrimination carried into the 1940’s-50’s and perhaps even longer because of the work of a man called Plecker who was the state of Virginia’s Director of Vital Statistics and an avowed racist. He labeled the Melungeons, calling them mongrels and other worse terms - some were labeled - Free Person of Color in Virginia. This in turn led to their children being labeled as Mulatto (M) and both of those terms came to mean ‘BLACK.’ If you find such a term for any of your ancestors, it does not necessarily mean that they actually were black. 
Some Melungeon families married white, some black, some Indian, some a combination. But for all of them the terms led to decisions in which they couldn’t own property, they couldn’t vote, and they couldn’t school their children. As a result, they hid their backgrounds with the Indian myth, with the orphan myth,  and the adopted myth.       They changed either the spelling of their surnames or they picked an entirely new name, relocating many times, anything to distance themselves from their Melungeon heritage. They sometimes became "Black Dutch" or "Black Irish", or some other combination.


One theory concerning the “Black Dutch” is that in 1588 the Spanish armada having being defeated by the British or by a bad storm, went east and then north. They made landfall in Ireland and did the usual things conquistadors were supposed to do: looted, pillaged and raped the local women. The offspring of their activities in Ireland who have dark hair are referred to as Black Irish. 


Black Irish also can indicates those who came as immigrants from other places (generally England) and sometimes their names were noted as such: "Fitz" as in Fitzwilliam. The English king gave land to those who could hold it, take it and keep it. The black part was not referring to skin or hair or even eye color; it was indication of 'blaggard' = black = a negative association.


Some say that the term Black Dutch refers to Sephardie Jews who married Dutch Protestants to escape the Inquisition,. Many of their descendants later moved to the Americas, the "black" referring to their dark hair and complexions, perhaps infrequently, German immigrants from the Black Forest region, e.g., "For the most part, the Black Dutch came after 1740." Others disagree and say it is doubtful that the Black Dutch were of Jewish or  Dutch heritage.


Some say that there are strong indications that the original Black Dutch were rugged complexioned Germans; but Anglo-Americans sometimes applied the term to any dark-complexioned American of European descent. Some say the term was adopted as an attempt to disguise Indian or tri-racial descent. Some Cherokee & Chickasaw Indians are called Black Dutch.


Black Dutch may be synonymous with Pennsylvania Germans who settled in the area of Pennsylvania in groups together. When asked where they were from, they said "Deutsche" sounding to us like "Dutch", but actually meaning "German" in their own language. Because they weren't blonde and blue eyed but darker, they were called Black Dutch.


Some genealogists have suggested that the Black Dutch were either an offshoot of the Melungeons or one of the tri-racial isolate groups in Appalachia.


Another widely spread explanation about the Black Dutch is that they were Netherlanders of dark complexion who were descendants of the Spanish who occupied the Netherlands in the late 16th century and early 17th centuries; these in turn intermarried with the blonde natives. However, the Dutch government's Central Bureau for Genealogy is unable to offer an explanation for the term.


Some say that Black Dutch, Black Irish, and other terms, were applied to those persons who were the offspring of local citizens (women) and shipwrecked sailors from Spain or other countries where the people have darker skins. Others will say that the term pertains to a person of a very mean disposition.


One source states that a Dutch revolt against the Spanish monarch began in 1555 and continued until 1609. The nation could not find enough soldiers to defend its empire and Spain subjected neighboring Portugal and impressed Portuguese men into Spanish regiments throughout the empire. A new race was created in the southern part of Holland during the six decades that Spanish and Portuguese soldiers were stationed there. It produced dark-skinned children that were the beginning of the Black Dutch.


And so, like the Melungeon race, there is no definite of absolute record of the beginnings of the “Black Dutch.” 

WATER WHEEL


There are two main types of water wheels, the vertical and the horizontal.  The vertical wheels in-clude the two most familiar types, the overshot and the  undershot. The amount of work which an overshot water wheel can do is controlled by the weight and distance of the water that falls on the wheel. 


The overshot waterwheel has many buckets around its edge. The weight of the water falling into these buckets causes the wheel to turn, reaching perhaps 80 per cent efficiency.


The overshot method is constructed on the principle of applying the water vertically, and thus utilizing all its power. The common overshot wheel, carries the water upon its upper surface nearly a quarter of its circumference before the water obtains its maximum power. This occurs when the water has descended to a position  with the chute of the wheel. 


The undershot water wheel is built so the water strikes against the buckets of the wheel at the bottom. This type of wheel has such a low efficiency that it was rarely used.


A brief description of a mill is as follows:  Water is directed into the  wheel through a chute.  The wheel is mounted  on an axle, which is connected  by belts or gearing with the machinery it is to operate.  The wheel has many curved blades. The force with which the water strikes the blades causes  the  wheel to rotate, which makes the shaft turn.  This rotates the shaft of the machinery being driven which is extended to the production source. An excellent example of a mill still in operation is the mill at the Norris Lake dam.


There was a type of mill called a "floating mill."  The mill was not placed in a building but it was an apparatus with its machinery placed on two boats with the water wheel between the two assemblies. One reference states that as early as 1790, a floating mill was constructed. He states in essence that in 1791 so scarce and dear was flour that the little that could be afforded in families was laid by to be used only in sickness, or for entertainment of friends. The mill was built in a small flat boat tied to the bank, its wheel turning slowly with the natural current running between the flat boat and a small pirogue anchored in the stream, and on which one end of its shaft rested. Having only one small pair of stones, it was at best barely sufficient to supply meal for the inhabitants of neighboring families; and sometimes from low water and other unfavorable circumstances, it was of little use, so that they were obliged to supply the deficiency from hand mills, a most laborious mode of grinding.


Many of the grist mills were small, rather crude structures, built of logs and with only a single run of stones. The dry seasons were particularly hard on the smaller streams that accommodated the mills. The cutting away of the forests lessened the water supply and many of the mills were abandoned.  A grist and sawmill, sometimes along with a fulling mill, were sometimes operated at the same site.


Obtaining flour and meal was decidedly a hardship for the early pioneers.  The mills were "a far piece" from the scattered homesites. Most of the pioneers came to the valley of the Miamis from homes already established in the east  and this new style of livelihood was a very perilous episode.


Maize was the stable crop in which they depended. It was not uncommon for the early white inhabiter to go off to the mill in the  morning with a large sack of corn and return late in the day (much of this time was spent in waiting to have the corn ground) with a much smaller bag of meal.  The grinding capacity was very small. The main or principal crop was Indian corn. Meal was acquired  from the early mills much more as a rule than flour. The difficulty of getting corn ground at a mill proved to be such a hard- ship that huge quantities of maize were eaten minus the grinding process.  Parched corn was a common food to these trendsetters and when on long journeys they  tended to stuff their knapsacks full.  

THE EARLY CANAL SYSTEM           


The canal laborers were men who came from near and far. The many foreigners that worked on the canals were mostly from Germany and Ireland. During the first few years laborers were paid thirty cents a day with plain board and were lodged in a shanty.  During the first four months they also received in addition to board a "jiggerful of whiskey."


The canal boats were in the general range of 78 feet long, 14 feet 10 inches wide and the cost would generally range in the $2,000 figure. 


The packet boats were the exception to the canal travel. This particular boat was a haven to travel. It accommodated the statesmen, financiers, and in general the wealthy seekers of pleasure. These pleasure boats consisted of a "diner, sleeper, smoker, parlor car, baggage and mail coach" all in one enterprise.


From one to four mules were used to pull the canal boat. This was the only method that could be used because machinery (see electric mule in later section) in this particular era was practically nonexistant. A stronger current flowed in the southward direction so therefore more mules were used to pull the boat in the northerly direction. Housing of the extra mules in the southerly  direction was on the canal boat. 


Along side of the canal was a dirt towpath, with a slight  elevation from four to ten feet wide. A path of this type was used for the mules or horses to travel on. These animals were fastened to the boats by towlines which were seventy to ninety yards in length. The poles used to maneuver or simply "unstick" the boats were of an irontipped sort. The meeting of two boats a- long the towpath took  drivers of great skill to actually allow for the passing of these two craft. When the two boats met, the team of the down-stream boat stepped to the outside of the towpath and stopped, letting the towline lie on the ground and sink into the water. Meanwhile, the boat steered to the opposite side of the canal, away from the towpath. The upstream boat and team passed between the other boat and its team, the mules stepping over the other's towline, and the boat passing over the line in the water. A similar procedure took place when one boat passed another going in the same direction, as packets did the slower freight boats. 


The towpath, being only on one side of the canal, frequently changed sides in which a bridge was necessitated. The mule consequently had to change from one side to the other. The mules would go under the bridge, and with the greatest promptness, cross over the bridge with the boat slowly moving. The change of this sort had to be made with complete accuracy or the mule was abruptly yanked into the canal.


Life on the canal boat was a mere adventure in itself. The crew generally consisted of from two to six men and very possibly included one woman. The staff of the freight and line boats comprised of: a driver, or mule manipulator; a steersman who guided the boat; most certainly the captain who was  possibly the owner; a cook, generally a woman who did "boat domestic work." A handy man, called a bowsman, was generally employed in the more prosperous boats.


The captain's stature was one of  "truly American" distinction. He was set up as a hero type in the transportation of the early canals. He was always the master of his "ship." His leadership quality was one to be respected by all concerned, especially the crew. 


The captain sometimes chose his crew with respect to their fighting ability. More than once quarrels or squabbles led to fights between the crews of two different boats. Sometimes boats were pulled over and brawls included the use of fists, clubs and stones; tow lines were cut and many men found out the condition of the water. 


Morals were low pertaining to the boat employees. The canal boat operators were  apparently a very unbecoming type of ruffian. Gambling, swearing and drinking was a way of dealing with the boredom of many days and months on the boats. Their wages were soon misused and lost due to their counterparts and debts mounted. Heavy drinking was due to the fact that whiskey was almost as cheap as water. A "fip" of whiskey could be bought for 6 1/4 cents the half pint. Whiskey could be bought by the half gallon in the 1820's for twenty-five cents. 


Of course wages play an important part in the life of the canal personnel. Before 1860, bowsmen and steersmen were comfortable with their wages of twenty dollars a month. The drivers generally received from eight to twelve dollars per month; the cook from five to ten dollars per month.  This wage included his lodg- ing and board also. After the Civil War, wages rose sharply with a driver receiving twenty dollars per month, the steersmen thirty-five dollars per month and the captain fifty to sixty dollars per month. 


The social life of the canal crew rested on the fact that they made their stops at the canal houses, locks, taverns and mule/horse stations. These stops allowed the crew to fraternize or engage in the immediate attention of the locals. Fighting, drinking, wrestling, foot-racing, smoking and a general all-out re- lease of tension was enjoyed by all. 


The canal boats were not the only boats on the canal. People localized along the canal had their own sort of craft, especially farmers.  Many used these boats for pleasure or simply to 
Winter time created great excitement because of the frozen conditions of the canal with iIce skating being very popular make extra money. Frequently their craft was used to make a living. 


The shanty boat people used the canal as a living place. They would tie up at one place for a day or perhaps for a year, and would eventually move on to another location. These people raised their families in this fashion, the decks being the playground for the children.  Some even stopped and raised gardens. 


A type of floating saloon or entertainment boat was also a part of the canal.


Ice ponds were found virtually all along the canal system. These ponds were used for the making of ice which was used practically all year round.     


Gentle slopes were built around a low place to the side of the canal. Water from the canal was funneled to these low areas which in turn would make man-made lakes. 


With the freezing of the lakes in the winter months a method for cutting the ice was developed. First the ice was marked by hitching a horse to an ice-marking device. This device made long lines parallel to one another.  A hole was cut into the ice and a saw was used to cut along the already marked lines. Small cakes of ice were then cut measuring about two by three feet with a minimum thickness of ten inches. 


A narrow opening was cut in the ice to allow the ice to be transferred from the pond/lake to the always present ice house which was near by.  The ice was moved through a channel to a platform in the ice house. The ice was stockpiled for the summer and covered with sawdust, straw, or shavings. The canal not only supplied the ice but it also supplied a means of transportation to a designated area. 


SURNAMES AND THEIR ORIGIN

As a multa-national country, we are inclined to have a vast mixture of names. Every nationality has its own personal names, and the joining of two or more nationalities greatly increases the number of such names in a country. The population of the United States is made up primarily of people from European countries and their associated names, thus constituting a multitude of surnames. 


The word "surname" is defined as an additional name given to the first name, or a given last name. These surnames originated as descriptions of the person for reasons of better identification. They described one individual and not his whole family. 


By the end of the fourteenth century, English surnames were generally hereditary. However, in France the process evolved a little later, and in Germany, a little later, yet. The population  of Venice adopted a hereditary surname system during the tenth and eleventh centuries, they being the first in Europe. Countries such as Norway, Sweden, Turkey, and the mountainous regions of Wales and Scotland, adopted the present system in more recent times.


Nobles and landowners, in most countries, were the first to adopt the hereditary name system. Many in this societal pattern adopted their surnames from the lands they held, and thus the sons inherited the land as well as the name.  The same is true of occupational names such as Smith, Turner, Carpenter, etc. 


The surname of the lower class, or occupational class, was generally adopted by the son since he learned or followed his father's trade. The occupational name could be said to have been inherited only when the son followed another trade, but still retained his father's surname.  


As per the Middle Ages, while a man lived in a town or village, that town or village would be a source for everyone's name. As the individual left his birthplace or village and moved to another location, he would be called by the village or land so named. The spelling of the surname generally changed along with the spelling of the town name in most cases. 


In English speaking countries the freedom of choice often led to a surname being used as a first name. The first name, or Christian name, for a long period of time, was the only one recognized by law, and the additional name was merely a word or description to identify one person from another of the same given name.  


Personal characteristics have led to the growth of many English names such as Long, Longman, Longfellow, Short, Small, Strong and Gray. Also complexions have contributed their share such as Black, Brown, White, but the name Green has come from the village green, or grassy ground. 


Many British geographical names have also been inherited as surnames such as Ross, Carlisle, Lincoln, and Wells, which are towns in England. From Wales we have the surnames of Wales, Welsh, Walsh and Wallis. 


A description of the situation or the locality could have led to the two name system, such as John at the mill, or John Mill. Other similar incidents could have led to the names of Hill, Dale, Wood, Forest, Greathouse, Parks, Marsh, Pond, Ford, etc. 


I shall now attempt to identify some Campbell County names and their origin. 
Many spelling versions are slightly moderated, but most are synonymous  with  their  identity.


LEACH, English name,  it meaning dweller at or near the Leach (stream), a river in Gloucestershire; a bloodletter or physician. ADKINS, English name, meaning red earth, red;  DAUGHERTY, Irish name, meaning unfortunate. MARLOW, English name, one who came from Marlow (lake remains), in Buckinghamshire; dweller at the hill by the lake.  WARD, English name, guard, keeper, or watchman; dweller near a marsh. BULLOCK, English name, dweller at the sign of the young bull; one with some quality of a young bull. HEATHERLY, English name, dweller in the thin wood where low shrubs or heather grew; one who came from Hatherleigh (thorn wood), in Devonshire. ROACH , (Roche, Roch, Rocher) French and English name, dweller near a rock; one who came from Roche (rock) in Cornwall or  from Roche (rock), the name of many places in France. SHARP, English name, An acute, keen-witted or quick person. GOINS, (Goines, Goinges, Goin),  French name,   meaning God's friend. MILLER, English name, one who grinds grain. 


PHILLIPS, Welsh and English name, one who loves horses. COOPER, English name, one who made and sold casks, buckets and tubs. COKER,  English name, one who came from Coker (water) in Somerset, a hayworker. HAINES, English name, one who came from Haynes (enclosures), in Bedfordshire; dweller near the hedged enclosures. HALE, Welsh and English name, dweller at the corner, nook, small hollow, or secret place, name of several places in England.  NICKELSON, Swedish and Norway name,  Scandinavian form of Nicholas (people's victory). JACKSON, English name, a pet form of John (gracious gift of Jehovah). RAY, English name, one who played the part of the king in play or pageant; one who was connected in some way with a king's household. MAXWELL, English and Scottish name, dweller by the big spring. 


As one may guess, Campbell County names just keep on-a-goin'.  Perhaps at another time we shall continue on this subject.

APPALACHIAN MUSIC AND ITS ORIGIN


I have always had a keen interest in bluegrass music. Just where did this culture, as I call it, come from?  After careful research I found  it to be of Celtic origin. The  descendancy  of the Celtic people is Irish, or Scots-Irish, or Welsh, or Scottish. 


The Celtic people settled the Appalachian region and  immediately they found they had  almost as much as they could handle. This mountainous region was full of bears, Indians, the wilderness, severe weather, and ,of course, the mountains, just to name a few. Their ethnic origins were not important at this time for they had escaped their oppressor, poverty and persecution. Now they had a new world to conquer. 


Leaving Europe and coming to America was justly hard for a spell, but after just one generation they had overcome and forgotten the barbaric livelihood of the mother country. Today, some 300 years later,  hardly a trace of their ancestry is visible.  


The Treaty of Paris, in 1763, caused France to give up its American land to the English, setting in motion the start of a large expansion through and into the Appalachians from 1775 through 1850. 


Most of the Scots-Irish came to Pennsylvania as indentured servants. When their terms were served they found land too expensive and so went south into the mountains. To survive this ordeal in the Southern Mountains, you needed to be resourceful, healthy and knowledgeable. Frontier life was difficult and a laborious struggle. People needed to rely upon each other, which included social  and religious events, the latter of which  was a highly cherished  virtue.


Irishmen were living in Appalachia before the days of the American Revolution. However, many folks think they arrived here in the 19th Century during the potato famine. 


These Catholic Irishmen found a difficult problem in their new land. There was at this time an absence of priests and  churches in the new country that practiced Catholicism. Their religious life, being of utmost importance, found many  other ordained organizations in which to participate, such as Presbyterians, Methodists, and Baptists, the latter for which most partook. If one were to look into the Baptist rolls today they could possibly find such names as Murphy, Mullins, and O'Brien.  

Misical Heritage


Musical traditions from the home country were important links to the past which were cherished and passed down from generation to generation. Time-honored Appalachian music is mostly based upon anglo-saxon ballads and  instrumental dance tunes, the former always being sung unaccompanied, and usually by women. These ladies were fulfilling roles as keepers of the families' cultural heritage, and rising above grim boring work through envisions of escape and revenge. These ballads were sung from the British tradition of the single personal narrative. 


The vocal "fill-in" found in many Celtic ballads seems to have led to that element of nasal quality preferred by many traditional Appalachian singers. 


The churches of America were very influential and usually more stuffed-shirt in nature. Many lyrics were sedated and cleaned up. British rule was frowned upon;  this censorship resulted in ballads where repentance and doom replaced sinful conduct.      


Of the two different types of Appalachian music one came from the African tradition, which reflected an actual event or movement with real characters. The second ballad style was from the popular music source of the parlor or sentimental ballad. The latter derived mostly from the Victorian or Edwardian eras, and thus  were presented in Minstrel Shows, eventually lapsing into a folk culture through sheer duplication.


As was mentioned earlier, the African-American slaves conveyed a real tradition of group singing of community songs of work and worship. This culture was usually lined out by one person with a call and response action from a group. The impact of the African music began to change the rhythms of Appalachian singing and dancing. 


Introduction of the banjo to the Southern Mountains after the Civil War in the 1860's energized this process. This instrument was originated in Arabia, and then brought to western Africa by the spread of Islam, and from this point it ended up in America. The banjo was designated as a slave instrument until the popularity of the Minstrel Show, which began in the 1840's. Its different rhythm type produced a different  clog-dance and song beat by the turn of the 19th Century.


One type of music stood out in Appalachia more than any other, religious; white country gospel music excelled by far the greatest. The Colonial period found that the press was controlled by the clergy who had no interest in this "earthly" type of music. 


There were three types of religious music-- that of ballads, hymns, and revival spiritual songs. The latter directly descended  from the African song tradition.


Instruments of many types, along with the banjo,  were used in the song of the Appalachians. The fiddle was at first the main instrument as a piano would have been too expensive to purchase. Initially, the tones and musical qualities of the fiddle portrayed  those of the ballad. The "reel" is generally thought to have been created  in the Scottish highlands in the mid-eighteenth century. In the 1740's, Neil Gow, a Scottish fiddler, is credited with developing the the rhymic short bowstroke technique that eventually fashioned the Appalachian moutain fiddling. 


Another distinctive Appalachian feature was the "rocking of the bow" on the fiddle. Many players began to use tunings different from the standard classical to intensify the high lonesome sound. Words were applied to the fiddle tunes and when the fiddle player needed rest, the "caller" would take over and give the fiddler a break by singing the calls.   


Popularity of the guitar began about 1910. With this addition the fiddle player, who mostly played alone,  now had a rhythm section. The guitar produced an even backup of a measured beat; it also lent its music to the singing traditions in the same way. 


The Irish also added to the mountain music by the sound of their pipes and their undertones.

A Short History of Tennessee


England and France had begun successful colonization of America almost simultaneously, Jamestown in 1607 and Quebec in 1608. And in the course of their expansion they had by the middle of the 18th century engaged three times as each of them moved toward claims in the upper reaches of the Ohio River; the British colonists were along the Appalachian frontier. 


The latest conflict was indeed a French and Indian war. Indians tended to side with the fur trading French against the land hungry colonial farmers. But the British had support of the Iroquois in New York and the English had sought support of the Cherokee in the Southern Appalachians.


In 1730, Sir Alexander Cumming had brought Attacullaculla (Cherokee Indian chief) and several other chiefs to England to impress them with the "great white father" and sign a treaty. At Attacullaculla's request, both Virginia and South Carolina built forts on the Little Tennessee River for the protection of Cherokee women, children and elderly. In 1757 South Carolinians finished theirs. Fort Loudon, never the less, was the British effort to obtain Cherokee support. This failed after their mistreatment and in 1760 with French encouragement the Cherokee captured the fort. British Capt John Stuart survived and was to become the Indian superintendent for the South. Two expeditions were sent and the 2nd recovered the fort. Meanwhile victories at Montreal and Quebec secured victory for the British crown.


It has been said that the history of the U.S began with the fall of Quebec. However, at this historic time, the account of the Wataugan settlement began.


The Royal Proclamation forbade British settlement and colonial land grants beyond the West of the Appalachians. This land was supposedly reserved for the Indians. This would abort the plans of Virginia land companies. The frontier settlers were dismayed, these border people hearing of the fertile valleys, from the militia, and long hunters, hesitated, but only briefly, as they crossed the invisible line.


Squatter’s holdings prompted a treaty by John Stuart defining a new Cherokee frontier in Virginia. More immigrants then poured over into the valley, and by the end of 1768 were moving toward the Watauga River.



Historical accounts raise questions about their identity, in terms of colonial, cultural, and class origins. Most of them came down the Holston River from Virginia in a normal progression. Some were immigrants, coming from North Carolina who chose to cross the mountains because of political unrest. Most notably, The Regulator Movement, was a revolt of farmers against oppressive taxation.



Admirers of the Wataugans traditionally have found direct ties between them and the Regulators and their movement in North Carolina, from 1765 thru 1771. To them, they were men of "regulating" ideology. Others say that it is no compliment to tie the Wataugans to the Regulator movement. After making a pathetic showing in battle, they loved their liberty. They were men who went to Watauga, disheartened by defeat and fled. These poor idle losers were hardly of the caliber of the spiritual leaders.



George Bancroft stated that "The Regulators were from the connecting link between the resistance to the Stamp Act and the movement of 1775, and they also played a glorious part in taking possession of the Mississippi valley" And also, some stragglers, traders, and long hunters.



Daniel Boone had come as early as 1760. Nineteenth century writers have regularly highlighted the Scotch-Irish origins of the early settlers. One declared that every Tennessean descending from our first hardy settlers is to put down as of this people, if he can not prove his descent otherwise! 



It is noteworthy that among the leading figures here, national origins were unquestionably mixed. James and Charles Robertson - Scotch-Irish John Sevier - French Hugenot - Evan and Isaac Shelby - Welsh William Bean - Scotch highlander - John Carter and Jacob Brown - English.



No doubt there was a rowdy element, and other fugitives from justice. There was a backcountry "society" as well. John Lucas and John Carter were from well-known Virginia families. These first permanent settlers of record arrived in 1779. William Bean of Virginia had already been here on hunting expeditions with Daniel Boone. In 1768, he cleared some land, and settled on Boone's creek, later joined by his family. Members of the Bean family were well known in civil and military affairs in the Watauga valley. 



In 1769, the Cherokees were engaged in a war with the Chickasaw, to the west. They lost the war, and half their number, helping to explain the survival of the Watauga settlement during it's early months. 


In 1770, James Robertson visited Sycamore Shoals (present day Elizabethton). He played a part in the early history of Watauga, as well as in Nashville. He is honored in text as the "Father of Tennessee". The Beans were several miles downstream. Sycamore Shoals became a rendezvous for those who followed. Some confirmation of growth occurred when John Stuart again negotiated for land with the Cherokee, in Oct 1770. In 1771, Jacob Brown, merchant from South Carolina bought rights on the Nolichuky River, bringing with him North Carolina farmers, including William Clark and William Closin. John Carter arrived about the same time, from Ambest, Virginia to Carter's valley.


After the second agreement, the area was surveyed again, and those west of the new line were told to remove themselves forthwith. Daniel Boone advised against leaving, saying "Now's the time to keep the country!" The decision was made. They would ignore the English agents, and deal with the Indians, and lease the land from them, a ten-year lease for some $6000. There was some opposition as the Cherokee were divided. A direct result of leasing the land was the organization of a government. They met in May 1772, to agree on "Written Articles of Association". The political history of Tennessee began with this meeting. Two reasons were given in forming a government, being geographically isolated from North Carolina and outside the jurisdiction of Virginia.



They took the Virginia laws for their guide. The Wataugan constitution and the records of their government have perished. When the Association dissolved, the documents fell into private hands. They are known through the Wataugans own brief collective testimony and the testimony of early historians of Tennessee. Mose Fisk, who knew James Robertson, wrote, in 1816, that a code of laws was drawn up to be signed by every individual. If anyone should refuse, he was disbarred from its benefits.



The articles were the first constitution west of the Appalachians, and the first written constitution formed by native-born Americans. They created a separate state, The Republic of Wataugan, was ascension of a very real independence. The Articles was a forerunner to several Associations that followed The Cumberland Compact (1780) and The Constitution of Franklin (1785).



The Wataugan Assn. was one of the most comprehensive democratic agreements ever penned in the New World, free of religious tests, and class distinctions. Not all historians take such an exalted view. But a letter penned to the British Sec. of State, for Colonial Affairs, the Earl of Dunmore, "There being actually a set of people in the back part of this colony, bordering on the Cherokee country, who finding they could not obtain the land they fancied under any of the neighboring governments, have settled upon it without, and contented themselves with becoming a manner tributary to the Indians. It at least sets a dangerous example to the people of America, of forming governments distinct from, and independent of, His Majesty's authority."

MINE MULES


It seems that most people would find the subject of mine mules interesting. They are part of the long history of the mining industry. In the 16th through the 18th century in the United Kingdom, the mine industry used humans as a beast of burden. Most times, it was children and women who carried or dragged the baskets of coal or rock to the main shafts. In 1842, the United Kingdom passed laws against girls and women working in the mines. Then in time they used small ponies to do the job. 


Later, the United Kingdom passed laws against ponies in the mines but for a short while they used boys to pull the cars to the shaft. In the United States, some of the oldest mines used oxen and then mules to pull the coal cars inside and outside the mines. In the early to mid-1950’s, one mine facility used mules right up to the period of shutting down most of the mine operations. They kept the last mules probably more as a memento to the past but the company also utilized them in areas where the electric mine motors might cause certain problems. In some areas there might have been a minor gas problem and an overhead electric trolley line could spark an explosion.


Mules were many times being used for outside haulage. The engineers laid out the tunnels so that there was a slight pitch and the loaded cars moved with the pitch.


One coal company owned between 800 and 1,000 mules at one time. Mine mules were kept in underground stables along with a stable boss. Each driver was supposed to be in the mines by at least 4 a.m. to curry, feed and baby his mules in preparation for a hard day's work.


These mules were sure-footed, sturdy animals with a first-rate amount of common sense. They took well to their education for work in the mines and learned teamwork quickly. Natural leaders were made leaders of the team, pulling harder than the others, spurring them on, and guiding them over rails, switches and timbers.


The general behavior of the mules depended to a large extent on the ability of the driver to handle them and the number of mules in his team measured a man's prestige among other mule drivers. Those having six mules stood proudly at the top of the list.


Single mules pulled cars leaving the working faces of the mines and as they reached the more important gangways, then the cars were transferred along with others to a two or three mule team to haul the cars to the main gangways. They used a six-mule team to pull 25 or more cars.


Usually when brought to the surface, the mules tremble at the earth glowing in the sunshine. Later, they go almost mad with bizarre joy. The full majesty of the outside, the heavens, the grass, the trees, the breezes, suddenly sparkle their very existence. They jaunt and twist with excessive mulish glee. A miner mentioned of a mule that had spent some feverish months upon the surface after years of labor in the mines. Finally the time came when he was to be taken back. However, the mere mention of an existence of long ago was upon him and he knew that he was about to be thrown back into the wolf’s gnarling mouth, which threatened to swallow him. No amount of persuasion was to get this mule back into the deep darkness. The men held conventions and discussed plans to budge that mule. The mule had persisted so long in his freedom, which ultimately won him his liberty and allowed him to stay on the surface.


After being long in the mines, the mules are apt to duck and dodge at the close glare of lamps, but some of them have been known to have piteous fears of being left in the dead darkness. One man relates that he met a boy who said that sometimes the only way he could get his team to move was to run ahead of them with the light. Afraid of the darkness, they would follow. To those mules that have known the sunlight there may come the dream of a lost paradise. Perhaps this is what they brood over as they stand solemnly flapping their ears. Perhaps, through their own thoughts, they despair and thirst for this paradise that lies to them in an unknown direction and at impossible distances.


By 1929 electric motors replaced most mules in under ground workings and the mine mules were added to the list of coal oil lamps, horses and buggies and other relics.  An electric motor needed no time to rest, stables weren’t necessary; or veterinarians to keep it in shape. It could haul fourteen cars of coal whereas a mine mule could do its best with only 4 to 8. Hence the mine mule was on its way to extinction. Some miners were sad to see their “buddy” go. The four footed faithful but somewhat loose footed friend of the hard coal miner of the past century was to be retired. 

. Jellico Coal 

The following account concerning the Jellico Coal system is taken from Hayden Siler’s historical description written in 1938. Since I can’t possibly improve on his writings, I will record it as he wrote it.



The second thing that had happened to the small village of Smithburgh between 1878 and 1833 was the discovery of coal in the nearby Jellico Mountains, and the opening of mines. Mining began in 1882 and 1883 with the advent of the railroads. 

The Jellico Coal Co., (later the Woolridge Jellico Coal Co.) was actively developing the Jellico seam of coal in 1882, and shipped its first cars in 1883. The Standard Company opened the same seam in 1883 and shipped its first car in January, 1884. Smithburgh changed the name of its post office in August of 1883 because the Jellico Coal was becoming so famous. Who named the seam of coal Jellico from the mountain is not known, but it was probably some early geologist or promoter. Just who first "discovered" the Jellico Coal is not know, nor how the earliest promoters became interested in the region. Suffice to say that Mr. B. R. Hutcharaft of Lexington, Ky., Col. Sam Woolridge of Versailles Ky., a Mr.. Kidd, and John Oliver, Horace, and James Fox of Bourbon County, Ky., were the earliest developers of the Jellico Coal in the mines at Woolridge, Standard, Proctor (then known as Red Ash),and Kensee, all of which mines were operating by 1885. Mr. Hutchcraft was also a geologist. 


The Fox brothers were particularly interested in the Proctor Coal Co., and it was while living there that John Fox, Jr. the noted novelist, got the inspiration for his novel, Mountain Europa and characters for other novels. The Dupont family at one, time owned Kensee, later selling it to Marcellus E. Thornton who was author of "My Buddy and I" 
Col. Charles, F. Johnson was another early promoter. After 1835 the growth of the town was rapid, with many new mines opened in the vicinity. Crandall's report on Whitley County (Kentucky Geological Survey, 1885) has said, "Of the coals in the measures above the conglomerate division the bed known as the Jellico seam is the most, important...The Jellico coal is already most favorably known in the market, and the question of its extension and relation to the surface features of the country has a corresponding importance. In its relation to the topography of the hill region to which it is here limited, it ranges from 200 to 400 feet above the main water courses...In this region this bed is exceptionally persistent in its structural characteristics, as it is as it is also in its composition, being unusually free from excesses of ash and sulphur throughout... From the preceding-description of the Jellico coal, with its regional extension, it will be seen that it is a bed of great importance to the county, and to the coal trade...The Jellico coal is recognized as a steam and a grate coal of the first rank, and as such it has become the basis of one of the largest coal mining interests in the state. The mining plants in operation here are on a scale suited to a growing industry..." 


The capacity of the five mining plants is in excess of the railroad transportation provided, especially to the southern markets. The increasing demand for this coal makes additional transportation lines a necessity, the meeting of which will add greatly to the industrial wealth of the county. In the same report Crandall mentioned that "Below the Jellico seam 100 to 125 feet, in a portion of the Whitley region, is a bed which will find a ready demand from its free-burning qualities. It is known as the Birds-eye coal, from the peculiar pitted fracture which it exhibits in unusual perfection ... The field for this coal is the Patterson Creek region, and the heads of adjacent creeks, Big and Little Caney, Mud and Poplar Creeks." Crandall's prophecy about this coal came true, the railroad to the Bird-Eye camp was completed in 1893, and the camp enjoyed several years of prosperity but has not completely disappeared. 


In 1889 there was a strike of three months duration in the Jellico coal field, which was responsible for the shortage of that year. The loss caused by the strike was estimated at 60,600 tons. In 1897 Whitley County fell from the second to fifth place in the line of production due to another extended strike in the Jellico district. The first strike was caused because the miners wanted a check weighman; the strike of 1897 came about because of a reduction in the price paid the miners, and was settled by a compromise with Bank rules being agreed upon. 

Communities of Campbell County


The following is a short history of the various communities that comprise Campbell County, Tennessee. These sketches were published in the LaFollette Press during Homecoming ‘86. Credit for these historical accounts go to Larry Smith, Publisher of “The LaFollette Press.” For history reasons these communities will be run in the “Press”  for the next few weeks.
ANTHRAS

Anthras (pronounced ann’-thruss), was given its name, which is a derivation of “anthracite”, by L. I. Coleman, president of the Tennessee-Jellico Coal Company. Established in 1909, its population of 250 in 1930 had increased to an estimated 500 in 1938. Seventy-five miles north of Knoxville, the little mining community is located on the Clear Fork River in the northeastern portion of the county near the Claiborne County border line. The Louisville and Nashville and the Southern Railroads, and State Highway No. 90 serve the village. Its public buildings include one graded school and one church of Baptist denomination. (Della Yoe, author April 12, 1939) Authority: H. P. Montgomery, postmaster, Anthras, Tennessee. 

BLOCK

Block, unincorporated, a mining community derived its name from a seam, or thick vein, of coal called a “block”. It has a population of 135, and is located in the western part of the county about forty-five miles north and west of Knoxville. It is served by the Southern Railroad and State 63 highway. Coal mining is the only industry. There is one Baptist church, and educational facilities are provided by two graded schools. The village was settled in 1889. (Della Yoe, author May 2, 1939) Source: Sam B. Hatmaker, postmaster, Block, Tennessee. 

CARYVILLE

Caryville, unincorporated, was given its present name in 1866 in honor of Judge William Carey of Virginia. When first settled it was called Wheeler’s Station for H. D. Wheeler, owner of the land site and one of the community’s first merchants. The estimated population is 1,000. It has an altitude of 1,099 feet and was settled in 1866. Located in the southwestern part of the county thirty-five miles northwest of Knoxville. It is served by the Southern Railway, and is on State Highway 63 , U. S. Highway 25W . Scenic and recreational environments include Cove Lake and Cove Lake State Park which are in the immediate proximity of Caryville, and were known as Caryville Lake and Park, respectively, until 1938 when that section was developed into a recreation area by the Tennessee Valley Authority through the Civilian Conservation Corps (C.C.C.) labor in cooperation with the Tennessee Department of Conservation. Caryville has one high and one graded school and one each Baptist and Methodist churches. It is a coal mining town with no other industries in 1939. (Della Yoe, author, April 14, 1939) Authority: Postmaster, Caryville, Tennessee. 

Additional information from Questionnaires: Caryville: The Greyhound Bus serves the town. The assessed property value in the town limits is $75,000. The town has no tax since it is unincorporated, but the county rate is $3.88 per hundred. There are thirteen retail stores in the town. (Information furnished by Roy Asbury). 

CHASKA

Chaska has an estimated population of 150, and is an unincorporated village located in the northern part of the county on the Louisville & Nashville Railroad and on Highway US 25W, fifty-nine miles north and west of Knoxville. It is situated in an agricultural section and has no other industries. The educational facilities are provided by a county school nearby, and it has one Union church building that serves all denominations. Chaska was settleed about 1820. (R. R. Humphries, Author, June 2, 1939) 

CLINCHMORE

Clinchmore took its name from the Clinchmore Mining Company, the opening of whose coal mine in 1929 started the settlement. It is an unincorporated village with an estimated population of 400. Located on a three-mile spur of the Tennessee Railroad, a short line operating between Oneida and Fork Mountain, Clinchmore is in the southern part of Campbell County about sixty miles north of Knoxville. Coal mining is the only industry. It has a graded school and one church of the Baptist denomination. (R. R. Humphries, Author, April 27, 1939) 
Source: Myrtle E. DeLaney, postmaster, Clinchmore, Tennessee. Additional Information from questionnaires: 
CLINCHMORE: Clinchmore is 13 miles from U. S. 25W. The Tennessee Railroad is not a part of the L&N or southern, but is a private branch road from Oneida to Fork Mountain (which is the end of the line). Clinchmore is on a branch of that line – a distance of three miles from Sean, Tennessee to Clinchmore. 

COTULA

Cotula, unincorporated, was originally called Gatliff in honor of Dr. A. Gatliff, a prominent physician of the locality. In 1908, when the railroad was built through the section, the new name Cotula was manufactured by the combination of two letters each from three of the Louisville & Nashville Railroad stations, Chaska, LaFollette, and Louisville. It is a village with 300 (1930) population, and is located near the central part of the county nine miles north of LaFollette, and about forty-three miles north and west of Knoxville. The Louisville and Nashville Railroad and Highway US 25W serve the community, which is chiefly engaged in coal mining, and was established about 1900. Educational facilities are provided by one graded school, and the denominations of Baptist and Methodist are accommodated by its one church. (Della Yoe, Author, May 12, 1939) Authority: Evan Thornton, postmaster, Cotula, Tennessee. 

Additional information: 

Cotula: The Gatliff Coal Company opened a mine and built a camp about 1900. The Wynn Coal Company bought the place later and built a larger camp. In addition to coal, there is an abundance of timber in the vicinity. There are two points of interest – The Chimney Rocks and the Oven Springs. The Chimney Rocks are natural formations of rocks resembling chimneys. The Oven Springs is a spring located on top of Cumberland Mountain under a rock having the resemblance of an oven. 

DUFF

Duff, unincorporated, was named for Captain Frank Duff, one of the early settlers of the section. It has a population of 300, and is located in the southern part of the county forty-seven miles north and west of Knoxville. It is served by the Louisville and Nashville Railroad, and by a county road which extends one-half mile to US 25W highway. Coal mining, timber and truck farming are the chief industries. Educational facilities are provided by one graded school, and the two churches are of the Baptist and Holiness denominations. Duff was settled in 1868. (Della Yoe, Author, May 5, 1939) Source: Mary B. Green, postmaster, Duff, Tennessee Additional information: DUFF: The first band mill in the county was installed here at Vestal Lumber Company. A point of interest is Kaho 
Source: Mary B. Green, postmaster, Duff, Tennessee 

Additional information: DUFF: The first band mill in the county was installed here at Vestal Lumber Company. A point of interest is Kaho Cave and Branch – named after the first settlers, a Mr. Kayho. The churches are Clear Branch Baptist and the Church of God. 

ELK VALLEY

Elk Valley, unincorporated, is named for Elk Fork Creek that runs through the valley. Traditionally, the creek was so named because of the abundance of elk found in the valley in early days. The population is estimated at 600. It is located in the northwestern part of the county near Scott County line. It has an altitude of 1, 120 feet and is fifty-four miles northeast of Knoxville and eleven miles south of Jellico. The Southern Railroad and State highway 63 serve the community. The chief industries are agriculture, mining, and lumbering. There is one high school, a graded school and two churches representing the Baptist and Holiness denominations. A scenic point of interest is the new Mammoth Cave situated two miles northeast of the village. Elk Valley was first settled in 1790 by pioneers who came to the section from North Carolina. (Della Yoe, Author, April 24, 1939).Source: Enos L. Lay, postmaster, Elk Valley, Tennessee. 

Additional information: ELK VALLEY: Some of the early settlers were from Virginia. Highway 63 joins 25W at Caryville and Jellico. 

HABERSHAM
Habersham, unincorporated, was given the name of a prominent resident when the local post office was established. Formerly the site had been known as Cupps, also a name which was adopted from that of a family of early settlers. It has an estimated population of 200, and is located in the northeastern part of the county, sixty-four miles north of Knoxville, and is served by US 25W and by the Louisville and Nashville Railroad. It is a coal mining community and supports one graded school and two churches of the Presbyterian and Holiness denominations. Habersham was settled about 1800. (Della Yoe, Author, May 29, 1939) 
Source: Mrs. Grace Lowe, postmaster, Habersham, Tennessee. 

JELLICO

Jellico derived its present name from the Angelica root which grows in the section, and from which early settlers were said to have made an intoxicating drink called “jelca” or “gelca”. From the time of its settlement until 1883 the site was called Smithburg from a number of families named Smith who settled there. It has (1930) a population of 1,530, and is located in the northern part of the county on the Kentucky border. It has an altitude of 982 feet above sea level. The town is served by the Louisville and Nashville and the Southern Railroads, and is on Highway U. S. 25W sixty-five miles north and west of Knoxville. Coal mining, drug manufacture, rain coat factory, and coffee manufacture are the chief industries. Educational facilities are provided by one high and one graded school. There is one newspaper, The Advance Sentinel, a weekly established in 1891, two banks and nine churches of the leading Protestant and Catholic denominations. Jellico was the girlhood home of Grace Moore, opera star, who moved to the town from Cocke County shortly after her birth. She began her career as a choir singer in a local church. Homer Rodeheaver, evangelistic singer, was born at Jellico. Ten miles south of the town is located the Cumberland Mammoth Cave, privately controlled and open to the public. Jellico was settled in 1795 and first incorporated in 1885, and again in 1903 and 1907. (Della Yoe, Author, April 27, 1939) Source: Allen F. Fine, postmaster, Jellico, Tennessee and James H. Siler, Historian, Jellico, Tennessee. 

(Additional information from questionnaires) Several other inquiries had been made about Jellico which revealed the following information: Before the advent of railways, Jellico was simply a trading post represented with one store and post office. It was then known as Smithburg. The first mail pouch to come to Jellico by rail arrived July 1, 1880. From then on rapid strides of progress marked the growth of Jellico, with mines and forests furnishing the bulk of the growth. Mining towns sprang up with the organizations of mining companies. Their supplies were purchased chiefly in Jellico, so Jellico became a leading jobbing center and distribution point for the mines. 

The religious denominations are as follows: Baptist, Catholic, Christian, Church of God (Mountain Assembly), Church of God (Cleveland Assembly). This institution has two separate churches here, Methodist and Presbyterian (meaning not clear). There are Baptist, Christian and Methodist churches for Negroes. 


A Post Office was established here in October 29, 1878, under the name of Smithburg; on August 6, 1883, the name of the office was changed to Jellico. (Source of information: Post Office Department in Washington, D. C.) 

The name of Jellico probably came from the Jellico coal that was coming into prominence just then; it seems that the coal was not named for the town. According to the state geological survey in 1925, the first shipments in the coal were made in 1882 and 1883 with the coming of the L & N and Southern Railroads. The five large mines in the 1880’s in the Jellico region were: Kensee, Proctor (Red Ash), Wooldridge, Standard, and East Tennessee – and all in the Jellico Mountains. The drainage for the Jellico Mountains is Jellico Creek, which rises in Scott County, Tennessee and flows into the Cumberland River in Whitley County, Kentucky below Williamsburg. J. H. Cantrell was the mayor and received $300 a year as salary (1938) . 

The Greyhound and Mountain Bus Lines served Jellico. 

MORLEY

Morley, an unincorporated village in Campbell County, was named for a Mr. Morley, grading contractor for the railroad when it was built through the section. The census of 1930 gave it a population of 200, and the present estimate is the same. It is situated in the northeastern part of the county on the Louisville & Nashville Railroad, and at the intersection of Highway US 25 and State 90, seventy miles north of Knoxville. Morley is strictly a coal mining community. One graded school provides educational facilities, and the one church is of the Baptist denomination. Morley was settled in 1906. (Hazel C. Lander, Author, May 5, 1939) Authority: Carrie Witt, Postmaster, Morley, Tennessee. 

NEWCOMB

Newcomb, Campbell County, was named for Captain Newcomb, surveyor for the railroad, and in charge of the construction camp which was established there, and which formed the nucleus for the settlement. It is unincorporated with a population of 650, and is located in the northwestern part of the county on a county road 3.3 miles south of Jellico (on U.S. 25-W). Also, the village is 62.3 miles north of Knoxville. It has an altitude of 983 feet above sea level. It is served by the Southern Railroad. Coal mining, lumbering, and a spoke factory are the chief industries. One graded school, and one each Baptist and Methodist churches serve the community. This is the birthplace of Homer Rodaheaver, gospel singer. Newcomb became a settlement when the railroad construction camps were located there in 1883. (Della Yoe, Author, May 5, 1939)  Source: James Carson Ridenour, Mayor, Newcomb, Tennessee. 

PIONEER

Pioneer, Campbell County, unincorporated, was given its name by the first pioneer settlements of the section. It has a population of 250, and is located in the northwest part of the county, forty-five miles north and west of Knoxville. It is situated sixteen miles from Jellico on a county road running from Jellico to Caryville both of which towns are on US Highways 25W. The road is known as the Jellico to Caryville Highway. Pioneer is, also, served by the Southern Railroad. Its altitude is 1,547 feet above sea level, and its chief industries are agricultural. It has one graded school and one church (Baptist). Pioneer was settled in 1861. (Della Yoe, Author, May 9, 1939) Source: Sidna Rector, postmaster, Pioneer, Tennessee.

SHEA

(Only the questionnaire was available for this) Shea is in Campbell County about forty miles from Knoxville. It was settled about 1872, and it was noted that there was a newspaper, (but it seems that was newspapers available for daily, weekly, and semiweekly were checked). This information was given by Irona Adkins, the Shea, Tennessee Postmaster. 

HISTORY: Shea Brothers located a logging camp here in 1913. Thje post office was established then, taking its name after the one who was appointed as postmaster, James T. Shea. 


About 1870 the office here was Highhouse. The mail was carried from Oliver Springs on horse back to Highhouse in the county of Campbell and the state of Tennessee. This route included three post officers: namely, Tip, Tennessee, Ligias, and Highhouse. About 1892 this route was extended to Smokey Creek, making four offices on the route. After the railroad came to and through this area those offices were discontinued, and new ones were established with the mail being carried by the mail train. The offices from this station (evidently Shea) and going south consists of Stainville and Charleys Branch, Rosedale, Devonia, and Fork Mountain. For the offices north of Shea, the correct number is not available. 

VASPER

Vasper, an unincorporated village in Campbell County, was first known as LaFollette Junction and changed to Vasper in 1902. No authentic information is available as to origin of the name Vasper, but the village was probably named after the Vasper Coal Company in the vicinity. It has an estimated population of 300. Located in the southern part of the county on the Southern and Louisville & Nashville Railroads, and U. S. 25-W highway, it is 35.7 miles from Knoxville. Its altitude is 1,135 feet. Vasper is a coal mining community and supports one graded school, and one church of the Baptist denomination. It was settled in 1898. (Hazel Lander, Author, May 17, 1939) Source: Mable Byrd, postmaster, Vasper, Tennessee. 

WESTBOURNE

Westbourne, Campbell County, derived its name from the Westbourne Coal Company which opened the mine at this location. It is an unincorporated village with a population of 1,250, and is located in the northeastern part of the county fifty-two miles north of Knoxville. It is situated on a county road there three miles west of US 25W highway, and is also served by a branch of the Louisville and Nashville Railroad. It has an altitude of 1,400 feet and is in a beautiful mountainous section. Its one industry is coal mining. One graded school and one Baptist church serve the village which was established in 1900. (Della Yoe, Author, May 16, 1939) Authority: Lambert C. Idol, postmaster, Westbourne, Tennessee. 

WOOLDRIDGE

Wooldridge, Campbell County, was named for S. L. Wooldridge, president of the Wooldridge Coal Company which operates a mine in the vicinity. It has a population of 630 (500 in 1930). Located in the northwestern portion of the county near the boundary line of Scott County, it is on a spur track of the Southern Railroad, built to serve the mine. It is one and three-fourths miles west of Newcomb, and is on a county road. Wooldridge Pike, about two miles southeast of Jellico, which is on U. S. Highway 25-W, and about 61 miles north of Knoxville. It is strictly a coal mining community. There is one graded school in the village, and one church of the Baptist denomination. It was settled in 1882, and is unincorporated. (Hazel C. Lander, Author, June 5, 1939). Authority: J. B. Brickey, postmaster, Wooldridge, Tennessee. 


CONFEDERATE PROCLAMATION TO EAST TENNESSEANS


The people of Tennessee were divided during the Civil War (1861-1865). East Tennessee was Union and Middle and West Tennessee were Confederate. Tennessee Governor Harris called an extra session of the Tennessee Legislature to meet on January 7, 1861.  This Legislature passed a resolution asking the people to vote on the 9th of February for or against a Convention to consider the secession of Tennessee from the Union. The people voted by a margin of four to one against secession.


The Legislature was again called together on April 25th and passed an Ordinance of Secession on May 1st which was submitted by a vote of the people on June 8, 1861. This time a majority of two to one was for secession, although East Tennessee voted against it. East Tennessee petitioned the Legislature to allow them to form a separate State, but were refused. Scott County seceded from the Union. Tennessee ultimately furnished 30,000 troops to the Federal army while 100,000 troops joined the Confederacy.



As a result of this secession vote, East Tennessee was put into a bind. They were harassed, and treated as foreign citizens in their own State by the Confederates. . 


Confederate Major General E. Kirby Smith, commander of the Department of East Tennessee, wrote on April 23, 1862, a proclamation to the disaffected people of East Tennessee. It goes as such:


“The Major-General commanding this department, charged with the enforcement of martial law, believing that many of its citizens have been misled into the commission of treasonable acts through ignorance of their duties and obligations to their State, and that many have actually fled across the mountains and joined our enemies under the persuasion and misguidance of supposed friends but designing enemies, hereby proclaims:


 “1st. That no person so misled who comes forward, declares his error, and takes the oath to support the Constitution of the State of the Confederate States shall be molested or punished on account of past acts or words. 


“2d. that no person so persuaded and misguided as to leave his home and join the enemy [Union] who shall return within thirty days of the date of this proclamation, acknowledge his error, and take an oath to support the Constitution of the State and of the Confederate States shall not be molested or punished on account of past acts or words. 


“After thus announcing his disposition to treat with the utmost clemency those who have been led away from the true path of patriotic duty the Major-General commanding furthermore declares his determination henceforth to employ all the elements at his disposal for the protection of the lives and property of the citizens of East Tennessee, whether from the incurious of the enemy or the irregularities of his own troops and for the suppression of all treasonable practices. 


“He assures all citizens engaged in cultivating their farms that he will protect them in their rights, and that he will suspend the militia draft under the State laws that they raise crops for consumption in the coming year.


“He invokes the zealous co-operation of the authorities and of all good people to aid him in his endeavors.


“The courts of criminal jurisdiction will continue to exercise their functions, save the issuing of writs of habeas corpus. Their writs will be served and their decrees executed by the aid of the military when necessary.


“When the courts fail to preserve the peace or punish offenders against the laws these objects will be attained through the action of military tribunals and the exercise of the force of his command.”


W.M. Churchill, Col. and Provost-Marshall wrote on April 23, 1862, his account to the people of East Tennessee. It goes as such:


“To the Disaffected People of East Tennessee: The undersigned, in executing martial law in this department, assures those interested, who have fled to the enemy’s [Union] lines and who are actually in their army, that he will welcome their return to their homes and their families. They are offered amnesty and protection if they come to lay down their arms and as loyal citizens within thirty days given them by Maj.-Gen. E. Kirby Smith to do so.


“At the end of that time those failing to return to their homes and accept the amnesty thus offered and provide for and protect their wives and children in East Tennessee will have them sent to their care in Kentucky or beyond the Confederate States lines at their own expense.


“All that leaves after this date with knowledge of the above acts their families will be sent immediately after them. The women and children must be taken care of by husbands and fathers either in East Tennessee or in the Lincoln Government.”

CONFEDERATE REPORT OF APRIL & MAY, 1862


Confederate Major General E. Kirby Smith reported from headquarters at the Dept. of East Tennessee, on April 30, 1862, that Union troops attacked Cumberland Gap on the day previous in force. He stated that he would go immediately to reinforce Gen. Stevenson with all his available troops. Maj.-Gen. Smith writes that the previous day the Union troops attacked Gen. Leadbetter’s command at Bridgeport. Finding it necessary to retreat, the bridge there was burned by Gen. Leadbetter.


Maj.-General Smith also wrote to Gen. S. Cooper, Adjt. and Insp., that the Union troops attacked at Cumberland Gap. Orders were to move with all their force to Jacksborough. Gen.-Maj. Smith wrote that he would overtake Gen. Cooper that night or the next morning. He ordered the Confederate forces to withdraw all the cavalry, except one company at Clinton and Cobb’s Ferry. The troops remaining were directed to keep up communication with this point, and also to keep communications open across the country concerning any important intelligence. Orders also included, if practicable, to include six or seven days’ rations, but precautions concerning that the wagons be in condition to travel lightly. Also, the troops should be without impediments and in fighting order, and if the steamboat was located at Clinton, it should be kept there.


Confederate H.L. Clay also wrote on April 30, 1862, that the Major-General had received Maj.-Gen. Smith’s dispatch on the 28th, and directed the former to inform the latter that movement would be immediately with all his disposable force up Powell’s Valley to his assistance. The report stated that Maj.-Gen Smith would be at Jacksborough the next day.


Gen. H.L. Clay ordered a push by forced marches toward Jacksborough and join Brig-Gen. Barton and to leave a sufficient force at Kingston. Gen. Clay also wrote to the Colonel that they should move their regiment immediately to the railroad depot (perhaps Jacksborough), where a train was waiting to transport it to the terminus of the Kentucky Railroad. From that point an order was issued to proceed to Clinton, Tenn., and report to Brig.-Gen. Barton.


Commanding General Smith corresponded on May 3, 1862, from Fincastle, Tenn. to the Major of the Confederate force that since their repulse at Cumberland Gap, on April 29th, the enemy has made no demonstration at that point. The General states that his intelligence received is that they are removing the obstructions in the Big Creek Gap road west of Fincastle. Gen. Smith writes that with his effective force of 1,500 troops, he shall operate through the mountain on their rear, which is beyond support from the main body at Cumberland Ford.


Gen. Smith also states that as small as his command is at this point, it was all the disposable force in the department, and was collected from every direction to co-operate with Gen. Stevenson at Cumberland Gap.


The Georgia regiments ordered to the department were weak when reported; they were so reduced in size by measles, mumps, and typhoid fever that the average force was 300. They were also described as disheartened by the sickness and its effects. The Confederate troops later raised in Tennessee suffered the same conditions.


Gen. Smith’s intelligence became conclusive that the enemy was concentrating on an attack at Cumberland Gap. He immediately telegraphed Gen. Marshall and asked for his cooperation. Gen. Marshall replied that his command, all told, did not number 1,000, and he was inclined to doubt the accuracy of Gen. Smiths’ information. Apparently Gen. Marshall had been so often deceived himself, etc. And so, the reliability of Gen. Marshall’s command was put on the back burner.


Gen. Smith relates that the people of East Tennessee believed his force to be large and effective. The General declared in his correspondence that he had exposed its weakness and efficiency to his own department.


Gen. Smith stated that “I shall resist the enemy’s entrance into East Tennessee with all the means at my disposal, but with the people in my midst enlisted against me, and with a force of at least four to one, more efficient and better equipped, it will be alone assistance from the High that enables us to maintain possession of the department. In case of any irretrievable disaster, I have given instructions to the chiefs of the departments for the quiet and speedy removal of all their stores.”

MOUNTAIN LUMBERING


Mountain lumbering during the end of the 19th century was performed with little mechanical engineering, as it was done by man and his animals. Location of the timber meant little or nothing to the skill of the mountain lumberjack. He would evaluate the forest, hill, vale and mountainside and put his dexterity to work. 


While taking logs down mountainsides, various methods were used, all according to the circumstances. Sometimes the men constructed dry segments, which reached from the upper edge of a cliff or a rock edge to the base of a hill. The method used was by laying large poles or trunks of straight trees together the whole distance. This was so constructed as to keep the log from running off the sides. 


Logs were rolled into the upper end, the descent or dip often being very steep. The log would then pass on with lightning-like velocity, and in the wintertime, burying itself in snow and leaves below. The roughness of the surfaces caused the friction to be very great, causing the bark and smoke to fly profusely. 


During this time of the year, many times, when the descent was more gradual, and not too steep, and when there was not an adequate supply of logs to pay the expense of a slice-way, a large tree was felled, the top trimmed out, the largest limbs subsequently being cut off approximately a foot from the trunk. This was attached to the end of the log by strong chains, and as the oxen pulled the load, its undersized limbs were thrust into the snow and frozen ground. This feat prevents the load from forcing the oxen teams forward too quickly. Should the chain give way, which attaches the hold-back to the load, nothing could save the teams from sudden devastation. 


To acquire logs in such hazardous locations was truly dangerous as well as difficult. It was indeed a dazzling display to witness the descent of these massive logs, breaking and quaking whatever might hinder their erratic plunge down the steep mountainside, making the mountains echo and ring with the concussion. 


In other instances loads were eased down hillsides by the use of “tackle and fall,” or by taking a bite around a tree, and hitching to one yoke of the oxen. In this method the load is tailed down steep settings where it would be impossible for the lead oxen to resist the pressure of the load. Sometimes when the whole load is propelled downward the poor oxen are subjected to a horrible death. 


After the immense trees are finally on level ground, the atrocious road is repaired. New skids are peeled by hewing the bark of the trees smoothly and laid along the road. All needful repairs are made on the bobsled, which positioned the team in challenging difficulties. Trees intended for the big load were carefully prepared, and hauled to some fitting place on the main road where they are reloaded, putting on two and sometimes three large trees. With everything in readiness, the men followed up with handspikes and long levers. And then comes the tug of war. The entire load is moved forward, necessitating every ounce of strength, both from men and oxen united, to perform the feat of getting it to the landing. 


Logging roads were generally laid out with due regard to the conveniences of level or gently descending ground. But in some instances the unevenness of the country exhibited adverse options. Sometimes there were moderate increases to ascend or descend on the way to the landing. 


Every lumberjack carefully watches his oxen. He sees that each animal is performing his duty in urging forward the laboring sled. He examines every hoof, the clatter of shoes, to detect any lameness. He observes every part and joint of the bobsled while it shrieks along under the gigantic log bound to it. He examines the chains, and above all, the ful-hook and the dog-hook, the former that it does not work out, the latter that it does not lose its grappling hold upon the tree. There is really too much to be looked after in his passage to the landing to allow much boredom or leisure. 


However, after his load is sold and on his return home, the mountaineer lumberjack exhibits relaxation and comfort in his surroundings. The hanging, jingling chains conduct a constant chorus as they trail along the hard-beaten path. With his staff under his arm, he leisurely walks along, thinking as he goes, releasing from his mouth the twisting smoke from his reliable pipe which resembles a walking chimney. He strides steadily along whistling, humming, or sometimes discharging through his fully-toned voice the words of a familiar song, or perhaps a tune that has yet to be revealed. And so, this gentleman of the past has helped make our Country what it is today, a “great Nation of the free.”

A SHORT HISTORY OF THE 6TH TENNESSEE REGIMENT


The Union 6th Tennessee Regiment witnessed many scenes through which they passed from time to time. The Regiment consisted of raw recruits among the mountains of Southeastern Kentucky and East Tennessee. Campbell County’s Colonel Joseph A. Cooper commenced the organization of this regiment on or about the 6th of March 1862, at Barboursville, Ky., under the authority of Maj. D.C. Buell commanding the Department of Ohio. This department was confirmed by an appointment from the Secretary of War, date, February 27, 1862, and was mustered into service on March 22, 1862.  


Col. Cooper immediately appointed the Regimental Quartermaster. Recruiting was actively sought after. Many of them were forced from East Tennessee by the severity of the Confederate rule. On April 23 four companies were completed with a Lieutenant being appointed. By May 1st, three other companies were organized and the full quota of field and staff officers was appointed. 


After a march from the northern outlet of Big Creek Gap (LaFollette) to Barbourville and back about June 10th, the regiment took part in the opening, which resulted in the capture of Cumberland Gap on June 17, 1862. It then crossed with the 1st Brigade, to which it was attached, at Big Creek Gap. It then moved up Powell’s Valley, south of the mountains to the rear of the Confederate stronghold. 


While stationed at the Cumberland Gap, the regiment, with all the 1st Brigade, marched to Wallace’s Cross Roads, 18 miles north of Knoxville, where they destroyed a cavalry camp of the enemy, killing and wounding about 60 men. Here they captured some prisoners and returned without a loss. 


About September 1st, 100 men from the Sixth formed part of an expedition, under Col. Cooper, to Big Creek Gap, that killed and captured all but two of a Confederate cavalry company, numbering 112 men. They traveled safely through the lines of the enemy and secured the Gap. 


On September 17th, the 6th Regiment took up the line of march in Morgan’s famous retreat to the Ohio River, which was reached on October 3rd. The regiment was entirely refurbished at Portland, Ohio and was ordered to Gallipolis, Ohio, where it was stationed until November 11, 1862. 


The regiment was then ordered to report for duty to Maj. Gen. Rosecrans, commanding the Department of the Cumberland at Nashville. It was then transported by river and rail, which on November 20th found the 6th Tennessee Infantry encamped on the Franklin Pike, two miles from Nashville. It remained at Nashville until the last of December 1862 when the regiment was detailed as one of an escort on an ammunition train in Rosecrans army. It then engaged in the fiercely contested battle of Stone’s River. Near the Lunatic Asylum, eight miles from Nashville, the Confederate cavalry, under Wheeler, attacked the train. The 6th Tennessee Infantry immediately repulsed the cavalry with considerable loss, with help from 250 recruits from the 2nd Tennessee Cavalry, a regiment already stationed at the front. 


At Murfreesboro, the Sixth remained until April 2, 1863, when it was attached to the 1st Brigade, 2nd Division, 14th Army Corps. On that evening the 1st Brigade was detached and started to Carthage, Tn., by way of Liberty. After a long march the Brigade reached Carthage on the 4th, taking part in a skirmish near Liberty on the 3rd. The regiment then began drilling and scouting the surrounding counties until about August 15th. Then the Sixth, along with the 3rd Tennessee, were stationed at Alexandria, Tn. They were idle for the next two weeks and then relieved the garrison at this place. They were again idle and then relieved the garrison at McMinnville. The 5th Tennessee then relieved them, and about September 10th, crossed the Cumberland Mountains at Beersheba Springs to Jasper, Marion County. 


The Brigade then located to the Tennessee River at the mouth of Battle Creek. After crossing the river, it moved to Chattanooga reserve and took part in the finale of the battle of Chicamauga as part of Granger’s Corp. After this battle, the Brigade was sent to Sale Creek Academy, 28 miles above Chattanooga. The Sixth was then stationed at Blythe’s Ferry to guard the crossing above and below. Here they were quartered, skirmishing with the enemy on the other bank of the river almost daily. They then joined the forces that moved to relieve Union General Ambrose Burnside and participated in the siege of Knoxville, early in December 1863. 


The Sixth then took part in the many movements of the winter of 1863-64. This was known as the campaign of East Tennessee, and to those engaged, as a game of prisoner’s base with Confederate General Longstreet. 


The Sixth was then transferred to the Department of the Ohio and assigned to the Second Division, Twenty-third Army Corps, and in the latter part of April 1864, moved with that Corps to join General Sherman in his great campaign for Atlanta. They then took an active part, losing heavily in the fight around Resaca and engaging in every action from that time until the occupation of Atlanta. During this engagement Capt. Wm. L. Lea, of Co. C, was killed, the only officer of the Sixth Tennessee ever killed in action. 


After the famed declaration, “Atlanta is ours and fairly won,” the 23rd Corps was stationed at Decatur, Ga., until orders to join in the pursuit of Confederate General Hood. The General and his troops were due north destroying Sherman’s line of communication. The pursuit was pressed as far as Galesville, Al., where it was discontinued. The Sixth Tennessee then made preparations for the famed “March to the Sea.” 


However, the 23rd Corp, along with the Sixth Tennessee, was then ordered to report to Maj. Gen. Thomas at Nashville. This outfit, the 1st Brigade, 2nd Division was sent to Duck River to guard its crossings. The stay on Duck River was cut short. The Brigade then moved toward Nashville and quickly found themselves cut off. They then marched to Clarksville, by way of Charlotte, a total of 60 miles in 33 hours. From Clarksville they joined their Corp at Nashville and took part in the battle around that city on the 15th and 16th of December. They then traveled by water to Cincinnati and on to Washington, D.C. by rail in January 1865. 


In February they embarked at Alexandria, Va., and sailed for Fort Anderson, N.C. They then marched on to Wilmington, N.C. On March 6th the 2nd and 3rd Divisions, 23rd Corp, took up the line of march to Kingston, and from there marched with Union General Schofield and met up with Sherman at Goldsboro. The regiment was stationed at Moseby Hall, 14 miles from Goldsboro. Here on March 31st, they were ordered to Morehead City, and there embarked and traveled by way of Fort Monroe to New York City. The Sixth then traveled to Nashville, where on April 27, 1865, all but a detachment of recruits was mustered out of service. The regiment spent three years and moved on foot and otherwise, nearly ten thousand miles.
EARLY FUNERAL BUSINESS IN JELLICO


George W. “Pete” Ellison compiled and recorded incidents found in the Jellico Cox and & Son Funeral Home collections. Ray, Pete’s brother, and Pete bought Ellison’s Funeral Home, which is now Cox and Son, in the summer of 1955 from Rachel Scott. In June 1981, The Ellison Funeral Home was sold to Charles Cox and James Bain. After about two months, Mr. Cox bought out Mr. Bain.


Pete states that in 1910, his father, George W. Ellison, started in the funeral business, which was then called Ellison Furniture and Undertaking. George W. Montgomery, Mr. Shroder, and a man named Smith worked at this time for Mr. Ellison. Ellison is recorded as owning a horse-drawn hearse with Joe Williams and Tom Baker being the drivers. Claude Angel and Kenneth Davenport worked for the furniture store and also helped in the funeral business.


Ray Ellison graduated from embalming school at Cincinnati College in 1921. He built a funeral home in Corbin, Ky. and worked in this area at this trade for two years. Ray was known as the first funeral director around. Pete’s training and knowledge in the funeral business was a result of Ray’s teachings. 


Ray once told Pete to catch a train in the morning to Clear Creek to embalm a body, and then return home by train. The embalming process was usually done in the homes. Back in the 1930s the charge for the funeral home to dig the grave was $5.00. In those days the graves were lined with crepe paper. Pete’s salary at that time was $35.00 per week. 


Pete began work for the funeral home in May 1936. In those days in Jellico there was no formal funeral home. Consequently, they would take the bodies’ home. Then they would find some friends to sit up with them. The folks would arrive at 6 p.m. in the evening, while another group would come in at midnight to stay the rest of the time.


Pete recalls some of the men who worked in their employee. They are Don Davis, Jimmy Huddleson, Elvin Gridges, Tommy Trammel, Hubert Bills, Billy Ratcliff, and Rodney Lee Ellison, son of Pete. Part-time workers were Carter Broughton, Donald Lindsay, Ted Barton, Leo Sharp, Bob Wilson, Jim Large, John Morton, and John Moses. 


Several gravediggers were employed during the many years of Pete’s funeral business. They were Kelly Bowling, whose two sons, Tobe and Raymond, Clarence King Jr., Ed LeForce, Murphy York, Dee Mefford, Carl Bowlin, Joe Shepherd, Aaron Delk, Luke Delk, Clarence King Jr., and Bobby Edwards.


Pete writes that several years ago he went on a funeral of a deceased minister. There were four ministers officiating at this funeral. Also in attendance were other ministers, all of whom sat on the platform. When the ministers in charge had finished the service it was asked if anyone there had anything they wished to say about the deceased. In all, sixteen ministers had “something to say.” The funeral was in the summertime and there was a grocery store near the church. And so, Pete decided to get something to eat. He got a big Pepsi, some cheese and crackers and bologna. The service started at 10 a.m. and he didn’t get back to Jellico until around 5 p.m.


In another service the minister was going down the church aisle and Pete noticed he had “split his britches.” You could readily see his pokie-dot shorts, but there wasn’t anything anyone could do because the service had already begun. 


One time a funeral was commenced and the minister was reading the committal. Pete noticed that the minister stepped back. Everyone wondered what had happened. Immediately a snake was seen crawling across his feet. After the snake had made his crossing the service continued. The snake was killed after the service. 


Pete once buried a man on top of his wife. They dug the grave exceedingly deep and cemented up both sides of the grave and cemented over her. When he died, they also palced him in the grave and cemented his top-side grave. 


Several trips were made to Ohio. The only avenue was by way of 25-W, this being the only road north and south at that time. On the way back from one trip Pete got tired and looked for a service station where he could pull over to sleep. He got in the back of the hearse and lay down on the floor next to the body and took a good nap. When rested, he completed the long drive to Jellico.


Years ago there were toll roads on the way to Ohio. Pete would pay for himself when he crossed the Ohio and Kentucky line and when he returned, he would have to pay for himself and the body.


Pete had a service in which a man had been married four times. At the viewing, there were his three divorced wives and also the wife that he was still married to. They all sat together and talked as nothing had happened. All were friendly toward each other.


One of the drivers was taking a patient to Knoxville who was in a wreck just a few hours before. On the way to Knoxville, he lost control of the ambulance due to slick roads at Lake City. Apparently the back door of the hearse flew open and the patient rolled out the back door and broke his leg.


On July 7, 1944, there was a troop train wreck out at Sandy Beach, which is located about three miles from Jellico. It was the worst wreck that anyone could recall. Several soldiers were killed at the wreck and many died later. Pete remembers that about 16 ambulances were on the spot, some as far away as Knoxville, Harlan, Middlesboro, Corbin, Pineville, LaFollette, Lake City and Williamsburg. The men were all brought to Jellico Hospital and later transferred by the Government to Oak Ridge.


(Material for this article was submitted by Mrs. Pete “Eloise” Ellison.)

SMITHBURG AND THE RAILROADS


Since a proposed passenger railroad line is in the making from Jellico to Oak Ridge, the writer did some researching and found an excellent account of Smithburg (Jellico) and the railroads written by Jellico historian Hayden Siler in 1938. We shall now take from his writings.


On October 29, 1878, a post office was created that was named Smithburgh with Thomas M. Smith as postmaster; the postal service was located on South Main Street. The name was changed on August 6, 1883, to Jellico. A short five years between these dates proved to be monumental event in the quiet little hamlet.


The year 1878 found the small town of Smithburgh a quiet little burg with its post office serving the Smith and Perkins families and the few who lived in the area. Prior Perkins lived in a small log house on South Main St., which was also the location of Frank Booth. There was also a small house on Fifth Street. Richard Perkins lived on the State line with Thomas Smith, James Smith and Josiah Smith living nearby. 


Main Street was a cornfield, the road leading to Kentucky following the Kentucky Street of today. This road led north to Boston (Lot) and Williamsburg, and south through the present South End across Pine Mountain above Hoot-Owl Hollow (up Anchor Branch), past Stinking Creek and Granddaddy Mountain to Big Creek Gap (LaFollette) and Jacksboro. This particular road was then used most extensively to the south. Another  well used road led through Crouches Creek, and across the mountain to the Hickory Creek segment now dotted with such towns as Morley, Chaska, and Habersham.


The years between 1878 and 1883 found both the Southern and Louisville & Nashville railroads arriving in Smithburgh. The Southern had made previous plans before for a line north from Knoxville. Surveying on this line began in 1867, and continued in phases until 1880. Caryville was reached in 1870 or 1871. 


By 1873 the Louisville and Nashville had reached as far south as Livingston, Rockcastle County, Kentucky. July 1880 found an extension southward of the L.& N., called the Lebanon-Knoxville Branch, This line was begun from Livingston, and in December 1882 had arrived at the Cumberland River at Williamsburg.


With competition growing between these two lines, a race was begun to see which would reach the state line at Smithburgh first. Records show that the Southern line was completed in September 1882 and the L.& N. reached its objective in April 1883, a short four months after leaving Williamsburg. On the other hand, the older residents told stories that the L.& N. actually won the race. If this were the case, the Southern tracks were in essence completed into Smithburgh in September 1882, and so, the first train could not have made the run until after the L.& N. had made its first run. The Southern supposedly had problems with the bridge between Smithburgh and Oswego, which might possibly accounted for the delay. Smithburgh essentially became the station for both lines. On June 4, 1883, through trains were activated between Louisville and Knoxville. 


The L.& N. railroad from Louisville to Smithburgh were manned by conductors John Rose, Dick Delph, Carey Ashby, and Pete Renicker. Engineers were H. Farrar, Phil Soden, S.W. Pettibone, and Dan Sexton. Two freight trains operated between Smithburgh and Livingston and were controlled by conductors John Smith and W.C. Stanfill, with engineers George O’Mary, and John R. Carter.


Another railroad around Jellico was incorporated in 1892 known as the Jellicoe, Birdeye and Northern Railway. This railway was completed to Halsey in September 1893, which opened another rich coalfield for shipping. 


The Knoxville, LaFollette and Jellico Railroad Company was incorporated in Tennessee on April 3, 1902. It was structured by the L.&N., merely for the intention of constructing an additional extension with the Atlanta, Knoxville and Northern R.R. at Knoxville to connect with the L.& N. near Jellico. This line formed a continuous route from Cincinnati and Louisville to Atlanta. In this year, 1902, the L.& N. purchased a greater part of the capital stock in the Atlanta, Knoxville, and Northern, establishing the entire route as the L.&N. 


The extension from Knoxville to Jellico was to built through the Narrows with  construction beginning on May 12, 1902. It was finalized and in operation on April 3, 1905. However, trains had been operating over sections of the road previous to that date. A deed recorded on December 22, 1904, stated that the Knoxville, LaFollette and Jellico Railroad was turned over to the L.& N.


This line bypassed Jellico by a mile and a half. It was built to Saxton and for years a line known as the “Short Dog,” which operated between these hamlets to connect with all passenger trains at Saxton. James Elmore was the conductor.


The Southern Railway, using the L.&N. tracks from Jellico to Holton, constructed the line to Fonde, which was completed in November 1905, just in time to open the Clear Fork Field. The Pruden mine opened in 1906,
HARDTACK


Just what is “hardtack”? It was a ration of hard bread served in the Union Army of the Potomac during the Civil War. Its ingredients consisted of nothing but a mixture of flour and water. One soldier measured a slice of this biscuit and its measurements were three and one-eighth by two and seven-eights inches, and nearly one-half an inch thick. These biscuits were furnished to organizations by weight, and were dealt out to the men by number, nine constituting a ration in some regiments, and ten in others. There was usually enough for those who wanted more, as some men could not acquire a taste for it. 
Hardtack was considered nutritious, as a hungry man could eat his ten in a short time and still be hungry. The soldier would many times suffer from the use of this hardened biscuit. This drawback was that they may have been so hard that they could not be bitten; it then required a very strong blow of the fist to break them. One soldier related that he bit into a portion of hardtack and found something soft. After careful examination, he found it to be a horseshoe nail. 


Causes of the hardness of this biscuit were difficult for an expert to determine. It could not be “soaked” soft, and after a time of a good soaking it took on the elasticity of gutta-percha.


A second condition was that when the hardtack was moldy or wet, which sometimes happened, the biscuit should not be given to the soldiers. Apparently this condition was often due to their having been boxed up too soon after baking. Also, exposure to the weather was a comparable condition. It was an all too common site to see thousands of boxes of hard bread piled up at some railway station or other places used as a base of supplies, where they were only improperly sheltered from the weather, and many times, not sheltered at all. It seems that the failure of inspectors to do their duty was one reason that so many of this sort reached the rank and file of the soldiers.


A third condition was that these boxes were stored and  became contaminated with maggots and weevils; the weevils were more plentiful than the maggots. The weevils physical description is that were a little, slim, brown worm an eighth of an inch in length, which bored their way into the hardtack. 


When the hardtack was moldy and moist, it was thrown away and made good at the next drawing, so that the men were not the losers; but in the case of its being infested with the weevils, as a rule, they had to stand it. The biscuits had to be pretty systematically alive, and well covered with the webs which these life forms left, to insure disapproval. 


The quartermasters often neglected such appalling matters and, consequently, the men snarled at them. Of course, these “leaders” promptly shifted the blame to the next higher power, etc., until the real wrongdoers could be found.


Hardtack was not considered such a bad food product, even when navigated by insects. Eaten in the dark, one could not tell the difference between it and hardtack that was untainted. Common occurrences state that a man would find on the surface of his coffee pot, weevils swimming along after breaking up hardtack in it. These insects were easily skimmed off and left no distinctive flavor behind. One method of getting rid of the weevils was by heating the bread at the fire. 


Most of the bread was made at Baltimore and put in boxes of sixty pounds gross, fifty pounds net. It was said that in some of the storehouses in which it was kept would swarm with weevils in an amazingly short time after the first box was infested with them. 


Many of these biscuits were served to the soldiers plain, and it has already been described as being crumbled and dipped in coffee. Very possibly the hardtack was eaten more-so as described in the latter. Some soldiers crumbled them in soups for want of thickening, which served him best. Some crumbled them in cold water and then fried the crumbs in the juice of fat of meat. Another dish, which was said to make your hair curl, was prepared by soaking hardtack in cold water, then frying them brown in pork fat, salting to taste.


Some liked them toasted, or if butter was available, it made a somewhat “delicious treat.” The toasting normally took place from the end of a split stick, and if they dropped  it into the camp fire, they were quickly “grabbed” to prevent them from getting charred. They were then saved for it was thought that this was good for weak bowels.


Sometimes the bread was worked into milk toast which was made of condensed milk, at seventy-cents a can. Only recruits with a big bounty, or an old vet, the child of a wealthy family, could afford this luxury. A few who could by hook or crook, save a portion of their sugar spread it upon hardtack. 


In various ways, the ingenuity of the men was strained to make this the plainest and most common yet most practical of army food to do duty in every imaginable combination.
THE NATIVE AMERICANS


The Native American population of the entire continents of the Americas, North and South, from the frozen ocean to Cape Horn, did not exceed five million in number at the beginning of the 16th Century. Within the present domain of the now United States, at the time of Columbus’ discovery, an estimate has been given that one million Indians inhabited the Nation. 


The Native Americans of this country seemed to have all come from the same original stock excepting some on the borders of the Gulf of Mexico. These Indians had high cheekbones and broad faces, heavy dark eyes, jet-black hair, which was limp and incapable of curling because of its peculiar structure, and skins of a dull copper color. 


They spoke more than one hundred dialects, or peculiar forms of expressing language, all springing, obviously from a common origin. They were all customarily silent in society, and could endure a great mental physical suffering without visible emotion. 


Their plan of government was simple, there being few violators of the law. Their theology or religious system was as simple as their civil government. They believed in a great “good spirit” and an “evil spirit,” each being supreme within its circle. They made their God the sun, moon, stars, meteors, fire, water, thunder, wind, and everything else, which seemed to be superior to them. 


They had no written language, excepting rude picture writings made on rocks; barks of trees or the dried hides of beasts. Their historical records were made upon the memory from parent to child, as were their legends, which were conveyed from one generation to another. 


Their dwellings were rude huts made of poles leaning toward the center, and covered with bark or the skins of beasts. The men engaged in war, hunting and fishing, while the women did all the domestic drudgery. The women also bore all the burdens during long journeys; put up the tents, or the wigwams, as their dwellings were called, prepared the food and clothing, wove mats for beds, planted, cultivated, and gathered the scanty crops of corn, beans, potatoes, melons and tobacco, wherever these harvests were raised. 


In winter the skins of wild beasts formed the clothing of these people, and in summer the men wore only a wrapper around the loins. They sometimes tattooed themselves, pricking the skin in lines to form shapes or objects. They made these tattoos permanent by coloring matter put in the punctures. These were generally ornamented with the claws of bears, the pearly parts of shells, and the plumage of birds. 


Their money consisted of little tubes made of shells, fastened upon belts or strung on little thongs of deer hide, which was called “wampum.” These collections were used in transfers, in treaties, and for giving tokens of friendship. 


Their weapons of war were bows and arrows, tomahawks or hatchets, war-clubs, and scalping knives. Some wore shields of bark, and also corsets of hides, for protection.


The civil governor of a tribe of nation was called a Sachem; the military leader was called a Chief. These individuals were naturally proud and arrogant, and had great respect for personal dignity and honor. It was an offensive act to ask a Chief or Sachem his name, simply because it implied that he was unknown. 


Elevated as wee their conceptions of the dignity of the men, they utterly degraded the women to the condition of miserable slaves. They made them beasts of burden and mere objects of convenience. They were never allowed to join in the amusements of the men, but were permitted to sit, with their children, as spectators around the fires at war dances of the horrid orgies after a victory. The husband had absolute control of the body and destiny of the wife, even to the taking of her life. So far was she removed from a position of equality with the opposite sex, that there was no society for the development of those cleansing qualities of the woman.


The workings of the mind of the Indian were the same everywhere. He subjected his body to the control of his will. He was schooled in tactfulness, and taught to be silent, because it was necessary in a society where the sharp weapon was the quick response to an insulting word. He was also trained to accept physical endurance as a virtue. Insensibility to pain was significant for a most sturdy manhood. It was regarded as an evidence of weakness or cowardice for an Indian to allow his expression to be changed by surprise or suffering. All his muscles and nerves were hardened against fear or pain. 


The brain of the Indian seemed to be cast in a poetic mold. In his simple language, which was too poor for him to allow a wealth of words, he could express ideas in elegant and poetic forms. His figures of speech were drawn from the objects of nature around him. What he lacked in words, would be supplied by those figures.
THE CIVIL WAR IN TENNESSEE


The Confederate Charleston S.C. newspaper, “The Charleston Mercury,” of July 12, 1862, inserted an article concerning the area of the Cumberland Mountains and its part in the Civil War. Its title is The War in Tennessee - The Theatre of the War in Tennessee - Its Strategic Points. It goes as such:


As East Tennessee is about to become the theatre of important military operations for its possession by the vandal abolition hordes of the North, a description of this portion of it, extending to the Cumberland Mountains, will not be uninteresting. The following will give the reader an idea of the general nature of the country of East Tennessee, as well as some of the most important points on the theatre of the war. 


The physical geography of East Tennessee is very peculiar and intricate in its character, being marked by that extraordinary phenomena of nature which mingles the wonderful with the beautiful and sublime. It is a vast valley of an exceedingly rich agricultural nature, extending from the Cumberland Mountains on the west to the Allegheny on the east. Its remarkable feature consists in the formation of a number of parallel and subordinate valleys, separated by precipitous ridges, and well drained by rivers respectively: the Powell, Clinch, Holston, and French Broad.


The Cumberland Mountains, toward the east, presents a sheer precipices, the very base of which rests upon Powell’s Valley, one of the most fertile regions of this department. The immense ridge has several depressed indentations; the most famous and practicable of which is Cumberland Gap. Below Cumberland Gap are several other depressions in the mountains, the principal of which are Wilson's Gap, eighteen miles, and Big Creek Gap, thirty-seven distant from the Cumberland. 


Westward from this ridge a vast wilderness of mountains extending for over one-hundred and twenty miles toward Kentucky and Middle Tennessee. 


The wagon road from Cumberland Gap to Morristown, which is forty miles, runs directly across the valleys of the Powell, Clinch, and Holston rivers. This road is the great route through which the emigrants from North Carolina first passed to Kentucky, and over which the drovers still make their way from Kentucky to the Atlantic States.


Through the center of East Tennessee and parallel to the mountains runs the East Tennessee and Virginia Railroad, following the valley drained by the Holston, the largest tributary of the Tennessee, and passes through Morristown to Knoxville. The Clinch Mountains, which is about eight miles west of Morristown, is the only serious barrier to the advance of the enemy’s columns during the season when the rivers are fordable, and consequently presents a strong strategic point. 


Another route from Cumberland Gap is down Powell’s Valley, running along the base of the mountains to Jacksboro and Clinton, where it crosses the Clinch River to Knoxville. This route is nearly double the distance of that above mentioned, but is by far the best for military operations. 


Thus it will be seen that to advance upon us the enemy must leave his stronghold at Cumberland Gap, which no longer became a strategical point of importance to us, and fight us on a battle ground of our selection. Besides, the moment he leaves Cumberland Gap, where it is almost impossible to subsist an army, he loses the advantage and its defence, and, therefore his present occupation of it is but of small moment. 


The Tennessee River, assuming that name after the junction of the Holston and little Tennessee - which latter flows transverly to the course of the mountainous region of North Carolina - receiving afterwards a large increase from the Clinch River, breaks its way through the Cumberland chain at and below Chattanooga. Consequently, by a glance at the map, it will be seen that Cumberland Gap and Chattanooga are the two great transverse fissures through the continuous ridges of the Cumberland Mountains by which East Tennessee may be entered. 


Another route of military importance at that point is the old road from Knoxville to Nashville, passing through Kingston, which is situated at the junction of the Clinch and Tennessee rivers, and continuing by Sparta, upon the western slope of the Cumberland, passes through Pikeville, McMinville, and Murfreesboro to Nashville.

MISCELLANY

1820 MANUFACTURERS IN CAMPBELL COUNTY


The 1820 Campbell County census consisted of 13 establishments, seven of them distilleries. Some whiskey sold for 37 1/2 cents per gallon, while other brews sold for 62 1/2 cents per gallon. The lists of the producers are:


Jacob Queener -  wool carding factory, 1670 pounds of wool carded yearly; market value of carded wool is $10 per hundred pounds; one man employed; no yearly expenses.


Joseph Peterson - Saddler, harness maker, etc. Used $300 worth of new materials; produced 15 saddles worth $20 each, 60 bridles worth $2 each, 2 sets of harness worth $60 per set, 50 collars worth $1.25 each; total value, $615; 2 men employed.


William H. Smith - whiskey. Consumed Grain, costing $480; produced 2400 gallons of whiskey worth 62 1/2 cents per gallon; one log still in use.


James Rice - distillery. Consumed 100 bushels of corn and rye costing $33.33 1/3; produced 300 gallons of whiskey worth 37 1/2 cents per gallon. One man employed.


Rice & Snoderly - rifle factory. Consumed 400 pounds of iron; expenses $40 (?); produced 50 rifles worth $500;  2 men employed.


Conrad Sharp - distillery. Consumed 700 bushels of grain costing $233; produced 1400 gallons of whiskey worth 37 1/2 cents per gallon; one man employed; two stills in use.


John Roach - distillery. Consumed 200 bushels of grain; produced 400 gallons of whiskey worth 50 cents per gallon; one man employed; one still in use.


Silas Williams - hat factory, used fur costing $70; produced 70 “Casters” worth $10 each; one man employed.


John Phillips - axes hoes, plows, horseshoe, & wagon making factory. Used iron and steel costing $466; produced 100 axes worth $2.50 each, 200 hoes worth $2 each, 50 plows worth $8 (?) each, 30 chains, no value given; 500 horses shod at $1.25 each horse, one wagon ironed at $1.50, two hands employed?


Sampson David - distillery of whiskey, Consumed 360 bushels of grain costing 25 cents per bushel; produced 720 gallons of whiskey worth 62 1/2 cents per gallon; one man employed; two stills in use.


Simpson & David - tan yard. Used 200 hides costing $300; market value of hides tanned, 600; two employees.


Thomas Wheeler - distillery. Consumed 545 bushels of grain costing $180; produced 945 gallons of whiskey worth 50 cents per gallon; one man employed; two stills in use. 


Elisha Thomas - distillery. Consumed 150 bushels of grain costing $50; produced 300 gallons of whiskey worth 62 1/2 cents per gallon; one man employed; one still in use.


The Adams Law which was passed by the General Assembly in 1903 which prohibited the sale of liquors in towns of 5,000 inhabitants or less. However, LaFollete was exempted from the provisions of the prohibition laws until the General Assembly in 1909 passed a bill to prohibit the sale of intoxicating liquors anywhere in Tennessee within four miles of a schoolhouse.

 Jellico Coal 

The following account concerning the Jellico Coal system is taken from Hayden Siler’s historical description written in 1938. Since I can’t possibly improve on his writings, I will record it as he wrote it.



The second thing that had happened to the small village of Smithburgh between 1878 and 1833 was the discovery of coal in the nearby Jellico Mountains, and the opening of mines. Mining began in 1882 and 1883 with the advent of the railroads. 

The Jellico Coal Co., (later the Woolridge Jellico Coal Co.) was actively developing the Jellico seam of coal in 1882, and shipped its first cars in 1883. The Standard Company opened the same seam in 1883 and shipped its first car in January, 1884. Smithburgh changed the name of its post office in August of 1883 because the Jellico Coal was becoming so famous. Who named the seam of coal Jellico from the mountain is not known, but it was probably some early geologist or promoter. Just who first "discovered" the Jellico Coal is not know, nor how the earliest promoters became interested in the region. Suffice to say that Mr. B. R. Hutcharaft of Lexington, Ky., Col. Sam Woolridge of Versailles Ky., a Mr.. Kidd, and John Oliver, Horace, and James Fox of Bourbon County, Ky., were the earliest developers of the Jellico Coal in the mines at Woolridge, Standard, Proctor (then known as Red Ash),and Kensee, all of which mines were operating by 1885. Mr. Hutchcraft was also a geologist. 


The Fox brothers were particularly interested in the Proctor Coal Co., and it was while living there that John Fox, Jr. the noted novelist, got the inspiration for his novel, Mountain Europa and characters for other novels. The Dupont family at one, time owned Kensee, later selling it to Marcellus E. Thornton who was author of "My Buddy and I" 
Col. Charles, F. Johnson was another early promoter. After 1835 the growth of the town was rapid, with many new mines opened in the vicinity. Crandall's report on Whitley County (Kentucky Geological Survey, 1885) has said, "Of the coals in the measures above the conglomerate division the bed known as the Jellico seam is the most, important...The Jellico coal is already most favorably known in the market, and the question of its extension and relation to the surface features of the country has a corresponding importance. In its relation to the topography of the hill region to which it is here limited, it ranges from 200 to 400 feet above the main water courses...In this region this bed is exceptionally persistent in its structural characteristics, as it is as it is also in its composition, being unusually free from excesses of ash and sulphur throughout... From the preceding-description of the Jellico coal, with its regional extension, it will be seen that it is a bed of great importance to the county, and to the coal trade...The Jellico coal is recognized as a steam and a grate coal of the first rank, and as such it has become the basis of one of the largest coal mining interests in the state. The mining plants in operation here are on a scale suited to a growing industry..." 


The capacity of the five mining plants is in excess of the railroad transportation provided, especially to the southern markets. The increasing demand for this coal makes additional transportation lines a necessity, the meeting of which will add greatly to the industrial wealth of the county. In the same report Crandall mentioned that "Below the Jellico seam 100 to 125 feet, in a portion of the Whitley region, is a bed which will find a ready demand from its free-burning qualities. It is known as the Birds-eye coal, from the peculiar pitted fracture which it exhibits in unusual perfection ... The field for this coal is the Patterson Creek region, and the heads of adjacent creeks, Big and Little Caney, Mud and Poplar Creeks." Crandall's prophecy about this coal came true, the railroad to the Bird-Eye camp was completed in 1893, and the camp enjoyed several years of prosperity but has not completely disappeared. 

In 1889 there was a strike of three months duration in the Jellico coal field, which was responsible for the shortage of that year. The loss caused by the strike was estimated at 60,600 tons. In 1897 Whitley County fell from the second to fifth place in the line of production due to another extended strike in the Jellico district. The first strike was caused because the miners wanted a check weighman; the strike of 1897 came about because of a reduction in the price paid the miners, and was settled by a compromise with Bank rules being agreed upon. 

MR. COAL’S STORY


Some time ago (April 25, 2002) the writer portrayed a short story concerning Phillip Francis and his experiences in a coal mine. Mr. Francis stated that he went to work in the mines at a very young age. The story this week is “fiction” but very interesting. It concerns the youngsters who did not have a normal life, that life beginning at a very young age in the coal mines. This narrative (date unknown) describes life prior to the child labor laws.


Our warm friend, “Mr. Coal,” tells us:


I lay snug and comfortable for many years, way down in the middle of a large mountain, until I grew into a great big coal.


One day a sharp steel pick cut through the rocks and I was pulled down from my bed and fell to the ground. All was so dark, I could have seen nothing if it had not been for tiny lamps which two men wore on their caps. The men were miners, digging for coal.


My former neighbor, old “Mr. Wise Coal,” soon fell beside me. He used to tell about the great world outside, where every one, to be really good, must make someone else happy. When he heard the picks he said, “We are going there now, and we will make some children and grownups warm and comfortable. But I am sad when I think of the little boys who must help take us there. Watch to see what happens and you will understand.”


A coal car, drawn by mules, came along. I thought they must be men, who threw us in and drove the mules; but on looking closely I found that one of them was a boy about 12 years old. My companion shook his head. “It is only half past seven o’clock in the morning. Boys of that age should be eating breakfast should be eating breakfast and getting ready for school,” he said.


Driving through the mine we came to a big trap door. “When men work in mines, air is forced in to them from the outside,” said old “Mr. Wise Coal.” “The trap doors must be kept closed so that the air will go where the men are working. Boys open and close these trap doors for the cars to pass from one chamber to the other. They are called trapper boys.


“Look back and see how lonely this one is,” said “Mr. Coal.” “I heard him cough and tell one of the drivers that medicine didn’t help him anymore. The mine was so damp, he always got a new cold.”


The next trapper boy we passed was John. John wanted to go to school but his parents made him work. They didn’t know that he could earn better wages later, if he went to school now. The trap door was the nearest thing to a blackboard he had, so he drew pictures on that. John liked birds, and couldn’t see any our-of-doors, because it was dark evenings when he left the mine. So he drew them on the trap door, and played they were alive and wrote on the door, “Don’t scare the birds!” And this was all the fun he had.


As we came out of the mine we met James. They call him “a greaser” because he has to keep the axles of the car greased so that they run smoothly. He had grease all over himself and his clothes. 


Next we met Harry. He does odd jobs about the mine. When he first started at work, he wanted to go to school, but now he does not care. He is too tired to think about it, even.


At last our car full of coal came to a building, called a “coal breaker.” Here the coal was put into great machines, and broken into pieces the right size for burning. The pieces rattled down through long chutes, at which the breaker boys sat. These boys picked out the pieces of slate and stone that cannot burn. It’s like sitting in a coal bin all day long, except that the coal is always moving; and clattering and cuts their fingers. Sometimes the boys wear lamps in their caps to help them see through the thick dust. They bend over the chutes until their backs ache, and they get tired and sick because they have to breathe coal dust instead of good, pure air.


Hundreds and hundreds of boys work in the mines and in the breakers from early morning until evening, instead of going to school and playing outdoors. Do you suppose the little fellows sitting all alone in the deep coal mine, or bending over the chutes, ever think of the merry children sitting around the burning coal? 
The bright room is better than the dark mine. The happy talk is better than the silence. The warm fire glow is better than the cold. 


Do you suppose that the happy children made warm by the coal ever think of the boys who helped to get it ready for them? Do you think of the children who make medicine bottles in glass factories and cotton dresses in mills and tenement homes? 


Sometimes fathers and mothers are so busy taking care of their own children - the children round the fire at home - that they forget the others - the children in the mines and factories. 


Present-day child laws state that no person under the age of sixteen (16) may be employed by any institution/school/Central Office of the Tennessee Board of Regents. Minors who are sixteen (16) or seventeen (17) may be employed under the following conditions: 

A. This employment must not interfere with the minor's health or well-being. 

B. If the minor is enrolled in school, this employment may not be during those hours when the minor is required to attend class. 

C. A minor must have a 30-minute unpaid break or meal period if scheduled to work 6 hours consecutively. However, the break or meal period may not occur during or before the first hour of scheduled work activity. 

ROAD BUILDING


Building a road involved simple technology and heavy labor. The first task, to clear the road, was usually the most difficult. Stumps, boulders, brush and trees had to be cleared. Usually, this was done entirely by hand or with the help of horses. It was not until the construction of the Erie Canal that an ingenious workman invented a stump-puller; using this device, seven men and a team of horses could pull forty stumps in a day. Considering the density of forest through which many roads ran, even this was slow progress indeed. 


Once debris was cleared, leveling began. This was the distinguishing mark of an improved road, separating it from paths for foot travel or animal migration. Using hand-held rakes, hoes or sometimes horse-drawn scrapers, farmers and rural laborers supervised by township officials created a surface amenable to wagon and stage travel. 


The land also had to be surveyed by a professional to determine the most efficient route between two points. Distance, direction, and elevation all had to be measured. Distance, up through the early nineteenth century, was measured with an iron chain 66 feet long known as Gunter's Chain. Eighty chains equaled one mile; ten square chains equaled an acre. To calculate distance, Gunter's Chain was simply stretched between two points as many times as necessary. Direction was measured with a magnetic compass or a vernier, an instrument that measured horizontal angles; it allowed a surveyor to determine how much a sight line diverged from magnetic north- south. Most elevation measurement was done with a simple level, a flat device containing an glass cylinder of water with a small air bubble. Elevation changes changes were determined by attaching the level to a sight, placing a vertical measuring rod some distance away, and then reading through the sight the relative height of the second location. Changes in elevation were extremely important in roadbuilding; in the interest of efficient travel, it was followed that a wagon pulled by horses could only traverse a grade of five degrees (a vertical rise of 462 feet per mile). 


Cleared, flattened and graded, a road could be finished at this point. However, builders found that these sorts of roads eroded quickly. Drainage ditches were added to stay the erosion process and avoid wheel ruts, but a permanent road badly needed a top cover of stone. In 1799, an anonymous roadbuilder published "Directions for Making Roads" in the Philadelphia Magazine and Review. Here is his advice on laying stone: 


"The stones should be spread equally over the surface, and settled with a light sledge [hammer]; in this operation, such stones as are too large, must must either be broken or carried away; over this a layer of small stones, not larger than eggs, should be scattered, and settled with hammers between the interstices of the largest. Over this a small quantity of any hard clay, just sufficient to cover the stones, should be spread; if mixed with gravel it will be better...In a month or two [of traffic], the clay and gravel will be worn away, and the corners of the large stones will appear--men should now be employed to break the stone with hammers, weighing about two pounds and an half...After another months or six weeks, the road must be broken, with care, in the same manner; and, with proper intervals, it should be broken from time to time, as often as may be necessary-- four times is, in general, sufficient." 


Often the responsibility for building a road was passed from the state and federal government to private turnpike companies. Hence, the "turnpike" or toll road: once a company had bid for and built a road, it owned the rights of passage on it. 


Thus, toll roads were common throughout early America. The name turnpike refers to a large log ("pike") that crossed the roadway at a tollhouse. When the toll was properly paid, the pike would be lifted, or if mounted centrally, turned, to allow the passage of traffic. 

FREIGHT WAGONS


Very heavy loads were transported on the early turnpikes. The freight  wagons were very heavy, awkward vehicles.  These wagons had tires, three or four inches wide. The wagon beds were not built on a straight line, but were curved and lowest in the middle. White covers were stretched over bows bent into semicircles. With the great length and weight  of the wagon and a team of six horses, managing was not easy.  The harness  and  other appliances of the horses were enough to burden the strongest drivers.


Tonnage hauled on these freight wagons was unlimited.  As much as seven tons was distributed on these vehicles. Complaints were made concerning these extra heavy loads.  The toll  charge  was established  by the number of horses pulling the loads rather than by the tonnage.  Thus, a team of six horses pulling an empty load was charged the same as a team of six horses pull- ing a heavy load.

THE COVERED WAGON

The covered wagon was used mostly in transporting families to the great unexplored western states. However, it was also used in Tennessee but not in great excess. 


An early writer of this period describes one of these wagons outfits as follows:


"Imagine a boxlike cart nearly as long as an or- dinary bedroom and so wide that I could stretch myself out full length across the body. The top and sides were covered with Osnaburg sheeting, which is cloth made of 
flax or tow...It makes excellent wagon covers for the rain cannot soak through the cloth, and it is so cheap that one can well afford to use its double thickness, which serves to keep out the wind as well as the rain. The front of the wagon and a small window-like space at the end are left open, but could be securely closed with curtains that buttoned at the side.


"Underneath the cart were hung buckets, the churn, lanterns, water kegs, and farming tools...Around the inside of the wagon were hung such things as we might need on the journey. There were pots and pans, towels, clothing, baskets, and two rifles...Our beds were laid in the bottom of the wagon and covered with bed-clothes to save them from being badly soiled, as would be likely if we slept upon them at night and cooked and ate and did the housework on them during the daytime. Our cook stove was set up at the rear end of the wagon where it could be pushed out on a small shelf fastened to the rear axle when we wanted to use it...We did not carry many dishes, and nearly everything of the kind was of metal such as tin or iron. We carried plates, cups, and basins of tinware."


The "horseless carriage" was, at the turn of the century, a new revelation.  The condition of the  roads were not  specifically  set  up  for  this manner of travel.  The particulars of this venture was automobile  versus nature. With the ruts, dips and the uneven  road  condition the automobile was more or less confined to the locality of the owner.  The cities had their own form of government concerning this system.

EARLY INDIAN LIFESTYLE


This week we shall go back in time and examine, to some extent, the life styles of the Native American. His place in the Americas should not be forgotten. His food source, lifestyles and
habits are somewhat forerunners of our country 's culture. 

Life in the Forest.


The Indians felled trees before the introduction of the iron tomahawk by fire. They built a fire against the trunk of a standing tree and kept it burning until the tree fell. This method was found still in use among the older men and those who did not own a hatchet. Trees were felled both for firewood and for canoes. The canoes had formerly been hollowed out of a whole tree trunk by burning. 



Wood for fuel and for other purposes was burned into pieces of such length as to be easily carried home. They used much wood for fuel and wished their food well cooked. When they have lived long in one place, it at last becomes troublesome to secure wood for fuel because all the wood  in the neighborhood had been used. This causes them to leave the place and plan a new village for the sake of the wood and other conveniences.

Hunting.


The bow and arrow had fallen into disuse with the tribes which traded with the whites and were used only for small game, such as the pigeon, fox and raccoon, in order to save powder. There were still, however, whole tribes to the west and northwest that used nothing but the bow and arrow and had no desire to obtain European weapons; boys, however, were trained to shoot with the bow. The first deer a boy shot proved an occasion of great importance.


The best time for hunting was in the fall when the game was fat and the hides in good condition. In September and October the men went hunting with their families, remaining away until the new year or later. After new year, they devoted themselves to catching the beaver, the raccoon,   the fox ,and other fur-bearing animals. The Indians had already learned from the whites how to use the steel trap, and the beaver which had been numerous were becoming scarce. Their skins were of considerable value. They also hunted the bear. The winter hunt lasted until spring. 


Deer were most hunted  among the larger game, there being considerable trade in skins, a buckskin being worth  about a dollar. The deer was killed mostly for their hides, only so much of the meat as the hunters could consume while on the chase was consumed by them. Most of the meat was left in the woods for the wild animals; the wolves especially followed the hunters, moving in the direction of the shooting.


The white man's firearms were already in general use. Some  Indians used no other than rifle barreled guns, but farther north muskets were more common. The Delawares in Ohio had acquired some skill in repairing their gun when out of order and had learned even to furnish them with stocks. How many deer could an Indian hunter kill with his gun? One source says: "As an Indian shoots from 50 to 150 deer each fall, it can easily be seen that game must decrease."

Game, Large and Small.


Occasionally an elk would be shot in the region as this lent to good meat. The buffalo is described as being numerous in quantity, numbering in the hundreds.


 Of the smaller animals were  three kinds of squirrels, not including the ground-squirrel, viz: the black, the grey and the red. The black were most commonly found, the grey being the largest, and the red the smallest in size. Their flesh proved  tender, and was eaten by the Indians in case of sickness, or when they were very hungry for meat.


Of the many different kinds of larger birds, the largest was the crane, supposed to be the sand-hill crane. When it is standing on its long legs and stretching its neck upwards, it was as tall as a man and its body proportionately heavy. When shot and only wounded it attacks its pursuer. The fall wild turkeys might be seen in flocks numbering hundreds. The Indians hunted their eggs and were quite fond of them.


Crows did much damage, especially in the Indians' cornfields, both when the corn was planted and when it was ripening.


The smallest bird in the region was the honey bird, (the hummingbird) which without perching on the flowers sucks the honey out of them.


It is known that the Indians in different parts of North America had, when first seen by the whites, dogs which seem to have been their only domesticated animal. These dogs were used in the chase and sometimes killed for food. The origin of this breed is unknown, the same as that of the domesticated dog in every part of the world. Our source says:


"Dogs they likewise possessed in former days of a kind still to be found in considerable numbers among them. These may readily be distinguished from European dogs, which are now most commonly found among the Indians. The ears of Indian dogs rise rigidly from the head and the animals have something of a wolfish nature, for they show their teeth immediately when roused. They will never attack a wolf, though set on to do so, in this respect also differing from European dogs. Of their origin their masters can give as little information as that of the Indians themselves."


In another place at their war feasts they would sometimes kill a couple of dogs, not because dog's flesh was a delicacy, for the Indian dogs were very lean, but because it was thought  to  inspire them with the spirit of war and murder. Women at these feasts would eat dog's flesh with a level of greediness.

SEQUOYAH


Equipped with a weapon such as the Pennsylvania-Kentucky rifle pioneer Americans pushed back the frontier. The Great Smoky Mountains gradually submitted to the prying and settling of the white man. The fertile valleys were settled; the concealed coves were occupied. The Cherokee Indian tribe who remained in the East suffered many changes. As their Nation decreased in size to cover only portions of Georgia, Alabama, North Carolina, and Tennessee, the pressure of growing white settlements began to infringe on the old ways. Settlers intermarried with Indians. Characteristics of the Nation’s civilization gradually grew to resemble that of the surrounding states. 


In 1821, a single individual gave to his Nation an enlightening advance as significant as the advent of school. A Cherokee named Sequoyah, known among white men as George Gist (son of Nathaniel Gist, a white frontiersman of great respect), had long been interested in the “talking leaves” of the white man. After years of thought, study and hard work, he devised an 86-character Cherokee alphabet. 


Sequoyah was born about 1760 near old Fort Loudon, Tennessee. He had neither attended school nor learned English. By 1818, he had moved to Willstown in what is now eastern Alabama and had the white mans’ will and interest in the ability to read and write. He determined to give his own people the same advantage. 


The first painstaking process he tried was attaching a mark to each Cherokee word. These marks soon increased. As he sensed the ineffectiveness of this one-for-one relationship, he examined English letters in an old newspaper. His own mind categorized symbols of this sort with basic sounds of the Cherokee tongue. After months of work, he sorted out and assigned them symbols, based on a large event, upon the ones he had seen in the newspaper. When he introduced his invention to his fellow Cherokees, it was as if he had opened a floodgate. Within the space of a few weeks, elders and children alike began to read and write. The change was astonishing. 


After the remarkable invention of the new tongue dialogue, Sequoyah vaulted himself into a position of great respect inside the Cherokee Nation. One of the many fascinated visitors described the great Sequoyah in the greatest detail and noted that he wore “a turban of roses and posies upon a white ground girding his venerable grey hairs, a long dark blue robe, bordered along the lower edge of the cuffs, with black; a blue and white minutely checked calico tunic under it, confined with an Indian beaded belt, which sustained a large wooden handled knife, in a rough leathern sheath; the tunic open on the breast of its collar apart, with a twist handkerchief flung around his neck and gathered within the bosom of the tunic. He wore plain buckskin leggings; and one of a deeper chocolate hue than the other. 


“His moccasins were unornamented buckskin. He had a long dusky bag of white sumac with him, and a long Indian pipe, and smoked incessantly, replenishing his pipe from his bag. His air was altogether what we picture to ourselves of an old Greek philosopher. He talked and gesticulated very gracefully; his voice alternately swelling, and then sinking to a whisper, and his ever firing up and then its wild flashes subsiding into a gentle and most benignant smile.”


Sequoyah moved west to Arkansas in the 1820’s. His mission was to find a legendary lost band of Cherokees located somewhere in the Rocky Mountains. He initiated several attempts to discover the group, but age caught up with him. He died alone in northern Mexico in the summer of 1843. He had brought his Nation a long way. His name would be immortalized in the great redwood tree of the Far West, the giant Sequoyah. And in a sense his spirit lived on in the first Cherokee newspaper - “The Cherokee Phoenix” -, which was established in 1828 at New Echota, with Elias Boudinot as its editor and Samuel Worchester as its business manager.


The Cherokees made remarkable changes in government. In 1808, they adopted a written legal code; a dozen years later, they divided the Nation into judicial districts and designated judges. The first Supreme Court of the Cherokees was established in 1822, and by 1827, the Nation had drawn up an American Based Constitution. The president of the constitutional convention was a 37 year old leader named John Ross. A year later, he began a 40 year term as principal chief of his people.

MISCELLANY


At this time we shall take some excerpts from the book compiled by Marshall L. McGhee and Melba Jackson entitled, “Careyville Through the Years.”


William Carey’s family, Robert Phillipson Carey and Martha “Patty” North originally came from Virginia. They were descended from the Patrick Henry and George Washington families. William was born in either Claiborne or Campbell County. The county boundaries were changed so were not sure which county. 


In 1806, three brothers came from Virginia to this area also. They were Thomas, Richard and Benjamin Wheeler. Thomas and his wife Elizabeth lived at Walnut cove (Wheeler Station), Careyville. 


At Walnut cove, William Carey met Malinda Emily Wheeler, daughter of Thomas and Elizabeth Wheeler. An article in the Nashville Banner and Nashville Advertiser on Tuesday, December 18, 1831, announced that Miss Malinda E. Wheeler married William Carey, Esq.


William Carey was born August 6, 1806 and died March 30, 1863. Malinda Emily Wheeler was born May 4, 1813 and died August 12, 1892. The children of William and Emily were (1) Susan (Sue) E., 1834-1910. She married Frederick De Tavernier, December 5, 1865. (2) Martha Jane, 1836-1866. She married Thomas Hart on October 2, 1852. (3) Malinda Bennett, 1837-1883, married Dr. Addison Guthrie. (4) Elizabeth, 1839-1901. She married John Spence. (5) William, 1842-1872. (6) Kate, 1844-1909. Never married (7) Phillipson, 1846-1862. (8) Helen, 1850-1921. She married Martin Ross.


William Carey’s first known job was carrying mail on horseback. Being very thrifty he soon became a land owner. At one time he owned about 11,000 acres of land. He was clerk in the land office. He and his father-in-law, Thomas Wheeler, ran a freight line from Wheeler’s Station to Middlesboro Ky.  The railroad terminated at Wheeler’s Station. He was also at one time County Judge.


The land around Wheeler’s Station was later named Careyville in honor of Judge William Carey. The Careys were living on the Free Soil Farm during the Civil War. William Carey ran an inn at this time. During the Civil War, troops went into camp at Careyville. In correspondence connected with the movement of troops, government officials so frequently spelled Careyville without the “e” it soon became the form of spelling generally used. 


William was killed during the Civil War. He is buried in the Carey Cemetery at Caryville. Malinda E. Carey is buried in the Old Gray Cemetery at Knoxville, Tennessee.

COAL DUST MEMORIES OF BLOCK, TENNESSEE


Kila Hatmaker Powers wrote of Block, Tennessee, which was inserted into the book “Coal Mining Towns,” compiled by Marshall L. McGhee. 


She starts by writing that Block, Tennessee, was a coal mining community about four miles west of Caryville on Hwy. 63. It was established in 1889 and was named for a seam of coal which was a thick seam called a “block.” In 1939 the population was 135. It was a pretty self-sustained community with a boarding house, commissary, post-office, doctor’s office, and school. Later on there was a bath-house for miners to use before going home, as there was no running water in the homes. As Kila recalls, there were about 50 houses for the miners and officials to live in. There were some on the mountain which she never saw for the families had to walk from the highway to their home. At the beginning there was no road. The only means of ingress and egress was by train. When the road was finally built it was a gravel road which was usually like a wash-board. Travel over it had to be very slow due to the ruts after rains.


Church was held in the one-room school. Sometimes someone came and showed a movie and that too was held in the school.


Kila writes that most of the houses were known as shot-gun houses. You could look in the front door and shoot a gun. The bullet could go all the way through the house without hitting anything as there were three rooms and the doors were all in a line. The larger and better houses were kept for the mine officials. Not that better was much of an improvement unless you did the improving yourself. Water for drinking was carried from a spring across the creek from our house. Wash water was carried from the creek. Kila states that she had a pretty good life there.


There wasn’t much they could get into except a fight every now and then. They  had a super swimming hole for use during the summer and the mountains to roam in. In the winter they played outdoors in the snow. Seems there was more snow back then than now.


Kila’s family got running water and a bathroom when she was 16 years old. Her mother bought an electric range and water heater. She sure missed the old Home Comfort range in the kitchen. The house was cold as gee-whiz without it. Their heat was from a Warm Morning coal stove in the living room. The kitchen stayed good and warm in the winter and that is where the family took their bath until the addition of the bathroom.


After the first four grades of grammar school everyone caught the school bus and rode to Caryville Jr. High School. The class stayed there until the 9th grade was finished and then went on to Jacksboro High on “The Hill.”


All things considered, Kila says that it was a good life. She writes that it is sad now to go back and see where everything used to be. Gone are all the houses, store, school, and everything familiar. To her, the mountains seem higher, the creek narrower. Gone is everything but fond memories.

THE NEW RIVER LUMBER INDUSTRY


(The following article was taken from the December 16, 1987, “Observer News,” Clinton, Tennessee and was written by Oscar Phillips. It was included in the book, “Careyville Through the Years,” by Marshall L. McGhee and Melba Jackson.)


In 1918, Southern Lumber Company of Nashville owned a Bandmill and a Barrell Stave Mill at Nicks Creek, Tennessee. Mr. Mackelane was superintendent. The mill was later moved to Montgomery, Tennessee, between Smoky Junction and Norma.


Andrew and Nat Gennett from North Carolina bought out Southern Lumber Company’s Bandmill on Smoky Creek and a Circlemill at Bull Creek. Bill Berry was superintendent at the Montgomery Mill. His son, Charley Berry, was the bookkeeper. Two other sons, Wade and Dude, were employees. Other employees were Earl Washam, Sherman Phillips, Doffes Wright, Fred Hembree, Wiley Carroll, Bob Daugherty, Isaac Duncan, and Fielden Newport. John Finley moved his family from a town near Crossville to work at Nicks Creek, Montgomery, and later to Gennett’s Camp below Clinchmore, Tennessee.


When Blue Ridge Lumber Company ceased operations at what was later to be Clinchmore, the home of Clinchmore Mining Company, Andrew and Nat Gennett bought its mills. Extensive repairs were made on the lower mill at Gennett’s Camp. Small gauge steel was laid from the mill through Round Rock Creek. Mart Newport was section foreman in charge of laying steel, building log bridges, and maintaining the railroad bed. Steel was also laid up the Billy Tackett branch to a point where logs were brought down the mountain on wire cables. The company owned a large steam railroad engine and a smaller engine which was used to pull the logging flat cars up and down the step grades. A small T-Model Ford truck with rail wheels was used to haul supplies.


Gennett’s camp consisted of several green lumber houses built by Richard Newport. The company issued scrip bearing its name, which could be spent at the commissary. Virgil Murley was store manager at that time. Ice was shipped in by rail, and stored in a small building which had a thick sawdust floor and walls. Joe Cross was the superintendent and also ran the boarding house. Mail was delivered by Roy Asbury, who rode through the mountains on horseback. Doc Hatfield provided for the camp’s medical needs, and Jessie Cook had his own barber shop. Many of the company’s employees at the Montgomery Mill followed it to its new location below Clinchmore.


The name of some of the other employees are: John Stone, Lester Finley, Earl Washam, Charlie Phillips, Hus Marcum, Ed Younce, Homer Warren, Harley Steward, Parnick Byrd, Tom Gibson, Jap Butler, Jake Kennedy, Bart Marlow, Powell Marlow, Roy Jones, Levi Anderson, Gurley Young, Jess Harmon, Aaron Phillips, Johnny Wilson, and Jessie McKamey.


Gennet Lumber Company shut down its mill at the beginning of the Depression. In the late 1930’s, the mill, shop equipment, and two railroad engines were pounded into scrap.


Other timber and milling operations provided employment for New River residents. Blue Ridge Lumber Company logged in the head of Stoney Creek. It sold out to Gennett Lumber Company. Ralph Welch was a contractor who cut timber and operated a bandmill for Davison Lumber Company. The site of the operation between Clinchmore and Beechfork (Shea, Tennessee), today is known as Welch’s Camp.


The Shea brothers were contract timber cutters for several years for the New River Lumber Company which at one time had control of over 60,000 acres of timber. Shea, Tennessee (Beechfork) was named for the Shea brothers. They cut and logged timber for Beechfork Timber Company which was owned by M.C. Bricker of Chicago, Illinois. Beechfork Timber Company’s assets were acquired by Andrew and Nat Gennett. The Shea Brothers were also contract operators of the bandmill at Blue Ridge Lumber Company. Ide Thompson and his son, Buster, logged and owned a mill at Elijah’s Fork (Stainville, Tennessee).


The New River Lumber Industry could not have existed without a railroad, even though some timber had been previously cut and floated for miles in long rafts down the river to the nearest mill. Jack Seiber remembers seeing the last raft of logs floating down the river. He said that a rooster was on the raft, crowing vigorously, and a man was also aboard and playing a banjo. The railroad originated in Scott County, near Oneida, and was extended very slowly over a period of several years into the New River section of Campbell and Anderson counties. It reached Beechfork in 1912.


Lucien Baird was one individual who played a very important part in the New River Lumber Industry. He came from Penfield, Pennsylvania in 1884 to look after the interests of persons who had invested in the land and timber in Scott, Campbell and Anderson counties. For several years, into the early 1900’s, his name appeared on old deeds and county tax records as if he were the sole owner. The bulk of the holdings were later sold to the New River Lumber Company at Norma.


Many persons born since 1900 remember “L” Bird. He seldom used his first name. It is said that he often traded a rifle for a tract of land. He would travel over the walking paths and sled roads of the mountains, and would stay all night in the homes of different people.

AREA HISTORY


It seems that Campbell County is central to most early history in the surrounding area, possibly because of Powell Valley and its low-lying plain. This valley and its many possible paths became a traveling and stopping off place for its early pioneers. At this time we shall enter into the travels of the early adventurers and their experiences.


Tennessee, at the time of its first exploration, was a vast and uninhabited wilderness. The Native Americans had no claims on the territory, although the Cherokees settled along and south of the Tennessee River. Tennessee, along with Kentucky, had become a widespread hunting ground for the different tribes. 


Campbell County was absent of any Indian tribes, although some had previously lived at Cove Lake Park where they had a Council house; there are also Indian mounds in the vicinity of Jacksboro. The Cove was on the Indian path leading to the North. The existing Indian mound at Cove Lake was excavated during the time the Norris Dam Reservoir was built. The Indians often hunted in Campbell County and camped at several places such as caves and springs.


As was mentioned previously, Tennessee was a vast hunting territory. The first white men who hunted the grounds of Campbell County were known as “long hunters,” they being so named because of the duration of their hunt, perhaps as much as three years. 


The Loyal Land Company, in 1750, employed Dr. Thomas Walker to locate 800,000 acres of land in the western part of Virginia suitable for settlement. Walker was well qualified to make this survey. He was educated at William and Mary College and trained as a physician. He married the widow of Nicholas Meriwether. In 1742, he removed from Fredericksburg to his wife’s estate, Castle Hill, near Charlottesville. As an avid vocation, he took up surveying going on numerous exploratory excursions. He had explored, in 1748, land deep into the Holston country with Colonel James Patton. 


The explorers reached the Clinch River on April 9, 1750, near the present town of Sneedville, Tennessee. Walker’s traveling companions were Ambrose Powell, William Tomlinson, Colby Chew, Henry Lawless, and John Hughes. 


Walker’s journal entry for April 13, 1750, is the first written record of the discovery of Cumberland Gap. It was known as Cave Gap when Walker first saw it. His manuscript states that he found very good coal on the banks of Flat Creek (now Yellow Creek), mining about a bushel of the black stuff for their fires. He named the Cumberland Gap and the river in honor of the Duke of Cumberland, then a national hero who had led the English army to victory at Culloden. 


The frontiersmen then passed on to Cumberland Ford (Pineville) and followed the river a half mile below the narrows; here in a fertile bottom they built a log cabin, the first building constructed by white men in Kentucky.


Powell River flowed out of Virginia into Tennessee. Ambrose Powell had carved his name on so many beech trees that it was said you could follow his trail from Virginia into Tennessee and on through to the fork of Rockcastle River in Kentucky. And so, Powell River and Powell Valley are both named for Ambrose Powell.


Elisha Walden, in 1761, gathered a group of relatives and friends for a big hunt. Included was his father-in-law, William Blevins, Henry Skaggs, Walter Newman, Charles Cox, along with a dozen or so trained woodsmen. Each man carried a long Decard rifle, a powder horn, and shot pouch, in which was kept his powder, bullets, tow, pieces of punk and extra flints. A central camp was erected for their skins and furs. The frontiersmen usually hunted in pairs.  


Crossing the Blue Ridge into the main road leading beyond New River, Walden and his men hunted along the Holston, Clinch and Powell rivers. They observed and killed deer, elk, bear, buffalo, beaver, otter and mink. Other small game was spotted such as turkeys, grouse, quail and squirrel. 


Animal pelts were packed into bales weighing about 50 pounds; two bales made a horseload. This particular hunt lasted eighteen months. At this time the fur trade was quite attractive. 


Other long hunters of note were Thomas Sharpe Spencer, Kasper Mansker, Uriah Stone, Richard Skaggs, Abraham Bledsoe, and Isaac Bledsoe, to name a few. 


Among the early “long hunters” in Campbell County were Curtis Alderson, John Alderson, Joseph Carroll, Obediah Garwood, John Herd, Walter Kelley, Archibald Taylor, Phillip Cooper, John Strutler and Uriah Stone. Some historians claim that Daniel and Squire Boone made at least one hunting trip into Campbell County. 


(Some of the hunters were shooting buffalo near where Andersonville is now located. After a heavy rain the hunters crossed the Clinch River on a make-do raft. Tittle-tattle has it that somehow Hardy Skipper was knocked from the raft into the swift current. As he was swept toward the northern bank he yelled: “Clinch me! Clinch me!” He was saved from the current and returned many years to Campbell County to become one of its pioneers.)


History states that in 1771 many more hunters crossed over the mountains and worked destruction among the large herds of game. Some came in-groups while others came alone. Many of the creeks, hollows and mountains are named for the leaders of these “long hunters.” While in their travels, many of these hunters and surveyors selected future sites for homes, then returned across the mountains to bring their families. The main road  to the West was the Wilderness Road, made by pioneers over the Old Warriors Trail in 1775. 


These settlers left the Wilderness Road at Cumberland Gap and traveled down the Powell Valley to their different destinations. 

(This article was compiled from the historical writings of the late Ted Miller of LaFollette.)


SNAKE HANDLING


With the recent “snake handling” incident in a local church near LaFollette, the writer decided to research the actual beginnings of this practice. It seems that on one Sunday in a local church in Tennessee in 1910, George W. Hensley, or “Little George,” started the practice of modern day “snake handling.” He decided that since Pentecostals believed in driving out the demons, speaking in tongues, and laying hands on the sick, why not believe in taking up serpents.


He closed his sermon that Sunday by taking a large rattlesnake out of a box with his bare hands. After holding it for a few minutes he ordered the congregation to handle it or else they were “doomed to eternal hell.” In an effort to avoid this eternal suffering, the members took turns coming to the front of the church to handle the snake. 


Soon Hensley’s fame for “handling snakes” spread throughout the Appalachian region and caught the attention of  a local church that  subsequently ordained Hensley into their movement. For about ten years Hensley toured around Appalachia preaching, handling snakes, and drinking poison.


Unbelievers at first, looking for entertainment, would bring the serpents  to church. At one service, a stranger threw a box full of cottonmouths, rattlesnakes, and copperheads onto the floor while Hensley was preaching. The congregation, completely alarmed at the situation, ran out of the building. Hensley simply picked up the snakes and put them back into the box.


The movement, in its beginning, concluded that people who were bitten by the serpents were rejected, they being considered to be “in sin,” or lacking adequate faith. It appears, according to the movement, that those that were bitten did not have the anointing, and were not being led by God to carry out His work or business. It was generally perceived, and in many places still is, that snakes should be handled only when a believer is completely under the authority  of the Holy Spirit. 


Hensley himself was bitten many times and refused medical treatment each time. His congregation was taught to have faith in God, and that He would heal them and not to rely on the limitations of unruly doctors. It appears that Hensley was misled for on July 24, 1955, the radical founder of the “snake handling” movement died from untreated snake bite wounds.



Soon this practice of “snake handling,” in the 1940’s, caught the attention of the national media and the local lawmakers, and so, the practice was banned. Between 1940 and 1950 six southern states banned the ritual of “snake handling.” Those are Kentucky, 1940; Georgia, 1941; Tennessee, 1947; Virginia, 1947; North Carolina, 1949; and Alabama, 1950. Each state based their legislation on the premise that the First Amendment right to the free practice of religion was superseded by the likely danger to unlikely participants. It was ruled as a felony charge in Alabama and Georgia while the other four states ruled it as only a misdemeanor. The felony charge logistically ruled that if someone violated this law and a death occurred, then capital punishment was automatically instilled. Alabama and Georgia would later appeal their laws. 


Legislature concerning the practice was quite unclear as to who would enforce these laws, such as the police, the sheriff’s departments, or prosecuting attorneys. The local sheriff would assert his own judgment as to who was in actual  danger during the practice. He assumed that if a bystander were in danger he or she would leave the premises, lickety-split. Another reason for law enforcement not interfering was that, as a majority, there was not enough evidence to prosecute a “snake handler.” Beyond trying and convicting “snake handlers,” it has not been determined yet that legal action would stop the ritual. 


Most believers today contemplate that even the most devout will be bitten occasionally. Believers say God allows snake bites to punish sins in daily life, to try the faith of the victim and other worshippers, and to show His healing power. 

THE LIFE OF A COAL  MINER


This article tells the story of a coal miner and his life, beginning with his slow progress as a boy who starts in a breaker, and ends, an old man in the breaker. Perhaps many of the coal miners in the area can relate to this young man’s experiences. It was  experienced by a Rev. John McDowell in about 1902. 


“I’m twelve years old, goin on thirteen,” said the boy to the boss of the breaker. He didn’t look more than ten, and he was only nine, but the law said he must be twelve to get a job. He was one of a multitude of the 16,000 youngsters in the mines, who, because miners’ families are large and their pay comparatively small, start in the breaker before many boys have passed their primary schooling. From the time he enters the breaker there is a rule of progress that almost always followed. Once a miner and twice a breaker boy, the upward growth of boy to man, breaker boy to miner, the descent from manhood to old age, from miner to breaker boy: that is the rule. 


So the nine-year old boy who is “twelve, goin on thirteen,” starts in the breaker. He gets from fifty to seventy cents for ten hours’ work. He rises at 5:30 o’clock in the morning, puts on his working clothes, always inundated with dust, eats his breakfast, and by 7 o’clock he has climbed the dark and dusty stairway to the screen room where he works. He sits on a hard bench built across a long chute through which passes a steady stream of broken down coal. From the coal he is assigned the duty of  picking up the pieces of slate or rock. 


It is not a hard life but it is confining and frustrating. Sitting on his uncomfortable seat, bending ever constantly over the passing stream of coal, his hands soon become cut and scarred by the sharp pieces of slate and coal, while his finger nails are soon worn totally down from contact with the iron chute. 


The air he breathes is saturated with coal dust, and as a rule the breaker is severely hot in summer and tremendously cold in winter. 


In many of the modern breakers, to be sure, steam heating pipes have been introduced into the screen rooms, and fans have been placed in some breakers to carry away the dust. But however favorable the conditions, the boy’s life is a hard one. Yet is a constant introduction to what is to follow.


The ambition of every breaker boy is to enter the mines, and at the first opportunity he begins there as a door boy, never over fourteen years of age and often under. The work of the door boy is not so laborious as that in the breaker, but is more monotonous. He must be on hand when the first trip of cars enter in the morning and remain until the last comes out at night. His duty is to open and shut the door as men and cars pass through the door, which controls and regulates the ventilation of the mine. 


He is alone in the darkness and silence all day, except when other men and boys pass through his door. Not many of these boys care to read, and if they did it would be impossible in the dim light of their small lamp. Whittling and whistling are the boy’s fundamental recreations. The door boy’s wages vary from sixty-five to seventy-five cents a day, from which he provides his own lamp, cotton and oil.


Just as the breaker boy wants to be a door-boy, the door-boy wants to be a driver. When the mules are kept in the mines, as they usually are, the driver boy must go down the shaft in time to clean and harness his mule, bring him to the foot of the shaft and hitch him to a cluster of empty cars before seven o’clock. This collection of cars varies from four to seven according to the number of miners. The driver takes the empty cars to the working places and returns them loaded to the foot of the shaft. They are then hoisted to the surface and conveyed to the breaker when the coal is cracked, sorted and cleaned and made ready for the market. There are today ten thousand drivers in the anthracite coal mines. These boys are in constant danger, not only of falling roof and exploding gas, but of being crushed by the cars. 


When the driver reaches the age of twenty he becomes either a runner or a laborer in the mines, more frequently the latter. The runner is a conductor who collects the loaded cars and directs the driver. The laborer is employed by the miner, subject to the approval of the superintendent, to load the cars with the coal which has been blasted by the miner. As a rule he is paid so much per car, and an exact number of cars comprising a days work. The number of cars vary at different mines--averaging from five to seven--equaling from twelve to fifteen tons of coal. The laborer’s work is often made difficult by the water and rock which are found in large quantities of coal veins.


Each laborer is looking forward to becoming a miner in the technical sense of the word, that is, the employer of a laborer. To do this a laborer must have had two years’ experience in practical mining and be able to pass an examination before the district board. If he passes he becomes a contractor as well as a laborer. He enters into a contract with the company to do a certain work at so much per car or yard. He blasts all the coal, which  involves judgment in locating the hole, skill in boring it, and care in preparing and determining the size of the shot. The number of blasts per day ranges from four to twelve, according to the size and nature of the vein. He is responsible for the propping necessary to sustain the roof. 



According to the law the company operator must furnish the miner the needed props. But the miner must place them at such places as the mine boss chooses. Most of the boring is now done with hand machines. The miner furnishes his own tools and supplies. His powder, squibs, paper, soap and oil he is compelled to buy from the company which employs him. His equipment includes the following tools--a hand machine for drilling, drill, scraper, needle, blasting barrel, crowbar, pick, shovel, hammer, sledge, cartridge pin, oil can, toolbox and lamp. 


As a rule the miner rises at five a.m. and enters the mine shortly after six. In some cases he is obligated to walk a mile or more underground to reach his place of work. He spends from eight to ten hours a day in the mine. Taking 300 days as the possible working time in a year, the anthracite miner’s daily pay for the past twenty years will not average over $1.60 per day, and that of the laborer not over $1.35. 


It is an endless routine of a dull sluggish world from nine years until death--consists of a sort of voluntary life imprisonment. Few escape. Once they begin, they continue to live out their routine, ignoring their daily danger, knowing nothing better.

MISCELLANY


We shall at this time review some of the names and events in Campbell County.

First we will assess the life of  Colonel Arthur Campbell for whom Campbell County, Tennessee was named. 


A few historians and scholars think Campbell County should have been named for Colonel William Campbell (brother-in-law to Col. Arthur), the commander at the battle of King’s Mountain during the Revolutionary War. However, most historians agree that the honor goes to Colonel Arthur Campbell. 


Colonel Campbell was of Scotch-Irish descent, the son of David Campbell. He was born in Augusta County, Virginia in 1742. At fifteen he served with a company of Rangers in the French and Indian War. He was assigned to Dickerson’s Fort on Cow pasture River in present Bath County, Va. He had been trapped in a plum tree by an attacking band of Wyandotte Indians, wounded in the knee and captured.


For three years, he lived as a captive among the Indians in the Lake Erie region, going with them on many hunts and traveling most of the present territory of Ohio, Indiana, Illinois and Michigan. While on a trip to Detroit, he escaped and traveled more than two-hundred miles in the wilderness to a British outpost and informed them of the plan of the Indians.


After returning home, he attended Walnut Academy at Lexington, Virginia. He married his cousin, Margaret Campbell, and lived at Royal Oak which was sixty miles west of Ingles River, on the middle fork of the Holston River. Royal Oak was a large spacious house on the frontier and  a stopping place for the weary travelers. 


Colonel Campbell was nick-named “Long Jaw” because of his red hair and snappish empty talkativeness. After moving to Royal Oak, he became a major in the Augusta County militia being responsible for the safety of the settlers who crossed into the Holston Valley. 


He later was a delegate from Fincastle County, Virginia. Although not present at the battle of King’s Mountain, he furnished valuable assistance and men and led many forays against the Cherokee Indians who were harassing the Watauga Settlement in Tennessee. 


Colonel Campbell lived at Royal Oak until 1805 when he moved to a 600 acre tract of land he had previously patented on the Wilderness Trail in Yellow Creek (Middlesboro) Kentucky. He died August 8, 1811, at the age of seventy-three and was buried in a grave plot called “Gideon’s Tenements” which was near his home. His forgotten grave was discovered in 1890 by workmen who were building the new town of Middlesboro.

EARLY SCHOOLS IN CAMPBELL COUNTY


Previous to 1806, the year Campbell County was formed, there had been no suggestion of free public schools. Some children were taught at home and some settlements had what were called old-field schools. 


The furniture of the school room was very simple. The seats were made from logs. The log had been split open and long pegs were driven into holes bored at each end. These pegs served for legs, and the split side of the log was smoothed off for a seat. Rows of pegs around the wall held the hats and dinner baskets. 


A long, flat bench higher and wider than the rest, stood in the back part of the room for a writing table. There were no blackboards and few books. If a student was fortunate he had a slate to cipher and write on.


While the teacher heard one pupil recite, all the rest studied aloud and to make the teacher think they were studying very hard, they made a great noise. Such schools were called “loud schools” or “blab schools.”


Webster’s blueback speller was printed about 1783 and was slow reaching the frontier. Comly’s speller was used extensively and several millions were sold. Dilworth’s was an early speller, also. 


The arithmetic used was Pike’s and was called “sum books.” When English grammars were first printed, the contents were often in rhyme, as were those of arithmetic.


“Geography Made Easy,” by Jedidiah Morse, was the first geography published in the United States and appeared about 1784. The method of learning the subject was called “singing geography.” 


The New England Primer, called the a-b-c- book, was popular in the 18th Century. More than three million copies were printed.


Schools were scarce on the frontier, and those that were established were started by Presbyterian ministers who served both as minister and teacher. They were the best educated persons in the settlements, since that church required that its ministers have the equivalent of a bachelor’s degree. 


It was the rule that the first boy to reach the schoolhouse should make the fire. The friction match was not made until 1827 and our fore parents used flint and steel to make sparks, which ignited cotton, linen or other dry material.

THE ITALIAN BLUE GEM COAL COMPANY


(The following article was found in the Jellico Advance-Journal April 27, 1900.) 


Miners and Shippers of the Pure “Italian Blue Gem Coal, the Best on the Market.

R.B. BAIRD, Receiver and Sales Agent


This is one of the best mines in the Jellico district. It was organized in 1895 by Thos. Zechini and Associates, and named the Italian Blue Gem Coal Co.


During the year 1897 misfortune stared this enterprise in the face and it was necessary to place the business in the hands of a receiver. R.B. Baird, Cashier of the Citizens Bank, was named for his important place. He is also sales agent for this famous coal, having his office in the Citizens Bank, Jellico, Tenn. He has managed the affairs of this enterprise very successfully, and now the company is preparing to build a broad gauge railroad to the mines, and also make other improvements. The coal is now hauled over a tramway of about a mile in length by mules. When these contemplated improvements have been made this mine will be second to none in the district within its capacity.


Mr. Peter Zechini is superintendent of this mine, and to his efficiency is attributed in a large degree the success of the mines. Mr. L.M. Lyons has charge of the clerical department and store and to his efficient work is due in part the growth and expansion of the business.


This company produced what is known and largely sought for “Italian Blue Gem.” This coal is unexcelled for steam and domestic purposes and commands a good price and ready market. It is produced from a ridge or offshoot of the Pine Mountain, and possesses valuable properties peculiarly its own. When “Italian” is once used it will always be used. The large trade already received by the products of this coal is the best evidence we can offer as to its good qualities and the lessening in expense to those using it.

JELLICO GOT ITS NAME FROM ???????


There seems to be more than one theory as to how Jellico got its name. James Hayden Siler wrote in the “Jellico Advance-Sentinel”, in 1938, three different versions of the origin of the town’s name. He writes that the name “Jellico” is covered in some mystery. 


One version of the name change was due to the Jellico Coal Mine operation in the Jellico Mountains at Woolridge, Proctor and Kensee. One reference mentioned by Siler is Jellico Creek, which rises in Scott County, Tennessee, and flows into the Cumberland River midway between Williamsburg and Cumberland Falls. This item is first pointed out, in 1813, as the watercourse for a grant of land among the “Tellico Land Grants.” 


For the next 20 or 30 years the creek is spelled in both land grants and deeds in the Whitley County, Kentucky courthouse with a “G” and “J” with the “G” spelling in the majority. Spellings of the different names are Gilico, Gillico, Gelico, Gellico and Gilco Creek, sometimes called river. One of the “J” spellings was Jalico. Both the “G” and “J” become the same phonetically, and with this procedure the old clerks were right in both spellings. Jellico Creek was first mentioned as early as 1813-14 and was also spelled with a “G,” and Jellico mentioned in 1824 was spelled as “Gelico Mountains.”


Another theory regarding the origin of the name was taken from the plant, “Angelica.” This plant grows abundantly in the Jellico Creek locality; from this plant the settlers made an invigorating drink. The Angelica is more commonly known as the “Gelica” or “Jelica” root. A theory could easily rise as to the origin of the aforementioned name. 


Dr. L.C. Glenn of the Department of Geology of Vanderbilt University, after spending some time in the area, writes that: 


“I have, however, always understood that the word Jellico was a corruption of the Indian word Tellico, and I think when I was in that region I discussed it once or twice with some of the older citizens, and I recall that they either suggested or agreed to Tellico being the original form. I THINK some very old maps also have Tellico applied TO the mountain ridge now known as Jellico.”


Land encompassed in the section of Jellico was called the Tellico Land Grants because of the treaty by which the Cherokee Indians ceded the land to the government. Location of this signing was at Tellico Plains, Tennessee, near the Smokies, an assemblage of the Cherokees. 


Siler mentions another possibility of the name. The Jellicoe family was long renowned in England. Admiral Jellicoe was a participant of the Battle of Jutland who died in the 1930’s. A far remote possibility was that a part of the Jellicoe family lived here and gave their name to the creek and mountains. 


A post office was established here October 29, 1878, under the name of Smithburgh. On August 6, 1883, the name of the office was changed to Jellico.

SKIRMISH AT CUMBERLAND GAP


Activity up and down Powell Valley during the Civil War period (1861-1865), produced a number of events and happenings. These accounts can be found and reviewed in the Official Records of the Civil War. At this time we shall assess some of the activities during this period concerning Powell Valley and the Cumberland Gap. 


On March 20, 1862, Col. Samuel P. Carter, U.S. Army, related late in the afternoon that he was informed by a messenger from Claiborne County, East Tennessee, that four Confederate regiments, with six pieces of artillery, under command of General Smith (Maj. Gen. E. Kirby Smith, C.S. Army, who had arrived the preceding day), left Cumberland Gap on the 19th to attack the 2nd East Tennessee Regt., which was then stationed at Woodson’s Gap, some three miles from Fincastle, Campbell County. Orders were issued to the 1st East Tennessee Regt., 16th Ohio,  49th Indiana, and the 1st Battalion of  Kentucky Cavalry, to prepare four days rations and be ready to move on the following morning. Capt. Wetmore’s 9th Ohio Battery was also ordered to have one section (along with two Parrott guns) in readiness to accompany the command. The whole force amounted to some 2,300 men. Appropriate guards were left at Woodson’s Gap and in several other camps. 


The Union troops started their march to the Cumberland Gap on the 21st. Their anticipation of reaching the Gap before the return of the Confederates troops was not realized. Having arrived within two miles of the Gap the troops were overtaken by a messenger, who had been sent to Claiborne County with information that the Confederates had made a forced march, and who were by that time within their encampment. 


Col. Carter realized that his force was much too small to make an attack on their strong entrenchments, which were heavily protected. He chose to remain in front of their works for a day or two, and make as complete an examination of their operation as feasibly as possible. 


The Union troops advanced on the Confederate’s right and drove in their pickets; moved close to their right line of defense, and bivouacked for the night. 



On the next morning of the 22nd, Col. Carter’s troops threw out skirmishers and drove the Confederates from the woods to the abatis, which covered the whole mountain-side inside the line of fallen timber. 


The enemy sharpshooters were well protected by the rifle pits. The skirmishing on the Union side was commendably performed by companies of the 16th Ohio. Quite a number of the enemy were shot by them. However, the Confederates opened fire on the Union skirmishers with shrapnel from two 12-pounders, moreover,  with no damage done. 


Col. Carter moved the two Parrott guns and their regiments to a ridge in the front of the Gap. Here the guns were placed in position and soon opened fire on the enemy’s works and continued firing upon them until the afternoon. 


Confederate fire was returned from seven different locations, one on the top of the Cumberland Mountains to the left of the Gap, which elevated far above them; one on the side of the mountain, also on the left; one in the Gap, and four on the right or west side of the Gap. The Confederates heaved 24-pounder shot, 12-pounder shell, 6-pounder solid, and 8-inch shell. The latter came from the guns exploding among their tents and others in their works, the immediate damage being unclear at that point. They were several times driven from their guns, but they had hill and deep trenches close at hand. Here they seemed to be securely covered, the suffering possibly being minimal. 


The 49th Indiana was positioned on Col. Carter’s right, which was the enemy’s left, when they discovered another battery that opened fire on them with shell. While they were in good range and many shells exploded about them, no one was injured. Although the Confederate force was more than double the Union force, all the latter’s effort to draw them from their works was successful. 


Col. Carter assessed the physical damage and found that some of the officers and men had had narrow escapes but none were injured or lost. Snowstorms and sleet abounded during both nights. Even with this predicament the Union troops bivouacked safely in the mountains. Not a word of complaint was heard from either officer of man. 


During this misfortune, the ammunition of the Parrott guns, both fuse and percussion, seemed to be defective, as many of  the shells of the Union troops did not seem to explode. 


Examination of Cumberland Gap by Col. Carter confirmed the opinion given in a former letter that the place is very strong if attacked from the north side, and could only be carried by a large force with a heavy loss of life. But, it was assessed that it could be readily reduced by having a good force attack simultaneously on the south side. Col. Carter suggested that another battery, with heavier rifled guns, could be strategically used on the line. It was suggested that if Gen. Garfield could march down from Pikeville, Ky.,  through Virginia with his force and attack on the south side or cut off supplies, the Confederates would have to move out.

Report of Confederate General E. Kirby Smith, writing from Headquarters at Knoxville, Tenn., March 30, 1862. 


Col. J.E. Rains, commanding the post at Cumberland Gap, reports on the evening of the 21st the enemy drove in the pickets and on the morning following appeared in his front. Having succeeded in placing two pieces of artillery in position on a neighboring ridge, they opened fire, which was kept up during the day (the 22nd) with considerable vigor, as well as from small-arms at long range, but with little effect. The loss of the enemy [Union troops] is not known, but during the night they withdrew, apparently in great consternation. A body of cavalry to protect their rear were the only troops of the Federal forces seen the next morning, and which it was impossible to cut off. 


Information which had reached the enemy of an expedition toward Jacksborough led them to believe that the garrison had been weakened to a great extent, and induced this demonstration. After feeling and ascertaining that it was in force, they retired. Their force was no other than Carter’s brigade, estimated at about 4,000 to 6,000.

Report of Confederate Col. James E. Rains on March 22, 1862. Headquarters, Cumberland Gap


SIR: On yesterday evening, about dark, a party of infantry scouts which I sent out drove in the enemy’s pickets 3 miles out on Harlan Road. At daylight skirmishing parties of the enemy [Union troops] opened fire upon our right from the adjacent hills. the firing is now going on and the Minie balls are falling within our works. I have seen no artillery. The snow is falling thickly and the morning is dark. Our men are in the trenches. The fire is a very thin one, and we have not returned it. One man is wounded.

GINSENG


Sometime ago I was conversing with Coolidge resident, Wayne Cox, and the subject moved to the medicinal root, ginseng, or as most locals call it, “sang.” Wayne has been hunting and finding it for years. He tried to explain to me what it looked like, but I would possibly have to see it for myself.         


After researching the subject I found that it is native to China, although a closely related species, American ginseng, occurs in eastern North America and is sometimes substituted for the Chinese variety. 


Before we extract some history on ginseng, we shall get into the general use of “sang” involving the early settlers pf Tennessee. Some acts of superstition, combined with Indian tradition, led to a strangely precise form of medicine. One recipe for general aches and pains involving the pioneers consisted of star root, sourwood, rosemary, sawdust, anvil dust, water, and vinegar. A somewhat bad memory required a mixture of  “sticky” tea made of cocklebur and jimsonweed. 


These settlers used ginseng sparingly, for it brought a high price when sold to herb dealers for shipment to China. The main problem for the pioneers lay in locating the five-leaved plant, which grew in the most secluded, damp coves of the Smokies and beyond. Sometimes several family members would wait until summer or early fall, then go out on extended “sanging” expeditions.


Sometimes the search proved to be quite impossible. During some seasons, the plant might not appear at all. When it did, its leaves yellowed and its berries reddened for only a few days. But when a healthy “sang” plant was finally found, and its long root carefully cleaned and dried, it could yield a great financial reward. 


Although the five year old white root was more common, a red-rooted plant needed a full decade to mature and was therefore more highly prized. Greed often led to reckless destruction of the beds, with no seed plants for future harvests. Ginseng was almost impossible to cultivate. 


Ginseng hunting became a dangerous business. Although Daniel Boone dug it and traded for it, later gatherers were sometimes killed over it. One large Philadelphia dealer who came into Cataloochee (located in the Smokies) in the mid-1800’s was murdered and robbed. Anyone trying to grow it, even if he were successful, found that he would have to guard the plants like water in the desert. The rare, prized ginseng became a symbol for many in the mountains of all that was unique, so freely destroyed, and eventually irreplaceable. 


Ginseng has been used for more than 2,000 years in China, where the earliest written description of its use appeared in a medical book written before 100 A.D. At that time it was recommended for calming down the spirit, reducing the emotion, bringing agitation to an end, removing harmful influence, lightening the eyes, enlightening the mind, and increasing wisdom. 


It was predicted in 1714 that “any European who understands pharmacy” would be able to study its chemistry and adapt to it as an exceptional medicine. European science still has not been able to explain why the Chinese prize it so highly. The Chinese people conclude that it increases strength, promotes life and appetite, overcomes weakness and impotence. American ginseng is more valued to Asians because it is sweeter tasting. 


Regardless of species, the “root” of the plant is used. It should be collected in autumn from a plant five or six years old. Ginseng root is considered “fresh” when at least six years old. “White” ginseng root is prepared for by simple drying, while “red” ginseng root is prepared by steaming first prior to drying. These processing techniques most assuredly alter the composition of the final product. 


Sometimes ginseng draws prices as high as $500 per root, and so, it is little wonder that hunting this rare root has become more and more popular in the United States. 
Ginseng in China is still considered a general tonic.  

EARLY TRANSPORTATION IN TENNESSEE


Tennessee, with all its mountains and valleys, incorporated an early transportation method that consisted of the first white traders and the long hunters. These explorers drove their pack teams through the wilderness over buffalo and Indian trails, while light canoes and rafts were used to ford the deep streams. 



The Wilderness Road, which was blazed by Daniel Boone in 1775, was used to open up the Transylvania settlement in Kentucky. It was the first road platted by a white man in the Tennessee territory. It began at the North Carolina line into Tennessee, passing near the site of Kingsport and through the Cumberland Gap into Kentucky. From Kentucky a branch circled southward, reaching the Cumberland River at the site of present Nashville. 


North Carolina, in 1785, of which the territory of Tennessee was a part of, ordered a road built from the lower end of Clinch Mountain to Nashville. It was blazed by Peter Avery and the route entered the Cumberland Plateau at Emory Gap, near Harriman, and crossed the plateau to the Cumberland River. 


A treaty between the United States and the Cherokee Nation was granted in 1791 that stated: ”the citizens and inhabitants of the United States shall have a free and unmolested use of a road from the Washington District to the Metro District.”


A road from Kingston to Nashville was authorized by the Territorial legislature and was completed in 1795. Plans to finance the project were initially set up through the  application of a lottery, but failed. The legislature then agreed that the Territory should pay $1,000 for the actual construction and set in motion toll rates for upkeep of the road. 


As roads and transportation became more available a tavern keeper in Knoxville, named Chisholm, in 1799, advertised a post route between Knoxville and Abingdon, Virginia, scheduling trips once every three weeks. An annual fee of $2.50 was set for subscribers of mail and newspapers. 


In 1801 the Chickasaw and Choctaw Indians negotiated a treaty with the white man that resulted in the latter’s use of the southwest frontier such as the Natchez Trace, and the Chickasaw “Path of Peace.” These paths linked long remnants of trails and small paths into one continuous thoroughfare, connecting Nashville with Natchez on the Mississippi, and in due course by river with New Orleans. 


With the treaty of October 27, 1805 being finalized, the Cherokee granted the Federal Government a mail route through their territory, with comparable treaties being  reached with the Creek and Choctaw. These agreements allowed the Indians to own and operate all inns and ferries on all the connecting roads, thus charging a nominal rate for their services.


County courts were permitted to build roads and bridges and to establish ferries by 1804. Sometimes, when building a free bridge compelled too great a tax on the taxpayer, the court had power to build toll bridges and enlist private companies to build toll roads. The State’s first bids for road cutting were received in 1804 for a road connecting Tennessee with the “most convenient port in Georgia.”


The first macadamized road was built in 1831 which inspired the demand for turnpikes of this class.  An act was passed in 1836 which in turn said the State would subscribe one-third of the stock of any properly organized company appropriated for the building of turnpikes.


Quite a few companies had until that time built roads in Middle Tennessee. Subsequently, this act of the legislature had a noticeable effect on transportation in this sector; the old roads extending from Nashville were turned into a system of turnpikes. East Tennessee had problems of topography and so it did not fare well. Due to this situation, the contractor’s profits would gain very little. 


By 1840 the construction and management of turnpikes, which consisted mainly of major thoroughfares, had almost entirely fallen into the hands of private organizations, of whom discouraged the toll gate system and made few improvements. All told, there were some 900 road companies in Tennessee, some of which extended into the 20th century.


During the Civil War the continuous marching of the soldiers, with their trains of artillery and supply wagons, turned the roads into a muddy quagmire that was  almost impossible to negotiate, let alone repair.  However, in 1865, shortly after the War of the Rebellion, county courts were authorized to levy taxes for the improvement of highways. Requirements of men from eighteen to thirty were to pay an annual fee of three dollars for  a road tax, or, if they were able-bodied, work from three to six days a year on the road. Due to this plan, the State roads were maintained until 1907. 


At this time the legislature voted surplus school funds to be used for road upkeep. However, no surplus existed and a State commission of public roads was selected to study the situation. As a result of this plan county bond issues and special levied taxes  transformed the old turnpikes into an outstanding system of public roads. 

AREA HISTORY


While rummaging through the archives at the Campbell County Historical Society in Lafollette, the writer came upon a fine history of the area written by Ozias Muse. The first section consisted of a letter written to a Mr. Baird. I will transcribe the letter exactly as Mr. Muse wrote it. It reads:


“Dear Mr. Baird,


The information in this story is based on what I can remember such as the coke ovens, the coal washer, the iron furnace and the old power house in Ivydell, all being in full blast, also information given to me by my father and other old neighbors related to me years ago. 


“I was born Christmas day in 1911 on Walnut Mountain. My first trip to LaFollette was by horseback at 10 years of age with my elder brother with two horse loads of cabbage to Marion Shelby. Our horses wanted to go into a fair fit when one of the little dinkey engines passed us on its way to Kent hollow to deliver coal from the Jellico coal seam to the coal washer. Then after a second washing it went to the coke ovens. It was exciting to watch the coal washer in operation and the blue blazes coming from the coke ovens. 


“We hewed out and hauled cross ties to the L&N. Joe Hously run the tie yard which was located where C.J. Russell’s oil operation stayed for many years, and there was a flour mill in the area where Morton Wilson hardware and the forest service is located, but while our team of mules eat their bundles of oats, we walked down the railroad tracks to see the iron furnace in operation. The huge high smoke stack and bright flashes from the melting iron was truly exciting. I recall the ore mines in operation supplying the ore for the furnace. This story may relate some information regarding this.  Thank You,   Ozias Muse.”


Mr. Muse also recorded more interesting information concerning the LaFollette area. He begins this section by telling of timber harvesting in the 1800’s. He writes that in the late 1800’s old Captain Brown and Henry Kasefang’s logging company joined the Kentucky Lumber Company of near Saxton, Kentucky, in leasing extensive portions of Campbell and Scott counties. Ozias says this was the greatest industrial undertaking to come to the area at the time. 


The area under lease included Walnut Mountain, Stinking Creek, Hickory Creek, and the head of New River. This mammoth lease included untapped reserves of virgin timber awaiting harvesting. 


The big job started with road building, men using such tools as wheel barrows, mattocks, dirt shovels, sledge hammers and Sager double-bit axes, crosscut saws and heavy steel bars.


One road began on the head waters of Stinking Creek and continued around the north side of Walnut Mountain to near the Muse farm where it forked. Another road led through Hurricane Mountain, and still another down the ridge across from Horse Creek.


The latter road was built to the top of the mountain while the Hurricane Hollow Road was built around a bend to the top, with one fork leading through the Flat Woods to the head of Ollis Creek and on to Royal Blue.


The other road went down the mountainside through a gap in the cliffs called Hell’s Gate. This portion connected with the Horse Creek Road at Clay Gap and continued for about seven miles out Tar Kiln Mountain, which butted against Walnut Mountain.


Some areas were too steep and rough to reach with wagon roads. To reach these locations, two rows of poles, gauged as rails, were placed end-to-end on the ground. Wooden two-by-fours were nailed atop the poles for rails. Heavy wagons with iron wheels and brakes, similar to ordinary horse drawn wagons, were drawn by horses over this track. Often one log was a load for the rail cars. Some areas were so distant that it took a full day to deliver one trip of logs to the sawmill, or loading point. The specially built wooden railroad allowed them to pull logs down Hurricane Hollow to the Horse Creek mill at #4 camp.


This big lease was blessed with virgin growth white oak, chestnut oak, water oak, poplar, chestnut and hickory timber. Some trees were up to eight feet in diameter. It required a full day for a three man crew to fell one tree and sever one log. The longest crosscut saw available was eight feet, so they had to remove one handle and zig-zag the saw to cut through the center of the log.


Splitting these mammoth logs to a manageable size was no east task. First, the  timber cutters spaced and drove 6 to 8 thin steel wedges in the end of the log to force a crack. Then thicker steel wedges were used to widen the crack enough to allow dogwood gluts, driven with homemade hickory mauls, to finish the split. The halves, in some cases, were split again. Some quarters were of such size that a team of horses were required to drag one to the loading yard, where two log quarters often made a load for the heavily built wagons, with two teams continuing  the trip to the sawmill.


One sawmill was located on Horse Creek at # 4 camp, while another was located at the head of Ollis Creek near Royal Blue. The lumber was transported to a railroad siding at Buck Eye with wagons and teams, and simultaneously loaded on flat cars for shipment to the Kentucky Lumber Company.


Mr. Muse tells how Stinking Creek got its name. He said most of the people living on the small creek were farmers who raised cattle, some with as many as 100 head. Everything seemed to be going along fine when a disaster struck. An epidemic of cholera hit the cattle, killing them by the thousands, notably far too many to bury. Even the animal eaters, which certainly included the vultures, failed in the effort to rid the folks of this calamity. The dead were left in the fields to decay and rot, and so, a very strong odor revealed the situation. 


Some hung sheets or blankets over their doorways and windows in hopeless efforts to shield themselves from the scent. The odor was reported as far away as 100 miles. The county industries were all practically shut down. In time, the odor faded away and the locals resumed operating their farms; the creek, however, retained a new name, Stinking Creek. 

FROM RECRUIT TO SOLDIER


The American Civil War (1861-1865) was an atrocity that cannot be measured unless the dead were counted, over 620,000 total in a four year period. However, at this time we shall uncover the new recruit and his efforts during his every day’s experiences.


In war time the raw soldier was known to the veteran as a “tenderfoot.” This term was not out of place when applied to a recruit, as was clearly shown before the end of his first day’s march. There were few who indeed did not experience the untamed, frustrating pain from blisters on the feet before the “tenderfoot” became toughened to the roads of the day, with all their atrocious conditions. Of course, the “wonderfully” made army shoe took its toll on the new chap. This shoe was so hated that most called it the “gunboat.”


A soldier was of little account as a factor in war unless he could march without becoming crippled, mostly referring to infantry as it made up most of the heavy fighting. In long campaigns they must move like the cattle which accompanied them to supply them with fresh beef.  The full measurement of capability was reached when the soldier could march twenty, thirty or even forty miles a day and be able to fight when he arrived at the battle ground. 


The long marches beneath a scorching sun, hampered with all the traps that made up a soldier’s outfit, tend to make it all seem impossible unless their goal is completed. An ordinary man could possibly walk forty miles within 24 hours without severe distress, but load him down with a musket, cartridge box and accessories, sixty or eighty rounds of ball cartridges, a bulging knapsack containing food for at least three days, a canteen of water, blanket, overcoat and knapsack, and before the march is over he will be a used-up-man. 


Words cannot describe one who has experienced the challenges of  the total agony of every aching muscle, fiber and tendon of limb and body. Included in this suffering was the probing misery where belts and straps have ground the dust into the agonizing flesh, and shoes have worn the skin from tender feet. Not to mention the aching of shoulders and back and legs that have mustered the extreme bulkiness along the many exhaustive miles.


The young soldier boy would leave home with the hearts of mother and family quivering with a loving desire to fit him with everything possible in the way of home comforts. This young recruit started for the war with a wheel barrow load of clothing, a bed quilt or two, books, photograph albums, toilet articles and many other miscellaneous items. 



Without the slightest knowledge of the act of war, the knapsack would be crammed full with everything one could imagine. It was an incredible chore for the soldier to march with this enormous load simply because at the end of the first day’ march every pound  seemed like a hundred. 


With a critical lesson learned, the shrinkage of the knapsack was the beginning of the process that steadily transformed the recruit into the soldier. A greenhorn for the march would always receive taunts and gibes from the seasoned veterans, who had graduated from the hard knocks of soldiering. These veterans had also at one time tried to carry awkward knapsacks jam-packed with the gifts of loved ones. 


The young observing recruit noticed that the veterans knapsacks were shrunken and trim, while half of them had nothing at all. With the visual attraction of the veteran’s orderly knapsack, the recruit found it to be of the highest importance to learn how little he could get along with and be rather contented. 


However, the conscript, seemingly ready for action, filled with loyal sentiment, had a lesson to learn. He thought he could measure his powers of stamina and had to find out for himself how incorrect he was.


At the sound of the military beats, the bugle or tap of drum, he contentedly shouldered his immense load of sixty or seventy pounds, and plodded bravely off at the command of  “march.”


Before the end of the first mile was accomplished his attitude changed dramatically. The bugle sounded for the first five minutes rest, after an hour’s journey, and he seriously argued with himself whether to abandon part of his goods. During the break he took inventory of his knapsack and examined exactly what he was carrying. Should he or should he not dispose of many articles that he had no need for? The mementos and keepsakes had certainly registered on his mind, whereas he still had not gotten out of the state of sentimentality into the practical.


The few minutes of rest had restored him to his normal condition, and his eagerness to get used to his over-romantic burden transformed him into a patriotic soldier again, regardless of the circumstances. 


Seemingly, he was urged at the conclusion of this inspection that there was nothing he could throw away to relieve the pain of the march. Still, he couldn’t help but notice that the seasoned veterans, whose personal baggage consisted only of their blankets rolled like big sausages with the ends tied together and thrown over their shoulders, were quite content. In a display of  valor the raw recruit would show them that he could carry his load and travel as fast and as far as they could. And so, in a fit of  boldness at the call of “fall in,” he would buckle up his knapsack and sling it cheerfully over his shoulders.


A cry of the second “fallout” was much more brutal than the first. The weight of the knapsack, blanket, haversack, musket and cartridge box, along with the headaches and constant pain, seemed to increase considerably. His personal feeling was to drop into a fence corner again before the column was half way to the next stopping place and take inventory. His holding out was one of stamina and stubbornness. 


At last! The sound of the bugle! Nothing pleased his ears more than the shrill sound of the bugle!  Sentiments would now take second place! Immediately he opened his knapsack and flung away articles that caring hands had prepared. No regrets! Only relief! At the next “halt” he would rid himself of other touching articles. Some small items that gripped his heart he held onto to. 


Surely this was the system applied to many soldiers during the Civil War. With no formal directions the soldier was left to fend for himself.  Time had not allowed for proper training, and so mistakes were possibly the most complimentary standard. 

LAFOLLETTE  FIRE OF 1904


A fire unprecedented in the village of LaFollette took place in late May of 1904. Total dollar amount was estimated at $200,000, leaving thirty-one businesses and ten saloon buildings completely left in ashes. The entire business section, extending from Central Avenue to the LaFollette Times on Tennessee Avenue, was totally wiped out. Everything was so completely destroyed that many residents said it was hard to realize the magnitude of damage left by the fire.


The fire started under the main stairway of the Cumberland Inn. It commenced in the front of the building where oil used in the building and other rubbish was gathered. It was stated that the original fire was a minor blaze, and if any type of fire preventive apparatus, such as a fire extinguisher or water had been handy, the fire would have been extinguished immediately. 


One of the first men on the scene was W.F. Burnett who called in urgency for a bucket of water. However, no means of extinguishing the fire was available, and so the whole lobby soon became engulfed in flames. The hotel was described as a roaring furnace with the main exits cut off. 


The hour was 5:30 in the morning and everyone who was awake at this time was in complete disarray. Many guests were still in bed with the hotel corridor besieged in smoke. The uproar of the awakened guests screaming in fear tended to rouse the sleeping guests that had no idea of what was going on. There were many exhilarating and close escapes that were recorded. Half-dressed men and scantily dressed women jumped from the windows to escape the raging fire and massive plumes of smoke. 


One narrow escape was recorded by Clarence Burchfield, conductor on the Southern passenger train. He was dressing for his morning run when the alarm was sounded. He immediately seized his oldest child and started for the stairs and was quickly followed by his wife carrying the baby clutched to her body. They were among the last of the guests to escape over the burning stairway. Burchfield’s eyebrows, eyelashes and mustache were singed by the intense heat. 


Fred Hall was badly burned and overcome by smoke during the ordeal. A railroad man, Edward Wells, ran to Hall’s room and rescued him, both escaping by jumping down the elevator chamber. Wells was badly burned about the face and hands.


Dr. W.C. Adams became a near tragedy of the fire. Dr. Adams’ apartments were located on the third floor of the Cumberland Inn. He was completely cut off by the flames and was forced to break out his window and jump through a wire screen to the street below. The flames followed the doctor to the pavement below where he fell with his clothing engulfed in the flames. After striking the ground, Egbert Wallin, LaFollette policeman, rushed in, and, with assistance from others, carried Dr. Adams safely away. The hospital report stated that Dr. Adams had suffered a broken hip and was severely burned about the face and body. He was cared for at the hospital and his chances for recovery were reported as good.


The second building to catch on fire was the Commercial Hotel, a three story wooden structure on Central Avenue. The larger part of  the mail and post office furnishings, located in Winkler’s Drug store, were destroyed.   


It was reported that dynamite was used in the wooden structure next to the Cumberland Inn on Tennessee Avenue.  These dwellings were located opposite the large brick metal front building occupied by the LaFollette State Bank, the Co-operative Store Company, and the offices of the LaFollette Coal, Iron & Railroad Company. 


The explosive effect of the fire broke the glass in the windows of the LaFollette company’s building, and the fire was soon rampant on both sides of Tennessee Avenue. The wind lay quite calm which was a God-send. The small town of LaFollette had no means of fighting a fire; no extinguishers nor bucket brigades existed. 


The good folks of LaFollette all lent a hand assisting the merchants in the rescue of their goods from the doomed buildings. However, the fire raged on and every building on Tennessee Avenue, between Central Avenue and that occupied by the LaFollette Times, were completely wiped out.


As the fire raced up Tennessee Avenue the first store destroyed was that of Hollingsworth & Robinson. However, quickened by their instincts, they managed to save most of their stock. 


Located on the right hand side of the avenue the Blue Grass Saloon was destroyed, with the proprietor saving a large inventory of his stock. Jim Cornwell’s saloon was next to be burned with not a trace of its contents to be found. The LaFollette Jewelry Company, along with Smith’s Saloon, were totally destroyed. Located inside Smith’s saloon was the dry goods and grocery store of Smith  & Sharp, it too being leveled. 


Dr. Riggs’ three-story brick building and Hatmaker’s saloon were next on the fire’s list of devastation. The Ogg Brothers store was  next swallowed up and following in order were the Nelson Bargain House, Cooper Dry Goods Store, John Brown’s Saloon, Miller Bros, Johnson’s livery stable, Mrs. Lee’s boarding house, Chadwell Bros. grocery house, a restaurant, and Tashman’s clothing store. 


Included on the left side of the road at the beginning of the fire was Cornwell’s large building, which housed a saloon and the opera house. Following this order of the fire were the W.G. Bradford’s Saloon, Fashion Store, Baker’s Meat Shop, Hart’s Saloon, Carden’s Saloon, Talbott’s Store, Model Bakery, and a new building which was vacant. 


(An obvious notation concerning the fire was that it wiped out every saloon in the village except for one which stood on the outer edge of town.)


The 1904 fire at LaFollette in a way created an avenue in which to rebuild the small town into a more substantial municipality, ultimately constructing an all brick structural system and make it the leading town in  Campbell County.


(Information for this article was found in the archives of the Campbell County Historical Society.)

THE LaFOLLETTE  PRESS: THURSDAY, JANUARY 16, 1930


This week we shall cover some of the items listed on the front page of the LaFollette Press, dated January 16, 1930. This might of interest to most readers because of the many names mentioned. 


We shall begin by listing several names from the Spanish American War. A camp, called the James E. Artis Camp, was installed on January 11, 1930, with Captain Winston Baird, of Company H, Sixth Immune Volunteer Regiment, being elected Commander of the new camp, it being an extension of the United Spanish American Veterans. Frank Bibee, of Jacksboro, and J.C. Claxton, of Lafollette, were elected Senior Vice Commander and Junior Vice Commander, respectively. 


(Captain Baird was Clerk and Master of Campbell County and had long been an exceptional figure in public life).


Other officers elected were: C.R. Burris, of  LaFollette, George Heatherly, of Lafollette, and William Gilbreath of Jellico, trustees; George W. Artis, of Newcomb, officer of the day; Henry Phillips of Jacksboro, officer of the guard; S.H. Bowman, of LaFollette, Adjutant, C.S. Jacobs, of LaFollette, quartermaster; Mose Lovett, of Jacksboro, historian; C.R. Burris, of LaFollette, quarter master sergeant; J.G. Baird, Alex Heatherly and A.J. Showman, all of LaFollette, color sergeants; George M. Baird, of LaFollette, Sergeant Major; A.J. Sherpf, of LaFollette, Chaplain; L.M. Ward, of Vasper, chief musician, and William Walden, of LaFollette, surgeon.


The new camp was installed after several weeks of undertaking, and began its first year with a roll of thirty members. 

PEOPLES NATIONAL BANK


W.A.W. Carden was re-elected to the chairmanship of the board of the Peoples National Bank on January 13, 1930. G.B. Gallaher and David Reynolds were re-elected president and cashier, respectively. Other officers elected were H.G. Murray, Vice-President; Walker Cu-ick [sic], assistant cashier. Board of Directors elected were W.A.W. Carden, G.B. Gallaher, H.G. Murray, David Reynolds, E.E. Hill, R. L. Sharp, S.A. Mars, John L. Ausmus, and S.S. Pratt. 

FIRST STATE BANK


Dr. R.L. Gallaher, of Caryville, was re-elected President of the First State Bank of Caryville. Other officers re-elected were Leonard Cross, Vice-President; Wm. F. Sharp, second Vice-President, Dewey Lumpkins, Cashier, and Miss Mamie Shultz, Assistant Cashier. Elected Directors were R.L. Gallaher, Leonard Cross, Wm. F. Sharp, Dewey Lumpkins, M.D. McGhee, Condy Lindsey, G.W. Pickle, J.W. Goins and M.H. Irwin.

PRESBYTERIAN REVIVAL


A Revival Meeting at the Presbyterian Church opened on January 13, 1930, with the arrival of the Reverend B.M. Larson, of Athens. The meeting had been well attended every night during the week. 


Prayer meetings were set up in the homes of the people. On January 17, the meetings were to be held at 2 o’clock in the homes of W.D. Barton, Central Street, Ridenour’s on Rose Hill, and Bert Longmire on Sunshine. The Saturday evening schedule was arranged at 6:45 at the homes of A.E. Ahlers, Tennessee Ave., and Mrs. Hoskins and Bob Dankney’s. Brother Larson received nothing but high praise for his preaching.  

SMITH HARDWARE


The Smith Hardware Company will occupy, after February 1, [1930] the Central Avenue building formerly occupied by the Farmer’s National Bank, according to a lease announced by Louis Balloff, owner of the building. 


The hardware company has been located for several years in the Central Avenue building adjoining the LaFollette Grocery. Moving of the stock of goods will begin as soon as the new quarters are in readiness, according to Paul W. Smith, manager of the store.


 ELK VALLEY COAL AND  IRON COMPANY


Z.D. Baird was elected President of the Elk Valley Coal and Iron Company last week at the annual meeting of the company. Other officers were Frank W. Jarnigan, Vice-President and Winston Baird, Secretary, Treasurer. These officers were elected for the 13th consecutive term, receiving the honor every year since 1900.

TOBACCO PRICES


A sharp decline in tobacco leaf prices was felt on the local market floor of the Tri-County tobacco warehouse this week, the closing on averages dropping from around 26 cents to 23 cents a pound. The depression felt here is one of a general decline in the tobacco market throughout the state.


The local floor opened the week with a sale of 106,000 pounds at an average of 22 cents, and was closing the week with a sale of more than 50,000 pounds at a price ranging around the previous sale. This week’s sales bring the total sold in LaFollette to more than 900,000 pounds, with more than $225,000 released from the house to farmers.


Bad selling weather, heavy tobacco and the general decline in the market price are blamed for the lower price paid for the week 

(A special thanks to the folks at the Campbell County Historical Society for their input.)

SHORT HISTORY OF THE CHURCH OF GOD


While many churches in the South had already established their existence and their doctrines, an invitation went forward to those who wanted to fully establish the readings and beliefs of the Bible as it was written. With this request a small group of nine believers formed the Christian Union on the banks of Barney Creek in Monroe County, Tennessee, on August 19, 1886. Activities of this joining together on a hot scorching day in the Unicoi Mountains in eastern Tennessee are not known to any degree, but their mission was fully accomplished. R.G. Spurling was selected as pastor of the church while Richard Spurling, his father, moderated the proceedings. 


The small congregation knew it was futile to “reform” their own existing churches and so decided to “form” their own church. The intent was to re-establish sound scriptual doctrines of the Bible, and to promote evangelism and Christian service. 


Barney Creek still remains a small stream that flows quietly through the mountains. Livelihood in this part of the Appalachian Mountains has still much to be desired. However, early folks in this part of the mountains who sought God found the New Testament Christianity and gathered to later become the Church of God, as we know it today. At a later time the experiences of sanctification and Spirit baptism were added.


 This vision of Christian unification was the spiritual desire of R.G. Spurling and his father Richard Spurling, the former being a licensed minister in the Missionary Baptist Church. 


Richard Spurling was an ordained elder and began to seek God regarding the abuses he saw in the local churches around him. He was quite perterbed concerning the spiritual neglect and ill treatment he witnessed in these congregations. He was also troubled with challenging traditions and creeds that he deemed a hardship for God’s people. 


Calvin, Luther and other famous reformers had brought about many changes to the church such as a “right belief” rather than a “true relationship” with Jesus Christ. These gallant reformers’ changes concentrated more-or-less on creed rather than the leading of the Holy Spirit and one’s own principles.


The focal point of  R.G. Spurling was Christianity and the law of love rather than creed or doctrine, in which the latter could possibly divide Christians. He believed that the New Testament was the “only infallible rule of faith and practice” and contains everything “necessary for salvation and church government.” 


Spurling was a part of the broad re-establishment that moved through the church world in the United States during the 19th century. At this time, the Christian Union, similar to other groups such as the Churches of Christ and Churches of God (Anderson, Indiana), likened to reinstate New Testament Christianity. The New Testament was given different emphasis by these groups, but all wanted to restore some part of the apostolic church. Some of these groups focused on government, some on everyday life, some on the message, but all longed to return to contemporary Christian life, an important item that had been lost in the superseding centuries. Spurling saw in some teachings that a coarseness and individuality subdued the Gospel and led to dividing the body of Christ more so than to Christian unity.


A.J. Tomlinson, a friend of R.G. Spurling’s, wrote that Spurling preached whenever and wherever he had an opportunity. Tomlinson wrote that Spurling “in this way the minds of the people were continually agitated, and gradually prepared for the work of the Spirit that was to follow. For ten years this servant of God prayed, wept and continued his ministry against much opposition and under peculiar difficulties, before seeing much fruits of his labor.”


Benjamin Hardin Irwin acquired a more intense tactic to the Christian life and taught a “third blessing” called “the fire.” He structured, in Iowa, in 1895, the Fire-Baptized Holiness Associations, which later extended around the United States. During the next year he preached in South Carolina and Georgia. He had, by 1898, organized an international Fire-Baptized Holiness Association in Anderson, South Carolina, and during this time he had published a periodical called “Live Coals of Fire.” His message was heard and accepted in eastern Tennessee and western North Carolina where Spurling was ministering. 



In 1896, persuaded by Irwin’s movement, four men began a revival in the Shearer Schoolhouse near Camp Creek in Cherokee County, North Carolina. William Martin, a Methodist, along with Baptists Joe. M. Tipton, Elias Milton McNabb, and William Hanby, preached a ten-day meeting that attracted much attention to the area. Tomlinson states that “they preached a clean gospel, and urged the people to seek and obtain sanctification subsequent to justification. They prayed, fasted and wept before the Lord until a great revival was the result.”


Twenty-one years after that infamous meeting at Barney Creek, and the formation of the Christian Union, the ever-growing movement would establish themselves as the Church of God. The beckoning call of the original Barney Creek meeting has now established a worldwide membership of over 5 million in more than 145 countries. 


Reports of Church of God revivals find that hundreds are getting saved and filled with the Holy Ghost, more so now that at any other time. World evangelism is the call of the Church of God through descipleship and prayer, as well as committment. 


On March 8, 2001 the writer reviewed the historical writings of Ozias Muse, a local resident. This week we shall feature more of these adventuresome events as he remembers them.


Mr. Muse tells of a coal miner that lived on top of the mountain near the Tar Kiln. On a particular weekend this miner had a brother to visit him, both worked at the nearby Peabody coal mine. As the visiting brother departed down the hollow looking for ginseng, a large rattler sunk its teeth into his ankle. Being in severe pain, he made his way up to his brother’s residence house to find kerosene, it being the only real provision in the house to treat snakebite. Being in much pain, he drank several glasses attempting to rid him of the excruciating pain. 


Mr. Muse states that his in-laws, the Ernest Brooks family, lived in the Peabody mining camp. The family was walking the old log road to visit relatives at the head of Hickory Creek. The Brooks family passed near the miner’s house and heard a man screaming with an ear-piercing shriek. They immediately stopped and discovered that the man was snake bitten.


Mr. Brooks, thinking quickly, recalled a plant called snake master. He immediately rushed down to the head of the hollow and discovered a quantity of this weed, swiftly grasping a handful and rushing back to the house. 


He immediately told the lady to process the weed through a food chopper. However, absent a food chopper, she was told to lay the weed on a board and pound it to a pulp. She was then directed to blend enough cream or whole milk to make a rather thick paste and secure the mix directly over the snakebite. The patient was then to lay on his back and keep as quiet as possible.


The Brooks family, having done all they could possibly do, continued on their way to Hickory Creek. The family stayed all night at this site, and on their return trip they stopped to check on the snake-bitten man. Much to their surprise, the injured man had gone home. 


Sometime later, the family returned to the Peabody camp and found the wounded man had greatly improved. 


Mr. Muse also tells of his father’s early teen years living on either Ollis Creek or in the Jacksboro area. The entire family loved to hunt and fish. At the time, Mr. Muse’s father and his younger brothers had caught the largest raccoon, the largest possum, and killed the largest rattler that anyone in the area had ever seen. 


Early on a Saturday morning, the father and his younger siblings traveled to the only framed and riven-board covered country store in Jacksboro to buy their lunch and some fishhooks. Their plan was to go fishing in Rocky Ford Creek between Caryville and Pioneer. Their travels led them down a little cattle trail through the bushes, now known as Bruce Gap. Mr. Muse’s father was leading the way by separating the undergrowth for the younger ones to follow.


During their travels, the father arrived at what he thought was a pole or small log lying crossways in their path. Just as he raised his foot to step over it, it moved. He loudly yelled “snake” and jumped backward. 


The younger children, hardly experiencing this type occurrence, began to cry and moan and quickly ran off the trail. The huge snake was coiled up like a large truck or tractor tire, it being ready for battle. 


Ozias Muse’s father called for the children to return and told them that they were to kill the snake. Quickly, Ozias, with his two younger brothers, scaled a high rock bank above the trail and began hammering boulders as big as could be lifted down on to the rattler. 


The snake went into all kinds of gyrations trying to escape the bombardment. Finally, the plummeting of the boulders did the trick: the snake was dead. This event had scared the children so much that the fishing excursion was forgotten. 


Hay bailing wire was looped around the snake’s head and it took three of them to pull it out of the rock pile. The family tied the snake to a pole and tried to drag the monstrous thing home for all to see. It eventually became too heavy, so it was left behind. 


The family went back to the country store and told of they venture. The locals at the store thought they were kidding. And so, they had to be shown the evidence. Four of the men arrived at the site and could not believe what they saw. The men measured the snake at almost 10 feet, a diameter of 4 1/2 inches, with a head spread of 7 inches.


Mr. Muse also relates that his father, at age 16, and his brother Frank, visited Mr. Tom Rookards on Ollis Creek for an overnight stay. The pair proposed to go creek fishing the next day. 



Upon arrival at the creek, they noticed the sky darkening. Mr. Rookards looked to the sky and told the brothers that they may possibly go rabbit hunting the next day because it was to snow that night. The brothers thought little of this gesture.


The brothers, however, woke the next morning, their objective to go fishing. A very strange sound interrupted their thought, that of tree limbs breaking and some trees actually crashing down. Quickly rushing to see what was going on, the brothers were dumbfounded to see a 14-inch blanket of snow on the 19th of May! 


Corn at this time was a foot high, the heavy snow flattening it to the ground. Many farmers replowed and replanted their fields.. The Muse family, however, decided to let nature take its course, and wisely so, leaving the cornfields stand as they were. This turned out to be a wise choice for they had an abundant crop.


The Southern Railroad construction from Caryville to Jellico was completed in about five years. Ozias Muse tells that his father remembered the workers finalizing the “Mud” tunnel at Pioneer. The operation was most difficult and overwhelming. The water leakage and the soft mud made the assignment quite complicated. However, the hardy crews worked diligently on both sides of the tunnel, completing the connection of the tunnel rails with the northern rails. 


Mr. Muse’s parents, along with their children, walked to the northern end of the tunnel and waited for the first train to exit the tunnel. They could hear it puffing and roaring as it entered the south end of the tunnel. Within a short time the big black smoking engine came chugging out of the tunnel with its headlight shining and its whistle tooting. The children, crying and whimpering, clung tightly to their parents. And on chugged the big black greasy engine on its way down Elk Valley to Jellico. This event was the beginning of the first rail system traveling through this part of the country.


Daily the engine with its cars made its run from Knoxville to Jellico. For months to come the neighbors gathered at the tracks to watch the huge steam engine pass pulling from eight to twelve cars.



With the growth in population the Southern R.R. began operating a four-car passenger train on the run, making a round trip each day from Knoxville to Jellico. This move provided adequate and comfortable transportation for passengers, along with a dependable carrier for the mail. Local expansion was thus opened for the area, which was well received by the locals.


R.L. Neubert operated a sawmill in a hollow whose mouth was just south of the Peabody mine tipple and near Highway 25 W. The logs were transported to the mill with the lumber being hauled to the Peabody siding by rail. This was done with a small “Climax” locomotive handling both chores. 


Railroad trackage from this mill extended as far as Hickory Creek and Lows Creek. Soon after leaving the mill the locomotive “back-switched” to climb and cross the steep mountainside to enter Rock Creek, a rather long hollow with an abundance of timber.


A track switch located in Rock Creek allowed access to Board Tree Hollow; a fine source of straight grained timber, which was preferred for splitting boards or shingles for roofing purposes.


The thoroughfare from Board Tree Hollow to Hickory Creek was much too steep for locomotive service. On the other hand, R.L. Neubert, operator of the mill, and E.L. Saulsberry, the general contractor, laid track over the mountain with the steeper Board Tree Hollow side just half as long as the Hickory Creek side. 


Railroad cars, suitable for hauling logs, were placed on both inclines and connected with a 1 1/4-inch steel rope of cable. The steepness of the short side was not quite enough to allow a descending loaded car to pull a loaded car up the long side. To eliminate this problem a rope drum, powered with a gasoline engine, was placed at the top of the inclines to keep the loaded cars moving toward Board Creek Hollow and the railroad.

Area Names in early Campbell County.


Horse Creek


Number 4 was one of the logging camps. Logging in such rugged country was certainly hard on the horses. Some were worked to death and some were injured and destroyed. The loggers dragged the dead horses down the road to the creek bank, where they were left to decay thus the name Horse Creek.


Hurricane Hollow


Mr. Muse tells that in 1883 his grandmother sent his dad, at 8 years of age, and his sister Nancy, at age 6, about 5 miles back in the mountains for some unknown reason. As they were crossing the mountain, Mr. Muse’s father said a black cloud hung on top of Walnut Mountain, which darkened the area so much, that they had difficulty in finding their way along the cattle trail. The wind suddenly became so violent that limbs fell all around them. Tying to outrun the storm was fruitless, overtaking and almost drowning them. 


They dashed through the thick underbrush along the cattle trail until they were exhausted. Standing erect because of the fierce wind was almost impossible. After slow gain they finally reached the top of the mountain between the head of Horse Creek and Ollis Creek. The wind was much less severe on the East Side of the mountain than back in the hollow where the hurricane was still raging. 


The two Muse children finally arrived home safely, out of breath, telling of the gloomy incident concerning the black cloud. It seems no one ever questioned the name, Hurricane Hollow.

Tar Kiln Mountain.


A tar kiln was constructed by three men on a mountain at the head of Sawmill Hollow to render pine tar. Stones and clay from the mountain were used to build the kiln, which resembled a sorghum molasses furnace. The boiler had a capacity of 800 gallons, which was equivalent to a wagonload of pine knots. The locals, benefiting themselves with the bountiful supply of rich black pine, would deliver these knots in wagons, sleds and even burlap bags. The tar kiln operation started in about 1917 and continued for about 10 years.


Operation of this process was that the pine knots were split and tossed into the boiler and boiled until the resin was released in the water. The residue was then skimmed and poured into lard cans and sold for making pine tar.


Three good men could spend a day gathering and delivering a load of pine knots. Their wage for one day’s work was about six or seven dollars, the pine knots bringing about one or two cents per knot. The gathering of these pine knots essentially stripped the mountain of pine, causing the three-man kiln to shut down. To this day the mountain is known as Tar Kiln.

(Many thanks to Ozias Muse for allowing me to use this material and preserving the local history.) 

INDIAN MASSACRE ALONG POWELL RIVER


The first recorded Indian massacre on the waters of Powell’s (Powell) River was recorded on October 10, 1773. (Powell’s or Powell River runs the length of Lee County in Virginia, then flows through Claiborne County in Tennessee and empties into Norris Lake close to Flat Hollow.) This atrocity included the killing of Captain William Russell and Daniel Boone's sons, the Drake boy, the Mendenhall brothers, and a Negro slave of Russell’s. The massacre occurred near the head of Wallen’s Creek, in present day Lee County in Virginia. 


Apparently the route the party followed from Russell’s place in Castlewood was the trail the early Long Hunters used known as the “Hunter’s Trail.” The trail crossed the Clinch River at Hunter’s Ford, now the village of Dungannon, through Hunter’s Valley, Rye Cove, and across Powell Mountain at Kane’s Gap onto the head of Wallen’s Creek. 


Boone, while returning from Kentucky in the spring of 1773, met William Russell, then a resident of Castlewood on the Clinch River. Russell was so enthused concerning the settlement of Kentucky that he agreed to join Boone in the venture. The McAfee party, while returning home from Kentucky, met Boone about the 12th of August and made preparations to migrate to that country.


The Bryan party, who resided sixty miles eastward of Boone’s home on the Yadkin, agreed to join Boone’s company in Powell Valley in Virginia on a scheduled day and pass the most dangerous part of the journey together. Boone returned home, sold his farm, household goods, produce and farming gear, everything that was too burdensome to carry. 


As agreed, the Bryan party, numbering 40, overtook the front line. Several had joined the reinforcement in the areas of Fort Chisel and Holston Valley. Among these men were Michael Stoner, William Bush, and Edmund Jennings. The group had passed Clinch Mountain, Powell’s Mountain, and Wallen’s Ridge, barely entering  Powell’s Valley.


Near the western base of Wallen’s ridge, where Powell River flows along a valley, Boone and his party went into camp and awaited the arrival of the rear party. James Boone, son of Daniel, and two brothers, John and Richard Mendenhall, from Guilford County, North Carolina, had been dispatched from the main company, probably at Wolf Hills, now Abingdon. The goal was to travel across country to Captain Russell’s at Castlewood for the dual purpose of alerting him of the advance of Boone’s Kentucky personnel and obtaining a quantity of flour, which was immediately supplied. Captain Russell sent forward his oldest son Henry, a young man of 17, two Negroes named Charles and Adam, Isaac Crabtree, and a youth named Drake, with several horses loaded with farming tools. Also included were numerous provisions, other helpful articles, and a few books. A small drove of cattle was additionally sent under their charge. 


Captain Russell remained behind and then joined Captain David Gass to move forward and overtake the others. Captain Russell  had ambitions of opening a plantation in Kentucky during the autumn and winter, put out a crop in the spring, and return for his family. Had these plans materialized, William Russell might possibly have been one of the most distinguished primitive settlers of Kentucky.


Time had passed and it was now the 9th of October. Young Boone and Russell never dreamed of the danger that was awaiting them. They were a mere three miles behind the front company where they camped on the northern bank of Wallen’s Creek, a southern tributary of Powell’s River.


Unknown to the lagging group was a party of shrewd Indians who had that day detected them at a substantial distance. Young Boone and his companions, while seated around their blazing fire, heard the howling of wolves, or perhaps a successful imitation on the part of the Indians. The Mendenhalls, certainly not used to such frontier sounds, showed some appearance of fear while Crabtree, an experienced backwoodsman, laughed vigorously at their panic and playfully told them that they would soon be hearing the bawling of the buffalo in Kentucky.


The group, lost in a moment of slumber, all unconscious of danger, was attacked about daybreak the next morning. The Indians, who had successfully creeped close to camp, ultimately fired upon their unsuspecting victims, killing some and wounding others. The description of this brutal attack depicted a heart-rending scene. Young Russell was shot through both hips and was unable to escape. The Indians ran up to him with their knives drawn. Russell, in total defense of himself, seized the blades with his bare hands and consequently had them badly distorted. He was lastly tortured in a most brutal fashion. 

Part II


Young Boone was also shot through his hips, breaking both. He recognized among the Indians, Big Jim, a Shawnee warrior who had frequently shared the warmth of his father’s house. His features were that he could be recognized instantly. James Boone pleaded with Big Jim to spare his life, but to no avail. The Indians pulled out his toe and fingernails. The pain finally became too agonizing that young Jim Boone pleaded with Big Jim to take his life. 


Young Russell was suffering similar tortures. After much anguish, both injured were severely stabbed and possibly tomahawked to death.


The Mendenhall brothers and young Drake were among the slain. The Negro, Adam, luckily escaped unhurt, hid himself in some driftwood on the creek bank, and was a spectator to the excruciating scene in the camp. 


Crabtree was wounded, escaped and reached the settlement, while Adam, losing his way, was eleven days finding his way to the frontier inhabitants. The Indians hauled off the old Negro, Charles, and made him prisoner. They also stole away  with the horses and all the valuable items. The Indians, at a distance of about 40 miles from the scene, began arguing over the ownership of the Negro. The leader of the party settled the argument by tomahawking the poor hostage.


In the advance camp a young man had been caught stealing from his commander, and had been so ridiculed by the camp personnel that he decided to abandon the party and return to the settlements. His departure was made on the 10th of October, and while on his way stole some deerskins from Daniel Boone. Reaching the ford at Wallen’s Creek, shortly after the Indians had left the massacre site, the young man came upon the location of the slaughter. Dropping his skins he instantly hurried back to the main camp where he arrived with the sorrowful news. The main camp was devastated at hearing the report. Squire Boone, Daniel Boone’s father, led a party back to bury the unfortunates, and recover any property the Indians might have left. Daniel Boone and the other men remained at the main camp in case of an attack from the main party, for they had no way of knowing the strength of the Indians. Quickly, for safety reasons, they fabricated a rude fortification.


Squire Boone’s burial party reached the trampled camp and found Captain’s Russell and Gass had already arrived. Young Russell and young Boone were slaughtered almost beyond recognition. Mrs. Daniel Boone had sent for a sheet and young Boone and Russell were wrapped in the same covering and buried together; the other slain were also decently buried. 


The Indians had scattered the cattle while all articles of importance were taken. Squire Boone and his burial party, along with Captains Russell and Gass, returned to the main camp where a general council was held. Daniel Boone wished to continue the journey, but most of the men were too disheartened to carry on. The majority of the group thought that Indian repetition would be on their agenda and so agreed to abandon the project and return home. 


Sensing that the Indians had been a small regiment, the white adventurers began retracing their own footsteps. Some returned to their farming settlements in Virginia and Carolina. Meanwhile, Boone accepted the invitation of Captain Gass to take his temporary quarters in a cabin on his farm, about seven or eight miles below Captain Russell's at Castlewood, a little south of Clinch River. 


Daniel Boone lived on the Clinch from this time until 1775 when he led his second and successful party to Kentucky and founded Boonesborough. While living at Castlewood, a son named William was born to Daniel and Rebecca Boone. The baby died in infancy and was buried in the Moore’s Fort graveyard.


Captain Gass was born in Pennsylvania about 1729. He moved from Albermarle Co., Va., to Castlewood in 1769. He made eleven trips from Castlewood to Boonesborough before settling there permanently in December 1777. He died in Madison Co., Ky., in 1805 or 1807.

SOUTHERN BAPTIST HISTORY


The history of the Southern Baptists is quite a story in itself. It has certainly become the religious community of the South. One historian has stated that “the Baptist presence” has so dominated “Southern mainstream Protestantism for more than a century, to such an extent that in some circles critics cavalierly refer to Dixie as the region ‘where there are more Baptists than people.’” 


Southern Baptists were at one time a minority in the region. A few short generations ago this denomination in the South did not see themselves as a productive body.


About 1861, the Baptist organization came to be identified with the South, and became the dominate religious denomination within this region. During this time, the Southern Baptist Convention was held in Savannah, Georgia, where the delegates clearly identified themselves with secession and everything Southern. They defended the right of the South to secede, pledged themselves to the Confederacy, and submitted the phrase “Southern States of North America” in the Southern Baptist constitution where it had formerly said “United States.” It was during the Civil War, and the period of Reconstruction, that Baptists living in the South became Southern Baptists. 


The Southern Baptist Convention was formed in 1845, but it was not until this denomination underwent a “baptism in blood” during the great War that their identity became clear. It was during this period that the denomination became deeply involved in the anti-Yankee force. In the post-war period, Southern Baptists participated deeply in the custom and experiences of the emerging Southern control.  


Prior to the Civil War, Southern Baptist life revolved around four major centers. Charleston was the central point of those Southern Baptists who chose to put importance on a regular and orderly worship. Sandy Creek, North Carolina evolved to be the focal point for those Baptists who were deemed separate and revivalistic. Georgia was the center for  Landmark and Primitive Baptists. In Texas, Baptists tended to be larger than life.


These centers were the hub of the Southern Baptists organization where conflicts concerning the content of doctrine and influence of philosophy were quarreled over. The identity of “Southern” was foremost in the equality of belief and practice.   


With the Civil War raging on, Southern Baptist leaders grew more concerned that they might lose their independent identity. This issue centered around the goals of “evangelism and cultural maintenance.” 


Emphasis was given first priority on their division from the North. All this happened during the face of defeat at the hands of the Union army. The South decided that if it did not have a separate identity from the North, then its goal was to have a cultural one. Logic in the Southern minds was the North had won the battle, but the South  

could win over the hearts and attitude of its people.   


The Southern Baptists quickly seized upon this situation and enthusiastically struggled  together to remain strictly Southern. The denomination ultimately played a role in shaping the existing attitude in the region during the last three decades on the 19th Century. 


 In 1872, Baptists refused to include black members in their official numbers, and were still passing declarations concerning slavery as late as 1892. Southern Baptists were so concerned as to their identity that they were unwilling to do anything that might upset their existing Southern policy. 


The Southern Baptist denomination deliberately set out to be centrally based, in which they would assume leadership in all their caring traits that anyone might be anxious to support. Due to this policy, Southern Baptists enjoyed extraordinary growth during the 35 years between the Civil War and the turn of the century. The organization also accumulated great monetary value through income, property values, and cultural influence. 


By the beginning of the 20th Century, Southern Baptists had enveloped the region. The denominations rapid growth, and its dominance of regional religious life, typified the culture more accurately than any other institution. 


During this period, the Southern Baptist Convention expanded its efforts  establishing a press to publish Sunday School materials. It also strengthened its role in its colleges and developed a foreign missionary venture. 


Simply summarizing the situation, it was the Southern Baptists who came to characterize and shape Southern society. They never expressed any serious or extensive interest in rejoining their religious cohorts in the North. They had little to do with other denominations even in the South. The organization lived unto itself, and set out to be faithful to its own standards and ideas.  



The denomination has since spread beyond the Bible belt. The focus on  the idea that the South should forever be dominated by the Southern Baptists organization has since vanished. The Convention has grown and spread beyond Dixie. 

Iron manufacturing in Campbell County

Iron manufacturing in Campbell County was one of its first industries. The iron was produced in bloomery forges. A description of bloomeries finds that they were small forges in which crude wrought iron could be produced directly from the ore. Charcoal was the ingredient used in the forges in which several men were  employed in cutting the enormous oaks that were chopped into cord wood for the coal-hearths. History relates that waterpower was necessary for operation of the heavy machinery. Transporting of the iron was by mules or wagons to the eastern markets; some was sent to Kentucky and traded for salt.


The first noted “forge builder” in Campbell County was William Lindsay. He located to the County in 1824 from Carter (now Johnson) County, and situated about three and one-half miles from Jacksboro. 


Robert Burton established Bakers Forge, or bloomery, around 1800 on Cedar Creek at the mouth of Sugar Hollow. The ore was hauled from Big Creek Gap, now LaFollette. This bloomery changed owners several times. In 1817 two of the owners were John Comer and David Johnson. It was later sold to the Baker family in which it acquired its name.  This forge had two bloomery fires and one hammer driven by water, and in 1856 it produced about 8 tons of bars. The local post office was Boy.


Sharp’s Bloomery was situated on Big Creek, sometimes called Indian Creek, and was owned by Laban Sharp. This forge was built in 1857 and consisted of two bloomery fires and one hammer driven by water. The post office was Jacksborough.


William Richardson’s Bloomery Forge was situated on Big Creek about two miles south of the Laban Sharp forge. It was built in 1827 and had two bloomery fires and one hammer driven by water. It produced 20 tons of bars. 


Queener Bloomery Forge was located on Cove Creek, about 5 miles southwest of Jacksborough with the last owner being David Sharp. It was built in 1835 and produced about 22 tons of bars from dyestone ore in the vicinity. 


Lindsay Bloomery Forge was also located on Cove Creek and owned by William Lindsay and Squire Hunter. It was built in 1833 and consisted of two bloomery fires and one hammer driven by water. The yearly production was 20 tons of bars.


Other bloomery forges of note will now be discussed.


Overton’s Bloomery Forge was situated on Mulberry Creek five miles from the Virginia line and six miles south of Milan Forge. It was owned by Taylor Overton and was built around 1841 and rebuilt about 1856. It had two bloomery fires and one hammer driven by water. In 1856 it produced about 6 tons of bars. The post office was located at Woodson in Hancock County.


The Speedwell Bloomery Forge was located three miles west of the Centerville forge or eight miles southwest of Yoakum Station. It was built in 1815 and abandoned in 1830.


One forge of interest was Miller’s Hot Blast Charcoal Furnace located on Buffalo Creek in Union County. Lewis Miller and W. Longmire owned it. It was built in 1837 and was seven feet across the bosh and 29 feet high. It produced about 12 tons from dyestone. 


Many of these forges operated until after the Civil War, but due to the complexity of mining the ore and the declining supply of wood for charcoal, these gallant operations ceased to be profitable and were eventually abandoned.

CAMPBELL COUNTY’S  SEAT OF JUSTICE


Campbell County’s county seat, Jacksborough, later shortened to Jacksboro, was named for Judge John Finley Jack. He was the son of Patrick Jack, one of three men who escaped from Cherokee Indians at the massacre at Ford Louden Garrison. This fort, in 1860, was located below Knoxville on the Tennessee River. 


Records reveal that Patrick Jack witnessed the massacre at the fort. However, his life was saved by the authority of a friendly Indian chief, Attakulla-kulls, also known as “The Little Carpenter.” 


Colonel Patrick Jack was born near Chambersburg, Pa., on the Conococheagne River. He was the son of Charles Jack. Historians describe him as a brave and meritorious officer under the Colonial government during the Revolutionary War. 


As a young man he was engaged in assisting with the struggle to restrain the Indians in Pennsylvania. He commanded a company of Rangers under Generals Braddock and Washington in the French and Indian War.  


John Finley Jack was born in Chambersburg, Pa., in 1765. He was educated at Dickinson College at Carlisle, Pa. He studied law and afterward migrated to Knoxville, then the capital of Tennessee. 


He began the practice of law and became well known. He afterwards moved to Rutledge where he was associated in the law profession with Gen. John Cocke, a son of Gen. William Cocke. He took a leading role in politics in Grainger County.


He occupied the office of Circuit Court Clerk, States Attorney General, and served several stints in both branches of Tennessee Legislature. He was later elected Circuit Judge, a position he held for many years. While performing this position he held court at Jacksborough, Campbell County. 


John Finley Jack, in 1825, erected a ten-room brick mansion on the property that was awarded to his father, Patrick Jack, by the Indian Chief, “The Little Carpenter.” The original tract consisted of 1000 acres. It was operated as a stock and poultry farm and  stood for 127 years before it was razed. The bricks were hand made at a brickyard nearby. During the Civil War the home was seized by the Confederates and used as a hospital.


John Finley Jack died at his home in Grainger County, June 22, 1829. Interrment was in a private burial plot close to his home.

LOCATION OF THE COUNTY SEAT


The location of the County Seat at Jacksboro was an unpopular decision with some of the people who desired a more central location. A petition was introduced in the House of Representatives to move the seat of government. Some wanted it moved to Big Creek Gap (LaFollette) while others wanted it located at Fincastle. 


The earliest petition was read in the House of Representatives on September 22, 1813, and referred to committee. It was introduced into the Senate on the following day, which followed the action of the House and referred the petition to Committee. The Committee of Propositions and Grievances reported it as reasonable. The petition read as follows:


THE HONORABLE THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE STATE OF TENNESSEE.


We the citizens of Campbell County having for some years laboured under serious disadvantages as it relates to the Seat of Public Justice in said County: many of us having to ride twenty of twenty-five miles to the place now set apart for the holding of Courts and for doing other business of a public nature in said County. The said Seat having been unjustly settled within four miles of the line that divides this County from Anderson County. Wheras the distance from said Seat to the line that divides this County from Claiborne is seventeen miles, provided the line of measurement should be drawn directly up and down Powell’s Valley in which the said Court House now stands. This will be the distance that the inhabitants will have to travel to said seat of Public Justice, for ages to us unknown.


Surely it is the nature of all human beings when in distress to look up to some superior power for help and knowing of no body of men so well authorized to administer to the necessities of a people situate as we are at this time, and hoping and believing that is the only desire and disposition of the Legislature of Tennessee to alleviate the sufferings of your constituents and fellow citizens. WE THEREFORE petition your honorable Body that you in collective wisdom do provide that the Seat of Public Justice for Campbell County may be settled as near central as the situation of the County will admit and we your petitioners as in duty bound will ever pray.


The county seat was not removed but the matter was not a closed one, and was an issure for years to come. The County Court at the January 5, 1903 meeting adopted the following resolution.


“Resolved, That it is hereby ordered that an election shall be held in all the Civil Districts of Campbell County, in accordance with the laws of the land, upon Saturday the 28th day of March 1903, to ascertain if the people of Campbell County desire the County Seat moved from its present location.”


The election showed a vote of 3,132 for the removal of the County Seat to LaFollette, and 1,175 voting against the removal. 


On April 6, 1903, certain citizens filed an injunction bill in the Chancery Court enjoining the County Court from canvassing the vote but this injunction was dismissed and dissolved by Hugh G. Kyle, Chancellor, on the 19th day of November 1903, and at the November 25th meeting of the Court it was declared that the County Seat of Campbell County to have been legally removed from Jacksboro to LaFollette. Also at this meeting the LaFollette Coal, Iron and Railway Company offered to give and donate enough land to build a new Courthouse and jail. 


The Cornwell Theatre was rented to hold Circuit Court in and six offices were agreed upon for the other officeholders at the price of $75 per month. 


After much legal manuevering the Courthouse was moved back to Jacksboro and the July, 1904 Term of Court was begun and held in the Courthouse at Jacksboro. 

(The preceding article was taken from the historical works of the late Ted Miller of LaFollette.)

PROMINENT RESIDENTS OF JACKSBORO IN APRIL, 1900

Part I


The city had been recently incorporated for the purpose of building up good schools and to promote the welfare of its people generally. The governmental board are as follows: William Baird, Mayor; P.H. Schlosshan, Recorder; Lewis Wilson, Treasurer; H.R. Allen, Chief of Police; A.J. Agee, W.R. Peters, Alex Loyd, Henry Miller, and A.B. Myers, Aldermen.


J. Henderson Reid, Attorney-at-Law was born in Botetourt County in Virginia. He was educated at Preston and Olin Institute at Blacksburgh, Va., finishing at King’s College, Bristol, Tn., He  began life’s work as a teacher, but afterward took up the practice of law at Jacksboro, where he now resides. 


He authored the present law granting municipal rights to the city of Jellico. He has been and is now the attorney of several large moneyed corporations, plus he enjoys a good share of the chancery practices not only of this county, but in others. 


W.R. Peters, Attorney-at-Law was born in Morgan County. He attended People’s College, at Sequatchie Valley and at other Tennessee institutions of learning where he received his literary training. For several years he taught school and during this time read law. 


After reading at the office of Wright & Wright, at Rockford, Tn., for a considerable time he was admitted to the bar, the year being 1894. After practicing at Rockford and before the Kingston bench for a year, he came to Jacksboro, where he has since devoted his entire time to law practice. He was a factor in politics but totally avoided the political scene, and in consequence, his law practice has never suffered from neglect. 


As a jurist he is considered one of the best to represent this section of the State. He is one of the City Aldermen of Jacksboro, member of the Masonic Fraternity, a devout member of the Methodist Church, and Superintendent of Sunday School.


J.C. Hollingsworth was one of Jacksboro’s pioneer merchants, having established his business on November 17, 1868. Except for a few months, he has continuously represented the trade channels of the County. He operates the largest store in Jacksboro and handles everything needed in a community. 


The store is 60x68 feet in dimensions; including the basement is three stories high. The stock is composed of dry goods, clothing, boots and shoes, groceries, hand and heavy hardware, queensware, harness, farm implements and machinery, vehicles, furniture, and undertaker goods. For eighteen consecutive years he was Postmaster of Jacksboro.


He is a member of the Methodist Church. In the store he is assisted by C.W. Donly and W.E. Allen.


Judge R.D. Perkins, through his legal stature, has elevated himself as a man of prominence. He was born in 1850 near Elk Valley, Tn. His boyhood days were passed on the farm. After receiving an academic education in Campbell County, he entered the Nashville Business College, graduating in 1876.


A year previous to his college graduation he entered public life by being elected to the office of County Surveyor, serving for 12 consecutive years. He was admitted to the bar in 1879 and has since given his attention principally to law practice. He is one of the leading Republication of East Tennessee. 


He was president of the Campbell County Harrison and Morton Club; was chairman of the Republican Executive Committee for Union and Campbell counties and, in 1889, was chosen chairman of the County Court. A year later the Legislature created the office of County Judge, Mr. Perkins was elected to the office for Campbell County; served four years and was re-elected to serve for eight years. 


Judge Perkins is largely interested in the Elk Valley Coal and Iron Co., and owns a farm near Jacksboro. He is a member of the I.O.O.F., K. of  P., and Masonic Lodges.


A.J. Agee, Attorney-at-Law, was born and raised in Campbell County. At the age of 16 he began teaching school, using the money earned in pedagogy (the function or work as a teacher) to educate himself in law. In 1886 he was admitted to the bar, and was soon one of the leading attorneys to represent Campbell County.


C.A. Templeton, Attorney-at-Law, became a Campbell County citizen last September. He was born, reared and educated in Knoxville. He was a graduate of all courses of the University of Tennessee, and a graduate of the famous University of Virginia. Three years ago he was admitted to the bar at Knoxville. He is a young man, clean in character, temperate in habits, and broad-gauged in ideas.


E,H. Powers, Attorney-at-Law, was born in Claiborne County and had to make his own way in life from boyhood up. Passing from the common school, he took up school teaching. Later he graduated from Emory and Henry College, of Washington Co., Va.


For one year he had charge of the high school in Fincastle, Tn. Soon after he was admitted to the bar, and has since practiced before the bench of Campbell County. He is a member of the Masonic Lodge and a central figure in the life and progress of Jacksboro.


John J. Graham, Lawyer and Politician, is a native of Campbell County, mostly educated in local schools. He finished his schooling in the Grant Memorial University at Athens, Tn. He began work by teaching and then went into the mercantile business at Jacksboro. In about 1890 he was appointed Clerk and Master by Judge Gibson, of the Chancery Court, and re-appointed in 1896 by Judge H.B. Lindsay. 


Mr. Graham is a Republican and is now the county’s member of the Congressional Committee to the Second  Congressional District, and also a Delegate to the Republican National Committee. He is one of the leading lawyers of the County, a member of the Methodist Church, a Mason, Odd Fellow, and Knight of Pythias. 


Loyd & Bowman, general merchants, presently occupy a store building on Main Street, Jacksboro. The business was founded in 1894 and is one of the leading trade establishments of the County. The stock carried is the usual line of a first-class country store. Alex Loyd and William Bowman lend their full support to build up the town that is now taking a second lease on life.


J.W. Agee, Campbell County Sheriff, was born on a farm near Jacksboro. Leaving the farm he accepted a position in the district pension office at Knoxville, being installed to the office of clerk. 


Returning to Jacksboro he entered the Clerk and Master’s office as Deputy under his father, J.H. Agee. He later became qualified for the Sheriff’s office, to which he was elected. He is a member of the K. of P. Lodge and several other orders.


(To be Continued)

Part II


Dr. W.R. Irish was born, reared, and partially educated in Campbell County. He graduated in the class of 1894 from Louisville Medical College. He began the practice of medicine at Lesley, Ky., moving from there to Jacksboro. He for quite a period was engaged in merchandising and selling out so as to give medicine and surgical practice his undivided attention.


He is county physician for the indigent, filling the office with credit to himself and his profession. He is a member of the Masonic and I.O.O.F. secret societies, and a Deacon in the Baptist Church.


John Bowman, County Court Clerk, was born and reared on a farm near Newcomb, Tn. In 1873 he came to Jacksboro, and from then until his election to office in 1890, he was associated with various mercantile interests in the capacity of assistant, Jacksboro, Knoxville, and Chattanooga being points where he gave most of his time. He is a member of the Masonic, K. of P., I.O.O.F., and order American Mechanics societies.


Capt. Winston Baird, Deputy Clerk and Master and Mayor of Jacksboro, was born and reared near Jacksboro, the son of Hon. S.C. Baird. He was appointed to the position he fills in the year 1897, leaving the office soon thereafter to serve in the Spanish American War. He was commissioned Captain by President McKinley and raised a company of local boys, forming a part of the 6th Immune Regiment, of which Capt. Baird had charge. Shortly thereafter, the company was sent to the front and rendered service on the island of Puerto Rico. He was mustered out March 15, 1899, with his regiment and returned to work as Deputy Clerk and Master. Mr. Baird is a member of the Masonic and I.O.O.F. societies.


R.M. Harrell, Attorney-at-Law, was born and reared in Grainger Co., Tn., and received his literary training in the Franklin Academy. At an early age he took pedagogy. Later he took up the study of law, teaching school to defray from the expense of studying during the interim of school months. The practice of law has not been given his full attention. On January 16, 1899, he was appointed Store Keeper and Gauger by the Government, which position he is now filling. He is a member of the F. & A.M. and K.of P. secret orders. 


Philip Schlosshan, Attorney-at-Law, is a native of Germany, immigrating to America at the age of 17. During the Civil War, before he could speak a word of the English language, he volunteered in the cause of the Union enlisting with the 16th Illinois Cavalry. At the close of the war he settled in Jacksboro, where he has been content to reside ever since. 


He was admitted to the bar in 1882, and practiced in all the courts, and in all the interior departments of the United States. While a lawyer of marked ability, he is a student of jurisprudence. Mr. Schlosshan is an especially friendly person and considered as a genial whole-souled gentleman. He is not a politician and his vote goes with the man.


R.L. Ray, Circuit Court Clerk. His life began as a mere boy earning ten cents a day, elevating himself from mere existence to the position he now holds. He is filling the office with credit for himself and to every man that saw in him a bright future. Mr. Ray belongs to the Methodist Church.


J.M. Bibee, merchant and hotel keeper, was born and reared near Jacksboro. He served a stint in the Civil War in the quartermaster department under Capt. Lynch. 


He spent fifteen months in Kansas and is now a resident of Jacksboro. After shortly leaving the service, in 1867, he purchased what is now the historic building of the county, the first court house. He modeled it into a business house. Long before this period it had served fully the purpose of its creation. 


During the Civil War it lent an aid to the Confederates, first for office quarters and later for a stable. The rough usage thus being subjected to, and time ravages, left the senile building in a very dilapidated state, and if it had not fallen in the good hands of the present proprietor, the chances are that long since it would have been destroyed entirely.


During remodeling, great care was taken not to change the original court room which subscribes to the storage demands for the general store conducted by Mr. Bibee, who has since 1870 represented the commercial circles of Jacksboro. 


He has interested himself in various enterprises, and is one of the principal stockholders in the Elk Valley Coal and Iron Co. For twenty years he has conducted a hotel, a very fine one at that. He is a member of the Masonic Fraternity.


W.B. Powers, M.D, graduated from the Ohio Medical College in 1884. He began his practice of medicine and surgery in Jacksboro, and is one of the most successful in East Tennessee. For years he operated a drug store at Jacksboro and, at a later time, he abandoned this vocation other than keeping on hand a full line of medicine for his own practice. Dr. Powers was born and reared in Claiborne County, Tn.


Clark & Isley, merchants. This business is located in the Wilson building at Jacksboro. Their store is not the largest in the County, but one that fills the wants of the community. Prior to engaging at the present stand they operated a store at Jacksboro Junction, and at the same time engaged in lumber buying.


The personnel of the firm are W.C. Clark and Milton Isley. Mr. Isley is a son of Capt. Isley, who was a prominent character in the early days of Campbell County. Mr. Clark, the junior member of the firm, is a gentleman that stands high in the community.

SOME EARLY POST OFFICES IN CAMPBELL COUNTY


Shortly after Campbell County was formed the mail was sent to the post office at Jacksborough (Jacksboro) in a bundle plainly marked Campbell County. This mail arrived from Knoxville which was carried by horseback or stagecoach. It arrived in this small  borough twice weekly. A great deal of this mail was delivered by individuals who happened to be going in the direction the mail was going. This continued until after the Civil War when small post offices were established over the County. Sometime later, rural mail carriers were sent out daily from Jellico, Jacksboro, LaFollette and Caryville. 


At first the carriers went by horseback or a one horse, two wheel shay. Later, as roads improved and automobiles appeared, the present method of delivery was utilized. 


These small post offices were usually located in some merchant’s store or in a private dwelling house. The equipment used was a roll-top desk with six to twelve pigeon-holes, a few stamps and a stamp to cancel them. Also, a bottle of ink that was mixed by the postmaster and a few staff pens that employed a steel pen point were used.


The post office at Jellico was established October 29, 1878 and named Smithburgh, Thomas Smith being the first Postmaster. On August 6, 1883, the name was changed to Jellico.


The post office at LaFollette was called Big Creek Gap with the name being changed in the 1890’s. On Cedar Creek was Primroy located at the Roach Mill, Paris Roach being postmaster for several years. The post office Boy was located down the creek, named in honor of Judge Elihu Hall Boy. J.M. Heatherly was the Postmaster.


Across the ridge at the mouth of Whitman Hollow was Girl, located in a small store operated by a man named Lindsay. At the forks of the river was Agee, and at Walnut Creek was Fork Vale, located in one room of the home of Mr.Walker, the Postmaster. At the mouth of Powder Mill Hollow was Powell’s River post office operated by a Mr. Lay.


The first postmaster at Fincastle was John Meadors, who was also at one time a Justice of the Peace. This office was in an old shoemaker’s shop with Mr..Meadors delivering mail on Tuesday and Saturday. The last postmaster was Hazel Hill. 


Mr. Meadors’ mother was a member of the Glade Spring Baptist Church which she attended accompanied with her dogs. At that time there were not many song books so the preacher would read a line and the congregation would sing it. On the second line the dogs got into a fight and the preacher said “take them out and bring them here no more.”


The congregation immediately sang this line, and the preacher apparently annoyed said, “the devil must have got into them,” which the congregation also sang. 


Some of the post offices that were discontinued after the rural mail system was established were Primroy, Boy, Girl, Fincastle, Powell’s River, Agee, Pine Mountain, Chaska, Nick’s Creek, Fork Vale, Buckeye and Highcliff.


Each mining camp usually had a post office located in the company store or in a building nearby and these were discontinued when the company quit operations. Some of these were Kimberly, Block, Peabody, Cotula, Clinchmore, Peewee, Woolridge, Red Ash, Turley, Anthras, Westbourne and Gatliff. 

(The preceding was compiled from the historical works of the late Ted Miller of LaFollette.)

COFFEE USAGE DURING THE CIVIL WAR


This is a rather peculiar subject we shall review this week, coffee usage during the Civil War. Most of us cannot motivate in the morning without our cup or two of coffee. We shall first go into a little history of the stimulant and then go to the main subject.


Coffee was introduced into the United States about 300 years ago. But in the East it was widespread as a beverage, in every level of society, since earlier times. This history  dates back to about 800 B.C. Homer and many Arabian legends tell the story of a mysterious black and bitter drink with powers of stimulation.  


History states that the coffee plant was born in Africa in an Ethiopian region, (Kaffa). From there it spread to Yemen, Arabia and Egypt, where it developed enormously, and entered daily life.


Civil War rations consisted mainly of bread and, secondly, coffee. However, many soldiers agreed that coffee was the number one item for consumption. Coffee, being a stimulant, served only a temporary purpose, while the bread has nearly or quite all the elements of nutrition necessary to build up the wasted tissues of the body, thus utilizing a lasting benefit. There was but one opinion of the coffee which was served, and that was of glowing approval. 


The soldier’s coffee rations were small, with the commissary or quartermaster  passing out a small allowance, but what they got was considered excellent. It was manifested as a Godsend to them at all times. 


One soldier exclaimed that: “How often--after being completely jaded by a night march--and this is an experience to thousands--have I had a wish, if there was water to be had, made and drunk my pint or so of coffee, and felt as fresh and invigorated as if just arisen from a night’s sound sleep!”


Coffee was usually brought to camp in an oat sack. The regimental quartermaster apportioned it among the ten companies, and the quartermaster-sergeant of a battery allocating the stimulant to his four or six detachments. 


The orderly-sergeant of a company, or the sergeant of a detachment, devoted himself to dividing the pick-me-up. One method of division was to spread a rubber blanket on the ground, more than one if the company was large, and upon it were put as many piles of the coffee as there were men to receive rations. Special care was taken to make the piles of the same size to the eye, to keep the men from grumbling. 


The sugar which always accompanied the coffee was spooned out at the same time on another blanket. With both in readiness, they were given out, each man taking a pile, or, in some companies, to prevent any charge unfairness or injustice, the sergeant would turn his back on the provisions, and take out his roll of the company. 


Then by request, some one else would point to a pile and ask, “Who shall have this.” The sergeant, without turning, would call a name from his list of the company or detachment, and the person thus called would appropriate the pile defined. This process would be continued until the last pile was gone. This process of distribution was the most common amongst others.


Each soldier with a month’s experience in campaigning was provided with some sort of  bag into which he spooned his coffee. But the kind of bag he used indicated pretty accurately the length of time he had served. For example, a newly arrived raw recruit  would take it up in a paper, and stow it away in that well known container for all etables, the soldier’s haversack, only to find it a part of a general mixture of hardtack, salt pork, pepper, salt, knife, fork, spoon, sugar and coffee by the time the next stop was made.


A seasoned recruit, who had been through this experience, would take his up in a bag made of a scrap of rubber blanket; but after a few days the paint from the rubber would peel off from contact with the greasy pork or boiled meat rations which was its traveling companion. Consequence, a black, dirty mess, besides leaving the coffee-bag unfit for further use.


The young soldier, considered just a touch starchier, would bring out an oil-silk bag lined with cloth, which his mother had made and sent him. But even oil-silk couldn’t stand everything, certainly not the weird inside furnishings of the average soldier’s haversack. Thus, it yielded  after a very short period as a victim of  time. 


The old-time veteran of war would take out an oblong plain cloth bag, which looked as clean and tidy as the every day shirt of a coal-heaver, and into it he inserted without inspection both his sugar and coffee, and stirred them together methodically. 


Experience taught him that his sugar was a better investment disposed of than in any other way. On several occasions he had eaten the sugar with his hardtack, a little at a time. Sometimes the sugar would get wet and melt and, as a consequence, he would have his coffee without sweetening, which was certainly unsuited for his taste. 


Milk was certainly a luxury during the Civil War. It was a new experience for a soldier to drink coffee without milk. However, they soon adapted to the episode. 


This story is to be considered just a minor episode in the life of a soldier. The writer is interested in the Civil War, with the small incidents and happenings more apt to interest me rather than the actual battles. 

THE WOODSON FAMILY


At this time we shall review a short history of the Woodson family, not going into depth on the genealogy. 


Dr. John Woodson, progenitor of the Woodson family in Campbell County, was born in Devonshire, England in 1586, and died at Fleur de Hundred, Virginia, some thirty miles above Jamestown, in what is now Prince George County, on April 19, 1644,  he entered St. John’s College, Oxford, on March 1, 1604. 


On January 29, 1619, the ship “George” sailed from England, and the following April landed at Jamestown, Va.. This ship brought the new Governor, Sir George Yeardley, and about one hundred passengers, among whom were Dr. John Woodson of Dorsetshire, his wife Sarah Winston. Dr. Woodson and Sarah Winston were married in Devonshire, England.


Dr. Woodson came as a surgeon to a company of soldiers sent over for the better protection of the colonists from the Indians. In 1612 a vessel landed at Jamestown, having on board about 20 Negro captives, who had been kidnapped along the African coast by the Dutch Skipper. Dr. Woodson bought six of them, who were registered in 1623 as part of his household at Fleur de Hundred. We shall now relate the story of Dr. Woodson and his wife, Sarah, as they entered the harbor of Jamestown, written by Josephine Rich.  It goes as such:


 “It was a sunny April morning in 1619. Sarah and her husband, Dr. John Woodson, stood at the rail of the sailing ship, George, as it put into Jamestown harbor. It was the first glimpse of their new homeland.


“John’s arm tightened about his wife’s waist as he stood bracing them both against the stiff  breeze. Sarah squeezed his hand in answer. At the moment it was the only answer she could manage, for suddenly their adventure in the New World was upon them. 


“On their three month voyage across the wintry Atlantic, their days and nights had been filled with constant talk of the settlement of  Jamestown. But somehow all their talk had not prepared them for the sudden shock of the smallness of it. Jamestown was only a log stockade with plumes of black smoke curling up into the sky from the huts within its protection. Although they could see only one stockade there were ten other settlements behind similar stockade walls, 600 Englishmen in all. Now, for the first time, women were arriving.


“This was the first time that the London Company had permitted women into the colony. And once they had accepted the importance of women to the new settlers they had gone to extremes about it, or so it seemed to Sarah. For the George carried some 60 women to be sold to the colonists as wives. The price was 120 pounds of tobacco, which was the cost of passage.


“John Woodson had said that these women would make a difference to the new colonists. And he told Sarah not to wrinkle up her pretty nose at them, she’d be glad enough for their company once she’d sat beside her own lonely fireplace in her prim lace cuffs for a fortnight!


“He said the women would tame the frontiersmen and put them into Sunday stiff collars and into church pews. They would want lace curtains for their windows and the best schools for their children. Trade would flourish. For profit was the reason for colonizing the new world. But Sarah thought the women looked anything but church going types!


“Suddenly everybody was on deck. The anchor chains rattled down the anchor. Sail were struck. Sailors scrambled up the yardarms.


“But it was less the rowdy frontiersmen who came out to the ship to greet their bartered brides than the Indians who rowed them out that held Sara’s attention. 


“They were truly red men and even more furious appearing than any drawings of Indians that had appeared in the British newspapers. Fascinated, Sarah stared down at the fierce, bared-to-the-waist savages in the canoe bobbing in the choppy water below. As if feeling her gaze on him, one of the Indians suddenly glared up at Sarah and she gave a panic-stricken gasp and buried her face in her husband’s heavy overcoat. John patted her shoulder and laughed at her fears. He was later to learn that the Indians were not their friends, as he told Sarah, then, so assuringly.


“As an incentive to colonize America, men received 100 acres of free land when they came to the new world, and that year of 1619, at the first House of Burgess session, Virginia passed a law that wives, too, would receive 100 acres of free land. So Sarah and John chose their 200 acres about 30 miles from Jamestown, across the James River at a place called Fleur de Hundred, now in Prince George County. John and Sarah and their six slaves registered there in 1623.


“They had lived first in Jamestown and had come safely through the Jamestown massacre of 1622, and after that John said there would be no further Indian trouble. In fact, they did live without Indian incident for several years at Fleur de Hundred. A son was born to them there in 1632 and another son in 1634.


“The Woodson’s, like all settlers, owned several guns. The doctor always carried a gun with him on his medical calls and frequently brought home game in his medical saddle bags. The gun that hung over the Woodson log cabin mantelpiece was seven feet six inches long, and had a bore large enough to admit a man’s thumb. How anyone could lift it, much less fire it to kill, Sarah had no idea. But she was one day to learn!


“The Woodson boys were eight and ten years old on that fateful April 18, 1644. And the boys might have been out in the tobacco fields working that morning, except for the visit of an itinerant shoemaker named Ligon, who was there for his yearly visit to measure the entire household for their year’s supply of shoes. Sarah hoped that the doctor would return from his medical call before Ligon the shoemaker had to leave, for the doctor needed a new pair of riding boots.


“The spring planting had taken the slaves into the fields so that Sarah and Ligon and the two boys were alone in the cabin when the Indians attacked.


“The blood-curdling war whoops rang out and Sarah froze as she looked through the cabin window and saw the feather headdresses come pouring out of the woods. Automatically, Sarah dropped the heavy cross-bar on the cabin door. Ligon lifted the seven-foot gun down from the mantelpiece.


“An arrow hit a window ledge. Sara bolted the inside shutters on the windows. At the half-story window above in the sleeping loft Ligon poised the giant gun on the window ledge, ready. A powder horn and extra balls lay within hand’s reach, ready.


“She must hide the boys, Sarah thought. But where? The potato bin hole beneath the cabin floor! It was half-empty and tar-kettle dark! It ought to be safe! She lifted the trap door and told one frightened boy to jump, and not to utter a sound.


“There was an empty wash tub in the corner of the built-in shed. Eight-year-old Robert might be able to squeeze inside it. He wasn’t very big. Sarah told him to squat on the floor. She upturned the wash tub over the boy and then hurried to the hearth to build up the fire under the cooking kettle hanging from the fireplace crane. The kettle held the family’s supper soup. She added water to fill it to the top and pushed it over the hottest coals. If one of the demon Indians tried to come down the chimney she had a scalding bath ready.


“Looking through a chink in the window shutter Sarah counted nine savages in the howling mob about the cabin. Suddenly her husband appeared, riding out of the forest with his gun ready to fire. Sarah saw him before the Indians did. She let out a cry and then held her breath as she watched. 


“Before the doctor could shoot, one of the Indians turned and saw him. He aimed and shot his arrow. It struck the doctor and his gunfire went astray. He fell from his horse and several of the Indians rushed at him waving their battle axes. Sarah covered her eyes.


“Ligon’s rifle kept cracking. He had gotten three Indians. Sarah watched them fall. Ligon killed five Indians before Sarah heard the noise in the chimney.


“They had killed her husband. She was ready to die defending the lives of her sons!


“Sarah stood to one side of the hearth with her hand on the kettle. The water scalding, the coals red hot. the Indian came down feet first. Sarah tipped the kettle and gave it to him in full force. He screeched in agony and lay writhing on the floor.


“There was more noise up the chimney. Another one was coming down. Sarah grabbed the heavy iron roasting spit. She raised it above her head, holding it with both hands.


“As the second Indian stooped to come out of the chimney, Sarah brought her weapon down on his head. It sounded like a pumpkin splitting. He fell heavily to the floor, killed instantly.


“She looked up from the bloody bodies to see Ligon unbolting the cabin door. 


“’I’m going to fetch the doctor’s body,’” he told her. ’The red devils are finished.’


“Sarah counted seven dead Indians in the clearing. The heavy Woodson rifle had served them well.


“Although John Woodson had been killed by the Indians, his sons lived to carry on the Woodson name. today, some 300 years later, it is a proud family tradition among the Woodson descendants to be known as either the potato hole Woodsons or the wash tub
Woodsons.” 

CAMPBELL COUNTY HISTORY

Part I


Campbell County was authorized by an Act of the General Assembly on September 11, 1806, with Jesse Roysden and Walter Evans being appointed to survey the County line. Major James Grant, Richard Linville, Sampson David, Robert Glenn, William Hancock, Captain Capt. Jason Cloud and John English were appointed commissioners and authorized to locate a County seat, “for the  purpose of erecting a court house, prison and stocks, with the necessary streets and alleys, reserving one acre as near the center as may be.”



The Commissioners failed to select the county seat. In 1807 the Act was amended by appointing Sampson David, John English, John Newman and John Yount as commissioners to select the site for the County seat. The land was purchased from Col. Hugh Montgomery who was one of the first settlers in the County. Montgomery owned the land at the site of Jacksborough and was a man of considerable wealth during this time. 


The Circuit Court for Campbell County was organized in 1810 by Judge Cocke. It remained in the First Circuit until 1817, when it was attached to the Second. In 1837 it became a part of the Twelfth Circuit, which was the formed in that year. It thus remained until the reorganization of the courts after the war, when it again became a part of the Second Circuit. 


The Seventeenth Circuit was established in 1873, and Campbell remained one of the counties forming it until 1886. 


The Chancery Court was organized on June 27, 1842, by Judge Thomas L. Williams; John Barton was appointed the first clerk and master. 


The first lawyer resident in the County was David Richardson, who was admitted to practice about 1825. John E. Wheeler entered the profession about two years later. Among the attorneys previous to 1860 were John Barton and William H. Malone. 


H.R. Gibson, in about 1867, chancellor of the Second Division, located at Jacksboro where he was engaged in the practice of his profession for several years; J.H. Agee and James N. Ray were also members of the bar. 


The resident practitioners were J.E. Johnson, J.H. Reed, E.H. Powers, A.J. and J.W. Agee and John Jennings. 


The first merchant of the County seat was Sampson David, who was also engaged in the practice of medicine. He passed away in 1824 and was succeeded by W.H. Smith. Other early merchants were Thomas Weir, Robert Morrow, James Williams, William Carey, and William Richardson. 


Early tavern keepers were William Carey, John Izley and John Phillips. The first regular medical practitioner was Dr. Thatcher. Most of the County’s business for several years was performed by Joseph Hart, Clerk or the Circuit Court, Deputy Registrar and County Court Clerk.


Campbell County is one of the eastern counties.  The northern boundary line on the north is the Kentucky-Tennessee state line which was organized by Charles II of England in 1663. He granted to the “lord proprietors” who settled in North Carolina, all the lands between the 29th parallel and 36 degrees and 20 minutes from sea to sea. When the dispute between the State of Tennessee and the Commonwealth of  Kentucky over the boundary line was at last settled, the line remained practically the same as set out in the grant of Charles II. 


Most of the County was in the boundary of the land known as the Henderson survey.  On March 17, 1775, Judge Richardson of North Carolina and a group of associates purchased from the Cherokee nation at Sycamore Shoals (an ancient treaty ground of the Cherokee on the southern bank of the Watauga River, a short distance from Elizabethton, Tennessee) twenty million acres in Kentucky and a large tract in Tennessee known as the “path deed.”


This purchase was made for six wagon loads of merchandise valued at ten thousand pounds of sterling. The State of Virginia and the State of North Carolina renounced this purchase on the grounds that it was illegal to make individual purchases from the Indian Nations.


As compensation for his work and expense along with the risks he had taken, the State of Virginia granted Judge Henderson about 210,000 acres lying in Kentucky. The State of North Carolina also granted him 200,000 acres in Powell’s Valley. One historian wrote that this tract proved to be mountainous, barren land, altogether unfit for cultivation, and Henderson never surveyed it. The truth be known, this grant was the best of land and was later surveyed by James Maybury and Stockley Donelson. 


This purchase, of which Campbell County was a part, cost Judge Henderson an additional “two thousand weight of leather in goods.” The Henderson purchase included all the lands lying down the Holston River and between the Watauga lease, and Col. Donelson’s line and Powell’s Mountain.

( To be continued)

Part II


 At this time, settlements of Indians were to be found at the present sites of  Caryville, LaFollette, Well Springs, and other small neighborhoods. Quite naturally, there were many bloody scuffles between the Indians and frontiersmen. The last Indians in the area were run off by men from Yoakam Station. They were chased across the Cumberlands, the chief being killed near the Campbell County line in Kentucky. 


Campbell County was named for Colonel Arthur Campbell, a member of the Virginia Assembly and a soldier in the Indian and Revolutionary Wars. 


Campbell County history is most interesting. It goes back quite-a-way, as was previously stated, being authorized by an Act of the Legislature, September 11, 1806. The Act provided that the first court should be held at the house of Richard Linville in the Valley near Big Creek Gap. Tradition records that the first court was held in a wagon bed in the Linville barnyard, which was located between the present LaFollette Post Office and Big Creek in LaFollette. 


Sixty acres of land were donated by Colonel Hugh Montgomery for a new town to be designated as the county seat. The new town was to be named Jacksborough in honor of Judge John F. Jack of Rutledge, Tennessee.


Two LaFollette brothers, Harvey M. and Grant A., removed to Big Creek Gap from Thornton, In., in 1892. These brothers organized the LaFollette Coal and Iron Company, and constructed the largest iron furnaces in the South at that time. 


They subsequently, around 1895, built a mansion of 27 rooms which is still standing on Indiana Avenue in LaFollette. This grand building has had many owners in years past. 


In 1897, Big Creek Gap was incorporated and renamed LaFollette. This is certainly a monument to the LaFollette brothers. 


In 1904, LaFollette was completely destroyed by fire, many say this was a blessing. Through this incident, many merchants and businessmen saw the possibility of the small town being the hub of business in Campbell County. Plans were consequently made for a “new town,” with the downtown establishments being constructed with stone and brick. 


A post office was established, in 1878, near the Kentucky-Tennessee line under the name of Smithburgh. Branches of the Southern Railroad and the Louisville and Nashville Railroad reached Smithburgh in 1882 and 1883. This small town incorporated in 1885 and renamed Jellico.


Campbell County is one of the northern most counties of East Tennessee, and was formed from the counties of Claiborne and Anderson. It is bounded on the east by Claiborne and Union counties, on the south by Anderson County, on the west by Scott County, and on the north by Whitley County, Kentucky. The lowest elevation in the County is 820 feet above sea level, found at the base of Norris Dam, which is located on the boundary line of Campbell and Anderson counties. Its highest elevation is 3,350 feet at the crest of Cross Mountain near Caryville. The County  contains 447 square miles of land.


One of the three distinct geographic regions in Campbell County is the northern portion that contains the Cumberland plateau; secondly, the central part which comprises Powell Valley; thirdly, the southern part of the County is a series of ridges and rolling uplands. The economy of each region varies greatly.


The Cumberland Mountains extend across Campbell County from Caryville to Cumberland Gap, being  paralleled on the southwest by Powell Valley. Of course the chief industry of the Plateau was coal mining, certainly not to much extent now. 


The first railroad was built from Coal Creek (Lake City) to Caryville in the 1870’s. Coal mined in this area was sent to outside markets. 
Sometime in the early 1880’s the railroad was completed through Cove Creek valley to Jellico. This railroad operation opened other coal mining in this area. 


In the 1890’s the Louisville and Nashville Railroad constructed a line from Coal Creek through Big Creek Gap (LaFollette) to Jellico. The route thus motivated other coal mines to start operations.


.Many primary mines in the County have decreased in the last several years because of depletion of the mineral or low quality and could not compete with other mines.

AGRICULTURE


The second largest enterprise in Campbell County is agriculture. Most farms are of rather small sizes because of the uneven terrain. Some of these farms are rather inaccessible because of the mountainous regions. 


The most productive and highest valued land in Campbell County is located in Powell Valley. This valley runs parallel to the Cumberland Mountains. The average width of the valley is two miles and extends approximately 40 miles to the Virginia line. 


Farming is the leading economy source of Powell Valley. The majority of the land is in pasture and hay, with its chief source of income coming largely from beef cattle. 


Not far away, and southeast of and parallel to Powell Valley, is a chain of ridges that contain the second most important agricultural area of Campbell County. This area was certainly affected by the building of the Norris Dam Reservoir. Many people were forced to move when this project was constructed. The water from the reservoir completely flooded the many farm lands that were present.


Many farmers make their money in the upland ridges by farming, the average farm size being in the neighborhood of  forty acres. Beef cattle and the raising of tobacco are their principal income. Numerous truck farms are to be found in this region which includes potatoes and poultry products.

THE INDIAN'S HORSES


When the Spaniards first penetrated into the continent of North America the only domesticated animal found was the dog. Some western tribes assert that their ancestors  had the horse long before the white man was seen, but it is more probable that the Indian pony long extensively used by the tribes on the plains is descended from the animals brought over by the Spaniards. When Cortez and DeSoto invaded the continent they found no horses, wild or domesticated. The Indians who had in South America domesticated the Llama, the alpaca and the dog, knew nothing of the horse and were astonished at the sight of the strange animals which the strangers rode. The horses abandoned by DeSoto near the Texas border are believed to be the progenitors of all the wild horses of North America. These horses, running wild, flourished and  increased greatly, showing how well the country was adapted to their needs.


The dog appears to have been common to all the Indian Tribes throughout America. The yelping of curs at night was a great annoyance to the white captives in Indian villages, and the loud and continuous barking of dogs sometimes prevented the white armies from surprising the Indians. In the Ohio villages the Indians used their dogs to assist them in hunting. Some tribes reared dogs and fattened for food. The Eskimo and other northern tribes used dogs for drawing sleds. All the Indian dogs, domesticated when the Spaniards first came, were probably descended from wolfish ancestors,  and they retained something of the aspect and disposition of their wild progenitors. 


Of all kinds of property belonging to the white men on the borders, horses were most likely to be stolen by the Indians. The theft of their horses greatly enraged the backwoodsmen against the  Indian. Horses were taken from the white settlements of the Ohio in Pennsylvania, Virginia and Kentucky before the first fortified stations were begun on the north side of the river. 


Wayne's treaty of peace with the Indians August 5, 1795, put an end to the victimizing of white men by Indians but horses continued to be stolen by them. 




One account of life among the Indians is given  by Col. James Smith's narrative of the remarkable occurrences during his four years captivity beginning in 1755. The Indian's horses, however, do not seem to have been numerous and while the hunters sometimes brought great quantities of meat and skins to the village on horseback, at other times the captive accompanied hunting parties on a distant hunt and after killing a number of deer and beavers they would return to the village heavy laden with skins and meat which, he says, they would carry on their backs, as they had no horse with them.


On one occasion  Col. Smith and an Indian companion were encamped  some distance from the village in the winter and they had a large amount of meat and skins to carry on their shoulders. They found three horses running wild and finding subsistence on the grass of a large treeless plain beneath the snow. They found it impossible to catch the horses. The Indians then proposed that they should run them down. Smith did not believe this could be done but the Indian said he had run down bear, deer, elk and buffalo and he believed that he could run down any animal except the wolf. The experiment was made and the two men began the chase at daylight on a cold day, the horses running in a circle of six or seven miles in circumference. The run was kept up all day, the Indian running all the time and Smith a part of the time. At dark the horses were found to run still with vigor and the task was abandoned.


David Zeisberger, the faithful Moravian missionary among the Indians, wrote in 1779 at his mission home on the Muskingum River in Ohio extensive notes on the life, manners and customs of the Indians. He makes little mention of their cattle and horses. He says: "Because the savages are accustomed to go about in the forest, which is their great delight, they do not care to keep cattle, for in that case they must remain at home to look after them and are prevented from going into the forest. Some have secured cattle, for they are fond of milk and butter. They have horses that roam about and are rarely used except when they wish to ride and it is too troublesome to break them to work." We read with some surprise that both cattle and horses were allowed to find their own food  in winter. Zeisberger says: "The Indians make little provisions to feed their cattle in the winter, for as there is no deep snow and the weather is generally mild, cattle and particularly horses can forage for themselves, finding feed in the woods. In the bottoms grass never quite dies away but remains green and toward the end of March and the beginning of April grows again."

BLACKSMITHING IMPORTANT TRADE IN EARLY HISTORY


Many local Campbell countians can well remember the trade of the blacksmith to one degree or another. Many had ancestors who practiced the profession, and through them they possibly picked up a point or two. 


No trade holds a candle to the early business of blacksmithing in this country. Virtually every small pioneering settlement utilized this essential vocation, simply because it was the backbone of everyone's livelihood. 


Blacksmithing is not only one of the oldest, but a fascinating craft, regardless of the age of the craftsman. This technique is still quite active, the modern smith having to constantly keep up with the new tools, new materials, and new processes. (The word smith comes from the German word "schmied." The work of the blacksmith comes from the forge - black.) 


The glow of the sweltering forge, the ringing thunder of hammer against anvil, the sizzle of heated iron or steel cooled suddenly in water, and the whinny and thump of the horses, all were familiar sights and sounds of the blacksmith's shop. Within these premises the smith shod horses along with making repairs to carriages, wagons, tools and machinery as needed.


School kids on the way home could peek through the open door that was darkened by smoke from the forge. The leather aproned smith would seem strange to these young observers at first as he thrust his tongs into the forge and pulled out pieces of chalky-looking glowing iron. They would witness him quickly turn to the anvil, place the pieces together, and hammer them to a hard consistency in which to  weld and  shape them. 


The old smith shop was a community gathering place, where persons of all trades would assemble and solve the problems and politics of the day.


Most shops were rather large in order to hold the wagons, plows, and horses, along with the multitude of tools that the smith worked with. 
They were generally equipped with a workbench, a water tub, an anvil, a tool table, a forge, and a coal bin. Infiltrated into this rather odd-looking interior were horseshoe racks, as well as racks to hold the iron and steel rods and sheets used by the blacksmith. Everything had a purpose and all were utilized to make new items and to repair old ones.


In addition to the blacksmith there are many other similar metal-working trades such as the white smith, tin smith, copper smith, locksmith, silversmith, gun smith, gold smith, saw smith, wheel wright, ship smiths, and many others. The white smith takes the work of the blacksmith and will file and finish it until the base metal shines brightly. 


One specialist, who is in great demand today, is the friend of the horse, the farrier. This smith systematically knows the horses' physical arrangement, simply because of the technique of applying shoes. This field requires a highly skilled smith and  is one of the few craftsmen who work with living things.  
The farrier's anvil is special built to make animal shoes. It is lighter and has a longer horn or beak and most generally has a projection on the side of the body for special functions.


A blacksmith is the only craftsman that makes his own tools. There are quite a few modern-day lady blacksmiths who also fabricate their own tools. Whether early day or modern day smiths, all have the same intellect from which they implement their own tool-making to suit their own needs. 


Possibly the most recognized anvil today is called the London Pattern. It has a round horn on one end, a narrowing tail on the other, with two holes near the tail. The horn makes it possible to fabricate curved shapes, or to change the curve of an existing shape. The square hole is called the "hardy" hole, its function being to insure a large mounting  space. The smaller round hole is called the "pritchel" hole, which is used for punching holes for  rivets. The anvil top is made of steel and is specifically hardened. Its function is to provide a table on which most forging is done. This appliance is normally placed about 6 feet from the forge and rested on a block of wood that extended downward in to the soil about 2 feet below the floor surface. 


Europe, in the late 1800's, displayed dozens of anvil shapes, and nearly every smith fancied a different design, reason being, perhaps, that each village had different needs. Anvils come in numerous weights, ranging from a few pounds to nearly a thousand pounds. The old country anvil generally ranged from 125 to 500 pounds. Most modern anvils are marked in kilograms or pounds. They have long lives if properly cared for. Many are still in use that were fabricated more than a century ago.


A blacksmith's hammer is, beside the anvil, the most essential tools required. Being made by the individual smithy, the immense variety is remarkable. Old hammers are sometimes modified for individual jobs. Most generally it is cheaper and quicker to make a special hammer than to buy one. Meeting the smiths' specifications is a problem when purchasing a new one.


For nearly 500 years power hammers have been used. These oversized tools may be operated from water power, steam, compressed air, or electricity. Hydraulic presses have evolved for this purpose in the last 150 years.


Tongs are the widest in variety of all the tools made. Generally a different set is necessary for each size and shape of material. They are made to hold the materials from the side or the end, requirements being to hold the objects tightly. Tongs of all sizes grace the old blacksmith shops worldwide. Most tongs could be held in one or two hands while some were so heavy that they would be suspended by a crane or perhaps a number of men. 


Many materials are used by the blacksmith, each having its own advantage. Brass, a combination of copper and  zinc, or bronze, a combination of copper and  tin, or perhaps aluminum or titanium, are all essential in the trade, along with the basic metal, iron.


Last, but certainly not least, the forge was considered the major tool. Many materials and shapes made up this versatile apparatus. Africa today uses simple ground forges that utilize goat skin bellows as a forced air source. Today's modern forges are constructed from cast iron to steel or brick, with electric blowers generating the air force. 


Forges are designed to get their wind, from which to fan the fire, from either the side or the bottom; each has its advantages; most American smiths use the bottom draft forge. The draft may come from the traditional bellows or  from a hand-cranked blower, the latter replacing the former. 


Many smiths prefer a low sulfur bituminous Pocahontas coal because of its flexible heating ability. Natural or propane gas is becoming more universal, especially for production work. Charcoal and coke have also been used at times.

BUFFALO TRAILS LED THE WAY FOR PIONEERS

 
At the arrival of the first Europeans, the American plains buffalo ranged over most of North America  in numbers estimated as high as 60,000,000. Around 1900, the great buffalo neared extinction. However, cooperative efforts by cattlemen and conservationists led to its protection; results, government reserves were eventually provided. At present managed herds tend to over-populate their ranges and must be reduced by controlled hunting.


The buffalo was the premier food and clothing source for the Native American. The skin was prepared and used as a robe, and sometimes it was tanned with the hair attached, and when turned in it made very warm moccasins. 


The Indians made the buffalo its prime meat source. Hunting being difficult in the winter time, the Indian laid in his meat supply which was "dried and jerked." This latter preparation was made by evenly cutting the fleshy parts of the animal into sheets rarely more than one inch in thickness. 


A preservative method was then commenced by dipping these strips into brine or salt. These strips were exposed to the sun and wind and dried before the decaying process set in. In this way, all the nutritive properties of the animal could be sustained.


Traveling over the grand North American continent was overcome by using the old buffalo and Indian trails, possibly the most famous being the Wilderness Road, or Daniel Boone's road. 
This old buffalo path led from Virginia to Kentucky. It was opened up as a passable trail by Daniel Boone from the Wautaga Settlement on the Holston River up to Otter Creek, Kentucky.  Its history is one of the blackest of pioneer days. It was called the Wilderness Road because of the wilderness of laurel thickets which lay between the settlements and the Cumberland Gap.


It followed the Great Warrior's Path through the crevice of the Alleghenies and the Blue Ridge. It next passed White Sulfur Springs over to Greenbriar to the New River, up an old Indian trail, over through Powell's (Powell) Valley to Cumberland Gap, up to Rock Castle Creek to Danville, and on to Lexington where it extended to the Indian Road over to the Falls of the Ohio, now Louisville. 


This buffalo trail continued from Lexington up to the mouth of the Licking, where the animal crossed to what is now Cincinnati. (Croghan, an Irish fur trader, who was a great friend to the Indians, tells in his journal of seeing a large number of buffaloes around the Great Bend of the Ohio, possibly in the vicinity of Big Bone Lick, Kentucky, just south of Cincinnati.)


The old Braddock Road, which was an old buffalo trail, was the second road which preceded the National Road, the old Washington Road being the first. The blazed trees which marked this route for many years pointed out the trail of the unfortunate British General Braddock to the battlefield of the Monongahela. 


Washington, previous to Braddock's expedition, had blazed a trail to the Ohio Valley, this route afterwards becoming the marching path of the British army. For seventy-five years Braddock's Road answered all the required needs of modern travel, however, journeying over it at most seasons was a rough experience. 


The great buffalo trails followed the streams north and south from the Ohio to the Great Lakes along the Muskingum, Scioto and both Miami rivers. Grand paths were worn by the buffalo across the portages. They crossed on the watershed from Pittsburgh along the ridges which divided the streams that flowed into the Great Lakes and the Ohio.


These migratory trails opened up the four great railroad routes from the Atlantic to the central west, they becoming the New York Central lines, the B & O lines, the C & O lines, and the Norfolk and Western. 


The buffalo was known for its speed and endurance, most assuredly if it got a head start on its opponent the horse, the latter was left behind in the dust. The buffalo was clumsily built but could leap from one rocky ledge to another. They could ascend and descend a vertical rise with great agility.


The impressive animal was driven west and ruthlessly butchered by the white man. With the completion of the Union Pacific, the Great Herd had been cut in half, and from 1870 to 1875 it is said the annual destruction was 2,500,000 head. 


They were killed in every possible fashion. The herds were stampeded and driven over cliffs and into rivers; the remainder of those left behind being crushed and slaughtered by thousands of those in front.


Being a migratory animal, he was therefore a great traveler; he went north in summer and south in winter. Many preferred to stay north in the winter, thus finding shelter in the valleys.


The most famous find for the gigantic animal is possibly at Big Bone Spring, Boone, Co., Ky., about twenty miles south of Covington, which in this locality the trail depressions were worn wider and deeper than anywhere else. Nearby, at Union, Boone Co., Ky., on Buffalo Ridge, is the old stamping grounds. Here they met in large numbers and found solace. 


The Tennessee River - Ohio - and Great Lakes Trail was part of a great trunk trail which ran from the Lakes to the Gulf, this trail being opened up by the great animal. At Danville one branch, as I mentioned earlier, went southeast through the Cumberland Gap and was known as the Wilderness Road. Another branch swung southwest through Nashville and was called the Natchez Trace, or the Boatman's Trail. 


The courageous and gallant pioneers who pushed their way into the new lands are long since departed and lie unknown in some neglected, unmarked grave. They witnessed the shrill bellowing of the great buffalo herds. Now, along the mighty buffalo trails, only the occasional whistle of a train or the blasting of the automobile horn can be heard.

RIVER TRANSPORTATION


Early river traffic was one of the chief transportation modes before the advent of modern vehicles in Tennessee. Pioneers living along the Clinch and Powell rivers utilized this method of shipping by cutting and rafting timber along these streams. This proved to be a moneymaking occupation for those so located. The rafts that were used as barges and scows were employed to transport iron ore and finished products, mussell shells, corn and other bulky materials to downstream landings. The building of flatboats proved not to be economical except in unusual instances, because they could be used only once. They proved to be impractical as far as floating them upstream. 


The Powell River was never considered a navigable stream, while the Clinch River was negotiable from its mouth by steamboats to about sixty miles upstream to Clinton. 


An early resident of the area had run the Clinch River periodically for thirty-two years. He stated that “those were hard times. Everybody had some timber and could get five dollars for a log of good poplar, pine and white oak, and a lot more for walnut in Chattanooga.” 


One trip this gentleman made mention of was that “It took us five days to reach Chattanooga. One raft was 265 feet long, 12 to 14 feet wide, and had 152 to 153 logs to a strand. We took enough grub for three days to Kingston (where the Clinch joined the Tennessee), tying up a night, and there we had to cook. There were seven men in our crew; sometimes there were twenty.


“There was no drinking on the rafts, but some after we reached Chattanooga. We had to be locked up in the cars (railroad) from Chattanooga to Knoxville. 


“We sold our logs in Chattanooga to Mr. Hascue and he took them through the Suck to Pittsburg Landing.”


Tradition says that in earlier years some locals floated log rafts all the way to New Orleans. Most, if not all, contained maple, cherry and black walnut to be made into fine furniture. Occasionally, iron moldings were rafted to this destination. 


The Cumberland Gap Progress, published in Tazewell February 20, 1889, writes that “about fifty rafts went down Sycamore Saturday and Sunday.” Reference to this “creek” is Big Sycamore Creek, located in Claiborne County. 


Flatboats and keelboats were operated on the larger rivers. Merchandise was loaded at Knoxville or Nashville and floated to down river markets along the Tennessee, Cumberland and Mississippi. 


Evolution of the flatboat was at first canoes, piroques and rafts. The original flatboats were at first only from four to six feet in width, but soon were made much larger The construction was of green oak plank. No nails or iron was used in building them. The heavy oak planks were fastened by wooden pins to still heavier frames of timber. 


The seams were at first closed with pitch or tar, but this being very expensive, tow or some other pliant substance was afterward used in caulking. Because of its con-struction, descending the river was the only practical way of navigating. 


Flatboats in this period of time were of different varieties, they being named ark, barge, broadhorn, Kentucky boat, and New Orleans boat. These craft were useful in their own way, but the standard flatboat had preference over the others because of its size and practicality. 


These rectangular shaped craft had generally boarded up sides from two to three feet high. The width and length had no standard size, the family generally set size preference. The lesser sort had no covering, but were provided with a shed in the rear for horses and cattle, and a cabin forward for the use of the owner and his family. 


The craft that was used for shorter trips were called Kentucky boats or broad-horns. The boats that were used for longer trips were called New Orleans boats and were covered throughout their entire length. 


Propelling of these boats was a task in itself. All flatboats were propelled by "sweeps" which were mounted on the sides. They also consisted of a rudder and a short oar in front known as the "gouger." 


A "hawser" was a strong rope which was mounted to a reel on board that could be attached to a tree stump on shore, which in turn allowed the boat to be wound ashore. 
The flatboat was designated as "the boat that never came back." It was broken up at the end of its journey and the lumber used for building houses, furniture, etc. 


The first steamboat on the Cumberland, in 1819, the General Jackson, chugged up the river from New Orleans to Nashville and docked on March 11. A new transportation era was thus ushered in which made Nashville the shipping center of Tennessee. The dangerous Muscle Shoals lay between Knoxville and the Mississippi, which caused much of Knoxville’s early commercial shipping to be passed on to Nashville. Steamboats eventually increased in size, which caused channels to be a problem. 


Subsequently, the Tennessee legislature voted $150,000, in 1830, to be divided between road making and channel clearance. Subsequently, East Tennessee improved the channels of the Tennessee River and its major tributaries. 


Eventually, the Cumberland River remained the main water artery into Middle Tennessee until the Illinois Central Railroad was built. The lower Tennessee River and the Mississippi immediately became an important link to the cotton-growing region. 


The Atlas, on March 3, 1828, became the first steamboat to reach Knoxville. In 1831, during times of high water in autumn and spring, regular service on the upper Tennessee and Holston Rivers was utilized. In 1890 the Federal Government built two 

dams at Muscle Shoals which made navigation on the upper Tennessee possible the year round. 


The State’s waterways declined rapidly after 1900 because of other transportation methods, the railroad becoming the chief transporter of goods. However, waterway traffic along these rivers has been revived tremendously because of improved methods of mass freight-hauling by tug and barge fleet. 

HISTORY OF THE DIXIE HIGHWAY


Many small towns before the construction of Interstate 75 were busy, busy, busy. The local townspeople spent their days on the streets of these villages visiting, gossiping and making new acquaintances. I guess one might say this is a life forgotten. I can well remember in the fifties and sixties the streets of Lafollette being filled with farmers, shoppers and just plain folk. It was a time of friendliness and companionship. 


Before Interstate 75 a road by the name of The Dixie Highway, or later named U.S. Highway 25, was the main route through Lafollette. Our neighbor to the south, Lake City, used this highway in late 1968 because of the delay in the building of the I-75 bridge over the Clinch River. It seems that, unfortunately, the expressway ended in Lake City and all the I-75 traffic wound up on U.S Highway 25, or The Dixie Highway. Hundreds of thousands of southbound traveler were re-routed through Lake City. The townspeople were totally unaware and unprepared for the calamity that was happening. The unfortunate motorists spent hours along this road just reaching the four-lane in South Clinton. With tempers flaring, radiators overheating, and traffic backed up for miles, quick solutions were zilch.


Lake City did all it could to relieve the problem.  It ended parking on Main Street and removed the last of its downtown parking meters. The town folks also installed automatic signal lights and ultimately sidetracked motorists around the town, or onto the Norris Freeway.


(Rev. James (Jim) Leach of LaFollette says that in the ‘50’s and ‘60’s, the Tennesseeans and Kentuckians followed this route north and overtook Ohio, Indiana and Michigan without firing a shot.)


A short history of this route says that The Dixie Highway was the brainchild of Carl Fisher. It was considered the first interstate highway that linked the far South with the industrious North.
Fisher was an entrepreneur and land speculator, he being a former resident of Indiana. The highway system was nothing new to him, as he had been associated with the early building of the Lincoln Highway, which was constructed from San Francisco to New York. 


After purchasing land in Miami, he became interested in a north/south highway simply to attract recreational travelers to his place in the sun. His goal was to connect Miami with a route to Indiana. 


Fisher’s labors resulted in the formation, in 1915, of The Dixie Highway As-association, which was conceived as a private proposal to promote good roads. From 1916 to 1927, the Association met in Chattanooga, Tennessee. These gatherings  decided routing, road conditions, and to publish a monthly magazine, namely, The Dixie Highway. Much lobbying by the local communities to get the highway run through their town along the proposed route was the order of business. 


The early building era of The Dixie Highway was constructed with local government and business funding. Its first surface consisted of gravel or poor quality, asphalt, and later improved to paved brick or concrete.


The highway extended from Miami to Sault Sainte Marie, Michigan, near the Canadian border, a total of 5,706 miles. It was purposely routed to connect with existing national sites and Civil War battlefields, some of these being Chickamauga and Kennesaw Mountain in Georgia. 


Indian history was also an attraction along the highway. Some of these sites included the Etowah Indian Mounds, and New Ochota, the last capital of the Cherokee Nation. Another attraction was Rock City in Chattanooga, Tennessee, it being of no particular use except for a tourist site.


Original markings along the route consisted of a painted design on telegraph and telephones poles with a white band on the top and bottom, and a red band in the middle with a white “DH.”


The federal government, in the 1920’s, began to invest heavily in road con-struction, and by 1925 had established an interstate highway numbering system, with odd numbers for north-south roads and even numbers for east and west. 


Use of distinguishable black and white, shield shaped signs replaced the named interstate highways such as the Lincoln and Dixie. Ignored by the named road system, The Dixie Highway was sectioned off into several U.S. route designations. Much of The Dixie Highway in Georgia and Florida became U.S. Route 41, while the system name was changed to U.S. 25 north of the Georgia line. 


Disbandment of The Dixie Highway Association in 1927 found nearly 4,000 miles of roads had been improved and upgraded along the chosen route. The Highway from the Great Lakes to Florida was finalized in the fall of 1929. On November 4th, a grand celebration was held along The Dixie Highway. A motorcade of some 200 cars, stretching for eight miles, dedicated the final section from Atlanta to Chattanooga.


Local roads along the Highway soon changed from ones of havoc to those of a new highway system. Commercial businesses along the route soon began to prosper. Free tourist tent camps, along with roadside parks and picnic tables, were created which accommodated overnight guests. It seems that everyone with a business sense built tourist courts, cabins, inns and motels accompanied by restaurants, diners, hot dog stands, and filling stations, along with roadside markets, all to serve The Dixie Highway travelers.

THE CUMBERLAND GAP


Residents of Campbell County are well aware of the historic site of Cumberland Gap. This is a widely known pass that allowed, in the late 1700’s, some 200,000 pioneers to venture into Kentucky and further west. 


During the spring of 1775, Daniel Boone and 30 expert woodsmen, in less than a month, marked a 200 mile trail which crossed the Appalachian Mountains at Cumberland Gap. This trail extended from Virginia to Kentucky and would later be called “The Wilderness Road.” 


Some two centuries later, a large work force constructed twin mile long tunnels beneath the rock of this historic pass. Digging of the tunnel was continued for years and in October of 1996 the project was finalized; total cost, $250 million. History states that Boone never received any pay for his road work.


The old trail through Cumberland gap began with a buffalo trace was later followed by the Indians. In the mid-1660’s, white hunters began exploring the region and brought home news concerning the indentation through the mountain. 



The first written record of the gap is attributed to Dr. Thomas Walker, a Virginia physician who later widened his scope and became an explorer. Walker’s writings tell of his travels through the gap region in 1750 and how he came upon Cave Gap, named after a nearby cavern. He is also known for naming the river north of the pass Cumberland in honor of the Duke of Cumberland of England. 


Some twenty-five years after Walker ventured through the gap, Richard Henderson, a former North Carolina judge and a land speculator, sent Daniel Boone and his fellow woodsmen to mark a tail through the gap for the purpose of settling Kentucky. 
Boone was already familiar with the gap as he had passed through it previously on hunting expeditions. He was for the most part aware of the dangers that lie ahead, especially that of Indian depredation. The Indians had for centuries deemed this their hunting ground and wanted no trespassing from the white man. On two previous incidents Boone happened upon Indians who took all the skins he had collected. 


Boone’s friend and brother-in-law, John Stewart, vanished in 1770 while he and Boone were on a hunting expedition into Kentucky. His fate had been sealed for five years until a worker on Boone’s Wilderness Road construction  found a skeleton with a powder horn inscribed with Stewart’s initials.


Boone suffered another loss in 1773 when he undertook to establish a settlement in Kentucky. A group of marauding Indians attacked the expedition along Powell’s River and killed several in the group, including his son, James.


Boone’s employment with Henderson wasn’t the first encounter with the latter. He  had once sued the pioneer explorer for unpaid debts and had sworn out a warrant for his arrest. Apparently, after some time, the two reunited and Boone was hired for the venture. 


Henderson had dealt for 20 million acres of land in Kentucky and Tennessee with the Cherokee Indians, essentially as a plan to create his own settlement of Transylvania, with its capital at the newly established settlement of Boonesborough. His plan ultimately failed basically because the legislatures of Virginia and North Carolina said the land belonged to them. 


Henderson’s plan failed. Boone was promised payment but Henderson reneged on his contract. However, Boone’s work on the old Indian path was on the forward march. It would be named “The Wilderness Road” which would become the interstate of the period. Pioneers and travelers from eastern Pennsylvania, Virginia and the Carolinas made their way through the gap and onto lands west. 


The old trail had much to be desired. It was wide enough only for  packhorses and traveling folks. One source says that during the summer and fall of 1784, hostile Cherokee Indians killed more than 100 travelers on the Kentucky side of the gap. The result of this carnage was that travel in large groups was deemed most appropriate. 


One group, numbering about 500, which included the entire Upper Spotslvania Baptist Church congregation from Fredricksburg, Virgina, passed through the gap in 1781. As was common custom, they had to abandon their wagons, loaded with personal  items, and walk the mountain trail with only what they could carry or load on horses. The caravan, a three mile long convoy, finally crossed the gap in December, taking three weeks to cover a mere 30 miles through snow, mud and over-flowing streams. 


In 1796, the Wilderness Road was widened enough to accommodate the many wagons, and by the early 1800’s, the road had been improved to the extent that long lines of cattle and horses made their way into Kentucky.

1906 EXPLOSION AT JELLICO


The following article is condensed from a reprint of the dreadful explosion, which occurred at Jellico on September 21, 1906.  The headlines were as follows:


“Jellico Wrecked by Dynamite Explosion - Car Containing Eleven Tons of Dynamite Lets Go in the Railroad Yard-Killing Eight Persons, Injuring Two Hundred More and Doing Untold Damage to the City.”


On Friday morning, September 21, 1906, at 7:47 a.m., a terrific explosion rocked the small towns of Jellico, Tn., and Jellico, Ky., almost to the point of oblivion. The explosion occurred in a railroad car loaded with eleven tons of dynamite, location being on a side track just a few feet across the state line on the Kentucky side. The overall description of this event was one of pure devastation.  


It was a bright sunny morning of September 21st, and all 3,000 residents of Jellico were going about their business, tending to their chores, and planning their day. The children were playfully going to school, with no evidence of the fate that was soon to overcome them. 


Suddenly, as if a lightning bolt had touched the ground, an explosion occurred, sending the terrified children to their mothers’ arms, 
causing the strong-armed men to leave their chores and rush to help their fellow man. Many men, with blood streaming from their faces, rushed to help the more seriously impaired. On a nearby sidewalk sat a woman holding the head of her beloved dead husband in her lap, and on the hotel porch a father and mother are consoling their little five year old boy, while his older sister violently wrings her hands and refuses help. 


A woman, fearful of her husband’s fate, rushes wildly up and down the railroad tracks to see her husbands face, but was destined to never see it again. The surviving men were busily searching under the splintered timber for the broken bodies of their fellow townsmen. Physicians, who provided a tranquil spirit, along with a multitude of nurses, were applying the art of their trade to soothe the misfortunates.


Exact reasoning for the explosion of the railroad car has not been determined, but prior to the explosion the nearby cars were being switched and were engaged in bumping into it at about the same time. 


Several were killed and about 150 to 200 were injured. The dead were: J.M. Cook, Master Mechanic for L&N RR; Joe Seller, Engineer on Proctor Coal Co’s. Engine; Walter Rogers, Agent for Jung Brewing Co.; George Adkins, Lineman for East Tenn., Telephone Co.; Amos Bennett, retired; James Reynolds, Negro, Waiter at Wal-Bruce Cafe; John Gordon, Negro, Restaurant Keeper, and Emmond Norman, Syrian, Section hand on L&N. 


Jack Burns, Superintendent of the Proctor Coal Co., states that he crossed the railroad yard just prior to the explosion, and at that juncture he saw Mr. Seller and Mr. Cook talking. Seller’s concern was that Cook had left an engine on the Proctor track and was delaying him. During this conservation, Walter Rogers was a short piece down the northwest track shooting with a small target gun at a stake at the bottom. These three men were blown to oblivion, along with the Syrian section hand, who was possibly a passer-by. 


No written description could tell of the devastation at hand. Not a plate glass window was left in town, nor was there any trace of any windows left in the small village. The frame buildings near the railroad were completely destroyed.



At this time I will quote from the newspaper article. It goes as such:


“The appalling disaster caused by the explosion of dynamite in out town Friday, September 21st is so great and so far reaching that our people could not begin to grasp the magnitude of it. Every where one turns he faces wreck and ruin. Not a single residence in the town escaped damage; some of course are worse than others. It would be impossible to give in detail all the damage done to each residence; many are so badly damaged that they can never be replaced in their former condition. Hundreds of chimneys were knocked down to the roofs. All the windows were swept out, furniture knocked and piled promiscuously about the rooms; the occupants were bruised by flying debris and cut with glass. Many residences were wrenched and torn so badly that they are hardly fit for occupancy. Many roofs were torn wide open at the comb and the gable ends knocked out, and the houses twisted on their foundations. It is utterly possible to describe the awful destruction to residence property, especially in the territory bounded by a line running east with Church street to the corporation line to the railroad. In this boundary many houses were practically ruined.”

LABAN SHARP AND THE DEVELOPMENT OF LAFOLLETTE

Part I

The writer, on September 21, 2000, portrayed a short story concerning Henry Sharp, Sr. In this particular article we will feature his direct descendant, Laban Sharp. 

Possibly the greatest contributor to the development of LaFollette was Laban Sharp. He and his brother, David, had originally migrated with their parents from North Carolina and first settled in Union County. 


The first written record concerning Laban was in the early 1800’s. History tells us that friends from North Carolina had paved the way and had purchased  a large extent of land in and around where LaFollette now stands. Their residence consisted of a log house that once stood just to the left of the large cave spring on the old LaFollette property. 
Possibly the John Myers and Sharp families could have been friends in North Carolina, and, the progenitors of the familes probably came to the new land on the same ship, perhaps to escape religious and political control. The two families were found jointly living here and owning, in the late 1700’s and early 1800’s, a vast expanse of land.


David, who was mentioned earlier in this text, married Elizabeth Myers and resided down Indian Creek (Big Creek) about two miles from LaFollette. David and Laban together succeeded in business ventures. Laban owned a Jack named “Little Wonder.” Together they owned a flock of sheep and sold the wool, from this wool thread was woven and made into cloth. The brothers must have owned a sawmill for records show that quite a bit of lumber was sold; the location is unknown. David and Laban owned the Salt Peter Cave and leased it in 1861 to a Mr. Craighead. Saltpeter was produced during the Civil War for the manufacture of powder intended for use in connection with the guns. 


Laban was about two years younger than David and married Annie Myers. He was only 16 when he started in business, being unmarried at the time. However, he, according to history, married at the age of 20 or 21; Laban and Annie were the parents of eight children.  


Their home consisted of a large, two-story log house, built on the same style as other pioneer homes of the day. It stood on a rise of land near the old furnace site, close to the large spring that furnished water to families near it. 


Laban was an entrepreneur of high respectability in his time. He, like many other pioneers, withstood the dangers of pioneer life and helped carve a territory out of the wilderness. As an enterprising man, he was overheard to say that someday a town would stand where LaFollette now stands. As different needs were desired by the locals, Laban had an engineering aspect about him, and succeeded in producing different industries for the needs of the people.


Eventually, the Sharp and Myers farms consumed about all of LaFollette. Some of the earlier sites that the farms took in were the Frances Flower Gardens, along with the spring that supplied water for the vicinity; Linden Park, part of Riggs Hill, the old furnace site, the Troutman home, the fair ground, the school house hollow, and to the city limits up the valley.


The farm was dotted with many apple and peach trees, at that time no spray was needed. The Civil War soldiers had camped on one hill and, consequently, many peach trees voluntarily came up. These trees were allowed to grow and over time there were many peach and apples trees to care for. 


A dry house was built for the occasion which consisted of a brick building with a stone floor. Drawers, in which the fruit was placed, were installed in both sides. A furnace was built on one end on the outside and installed with a tow chimney which carried the smoke away. Flues were arranged to enter the building so the warmth of the air could circulate and dry the fruit. A door was installed on the opposite end. The structure included sheds built on either side where the fruit was prepared. Certainly inventive minds were at work to create this type of site, for without it the fruit would surely go to waste.


A record found in Jacksboro, dated January 13, 1851 states: “Laban Sharp enters 5000 acres in Campbell County upon the water of Big Creek Gap and the waters of Hickory Creek, beginning at a pine in the line of a 5000 acre tract entered by David and Mark Richardson near where John Hutsel now lives, thence north westerly with the line of the above named survey near the top of Walnut Mountain, thence north easterly and various courses as the law directs for compliment.” 



Laban Sharp was a progressive man who was heard to have said that new inventions were needed to help raise the standard of living. Receipts show that he bought the exclusive right to a  machine that produced a new kind of shingle which was of better quality and initially created a faster product. He also was issued a patent for a safe and more comfortable wagon seat, along with an interest in a new washing machine. He had installed into his residence the first stove in the community. He owned a gristmill up Big Creek, and bought the right to locate a sawmill on the same creek before he purchased the land. He bought a few lots in Jacksboro in the early days, but disposed of them.


The first days of the community found that there were no banks. A great number of notes were found which stated Laban had loaned both large and small sums of money to the locals. Honesty was a tradition in the early days of the small village, for many of the notes had been scribbled on small pieces of scrap paper, certainly nothing legal about them. Often payments received by Laban were in the form of livestock such as a mule, cow, steer or hides.


Big Creek Gap was a community in the works. One type of business enterprise included a saddler’s shop, housed in a two-story building situated in the direction of Rigg’s Hill. In this location shoes, harness, saddles, and other leather goods were made, Silas Ingram being the tanner. 


The tanning vats were located between the old blacksmith shop and the saddler shop. On the south end of the saddler shop a vat was installed to carry on part of the tanning. The shop was between 30 and 40 feet in length and from 20 to 25 feet wide. It was divided into two rooms, with a sizeable chimney in the center and a large fireplace in both rooms. 


These vats were holes dug into the ground, dimensions being about four of five feet deep and about five feet long, the pits being lined with heavy plank.  Bark from the red oak tree supplied the acid for tanning.


Water to supply these vats was brought from a spring some 250 yards distance, known as the white oak spring. Gravity was used for the water flow as it was directed to what was known as pump logs. These logs were a few feet in length with holes bored in the center. They were tightly fastened together so as not to lose any water during the flow.  


Some sixty yards north of the saddler shop stood the blacksmith shop where plows, hoes and other implements of work were formed. Shoeing horses, wagon maintenance, and other types of ironwork were performed here. The shop stood beside the highway on the way to the valley. It was so located for the convenience of the locals, as well as travelers from the Kentucky/Cumberland Gap area. Stock drivers, as well as pioneers stopped here for water, food and a place of rest. 


Bricks were fired near the old shop. Clay was discovered on a hill south-west of the building. These bricks were used in constructing the smoke house, spring house, the dry house, and the church which was used as a schoolhouse, namely, School House Hollow. 


In 1846, land was given by Laban to construct Soules Chapel. This was the first Methodist church in LaFollette, it being discontinued when the town was developed.  


Stock drivers used many routes through Campbell County. On their way south with a drove of hogs, they would reach the end of the day and seek a resting place. Some settler along the route most often cared for them. If a hog had received an injury along the way, the property-owner would swap the driver a fresh one for the lame one so the drover could go on with the same number. The lame hog, in turn, would be corralled into a lot and allowed to get well, later being swapped again for another lame one.


Laban Sharp built a forge on the north bank of Big Creek, a short distance above the old LaFollette lumber plant site owned by Wheeler Hollingsworth. Ore was mined near the forge and was refined into pig iron. These pigs were hammered into plow points, wagon tires, and many other objects desired by the pioneers. 


Charcoal was needed to produce the heat in making the iron. Means of securing this product was solved by Laban. They ventured onto his land and dug the pits where charcoal was burned. These pits were built of cordwood and burned by capable colliers. This process took a week or so to prepare the coal. When readied, it was transported to the forge by a six-mule team. Some of the drivers were Squire Sharp, George Fletcher, and in case of an emergency, Robert Mullens. The hammer man was a gentleman from Virginia whose name was Isaac Fleming. The iron was taken to the Goose Creek Salt Works in Kentucky where it was exchanged for salt. Hauling was done by large, schooner shaped wagon beds, drawn by four sturdy mules. 


Laban Sharp was a very religious man. When John Myers passed away his house-hold goods were  put up for sale. Laban bought a still, simply to prevent anyone else from acquiring it and making liquor. 



Big Creek Gap was a critical location during the early part of the Civil War. Both sides deemed it significant. It was not only a strategic location but it was divided about equally in sentiment. Laban Sharp was southern in his devotion, and so he suffered severely at the hands of the Union soldiers. Crops were stolen and ruined while stock was driven off and butchered. Silas Sharp, Laban’s youngest son, narrowly escaped a Union soldier’s bullet. The projectile struck the house just above the mantle, and with this incident, Silas decided to relocate to Union County until peace once again settled in the community. 


(Contents of this article were taken from the writings of  Mrs. J.L. Mullins and donated to the writer by that fine gentleman, Jerry Sharp, curator of the Campbell County Historical Society in LaFollette, and great-great-great-grandson of Laban Sharp, our subject.)  

APPALACHIAN MARRIAGE


When discussing the mountain folk and their courtships, one has to go back to the beginning. In the past, courtships and marriage in Appalachia were quite different than today. 


In olden times in Appalachia, the woman’s role was to take care of the home, raise the children, and provide for her husband. During this time, the man was undoubtedly the head of the household, with the wife doing exactly as she was told to do.  


Appalachian people were mostly bonded together within their own families. More often than not, an entire family would dwell on the same piece of property, usually in a hollow. Everyone knew their own kin, and if a child were born to a young couple that was closely related, that child would probably be mentally handicapped.


Family members prearranged just about all relationships. When a young girl became of age, or when she was old enough to bear children, her father sought out a young male to be her spouse. If the father did not approve of the young man, the daughter was not allowed to see him. 


Courtships were generally short-lived. The term of two or three weeks was deemed sufficient for this custom, with the marriage then being consummated. Girls were thirteen to fifteen, on the average, when they married, and the grooms were from fifteen to eighteen. 


Most weddings took place in the home of the bride, since church weddings were quite rare. Many times the young couple and their families would make a trip to the county courthouse and the County Judge would perform the ceremony. Very possibly the term ‘goin courtin’ originated from this practice. Money certainly being absent, there was no honeymoon. Frequently, the couple would reside at the bride’s home the first night, and sometimes reside in the home for six months to a year. The length of this stay would generally be a term long enough for the groom to save enough money to build a house.


If a young, unmarried girl were to become pregnant, the father would make the father of the child marry his daughter, sometimes at gunpoint. It seems evident that the term ’shotgun wedding’ originated with this practice. 


The man’s job was to earn money, generally working in the logging business or in a coal mine. As was mentioned earlier, the woman’s job was to provide for the man. She was the supervisor of the cooking, cleaning, feeding the livestock, and raising the children. 


It was deemed inappropriate for the wives to be seen while the men were eating. They would prepare the food, set the table and return to the kitchen while the men absorbed the fine meal. The women would eat their meals in the kitchen. 


Women were seldom seen out in public and, if they were, they always stayed beside or behind their husbands. It was commonplace to see a man walking down the road with his wife walking behind him. 


Most couples attended church in those days. If so, the woman was required to wear a veil over her face, or at least, one that would cover her eyes. It was regarded as wrong to look at another man’s wife in the eyes, and if a married woman would look at another man in the eyes, it was considered flirting. 

  
It was customary to find most wives pregnant, they having a baby a year. Men considered a pregnant woman undesirable. This belief was that the husband would make certain his wife would stay true to him. Many Appalachian women became so fatigued from having babies that they would die at an early age. It wasn’t rare for a man to have had three or four wives and thirty or forty children.


 The preceding is an account of the past. Without the present day ladies, man’s life would be just a mere existence. A grand salute to the ladies of the world. 

HISTORY OF THE LAFOLLETTE METHODIST CHURCH


For many years the Methodist Church affiliates reigned high in the religious community, as they still do. The formal opening of the LaFollette Methodist Church was June 27, 1965, with H. Ellis Finger as Bishop; Mark M. Moore as District Superintendent, and Mitchell O. Petus as Minister. 


Origination of plans for building was established in 1955. Rev. E. C. Berwanger and the Board of Directors decided to start a building fund campaign, which was initiated on April 26, 1960, under the supervision of the Pastor, Rev. Kyle Kregger; the amount being set at $125,000. 


On June 10, 1964, groundbreaking ceremonies were held on the building site, with the Pastor, Rev. Mitchell O. Pettus, leading the ceremony. The site was purchased during these years with roughly $90,000 in cash on hand to start the new Church. Over the years, the building committee changed, with the final committee consisting of Dr. L.J. Seargeant, Chairman; Russell Claiborne, Hugh Crowder, Clifford McCarty, V.R. Davis, along with the Pastor, Rev. Pettus and Carlock Myers being added as business managers.


At this time we shall review a short history of the Methodist Episcopal Church, South, in LaFollette. Located in a deep hollow about one mile east of LaFollette, the Church site was organized some time before 1840. It was located in Walker’s School House, named for William Walker. The Church at that time was connected to the Tazewell Circuit, which comprised all of Claiborne County. The members were few with Walker being named Class Leader. The Circuit preacher completed his rounds to the Church about once a month. 


Many folks resided in the neighborhood, and nearly all the population was nonreligious. The community was not a sinful group, but were pleasure seekers, subjects being hunting, fishing and shooting matches. 


Rev. E.K. Hutsell, in June of 1842, received an appointment at S.H. Walker’s, and with him came Dr. Jackson Buckley, a local preacher and physician, who resided in the Fincastle community. 


The first meeting was comprised of twelve people, with Dr. Frank Richardson’s mother being the only Christian. At the end of the service, Rev. Hutsell made an altar call and the eleven remaining folks came forward and knelt for prayer. There were hundreds who were converted before the six-day meeting was over. 


Another revival started in a few weeks which continued for years and spread into all the surrounding communities, the result being the conversion of thousands, many becoming preachers. In the community which was later to become LaFollette, most every person was converted and ultimately joined the Methodist Church. 


One revelation of the revival in the small community was that most all people of wealth, ages and races were converted. Since the School House revival was so well received, a large camp ground east of LaFollette was established where camp meetings were held annually for years. This campground came under Confederate control during the Civil War, and was destroyed by the soldiers. 


The first brick church was erected in honor of Bishop Soule and called Soules Chapel, and was also affected by the war. The close of the War between the States found the Church much weakened and depressed, and was soon taken over by the Methodist Episcopal Church, with many of its members merging. 


During the latter part of the years of 1889-90 services were held in a frame structure in Douglas Town, it being on the Jacksboro Circuit. In 1902 a Church was built on Nevada Avenue, which was devastated by fire in 1913. Immediately, plans for a new church on East Central Avenue were established and called Central Methodist Church. Going through many changes, it continued its organizations and did its work efficiently, thus entering into unification in 1939, merging with First Methodist in 1946 and becoming the LaFollette Methodist Church. 

A Short History of the First Methodist Episcopal Church


Rev. Hazen Oaks, of the Methodist Episcopal Church, a part of Holston Conference, located in 1901 to LaFollette to establish a church. Just two years later, in 1903, a splendid brick and masonry structure was constructed at the corner of Indiana and Central Avenue. This stood until May 10, 1939, when the Methodist Episcopal Church, South, and the Methodist Protestant Church united to become the Methodist Church. 


The church was razed in the late 40’s, with some interesting items being found between the rocks in the corner stone. Among these bits and pieces were some slightly faded legible records, which gave a brief history of the Church, and a message to future generations. 


History of Women’s Missionary Society, M.E. South, 1900-41.


Mrs. Sullins and Mrs. Nora Chapman organized the Women’s Missionary Society in 1900 at the home of Mary Newton on Nevada Avenue. It was called the Woman’s Home Missionary Society, with Mrs. Sam Smith being elected President and serving for 15 years. 


A new church was constructed on Nevada Avenue in 1902, the Society contributing to a great extent to this building by raising funds, they spending their time and energies having suppers and socials. 


The guidelines of the Conference Society were changed in 1911; the name of Home Society was changed to Home and Foreign Missionary Society. 


The church building burned on Palm Sunday, March 16, 1913. Mrs. Smith called a meeting and plans were discussed concerning the rebuilding of the church. Consequently, the Society raised enough funds to pay for the windows and carpet for the new church building, which was constructed on Central Avenue. 


On Good Friday, April 10, 1914, a meeting was held in the home of Mrs. Smith to discuss plans for paying for the upkeep on the parsonage. The plan was to hold a meeting on each Good Friday with a free will offering going toward the parsonage upkeep. This setting became a permanent event of the Society, even after Mrs. Smith’s death. 


In 1940 the Society was changed to the Woman’s Society of Christian Service, with the following having served as President. Mrs. Sam Smith, Mrs. Walter Brown, Mrs. C.S. Jacobs, Mrs. T.E. Satterfield, Mrs. R.L. Sharp, Mrs. L.I. Mauny, Mrs. Robert Sharp, and Mrs. E.C. Sharp.
EARLY INDIAN LIFESTYLE

This week we shall go back in time and examine, to some extent, the life styles of the Native American. His place in the Americas should not be forgotten. His food source, lifestyles and
habits are somewhat forerunners of our country 's culture. 

Life in the Forest.


The Indians felled trees before the introduction of the iron tomahawk by fire. They built a fire against the trunk of a standing tree and kept it burning until the tree fell. This method was found still in use among the older men and those who did not own a hatchet. Trees were felled both for firewood and for canoes. The canoes had formerly been hollowed out of a whole tree trunk by burning. 



Wood for fuel and for other purposes was burned into pieces of such length as to be easily carried home. They used much wood for fuel and wished their food well cooked. When they have lived long in one place, it at last becomes troublesome to secure wood for fuel because all the wood  in the neighborhood had been used. This causes them to leave the place and plan a new village for the sake of the wood and other conveniences.

Hunting.


The bow and arrow had fallen into disuse with the tribes which traded with the whites and were used only for small game, such as the pigeon, fox and raccoon, in order to save powder. There were still, however, whole tribes to the west and northwest that used nothing but the bow and arrow and had no desire to obtain European weapons; boys, however, were trained to shoot with the bow. The first deer a boy shot proved an occasion of great importance.


The best time for hunting was in the fall when the game was fat and the hides in good condition. In September and October the men went hunting with their families, remaining away until the new year or later. After new year, they devoted themselves to catching the beaver, the raccoon,   the fox ,and other fur-bearing animals. The Indians had already learned from the whites how to use the steel trap, and the beaver which had been numerous were becoming scarce. Their skins were of considerable value. They also hunted the bear. The winter hunt lasted until spring. 


Deer were most hunted  among the larger game, there being considerable trade in skins, a buckskin being worth  about a dollar. The deer was killed mostly for their hides, only so much of the meat as the hunters could consume while on the chase was consumed by them. Most of the meat was left in the woods for the wild animals; the wolves especially followed the hunters, moving in the direction of the shooting.


The white man's firearms were already in general use. Some  Indians used no other than rifle barreled guns, but farther north muskets were more common. The Delawares in Ohio had acquired some skill in repairing their gun when out of order and had learned even to furnish them with stocks. How many deer could an Indian hunter kill with his gun? One source says: "As an Indian shoots from 50 to 150 deer each fall, it can easily be seen that game must decrease."

Game, Large and Small.


Occasionally an elk would be shot in the region as this lent to good meat. The buffalo is described as being numerous in quantity, numbering in the hundreds.


 Of the smaller animals were  three kinds of squirrels, not including the ground-squirrel, viz: the black, the grey and the red. The black were most commonly found, the grey being the largest, and the red the smallest in size. Their flesh proved  tender, and was eaten by the Indians in case of sickness, or when they were very hungry for meat.


Of the many different kinds of larger birds, the largest was the crane, supposed to be the sand-hill crane. When it is standing on its long legs and stretching its neck upwards, it was as tall as a man and its body proportionately heavy. When shot and only wounded it attacks its pursuer. The fall wild turkeys might be seen in flocks numbering hundreds. The Indians hunted their eggs and were quite fond of them.


Crows did much damage, especially in the Indians' cornfields, both when the corn was planted and when it was ripening.


The smallest bird in the region was the honey bird, (the hummingbird) which without perching on the flowers sucks the honey out of them.


It is known that the Indians in different parts of North America had, when first seen by the whites, dogs which seem to have been their only domesticated animal. These dogs were used in the chase and sometimes killed for food. The origin of this breed is unknown, the same as that of the domesticated dog in every part of the world. Our source says:


"Dogs they likewise possessed in former days of a kind still to be found in considerable numbers among them. These may readily be distinguished from European dogs, which are now most commonly found among the Indians. The ears of Indian dogs rise rigidly from the head and the animals have something of a wolfish nature, for they show their teeth immediately when roused. They will never attack a wolf, though set on to do so, in this respect also differing from European dogs. Of their origin their masters can give as little information as that of the Indians themselves."


In another place at their war feasts they would sometimes kill a couple of dogs, not because dog's flesh was a delicacy, for the Indian dogs were very lean, but because it was thought  to  inspire them with the spirit of war and murder. Women at these feasts would eat dog's flesh with a level of greediness

DROVING DAYS

 
I have at another time touched on the subject of the  drovers and their adventures, but with more information at hand, I will continue on the subject.


Driving cattle and hogs to market in early Tennessee was a rather common sight. Driving the two together was considered more feasible in most cases, since the cost of feeding was lessened as the hogs ate the corn that the cattle wasted along the way.


During the summer and autumn months, so many drovers traversed the Tennessee roads that one could identify the great herds simply by the sight of dust clouds arising from their many hoofs; they could be seen for a mile or more away. 


The ungraveled roads became almost impassible in the winter and early spring. Cattle, like soldiers, walk abreast putting their feet in the tracks of those in front. Huge trenches across the road would be formed, and when dried great ruts were cast known as "cattle billows." 


To drive a herd of cattle, a crew consisted of a drover who rode horseback at the head of the herd and the helpers who came on foot at the rear. The phrase "Sook! Sook! Sook," must have been heard by the multitudes.


Essentials for the drover and his helpers were carried in his saddlebags. These consisted of a change of linen, and in his saddle pad was found a roll of extra garments for use of the crew in stormy weather. A blacksnake whip was the drover's primary weapon, an implement he made with much skill. Its giant cracking sound resembled that of a revolver.


Picking up straggling animals was the function of a wagon which was sometimes used. 


While stopping the herd in some shady spot to rest, the drover would promptly ride ahead to make arrangements for pasture and shelter for the night. Rather than riding, sometimes the drover walked at the head of the drove with a rope tied around the horns of the lead ox. A strap bearing a bell was thus fastened around the neck, the animal being called "the bell weather."


Following the leader was an instinctive trait. Often when a river was to be crossed by toll bridge or ferry, only the lead ox, or perhaps some other independent minded animal, was taken over because of the toll or ferriage being too high in cost. The rest of the drove would spontaneously plunge in and swim across.


Tolls were so unreasonably high that it was no wonder the drover took these chances. The risks were high, but his expertise in the art of droving virtually eliminated any loss of his herd.


Toll rates on geese were minimized compared to turkeys as they were not as hard on the road. Their webbed feet, moreover, could not stand long journeys, so they were driven at night into a pen covered with tar. The black substance ultimately provided a shoe-like surface to their feet and helped in the long marches.


While passing through a village, incidents sometimes  occurred that would startle the herd, such as a dog rushing amongst it and breaking the line. The drover, thoroughly upset, would start hollerin' and hoopin', and pretty soon the whole village was standing by watching the fracas. Aided by the village boys, the herd would at last be brought back into line.

cattle. 


Cattle and horses alike often became lame on long marches. A blacksmith shop was always located close to the drovers inn for convenience. The shop was usually furnished with machinery intended to lift the animals off their feet so they could be shod and finish their journey.


All crossroads had an inn and a yard lot attached. Drovers, for obvious reasons, avoided towns and cities. There are still possibly old taverns in the outlying areas even today that survived the reign of time.


All professional drovers, who were successful in their venture, were considered a shrewd buyer as well a seller. A story goes that one drover had signed a written contract to deliver a herd of from one to five-hundred good fat hogs of not less than two-hundred weight by a certain date. Before the big day arrived, the price of hogs had risen so high that the drover could not purchase them to fulfill the contract without a great loss to himself. 


On the appointed day, he appeared at the door of the buyer with a dray upon which was found a large fat hog. The marketer, apparently unobservant of the circumstances, was ecstatic. His dream of a rich turnover made his heart flutter. 


Quickly viewing the one item, he demanded, "Where are my hogs?"  "There! On the dray," answered the drover, "is the pork which according to the contract was to be from one to five-hundred. I find it more convenient to deliver you only one hog today." No jury could have found the drover guilty of any crime.


Hold-ups and robberies of drovers, particularly the ones who were homeward bound with great amounts of money in their pockets, happened many times. Despite this, the drover business grew by leaps and bounds.

TENNESSEE AND KENTUCKY BOUNDARY LINE


Tennessee and Kentucky were in dispute over the northern boundary line for many years. The parallel of latitude of 36 degrees and 30 minutes north was made an extension of the boundary line between the colonies of Virginia and North Carolina, and on that parallel this projected line was the line dividing Kentucky from Tennessee. 


The legislature of Virginia, in 1779, named Dr. Thomas Walker and Daniel Smith on the part of the State, and North Carolina named Col. Richard Henderson and William Bailey Smith as members of a joint commission to run an extension of this line into the West where it had never been run between those States. The territories of Kentucky and Tennessee were included in those parts. 


The committee members of the two states differed in their individual opinions and they divided. The commissioners of Virginia then declared independence on the proposed line and ran what was known to be Walker’s line to the Tennessee River. Not allowing for the variation of the needle, they averted toward the north, and as a result the Tennessee River was reached about 17 miles north of the true latitude line. 


Finding that the surveyors had made a mistake, Kentucky, in the opening years of the 19th Century, sought a correction of the line and tried to reclaim the long, narrow strip held by Tennessee under the Walker survey. West of the Tennessee River the line had not been run and Kentucky was less embarrassed. 


Kentucky refused to accept the line run by Walker. Tennessee enacted through the legislature in 1803, 1815 and 1817 and urged Kentucky to accept this. Kentucky did exhibit a somewhat reasonable compromise in 1816 by adopting the Walker line, only if a true line between the Tennessee and the Mississippi Rivers could be jointly approved. Tennessee's time limit to respond was one year. The Tennessee legislature failed to comply in 1817, but proposed that a mutual commission compliantly proceed on the Walker survey. 


Kentucky was irritated to the point of vigorously stating, the following year, that the “true” line of 36 degrees 30 minutes was her south boundary. She sent her commissioners, in 1819, Alexander and Munsell, to locate and mark that line. Tennessee was vehemently alarmed at losing the original property. The newly surveyed line would put Clarksville in Kentucky. 


Tennessee, now greatly disturbed at losing some valuable land, became more concerned with the facts. The Tennessee legislature, in 1819, stated in general terms that until adjustments be made she would not permit any locations of entries be made north of the line run during the present year by commissioners of Kentucky (Alexander and Munsell) west of the Tennessee River. Gov. McKinn stated that: “If the line recently run by the State of Kentucky between the rivers Tennessee and Mississippi should be in the true latitude, it must and ought in justice to stand.” This effort was made to hold the much larger strip east of the Tennessee River. 


The legislature named two of Tennessee's ablest lawyers, Felix Grundy, who had been chief justice of Kentucky and later represented Tennessee in the United States Senate and in the Cabinet, and Wm. L. Brown, who was later a supreme judge of the State. 


Kentucky named John J. Crittenden, later Senator and cabinet member, and Robert Trimble, who had served on the bench of the Court of Appeals and was later a justice of the Supreme Court of the United States. These two Commonwealths had sent the foremost-qualified men in the history of the country to settle the treaty.


On February 4, 1820, the two sides compromised which gave Kentucky the true latitude line as the north boundary of West Tennessee, and to Tennessee the old Virginia line of the Walker and Smith east of the Tennessee River. 


Significant parts of the boundary remained uncertain until a resurvey was completed in 1859.

EARLY STATIONS OR FORTS


 Various ways were used in the construction of a blockhouse. The stockades were built with posts or logs solidly set in the ground and sometimes sharpened at the top, and arranged so as to enclose a region. The stronger blockhouses were generally built conforming to each angle, and the lines between them filled with stockades or with cabins, one connecting the other, thus completing an enclosure. The heavier built fortifications were constructed of heavy hewn timbers and were sometimes of two or even three stories. The smaller stations were built to accommodate fewer families and had a single blockhouse with cabins close-by, and sometimes were without pickets. 


The secluded blockhouses  were typically crude buildings made with nothing but the common ax. The materials consisted of straight round logs, notched at the ends and hewed on the upper and lower edges to lie close together. 


One identifiable characteristic of the blockhouse was that the upper part of the structure above the height of a man's shoulder was extended outward for about a foot or two over the lower part. Re ason for this was that rifles could be thrust into the openings and defense of the blockhouse/station could be stabilized. 


One historian  describes life in the stations. He says:


"Each party erected a strong block-house, near to which their cabins were put up, and the whole was inclosed by strong log pickets. This being done, they commenced clearing their lands and preparing for planting their crops. During the day, while they were at work, one person was placed as a sentinel to warn them of approaching danger. At sunset, they retired to the block-house and their cabins, taking everything of value within the pickets. In this manner they proceeded from day to day and week to week, til their improvements were sufficiently extensive to support their families. During this time, they depended for subsistence on wild game, obtained at some hazard, more than on the scanty supplies they were able to procure from the settlements on the river.


"In a short time, these stations gave protection and food to a large number of destitute families. After they were established, the Indians became less annoying to the settlements , as part of their time was employed in watching the stations. The former, however, did not escape, but endured their share of the fruits of savage hostility. In fact, no place or situation was exempt from danger. The safety of the pioneer depended on his means of defense, and on perpetual vigilance.  


"The Indians viewed those stations with great jealousy, as they had the appearance of permanent military establishments, intended to retain possession of their country. In that view they were correct: and it was unfortunate for the settlers that the Indians wanted either the skill or the means of demolishing them."

THE BACKWOODS RIFLE


The backwoods rifle was a product of the American frontier. Formally known as the "Pennsylvania-Kentucky" rifle, this long barreled innovation became a standby throughout the Appalachians. Precise workmanship was called upon, thus  it was made of the softest iron available. The inside of the barrel, or the bore, was carefully "rifled" with spiraling grooves. This gradual twist made the bullet fly harder and aim straighter toward its target. The butt of the weapon was crescent-shaped to keep the gun from slipping. All shiny or highly visible metal was blackened; some times a frontiersman would rub his gun barrel with a dulling stain or crushed leaf.


The trademark of the "long rifle" was just that - its length. The weapon weighed over 5.5. pounds and measured more than four feet. The barrel of the gun could be unbalancing, yet this drawback seemed minor compared to the superior accuracy of the new gun. The heavy barrel could take a much heavier powder charge than the lighter barrels, and this in turn could drive the bullet faster, lower the trajectory, make the ball strike harder, and cause it to flatten out more on impact.


Functions of the  Pennsylvania-Kentucky rifle were to gather food and, more exact, a simple companion for thousands of husbands and fathers. It would be found in the pioneer's cabin cradled on a rack of whittled wooden pegs, or on a buck's antlers suspended over the door, or along  the wall or above the fire-board, as the mantel was then called. Wherever it was suspended,  it would be within easy reach.


Equipped with a weapon such as this, pioneer Tennesseans pushed back the frontier. The  vast land of Tennessee gradually submitted to the probing and settling of the white man. 

ONE MAN’S EXPERIENCE IN A COAL MINE


Ozias (Zie) Muse has recorded his experience of being lost in a coal mine. He has written several of his personal historical accounts, one of which I shall use this week. He has authored a booklet entitled “The Truth shall Make You Free,” found at the Campbell County Historical Society in LaFollette. After reviewing this fine work I decided to use, with his permission, his account entitled “Lost in an Abandoned Coal Mine.” Since I can’t possibly improve upon his writing, I will simply transcribe it in his own words. (Some editing was done.)  He writes:


“Most everyone has heard the song I once was lost in sin. But being lost in sin no where near compares with being lost in an old Coal Mine which was worked out and abandoned for 22 years in the year of 1964. I experienced this ordeal. I, with some neighbors, was opening a small mine. Entry was close by the old mine entry, and after working back about 100 feet, we cut into the abandoned works. One day I decided I would crawl into the old works and see if there was enough coal left to continue the new entry we started.


“I crawled through a hole about 24 inches wide and crawled down an entry about 400 feet, then turned left and crawled about 600 feet. I then decided I would go back to the outside, but each entry I passed looked the same with each one. Having occasional roof falls, I then began to panic. I knew I was lost. But I had to hold myself as steady as possible. What really frightened me was that I know those miner lamps would hold out only 12 hours. 


“I would holler for the boys outside, then I would pray for a while asking God to show me the way out. I hollered till I was hoarse, and crawled until my knees were swollen and felt like boils. I knew not which way to turn. Each place I went into looked like the one I came out of. My heart was in my throat pounding away like some one beating my chest with a heavy hammer. 


“I was becoming weak and tired. I would set down on a fallen rock and try to rest, but there was no rest for me. I knew I must keep crawling. I would holler for Elmer, who was one of the boys outside, but received no answer. Then I would pray for a while, then begin crawling, this procedure continued less than 7 hours. But to me it seemed to be an eternity. 


“I was not particularly religious at the time; I had been affiliated with two different religions, baptized by each of them. But when I would set down to rest and pray, the following scriptures would come into my mind. Isaiah 26:9, II Tim. 1:8-10. Those scriptures did give me a certain amount of confidence, but could in no sense relieve my fast pounding heart.


“Although I did not necessarily fear going to hell or anything of that nature, I simply did not want to die of all places in a worked out coal mine. 


“The tire tracks from the equipment used in the old mine well over 20 years ago was still plain. I followed those tracks up to a large roof fall which had the entry blocked. I then turned right and crawled about 300 feet. My lamp was going dim. I panicked again. I stopped and prayed for a couple of minutes, I bowed my head with tear filled eyes and said, dear God, you created me, now will you please help me get out of here alive. 


“I was now at a cross entry. I could see four directions which all looked practically the same. I had a sudden urge to crawl the left-hand entry after about 200 feet. I felt some air circulation, which gave me much better hopes. I well knew if I fell asleep from carbon monoxide, or lack of oxygen, I would die in this darkened tomb.


“I crawled several hundred feet climbing over one roof fall after another. I had now passed the point where the air circulation was coming from. I rested and prayed again, my lamp be almost gone out. My last and final hope was to crawl slowly up the right side of the entry and try to find the air circulation again. 


“Although it was cold in this place, the sweat was popping out all over me. But I continued crawling and feeling my way. I had become so weak and nervous with a pounding heart up in my throat, and chilling all over with cold. My last hopes had almost expired. I was becoming short winded with each breath harder to breathe. 


“I panicked again and was just about ready to lie down for my last time. I prayed for what I thought would be my last time, asking God to please answer my last prayer. The thought struck like someone was telling me to turn around and crawl back the way you came. 


“I turned on my sore knees and slowly crawled, feeling my way up the left sides of the entry and finally came to the air circulation. I crawled directly the way the air was coming from and found the small hole I had crawled through. I could hear the boys working on the new entry, but of the many prayers I had prayed during this traumatic ordeal, I did not include a long line of false promises to God, if He would get me out alive. As a matter of fact, I did not make Him any promises at all. I felt like the thief who was being hanged beside Jesus for his lengthy array of crimes. I only asked that He be merciful to me and help me get out alive, or the man who smote himself on the breast and related to Jesus, be merciful to me a sinner. I knew there was no reason to make such promises never to keep them.


“But when I stuck my head out through the small hole and heard the boys working, I knew God had heard my prayers and I rejoiced till I cried, thanking God for hearing my plea for life. After getting my eyes dried, I slowly walked out where the boys were working. I related to them that I had been lost. They were tamping their dynamite shots getting ready to leave for home; they knew I was over due to be back out. 


“But that they were going to crawl in looking before lighting, knowing the dynamite smoke would finish me up, but they wondered what I had been doing all day.


“After relaxing and drawing a few long breaths of cold fresh air, I explained to the boys what had happened. I then related that I once was lost but now I’m found, was blind but now I see. 


“This, however, was not the only close call I have had in old abandoned mine works. Back in 1956, I went into an old mine entry looking for iron rails. I was wearing a carbide lamp on my head. I walked about 400 feet and turned right into a cross entry and walked about 600 feet. I began getting short winded and my lamp was going out. I knew that I must turn and try to get back outside. I had heard that ‘black damp,’ as it was called in those days, would put you to sleep. I was going blind and my lamp was practically out; feeling my way along the entry, wading through water, and climbing over roof walls. 


“But I was practically exhausted when I reached the main entry where I could see the precious daylight. I set down and rested for a while before rushing into the fresh air. But I could feel the life slipping away from me. From that day forward I was very cautious about venturing into a worked out and abandoned coal mine.”

EARLY TIMES IN CAMPBELL COUNTY


George L. Ridenour was an early writer of Campbell County history, his works being prolific in their scope. This week we shall take from these writings and perhaps discover some incidentals that helped develop the county. 


Ridenour recorded that in Indian times the valley of Elk Fork and Elk Valley were abundant in elk population, it being the largest assemblage of elk in the Southern Appalachian Mountains. Trails in a valley between Pine and Walnut Mountain contained many deer runs, and from the rock shelters the Indians were very protective of the deer and elk. 


Ridenour writes that pioneer white hunters detested the mountain lion for the vicious slaughter of the big game. This brutal animal was called by the white man by many names such as puma, cougar and catamount. But the early settlers of the eastern mountains called this beast the ‘panther.’ Some hunters could imitate the terrifying scream of this predator. 


Horse Creek is named for a panther that killed an early settler’s valuable horse on the banks of this stream. This creek has been recorded as the kill of the largest panther in this vicinity. One who wears the cap of a black panther he has killed was supposed to be free from other attacks from the fierce animal. 


I recorded at another time the naming of Stinking Creek, but at this time I shall embark upon Ridenour’s actual description. He writes:


“The winter of 1779-1780 was known as a cold winter. Snow began in late October. Intense cold followed for weeks. Streams froze over. Animals that had drifted to the cane breaks and timber perished n the bitter cold. When spring and summer came in the beautiful valley of cane and meadow, all the animals had perished from the cold. It was an animal charnel house. For months Indian and white hunters alike avoided the place by reason of the carrion stench. Turkey buzzards and animal scavengers that had dens in the cliffs gorged on the putrid flesh of the dead animals. From that time until the present the name of the creek and the beautiful valley has remained Stinking Creek.”


The first white man to visit Stinking Creek valley was John Tackett, who grew up on the Pennsylvania and Virginia borders. He had a trading post on the present nearby Tackett’s Creek. According to early tradition, he often visited the Indians in this section, and was sometimes present at the Cherokee Council House on the present site of Cove Lake State Park. 


Soon after Henderson and Company’s purchase of the land at Sycamore shoals on the Watauga River in 1775, a gentleman by the name of John Brient constructed a cabin near the head of Stinking Creek, where he resided for many years. He was a ‘Bryan’ from North Carolina, but the name was spelled and articulated as ‘Brient.’ He was a distant relative of the wife of Daniel Boone, who was a Bryan. Tradition says that John Brient accompanied Boone in the exploration of the Kentucky country. It is also recorded that Boone first told him of the valley, which the Cherokees called the locality of the Big Bats.


John Brient’s wife, Lettice, died in the early 1800’s at his cabin which was erected on the land later known as the James Owens place below the head of Stinking Creek. His twin sons traveled to southwest Missouri, and after the death of their mother, John Brient united with his sons in the Missouri Boone country.


Indian raids were prevalent in Powell’s Valley during the period of the first settlements. Henderson Johnson and Joseph Crabb, Sr., from nearby Beans Station, traveled to this beautiful valley to do some hunting. Several days after they left, their dogs returned which conceived some belief among the settlers that the Indians had killed the couple. 


A Company of 25 men, led by Captain Blair, was raised to find the missing hunters. The remains of the two hunters were found near the Kentucky Trace beyond where Jacksboro is now located. The Indians had murdered the two men and thrown their bodies onto a large, burning log heap. Only a trace of their bodies was found. 


Captain Blair and his men, in pursuit of the murderers, followed the trail of the Indians and found their campsite by a stream below the steep rugged mountain now known as Hell’s Point. As chance would have it, the Indian dogs barked all night. 


As daylight first became evident, an Indian from the camp appeared and moved directly to where Joseph Robertson was hunkered down behind a log. As the Indian crept over the log toward our subject, Robertson killed him with a tomahawk. Due to this disturbance, Blair’s men attacked the camp and killed four more Indians. Quickly the remaining Indians fled through the dense undergrowth, and just as quickly, Blair’s men set fire to a big log heap.


The bodies of the five dead Indians were cremated in retaliation for the burning of the bodies of the two white hunters. 


Blair’s group recovered Johnson and Crabbs’ horses, and also the Indians’ ponies. Blair’s men then packed as many skins as the horses could carry and returned home.

THE LONGHUNTERS


I am so intrigued with the longhunters that at this time I will compile a story concerning them. I have before mentioned them in articles, but at this time I will go into some detail regarding them.


One might say that the longhunters were the first authentic genuine American Frontiersmen to pass beyond the Blue Ridge Mountains. The majority of longhunters were simple, plain, poor men in search of relief from debt, land, and a way to feed their families. Civilizing the west, as the area of Tennessee was called in early colonial times, was not their goal. They just yearned to make money by hunting and selling their deer skins and furs. A longhunter, ruling out any misfortune, could earn more than $1000 a year, quite a sum for the day.


Among the early longhunters in Campbell County were Curtis Alderson, John Alderson, Joseph Carroll, Obediah Garwood, John Herd, Walter Kelley, Archibald Taylor, Phillip Cooper, John Strutler and Uriah Stone. Some historians claim that Daniel and Squire Boone made at least one hunting trip into Campbell County. 


Shortly after the French and Indian War, in the middle 1700’s, the land west of the Appalachian mountains was open for hunting and settling. The adventurers involved were comprised mainly of the English, Irish and German immigrants. They lived on the edge of Indian country and were the ones who had the skills of traveling into the wilderness and survive. Virginia, Pennsylvania and North Carolina were the primary states to send the longhunters into the backwoods.


The long hunt would start just after the fall harvest and could possibly last as long as a year, or until the hunters returned with there hides and furs. 


The Middle Tennessee region was set up as a ‘station camp’ by the longhunters, reasoning being that the main supply area was located here. This region was centralized for the benefit of the longhunters simply so they could prepare their hides and furs, and spend time relaxing before they would go back for the hunt. A head count would find as many as 30 men in a hunting party, each pairing up to hunt in all directions from the station camp.


And now for the adventuresome side of the longhunters. The following is condensed from Ramsey’s “Annals of Tennessee.”


On June 2, 1769, a large company of longhunters was created for the purpose of hunting and exploring in what is now Middle Tennessee. Certainly this area, as well as all of Tennessee, was discovered and settled by these adventurers who became the first explorers. 


The company consisted of more than twenty men, some from North Carolina, others from the area of Natural Bridge (Rockbridge County, Va.), and several from the newly formed settlement near Inglis’ Ferry in Virginia. The place of gathering was below Fort Chisel on New River. The names of some of these men are: John Rains, Kasper Mansker, Abraham Bledsoe, John Baker, Joseph Drake, Obadiah Terrill, Uriah Stone, Henry Smith, Ned Cowan, and Robert Crockett.  


They traveled by the head of the Holston, crossing the North Fork, and on to Clinch and Powell’s Rivers. They then passed through Cumberland Gap and discovered the southern part of Kentucky. Here they set up camp at a place since called Price’s Meadow, located in present Wayne County. At this point they agreed to deposit their game and skins. 


The hunters were separated to a degree, the whole company still traveling to the southwest. They arrived at Roaring River and the Cany Fork at a point far above the mouth, somewhere near the foot of the mountain. 


Robert Crockett was killed near the headwaters of Roaring River when returning to camp. About seven or eight Indians were traveling to the north, where in ambush, firing upon and killing him. Crockett’s body was discovered on the war track leading from the Cherokee Nation towards the Shawnee tribe. 


The immediate country was covered with high grass with no traces of human settlement to be seen. The surroundings also included dry caves and creek banks where stones were set up that covered large numbers of human bones. 


The hunt continued for eight or nine months, when part of them returned in April 1770. 


Findlay and Boone, along with the explorers, returned to the banks of the Yadkin where they related their many stories to the settlement. Their friends and neighbors were captivated by the glowing description of the land beyond. The pioneer folks, with their imaginations abounding, were enthused with the visions of the fertile valleys beyond the mountains. The Atlantic country, in which they lived, with its hills and rocky uplands, seemed a great distance from their mental picture of the newly discovered lands. 


With the news of the newly found land, the settlements of New River, Holston, and Clinch launched a company of about forty strapping hunters for the purpose of hunting and trapping west of the Cumberland Mountains. They, without delay, set out equipped with their rifles, traps, dogs, and blankets. Their traveling apparel included their hunting shirts, leggins, and moccasins. 


Hastily, they commenced their grueling enterprise in the real spirit of adventure through the rough forest and rugged hills. The expedition was led by Col. James Knox, the names of the adventurers being unknown. 


The Colonel and nine others penetrated to the lower Cumberland, there making an extensive and irregular search, thus adding much to their knowledge of the country. After a long absence, the party returned home. These hearty souls were known as “The Longhunters.”

EARLY STATIONS OR FORTS


 Various ways were used in the construction of a blockhouse. The stockades were built with posts or logs solidly set in the ground and sometimes sharpened at the top, and arranged so as to enclose a region. The stronger blockhouses were generally built conforming to each angle, and the lines between them filled with stockades or with cabins, one connecting the other, thus completing an enclosure. The heavier built fortifications were constructed of heavy hewn timbers and were sometimes of two or even three stories. The smaller stations were built to accommodate fewer families and had a single blockhouse with cabins close-by, and sometimes were without pickets. 


The secluded blockhouses  were typically crude buildings made with nothing but the common ax. The materials consisted of straight round logs, notched at the ends and hewed on the upper and lower edges to lie close together. 


One identifiable characteristic of the blockhouse was that the upper part of the structure above the height of a man's shoulder was extended outward for about a foot or two over the lower part. Reason for this was that rifles could be thrust into the openings and defense of the blockhouse/station could be stabilized. 


One historian  describes life in the stations. He says:


"Each party erected a strong block-house, near to which their cabins were put up, and the whole was inclosed by strong log pickets. This being done, they commenced clearing their lands and preparing for planting their crops. During the day, while they were at work, one person was placed as a sentinel to warn them of approaching danger. At sunset, they retired to the block-house and their cabins, taking everything of value within the pickets. In this manner they proceeded from day to day and week to week, til their improvements were sufficiently extensive to support their families. During this time, they depended for subsistence on wild game, obtained at some hazard, more than on the scanty supplies they were able to procure from the settlements on the river.


"In a short time, these stations gave protection and food to a large number of destitute families. After they were established, the Indians became less annoying to the settlements , as part of their time was employed in watching the stations. The former, however, did not escape, but endured their share of the fruits of savage hostility. In fact, no place or situation was exempt from danger. The safety of the pioneer depended on his means of defense, and on perpetual vigilance.  


"The Indians viewed those stations with great jealousy, as they had the appearance of permanent military establishments, intended to retain possession of their country. In that view they were correct: and it was unfortunate for the settlers that the Indians wanted either the skill or the means of demolishing them."

THE BACKWOODS RIFLE


The backwoods rifle was a product of the American frontier. Formally known as the "Pennsylvania-Kentucky" rifle, this long barreled innovation became a standby throughout the Appalachians. Precise workmanship was called upon, thus  it was made of the softest iron available. The inside of the barrel, or the bore, was carefully "rifled" with spiraling grooves. This gradual twist made the bullet fly harder and aim straighter toward its target. The butt of the weapon was crescent-shaped to keep the gun from slipping. All shiny or highly visible metal was blackened; some times a frontiersman would rub his gun barrel with a dulling stain or crushed leaf.


The trademark of the "long rifle" was just that - its length. The weapon weighed over 5.5. pounds.Equipped with a weapon such as this, pioneer Tennesseans pushed back the frontier. The  vast land of Tennessee gradually submitted to the probing and settling of the white man. 

 
The barrel of the gun could be unbalancing, yet this drawback seemed minor compared to the superior accuracy of the new gun. The heavy barrel could take a much heavier powder charge than the lighter barrels, and this in turn could drive the bullet faster, lower the trajectory, make the ball strike harder, and cause it to flatten out more on impact.


Functions of the  Pennsylvania-Kentucky rifle were to gather food and, more exact, a simple companion for thousands of husbands and fathers. It would be found in the pioneer's cabin cradled on a rack of whittled wooden pegs, or on a buck's antlers suspended over the door, or along  the wall or above the fire-board, as the mantel was 

THE EARLY CANAL SYSTEM


The canal laborers were men who came from near and far. The many foreigners that worked on the canals were mostly from Germany and Ireland. During the first few years laborers were paid thirty cents a day with plain board and were lodged in a shanty.  During the first four months they also received in addition to board a "jiggerful of whiskey."


The canal boats were in the general range of 78 feet long, 14 feet 10 inches wide and the cost would generally range in the $2,000 figure. 


The packet boats were the exception to the canal travel. This particular boat was a haven to travel. It accommodated the statesmen, financiers, and in general the wealthy seekers of pleasure. These pleasure boats consisted of a "diner, sleeper, smoker, parlor car, baggage and mail coach" all in one enterprise.


From one to four mules were used to pull the canal boat. This was the only method that could be used because machinery (see electric mule in later section) in this particular era was practically nonexistant. A stronger current flowed in the southward direction so therefore more mules were used to pull the boat in the northerly direction. Housing of the extra mules in the southerly  direction was on the canal boat. 


Along side of the canal was a dirt towpath, with a slight  elevation from four to ten feet wide. A path of this type was used for the mules or horses to travel on. These animals were fastened to the boats by towlines which were seventy to ninety yards in length. The poles used to maneuver or simply "unstick" the boats were of an irontipped sort. The meeting of two boats along the towpath took drivers of great skill to actually allow for the passing of these two craft. When the two boats met, the team of the down-stream boat stepped to the outside of the towpath and stopped, letting the towline lie on the ground and sink into the water. Meanwhile, the boat steered to the opposite side of the canal, away from the towpath. The upstream boat and team passed between the other boat and its team, the mules stepping over the other's towline, and the boat passing over the line in the water. A similar procedure took place when one boat passed another going in the same direction, as packets did the slower freight boats. 


The towpath, being only on one side of the canal, frequently changed sides in which a bridge was necessitated. The mule consequently had to change from one side to the other. The mules would go under the bridge, and with the greatest promptness, cross over the bridge with the boat slowly moving. The change of this sort had to be made with complete accuracy or the mule was abruptly yanked into the canal.


Life on the canal boat was a mere adventure in itself. The crew generally consisted of from two to six men and very possibly included one woman. The staff of the freight and line boats comprised of: a driver, or mule manipulator; a steersman who guided the boat; most certainly the captain who was  possibly the owner; a cook, generally a woman who did "boat domestic work." A handy man, called a bowsman, was generally employed in the more prosperous boats.


The captain's stature was one of  "truly American" distinction. He was set up as a hero type in the transportation of the early canals. He was always the master of his "ship." His leadership quality was one to be respected by all concerned, especially the crew. 


The captain sometimes chose his crew with respect to their fighting ability. More than once quarrels or squabbles led to fights between the crews of two different boats. Sometimes boats were pulled over and brawls included the use of fists, clubs and stones; tow lines were cut and many men found out the condition of the water. 


Morals were low pertaining to the boat employees. The canal boat operators were  apparently a very unbecoming type of ruffian. Gambling, swearing and drinking was a way of dealing with the boredom of many days and months on the boats. Their wages were soon misused and lost due to their counterparts and debts mounted. Heavy drinking was due to the fact that whiskey was almost as cheap as water. A "fip" of whiskey could be bought for 6 1/4 cents the half pint. Whiskey could be bought by the half gallon in the 1820's for twenty-five cents. 


Of course wages play an important part in the life of the canal personnel. Before 1860, bowsmen and steersmen were comfortable with their wages of twenty dollars a month. The drivers generally received from eight to twelve dollars per month; the cook from five to ten dollars per month.  This wage included his lodging and board also. After the Civil War, wages rose sharply with a driver receiving twenty dollars per month, the steersmen thirty-five dollars per month and the captain fifty to sixty dollars per month. 


The social life of the canal crew rested on the fact that they made their stops at the canal houses, locks, taverns and mule/horse stations. These stops allowed the crew to fraternize or engage in the immediate attention of the locals. Fighting, drinking, wrestling, foot-racing, smoking and a general all-out release of tension was enjoyed by all. 


The canal boats were not the only boats on the canal. People who localized along the canal had their own sort of craft, especially farmers. Winter time created great excitement because of the frozen conditions of the canal with ice skating being very popular. Frequently their craft was used to make a living. 


The shanty boat people used the canal as a living place. They would tie up at one place for a day or perhaps for a year, and would eventually move on to another location. These people raised their families in this fashion, the decks being the playground for the children.  Some even stopped and raised gardens. 


A type of floating saloon or entertainment boat was also a part of the canal.


Ice ponds were found virtually all along the canal system. These ponds were used for the making of ice which was used practically all year round.     


Gentle slopes were built around a low place to the side of the canal. Water from the canal was funneled to these low areas which in turn would make man-made lakes. 


With the freezing of the lakes in the winter months a method for cutting the ice was developed. First the ice was marked by hitching a horse to an ice-marking device. This device made long lines parallel to one another.  A hole was cut into the ice and a saw was used to cut along the already marked lines. Small cakes of ice were then cut measuring about two by three feet with a minimum thickness of ten inches. 


A narrow opening was cut in the ice to allow the ice to be transferred from the pond/lake to the always present ice house which was near by.  The ice was moved through a channel to a platform in the ice house. The ice was stockpiled for the summer and covered with sawdust, straw, or shavings. The canal not only supplied the ice but it also supplied a means of transportation to a designated area. 

STORIES BY GEORGE L. RIDENOUR


At this time we shall visit some sketches written by the late George L. Ridenour. Ridenour first writes of Anno Mastin who was a neglectful settler on Henderson and Company’s Powell Valley land. He also mentions that Lewis Matsin had gone to the Forks of Elkhorn and entered land farther down in Ennis Bottom with his two brothers-in-law, Hosrea and Jesse Cook, and four other families. They had built their cabins and were left undisturbed by the Indians for over a year. 


However, in April of the third year of the existing community, more than one hundred Indians attacked the settlement at three different positions. The Cook brothers and Mastin were shearing sheep at this time. Their first warning came when they heard the geese in the barnyard carrying on. During the first Indian discharge Mastin and one of the Cooks fell dead. The other Cook, being mortally wounded, got his and his brother’s wife and a Negro child into a cabin where he barred the door and then fell dead. 


The two Cook women had a rifle in the house, but could find no ammunition, however, one of the women found a musket ball and bit it in two. Earlier that morning she had loaded her rifle for the purpose of killing a hawk that was chasing her chickens and failed to reload it. Quickly, taking the piece of musket ball and loading the rifle, she saw an Indian sitting on a stump in the yard. Rushing to the peephole in the door, she took aim and fired. As the rifle bellowed out, the decorated and painted Indian made a sudden leap upward and fell over dead. 


Being infuriated over the incident, the Indians tried to break down the door. Suffering failure in this undertaking, they fired several balls into the sturdy oak puncheon, but the balls would not pierce the thick hewed chunks of wood.


The intruders then climbed onto the roof and set it afire. One of the women quickly put the fire out with water. Again the Indians set the roof on fire. All the water had been used up in the room and so the ladies collected all the eggs in the room. These were broken and used to extinguish the second fire. And again the Indians set the roof on fire, but this time the ladies used the dead husband’s jacket, inundated with blood, to douse out the flames. 


As all this was going on, the Indians were unexpectedly attacked by Lewis Mastin’s four bear dogs. These beasts completely routed the Indians and they left lickety-split. Ennis Bottom Settlement on the Fork of Elkhorn had seen the last Indian. 


Another story written by Mr. Ridenour relates some history of Powell’s River and other known points and their origin. He writes that Powell’s (Powell) River begins in Campbell County above the now extinct Dempson Swanson’s canoe landing and a bar of rocks. Apparently Swanson was one of the lively characters who was feared by the Indians. For reason unknown, he was regarded as the one pioneer who worked magic. In all the close calls he had with the Indians, he was never harmed. 


Just below Swanson’s cabin and canoe landing was a mill at a stream of water within a large cave. Down the river was Becky’s Strait. Ridenour tell the story of Becky Ellington’s services as a midwife, which at this particular time were required across Powell’s River, which was at this time at flood stage. 


After her duties were performed during the night, with mother and baby made comfortable, she was ready to recross the river. Powell’s River was now flooded and violent with driftwood and logs. However, Becky Ellington was considered very capable with a canoe in high waters. 


Her husband and others were at the canoe landing trying to discourage her from crossing, but she persisted. It was considered quite a struggle for a woman to cross under such dangerous conditions. In all, the men of the community began placing bets as to whether she would make it or not. Her husband accumulated all the bets, for he knew his wife and had more faith in her than the neighbors. One of the men who had bet against her began to holler, “Becky’s in a strait (a playing card term)! Becky’s in a strait!” The story goes that Becky made the canoe landing safely, and ever since the name of “Becky’s Strait” was given to the canoe landing. 


“Cat Ham Bend” was named for its likeness to a ‘cat’s ham,’ and was feared by flatboatsmen in high water.


“Buzzard’s Roost” is situated opposite Heatherly’s Point, and was often visited by river men on flatboats that especially valued the buzzard plugs found there. Buzzard plugs were bits of down which had been swallowed by the buzzards and regurgitated.


“Demory Cave” was named for Major Demory, commandant at Fort Louden, and the first British outpost at Tellico west of the Appalachians. Tradition says that British soldiers from Fort Louden used the cave to store maple sugar made in Sugar Hollow. Ridenour writes that during sugar making, the soldiers enjoyed divine services in the cave. It is unknown whether these services were held on Sunday or not, simply because the soldiers had lost count of the days of the week. 


The road leading to Demory Cave was known for many years as the Pussley Road, named for the English purslane planted along it, from Sugar Hollow to Demory. 

A SHORT HISTORY OF TOBACCO


Many Campbell Countians depend on their tobacco (the Latin word for tobacco is tabacum) crops for a partial living. The beautiful leaves of this fine crop are comparable to no other crop. About the middle of August the tobacco fields begin blossoming in all their glory. The writer knew it was a Native American crop, but didn’t know much of its earlier period.  At this time we shall embark upon its history from the time of its discovery. 


Tobacco originated in the Americas about 6,000 B.C. It is the same family as the potato, pepper, and poisonous nightshade, a very deadly plant. A one-ounce vessel contains about 300,000 seeds. 


As early as 1 B.C., American Indians began using tobacco in many different ways, mainly for religious and medicinal purposes. This beautiful leaf, smoked in a pipe, was believed to be an ingredient that was a cure-all, as well as to dress wounds. It was also alleged to be a painkiller: chewing tobacco was believed to relieve the pain of a toothache. 


According to history, On October 15, 1492, Christopher Columbus was offered dried tobacco leaves as a gift from the American Indians he encountered. Columbus and his sailors brought back tobacco leaves and seeds with them on their return trip to Europe. 
However, most Europeans didn’t get their first taste of tobacco until the mid 16th century. Diplomats such as France’s Jean Nicot, for whom nicotine is named, began to popularize its use. Tobacco was introduced in France in 1556, Portugal in 1558, and Spain in 1559. Sir Walter Raleigh brought tobacco to Britain in 1565. 


The sixteenth and seventeenth centuries found tobacco customs spreading throughout South America, the Caribbean, and then to the North American colonies. 


The Aztecs of South America smoked hollow reeds, or cane tubes, stuffed with tobacco leaves. Central and North American natives smoked long thick bundles of leaves, which were wrapped in palm leaves or dried corn-maize husks. 


The Maya civilization of Central America used tobacco, but when their culture was broken up, the scattered tribes carried this product both southwards into South America, and to North America. 


Englishman John Rolfe developed the first successful commercial crop in the American colonies in Virginia in 1612. Within seven years, it was the colony’s largest export. Over the next two centuries, the growth of tobacco as a cash crop fueled the demand in North America for slave labor.


The growing popularity of tobacco in Europe was supposedly used as a healing power. They believed it could cure anything, from cancer to bad breath. A Spanish doctor, in 1571, wrote a book concerning the history of medicinal plants of the New World. In this book he claimed that tobacco could cure 36 different health problems. During the 1600’s, tobacco was so popular that it was commonly used as money. The leafy plant was literally as good as gold.


However, the dangerous effects of tobacco usage were not long in coming. In 1610 Sir Francis Bacon noted that trying to quit the habit was truly hard. In 1632, just twelve years after the Mayflower arrived at Plymouth Rock, it became illegal to smoke publicly in Massachusetts. In this particular case, moral beliefs were the general rule rather than health reasons.  


For many years, tobacco smoking was the fancy of the wealthy. In Spain, cigars were a status symbol for use only by the idle rich. Spanish beggars, through common practice, tended to find discarded cigar butts and roll them into ‘cigarillos,’ or little cigars, thus making the first of its kind cigarettes. At about the same time as the popularity of tobacco in Europe and the Americas, the Spanish Cigarillos were advancing in their own popularity, spreading to Italy and France. The French servicemen, during the Napoleonic wars, ultimately gave them their modern title - cigarettes.


Tobacco was produced primarily for pipe smoking, chewing, and snuff. Snuff was very popular in Europe, where decorated snuffboxes became the chief fashion accessory. This item was given as gifts, or worn as jewelry. 


Cigars didn’t become popular until the early 1800’s. Cigarettes, in their crude form since the early 1600’s, didn’t become over-popular in the United States until after the Civil War, when the spread of “Bright” tobacco, a distinctively cured yellow leaf, was cultivated in Virginia and North Carolina. With the launching of “White Burley” tobacco leaf, and the invention of the first practical cigarette-making machine in the late 1800‘s, cigarette sales soared. By this time, advances in cultivation and processing had reduced the acid content in tobacco, making cigarette smoking somewhat easier on the throat.


Chewing tobacco was in style with the American pioneers, simply because it was seen as a response against the European practices of pipe smoking and snuff-taking. 


King James I of Britain was totally against tobacco smoking. He described it as a stinking, loathsome thing, and tried to limit tobacco imports by raising excise taxes on the product. However, with this opposing move, he created a vast black market. Seeing that he had made a bad judgment concerning this moneymaker, he, within a few years, lowered taxes on tobacco, and, consequently, the British colony of Virginia was encouraged to grow the crop for export.


By the early 20th century, with the growth in cigarette smoking, articles addressing the health effects of smoking began to appear. In 1930, a study was made in Cologne, Germany, regarding the link between smoking and cancer. A short eight years later, Dr. Raymond Pearl of John Hopkins University reported that smokers do not live as long as non-smokers do. And by 1944, the American Cancer Society initiated warnings that encompassed the ill effects of smoking, although admittedly stating that no definite evidence existed linking smoking and lung cancer.
 

CIVIL WAR IN CAMPBELL COUNTY AREA


The writer has penned a few accounts of the Civil War in the area of Campbell County in the past. This week we shall proceed on this important subject. 


Colonel Joseph Alexander Cooper, a native of Campbell County, was commander of the Sixth Regiment, East Tennessee Volunteers. In an official report he writes on September 11, 1862, from Fort Nathaniel Lyon, near the Cumberland Gap area, that, according to orders, he and his regiment began marching from Cumberland Gap on the 6th of September. Accompanying the East Tennessee Sixth Regiment were a total of 400 men; 50 men from Col. Houks Third  Regiment; 100 men from Colonel Johnson’s Fourth Regiment; 100 men from Col. Shelley’s Fifth Regiment, and 150 men from the Sixth Regiment. 


On Saturday night of the September 6th, the soldiers rested on the head of Clear Fork Creek some 13 miles from camp. The next morning at 7: a.m., the line of march was resumed. On the morning of the 8th of September, at 6 a.m., reliable information was received that a force of Confederate cavalry was marching through Big Creek Gap toward the Kentucky side. 


Col. Cooper at once dispatched Lieutenant Smith, of Company B, Sixth Regiment, along with 25 men of his company, to a point known as Stinking Creek. This area was located on the road leading through Big Creek Gap and across at Camp Pine Knot. The objective of the Union troops was to check and halt the enemy. 


Lieutenant Dunn, of Company A, Sixth Regiment, with a guide and 25 men, was dispatched to a point at the foot of Pine Mountain on the south side. Lieutenant Robert Crudgington, of Company H, Fifth Regiment, with 25 men, was assigned to Camp Pine Knot, a point at the foot of Pine Mountain on the north side, near present Jellico, with the remainder of the forces. Col. Cooper, along with his forces, marched along the top of Pine Mountain to where the Big Creek Gap road crosses the same. With a combination of all these moves, Col. Cooper’s command was thus distributed and took positions to receive the enemy.


About 10:30 a.m. on September 8th, Lieutenant Smith and Corporal Reynolds, along with Lieutenant Smith’s command, which were about 120 in number, engaged the Confederate troops. The Union troops, well mounted with armed cavalry, forced back the former for about 15 minutes, killing one of the enemy and one horse. The Confederate force again formed and, with a defiant yell, made a second charge. At this time Smith and Reynolds and their command  subsequently drove them back.


The Confederates were driven back to the command of Lieut. Dunn where they were met and fired into by the Lieutenant’s men. At this point a connection was formed between Lieutenants Smith and Dunn from where the Confederates were forced and pursued to the top of Pine Mountain. Here they were received by a volley of gunfire under the command of Col. Cooper‘s forces. 


The Confederates were then forced down Pine Mountain toward Camp Pine Knot. The loss sustained by them during this battle was 5 killed and 8 wounded, along with 7 horses killed and several other wounded. Lieutenant Crudgington and his command captured all those who made their escape down the mountain. The Lieutenant and his men bravely met the enemy with extreme coolness. The enemy captured included 3 mortally wounded and two quite severely. Total number of Confederate losses during the entire battle were 7 killed in action; 13 severely or mortally wounded; total number of prisoners, taken 95; horses taken, 83; shotguns, 17; citizen saddles, 24; wagons, 1; riding bridles, 19; blind bridles, 14; halters, 47; reins and bridle-bits, 62; miles, 4; revolvers, 2. Several horses and mules were severely wounded and left at the site. Also captured was a large mail mule. 


The primary part of the fighting was done by the forces of the Third and Fifth Regiments, respectively, under the command of Captains Ledgerwood and Hedgecock. The main body of the of the enemy captured (seventy or seventy-five) was concluded by Lieut. Crudgington and his command. The other Union forces were extremely anxious to get into the fight, but their positions disallowed this advantage. 


Two Confederate surgeons were captured and paroled, with the stipulation that they care for the wounded and direct the interment of the dead. Col. Cooper paroled all the wounded. Neither a man nor officer was killed or wounded in Col. Cooper’s forces. Loss by desertion was four men, two in the Third and two in the Fifth Regiment. 


After the skirmish on Pine Mountain, Col. Cooper learned that two Confederate regiments were crossing the mountain above them and were attempting to gain his rear position. After having blockaded Pine Mountain, the Colonel began the long march back to the camp, stopping again at Hickory Creek, a distance of about 12 miles. Here they rested and again took up the march to the head of Clear Fork, where they spent the night of Tuesday, September 9, 1862. The next morning they arrived at Camp Nathaniel Lyon near Cumberland Gap, along with Confederate prisoners, horses, mules, and all other articles they had captured in the Pine Mountain area. Under the immediate command of Brigadier-General Spears, Col. Cooper surrendered all the captives and contraband to the proper Government officers. 


THE BULLOCK FAMILY


At this time we shall delve into the fine family of the Bullocks. William Bullock’s family is thought to have been among the first American families to settle into the East Tennessee region. William immigrated from Wales to Virginia in 1660. He served as a military man on the staff of Royal Governor William Berkley of that colony. 


Richard Bullock, I, son of William, was a resident of Surrey County, Virginia, his will being probated in 1703. 


Richard, II, and his wife, Susannah, are listed in 1704 as a quit claim renter of 450 acres of land in New Kent County, Virginia, his will being probated in that county in 1739.


Richard Bullock III first married a lady named Kate, and later married Ann Henley. Richard III and Ann moved from Hanover County, Virginia, about 1752, to Granville County, North Carolina. At this place he owned and resided on a 2000-acre plantation, he being the owner of numerous slaves. His will was probated in 1764. Their children were Agnes, William, John, Nathaniel, and Leonard Henley Bullock. 


Agnes first married George Keeling, and after his death she married Col. John Williams. John Williams was a cousin and law partner of Judge Richard Henderson, one of the original associates of the Henderson Land Company. Judge Henderson later married Elizabeth Keeling, the daughter of Agnes by her first marriage.These and other family marriages ultimately widened the scope of the speculation group into an intertwining business enterprise.


Leonard Henley Bullock was born in Hanover County, Virginia in 1737. In 1752, he moved with his parents to Granville County, North Carolina, where on November 17, 1760, he married Fanny Hawkins, daughter of a wealthy landowner, Philemon Hawkins. No children were connected to this marriage. After the death of his first wife, Leonard married Susannah Goodlow Aug. 16, 1766, she being the daughter of Robert Goodlow, a wealthy planter of Granville County, North Carolina. Leonard and Susannah’s children are listed as Leonard Henley, Jr., who died in 1821; James died in 1825; Richard died in 1856. Francis married James Lynn, a prominent landowner and politician. 


Charles died in 1815. He was living on the Bullock segment of the Powell Valley land grant. He had two sons, namely, David and Elijah, the latter moving to Grainger County, Tennessee. Elijah married Polly Morris Feb. 21, 1809. David’s wife was named Ruth; they had two children, Sarah, who married John McBride, and John, who was born in 1800. John married Elizabeth Hatmaker.  


Leonard Henley Bullock was, like his neighbors and friends, a wealthy gentleman and known as an English Tory. He was a faithful supporter of the Royal Government and was quite well known as commander of Governor Tryon’s Cavalry at the pre-revolutionary Battle of Alamance in 1771. 


Leonard Henley Bullock, Sr., was serving as High Sheriff of Granville County, North Carolina by the year 1769. The Henderson Land Company was set up in 1775. At this time Leonard received 1/16 interest in the vast enterprise. This was later expanded to 1/8 interest. Being active in the administration of the company, Leonard, in 1777, was engaged in raising men to go to Kentucky where the first Henderson settlements were being documented. By this time he had given up his Tory connections and received the rank of Major in the Continental Army. 


Later, in 1783, the North Carolina Assembly granted 200,000 acres of land in the Powell Valley of East Tennessee to Richard Henderson and his associates as partial payment for the expense of eliminating the Indian claims to the territories in question. 


John Bullock was mentioned earlier in this text as the son of David Bullock. John is the progenitor of the families in Campbell and Anderson counties. John was helping his brother-in-law, John McBride, who was a surveyor, and while working in White Co., Tennessee, John enlisted in the army in the War of 1812 on July 9, 1814. He was mustered out at Fort Scott in July 1819.(?)  He married Elizabeth Hatmaker in 1818. He died in Campbell County in 1839. Elizabeth applied for a widow’s pension for his service in the War of 1812, the date being April 11, 1878. 


John and Elizabeth’s children are listed as: Francis, born in 1820, died Oct. 30, 1902; Burton, born May 15, 1846, died June 2, 1928; Alban, born May 15, 1846, the twin of Burton; Mary, born in 1848; Nancy A., born in 1851, died Jan. 24, 1929; Margaret “Peggy Ann,” was born about 1858; Noah died young and never married; Elizabeth was born April 7, 1862 and died Jan. 17, 1929.


This fine family is quite well known in the immediate area of Campbell County. There is a much more complete genealogy in Marshall McGhee’s book entitled, “Coal Mining Towns.” Many thanks to Marshall for allowing the writer to use this material.

TENNESSEE’S BIRTH


It seems that the State of Tennessee was formed with some difficulty. We shall now probe into the actual happenings.


North Carolina, in 1784, surrendered to the United States what is now the State of Tennessee which ultimately gave Congress two years in which to settle the issue. Congress suggested this procedure simply because they wanted to sell these western lands in order to pay the war expenses brought about by the Revolutionary War.


Alarm spread throughout the region when they discovered that Congress had made no arrangements for any type of government during this two-year period. No brigadier general had been appointed who could lawfully call out the soldiers in case of an attack by the Indians. Also, no judge had been appointed in case of legal actions. 


Area folks had no longing to subsist through two years of lawlessness. North Carolina had no provisions in which to provide them protection. In turn, each military company elected two representatives, each such person forming a County Committee. These committees called a general convention, which met at Jonesboro in August 1784, electing John Sevier president and Landan Carter, secretary. The goal of this newly formed convention was to form a new state and provide for another convention. The constitution drawn was rejected because of certain provisions that the people would not accept. Eventually, the constitution of North Carolina, with some changes, was adopted. The new state was named Franklin in honor of Dr. Benjamin Franklin. 


The new electorates were John Sevier, governor, and David Campbell, judge of the superior court. Greenville was named the first capital of the new State of Franklin. The first legislature met at Jonesboro early in 1785 with Landon Carter being elected Speaker of the Senate, and Thomas Talbot being chosen Clerk. William Cage was Speaker of the House, and Thomas Chapman, Clerk. 


The new government of Franklin was soon set up only to be dissolved and return to their commitment of the State of North Carolina. Since the United States had not accepted the cession of Tennessee, the Legislature of North Carolina would not agree to the independence of Franklin. Congress ultimately disregarded the whole deal. 


During this time, John Sevier had departed on an expedition against the Cherokees; after his return he was arrested for treason. He was eventually rescued by his friends and never tried.


A short time later he was elected a member of the United States Congress from the western district of North Carolina, and was the first Congressman from the Mississippi Valley. 


North Carolina, in February 1790, again ceded the territory of Tennessee to the United States Government, and in April 1790, it was accepted. In May 1790, Congress passed a bill for the formation of a new government called “The Territory of the United States South of the Ohio River.” 


The first governor appointed in the newly formed territory was William Blount, with David Campbell serving as Judge of the Superior Court. John Sevier was made Brigadier General of the Washington District, in what is now East Tennessee, with James Robertson serving as Brigadier General in Middle Tennessee. 


Rogersville served as the first capital with the new seat of government soon being relocated to Knoxville. 


The legislature of the new territory was made up of a legislative council, elected by the United States Congress. The people, under the law, elected a territorial assembly. Members of the five-man congregation were Griffith Rutherford, president, Stockley Donelson, John Sevier, Parmenas Taylor, and James Winchester. George Roulstone was clerk. 


The Territorial Assembly had thirteen members representing the nine different counties. Two new counties, Sevier and Blount were formed during Governor Blount’s administration.  


It was decided, in 1795, that there were more than sixty thousand people in the territory, which constituted the proper population for the formation of a state. A convention met in Knoxville in January 1796, to frame the first Constitution of the State of Tennessee. Andrew Jackson suggested that the State be called Tennessee. President George Washington, in June 1796, signed the act of Congress stipulating that Tennessee be made the sixteenth state of the Union. 


Elected from each of the eleven counties were five members who served to form the Constitutional Convention These members met in Knoxville January 11, 1796. With the adjourning of the convention, Governor Blount issued an order for the election of a governor and members of the legislature of the new state. Election returns were inspected and it was decided that John Sevier be elected Governor. He took the oath of office March 30, 1796, before Judge Joseph Anderson



The first legislature of the State of Tennessee met at Knoxville, the first capital of the State of Tennessee on March 28, 1796.


(Material for this article was taken from the writings of the late Ted Miller of LaFollette. Judge Greg Miller, Campbell County Historian, and nephew of Ted, has compiled all of Ted’s articles which can be purchased through the Campbell County Historical Society in LaFollette.)

INDIAN SUMMER HAS AMERICAN ORIGINS THAT

DATE TO REVOLUTIONARY WAR TIMES


What does the term "Indian Summer" mean? How and why was it originated? The writer has often thought on this subject. 


Indian Summer is the time of year, generally in late autumn or early winter, that represents a period in which the weather displays beauty, warmth, calmness and a hazy atmosphere. This most commonly appears after the first big frost. Thoreau proclaimed it the finest season of the year. 
The phrase is of American origin. The earliest written use was uncovered in 1790. In the early part of the nineteenth century it was used quite frequently. 


From our country it quickly expanded to England where it was spread throughout the world. When Queen Victoria became eighty, Alfred Austin, poet laureate of England, composed to her a birthday poem entitled, "An Indian Summer." 


Theories galore as to the origination of the name were suggested, and not until Albert Matthews of Boston began his research on the subject did it shed some light. His findings were published in the Weather's Review in 1902, entitled, "The Term Indian Summer." His collection of works and footnotes would make a small volume. Matthews lists a great number of passages from different writers of American and English prose and poetry. 


His conclusion was that the term was a new expression rather than an old one. He says that the older subject writers on America never used the term in their publications. The phrase was not submitted publicly until the 1841 edition of Webster's dictionary. 
Matthews found its first written form in the journal of Major Ebenezer Denny who was selected by the Governor of Pennsylvania to protect the frontier of that State from Indian attacks. Major Denny, while at French Creek near the present city of Erie, Pa., made an entry into his journal on October 13, 1794. It read, "Pleasant Weather. The Indian summer here. Frosty nights." 


According to Matthews, only two other occasions were recorded before 1800. One was by a writer at New Haven, Ct., in 1798, and the other by the noted traveling Frenchman, Volney. 


Just three other occasions using the saying were recorded during the first fifteen years of the nineteenth century; in 1809, in 1813 and in 1815. 


One writer cites that through his readings on the subject, he found a notation in Revolutionary War General Josiah Harmar's journal regarding the term Indian Summer, dated 1790. This was four years previous to Matthew's find. Harmar's journal was written during his raid on the Maumee Indian village. It says:


"Thursday, Oct 21st - fine weather - Indian summer. Having completed the destruction of the Maumee towns as they are called, we took up our line of march this morning from the ruins of Old Chillicothe for Ft. Washington, [original name for Cincinnati.]  Marched about 8 miles.


"Saturday, Oct. 23rd - Indian summer, Took up our line of march this morning at 8 o'clock and encamped about 24 miles from the ruins of the Maumee towns. This days march about 16 miles - much encumbered with our wounded men.


"Sunday, Oct 31st - Fine, clear weather. Indian summer. Marched and halted a little while at what is called Sugar Camp - from thence to Caesar's creek, a branch of the Little Miami - three miles. Thence crossed the Little Miami." [Identifies places in Ohio]


The reasoning for this name is supplied by several theories. One is this was the time the Indians burned the woods and the dry grass. Dr. Daniel Drake says: "The cause of the smokiness is supposed to be the conflagration by the Indians of withered grass and herbs of the extensive prairies of the north west, and hence perhaps the name of the season."


Scholars have found no mention of the term in Indian mythology and legends. The source of many expressions and sayings may never be discovered. One thing is almost certain; the term "Indian Summer" originated with the North American whites. 

THANKSGIVING DAY HISTORY


The Thanksgiving Day holiday is one of the grandest celebrations since the founding of this country. It is one of the special holidays set aside each year for which we give thanks for our religious freedom in the United States. 


This special day was originally founded in this great country as a harvest festival that was held by the Pilgrims of Plymouth colony in 1621. The Pilgrims had landed on shore from the Mayflower on Dec 21, 1620. Only about half the original men and women survived the first dreadful winter. Food reserves were not to be had.


However, following this frightful winter, spring plantings were made and the harvest was good. Twenty acres of Indian corn, from which the Indians had furnished seed, was harvested. Barley and meat were plentiful. Governor William Bradford sent four men to hunt for fowl; they returned with enough waterfowl and wild turkeys to last for a week.


Fishermen supplied cod and bass. The friendly Indians contributed five deer. Ninety Indians, along with their chief, Massasoit, feasted with the colonists for three days.


This grand feast must have occurred before December 11, 1621, for it was detailed in a letter written on this date by Edward Winslow, describing the ceremonious occasion. (An earlier Thanksgiving was offered in prayer alone by members of the Berkeley plantation near present-day Charles City, Va., on December 4, 1619.)


Records do not show that this particular feast was called “thanksgiving.” It was a practice the first two years of this ceremony for the Puritans to appoint a given day for the feast. Not until two years later, in 1623, was a day given when the Pilgrims set apart a day of Thanksgiving for rain that ended a severe drought.


Thanksgiving days following harvests later came to be celebrated throughout the New England colonies, but on different and varying dates. The tradition was kept alive by proclamations of state governors.


Sarah Josepha Hale, editor of a woman’s magazine called “Godey’s Lady’s Book,” was instrumental in getting a national holiday called Thanksgiving Day. She began her crusade in 1846, and yearly she wrote editorials, sent letters to the presidents and governors, and to other distinguished individuals. 


She chose as the date the last Thursday in November because it was on November 26, 1789, that George Washington had proclaimed a National Thanksgiving Day in honor of the new United States Constitution.


Sarah Hale finally secured the endorsement of President Abraham Lincoln. On October 3, 1863, during the Civil War, President Lincoln proclaimed a national day of Thanksgiving to be celebrated on Thursday, November 26, of that year, and also named the last Thursday of November as the day to be observed every year. 


After the Revolution the tradition of Thanksgiving extended from New England to the Middle States. It next progressed to the West, but developed more slowly in the South.


All the presidents following Washington did not implement Thanksgiving days. Jefferson refused such a proclamation stating the president had no authority to designate any religious undertaking. James Madison, Jefferson’s successor, held the same perspective and only issued proclamations setting apart days for religious worship during the war with England, and then only after Congress had requested this be done.


Washington, in his eighth year as president, issued two proclamations, while John Adams, in his four years issued two. Madison, in his eight years, issued four. After Madison, such proclamations were few, and perhaps none until the Civil War.


Lincoln and every president that followed him proclaimed the holiday each year. However, President Franklin D. Roosevelt thought Thanksgiving Day fell too close to Christmas. He proclaimed, in 1939, the third Thursday as Thanksgiving Day.


Compliance was not widespread in all states. And so, in December 1941, a joint resolution of Congress designated the fourth Thursday in November as Thanksgiving Day.


Thanksgiving Day in Canada is celebrated the second Monday in October, it being officially recognized in 1879. It was first observed at Port Royal, Nova Scotia, in 1710, when the town and fort passed into English hands for the last time.


Japan, South Korea, the Philippines, Laos, Liberia, Puerto Rico, Guam, Grenada, and the Virgin Islands all celebrate a day of Thanksgiving.


In America Thanksgiving Day has been transformed from a Holy Day to a holiday. Rather than giving thanks for our many blessings, a grand feast is the subject of the day. The family reunions and the meal have taken preference over the Thanksgiving sermon.

PIONEER LIFE


The early pioneers lived in a one-room cabin made of round logs minus nails and sawed lumber. Logs of the proper length were cut, the ends being notched simply to keep them as close as possible. 


Enclosed within this dwelling was a fireplace, which was cut out of one end of the cabin where a mud and stick chimney was constructed on the outside. Poles were placed on each side of the fireplace with a mantle over all. This was a catchall for the family and also served as a candle for light. 


Kettles were held over the fire hanging from trammels, which were held by strong poles. A most essential utensil was a long handle pan used for cooking meat, held on the fire by hand.


The best item for baking was a flat-bottomed kettle with a tight-fitting lid known as a Dutch oven. The bread would bake quickly with hot coals over and under this admirable invention. 


A doorway was cut into one of the walls, and a door made of clapboards was hung on wooden hinges. Pulling a leather latchstring operated this opening. If the latchstring hung outside the door it was a sign of welcome for all. 


The floor was made of puncheon and the boards that covered the roof were rived by hand and held up by weight poles.


Furniture of the pioneer cabin was homemade. Beds, split-bottom chairs, a pine table, cupboard, and sometimes a spinning wheel were the essential items.


Neighbors, being poor and on equal footing, were described as hospitable. The worst diseases were described as the chills and fever, with quinine and boneset tea being the common cure for the ill. Neighbors were of a caring nature and when a whole family became ill at once they would go and care for them. 


Matches were obsolete, the fire being borrowed from a neighbor. Prairie fires were a definite threat in the fall and all dreaded them. Spreading quickly, all precaution had to be taken to protect the dwellings and outbuildings. 


Blackberries, plums and other wild fruits were considered a lifeline in the pioneer days. Deer, wild turkey and other game were found in abundance, but foodstuffs were every so often scarce. Wild hogs were found in great quantity, and the bees in the early day created a custom to go bee hunting. Many of the early settlers would travel for miles into the wild country in search of the hive. He would simply follow the bee to his home.


Maple trees, with their sugar taps, provided syrup and sugar. A few families grew flax for fabric, and the sheep were raised for their wool. A small wheel spun the flax into finer fabrics such as dresses; wool was spun to yarn for knitting. 


Fish were plentiful. Herbs were refined for doctoring. Concoctions from these herbs were called tonics and administered to prevent illnesses. 


As a general understanding there was a law against cutting down apple trees in the early American days. One tree provided raw fruit, cider for drinking, applesauce, dried fruit, and vinegar. The first apple trees were trained to grow low, so pickers did not always have to use ladders. The invention of an item called a chair-ladder could either be stood upon or climbed, it being light enough to carry around. 


Worshipping was in a sense the way of the early pioneer. He was forever thankful to God for his very being. The house of worship was in the early 1800’s very cold. It was considered improper to place a stove in such a place. The local folks came to church in large fur coats and lap robes. The preacher stood on a tin of hot coals and wore heavy fur mittens while he conducted the service. The entire congregation withstood the long drive to church with a small charcoal stove under the lap robes. When entering church you took your stove with you.




Spring chores included stump pulling and locating hoop wood. After the settling of the ground under a long winter, roots were subsequently made looser and the larger tree stumps were ultimately easier to pull out. The tough roots were impossible to burn, so farmers pushed them into a large fencerow.



Stump pulling and finding hoop wood were spring chores. After the ground had raised and lowered and eventually settled, and winter was done, roots were looser and big tree stumps were then easier to pull out. The tough roots were impossible to burn, so the farmers pushed and shoved them, making them into a fence formation which wasn't very attractive, but lasted much longer than an ordinary fence. 


Coopers or barrel makers used the hoop wood to make barrels and buckets. In May the black ash and hickory are alive with new sap, consequently, six-foot poles were cut from the saplings. The poles, after a good soaking, were pounded and rived, or cut into strips for making barrel hoops. 


There was a  piece of wagon hardware that is virtually obsolete. It is called a drag-shoe or ruggle. It was hung in front of the rear wheels and when, in going down hill, a heavy load threatened to roll forward and push the horse over, the iron shoe was slid under the wheel, or both wheels. As a result the back part of the wagon became a sled and the horse could pull the load downhill. This was the braking system before the addition of wheel-brakes to wagons. 

THE UNITED STATES POSTAL SYSTEM


With the present anthrax scare filtering through the postal system, I thought that a short history of the majestic undertaking of the mail system might be appropriate at this time.  


The United States Postal System has progressed by leaps and bounds from the time of its conception. It has excelled mightily from the time when flimsy canoes were used up and down the rivers, and from a time when the hearty post-riders risked their lives for something they believed in, essentially, the mail service. 


The first overseas mail received from the European countries into the United States was handled at Fairbanks Tavern in Boston in 1639. 


Benjamin Franklin initiated the first comprehensive mail system in the colonies in 1753. His structure included a faster mail service within the colonies and to the mother country. Through his devotion, he was appointed the first Postmaster of the U.S. in 1775.


In 1829 the Postmaster General became a member of the governmental cabinet. From the beginning a postal deficit was generated annually primarily because of the heavy mail delivery burden due to the ever-expanding population. 
By the first of the 20th century, the overbearing expenditure produced significant results. Improvements abounded with greater quality and range of services. 


In 1863, during the Civil War, a "standard" rate of postage, regardless of distance, was adopted. At this time the U.S. mail was divided into three classes, with a fourth being added in 1879. 


Also in 1863 a free delivery service was adopted which covered 49 cities and employed 440 letter carriers. The rural free delivery (RFD) method was instituted in 1896 and town delivery in 1912. 


Registered mail was created in 1855, while the postal money order was initiated in 1864. Other postal office services and times in which they were created were international money orders, 1867; special delivery, 1885; parcel post and collect on delivery (COD), along with insurance services, 1913; and certified 


First class, or letter mail, is most commonly used by the public. Second class mail consists of newspapers and magazines; third class contains other printed content and merchandise weighing less than one pound; and fourth class consists of either merchandise or printed content that weighs one pound or more. Reasoning for these classes allows the post office to take into consideration the handling costs of different items that have different weights and distances transported. 


At present, mail carriers are the predominant delivery person, while about one-tenth of the mail handled is through post office boxes, and much less through windows or counters. 


Express mail was introduced in 1977 which led to the guaranteed delivery of overnight mail. Italy was the first to incorporate a permanent aerial mail service, the route being from her western coast to the island of Corsica. The United States followed this lead on May 15, 1918, the service covering the three cities of Philadelphia, New York and Washington. 



A postal savings program was introduced in 1911, accumulating more than 4,000,000 accounts by 1947. It was terminated in 1966 because of the public's drastic decline in the service. 


In 1862 a "traveling post office system" was set up which allowed the railway to dominate the mail system well into the 20th century. A gradual reduction in passenger service in the 1930s gave birth to a highway post office branch in 1941. Both services went into extinction in the 1950s and 1960s. 


An Act, signed into law August 12, 1970, transferred the Post Office Department into a government owned corporation, called the United States Postal Service. Under this law Congress's power was abolished to fix postal tariffs and to control employees salaries, and, furthermore, its political power over the system was abolished. 


The postal system no longer receives a subsidy from Congress, although they do make up the cost of certain low cost mailers such as nonprofit organizations or small publishers. 


The post office department played an active role in the settlement of the United States. The stagecoach, steamboat, canals, railroads, and the short-lived pony express, all contributed to the development of the new country. 

Postage Stamps


Although the United States postal system has been in business for well over two-hundred years an Englishman, Sir Rowland Hill, in 1840, initiated the penny (two cents in the U.S.) postage system; this method was subsequently incorporated throughout the world. He proposed a uniform rate of one penny for each letter weighing not more than one-half ounce, regardless of distance. 


Hill was born in England, the son of an English school teacher. He set out to solve the problems of teaching, and for about 15 years he conducted schools highlighting student democracy, self-discipline and forceful teaching. His personal interests included printing, astronomy, mathematics and transportation.


His approach to postal improvement matured between 1835 and 1837. His beliefs were based on the notion that proceeds stemming from taxes should increase with the growth of the population and national wealth. 


Hill suggested that a lower fee on letters should be adopted since higher taxes reduced the volume of mail and thus reduced the revenue. Along these lines he suggested that all mail should be prepaid. 


For practical purposes, Hill suggested that an adhesive postage be used on all letters. His idea was adopted Feb. 13, 1837, and launched in 1840, despite bureaucratic opposition.


Its design closely paralleled the postage stamp of today. It contained a portrait of Queen Victoria and the words "Postage and One Penny." It was printed in black ink and generally canceled with red ink. The next year the same design was printed in red ink and canceled with black ink.


The first year after the introduction of cheap postage the number of paid letters delivered in the United Kingdom more than doubled, with the increase continuing for decades.


The United States moved very cautiously in adopting England's new postal reform. In the 1840's this country was so wide- spread geographically that letter postal rates set at a penny seemed ridiculous. 


Seven years elapsed before our government approved the use of postage stamps. In 1847 permission was given for the application of two denominations, the five and ten cent stamp. Postage could be, accordingly, paid in money or stamps, and letters could be mailed without prepayment of postage. 


The first two stamps issued were for four years, but they were never used extensively by the general public, less than four million of the 5 cent and less than one million of the 10 cent stamps were printed. 


The year 1851 found the first one cent and three cent stamps being issued. Prepaid stamps were required in 1855, and the overall use of stamps was mandated the next year.


Letter rate postage of three cents in the U.S. was established in 1851. This was one cent higher than the English one penny rate, the higher rate being rationalized by the greater area of our country. 


In 1881 letter postage was reduced to two cents, remaining at this rate until World War I, when it was raised back to three cents.


Stamped envelopes were first introduced in the U.S. in 1853. Basic reasoning for this procedure was that a stamped envelope once used cannot be used a second time. 


Sir Rowland Hill's penny postage was exceptionally cheap, and the post card even cheaper, a half penny. The first post card in the world was issued at Vienna on October 1, 1869. England issued their first post cards in 1870, the United States in 1873. The first picture post card originated in 1870 during the Franco-German War. 


The United States issued, in 1892, its first double post card, or two cards folded, on one of which a message could be written and the reply on the other, each bearing the postage of one cent. 


The postage stamp is a work of art. A possibility of different artists, one for the main feature, one for the lettering, and one for the surroundings, all in minature, requires a highly artistic skill on the little bits of paper called the postge stamp.

THE FIRST PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH OF LAFOLLETTE


At this time we shall feature a short history of the LaFollette First Presbyterian Church. Prior to this particular history, we find that the original Presbyterian Church traces its heritage back predominantly to Scotland and England. 


Presbyterians have attributed much to the history of the United States. The Reverend Francis Mackemie arrived in the U.S. from Ireland in 1683 and helped to organize the first American Presbytery at Philadelphia in 1706. The Rev. John Witherspoon, one of the signers of the Declaration of Independence, was a Presbyterian minister. The Rev. William Tennent founded a ministerial “log college” in New Jersey that evolved into Princeton University. 


The Rev. Jonathan Edwards and Rev. Gilbert Tennent were vital forces in the “Great Awakening,” a revivalist faction in the early 18th century.


Splits have occurred in the United States Presbyterian churches, parts reuniting several times. The largest current group in the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. has its national offices in Louisville, Ky. Formation of this union was in the year 1983 as a result of reunion between the Presbyterian Church in the U.S. (UPCUSA), so-called the “southern branch,” and the so-called “northern branch.” 


Other Presbyterian churches in the United States include the Presbyterian Church in America, the Cumberland Presbyterian Church, and the Associate Reformed Presbyterian Church. 

THE LAFOLLETTE PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH


A small group of worshippers gathered together in the hall over the old Winkler’s Drug Store on Central Avenue in LaFollette in the early 1920s. At a later time, this  congregation met at the old Congregational Church, which was located on Fifth and Walden, where regular worship services and Sunday school services were held. As time passed, this building was demolished and an apartment house now stands in its place.  


Rev. B.M. Larson, then Superintendent of Home Missions for Knoxville Presbytery of the Presbyterian Church U.S., was called upon by the local church members for his assistance and leadership. Rev. Larson not only offered his expertise in this area, but he also served as a means in which to bring students from Maryville College to LaFollette to hold services.


A Commission of Knoxville Presbytery on November 22, 1922 formally created the new congregation. The official name for the worshippers was identified as the First Presbyterian Church. Historical documents found named First Member, Miss Mary R. Robertson; First Profession of Faith, Mr. Albert E. Ahler; and Fitst Infant Baptism,  William D. Sharp.


Deliberations for the search of a permanent dwelling for the church building were begun on February 25, 1923. The building committee, which included Mrs. Robert L. Sharp, reported their purchase of a lot and offered a temporary plan for a structure. 


The building committee conversed with Charles I. Barber, a Knoxville architect who stated that he had always had an interest in designing a small church and that no fee would be charged for his services. Soon Barber’s plans became a reality and the New England Colonial Church was erected. The builder was John Godly, Jr., from Newcomb, Tennessee. 


The first service in the new church was held on March 27, 1927, with Dr. T.S. McCallie of Chattanooga ministering the ceremony. (However, the church was not dedicated until May 27, 1928.) The Rev. E.L. McClurkan, who had been one of the originals to form the church in 1922, was the minister. The treasurer, W.D. Barton, at this service announced that the mortgage debt had been paid in full, the note being burned in the presence of the assemblage.


The congregation took in effect that a need for educational space was desired for the church school. And so, on July 18, 1954, the members took steps to fill this need.   The plan was finalized and on May 15, 1961, the result was the McClurkan Memorial Parish, named in memory of the church’s first pastor. This new addition housed a parlor, the pastor’s study, a chapel, a fellowship hall, kitchen facilities, and classrooms. 


A new manse was built in 1969 for the ministers. The adjoining property was purchased, the houses were torn down, and an attractive lawn was completed beside the church. Cost of this project was $29,000. The mortgage of the manse and property was burned as a part of the Fiftieth Anniversary Service in 1972. 


The LaFollette church completed a magnificent renovation project in 1988. The sanctuary was now facing Depot Street. New pews were installed which increased the seating capacity from 120 to 230. The McClurkan Parish rooms were also changed to meet the most recent needs. This spacious project was dedicated to the glory of God in a special service on January 22, 1989. Leader of the service was Dr. Robert Ferguson of Knoxville.


The Knoxville Presbytery and The First Presbyterian Church of LaFollette became a part of the reunited Presbyterian Church, USA in 1983.


The First Presbyterian Church of LaFollette is located at 110 W. Ash Street, with the Rev. Malcolm M. King III serving as minister since August 16, 1991.

MAJOR GENERAL JOSEPH ALEXANDER COOPER


As the writer has noted in other articles, the area of Campbell County was directly involved in the American Civil War. One name stands out in the County, that of Brevet Major General Joseph Alexander Cooper. At this time we shall focus on a short biography of the Generals’ service as well as his life. 


A letter written by General Cooper, dating June 4, 1901, from St. John, Kansas, tells a portion of the story of his life. The letter does not specify who the letter was written to. It goes as such:


“Dear Sir I will try to furnish the information you desire. My father was John Cooper from the State of Maryland and he was a bound boy and ran away from home in his teens and traveled and worked around until the breaking out of the war of 1812. He then enlisted in Capt.. Liew [?] Hales Co. which was stationed at Norfolk, Va., and got an honorable discharge from the army and then married in Gracen [?] Co., VA. Her name was Hester Sage. 


“He then moved to Ky near Somerset where I was born Nov. 25, 1823. We then moved to Tenn. the following year and located in Campbell Co., 5 miles south of Jacksboro where I grew to manhood and married Mary J. Hutson in the month of April 1846 and in Sept. 47 I enlisted in the Mexican War and served until the close of the war. 


“When I returned to my old home until Aug. 1 [?], 1861, and then I organized the first company from the state of Tenn. for the Federal army and made my way under the cover of night to Williamsburg, Ky., and there I was mustered into the service on the 8 day of August 1861 with 101 men. We were ordered to Camp Dick Robinson on the 17th of Aug. to join Gen. Nelson. I was mustered out of the service by a general order from the war department on the 15 day of Jan. 1866. 


“I am now living in Stafford Co. Kans. five miles west and two miles north of St. John the county seat. Kind regards. Gen. Joseph A. Cooper.”


As was mentioned earlier, Cooper served in the Mexican War as an enlisted man in the 4th Tennessee Infantry of Knoxville under Col. Richard Waterhouse and Captain Jordan Council. His service extended from about the 1st of September 1847, until about August 1, 1848. 


As a result of his service during the Mexican War, and having been taught by his father, who had served in the War of 1812, Gen. Cooper set out to train soldiers for the Union. He had taken part in the Knoxville and Greeneville conventions of Federalists and at the latter meeting he signed with others an undisclosed agreement to drill men for the Union army. 


Soon after he returned from Greeneville the General selected the King Field, a highland on the ridge above his home as the restricted place of training. This location provided a confidential place to drill. It was located far away from any public roads and allowed the soldiers to drill in completely enclosed space. Within this area they drilled and trained without any type of disturbance


Gen. Cooper tried to a great extent to get the more prominent men from Campbell County to take the initiative for the Union, but most were reluctant to make a choice because the County was just about divided equally in sentiment between the Union and Confederate forces. Failing in this attempt, he “went to work to try to organize as best he could working by day on the farm and riding by night to see parties to perfect arrangements.” By this time matters were not considered safe in the County to travel on the highway, “so he used the stock trails and short cuts through the woods at night to see his partys.”


Gen. Cooper, as he was gathering men for the Union cause, did not even sleep at home. He was forever making arrangements for getting his troops into Kentucky. His companies of militants were well known. Many of them had planted a crop in the spring of 1861. Cooper, as well as other troops, had to hide out from the Confederates. The General worked by day “in my farm away on a mountain away from the road and my family instructed is anyone called to not know here I was until they satisfied themselves of their friendly purpose, then to send a runner after me.”


Gen. Cooper announced to his family: 


“I am going to the war; I may be gone a year and perhaps three years, and may never get back home.”



That same night Cooper and his men moved slowly and deliberately across the Cumberland Mountains. On August 8, 1861, he was sworn in as captain and his men mustered in at Williamsburg, Ky., as Company A, First Tennessee Infantry. At the time Cooper was 38 years old. He had, except for his stint in the Mexican War, been a farmer most of his life. 


His life in the Civil War discloses that he was a direct, practical soldier who despised drunkards, and was a strict disciplinarian concerning military etiquette. He  was somewhat disapproving of West Pointers, an explicit example concerning getting a wagon train along a muddy road.


His men always came first! He cared for them during a measles attack in Kentucky. He was always concerned about doing battle in his own home territory of Campbell County. 


Several Confederate troops marched from Knoxville to Big Creek Gap (now LaFollette), and on one of the routes in which Union men marched into Kentucky, Cooper assembled his company together in Jacksboro to do battle with the Confederate forces and maintain a way into Kentucky. Some of Cooper’s men had guns, some pistols, some scythe blades, others nothing. Asked why they had arrived, the answer was, “When you kill one we will get a gun.”


Jacksboro residents were fearful that Cooper’s activities would imperil the whole county. These folks believed that the Union forces could certainly defeat the present Confederate forces, but they were clearly apprehensive if a larger force were to arrive in the County. 


Shortly after the battle of Fishing Creek, or Mill Spring, in Kentucky, Cooper and his men were in the detail that was to drive the Confederates out of Powell’s (Powell) Valley. 


In March 1862, the First Tennessee led the attack against the regiment of Confederates encamped at Big Creek Gap. Cooper writes that “such a stampede I have never seen before nor since. I saw my friends had opened the way and had redeemed my promise to my company to lead them home and inspired confidence in the loyal men and sent terror to the hearts of the rebels of the county.”



Cooper and his forces, in July 1862, struck at Wallace’s Cross Roads, near Andersonville, Tennessee, killing five Confederates and taking prisoners along with wagons and horses. Shortly thereafter, his company attacked a Confederate force at Big Creek Gap, they being located near where St. Mary’s hospital is now situated. The Unionists attacked at dawn and within ten minutes the entire enemy force was routed, they being scattered completely around the Gap. While fleeing the scene on horseback several men stopped on the road to Powell’s River just above the mouth of Cedar Creek.


As was noted previously, Cooper became Captain in the 1st Tennessee Infantry, becoming in 1862 Colonel of the 6th Tennessee. His service was mainly in East Tennessee and Georgia, and in July, 1864, was made a Brigadier-General, in which capacity he commanded his troops in the March through Georgia, receiving the brevet of Major General in March, 1865. 


He held the office of collector of intternal Revenue in Tennessee from 1869 till 1879 and later resumed his farming in Kansas.



General Joseph Cooper served as a Deacon in the Longfield Baptist Church in Campbell County, and in 1842, he joined the Indian Creek Baptist Church, also in the County.


Sometime after the Civil War he was enlisted by Tennessee Governor Brownlow to quell the forces of the Ku Klux Klan disturbance in Tennessee.


General Cooper died in Kansas on May, 1910. Upon his death his body was returned to be buried in the National Veterans Cemetery in Knoxville, Tennessee.

             (Portions of this article were taken from “The Land of the Lake,” written by the late Dr. George L. Ridenour. Many thanks to the Campbell County Historical Society personnel for allowing the writer to use this information.)

THE CUMBERLAND PLATEAU


As we all know we in Campbell County are situated within the Cumberland Plateau or Cumberland Mountains chain. This mountainous range extends southwestward for 450 miles from southern West Virginia to Northern Alabama. The plateau is 40 to 50 miles wide and lies between the Appalachian Ridge and Valley region to the east and the gently sloping plains to the west. It joins together with the Allegheny Plateau on the north  with the Gulf Coastal plain on the south. This region is divided primarily by the headstreams of the Cumberland and Kentucky rivers and by tributaries of the Tennessee River, the valley of which in northern Alabama holds Tennessee Valley Authority reservoirs. Further prominent features on the plateau include the Cumberland, Pine, Lookout, and Sand Mountains, Cumberland Gap, and Walden Gap.


The most irregular portion of the plateau is a narrow linear ridge about 140 miles long that forms its eastern border in eastern Kentucky and northeastern Tennessee. 


While we are researching this portion of the Cumberland Plateau, we will now explore Hayden Silers’ writings on the subject. Mr. Siler was a long time Jellico  historical writer. His works are quite renown, covering a multitude of subjects.


He writes that Jellico is constructed on a portion of the flood plain of Elk Creek, and on the hills just east of the creek. This creek is the primary drainage stream of the immediate Jellico area. It drains northward into the Clear Fork, or perhaps the Clear Fork of the Cumberland.  


Less than a mile east of Jellico is the well-known Pine Mountain. (Many visitors mistake the name of this mountain as Jellico Mountain, very possibly due to its location near Jellico.) Pine Mountain stretches as a fault ridge (meaning a giant crack in the earth)  from Elk Gap, at Pioneer, to the Breaks of the Sandy in Kentucky, extending to near the Virginia and West Virginia lines. It extends in a regular northeast direction, with only two water gaps throughout its whole 130 miles, once at Pineville, and again at the renowned Narrows near Jellico.The Breaks of the Sandy are sometimes counted, which would be three water gaps. 


A short half-mile west of Jellico lies the Jellico Mountains. These beautiful mountains run along the Campbell/Scott County border where they conclude in Mt. Morgan, near Williamsburg in Whitley County. Certainly the most noted of this run of mountains is the grand Indian Mountain. 


Elevations of the Jellico Mountains in the area of Campbell County range from 2,500 to 2,700 feet. Elevations for Pine Mountain in Campbell County range from 2,000 to 2,500 feet in elevation. The maximum elevation on Pine Mountain in Whitley County is 2,250 feet. Pine Mountain extends into eastern Kentucky with the elevations becoming greater, mostly in Pike and Letcher counties.


Mr. Siler writes that Jellico was ultimately located in a fine pictorial setting between Pine Mountain to the east and Jellico Mountains to the west. This gorge was already knows as the Narrows in 1885, and was viewed as a first-class railroad route. A.R. Crandall of Kentucky stated that the water gap offered a sensible way for a railroad line through the Pine Mountain barrier. The Louisville and Nashville Railroad, in 1902, took advantage of this water gap and devised its express line through the Narrows, which connected Jellico and LaFollette. Big Creek Gap is one of the few water gaps in the entire length of Cumberland Mountain. 


The Cumberland Mountains (plural) is the name given to the entire sector of Appalachian America. This mountainous segment encompasses mountains in Kentucky and Tennessee, excluding the Great Smoky Mountains. Cumberland Mountain (singular) is the name given to a long ridge similar to Pine which starts at Caryville and follows Powell Valley past the legendary Cumberland Gap and through the southwestern corner of Virginia. This line extends along the Lee County, Va., Bell and Harlan, Ky., border to near Pennington Gap, VA. Big Stone and Black Mountains are sometimes labeled as additions to the Cumberland Mountain. 


Cumberland Mountain and Pine Mountain run almost parallel to each other throughout their length, its distance apart in some places running as close as eight or nine miles. 


The thrust-fault, caused by an earthquake several million years ago, is extremely visible as one travels south up Pine Mountain on Interstate 75 just east of Jellico. The fault, or break in the earth’s crust, is located near Chaska on the southeastern side of Pine Mountain. Due to this physical upheaval in the mountain section on the northwestern side, towards Jellico, the exposed rocks are dipped almost vertically down the mountainside. Crandall states that “the average dislocation, by the up throw of the whole series of rocks to an unknown depth along the fault line is about 3,000 feet. The rocks exposed in the face of the mountain reach downward and backward in time to the Upper Silurian formation.” Apparently this great eruption has formed the limestone formation in Pine Mountain, providing the Jellico folks with at least two well-known limestone springs. 


It seems that the old Cumberland Plateau was at one time higher in the Caryville region, and in the Jellico area the crests are to some extent lower and more rounded. Clear Fork, Stinking Creek, Hickory Creek and No Business Branch have sliced through steep sided gorges. All of them except No Business have narrow flood plains. Clear Fork, after leaving the Narrows at Highcliff, develops a fertile narrow plain from there to Savoy, where it enters the Cumberland. 

CONFEDERATE RAILROADS


Railroads and the military have a long association. Many West Point graduates, schooled in civil engineering, surveyed and planned the first railroad routes and helped improve locomotive technology. As early as the 1830s, the Army experimented with rail cars to carry troops and artillery. 


During the Civil War, both the Union and Confederate railroads was pressed into service in the war effort. Transported in rail cars, troops could cover in one day the same distances that would have taken a month to travel on foot. Troops, horses, mules, kitchens, food, artillery, ammunition and medical equipment could travel as a unit on one train to the next battle. Messengers could speed vital information more quickly to waiting military officials along the rail lines. Specialized equipment, such as armored rail cars carrying riflemen, were used first in the Civil War to fire on troops from a moving train. 



The Confederacy during the Civil War (1861-1865) did not build a single mile of railroad. All its railroad construction consisted of rebuilding the damaged areas destroyed by the Unionists. One source stated that most railroads would not be affected by the War engagement, however, this statement was totally in error. Shortly, both the Confederacy and the Union railroad lines were crowded with trains transporting troops and military supplies to the war front. 


The Confederacy recognized the railroads’ probability early on in the event of a war. Eventually, they employed rail transport at length in support of a number of chief military events, mostly in the battles of Shiloh and Chattanooga. Also, Confederate raiders were successful in harassing and breaking up Federal railroads accordingly so that the Union momentum was to a great extent slowed. Additionally, some Confederate railroaders exhibited remarkable persistence in keeping their rail systems operating regardless of mounting scarcity of basic equipment and supplies. 



The year 1861 found the competitive railroad systems unequal as to quantity in total mileage. The eleven Confederate states possessed about 9,000 miles of railroad, which was a total of one-third of the nation’s rail system. The southern railroads had been constructed more lightly, carried a smaller volume of traffic, and employed a fifth of the country’s railroad workers. 


In the end the Confederacy lost the war: it seems probable that the inadequacies of their railroads contributed to this collapse. Tennessee and other southern railroad operations were constantly plagued by shortfalls. Scarce rail line mileage, and the crippling gaps in the total rail system essentially contributed to the downfall of the Confederacy.  


The Southerners did not take-to mechanical abilities, and so, previous to the War, many Unionists relocated south to man the railroad system. At the coming of the War, most of the northern railroaders returned home, leaving the people left in the South filled with suspicion.  


Prosperity to the railroad companies in the North was brought about by the conflict. The Confederacy made all their purchases of railroad equipment from the North. The Southern Railways were soon witnessing a drastic rise in inflation. Between 1861 and 1864, prices rose for lubricating oil from $1.00 per gallon to $50.00 per gallon; mechanic’s wages from $2.50 to $20,00 a day; coal from 12 cents to $2.00 a bushel. 


Two or three of the larger railroads in the North had as many locomotives as were in the entire Confederacy. The South was disadvantaged in wartime as to maintenance of locomotive power, which included rolling stock and track. There were a dozen locomotive plants in the North to every one in the South. 


Each side used their own tactics as to how to destroy the other’s railroads. However, since the bulk of the fighting was in the South, the Confederate’s losses were greater. The worst destruction of the South's’ railroads was during General Sherman’s March to the Sea in 1864-1865. The Baltimore and Ohio was the only northern road to suffer any damage at the hands on the Confederates.


Tennessee’s railroad system materialized in the 1850’s. It played an essential role in the military events of the Civil War. Although Tennesseans considered railroads as early as 1827, the first actual railroad construction began with the Hiwassee Railroad in 1837, failing in 1842. The LaGrange and Memphis Railroad, in 1842, became the first to actually operate a train in Tennessee, this company failing a few months later. By the 1850s, with financial and organizational arrangements finalized, a railroad development boom developed, and by 1860 Tennessee had completed 1,197 miles of track. This represented about 13% of the South’s total of 9,167 miles. 


Tennessee’s strategic location as a border state between North and South destined its railroads to play a major role in the Civil War.


Listed below are the immediate railroads in the main area of Knoxville and LaFollette, which were operated during the War.


The Knoxville and Kentucky Railroad was organized in 1853 through a charter amendment that changed the name to the Lexington and Knoxville Company. It was sold in 1871 and reorganized as the Knoxville and Ohio Railroad Company. Although originally intended to extend into Kentucky, through Caryville and LaFollette and ultimately to river connections, it did not cross the state line of Kentucky until well after the War. 


The Knoxville and Ohio Railroad Company (1873-1903), as mentioned above, ran from Knoxville to Jellico, Tennessee, a total of 65 miles. It was controlled by the East Tennessee, Virginia and Georgia Railroad Company from 1881 to 1894 and by the Southern Railway Company after 1894. 


The East Tennessee & Georgia Railroad ran 112 miles from Knoxville to Chattanooga. It was chartered in 1848, the original line being completed in 1855. It ran from Dalton, Georgia to Chattanooga. However, a more direct line was built between Cleveland and Chattanooga, Tennessee (the Cleveland Branch), a distance of 27 miles. Because the ET&G ran through an area with strong Unionist sympathies, there were several bridge burning episodes on this line during the War.

EARLY LANDS IN POWELL VALLEY


In this article we shall probe into the first land settlement in East Tennessee and its development through the purchases by the early settlers. This was not a complicated procedure, but it took several persons to set up the actual terms in which it was distributed.


Henderson and Company purchased land from the Overhill Cherokees at Sycamore Shoals on March 17, 1775. The Transylvania Land Company, the company name chosen for the transfer of the land, was to populate this land offering practical terms to settlers.  


Provisions were that every person who would settle in Powell’s (Powell) Valley within the purchased territory, and raise a crop in the year 1775, “was to be entitled to five hundred acres in his own right, and each taxable person in his family to two hundred and twenty acres.” The company issued to the settler’s adequate titles for the acreage in which they were entitled to.


The title of entry-maker was given to Joseph Martin. He was to receive and establish entries of the lands belonging to the company. Each land recipient was to pay the entry-maker $1.00 as his fee. Another charge was to pay the proprietors, on receiving a grant, the rate of twenty shilling sterling per hundred acres.


Richard Henderson gave Joseph Martin the power of attorney on March 31, 1775. This power authorized Martin to settle people in Powell’s Valley, in compliance with information provided. Instructions to Martin stated that he was not to sell any land to persons, except that they should plant a corn crop in the valley that year. These persons were required to be an industrious and honest type, and were expected to promote the well being of the future communities.


Further instructions to Martin were that he was restricted from selling after that spring without additional orders, he being also authorized to decide all disputes between parties and their lands. 


Martin arrived about the last of April 1775 in Powell’s Valley where he opened an office to accept entries of the landowners. 


John Williams, on November 18, 1775, who was one of the partners and agent for the remainder of the land, advertised for such persons who were entitled to lands by the terms of the declaration of the company to present themselves and make their entries, suitably located, so that surveys might be made and deeds discharged. 


Williams gave Martin additional instructions, which specified on what terms lands should be sold in Transylvania until June 1, 1776. Later directives stated that no survey was permitted to contain more than 640 acres. Purchasers of the entries were required to pay for entry and survey, $2.00, and for surveying and plat, $4.00; for a deed with the plat annexed, $2.00; and to the proprietors at the time the title was completed, at the rate of 2 pounds 10 shillings for each hundred acres. Also included in the agreement was an annual rent of 2 shillings for each hundred acres, commencing in the year 1780.


All persons settling before June 1, 1776, were permitted to plot out 640 acres for themselves and 320 acres for any person paying taxes who belonged to his immediate family. Surveys were to be run to the appropriate points, unless rivers were directed to be not more than one-third longer than wide. On such watercourses they should extend two poles back for one in front, and surveys impending within eighty poles of each other. The company took all precautions concerning the support of their claim. 


The land commissioners met in July, 1777 at Fort Patrick Henry, near Long Island (Kingsport) on the Holston River, to hold a peace treaty with the Overhill Cherokees concerning the legality of the land purchase. This document was dated and signed on June 18, 1777, by Richard Henderson, Thomas Hart, Nathaniel Hart, John Williams, William Johnston, John Luttrell, James Hogg, David Hart, and Leo Hen Bullock, who were all members of the company. 


During the month of May 1783, the company presented an extensive verification to the Assembly of North Carolina concerning the same subject. This document contained the report of the committee which allowed the North Carolina Assembly to pave the way for the acquisition of 200,000 acres of land in Powell’s Valley. The land was to be laid off in one survey commencing with the following boundaries; beginning at the old Indian town in Powell’s Valley, running down Powell’s River not less than four miles in width on one or both sides, to the juncture of Powell and Clinch Rivers; then down Clinch River on one or both sides, not less than twelve miles in width, a total allocation of 200,000 acres. 

THE MELUNGEONS


Who are the Melungeons? Where did they come from? There are as many theories as there are researchers concerning these questions. The writer has done much study concerning the Melungeons and has come to the conclusion, that there is no “absolute“ proof where this mysterious group has immigrated from. (The writer of this article became interested in the Melungeons when he discovered that his wife was a descendant, through the Goins family, of these mysterious people.)  


There were tales of a tri-racial group of people in Virginia in the 1700s. This mysterious assemblage was shoved higher in the mountains as the Scotch, Irish, English and other settlers moved into the area where the mystifying people had been living for centuries. While being pushed up into the mountains, these undemanding people lost their rights and lands, and were forced to leave the area where they had lived for centuries; thus, a new life was to begin.  


No one seems to know the exact origins of the Melungeons. They seemingly spoke an earlier form of English, but with dark skin they certainly did not look like white Europeans. History still has not “accurately” discovered their origins or how long they have lived on this continent


These people were found to be friendly with the Indians and thus intermarried, while their descendants married the local Negroes and the whites. This mixture set the stage for the present day Melungeons. 


Up to date “popular” theory supports the fact that the Melungeons were descendants of Portuguese and Spanish settlers. The English word ‘Melungeon’ has both Arabic and Turkish roots meaning “cursed soul”. In the Portuguese language the term “Melungo” means shipmate. In the Turkish language Melungeons are called Melun-can, “Melun” being “a borrowed word from Arabic meaning one that carries bad luck and ill omen.” The term “Can, “ which is Turkish, means soul. Melucan means a person whose soul is a born loser. This expression was a common phrase among 16th century Ottoman Turks, Arabs, and Muslim converts to Christianity in Spain and Portugal. It is still empathized by modern Turks as an offensive term by a Muslim who feels deserted by God.


Customarily, the Melungeons have been darker skinned persons, which has resulted in discrimination by their white neighbors. Many Melungeons have concealed their birthright because of the white mans’ bitterness toward them.  


There were inconsiderate struggles for the land the Melungeons dwelled on. The whites, in retaliation, declared the dark-skinned people as “free persons of color.” This episode stripped the Melungeons of many rights, including the right to vote, to own their own land, educate their children properly, to defend themselves in courts of law, and to intermarry with anyone who was not also Melungeon. These rights, according to Brent Kennedy, a Melungeon researcher, states that “Melungeons had always been precluded to get all those rights until 1942.”


The Melungeons have lived for years in East Tennessee, Southwest Virginia, and Western North Carolina. Their features are copper-skinned, dark eyed, and dark haired. They mostly had English names and commonly spoke English. 


Many historians are exploring the Melungeons and some claim that Europeans originally discovered the dark-skinned settlers in Carolina and Virginia. The Melungeons inter-mixed with a collection of Indian tribes and called themselves “Portygee,” meaning Portuguese.


They, over time, as a general rule, were categorized into one of the four acceptable American racial categorizations: white (northern European), black (African), Indian, or mulatto, a mixture of the first three. With this classification, the entire gene class of the Melungeons was supposedly removed. The possibility of erasing the Melungeon faction would assure the likelihood that the story of the Melungeons would remain buried.


One account relates that the Melungeons are most likely the descendants of the late 16th century Turks and Portuguese left stranded on the Carolina shores when the Spanish force abandoned the settlement of Santa Elena and Carolina. A possibility was that they might have also been survivors of many Turkish sail slaves who were left on Roanoke Island by Sir Francis Drake in 1586. 


The Crusaders, in the Inebahtin War, destroyed a great many Turkish ships in 1570 where, consequently, Sir Francis Drake captured several Turkish sailors. They were rescued from slavery in South America and put on the coast of Roanoke Island by Drake in the late 1500s. 


These survivors later intermarried with the Powhatan, Pamukey, Chickahominy, and Catawba Indians, and later Negroes. After their abandonment by the Spanish fleet, they began surviving in the Appalachians and intermarried with the Cherokees and afterwards with the northern European settlers.


One writer states that relationship between the Melungeons and Turks is linguistic, genetic, medical, historical, cultural, etc. Native American and Melungeon terms have been linked with the Ottoman Turkish and Arabic words more than 1000 times. These expressions have identical pronunciations and meanings. One of these expression states that Kentucky was organically pronounced “Kain Tuck,” meaning dark and bloody ground in the Indian native tongue. “Kan Tok” is Turkish for “full of blood,” while “Kan” means blood and “Tok” means full. There is an old Appalachian term “gaum” which means messy or sad. This word is of the Turkish descent means messy or sad.  


Convincing evidence states that some of the Turks were abandoned in the New World. Ottoman archival evidence proves that the Ottoman marines had been taken to the Canary Islands both in the 16th and 17th centuries. Moreover, a Turkish correspondent discovered archival records of the Ottoman empire in Instanbul that the Portuguese had sold to the British Navy a large number of the Ottoman prisoners of war who were possibly taken to the New World for labor purposes by the British Navy. English records state that only 100 Turks were taken back to England where they were ransomed to the Turkish influence.


These people seemed to have disappeared before the time the English vessels dropped anchor for re-supplying. Very possibly many of them survived and were taken into the Native American tribes. 


Recent discoveries, through DNA in 1990, have added new confirmation concerning the relationship between the Melungeon people and the Mediterranean vicinity. Blood samples taken in 1969 from 177 Melungeon descendants showed no noteworthy differences between East Tennessee and southwestern Melungeons and inhabitants in Portugal, Canary Islands, North Africa, Malta, Cyprus, and Turkey. Further investigations illustrate that these same relationships are found in Virginia and select inhabitants in South America and Cuba. 

Melungeon historians of today have discovered a fascinating relationship between the unusual diseases of the Melungeon descendants and those of the eastern Mediterranean people. Because of the unfamiliarity of these diseases, I will not go into them at this time. 


The Melungeon history that the writer described in this text is theoretically, in my opinion, the one that comes closest to the actual truth concerning this lost civilization. 


Some names associated with the Melungeons are: Collins/Colins, Gibson/Gipson, Mullins/Mellon, Goins/Gowens, Gowins/Goen, Boulden, Bunch, Fields, Freeman, Bean, Bolin, Bowlin, Bowling, Coal, Cole, Delp, Goodman, Hale, Jones, Minor, Moore, Moseley, Nichols, Ramey/Remy, Sexton, and Williams.


TREE HARVESTING IN THE CUMBERLANDS


The Cumberland mountaineers had for many years depended on their tree harvests for a fairly decent living. They would cut them and transport them to the nearby rivers where the spring tides would plummet them to the nearest markets. 


But in the decade of the 1870s the market took a new twist; the Cumberlands had become, through various investigations, a fairly new market to the speculators in the North concerning the virgin forests. New York, Philadelphia and Cincinnati opportunist had begun to explore the possibilities of becoming rich off the Cumberland’s coal and tree markets. 


Because of the ever-increasing population in the North, a great demand was stimulated for the rich recourses in the Cumberland Mountains. Prior to the First World War, capitalists from a half-dozen Northern states fielded a number of agents locating the wild mountain trails and the all-important boundary lines of these gallant mountaineers.  
Surveying of these magnificant lands was done in anticipation of the great iron railroad, which would ultimately come. With this new innovation surely on its way, the buying companies would increase their profits many times over. 


Corporations were now on the lookout for the precise purpose of buying the mountain timber. News traveled fast in regards to this rich newly founded resource, with many small lumber companies now seemingly turning their attention to the great Plateau. 
Lawyers were sent by some firms merely to investigate the land titles and their legalities, with a few of them actually living in the deep forests. The corporations sometimes imported lawyers for deed searches. Sales were agreed upon and the huge trees were soon passing into the hands of the Eastern and Northern conglomerates. 


The mountaineer seldom had cash to deal with, it being so scarce. With a few hundred dollars in his pocket now it seemed like a fortune. However, his craving for material things was not the most important thing in his life, his subsistence remaining simple. His desires consisted of a rifle and a pistol, a good horse or two, some ‘factory’ clothes for his wife, food for his livestock, and a good dwelling which the family could call home. 


Roads into these mountains had much to be desired, they being in deplorable condition. Earlier, some of the bottoms had been cleared of the trees where frequently a small cove was planted in the form of a garden, which incorporated the necessities of life. This small plot was also used for pasturing the animals. 


Most of the tree line was found extending from the bottom to the extreme top. The giant poplars and white oaks were basically found at the foot of the hills, which extended to the top where the smaller oaks and chestnuts were prevalent. The giant walnuts were found in great abundance, they being nearly perfect. The trees were worth very little, and that he and his descendants might never get this opportunity again. (These local company agents might possibly buy the trees from the owner and never disclose to the company his plans.) Since the local mountaineer had no form of information at his hands, such as a newspaper, etc., he could be easily persuaded that his trees were of no value.


The price of the trees was very minimal, but in the eyes of the seller he had driven a hard bargain. Many thousands of trees were bought by the buyer for as little as forty to seventy-five cents each, with very few of them bringing a dollar. Many local courthouses include a large number of timber deeds, however, these legal documents do not include the number of trees nor the price paid for them.


The majority of the timber bought by the outsiders was left standing until the railroads entered the Cumberland Plateau. Subsequently, great quantities of timber was cut and used in the housing boom, which arrived before and after the First World War. The railroads were the positive authority for transportation of the timber until the Great Depression. 


Representatives of the large timber conglomerates began probing into the actual deeds of the mountaineers and found that the pioneers were putting claim to lands in which they had no legal title. As a result the companies sent groups of surveyors to survey lands which had not been formally registered in previous years. These surveys typically started at the mouth of the stream and were thereby investigated poplars towered over the other trees with their perfectly straight alignment, they sometimes reaching a height of 175 feet with a diameter of seven or eight feet. 


The giant white oaks were a large if not valuable tree, their thickness sometimes reaching a total of five feet. Also included in the forest were red, black and chestnut oaks along with a tremendous amount of hickories, beeches, maples, basswoods, persimmon, birches, willows, cedars, pines, hemlocks, and in addition, we should not forget the giant sycamores which lined the creek banks. Our moderate climate zone has dotted the Cumberlands with the greatest assortment of trees in the world.  


Over time, some tens of thousands of acres of trees fell to the capitalist dictators. However, an inquisitive neighbor might decide for himself that the northern schemers were victimizing him and that he should negotiate a better deal than his neighbors should over the tree debacle. Such a discussion was brought up with the buyers and therefore the landowner would try to drive a harder bargain. Because of this occurrence, the companies decided to administer through a county employee, who was engaged by the company, and gain the confidence through friendly words. These men, who knew the mountaineer and his ways, began a verbal communication with the land-owner and reassured him that his trees were worth very little, and that he and his descendants might never get this opportunity again. (These local company agents might possibly buy the trees from the owner and never disclose to the company his plans.) Since the local mountaineer had no form of information at his hands, such as a newspaper, etc., he could be easily persuaded that his trees were of no value.


The price of the trees was very minimal, but in the eyes of the seller he had driven a hard bargain. Many thousands of trees were bought by the buyer for as little as forty to seventy-five cents each, with very few of them bringing a dollar. Many local courthouses include a large number of timber deeds, however, these legal documents do not include the number of trees nor the price paid for them.


The majority of the timber bought by the outsiders was left standing until the railroads entered the Cumberland Plateau. Subsequently, great quantities of timber was cut and used in the housing boom, which arrived before and after the First World War. The railroads were the positive authority for transportation of the timber until the Great Depression. 


Representatives of the large timber conglomerates began probing into the actual deeds of the mountaineers and found that the pioneers were putting claim to lands in which they had no legal title. As a result the companies sent groups of surveyors to survey lands which had not been formally registered in previous years. These surveys typically started at the mouth of the stream and were thereby investigated. 


Sometimes a mountaineer shot a surveyor or ran his pack off the property. Over time, and little by little, the surveyors completed their job. With their labor being finalized, it was found that much of the Plateau was laced with an over-abundance of inconsistent and overlapping land titles, consequences being, a consistent quarrel between the coal and timber companies along with the pioneers. Through litigation, the companies came out on top and won a long succession of lawsuits, and in due course stripped many of the landowners of their properties, which had supported their subsistence for many years.


Up to about 1910 many thousands of mountaineers labored a large portion of each year to assemble logs for the down-river market places. Frequently the large timber companies employed these mountaineers to harvest the trees on company lands and haul them to the streams. It seems that most of the logs felled by the pioneers in the years mentioned were harvested on un-sold lands. These trees were to some extent inferior for which the companies were reluctant to pay.


Eventually the mountaineer attained quite a sum for his timber. However, he was quite perplexed over his lack of reasonable values. Corporate bonds were not in his vocabulary and in many counties there were no banks in which to deposit his newly found gains. Much of his recently found cash was spent on firearms in defense of criminal prosecutions brought against himself or his family. Another expense was the hiring of a lawyer in which he necessarily needed in defense of his land rights.


A portion of the capital was used in improving his home. Factory necessities such as beds and chairs and a new watch were also an important addition to the mountaineer and his family. A weakness for whiskey or any other form of alcoholic beverage was in a way a form of relief from the many lawsuits, etc. 


The mountaineer had to sustain many heartbreaks during this long ordeal, moreover, winding up broke and sadder, but much the wiser. 

TRAIN TRIP

Part I


While rummaging through the archives at the Campbell County Historical Society, the writer came across an article entitled, “To the State Line over the Kentucky and Ohio (K. & O.) Railroad,” which was published in the Knoxville Daily Tribune, Saturday, May 5, 1883. The trip was taken on the railroad from Knoxville to Jellico in 1883. We will now transcribe it as it was actually written.


The remainder of the party which went out on the line of the K. & O. road Tuesday morning returned to the city yesterday. The party which left Knoxville on the special train was composed of Major Henry Fink, General Manager of the East Tennessee, Virginia and Georgia System of Railroads; Major J.F. O’Brien, General Superintendent; Major F.K. Huger, Superintendent; B.R. Hutchcraft, of the Jellico Mining Company; E.E. McCroskey, of the Standard Mining Company; John M. Brooks and E.J. Davis, of the East Tennessee Coal Company; W.S. Gears, of the Coal Creek Company, M.J. Condon, railroad contractor, Gustav Murmann, engineer for the Standard Mining Company. There were a number of others in the party including a Tribune representative.


We left Knoxville a few minutes past 7 o’clock, a heavy rain falling at the time. But for the rain the party would probably have been twice as large. The railroad officials went to inspect the road while the other members of the party went to examine the coal mines near the State line and to look at the country. The train consisted of two cars. One was a passenger coach and the other was the elegant official and palace dining car belonging to the road.


The first point inspected was the notorious Black Oak Ridge which so many land slides have occurred during the last year. The last slide occurred last month stopping the trains for nearly a week. Trains now pass without difficulty though a large force of hands is still at work removing the large quantities of dirt which only awaits another rain to slide down and cover the track. To make the road at this point perfectly safe for next winter will require the removal of more than a thousand car loads of dirt. The cut through the ridge is very deep and it is thought by some that the building of a tunnel would be the cheapest protection against the slides which are likely to occur here for several years. Beyond Black Oak is more than a mile of new road which was built last summer for the purpose of lightening the grade and shortening the distance. It is a splendid piece of work.


Soon after passing this point the rain ceased and the skies began to brighten. The coal men settled down to telling jokes while the railroad men from the rear end of the observation car examined the road critically.


All the towns along the line from Knoxville to Careyville are brightening up. All of them have handsome new storehouses, residences or cottages. The zinc works and the lumber companies are making Clinton lively. Coal Creek is improving rapidly. Almost every town along the road can boast of some manufacturing or mining enterprise. The neat farm houses, new barns and fences are closely cultivated fields along the line indicate that the farmers are also prospering.


The most expensive structure on the K and O. Railroad is the Careyville tunnel, a short distance south of Careyville. About two years ago the woodwork which supported the tunnel on the inside caught fire and the dirt began to cave in. The work of repairing was at once, but a seam of coal shale in the tunnel had caught fire and the smoke drove the workmen out. The fire continued to burn for several months, and until it was extinguished little work could be done. In the meantime a zig-zag road was built across the mountain, and by this means trains have been crossing the mountain for nearly two years at a great expense and loss of time. A series of accidents retarded the work in the tunnel, the great rain-fall two weeks ago delaying the completion of the work two weeks. The Careyville tunnel will be completed by the middle of the present month. 


The railroad officials and several others of the party walked through the tunnel conducted by Major Anderson, who has the work in charge. We found the work all completed except 28 feet of the arch, which was yet to be turned. The tunnel is about 15 feet wide and is 20 feet high from the track to the keystone of the arch. The sides are built up of massive stone, the walls to the spring of the arch being about 14 feet high. The arch is of brick and is capable of resisting any pressure which could possibly be brought upon it. The portals of the tunnel are of sandstone and present a splendid appearance. The entire cost of this tunnel will not fall short of $150,000, and when completed it will be one of the best and most perfect structures of the kind in the United States. For several months a double force of nearly a hundred hands have been worked in the Careyville tunnel. About thirty of them are convicts. 



The next point of interest is the Elk Gap Tunnel some distance beyond Careyville. It is 1,799 feet long and the road through it is a curve. This is the highest point on the road between Knoxville and the Kentucky State line. It is 1,750 feet above the sea level or 750 feet higher than Knoxville. The mountain through which the tunnel is cut is the water-shed between the East Tennessee valley and the Cumberland. The water from one slope of the mountain finds its way into the Tennessee River. For several miles beyond this tunnel the road is cut into the sides of the mountains, and is carried over the deep ravines and gorges by immense fills and trestles of great height. On the left it seems a thousand feet to the bottom of the valley down the steep and rugged mountain sides while on the right the ragged crest of the mountain chain is so far up as to seem almost in the clouds. The forest trees are in tender leaf and mountain wild flowers cluster on the slopes above and below the railroad.


A few miles farther on is the wonder of East Tennessee. Within one mile the road runs through five tunnels of solid limestone. As we enter the first tunnel we see through three tunnels and into the mouth of the fourth one. We can stand in the entrance of the fourth tunnel and looking back at a glance through the fourth and fifth. These tunnels are through five spurs of the mountain and are cut through solid limestone. They need no artificial arches, for they are supported by the everlasting rocks. The portals are not the entries to dark and gloomy caves in the mountain gorges, but like portals to the enchanted grottoes of fair land. There is not such a sight on any railroad in the United States and there are few natural scenes more magnificent than that which greets the vision of the traveler as he speeds across the deep ravines and darts through the solid rock ribs of old Pine Mountain. As we emerge from the fifth tunnel the beautiful Elk Valley burst upon our view. Hundreds and hundreds of feet below and to the north and west the fertile fields of the valley stretch out before us smiling in the spring sunshine through the tears of the morning May shower. Beyond the valley is the Jellico Mountain range beneath the crust of which are exhaustless mines of coal, more than the world could consume in a hundred years.


But we must take another look at Pine Mountain from the solid sides of which has been chipped a pathway for the iron horse. Pine Mountain is a geological wonder. In it can be found the rocks of every formation since the world began. It was thrown up thousands of years ago during a great convulsion of the earth and the upheaval brought to the surface the bottom crust and exposed to the light the light the rocks that were made millions of years ago. Pine Mountain is an irregular, distorted mass of the strata of all the past geological ages. It is a fine study for the Geologists.


But we cannot wait for a lecture on geology, for the train is dashing on and we are in Hell’s Point Gorge, and soon we are in the darkness of Hell’s Point tunnel. The tunnel is cut through solid sandstone. Hell’s Point is a cut off from Pine Mountain and is the divide between Big Elk and Little Elk Fork of the Cumberland River.


From this point the road is built through a country comparatively level. It is a broad valley with Pine Mountain on the right and Jellico on the left. At Newcomb, three miles south of the State line, passes within a mile of the Standard Coal Mines and the Jellico Mines which are being opened up in spurs of Jellico Mountain. From Newcomb to the State line the country between the two mountain chains is almost perfectly level. On the Kentucky side of the East Tennessee Coal Company is opening the new coal mines.


The station here is to be known ad Jellico. It is a beautiful location for a town and in a few years will doubtless be a place as important as Bristol. The train arrived in Jellico a short time after noon. The officers of the road examined the connection at the State line and the whole party passed over into Kentucky. They remained only a few minutes and returned to the train for dinner. 


A handsome depot building is being erected at Jellico and a pretty little town springing up. A handsome new hotel has just been completed. Along the line from Careyville to Jellico little towns are growing up where the stations have been marked. The East Tennessee, Virginia and Georgia Railroad company encourages and stimulates the erection of neat buildings by setting a good example. The company is erecting at each station a handsome depot, an elegant cottage for the section-master and comfortable and neat houses for the section hands.


The entire road is in fair condition, and we see nothing to prevent the running of through trains for Louisville as soon as the Careyville tunnel is finished. There are no less that fourteen iron bridges between Careyville and the State line. Everything bears marks of a substantial finish seldom seen on a new railroad. 


After dinner at Jellico the officers of the road returned to Knoxville, the remainder of the party starting off for the mountains. 

(Many thanks to Trulene Nash at the Campbell County Historical Society for allowing the writer to use this material,)


. 

TREE HARVESTING IN THE CUMBERLANDS


The Cumberland mountaineers had for many years depended on their tree harvests for a fairly decent living. They would cut them and transport them to the nearby rivers where the spring tides would plummet them to the nearest markets. 


But in the decade of the 1870s the market took a new twist; the Cumberlands had become, through various investigations, a fairly new market to the speculators in the North concerning the virgin forests. New York, Philadelphia and Cincinnati opportunist had begun to explore the possibilities of becoming rich off the Cumberland’s coal and tree markets. 


Because of the ever-increasing population in the North, a great demand was stimulated for the rich recourses in the Cumberland Mountains. Prior to the First World War, capitalists from a half-dozen Northern states fielded a number of agents locating the wild mountain trails and the all-important boundary lines of these gallant mountaineers.  
Surveying of these magnificant lands was done in anticipation of the great iron railroad, which would ultimately come. With this new innovation surely on its way, the buying companies would increase their profits many times over. 


Corporations were now on the lookout for the precise purpose of buying the mountain timber. News traveled fast in regards to this rich newly founded resource, with many small lumber companies now seemingly turning their attention to the great Plateau.

Lawyers were sent by some firms merely to investigate the land titles and their legalities, with a few of them actually living in the deep forests. The corporations sometimes imported lawyers for deed searches. Sales were agreed upon and the huge trees were soon passing into the hands of the Eastern and Northern conglomerates. 


The mountaineer seldom had cash to deal with, it being so scarce. With a few hundred dollars in his pocket now it seemed like a fortune. However, his craving for material things was not the most important thing in his life, his subsistence remaining simple. His desires consisted of a rifle and a pistol, a good horse or two, some ‘factory’ clothes for his wife, food for his livestock, and a good dwelling which the family could call home. 


Roads into these mountains had much to be desired, they being in deplorable condition. Earlier, some of the bottoms had been cleared of the trees where frequently a small cove was planted in the form of a garden, which incorporated the necessities of life. This small plot was also used for pasturing the animals. 


Most of the tree line was found extending from the bottom to the extreme top. The giant poplars and white oaks were basically found at the foot of the hills, which extended to the top where the smaller oaks and chestnuts were prevalent. The giant walnuts were found in great abundance, they being nearly perfect. The ever-present poplars towered 
over the other trees with their perfectly straight alignment, they sometimes reaching a height of 175 feet with a diameter of seven or eight feet. 


The giant white oaks were a large if not valuable tree, their thickness sometimes reaching a total of five feet. Also included in the forest were red, black and chestnut oaks along with a tremendous amount of hickories, beeches, maples, basswoods, persimmon, birches, willows, cedars, pines, hemlocks, and in addition, we should not forget the giant sycamores which lined the creek banks. Our moderate climate zone has dotted the Cumberlands with the greatest assortment of trees in the world.  


Over time, some tens of thousands of acres of trees fell to the capitalist dictators. However, an inquisitive neighbor might decide for himself that the northern schemers were victimizing him and that he should negotiate a better deal than his neighbors should over the tree debacle. Such a discussion was brought up with the buyers and therefore the landowner would try to drive a harder bargain. Because of this occurrence, the companies decided to administer through a county employee, who was engaged by the company, and gain the confidence through friendly words. These men, who knew the mountaineer and his ways, began a verbal communication with the land-owner and reassured him that his trees were worth very little, and that he and his descendants might never get this opportunity again. (These local company agents might possibly buy the trees from the owner and never disclose to the company his plans.) Since the local mountaineer had no form of information at his hands, such as a newspaper, etc., he could be easily persuaded that his trees were of no value.


The price of the trees was very minimal, but in the eyes of the seller he had driven a hard bargain. Many thousands of trees were bought by the buyer for as little as forty to seventy-five cents each, with very few of them bringing a dollar. Many local courthouses include a large number of timber deeds, however, these legal documents do not include the number of trees nor the price paid for them.


The majority of the timber bought by the outsiders was left standing until the railroads entered the Cumberland Plateau. Subsequently, great quantities of timber was cut and used in the housing boom, which arrived before and after the First World War. The railroads were the positive authority for transportation of the timber until the Great Depression. 


Representatives of the large timber conglomerates began probing into the actual deeds of the mountaineers and found that the pioneers were putting claim to lands in which they had no legal title. As a result the companies sent groups of surveyors to survey lands which had not been formally registered in previous years. These surveys typically started at the mouth of the stream and were thereby investigated. 


Sometimes a mountaineer shot a surveyor or ran his pack off the property. Over time, and little by little, the surveyors completed their job. With their labor being finalized, it was found that much of the Plateau was laced with an over-abundance of inconsistent and overlapping land titles, consequences being, a consistent quarrel between the coal and timber companies along with the pioneers. Through litigation, the companies came out on top and won a long succession of lawsuits, and in due course stripped many of the landowners of their properties, which had supported their subsistence for many years.


Up to about 1910 many thousands of mountaineers labored a large portion of each year to assemble logs for the down-river market places. Frequently the large timber companies employed these mountaineers to harvest the trees on company lands and haul them to the streams. It seems that most of the logs felled by the pioneers in the years mentioned were harvested on un-sold lands. These trees were to some extent inferior for which the companies were reluctant to pay.


Eventually the mountaineer attained quite a sum for his timber. However, he was quite perplexed over his lack of reasonable values. Corporate bonds were not in his vocabulary and in many counties there were no banks in which to deposit his newly found gains. Much of his recently found cash was spent on firearms in defense of criminal prosecutions brought against himself or his family. Another expense was the hiring of a lawyer in which he necessarily needed in defense of his land rights.


A portion of the capital was used in improving his home. Factory necessities such as beds and chairs and a new watch were also an important addition to the mountaineer and his family. A weakness for whiskey or any other form of alcoholic beverage was in a way a form of relief from the many lawsuits, etc. 

THE NAME TENNESSEE


Did you ever wonder where “Tennessee” got its name? The term, “Tennessee,” is of Native American origin. This great expanse stretches from the mighty Appalachians to the banks of the mighty Mississippi. The Spanish explorer, Captain Juan Pardo, was the first to record the word form during his expedition in the summer of 1567. It was at this time he and his assemblage of soldiers left their home base on the coast of present-day South Carolina and journeyed inland. The detachment passed through many Native American villages while traveling, observing the names as they passed through. Sometime during this long expedition the Spaniards passed through a village called “Tanasqui.”


Certainty as to the village’s site was skeptical. However, accounts left by a few of Pardo’s men record the distances traveled along the courses of the river, and they also  mention traveling along the mountains. These accounts of the village would become apparent that it was located in Cherokee country. 


The word form, Tanasqui-Tennessee was also the name of two Cherokee towns, which survived to later times. One of these villages was located on the Hiwassee River in what is now Polk County Tn., and the other on the little Tennessee River in present-day Monroe County, Tn.; this mighty State was seemingly named from the latter.


Some contact was activated with the Cherokee and Pardo’s Spaniards, who were based on the seacoast, over the next century and a half. However, because of the chance of journeying through the territory of the enemies, and the distance between them, the Creek and Catawbas limited their contact with the invaders. 


History states that James Glen, the Governor of South Carolina, authored the modern day spelling, T-e-n-n-e-s-s-e-e. He used this spelling in his official correspondence during the 1750s. According to present-day belief, it was Andrew Jackson who proposed the name for our State, when it joined the Union in 1796. However, public records state that Daniel Smith, secretary of the old Southwest Territory, proposed the first draft of the constitution for the formation of the new state, namely, “the name of the State of Tennessee.”


Origin of word “Tennessee” is notably lost to the ages. The correct meaning will possibly never be known with inclusive accuracy. However, there is one credible version, the word Tennessee is assumed to be of the Cherokee modification of a Creek word, which was obviously tainted by the first whites. 


The Cherokee first began settling in the Little Tennessee River Valley where they occupied sites previously belonging to the Creek Nation. There are a number of location names in the Cherokee country that are of the Creek language, which are reminders of their earlier presence there. Tallassee and Tomotley were two Cherokee villages on the Little Tennessee River which were of Creek origin. More than likely the Cherokee village of Tannassy was constructed on the site of an earlier Creek settlement, with the Cherokee using the same name and did the Creek Nation.


One suggestion reveals that “Tennessee” is a Yuchi word, meaning “meeting place.” Ancient Cherokee custom states that there was a small community of Yuchi who inhabited the locale in the region of the mouth of the Hiwassee River located close to the Overhill Indian tribes. Also located within this area was a village where the Tanasqui-Tennessee name was located. 


The Yuchi spoke their own tongue, yet most of them were said to have spoken Creek and Cherokee. Furthermore, if Tennessee were a Yuchi word, it would be correct to say that it is a Creek word, because the Yuchi were one of the many tribes that made up the Creek Confederacy.


Samuel Cole Williams, a great writer and historian of Tennessee, wrote that the word “Tennessee” translated into the word “the bends,” which undeniably means the “bends” of a river. Some conflict would register as to the Yuchi paraphrase of “meeting place.” If one were to think of a river bending until it more or less comes back to meet itself, the translations have a comparable significance.


Maps, documents and letters found in historical accounts state that the lands of the Overhill Indians increasingly view it as the land of the Tannassy, with a number of different spellings. Some of the spellings are:


Tennassee, Tunasse, Tanase, Tunesee, Tonice, Tinnace, Tannassy, Tanasee, Tannassie, Tannessee, Tannasie, Tenessee, Tenesay, Tenasi, Tansai, Tunissee, Tanase, Tanasqui, Tenesee, Tanisee, Tanesi, Tunese, Tinassee, Tunnissee, Tennisee, Tennesy, Tennecy, Tunassee, Tanasee.



(Material for this article was taken from The Tellico Times - Author, William Baker.

PHILLIP FRANCIS


While searching through Marshall’s McGhee’s book, “Coal Mining Towns,” the writer came upon an account of Phillip Francis written by Melba Jackson. It goes into a description of some of his coal mining experiences and also a history of some of the nearby mines during his era.  


Mr. Francis spent 72 years mining coal. He used his own tools to mine even after he had been an expert for years. 


He was of Welsh decendancy and was born in Pennsylvania in 1853. His father died two months after the birth of Mr. Francis, and at the age of four, he was orphaned, or bound out, as the custom was then, to a family in Wadesville, a mining town. 


His education was limited to a few months, but by the age of eight, his official schooling was finalized. He sometime later ran away and went to work at less than 20 cents a day as a fan boy and slate picker in the mines.


Mr. Francis suffered several narrow escapes in the mines, and thought of never returning. However, sometime later, he returned to this dangerous occupation.


He married Annie Meyrick at Mahanoy City, Pa., on Jan. 9, 1875. He and his wife left Pennsylvania a year later and removed to Tennessee.


Knoxville was his destination with Caryville his next stop. At the latter location the East Tennessee Coal Company was operating a small mine. It was during this time that the Southern Railway (formerly the Knoxville & Ohio) operated in the vicinity. 


Evidently he worked in a drift mine and roomed with Jack Jeffries. Their place of residence was upstairs in a private room. Earnings for the pair were $3.00 a day. Their monthly living expenses were $20.00 for both. (At the time there were six Welsh mines at Caryville.)



Mr. Francis shortly thereafter returned to Pennsylvania. He later, in 1883, returned to Jellico, Tennessee. Here he worked for the East Tennessee Coal Co. for three years, where one day he was made foreman. The mine was affirmed to be in bad financial condition. This caught the attention of Mr. Francis and he later invested $1500 in the mine. 


With the extra financial gains toward the company, the mine improved. He was rewarded for his generosity and made General Superintendent. He spent 13 years with the company and then he gained employment at the Proctor Coal Co., where he spent nearly 22 years as General Superintendent. 


The great explosion at Fratersville, Anderson County, Tennessee, in the year 1902, caused the death of 184 miners. They immediately wired for Mr. Francis to come at once and bring experienced miners. Arriving at the scene, he found utter confusion. Several bodies had been recovered. Men, women and children displayed an erratic exhibit of confusion and grief. A Mr. Davis met Mr. Francis at the mine and put the latter in charge of getting the bodies out.


A few years after the Fratersville explosion, another blast took place at an adjacent  mine, taking the lives of 84 miners. Again, Mr. Francis was called upon for his help. 


After the death of his wife in 1933, Mr. Francis, at the age of 80, gathered his tools and went back to the mine. 


A supplement was added to this story which includes some history of the different mines in the neighborhood. 


The early settlers had no use for the coal deposits except for small ventures. From 1806 to 1868, coal mining was limited to the immediate families. The blacksmiths used coal because of the extreme heat it produced. Small amounts of coal were mined before the Civil War, while afterward it was found to be quite useful and immediately was developed into a giant industry. 


During 1868, James Kennedy and William Marrow near Caryville opened three or four small mines. A sudden drop in the rocks stopped the progress of the operations. Their know-how and money was limited as to how to extract the hidden coal. Prior to this tragedy, they mined 368,325 bushels a year. 



Coal mining became more significant after the railroad came to Caryville in 1877. 


The year 1911 finds several coal mines in the area of Caryville. They are: Bear Wallow Mine, Owner Bear Wallow Coal and Coke Co; Block No. 2 Mine, owner Block Coal and Coke Co.; Block Monarch Mine, owner and operator, Block Coal and Coke Co.; Caryville Mine, Owner and operator, Caryville Coal Co.; Red Ash Mine, Owner, East Tennessee Iron and Coal Co.; Rock Spring Mine, owner East Tennessee Iron and Coal Co.; Sun Mine, Owner and operator, Sun Coal Co.


Wages paid per day in Campbell County to each class of employee in 1911 were: Pick miners, $2.35; Machine miners, $3.20; Haulage men, $2.04; Others inside, $2.02; Foreman, $4.77; Outside workers - blacksmiths, $2.46; Timber men, $2.20; Others outside, $1.93.

EARLY TIMES OF THE LADIES


Women first came to this country from England. They were religiously treated as second-class persons. These laws stated as to whom they could marry, and what was considered a suitable woman-like conduct. Participation of the ladies in religious ceremonies was rare. 


It was considered a disgrace to wind up pregnant without a husband, consequences being the lady in question would be ignored by the rest of the community for such a regrettable situation. Experience from this unfortunate situation consequently kept most women from daring to engage in sex before marriage. Women who provided sex as a means of income were recognized as a part of the community, but were thoroughly rejected by the church and by ordinary citizens.


Some women entered this country as indentured servants. These women thus sought to pay off their trip to an owner. Seven years was the customary time frame before they were allowed their freedom. Marriage during this time was prohibited unless her future husband agreed to pay back the remainder of her debt. Money being rare during this time, this was considered  an almost impossible task.


The women in a household’s garden grew family food. Some families allowed the excess produce as well as butter, eggs and chickens to be sold. It seems that the largest commodity that women sold was flour. Processing of flour meant that grain had to be transported to a flourmill where it was ground.


Schooling for young girls was almost unheard of. They were taught in the homes, subjects being sewing, cooking, religious and explicit manners.


Money management and lands were the belongings of the head of the family.  Women were definitely under the control of these men. Traditional circumstance states that the man of the family decided for all what was best. 


The ladies, moving to the new western lands (west of the Alleghenies), worked hard to fulfill the obligations of building the home, caring for the children, and feeding the family, that it was sometimes unbearable.The woman, minus an advantage, had to work extremely hard to fulfill her need in yesteryear’s society. 

Tidying up


I guess if you were lucky enough to wash up in the morning, your room consisted of a small basin with a pitcher of water. Neither water nor soap was wasted because if too much lather was applied it meant more water. Many families cleaned up in the kitchen. Normally a teakettle was set on the wood stove which meant you could slip a little hot water to the cold for a nice clean-up.


The mother gave haircuts. Jokes were always present when the bowls were set on the heads of boys; the hair that hung below the bowl was trimmed, this being the common practice. The same process was prepared for the girls. If the girl’s mother had the time and patience, braids were the best options. This process was to roll your hair into little rag strips, which were tied in little knots before bedtime. This only worked if your hair was inclined to curl. Sometimes hair was rolled over little bags of cut hair, or cotton, and your own hair pulled over it which was hair pinned in place.


Usually when the pioneer took his or her weekly bath the hair was washed. Girls, always trying to look attractive, would rinse their hair with rainwater from barrels collected outside. Well water was hard and rainwater was soft. The latter would allow the soap to lather more and  result in a more thorough rinse, very possibly leaving your hair softer and shinier. Vinegar was another product used to rinse the hair. Unfortunately, it had  an overpowering odor that was quite offensive. 


The young ladies always carried a handkerchief. The material consisted of small cotton squares, often cut from flour sacks. These items were decorated with embroidery work made up of the finest stitches. Petticoats were laced in this way with the utmost beauty. Hopefully the young lady could have two petticoats to make her skirt stand out more fully. 


Lace with crocheting was the first procedure the young lady learned. Once learned, lace was placed on everything including pillowcases, petticoats, nightgowns and undershirts. The young lady first learned to crochet with heavier thread. Time improved the process, results being a lighter thread. This method was quite inexpensive and a ball of thread could go a long way. Also on the list of important items was their small homemade purses, generally used to contain flower petals which would smell nice in their clothes.


Tooth brushing generally consisted of a rag dipped in baking soda and applied with a finger. Aprons, always the homemade style, were important to keep the clothes clean as long as possible. Many men wore aprons when they butchered or cooked. 


Shaving in pioneer days was quite different than today. Men owned a leather strap upon which they honed their razors to sharpen them. These razors of olden days were called straight edge. The razor folded out much like a pocketknife does. 


Men would steam their face with a hot cloth. Then they would take a small round brush and a little water. The soap was then held in a cup and they would circle the brush to the soap until lather was formed. The lather was then placed on the face and the razor more or less scraped off the whiskers.

TRAIN TRIP


While rummaging through the archives at the Campbell County Historical Society, the writer came across an article entitled, “To the State Line over the Kentucky and Ohio (K. & O.) Railroad,” which was published in the Knoxville Daily Tribune, Saturday, May 5, 1883. The trip was taken on the railroad from Knoxville to Jellico in 1883. We will now transcribe it as it was actually written.


The remainder of the party which went out on the line of the K. & O. road Tuesday morning returned to the city yesterday. The party which left Knoxville on the special train was composed of Major Henry Fink, General Manager of the East Tennessee, Virginia and Georgia System of Railroads; Major J.F. O’Brien, General Superintendent; Major F.K. Huger, Superintendent; B.R. Hutchcraft, of the Jellico Mining Company; E.E. McCroskey, of the Standard Mining Company; John M. Brooks and E.J. Davis, of the East Tennessee Coal Company; W.S. Gears, of the Coal Creek Company, M.J. Condon, railroad contractor, Gustav Murmann, engineer for the Standard Mining Company. There were a number of others in the party including a Tribune representative.


We left Knoxville a few minutes past 7 o’clock, a heavy rain falling at the time. But for the rain the party would probably have been twice as large. The railroad officials went to inspect the road while the other members of the party went to examine the coal mines near the State line and to look at the country. The train consisted of two cars. One was a passenger coach and the other was the elegant official and palace dining car belonging to the road.


The first point inspected was the notorious Black Oak Ridge which so many land slides have occurred during the last year. The last slide occurred last month stopping the trains for nearly a week. Trains now pass without difficulty though a large force of hands is still at work removing the large quantities of dirt which only awaits another rain to slide down and cover the track. To make the road at this point perfectly safe for next winter will require the removal of more than a thousand car loads of dirt. The cut through the ridge is very deep and it is thought by some that the building of a tunnel would be the cheapest protection against the slides which are likely to occur here for several years. Beyond Black Oak is more than a mile of new road which was built last summer for the purpose of lightening the grade and shortening the distance. It is a splendid piece of work.


Soon after passing this point the rain ceased and the skies began to brighten. The coal men settled down to telling jokes while the railroad men from the rear end of the observation car examined the road critically.


All the towns along the line from Knoxville to Careyville are brightening up. All of them have handsome new storehouses, residences or cottages. The zinc works and the lumber companies are making Clinton lively. Coal Creek is improving rapidly. Almost every town along the road can boast of some manufacturing or mining enterprise. The neat farm houses, new barns and fences are closely cultivated fields along the line indicate that the farmers are also prospering.


The most expensive structure on the K and O. Railroad is the Careyville tunnel, a short distance south of Careyville. About two years ago the woodwork which supported the tunnel on the inside caught fire and the dirt began to cave in. The work of repairing was at once, but a seam of coal shale in the tunnel had caught fire and the smoke drove the workmen out. The fire continued to burn for several months, and until it was extinguished little work could be done. In the meantime a zig-zag road was built across the mountain, and by this means trains have been crossing the mountain for nearly two years at a great expense and loss of time. A series of accidents retarded the work in the tunnel, the great rain-fall two weeks ago delaying the completion of the work two weeks. The Careyville tunnel will be completed by the middle of the present month. 


The railroad officials and several others of the party walked through the tunnel conducted by Major Anderson, who has the work in charge. We found the work all completed except 28 feet of the arch, which was yet to be turned. The tunnel is about 15 feet wide and is 20 feet high from the track to the keystone of the arch. The sides are built up of massive stone, the walls to the spring of the arch being about 14 feet high. The arch is of brick and is capable of resisting any pressure which could possibly be brought upon it. The portals of the tunnel are of sandstone and present a splendid appearance. The entire cost of this tunnel will not fall short of $150,000, and when completed it will be one of the best and most perfect structures of the kind in the United States. For several months a double force of nearly a hundred hands have been worked in the Careyville tunnel. About thirty of them are convicts. 



The next point of interest is the Elk Gap Tunnel some distance beyond Careyville. It is 1,799 feet long and the road through it is a curve. This is the highest point on the road between Knoxville and the Kentucky State line. It is 1,750 feet above the sea level or 750 feet higher than Knoxville. The mountain through which the tunnel is cut is the water-shed between the East Tennessee valley and the Cumberland. The water from one slope of the mountain finds its way into the Tennessee River. For several miles beyond this tunnel the road is cut into the sides of the mountains, and is carried over the deep ravines and gorges by immense fills and trestles of great height. On the left it seems a thousand feet to the bottom of the valley down the steep and rugged mountain sides while on the right the ragged crest of the mountain chain is so far up as to seem almost in the clouds. The forest trees are in tender leaf and mountain wild flowers cluster on the slopes above and below the railroad.


A few miles farther on is the wonder of East Tennessee. Within one mile the road runs through five tunnels of solid limestone. As we enter the first tunnel we see through three tunnels and into the mouth of the fourth one. We can stand in the entrance of the fourth tunnel and looking back at a glance through the fourth and fifth. These tunnels are through five spurs of the mountain and are cut through solid limestone. They need no artificial arches, for they are supported by the everlasting rocks. The portals are not the entries to dark and gloomy caves in the mountain gorges, but like portals to the enchanted grottoes of fair land. There is not such a sight on any railroad in the United States and there are few natural scenes more magnificent than that which greets the vision of the traveler as he speeds across the deep ravines and darts through the solid rock ribs of old Pine Mountain. As we emerge from the fifth tunnel the beautiful Elk Valley burst upon our view. Hundreds and hundreds of feet below and to the north and west the fertile fields of the valley stretch out before us smiling in the spring sunshine through the tears of the morning May shower. Beyond the valley is the Jellico Mountain range beneath the crust of which are exhaustless mines of coal, more than the world could consume in a hundred years.


But we must take another look at Pine Mountain from the solid sides of which has been chipped a pathway for the iron horse. Pine Mountain is a geological wonder. In it can be found the rocks of every formation since the world began. It was thrown up thousands of years ago during a great convulsion of the earth and the upheaval brought to the surface the bottom crust and exposed to the light the light the rocks that were made millions of years ago. Pine Mountain is an irregular, distorted mass of the strata of all the past geological ages. It is a fine study for the Geologists.


But we cannot wait for a lecture on geology, for the train is dashing on and we are in Hell’s Point Gorge, and soon we are in the darkness of Hell’s Point tunnel. The tunnel is cut through solid sandstone. Hell’s Point is a cut off from Pine Mountain and is the divide between Big Elk and Little Elk Fork of the Cumberland River.


From this point the road is built through a country comparatively level. It is a broad valley with Pine Mountain on the right and Jellico on the left. At Newcomb, three miles south of the State line, passes within a mile of the Standard Coal Mines and the Jellico Mines which are being opened up in spurs of Jellico Mountain. From Newcomb to the State line the country between the two mountain chains is almost perfectly level. On the Kentucky side of the East Tennessee Coal Company is opening the new coal mines.


The station here is to be known ad Jellico. It is a beautiful location for a town and in a few years will doubtless be a place as important as Bristol. The train arrived in Jellico a short time after noon. The officers of the road examined the connection at the State line and the whole party passed over into Kentucky. They remained only a few minutes and returned to the train for dinner. 


A handsome depot building is being erected at Jellico and a pretty little town springing up. A handsome new hotel has just been completed. Along the line from Careyville to Jellico little towns are growing up where the stations have been marked. The East Tennessee, Virginia and Georgia Railroad company encourages and stimulates the erection of neat buildings by setting a good example. The company is erecting at each station a handsome depot, an elegant cottage for the section-master and comfortable and neat houses for the section hands.


The entire road is in fair condition, and we see nothing to prevent the running of through trains for Louisville as soon as the Careyville tunnel is finished. There are no less that fourteen iron bridges between Careyville and the State line. Everything bears marks of a substantial finish seldom seen on a new railroad. 


After dinner at Jellico the officers of the road returned to Knoxville, the remainder of the party starting off for the mountains. 

(Many thanks to Trulene Nash at the Campbell County Historical Society for allowing the writer to use this material,)

CAMPBELL COUNTY MISCELLANY


Campbell County has much history within its boundaries, from the Native Americans to the Interstate. With the kind permission of the Campbell County Historical Society, we shall look into some “olden times” from the “Land of the Lake” as written by the late Dr. George L. Ridenour. 


On June 1, 1792, an Indian named the Bench, or Benjie, along with his three cohorts, were located about 40 miles above Knoxville. Thomas McClain “was riding down the north side of the Holston and twelve miles south of the Clinch  and is many miles from the Indian Boundary.” McClain was fired upon and “was struck in his clothes and powder horn by as many as four balls but received no further injury.” As luck would have it his horse was unharmed and thus McClain put his spurs to the animal. He escaped to the upper community where he gave the alarm.


Thomas McClain was an early settler in Powell Valley, settling upon the land that Richard Henderson had purchased from the Indians. 
It is said that his tomahawk was an “upraised pick.” It is also stated that McClain would flee to the mountain behind him and helplessly watch as the Indians pilfered his home. 


McClain rock, appropriately named, is located about halfway between LaFollette and Cumberland Gap. This rock extends outward from the broad spectrum of Cumberland Mountain. The rock allows visitors to see the outstanding views up and down the valley. House Mountain and the butt of Clinch Mountain are clearly visible to the south with the northern environment entirely free from evidence of human surroundings. The view has not changed today from what it was in McClain’s time. The tip of the mountain in this area has an elevation of 2,960 feet, several feet higher than the pinnacle at Cumberland Gap. It stands as the highest point for nearly 50 miles.


Thomas McClain was married twice, his first wife’s name being unknown. He married second a Miss Crutchfield. They had three children, Thomas the oldest and William and John, twins. 


McClain traveled the lower country many times. He built the first stone house in Powell Valley in 1806-1808, which is still standing. The mantles and wardrobes were constructed of cherry and black walnut. All the lumber in the house was sawed by slave labor in a sawpit. 

COVE LAKE STATE PARK



The Indians predominantly cherished Walnut Cove (Cove Lake area), which was located on the Indians path leading from the Clinch River to the North. From the beginning of Indian inhabitance in the area the Native Americans had made the cove their stopping-off place. From here they ventured out for hunting escapades and would tell of the various adventures they had encountered. 


The cove was planted in small patches of Indian corn, beans and pumpkins. During these times and after the first settlers arrived, there were enormous walnut and hickory trees in which the fruit was stored for the Indians’ future food needs. Also enclosed within the vicinity was a supply of Indian peach trees, large wild cherries and wild plums, all being well protected. Wild grapes grew in abundance on the mountains. 


Needless to say, the council house was located on the banks of Cove Creek, positioned just a few yards from the ceremonial mound just below Eagle Bluff. At this point the Indians experienced the rites of the hunting trip and conceivably more than once discussed the last day’s hunt.


Caryville, the Cove Lake State Park, and Jacksboro are located upon a 5,000-acre land grant. This award was arranged by North Carolina in 1793 to Stockley Donelson  A short three years later Donelson sold to Andrew Jackson, later President of the United States, 2,000 acres of land on the north side of Clinch River “Beginning on the east side of Coal Creek at the mouth of the first branch that falls into said creek where the path crosses the creek that goes into the Cove.”


It was during this time that the Indians lived in the Cove. The Indian mound found at the park in Caryville was excavated during the building of Norris Dam. A structure was discovered about eight feet below the surface of the foundation, area being about 35 feet square. Rows of postholes for the posts used for the walls was discovered along with the support of the roof, which was constructed of cane matting and bark. On one end of the structure was found a baked clay chair and in the center was a hearth about two feet high and about six feet square. This portion was equipped with a fire pit in the center, which was of hard baked clay. The temple floor was hard packed, showing the wear and tear of many feet. 


The tribal chief very possibly sat on the throne during religious rites and clannish discussions. The tribe apparently lived around the council house.


An earthen bowl was discovered in the mound. Its dimensions were three feet in diameter and was divided into many segments. Each portion contained paints representing virtually every color in the rainbow; scientists did not recognize a shade of purple. The paints were perfectly preserved. The determination of the origin of the compositions and whether they were originally liquid or dry escaped the scientists.


The mound produced no artwork, conclusion being that the paints were used by the braves to decorate their faces for battle or by the medicine men in religious ceremonials.


THE INDIAN'S HORSES


When the Spaniards first penetrated into the continent of North America the only domesticated animal found was the dog. Some western tribes assert that their ancestors  had the horse long before the white man was seen, but it is more probable that the Indian pony long extensively used by the tribes on the plains is descended from the animals brought over by the Spaniards. When Cortez and DeSoto invaded the continent they found no horses, wild or domesticated. The Indians who had in South America domesticated the Llama, the alpaca and the dog, knew nothing of the horse and were astonished at the sight of the strange animals which the strangers rode. The horses abandoned by DeSoto near the Texas border are believed to be the progenitors of all the wild horses of North America. These horses, running wild, flourished and  increased greatly, showing how well the country was adapted to their needs.


The dog appears to have been common to all the Indian Tribes throughout America. The yelping of curs at night was a great annoyance to the white captives in Indian villages, and the loud and continuous barking of dogs sometimes prevented the white armies from surprising the Indians. In the Ohio villages the Indians used their dogs to assist them in hunting. Some tribes reared dogs and fattened for food. The Eskimo and other northern tribes used dogs for drawing sleds. All the Indian dogs, domesticated when the Spaniards first came, were probably descended from wolfish and they ancestors,  retained something of the aspect and disposition of their wild progenitors. 


Of all kinds of property belonging to the white men on the borders, horses were most likely to be stolen by the Indians. The theft of their horses greatly enraged the backwoodsmen against the  Indian. Horses were taken from the white settlements of the Ohio in Pennsylvania, Virginia and Kentucky before the first fortified stations were begun on the north side of the river. 


Wayne's treaty of peace with the Indians August 5, 1795, put an end to the victimizing of white men by Indians but horses continued to be stolen by them. 




One account of life among the Indians is given  by Col. James Smith's narrative of the remarkable occurrences during his four years captivity beginning in 1755. The Indian's horses, however, do not seem to have been numerous and while the hunters sometimes brought great quantities of meat and skins to the village on horseback, at other times the captive accompanied hunting parties on a distant hunt and after killing a number of deer and beavers they would return to the village heavy laden with skins and meat which, he says, they would carry on their backs, as they had no horse with them.


On one occasion  Col. Smith and an Indian companion were encamped  some distance from the village in the winter and they had a large amount of meat and skins to carry on their shoulders. They found three horses running wild and finding subsistence on the grass of a large treeless plain beneath the snow. They found it impossible to catch the horses. The Indians then proposed that they should run them down. Smith did not believe this could be done but the Indian said he had run down bear, deer, elk and buffalo and he believed that he could run down any animal except the wolf. The experiment was made and the two men began the chase at daylight on a cold day, the horses running in a circle of six or seven miles in circumference. The run was kept up all day, the Indian running all the time and Smith a part of the time. At dark the horses were found to run still with vigor and the task was abandoned.


David Zeisberger, the faithful Moravian missionary among the Indians, wrote in 1779 at his mission home on the Muskingum River in Ohio extensive notes on the life, manners and customs of the Indians. He makes little mention of their cattle and horses. He says: "Because the savages are accustomed to go about in the forest, which is their great delight, they do not care to keep cattle, for in that case they must remain at home to look after them and are prevented from going into the forest. Some have secured cattle, for they are fond of milk and butter. They have horses that roam about and are rarely used except when they wish to ride and it is too troublesome to break them to work." We read with some surprise that both cattle and horses were allowed to find their own food  in winter. Zeisberger says: "The Indians make little provisions to feed their cattle in the winter, for as there is no deep snow and the weather is generally mild, cattle and particularly horses can forage for themselves, finding feed in the woods. In the bottoms grass never quite dies away but remains green and toward the end of March and the beginning of April grows again."

GRIST MILLS


An account of the travels of John Muir, recorded in his journal beginning in September, 1867, includes a history of his travels through the less settled parts of Tennessee and North Carolina. Included in his profile is a short history of his observance of a grist mill. The journal goes as such:


"September 17, 1867.  Spent the day in botanizing, blacksmithing and examining grist mills. Grist mills, in the less settled parts of Tennessee and North Carolina, are remarkably simple affairs. A small stone, that a man might carry under his arm, is fastened to the vertical shaft of a little home-made boyish-looking back-water water-wheel, which, with a hopper and a box to receive the meal, is the whole affair. The walls of the mill are of underessed poles cut from the seedling trees and there is no floor, as lumber is dear. No dam is built. The water is conveyed along some hillside until sufficient fall is obtained, a  thing easily done in the mountains.


      "On Sundays you may see wild, unshorn, uncombed men coming out of the woods, each with a bag of corn on his back. From a peck to a bushel is a common grist. They go to the mill along verdant footpaths, winding up and down over hill and valley, and crossing many a rhododendron glen. The flowers and shining leaves brush against their shoulders and knees, occasionally knocking off their coon-skin caps. 


"The  first arrived throws his corn into the hopper, turns on the water, and goes to the house. After chatting and smoking he returns to see if his grist is done. Should the stones run empty for an hour or two,  it does no harm. 
 


"This is a  fair average in equipment of a score of mills that I saw in Tennessee. This one was built by John Vohn, who claimed that he could make it grind twenty bushels a day. But since it fell into other hands it can be made to grind only ten per day. All the machines in Kentucky and Tennessee are far behind the age." 

WATER WHEEL CONSTRUCTION


There are two main types of water wheels, the vertical and the horizontal.  The vertical wheels include the two most familiar types, the overshot and the  undershot. The amount of work which an overshot water wheel can do is controlled by the weight and distance of the water that falls on the wheel. 


The overshot waterwheel has many buckets around its edge. The weight of the water falling into these buckets causes the wheel to turn, reaching perhaps 80 per cent efficiency.  This  method is constructed on the principle of applying the water vertically, and thus utilizing all its power. The common overshot wheel, carries the water upon its upper surface nearly a quarter of its circumference before the water obtains its maximum power. This occurs when the water has descended to a position  with the chute of the wheel. 


The undershot water wheel is built so the water from the stream strikes against the buckets of the wheel at the bottom. This type of wheel has such a low efficiency that it was rarely used.


A brief description of a mill is as follows:  Water is directed into the  wheel through a chute.  The wheel is mounted  on an axle, which is connected  by belts or gearing with the machinery it is to operate.  The wheel has many curved blades. The force with which the water strikes the blades causes  the  wheel to rotate, which makes the shaft turn.  This rotates the shaft of the machinery being driven which is extended to the production source. An excellent example of a mill still in operation is the mill near Norris Dam. 


There was a type of mill called a "floating mill."  The mill was  not placed in a building but it was an apparatus with its machinery placed on two boats and the water wheel between the two assemblies.  One early account  referring to a floating mill  says: 


"I will recollect that in 1791 so scarce and dear was flour that the little that could be afforded in families was laid by to be used only in sickness, or for the entertainment of friends, and although corn was then abundant,  it was built in a small flat boat tied to the bank, its wheel turning slowly with the natural current running between the flat boat and a small pirogue anchored in the stream, and on which one end of its shaft rested; and having only one small pair of stones, it was at best barely sufficient to supply meal for the local inhabitants and neighboring families; and sometimes from low water and other unfavorable circumstances, it was of little  use, so that we were obliged to supply the deficiency from hand mills, a most laborious mode of grinding."


Many of the grist mills were small, rather crude structures, built of logs and with only a single run of stones. The dry seasons were particularly hard on the smaller streams that accommodated the mills. The cutting away of the forests lessened the water supply and many of the mills were abandoned.  A grist and sawmill, sometimes along with a fulling mill, were sometimes operated at the same site.


Obtaining flour and meal was decidedly a hardship for the early pioneers.  The mills were "a far piece" from the scattered homesites. Maize was the stable crop in which they depended. It was not uncommon for the early white inhabiter to go off to the mill in the  morning with a large sack of corn and return late in the day (much of this time was spent in waiting to have the corn ground) with a much smaller bag of meal.  The grinding capacity was very small. 


The main or principal crop of the early pioneers was Indian corn.  Meal was acquired  from the early mills much more as a rule than flour. The difficulty of getting corn ground at a mill proved to be such a hardship that huge quantities of maize were eaten minus the grinding process.  Parched corn was a common food to these trendsetters and when on long journeys they  tended to stuff their knapsacks full.  

AMERICAN INDIAN CULTURE HAS CHANGED

WAYS OF THE WORLD

 
Without a doubt, the American Indian and his ways changed the ways of the world and its societal culture more than any other civilization. It has been estimated that one-half of the world's food supply originated with the American Indian. 

Early Hunting Methods


One of the Indian's more skillful traits was their ingenuity and cunning for hunting. The early European explorers were amazed at this skill which lay in their genius and knowledge of the animal habits. Speed and accuracy took second place to this ability. 


Many methods were employed to trick the animals. One such maneuver was to imitate the call of birds and animals. Most of the time the sounds came from their throat. The cupping of their hands over their mouth allowed amplification or modifications of the sounds. Hunters would summon a buffalo cow by imitating the amplified sounds of her young calf. An Indian would be trained at an early age to imitate many bird calls such as the calls of ducks, geese, gulls, etc. 


The human voice, with its limited sounds, could only range so far. Substitutes were manufactured which consisted of whistles of clay, wood, antler, and bone. The main objective was to produce the call of a mate in distress or imitate a courtship sound.  A blade of grass held between two fingers and blown into would resemble the call of a fawn in distress, thus giving a summons for the doe. Another trick to attract the doe during mating season was by clanging deer antlers together.


Indian calls and whistles had their place, but the manufacturing of decoys to lure birds or animals were used extensively. Archaeologist have found ancient wooden and straw bird decoys throughout North America. These decoys were used then the same as today. They were floated on ponds and lakes to lure the migration of the birds overhead. 


The hunters of yesteryear also adapted a means of disguising themselves by which they wore the skins of the animals they hunted. With this masquerade in place they were able to sneak into the center of their prey. 


The buffalo was seemingly not frightened by the wolf. The Indian would slip into a wolf skin and walk amongst his prey. With much skill he would pick out the ablest animal and the kill would begin. If a skin was not available the hunters would camouflage themselves with plants that were tied to their body. A variety of dark paints were used on their bodies for the purpose of concealment. 

Fire Control


The recent fires in the Western states are a reminder that we as a country are not entirely safe from this ravaging atrocity. The American Indian, through his cultural and survival techniques, solved this problem of obliteration from fire centuries before white man's entry into this country. 


The great forests, upon the European's arrival, were not here simply because of natural occurrences, but because of the Indian's procedure of preserving them. They had been living amongst the mighty forests for centuries and had painstakingly sought to preserve them for future generations. 


The Indians burned the forest every year to destroy the small brush, reasoning being the maximizing of the growth of the trees and plants they found useful. Another reason for this strict control allowed the large trees to survive for the purpose of the carving out of dugout canoes. 


One advantage of the cleared forests was that during warfare the enemy had few places to hide and an ambush could possibly be averted. Uncleared land could pose a definite threat to the village living within it because the enemy could hide, set fire to it, and ultimately use it as a weapon. 


Firing of the forests triggered new growth and logically attracted large animals which resulted in food and skins for the Indians' welfare. 


Control by fire in the plains resulted in restriction of the buffalo. Because of this incident, the huge animal crossed the Mississippi and migrated into the Eastern forests and took up roots. Their adaptation caused them to be called "forest buffalo" rather than "plains buffalo."  


In their annual burnings of the plains, forest and prairies, the Indians systematically reduced the danger from uncontrolled fires set by lightning. By the reduction of dead lumber and plants, they diminished the chances of uncontrolled fire that could destroy their villages and croplands.  

BUFFALO TRAILS LED THE WAY FOR PIONEERS

 
At the arrival of the first Europeans, the American plains buffalo ranged over most of North America  in numbers estimated as high as 60,000,000. Around 1900, the great buffalo neared extinction. However, cooperative efforts by cattlemen and conservationists led to its protection; results, government reserves were eventually provided. At present managed herds tend to over-populate their ranges and must be reduced by controlled hunting.


The buffalo was the premier food and clothing source for the Native American. The skin was prepared and used as a robe, and sometimes it was tanned with the hair attached, and when turned in it made very warm moccasins. 


The Indians made the buffalo its prime meat source. Hunting being difficult in the winter time, the Indian laid in his meat supply which was "dried and jerked." This latter preparation was made by evenly cutting the fleshy parts of the animal into sheets rarely more than one inch in thickness. 


A preservative method was then commenced by dipping these strips into brine or salt. These strips were exposed to the sun and wind and dried before the decaying process set in. In this way, all the nutritive properties of the animal could be sustained.


Traveling over the grand North American continent was overcome by using the old buffalo and Indian trails, possibly the most famous being the Wilderness Road, or Daniel Boone's road. 
This old buffalo path led from Virginia to Kentucky. It was opened up as a passable trail by Daniel Boone from the Wautaga Settlement on the Holston River up to Otter Creek, Kentucky.  Its history is one of the blackest of pioneer days. It was called the Wilderness Road because of the wilderness of laurel thickets which lay between the settlements and the Cumberland Gap.


It followed the Great Warrior's Path through the crevice of the Alleghenies and the Blue Ridge. It next passed White Sulfur Springs over to Greenbriar to the New River, up an old Indian trail, over through Powell's (Powell) Valley to Cumberland Gap, up to Rock Castle Creek to Danville, and on to Lexington where it extended to the Indian Road over to the Falls of the Ohio, now Louisville. 


This buffalo trail continued from Lexington up to the mouth of the Licking, where the animal crossed to what is now Cincinnati. (Croghan, an Irish fur trader, who was a great friend to the Indians, tells in his journal of seeing a large number of buffaloes around the Great Bend of the Ohio, possibly in the vicinity of Big Bone Lick, Kentucky, just south of Cincinnati.)


The old Braddock Road, which was an old buffalo trail, was the second road which preceded the National Road, the old Washington Road being the first. The blazed trees which marked this route for many years pointed out the trail of the unfortunate British General Braddock to the battlefield of the Monongahela. 


Washington, previous to Braddock's expedition, had blazed a trail to the Ohio Valley, this route afterwards becoming the marching path of the British army. For seventy-five years Braddock's Road answered all the required needs of modern travel, however, journeying over it at most seasons was a rough experience. 


The great buffalo trails followed the streams north and south from the Ohio to the Great Lakes along the Muskingum, Scioto and both Miami rivers. Grand paths were worn by the buffalo across the portages. They crossed on the watershed from Pittsburgh along the ridges which divided the streams that flowed into the Great Lakes and the Ohio.


These migratory trails opened up the four great railroad routes from the Atlantic to the central west, they becoming the New York Central lines, the B & O lines, the C & O lines, and the Norfolk and Western. 


The buffalo was known for its speed and endurance, most assuredly if it got a head start on its opponent the horse, the latter was left behind in the dust. The buffalo was clumsily built but could leap from one rocky ledge to another. They could ascend and descend a vertical rise with great agility.


The impressive animal was driven west and ruthlessly butchered by the white man. With the completion of the Union Pacific, the Great Herd had been cut in half, and from 1870 to 1875 it is said the annual destruction was 2,500,000 head. 


They were killed in every possible fashion. The herds were stampeded and driven over cliffs and into rivers; the remainder of those left behind being crushed and slaughtered by thousands of those in front.


Being a migratory animal, he was therefore a great traveler; he went north in summer and south in winter. Many preferred to stay north in the winter, thus finding shelter in the valleys.


The most famous find for the gigantic animal is possibly at Big Bone Spring, Boone, Co., Ky., about twenty miles south of Covington, which in this locality the trail depressions were worn wider and deeper than anywhere else. Nearby, at Union, Boone Co., Ky., on Buffalo Ridge, is the old stamping grounds. Here they met in large numbers and found solace. 


The Tennessee River - Ohio - and Great Lakes Trail was part of a great trunk trail which ran from the Lakes to the Gulf, this trail being opened up by the great animal. At Danville one branch, as I mentioned earlier, went southeast through the Cumberland Gap and was known as the Wilderness Road. Another branch swung southwest through Nashville and was called the Natchez Trace, or the Boatman's Trail. 


The courageous and gallant pioneers who pushed their way into the new lands are long since departed and lie unknown in some neglected, unmarked grave. They witnessed the shrill bellowing of the great buffalo herds. Now, along the mighty buffalo trails, only the occasional whistle of a train or the blasting of the automobile horn can be heard.

BOW AND ARROW GREATEST LABOR-SAVING INVENTION 

FOR FLINT-USERS


In this particular article, the writer will elaborate on "flint" and its various uses concerning the first inhabitants of the North American continenent, the Native Americans. 


Bone and wood were not suitable for the construction of hunting implements of the early aborigines. The North American Indians, in existence long before the first white man appeared, relied on no type of manufacturing facilities as far as every day life was concerned. 
Stone tools of various kinds are still being found, but these were used mainly for grinding corn and utilized in various other fashions. 


The bow and arrow, being the most important Indian implement, was his greatest labor saving invention. It was made from the three kingdoms, animal, vegetable and mineral; animal intestines for the string, wood for the bow, and flint for the arrowhead. 


Some flint products are classified as arrowheads or spearheads, however, with some study, the shape of these objects, in regards to the size, are quite identifiable. The larger of the two was simply too heavy to be used as an arrowhead. The smaller arrowhead was about two inches in length with the larger points being used as javelin or spear heads, or some had handles attached and were used as knives. 


The Mound Builders and still later Indians made these implements of flint. The characteristic of this culture and the flint tool is indistinguishable. Huge quantities of flint must have been used because the chipped implements are widely scattered and are found in abundance year after year in the same plowed fields. A large portion of the flint was wasted because of broken implements in the crafting procedure, and large blocks of flint were sometimes rejected because of poor quality standards. 


We have talked so far of the basic use of flint, now where did the flint come from? About midway between Newark and Zanesville, Ohio, lies an eight mile stretch called Flint Ridge.  This area was undoubtedly the source of flint for the early Ohio aborigines. The entire distance of the ridge was scarred with the trenches and pits left by the ancient diggers. Stone suitable for their use was of top priority with  the quarrying of the stone being one of the great industries of the native tribes. 


Distances between the quarries were great. Two other locations of quarries were Millcreek, Union County, Ill., and in the vicinity of Hot Springs, Ark. 


W.C. Mills, an early archaeologist, made quite an extensive study of the different kinds of flint and the evolving of the flint explorations. 
The layer of flint is often covered with earth many feet in depth. The Indians made hundreds of excavations in order to find flint suitable for their cause. Their exploration of Flint Ridge, Ohio, stretched over thousands of acres, but the most valuable quarries were located within perhaps a 100 acre tract. 


After finding the flint and clearing away the earth, a layer of solid flint several feet in thickness would be found. The stratum was broken into slabs in order to be carried away. 
Mr. Mills believed the flint "was quarried by the use of heavy stone hammers or mauls for breaking off large slabs and perhaps wooden wedges for prying, tho no wedges of any kind were found." Hammerstones were found in small abundance, one which weighed 25 pounds. These hammers were mostly made of flint or granite which were used without handles, as no evidence of grooves for the attachment of a handle was evident. Only one such hammer was found at the Flint Ridge location. 


One test performed by Mr. Mills was that he experimented with the splitting of the stratum by fire. A hot fire was kept burning over the rock for a period of two hours. Removing the fire, water was thrown on the heated exterior. The experiment was not successful; a  large piece was split off but the flint was cracked into small pieces to a depth of only half an inch. 


 The first step of retrieving the flint was perhaps the most laborious for the Indians. Often large blocks were quarried and brought to the surface, which led to the second step, the blocking out the flint into such forms and sizes as to be easily carried. This work was carried on in perhaps a five or ten acre plot. 


The third step was the shaping of the blocks into segments in which could be transported to the many locations. Not all workshops were set up in the immediate vicinity for this task, some being as far away as one-hundred miles. 


The next challenge for the Indians was a way to fashion and shape the flint into a useful implement. The popular belief for the early archaeologists was that a type of metal tool was used to fashion and shape the arrow and spearheads, however, no evidence of this type has been found. 


It is a fact that a file, the hardest of our tools, will not make an impression on some of the flint. Some authorities suggested that the early inhabitants had a way of hardening copper to the necessary degree, but nothing of the sort has ever been discovered. It can be said that if a knowledge of metals were indeed an early art form, more physical evidence would have been uncovered. 


The  making of heavy articles, such as axes, pestles, etc., which did not require accuracy in the work, was done with a hard, tough pebble, the preference being some form of quartz. 
The purpose of this was to knock off all the large chips and to form his choice of implements. With the useless portion knocked away the Indian then pecked very lightly over the entire surface until an effective outline was visible. 


He then used a gritty sandstone to remove the hammer marks, and a still finer grained sandstone was used to create a smooth surface. All instruments for cutting or splitting had the edge made sharp and smooth by rubbing. If a groove was needed, it was made as early as possible. 


Fashioning an arrowhead or a spear point relied mainly on the tribes doing the crafting. Gerald Fowke, an early archaeologist, says the Mexicans held a piece of obsidian (volcanic glass) in the left hand, and pressed it firmly against the point of a small goat's horn held in the right; by moving it gently in different directions they chipped off small flakes until the arrow was complete. The great plains Indians used buckskin and a point of bone or antler to knick off the edges. They later laid the flat side of a flake on a blanket or another compliant and knicked off the edges with a knife. 


The arrowhead had two basic forms - the triangular, and the pointed oval or leaf-shaped, though both could have straight edges and a curved base. The arrow point of the smallest size to the larger spear type appear to have the same general shapes. 


Axes were sometimes made flat or grooved lengthwise on one side, so that a wedge could be driven in to tighten the handle. 


Tomahawks, or "celts," were set in a split stick, and firmly fastened; or the head was set into a hole cut in a stick, and some form of glue or gum was used to secure it. 


The use of stone implements by the Indians was one of amazement. White man, with all his mechanical skills and tools, would marvel in astonishment if he could witness the precision and accuracy the aborigine showed in his repertoire. When the Indian wanted a log for his house, or simply to make a canoe, he depended on the amazing rock called "flint." 


He dressed deer and other skins with a small celt, one side being often flat or beveled, to secure better results. His larger celts made good wedges when he wanted to split out boards; also they were good to strip off bark when he wanted to deaden trees for a clearing. Very small celts were set in the end of a bone or antler and used as knives and skinners. Square or rounded arrow points were used to wound or kill small game without puncturing the skin.

THE UNITED STATES POSTAL SYSTEM


With the present anthrax scare filtering through the postal system, I thought that a short history of the  majestic undertaking of the mail system might be appropriate at this time.  


The United States Postal System has progressed by leaps and bounds from the time of its conception. It has excelled mightily from the time when flimsy canoes were used up and down the main rivers, and from a time when the hearty post-riders risked their lives for something they believed in, essentially, the mail service. 


The first overseas mail received from the European countries into the United States was handled at Fairbanks Tavern in Boston in 1639. 


Benjamin Franklin initiated the first comprehensive mail system in the colonies in 1753. His structure included a faster mail service within the colonies and to the mother country. Through his devotion, he was appointed the first Postmaster of the U.S. in 1775.


In 1829 the Postmaster General became a member of the governmental cabinet. From the beginning a postal deficit was generated annually primarily because of the heavy mail delivery burden due to the ever-expanding population. 
By the first of the 20th century, the overbearing expenditure produced significant results. Improvements abounded with greater quality and range of services. 


In 1863, during the Civil War, a "standard" rate of postage, regardless of distance, was adopted. At this time the U.S. mail was divided into three classes, with a fourth being added in 1879. 


First class, or letter mail, is most commonly used by the public. Second class mail consists of newspapers and magazines; third class contains other printed content and merchandise weighing less than one pound; and fourth class consists of either merchandise or printed content that weighs one pound or more. Reasoning for these classes allows the post office to take into consideration the handling costs of different items that have different weights and distances transported. 


Also in 1863 a free delivery service was adopted which covered 49 cities and employed 440 letter carriers. The rural free delivery (RFD) method was instituted in 1896 and town delivery in 1912. 


At present, mail carriers are the predominant delivery person, while about one-tenth of the mail handled is through post office boxes, and much less through windows or counters. 


Registered mail was created in 1855, while the postal money order was initiated in 1864. Other postal office services and times in which they were created were international money orders, 1867; special delivery, 1885; parcel post and collect on delivery (COD), along with insurance services, 1913; and certified mail, 1955. 


Express mail was introduced in 1977 which led to the guaranteed delivery of overnight mail. Italy was the first to incorporate a permanent aerial mail service, the route being from her western coast to the island of Corsica. The United States followed this lead on May 15, 1918, the service covering the three cities of Philadelphia, New York and Washington. 



A postal savings program was introduced in 1911, accumulating more than 4,000,000 accounts by 1947. It was terminated in 1966 because of the public's drastic decline in the service. 


In 1862 a "traveling post office system" was set up which allowed the railway to dominate the mail system well into the 20th century. A gradual reduction in passenger service in the 1930s gave birth to a highway post office branch in 1941. Both services went into extinction in the 1950s and 1960s. 


An Act, signed into law August 12, 1970, transferred the Post Office Department into a government owned corporation, called the United States Postal Service. Under this law Congress's power was abolished to fix postal tariffs and to control employees salaries, and, furthermore, its political power over the system was abolished. 


The postal system no longer receives a subsidy from Congress, although they do make up the cost of certain low cost mailers such as nonprofit organizations or small publishers. 


The post office department played an active role in the settlement of the United States. The stagecoach, steamboat, canals, railroads, and the short-lived pony express, all contributed to the development of the new country. 

Postage Stamps


Although the United States postal system has been in business for well over two-hundred years an Englishman, Sir Rowland Hill, in 1840, initiated the penny (two cents in the U.S.) postage system; this method was subsequently incorporated throughout the world. He proposed a uniform rate of one penny for each letter weighing not more than one-half ounce, regardless of distance. 


Hill was born in England, the son of an English school teacher. He set out to solve the problems of teaching, and for about 15 years he conducted schools highlighting student democracy, self-discipline and forceful teaching. His personal interests included printing, astronomy, mathematics and transportation.


His approach to postal improvement matured between 1835 and 1837. His beliefs were based on the notion that proceeds stemming from taxes should increase with the growth of the population and national wealth. 


Hill suggested that a lower fee on letters should be adopted since higher taxes reduced the volume of mail and thus reduced the revenue. Along these lines he suggested that all mail should be prepaid. 


For practical purposes, Hill suggested that an adhesive postage be used on all letters. His idea was adopted Feb. 13, 1837, and launched in 1840, despite bureaucratic opposition.


Its design closely paralleled the postage stamp of today. It contained a portrait of Queen Victoria and the words "Postage and One Penny." It was printed in black ink and generally canceled with red ink. The next year the same design was printed in red ink and canceled with black ink.


The first year after the introduction of cheap postage the number of paid letters delivered in the United Kingdom more than doubled, with the increase continuing for decades.


The United States moved very cautiously in adopting England's new postal reform. In the 1840's this country was so wide- spread geographically that letter postal rates set at a penny seemed ridiculous. 


Seven years elapsed before our government approved the use of postage stamps. In 1847 permission was given for the application of two denominations, the five and ten cent stamp. Postage could be, accordingly, paid in money or stamps, and letters could be mailed without prepayment of postage. 


The first two stamps issued were for four years, but they were never used extensively by the general public, less than four million of the 5 cent and less than one million of the 10 cent stamps were printed. 


The year 1851 found the first one cent and three cent stamps being issued. Prepaid stamps were required in 1855, and the overall use of stamps was mandated the next year.


Letter rate postage of three cents in the U.S. was established in 1851. This was one cent higher than the English one penny rate, the higher rate being rationalized by the greater area of our country. 


In 1881 letter postage was reduced to two cents, remaining at this rate until World War I, when it was raised back to three cents.


Stamped envelopes were first introduced in the U.S. in 1853. Basic reasoning for this procedure was that a stamped envelope once used cannot be used a second time. 


Sir Rowland Hill's penny postage was exceptionally cheap, and the post card even cheaper, a half penny. The first post card in the world was issued at Vienna on October 1, 1869. England issued their first post cards in 1870, the United States in 1873. The first picture post card originated in 1870 during the Franco-German War. 


The United States issued, in 1892, its first double post card, or two cards folded, on one of which a message could be written and the reply on the other, each bearing the postage of one cent. 


The postage stamp is a work of art. A possibility of different artists, one for the main feature, one for the lettering, and one for the surroundings, all in minature, requires a highly artistic skill on the little bits of paper called the postge stamp.

THE AUSMUS FAMILY


On October 4, 1752, Peter Johann Assum (Ausmus), along with his two sons, Philip and Benjamin, entered this country at the port of Philadelphia. The Assum family had landed at this seaport simply because Germans were more humanely treated here. They left Rotterdam, Holland, along with Captain John Mason, on the ship “Neptune.” The four of them, along with their possessions, weighed 1,000 pounds. Johann’s wife died on the way over and was buried at sea. Their route from Rotterdam to America was by way of Cowes, England. 


Peter apparently married a second time about 1760 and they had two daughters. Peter married a third time and had two more daughters, these daughters being listed on the tax list for 1782.


Family researchers assume that Peter Assum was born in 1711 and lived to be 95 or 105 years old. He abruptly ceased to pay taxes in 1802, and in all probability died the same year, making him only 91. 

This family belonged to the Tunker or Dunkard’s religious group. This as-assemblage first appeared in Germany at Schwartzenau in 1708, located on the banks of the River Elder in Westphalia. They were later driven by persecution to Crefeld and Holland. Between the years 1719 and 1729, ninety-five percent of this devout sect had traveled to America. Most of them were men of education and intellect. By 1850 there were over 200,000 along with 1000 ministers that had traveled to the new country. 


The place of residence of the Ausmus family up to the year 1760 is unknown. The first account of this household is in Augusta County, Virginia, where Peter Assum paid tithables in 1760. There is a gap of eight years of the family residence where possibly they lived in Pennsylvania. 


An early researcher traced the family of Peter Assum in America to April 30, 1770, where Peter purchased 110 acres of land on this date, lying between Peaked Mountain and the Shenandoah River in Augusta County, Virginia. Peter Asam also bought 31 acres on March 10, 1773, in Augusta County on the headwaters of Humes Run, a branch of the Shenandoah River.


Spelling of the family name apparently differed every time the tax collector was changed. (One descendant says that the name Ausmus means “unchangeable” while another researcher says that the name means “stubborn.”) 


One-account states that in 1778 the northern part of Augusta County was divided to help form Rockingham County, and that Peter Osmus paid taxes on the Humes Run property. This said County lists, in 1782, that Philip Asmus paid white tithes on one person, indicating he had no children 16 years of age. He paid taxes on three horses and five cattle. 


The will of Benjamin Ausden, who died on January 19, 1807, listed a bill of sale of goods from Shenandoah County, Virginia. His name was later found and spelled Ousmas. Benjamin was an herb doctor and never married. He was George Washington’s personal doctor while George was a young surveyor in Western Virginia.


Philip Ausmus, son of Peter, moved to Claiborne County, Tennessee, in 1795. He perhaps persuaded his sister, Elizabeth, and her husband John Hunter, Jr., along with John’s brother, William, to relocate to the same area. Elizabeth brought their seven children to Claiborne County in 1807 and purchased a farm for $800 about three miles from Ausmus Fort. 


Philip Ausmus and two of his sons, Henry and Peter, traveled to Powell Valley in 1792 or 1793 where they surveyed and staked off 600 acres of land. Their first act was to fell the virgin trees to construct a fort-like house. In due time they began clearing and cleaning land for crop planting. After these everyday jobs were completed, Philip moved his family into the wilderness fort type home. The house was a double log home minus a floor or window at first. The dwelling had three portholes on each side, which was reached by a ladder running up the wall on the inside to the loft. These portholes were used to shoot through when suppressing the Indians. When the attacks came from the Indians, all the neighbors would run to the Ausmus fort because of its safety factor. 


The Ausmus house was 28 feet by 18 feet with a four-foot front door. Another dwelling was built about 10 feet away, which was used as a kitchen. It was a single story house, its size being about 12 feet by 15 feet with a loft for sleeping. 


Philip and his two sons met at Yoakam Fort (Claiborne County) in 1795, along with other pioneers. Here they resisted William Blount, Governor of the Territory South of the Ohio River (Tennessee), who had ordered them to get off Indian property. These hearty pioneers agreed to die before leaving their homes and crops, so informing the Governor. 


In 1797, Philip Ausmus donated the land for the Davis Creek Church, and was so agreed to by the settlers. Philip was a Dunkard preacher and would carry his German gun along with him whenever he preached. He preached in this church until his death.


This is just a short story on the Ausmus family. Some of this family migrated to the area of Campbell County. The family stands out in time and progress as one of East Tennessee’s finest. 
BAPTIST CHURCHES OF CAMPBELL COUNTY


The following article is taken from the writings of the late Dr. George L. Ridenour and found in Marshall McGhee’s book, “ A look Back - Lake View Baptist History, 1936-1990.”    


The article starts out by exclaiming that the Baptist churches of Campbell County have a heroic lineage of Biblical faith, which is certainly true. Ramsey says, “Late in the fall of this year (1775), settlement was made in Carter’s Valley, now Hawkins County.” He states that Mr. Kincaid, Mr. Long, Mr. Love and Mr. Mulkey, a Baptist preacher, were the pioneers.” This Mr. Kincaid was the Thomas Kincaid who died in Powell Valley near Glade Springs shortly after the formation of Campbell County in 1806. 


According to history William Murphy, a Baptist preacher, was born in Ireland and after the death of his first wife, came to America with his five children and settled in Virginia. He married secondly, Sarah Barton in 1768. Murphy and his five sons served in the Revolutionary War. Two of his brothers, Joseph and Richard Murphy, were also Baptist preachers. 


William Murphy, as history records, was the first Baptist preacher to preach the Word of God in what is now Campbell County. He held, in the summer or fall of 1797, several Baptist meetings at the congregational house spring by the creek below the present Glade Springs meeting house. The following year William Murphy traveled to the Spanish possession west of the Mississippi River and held extraordinary services under the protection of armed guards. These guards were assigned to protect the congregation from the maltreatment of the Spanish Catholic king.


The exact date of the formation of the Glade Springs Church is questionable. However, the white settlers on Indian land previous to 1799, who might possibly have been in the church organization were, Joshua English, Sr.; Richard and Joseph Hatfield and their families; John Petree and wife, Jacob Whitman and father, John, along with Jacob’s wife. 


John Whitman had traveled from his parent Pennsylvania church whose members possibly came from the now unknown Baptist churches gathered in the area of the glens of Scotland. The Heatherlys were from the Rhine River Valley and Thomas Smith from New England. 


Glade Springs Church was the first of the old Powell River Baptist churches and was organized at the mouth of Cedar Creek in 1819: the Big Creek Baptist Church was organized in 1842.


The Powell River Church, on the east side of Cedar Creek, was attended by Harris Tudor, William Curnutt and family, Isaac Horton Senior and Junior, Richmond Archer and his son John Archer, the Browns, James Bullards, Parkers, Greenes and a number of other families. However, in 1830 many of these families traveled west.


In 1838, at Glade Springs Baptist Church, the Powell Valley Association met and was trying to resolve the differences between a “fixed fate of God’s decrees” and anti-mission proclamation. Many brethren exempted themselves. Joshua Frost preached.  Some 5,000 people were in attendance at the church. 


James Brown said that he was at the meeting as a youngster and that he perched upon a tree stump at the edge of the crowd. Hearing Brother Frost’s sermon, he claimed that this address was the greatest of his life. 


Anti-missionaries won the moment that day, but the grand sermon preached by Bro. Frost lived on in memory of the crowd. The sermon preached was, “Alas and did my Savior bleed, And did my Sovereign died? Would devote that sacred head, For such as a worm as I?”  Just a few gathered with Bro. Frost as he at first led the singing, but as the song proceeded, the multitude joined in. 


In the immense crowd there were commitments to work for God until death. Glade Springs was the altar of a new day of service of personal witness. Christ used Joshua Frost to preach that Salvation came to everyone that believeth. 


The five churches which withdrew from Powell Valley Association and organized into the Northern Association were Puncheon Camp Creek, Powder Spring Gap, Blue Spring, Mount Pleasant (Indian Creek), and Clear Branch (Longfield), Lake City. Liberty on Powell’s River was organized and admitted possibly in 1840. (Because of this division, the Glade Springs Baptist membership was reduced to five members by 1842.)


During the year of 1839, Robert G. Kimbrough, a Baptist preacher who was the principal of Franklin Academy, shortly after organized the Jacksboro Baptist Church. His preaching's’ were pronounced as divine, and while at the Jacksboro facility some thirty members were baptized. He held a similar service at the Glade Springs church where he had some sixty converts. 


Jacksboro, with Elder Robert G. Kimbrough as preacher, was received into the Northern Association in 1842. This Organization of Baptist, during the next twenty years, was a most important society in evangelism missions and witnessing. 


It seems that during the depression in the 1890s labor amongst the local ministers was considered as part time. A few of these pastors were Red Amon Gross, John Reed, John and Micajah Green, C.L. Bowling, Calvin Wilson, R.W.Cooper, and others who were dedicated to their work. Patton Spradin was preparing to go to Kansas while F.R. Walters was beginning his new vocation of preacher. Money being scarce local pastors were paid in country produce, hog and hominy. 


Andrew Hutson from Louisville Seminary was just beginning his efforts in LaFollette, while J.M. Newport was laboring as a teacher/preacher in the mining camps. There were others farmer preachers affecting the lives of others with the Word of God. 

LAND OF THE CHEROKEES


Many Campbell Countians are direct descendants of the Cherokee Indian tribe. These Native Americans were among the first to inhabit the lands of East Tennessee. By the 1600’s they had built in the Southern Appalachians a Nation hundreds of years old, which incorporated a way of life with the surrounding natural world, a culture considerably varied and rewarding.  


However, scarcely just two centuries later, the newly formed government of the United States was driving the Cherokee on every occasion further west. This predicament to the Cherokees, in their gallant struggle for their homeland, was totally ignored by the pioneer settlers from Europe. These violators had staked claims to what seemed to them mere wilderness. But to the Cherokees this was a violation of their physical and spiritual being.


Most historians agree that during the last ice age the Indians crossed from Asia to this continent across Alaska’s Bering Strait. (This vast glacier, the Wisconsin Glacier, drew vast amounts of water from the oceans which in turn exposed huge amounts of land on the continents, thus, the appearance of the Bering Strait.) This ancient people separated into various regions of North America, both tribal and linguistic stocks. The Iroquois, which are now inhabitants of what are now the North Central and Atlantic states, became one of the most distinctive of these stocks. 


The Cherokees, a tribe of Iroquoian origin, by the year 1000, had broken off from the main tribe and headed south. They slowly, by choice or not, followed the mountain leads of the Blue Ridge and the Alleghenies until they reached what was called “the security and peace of the mist-shrouded Southern Mountains.” These “Mountaineers,” as other Iroquois called them, claimed an empire of roughly 40,000 square miles. Their lands were bounded on the north by the Ohio River and stretched southward in a great circle through eight states. This included half of South Carolina and almost all of Kentucky and Tennessee. 


Cherokee settlements were dotted throughout eastern Tennessee, western North Carolina and northern Georgia. These state regions are the rough outlines of what came to be the three main divisions of the Cherokee Nation. The Wwer settlements were on the headwaters of the Savannah River in Georgia and South Carolina, the Middle Towns were located on the Tuckasegee River in North Carolina, and the Overhill towns with its capital situated on the Tellico River in Tennessee.


The Cherokees, for the most part, settled only in the foothills of the Smokies. They were content with their surroundings, which included the fertile lands along the rivers and creeks. The stood in awe and they viewed the tangled wilderness. They looked upon the heights of the Smokies as something both consecrated and hazardous.

A Cherokee myth tells of a race of spirits living there in mountain caves. These handsome “little people” were usually helpful and kind, but they could make the intruder lose his way.


The Spanish explorer, Hernando DeSoto, traveled through Cherokee territory in 1540 and recorded generally primitive conditions. However, 17 years later, a Spanish missionary noted that the Cherokees appeared “sedate and thoughtful, dwelling in peace in their native mountains where they cultivated their fields and lived in prosperity and plenty.”


The physique of the male Cherokees was that they were moderately tall and rather slender with long black hair and sometimes very light complexions. They wore animal skin loincloths and robes, moccasins and a knee-length buckskin shirt. A Cherokee man might dress more flamboyantly than a woman, but both enjoyed decorating their bodies excessively, covering themselves with paint and, as trade with the white man increased, jewelry. 


The Cherokee house was a rough log structure with one door and no windows. A small hole in the bark roof allowed smoke from a central fire to escape. Furniture and decorations included cane seats and painted hemp rugs. A good-sized village might number 40 or 50 houses.

Chota, in the Overhill country on the Little Tennessee River, was a place of civil and religious influence. It was also known as a “Town of Refuge,” a place of asylum for Indian criminals, especially murderers. The Smokies settlement of Kituwah served as a “Mother Town,” or a headquarters for one of the seven Cherokee clans. 


These clans--Wolf, Blue, Paint, Bird, Deer, Long Hair, and Wild Potato--were essential to the social structure of the tribe. The Cherokees traced their kinship by clan; marriage within clans was prohibited. And while the broad divisions of the Lower, Middle, and Overhill followed natural diversity in geography and dialect, the clans assumed
great political implication. Each clan selected its own chiefs and its own “Mother Town.” 

Each village, whether built along or near a stream or surrounded by defensive log palisades, would have as its center a Town House and Square. The Square, a level field in front, was used for celebrations and dancing. The Town House itself sheltered the town council, plus the entire village, during their many meetings. When decision time came about, as many as 500 people crowded into the smoky, earth-domed building where they sat in elevated rows around the council and heard debates on issues from war to the public demands.


Democracy was the defining status of the Cherokee Nation. “White” chiefs served on the council during peacetime while “Red” chiefs served in time of war. 


Women participated as an equal in Cherokee society in conjunction with the men. Clan membership, which included land, followed the mother’s side of the family. The tribal men hunted much of the time, and also helped in some household chores such as sewing. Marriages were seriously collaborated. Women sat in council as equals to men. 


Priests once formed a special class, but after an episode in which one of the priests attempted to take the wife of the leading chief’s brother, all such privileged persons were made to take their place alongside--not in front of-- the other members of the community.

THE BRICEVILLE AIR FORCE BASE
Bogan’s historical features now in Volunteer Times
Editor’s note: Volunteer Times is honored to present Dallas Bogan as a weekly columnist. Mr Bogan is one of East Tennessee’s foremost historical writers. 
The Federal Government, in the late 1940s, deemed it necessary to install an early warning system for Oak Ridge. The solution for this plan was the organization of the 663rd Aircraft Control and to install a radar facility as a warning in case of an enemy attack. 

Construction began in 1950 and was finalized in 1951. And-so, the 663rd Aircraft Control and Warning Squadron (AC&W) was conceived and moved into its new facility on Cross Mountain above Briceville in Anderson County, Tennessee. 

The road to this facility was in an atrocious state. Apparently some Air Force person painted a sign which read, “Speed Limit, Eighteen holes per hour.” Another read, “Bridge Not Out, Just Going.” Major Lockwood, base commander, stated that he was authorized by the United States Government to spend money on the road if needed. It was further stated that a road be built from Vasper to the base, nearly all of it in Campbell County. This never happened.

The base, after a shaky start, was finally established. To reach the top of Cross Mountain and the radar base, a “bucket system” was used by way of a 10,000-ft. (nearly two miles) tramway. (The radar tower reached a height of nearly 1,000-ft. above the mountain.) 

In February 1958, Guy Easterly, former “LaFollette Press” reporter, wrote a short story concerning the “bucket” transportation. The account goes: 

“The Bucket is swung to a cable, which trails off up the mountain, dotted here and there by steel towers. Between the towers the cable car sways down toward the mountain side, and approaching the tower it rises and sways, and dips as it crosses, giving the feeling of hitting an air pocket. 

“The trip down was interesting but uneventful. It was crew change time now, whereas some ten people had ridden to the top, about twenty-five were going down. When we were pretty well stashed in, like sardines in a can, the thing began to move toward the edge of the cliff, slowly at first and then faster, it seemed, as we swung out over a snowy void. The ceiling was zero. Snow was peppering down on that mountain. 

“The ‘bucket’ did not fall, and no one jumped or fell from it. We landed safely and were led away to officer quarters and a briefing on the operation of the 663rd AC&W Squadron. 

“Ordinarily when we have ridden such contrivances, we have had to sign release papers, for Army and Navy, but as Major Lockwood explained, for self-assurance, there had been no fatal accidents on the cable car, and release was unnecessary.”

Stationed at the base at this time were 14 officers, 227 airmen and 26 civilians. From January 1, 1958, to June 30, 1958, the payroll was approximately $442,000. This meant a total of $884,000 for the entire year. 

Of the families represented on the base, 61 lived in Lake City, 37 in Clinton, six in Norris and twelve in Campbell County. This large expanse meant that the adjoining communities/cities merchants benefited greatly.

The estimate for the entire value of the base and property was $3,500,000; the radar equipment itself was valued at $909,000. Food and supplies at the base during fiscal year 1958-59 was estimated at $230,000. Project appropriations expenditures for the upcoming year were set at $516,000, which would include modernization of the tower operations building. A new access road, costing $24,000, was to be built which would run to the operations tower, which at that time was only accessible by cable car. Other new improvements would be the repair of the tramway car at a cost of $13,000; construction of 18 new housing units at a cost of $350,000, and repair of the present roadways and the water system. 

The radar station was believed virtually doomed from the start. It was too high to pick low flying aircraft while lower units picked up too much ground clutter from the surrounding mountains to be operative. Accordingly, such things as drought on the radar was another incident which was a negative approach.

As for Campbell County, it was pointed out that the station bought some supplies here, and that they used the LaFollette Municipal Hospital and the LaFollette Country Club, with the green fees being reduced. The Air Force personnel also donated blood for the local hospital. The County also had about four acres incorporated into the base. 

Many servicemen married local ladies and a few returned to the area after leaving the service. 

During the 1950s and early 1960s decreases in military spending brought about the closing of many bases, which included the radar base at Briceville.

Bogan Explores History of Welsh Coal Miners in the Knoxville Region
Glamorganshire is a maritime county in southeast Wales, bounded on the northwest and north by Carmarthenshire and Breconshire, on the east by the English county of Monmouthshire, south and southwest by Bristol Channel. It covers 813 square miles and is known for its coal resources. 

An Aberdare (Glamorganshire) native, John R. Williams, wrote a message home November 10, 1895, describing coal mining in Pennsylvania. This information is important to the history of Knoxville-area Welsh miners, since many of them first settled in Pennsylvania and worked there for a time before migrating to Tennessee.

He emphasizes in his letter that the anthracite districts in Pennsylvania has been very boring throughout the year of 1895. Laborers had been so abundant that the operators did somewhat as they pleased. At the time, Pennsylvania was spilling over with foreigners such as Poles, Hungarians, Slavish, Swedes, Italians, etc. The latter seemed to be driving the English, Welsh and Scottish miners out of contention. Quite noticeably, the Poles and Hungarians were a harder working people and physically stronger than the English and Welsh. Their living was much more flexible and the cost was about half that the Welsh countrymen. 

Mr. Williams writes that before the arrival of the foreigners, the Welsh were the hardest workers in the mines. Their foolhardiness and irrational annoyances meant that they at length became wholly uncontrollable. Consequently, the coal operators sought out the best and most manageable workers and sent for and received whole cargoes of the foreigners, which were named previously. Mr. Williams also notes that these outsiders practically monopolized the business which in turn disallowed America to hold out a friendly hand to the British miner and permitted them to stay at home and do the best he could in the old country or come here and starve. 

Mr. Williams states that in 1895 “there are in America today and especially in the west, thousands and thousands of our countrymen who would gladly return to England and Wales if they could do so, but they cannot find the money.”

A letter from Mr. Howell Davies of Jellico (in Campbell County) gives a minute history of the Welsh coal mining industry in Coal Creek and Briceville, the primary areas of Welsh coal mining activity north of Knoxville. Mr. Davies then goes on to describe an incident that occurred in Briceville and Coal Creek, which was uncannily similar to the uprisings which were happening in the Rhondda and Merthyr Valleys of Pennsylvania. Mr. Davies wrote to his relatives in Wales on 11 January 1892:

"Coal Creek and Briceville are two famous coal villages in the eastern part of the above state about three miles from each other. There is a bed of excellent steam coal here, about four feet thick. At the end of the war in 1865, they started working coal here. Two Welsh brothers, Joseph and David Richards, opened the first coalmine and built log houses. Three of the coalmines were opened by other companies soon afterwards. A large community of Welsh settled in the place and chapels were built to hold religious services in Welsh. There are very few of the old settlers left here now. Within a few years Messrs. Richards sold their interests to the Knoxville Iron Company.

"The wages for cutting coal now is fifty cents a ton. At the beginning of 1877 the owners demanded a lowering in wages. The colliers stood firm and the strike lasted for a long time. In the end, the Knoxville Iron Company made an agreement with the governor of the state to get convicts to work in their mines and this agreement was to last for six or seven years. The agreement was carried out and about 140 to 160 criminals sentenced to hard labor for their wicked deeds, such as thieves, house-breakers, murderers, etc. came to work in the valley. This strange migration forced the first settlers to sell their houses and land and to go elsewhere.

"There was bitter strife in the district, when the end of the first agreement came. The state government was approached and a number of major accusations about the barbaric cruelty used towards the prisoners were brought forward. A commission was appointed and a great number of witnesses were questioned, but the end was to legalize the institution of putting convicts to work in the coalmines. Consequently the convicts were kept working there until last summer.

"In 1888, the railroad was extended for three miles to the south of Coal Creek and three additional collieries were opened in the valley. A village called Briceville was built containing many hundreds of houses and a great number of them together with the plots on which they stood belonged to the inhabitants. One of the chief shareholders and a governor of the colliery at the end of the railroad is a Welshman, raised in America. At the beginning of 1890 there was a series of complaints and misunderstandings between the employers and employees of this colliery and sometime last summer a stockade was built and about 120 to 140 convicts were put to work in the mine with two or three armed guards of the state of Tennessee to watch over them. This caused bitterness and uneasiness among the inhabitants of Briceville and in the district for twenty miles around because of the loss in the trading sense and the notoriety in the social sense.

"At last, at the end of July, the colliers and their supporters gathered together in a band of about twenty-five hundred. They surrendered the stockade of the Tennessee mines and sent a deputation to the officer of the guards ordering him to leave and to take the convicts in orderly fashion with him to the state prison. If he refused to obey, the men would attack and let every convict go where he wished and the stockade would be smashed to pieces. The officer of the guards saw that it would be foolish to stand out against such a daring band and left in peace for the railroad station in Coal Creek, keeping watch on the prisoners. The collier army followed them shouting victoriously.

"After going three miles and coming by the Knoxville Iron Company coalmine, the miners split into two parts, one half to follow the Briceville convicts to the station and the other to order the convicts at Coal Creek and their guard to follow their fellow convicts. Those in charge at this settlement also obeyed without opposition and soon two groups of convicts and guards could be seen on the railroad coalcars and the engine taking them safely to the prison in KnoxviIle.

"After that the colIiers met in counciI and twenty were put to guard the Knoxville Iron Company property so that there should be no damage done to it. Everyone else went home without firing a shot. No drinking was permitted and no one lost a pennyworth of his possessions. The governor called out the state militia and headed for Coal Creek but fortunately he left the soldiers in Knoxville and boldly went among the citizens whom he considered mob leaders and rebels against the government. He came to Coal Creek and a crowd gathered to meet him. His reception was polite but not enthusiastic. It was decided to have arbitration on the matter and within a week it was decided that the arbitration should last sixty days on condition that the governor should summon the legislature immediately to discuss the matter. In the meantime the convicts should return to the coalmines.

"The legislature met and sat for four weeks in September. A deputation of colliers went to Nashville to plead the injustice of the convict law but the members, two thirds of whom were farmers, would not give them a hearing. The state senators encouraged the governor to use every means to compel obedience to the law although the press throughout all the states demanded that the complaints of the colliers should be heard.

"When the deputation returned from Nashville it was obvious that loyalty to the government had declined rapidly but to stop the trouble, the colliers raised the legal issue that the present agreement on convict labor was contrary to the laws of the United States and they won their case in the county court; but an appeal was lodged with a higher court in the state and judgment was given against the colliers. The Supreme Court's decision was published in the last week of October. On Thursday night of the same week, armed bands gathered around the two prisons in Coal Creek and BriceviIle firing sticks of dynamite and holes were blown in the stout wooden walls. The guards were frightened and the convicts were allowed to go where they wanted and Briceville prison was burned to the ground. It is said that the reason why the Knoxville Iron Company's prison was saved and not burned was that the works manager's house was attached to the prison and the convicts that were released pleaded that the kind wife of the manager should not be frightened or put in danger. She is a gentle and kind Welsh woman.

"The following Sunday they attacked in the same fashion the Olive Springs [this should be "Oliver Springs," a town located at the junction of Morgan, Anderson, and Roane Counties] prison, a coal village about fifteen miles south of BriceviIle. The convicts were set free and the prison burned. By the beginning of spring, Briceville was again free of convicts. After these disturbances, the governor offered large rewards for evidence against anyone who took part in the disturbances but not one accuser has come forward yet. The coalmines were run excellently in the last two months of the year by employing free labor. Everyone was fully and regularly employed. The only uneasy people were the owners of the two collieries and the government officers.

"The week before Christmas it was judged that harsher measures were being prepared by the government and on the morning of the last day of the year, twenty-two fully armed soldiers, one cannon, one Gatling gun and tons of equipment together with balls and powder arrived on a special train at Coal Creek station. Nobody knew of their coming. They went quickly into camp on top of the hill near the convict prison of the Knoxville Iron Company coalmine. On Saturday morning the second day of the year, a band of 125 convicts together with twenty-five armed guards were moved in railroad carriages near to the coalworks. The colliers and their supporters were angry and threatening. The following letter was distributed among the people of the neighborhood: 'The convicts shall not stay here again. We pray for blessing on our people, destruction on the convicts, destruction on the instigators, destruction on the militia. We must attack. It makes no difference what the consequences may be, death, destruction, anarchy! One hundred and sixty-seven people think they can frighten us! Will we put up with this? No! never! The time has come to rush to the defense of our families and our homes!"

A special thanks goes to Billie R. McNamara for submitting the material for this article. Web site: http://www.korrnet.org/welsh
DODGE McCULLEY‘S ACCOUNT OF ROACH’S FUNERAL HOME
Claudine Dodge McCulley wrote a very interesting account of the Roach Funeral Home. This article was submitted to the writer by the Campbell County Historical Society in LaFollette, Tennessee, and was found in the LaFollette Press dated, Thursday, July 17, 1986. It consisted of an interview with Emmett and Jack Roach. Rather than recite the interview, I shall give a version of the happenings. 

Roach Funeral Parlor, recently sold, is the oldest in LaFollette. It opened for business in June 1906, as the W.E. Mars Furniture and Undertaking Co. The furniture business was downstairs and the funeral parlor upstairs. 

Emmett E. Roach became associated with the business, in 1906, as an embalmer, graduating from the Embalming College of Cincinnati in 1920. The business moved in 1936 to 410 East Central, operating as an undertaking parlor and automobile ambulance service. Emmett stated they were the only folks in town who had a machine or well - a machine/truck, car, whatever they were called in those days. He also said they were the only individuals who had a machine long enough, outside of a truck, to haul a human body lying down.

The business moved to its present location in 1963 at 200 East Avenue. Emmett E’s son, Emmett A., and his wife Francis along with their son, Jack Emmett, then operated the business. 

At the beginning, in 1906, most funeral parlors were run in conjunction with a hardware or furniture company. Explanation for this was they had to have a box, and somebody had to make a box, and-so, a hardware or furniture company could craft them. 

Jack Roach stated that everything has changed in this century. Emmett related that the “undertaker” undertook everything. He built the casket, lined the casket, dug the grave and filled it. 

Jack recounted that in present times the undertaking trade is more of a service-oriented business. He also stated that most funeral homes today contract a grave digging company. Jack noted that the undertaker doesn’t do much physical labor anymore. They do the embalming, help to fill out of the necessary papers, and make arrangements for the service. 

Dr. Thomas Holmes invented the anterior embalming process during the Civil War. And-so, the bodies could be returned from the battlefields to the homes of their families. Minus this procedure meant that a person would probably die today and be buried tomorrow. 

Emmett declared that most embalmers began their training under a doctor’s watchful eye. In the past, doctors did most of the embalming. Emmett compared the art of embalming today with that of the Egyptians. He said the undertakers of today knew how it was done in ancient Egypt, the difference being that most of the present embalmers sought to preserve, restore and to disinfect, while the Egyptians were not interested in anything more than preservation. Jack Roach reiterated that in comparing the two embalming processes, the Tennessee mountains don’t have the hot, arid climate. So far as a comparable embalming procedure in an inside environment, Jack said that it could be replicated but it would take several months. The Egyptian practice was that the body was first soaked in a nitrogen solution, which in in all actuality, was nothing more than salt water. 

The Egyptian embalmers removed all the organs from the body, including the brain. The body was then subjected to various chemicals, perfumes and similar products. The higher you were in Egyptian society the longer it took to prepare the body. The average funeral in Egypt cost 66 cents of silver, compared to today’s cost of several thousand dollars. The afterlife of the Egyptians was first and foremost. A prime example is the huge pyramids built for their departure into another world. The lower class of Egyptians were possibly cremated, getting rid of the stench of the dead body. 

Embalming college was made mandatory for the embalmer when death certificates were required; in Tennessee, 1914. Jack Roach gave his opinion stating that Tennessee is a little backward in its laws regarding the funeral parlor business. Present credential for this trade is that you have to work for a funeral parlor for two years. The next step is that you travel to Nashville and take a written test. If you pass this test you are a funeral director; however, you have to attend college to be an embalmer. Embalming was not required to run a funeral home. If it weren’t for the embalmer, one would have to go back into the furniture business. Sometimes, in olden times, the embalming process was accomplished when actually running the furniture or hardware store.(Remember, this article was written in 1986. The laws have possibly been progressed by now.)

Emmett Roach declared that embalming was not mandatory; it was not a law. Most airlines or trains will not accept un-embalmed bodies for interstate transfer. This is the law of the airlines and trains, not a state law. There is a state law, however, listing specific diseases causing death that require embalming. Such is the case of an epidemic or a flood where typhoid might become out of control. (Some of the causes of death in the 1800s and 1900s were hives, measles, teething, croup, consumption, flux, paralysis, dropsy, typhoid, Tuberculosis flux.) 

In this area various mining accidents occur. Slate falls, and a variety of other incidents contribute to the accidental deaths of relatives and neighbors. The casket of the dead was delivered to a home or mining company, where the deceased was disposed at their convenience or their own discretion. It was not unusual for folks to build their own caskets or buy one and have it delivered to the home. Here the friends and neighbors took care of the body, bathed it, dressed it, and buried it. If the embalming procedure was absent, the body was to be buried as soon as possible, depending mainly on the weather conditions. 

The circuit rider (traveling clergyman) appeared about every three months and, as a result, he might have three or four funerals to preach. The folks were buried as soon as death occurred and, in due time, the circuit rider would preach a memorial service over the graves of the deceased. 

The funeral business is now being guided by the Federal Trade Commission’s rules. The director has to display a general price list for each family that it comes in contact with so far as the burial of the individual. The services are broken into several categories: that of the cost of a hearse, limousines; the cost of a steel casket compared to that of a wooden casket; the cost of a concrete vault; acknowledgement cards, thank you notes, transporting the remains to another funeral home, etc. 

THE SOAP MAKING PROCESS FROM THE OLDEN DAYS
I can well remember my grandmother making soap in years gone by. I have been searching for some time the method of this process. I have received permission from the author of the following to write of this procedure. Perhaps many of the readers remember the times of soap making and possibly have been involved in this somewhat ancient craft.

At first the earliest settlers simply brought an abundant supply of soap along with them. The Talbot, a ship chartered by the Massachusetts Bay Company to carry persons and supplies from England to its colonies at Naumbeak, now known as Salem and Boston, listed among its cargo 2 firkins of soap. A firkin is an old measurement which was a wooden, hooped barrel of about nine gallon capacity. John Winthrop, who was to become the first governor of the Massachusetts Bay Colony, when writing to his wife in 1630 from Boston included soap in a list of requirements to be brought on her crossing to the New world.

After the colonists were settled and had been able to survive the first years of hardships, they found it more beneficial to make soap themselves using the plentiful amount of wood ashes, an accepted result of their farmstead activities. With also a plentiful supply of animal fat from the butchering of the animals they used for food, the colonists had on hand all the ingredients for soap making. They did not have to rely on waiting for soap to be shipped from England and waste their goods or few pieces of currency in trade for soap.

Soap with some work and luck could be made for free. Soap making was performed as a yearly or semiannual event on the homesteads of the early settlers. As the butchering of animals took place in the fall, soap was made at that time on many homesteads and farms to utilize the large supply of tallow and lard that resulted. On the homes or farms where butchering was not done, soap was generally made in the spring using the ashes from the winter fires and the waste cooking grease, that had accumulated throughout the year.

In making soap the first ingredient required was a liquid solution of potash commonly called lye. The lye solution was obtained by placing wood ashes in a bottomless barrel set on a stone slab with a groove and a lip carved in it. The stone in turn rested on a pile of rocks. To prevent the ashes from getting in the solution a layer of straw and small sticks was placed in the barrel then the ashes were put on top. The lye was produced by slowly pouring water over the ashes until a brownish liquid oozed out the bottom of the barrel. This solution of potash lye was collected by allowing it to flow into the groove around the stone slab and drip down into a clay vessel at the lip of the groove.

Some colonists used an ash hopper for the making of lye instead of the barrel method. The ash hopper was kept in a shed to protect the ashes from being leached accidentally by a rain fall. Ashes were added every so often and water was poured over at intervals to insure a constant supply of lye. The lye dripped into a collecting vessel located beneath the hopper.

The preparation of the fats or grease to be used in forming the soap was the next step. This consists of cleaning the fats and grease of all other impurities contained in them.

The cleaning of fats is called rendering and is the smelliest part of the soap making operation. Animal fat, when removed from the animals during butchering, must be rendered before soap of any satisfactory quality can be made from it. This rendering removes all meat tissues that still remain in the fat sections. Fat obtained from cattle is called tallow while fat obtained from pigs is called lard.

If soap was being made from grease saved from cooking fires, it was also rendered to remove all impurities that had collected in it. The waste cooking grease being saved over a period of time without the benefits of refrigeration usually became rancid, This cleaning step was very important to make the grease sweeter. It would result in a better smelling soap. The soap made from stale fats or grease would work just as well as soap made from sweet and clean fats but not be as pleasant to have around and use.

To render, fats and waste cooking grease were placed in a large kettle and an equal amount of water was added. Then the kettle was placed over the open fire outdoors. Soap making was an outside activity. The smell from rendering the fats was too strong to wish in anyone's house. The mixture of fats and water were boiled until all the fats had melted. After a longer period of boiling to insure completion of melting the fats. The fire was stopped and into the kettle was placed another amount of water about equal to the first amount of water. The solution was allowed to cool down and left over night. By the next day the fats had solidified and floated to the top forming a layer of clean fat. All the impurities being not as light as the fat remained in water underneath the fat.

In another large kettle or pot the fat was placed with the amount of lye solution determined to be the correct amount. This is easier said than done. We will discuss it more later. Then this pot was placed over a fire again outdoors and boiled. This mixture was boiled until the soap was formed. This was determined when the mixture boiled up into a thick frothy mass, and a small amount placed on the tongue caused no noticeable "bite". This boiling process could take up to six to eight hours depending on the amount of the mixture and the strength of the lye.

Soap made with wood ash lye does not make a hard soap but only a soft soap. When the fire was put out and the soap mixture was allowed to cool, the next day revealed a brown jelly like substance that felt slippery to the touch, made foam when mixed with water, and cleaned. This is the soft soap the colonists had done all their hard to produce. The soft soap was then poured into a wooden barrel and ladled out with a wooden dipper when needed.

To make hard soap, common salt was thrown in at the end of the boiling. If this was done a hard cake of soap formed in a layer at the top of the pot. As common salt was expensive and hard to get, it was not usually wasted to make hard soap. Common salt was more valuable to give to the livestock and the preserving of foods. Soft soap worked just as well as hard and for these reasons the colonists, making their own soap, did not make hard soap bars.

In towns and cities where there were soap makers making soap for sale, the soap would be converted to the hard soap by the addition of salt. As hard bars it would be easier to store and transport. Hard bars produced by the soap maker were often scented with oils such as lavender, wintergreen, or caraway and were sold as toilet soap to persons living in the cities or towns.

Hard soap was not cut into small bars and wrapped as soap is sold today. Soap made by the soap makers was poured into large wooden frames and removed when cooled and hard.

The amount of soap a customer wanted was cut from the large bar. Soap was sold usually by the pound. Small wrapped bars were not available until the middle of the 19th century.

Another thought to remember is the soap making procedure described is not only how the homesteading colonial women made their soap. Soap making was generally a task the women did. This was essentially the method used by all soap makers of the period. Soap making was always considered one of the most difficult jobs on the farm or homestead.

CAMPBELL COUNTY SHERIFF, 1892-93: JOHN M BURNETT 
The following was presented to the Campbell County Historical Society by Mary Archer McTeeter from Morgantown, West Virginia, and submitted to the writer by the fine personnel at the Campbell County Historical Society in LaFollette, Tennessee. I will record as it was originally written. It tells the sad story of the happenings of John M. Burnett, Sheriff of Campbell County, 1892-93
“Several different versions relating to the slaying of John Burnett have circulated among family members down through the years. The following account of this tragedy was written by Attorney James A. Fowler, who assisted Andrew J. Will Taylor in prosecuting this case in the Campbell County courts. Mr. Fowler, who later became Asst. U.S. Attorney General for East Tennessee, and still later Mayor of Knoxville, published a volume which details many of the cases he prosecuted. This publication is on file at the McClung archives in Knoxville. Mr. Fowler writes:

“John Burnett was sheriff of Campbell County, probably the most aggressive and diligent in the enforcement of law of all the sheriffs the county ever had. He had a deputy by the name of John Dail, who was about as active, aggressive and diligent as the sheriff himself. Both were fearless, and the terror of criminals did not enter their heads.

“One morning they boarded in Jellico the passenger train which left there for Knoxville about daylight. One of them had a Capias [warrant] issued by the Clerk of the Circuit Court against either a Smith or Jones. Sometime after the train started it was ascertained that the man was aboard. He was placed under arrest, I think by Burnett. There were also on the train three Smith brothers from Scott County; Albert, Will and another I believe was named Roscoe. The man Jones, who was under arrest, was also from Scott County and was a companion of the Smiths.

“Burnett was standing in the aisle of the car and Dail was sitting on one seat facing the prisoner, who was on another seat which had been turned to face the one occupied by Dail. Suddenly a disturbance was started by the Smiths. One of them shot Burnett in the head, killing him instantly. Dail shot Roscoe Smith about the junction of the neck and breast, killing him. Dail and Jones scuffled to the step and fell off the train. Albert and Will Smith escaped. Jones, stunned by the fall, was captured and taken to the jail at Jacksboro. That night a mob took him from the jail and hanged him. Albert Smith was subsequently captured. 

“I [James A. Fowler] was employed to assist the Attorney General in prosecuting him. He was convicted of second degree murder and sentenced to ten years. Albert Smith’s connection with the killing of Burnett was very doubtful. The real culprit was Will Smith. The evidence left no doubt that he fired the fatal shot when the melee began, and Roscoe Smith was attempting to join in when Dail shot him. Now begins the second episode.

“The County Court elected ‘Bud’ Burnett, a younger brother of John Burnett, to fill the vacancy of the office of the sheriff. He, of course, was very anxious to bring about the capture of Will Smith, and offered a substantial reward for that purpose. After a while he received a communication from a man by the name of Stoner, who was in Kentucky, representing that he knew where Will Smith was. Some letters passed between them. Stoner finally wrote that if Burnett would send him fifty dollars in advance to bear expenses, he would secure the arrest of Smith and hold him until Burnett could come for him. Burnett promptly sent him fifty dollars. But Stoner wrote back right away, giving a plausible excuse why he was not then able to have Smith placed under arrest.

“A short time afterwards Burnett received another letter from Stoner, this time from a mining town in West Virginia, in which he again professed to have Will Smith located, and asked that another fifty dollars be sent to procure the arrest. Burnett did not yet suspect that Stoner was deliberately lying, that he knew nothing about the whereabouts of Will Smith, and that his representations were made for the sole purpose of swindling Burnett out of some money. But Burnett wanted to be sure of Smith’s capture, so he at once took a train to the place from which Stoner’s letter was sent.

“Stoner did not know of Burnett’s coming. By accident, however, he was at the train station when Burnett arrived. They had previously met and Burnett recognized him. He went directly at him. Stoner represented that Smith was in a mining village some distance from the station, and suggested that they go there. In going they passed though a hollow with woods and undergrowth on either side. As the place was strange to Burnett and they had no light, he had to be guided by Stoner. When in the hollow, Stoner made a pretext that they were being attacked, stepped behind Burnett, shot him in the back and ran. He intended to kill Burnett, and thought he had. His object was of course to avoid being caught by Burnett in the scheme to defraud him. He thought it would be a simple matter to concoct a story of an attack by moonshiners or other outlaws which would satisfactorily explain the killing.

“However, Burnett was painfully, but not seriously wounded. He fell, then wheeled out of the road they were traveling and spent the night in the woods. He yet did not suspect Stoner had shot him. The next day he ascertained the truth. Burnett had lost his hat when he fell. Stoner returned to the place in search of Burnett’s body, found the hat, and was wearing it when arrested. Stoner subsequently stood trial in Campbell County and was sentenced to fifteen years. The case was appealed, and eventually Stoner broke jail and was never recaptured. 

“Whether Will Smith, the man who most likely shot Sheriff John Burnett, was never captured is not known.” 

MAPLE SUGAR AND MAPLE SYRUP
While searching through my files I ran across an old article that was written in the early 1900s. It goes into some detail concerning the making of maple sugar and maple syrup in the old sugar camps. 
Generations growing up that have never seen an old-time sugar-camp or a sugar-trough. Today where maple sugar and maple syrup are made is of a high grade and on a somewhat extensive scale; improved methods are steadily being employed. Buckets with covers to keep out the rain and dirt are used in place of troughs hollowed out of split logs. Metal spouts instead of split pieces of elder are inserted in the auger holes in the trees, galvanized storage tanks are used instead of barrels and improved evaporators instead of pots for boiling.

The making of maple sugar was a most important industry in early Tennessee and it furnished many settlers with the only kind of sugar they could obtain, and it is certainly known that Indians in Tennessee made maple sugar thirty years before the first settlement. 

The Indians probably learned the art of making maple sugar from the whites, and there is no reason to believe that they ever made it by boiling until after they obtained pots and kettles from the white man. The first account we have of red men making sugar is that given by Col. James Smith, a prisoner with a tribe in Ohio. He records that in 1756 the Indians had two large brass kettles, holding about fifteen gallons each and some smaller vessels in which they boiled the sap. These vessels were of course obtained from the whites. It is possible to reduce the sap to sugar without boiling, either by freezing or by natural evaporation, but is not known that the Indians ever practiced either method.

In the opening of the first settlements, when there were only a few acres of cleared land, the family from the start were able to supply themselves plentifully with sugar and maple syrup. The trees were probably at first tapped with a giblet and wild turkey quills used to convey the sap into the wooden troughs. Afterward a half inch auger was used for tapping and spiles or spouts made of elder were used instead of turkey quills. The sap was at first boiled down in kettles and pots hung over two logs between which the fire was built. In later years, the kettles were placed in furnaces for boiling the sap.

Hon. John Quincy Smith, of Clinton County, Ohio, was the son of Thomas Smith and in an unpublished manuscript has left his recollections of sugar making as it was carried on in his boyhood. So generally was the business engaged in by the farmers of the region at that period that about the middle of February the larger boys would be called from school to assist in the work, and in the early spring the only scholars left in school were girls and smaller boys.

Thomas Smith had a great many sugar trees, sometimes more than a thousand would be tapped. These trees were bored with a small auger about three and half feet from the ground and an elder spike about ten inches long driven tightly into the hole. At first only wooden troughs were used to catch the sap. These were made by cutting down blue ash trees, sawing the trunks into lengths of about two feet which were split in the middle, and hollowed out with an ax so as to make a trough holding two or three gallons. A first rate ax man could make forty or fifty of these troughs in a day. After 1830 earthen crocks, costing 6 or 8 cents and holding about two gallons each were used. They were cleaner and better than troughs, but if a sudden freeze came when they were full of water, a great many would burst, and nearly every year a new supply of crocks would be purchased to make up the loss from breakage.

The furnace was built for about a dozen kettles holding ten or fifteen gallons each. The sugar water was hauled to the furnace in a hogshead standing on end and placed on a two horse sled. At the furnace it would be emptied into other hogsheads, or into a large trough dug out of a big log, or into a wooden cistern made of wide poplar planks.

Sometimes during a very heavy rain it would be impossible to prevent a great waste of sugar water. The vessels would all be running over, and in order to save as much as possible, it was necessary to boil all night. John Q. relates that when he was about thirteen he and his brother Joseph spent several nights pushing the fires and filling the kettles when there was a heavy rain. They had a shanty just in front of the furnace in which was a pile of straw and some bed covers. They slept turn about, one watching the fires while the other slept. 

Making sugar was always a hard and laborious job. The ground was always wet and muddy, and the work had to be done often in rain and snow. The boy remembers to have worked at the sugar camp hauling when the snow was deep and it was raining so hard that for hours he had not a dry thread on him. But the work during a "strong run" was regarded as very profitable.

The father made sugar not only for use at home, but for the market, some seasons selling several barrels of it. It brought a good price, sometimes as much as 15 or 16 cents a pound. He usually made two or three trips each year to Cincinnati with a wagonload of produce for market consisting mainly of maple sugar, bacon, lard, and sometimes sweet potatoes. He would sleep at night in his wagon. The journey to the city and the return would each take a day and a half, and he would get away from home four days on each trip to market.

In most places a delicious and wholesome sugar could be made from the sap of the maple tree. Unlike the trees of his fruit orchard, his sugar trees were already grown. Five pounds of sugar could be made from one tree in one season, and it was believed that repeated tappings improved the quality of the sap. No costly machinery or apparatus was necessary. The only implements required for the manufacture of sugar for home use was an ax and a kettle. It required no more knowledge or skill to make maple sugar than to make soap or cider. It was said that one man sold 600 pounds, all made by his own hands in one season. 

THE BLACK DUTCH - MELUNGEONS
Part I
BLACK IRISH, BLACK DUTCH, ETC:

A theory regarding the Black Dutch is that in 1588 the Spanish armada, after suffering a defeat by the British, or possibly a horrific storm, both being interpreted differently by various sources, went east and then north. Their destination was Ireland and after arrival they totally looted, pillaged and raped the local women. Children of these conquerors in Ireland who have dark hair are referred to as Black Irish. 

Another analysis of the Black Irish indicates those who came as immigrants from other places (generally England) were sometimes had the surname “Fitz” as in Fitzwilliam - the English king ‘gave’ land to those who could possess and hold it. The black part was a reference to skin or hair or even eye color; it was a suggestion of ‘blaggard’=black=a disapproving implication. 

Another implication is the term Black Dutch refers to Sephardie Jews who intermarried with Dutch Protestants to escape the Inquisition, many of their offspring later moving to the Americas. The ‘black’ referred to their dark hair and complexions, although rare, of German immigrants from the Black Forest region. One historian states that the Black Dutch came after 1740. Other historians disagree and declare it is uncertain the Black Dutch were of Jewish or Dutch heritage. 

The term ‘Black Dutch’ has no reliable definition for this phrase. Some indications say that the original name came from rough complexioned Germans, but Anglo-Americans tentatively applied the term to any dark-complexioned American of European descent. Others say the term was implemented in an attempt to disguise Indian or tri-racial descent. Some Cherokee & Chickasaw Indians are called Black Dutch.

Black Dutch may be one and the same with Pennsylvania Germans who migrated in the area of Pennsylvania as a group. They say they are from ‘Deutsche,’ which sounds like the pronunciation of ‘Dutch, ’ which actually means ‘German ‘ in their own language. Because they weren’t blonde and blue eyed but darker, they were called Black Dutch.

(Some genealogists have suggested that the Black Dutch were either an offshoot of the Melungeons or one of the tri-racial isolate groups in Appalachia.)

Another largely accepted clarification about the Black Dutch is that, possibly, they were Netherlanders or of dark skinned who were descendants of the Spanish who occupied the Netherlands in the late 16th century and early 17th century, and intermarried with the blonde natives. 

Some say that Black Dutch, Black Irish, and other terms, pertained to those persons who were the children of local women and shipwrecked sailors from Spain, or other countries where the people have darker skins. Some researchers state that the term is relevant to a person of a very mean disposition.

A Dutch rebellion against the Spanish monarch began in1555 and continued to its triumphant finale in 1609. The nation could not field enough soldiers to defend the empire, and, as a consequence, Spain subjected neighboring Portugal and impressed Portuguese men into Spanish regiments throughout the empire. Some regiments were in Tennessee on a Spanish expedition, which explored eastern Tennessee in 1567. It is more than credible that Portuguese soldiers would desert or defect in Tennessee if the opportunity presented itself. As a sidelight, a genealogical irregularity resulted from this war. A new race was created in the southern part of Holland during the six decades that Spanish and Portuguese soldiers were stationed there. Their fraternization with the Dutch girls produced dark-skinned children, which were the beginning of the Black Dutch. Mr. Gowen notes that these Melungeons were a dark skinned people who wore beards and had straight black hair. Many had dark blue eyes. John Sevier found them when his expedition crossed the Appalachians in 1774.

By the mid-1800s the term had become an American term for anything denoting one's small stature, dark coloring, working-class status, political sentiments, or anyone of foreign origin. It has been used as an abusive expression labeling German Union troops in the Civil War

MELUNGEONS:

The Melungeons are a people of noticeable Mediterranean descent, characteristically dark complexioned, who may have settled in the Appalachian wilderness as early or possibly earlier than 1567. Dr. N. Brent Kennedy author of, ‘The Melungeons: The Resurrection of a Proud People,’ started the recent research into this group of people. He mentions the need to hide the family connection to the Melungeon community as the main reason our Melungeon ancestors are so hard to find. Dr. Kennedy believes the Melungeons were a people who almost certainly intermarried with Powhatans, Pamunkeys, Creeks, Catawbas, Yuchis, and Cherokees to form what some have called, perhaps a bit fancifully, ‘a new race’.

They became visible in the southern Appalachians with mining as a widespread occupation before the English settlers explored the area. One conjecture is that they are descended from people of mixed ancestry in Spanish settlements in the Southeast, who kept moving into the internal boundaries to avoid English colonists. Genetic diseases appear in Melungeon populations, which only seem to appear elsewhere as inhabitants from the Iberian Peninsula and North Africa.

The Melungeons were ‘discovered’ in the Appalachian Mountains in 1654 by English explorers and were described as being dark-skinned with refined European features, meaning they were not black. They were also described as being a hairy people, who lived in log cabins with irregular arched windows; these were certainly not Indians.

They practiced the Christian religion, and told the explorers in their own Elizabethan English, that they were ‘Portyghee,’ (Portugese) but were described as being ‘not white.’ They made clear they were not of Northern European stock, even though some of them had red hair and others had very conspicuous blue or blue/green eyes. New research is answering the question, where did these people come from? 

Part II
Some intellectual traits include the custom of putting tiny houses over graves, placing a pattern of nails over doors for good luck or protection, and working with metals, gems, or mining.

The Melungeon descendants have some rather distinctive physiological traits. There is a bump on the back of the head of some descendants, that is located at mid-line, just above the juncture with the neck. It is about the size of half a golf ball or smaller. If you cannot find the bump, check to see if you like some descendants have a ridge, located at the base of the head where it joins the neck, rather than the Anatolian bump. To find a ridge, place your hand at the base of your neck where it joins your shoulders, and on the center line of your spine. Run your fingers straight up your neck toward your head. If you have a ridge, it will stop your fingers from going on up and across your head.

There is also a ridge on the back of the first four teeth (upper and lower) of some descendants. If you place your fingernail at the gum line and gently draw (up or down) you can feel it and it makes a slight clicking sound. The back of the teeth also curves outward rather than straight as the descendants of Anglo-Saxon family lines do. Teeth like these are called Asian Shovel Teeth or just Shovel Teeth, which are typical of Native Americans.

Some descendants have what is called an Asian eye fold. This is quite difficult to describe. At the inner corner of the eye, the upper lid attaches slightly lower than the lower lid. That is to say that it overlaps the bottom lid. If you place your finger just under the inner corner of the eye and gently pull down, a wrinkle will form which makes the fold more visible. Some people call these eyes, “sleepy eyes, dreamy eyes, and bedroom eyes.

Some other characteristics are, exceptionally high arches, an extra bone in the foot, and the foot may be wider than normal and double-jointedness. 

There are some Mediterranean diseases, which show up in some of the descendants of the Melungeons. Some of these diseases can be quite severe, even life threatening. Sleep problems, including periodic limb movement, shaky (restless/active) leg syndrome, and sleep apnea are one such area. Allergies, including lactose intolerance, are another.

Their Scots-Irish and English neighbors discriminated against Melungeon people as they located into the areas where the Melungeons lived. They wanted the rich valley lands occupied by the Melungeons they found residing there. They discriminated against the Melungeons because they were darker skinned than their own Anglo-Saxon ancestors and because this helped them obtain the lands they desired. 

This unfairness carried into the 1940’s-50’s and perhaps even longer because of the work of a man called Plecker, who was the state of Virginia’s Director of Vital Statistics and an avowed racist. He labeled the Melungeons, calling them mongrels and other worse terms - some were labeled FPC - Free Person of Color in Virginia. This in turn led to their children being labeled as Mulatto and both of those terms came to mean ‘black.’ If you find such a term for any of your ancestors, it does not necessarily mean that they actually were black. Some Melungeon families married white, some black, some Indian, some a combination. But for all of them the terms led to rulings in which they couldn’t own property, they couldn’t vote, and they couldn’t school their children. As a result, they hid their backgrounds with the Indian myth, with the orphan myth, and the adopted myth, and they changed either the spelling of their surnames or they picked an entirely new name, moving many times, anything to distance themselves from their Melungeon heritage. They sometimes became "Black Dutch" or "Black Irish", or some other combination.

The preceding material is a condensed version of the original manuscript and was taken by permission from the works of Shirley Hornbeck.
Web site: http://homepages.rootsweb.com/~hornbeck
LAFOLLETTE HOTELS OF THE PAST
As I was searching through the archives of the Campbell County Historical Society/Museum in LaFollette recently, the writer discovered a history of recent hotels in the city. They were the Adro and the Russell hotels of which I’m sure the older folks remember. The first, the Adro Hotel, appeared in an edition of the LaFollette Press, dated April 12 (?) 1922. The title of the article was: Adro Hotel Opens To Public: Magnificent New Hostelry Celebrates Event With Dance and Dinner. It goes as such:

“The new Adro Hotel held its formal opening last Thursday night. A delightful dinner was enjoyed by more than two hundred and fifty guests. The lobby, dining room, parlor and halls were filled with the gay assemblage that came to celebrate the opening of one of the most magnificent hotels in East Tennessee. Every room has been reserved in advance. Guests came from a number of neighboring towns and from several states.

“Bowen’s Lyric Orchestra of Knoxville played during the dinner and for the dance afterwards. Their music was very fine and the guests showed their appreciation by generous applause. This orchestra is an excellent organization and LaFollette people will welcome them enthusiastically should they plan a return engagement. 

“Considering the number to be served, the management deserves credit for the efficient way it was handled. Dinner began at 6:30 and continued until after 10. The menu was complete in every respect, consisting of cream of tomato, celery hearts, queen olives, chicken a la king, baked country ham with current jelly, head lettuce, sliced tomatoes, Thousand Island dressing, snow flake potatoes, creamed cauliflower, French peas en patties, hot rolls, vanilla ice cream with fresh peaches, Marshmallow pie, coffee and iced tea. 

“After the dinner, tables were removed and dancing was enjoyed by the guests far into the ‘wee small hours.’ Everybody was enthusiastic in their praise of the whole affair. It was one of the most brilliant occasions ever witnessed in LaFollette.

“While waiting turn to be served the guests made an inspection of the splendid new hotel. Every convenience and comfort has been thought of in the arrangement and equipment of the building. There are larger hotels in the state, but there are none equipped to render better service than is the Adro.

“The manager, Mr. John B. Minnich, was formerly manager of the Continental Hotel in Pineville. He is an experience man hotel man who not only knows the traveling public, but also knows their requirements in hotel services. 

“The builders and owners, Messrs. Adams and Rogers were kept busy receiving congratulations on their public spirit shown by their investing a large amount of money in a modern hotel for LaFollette.” 

THE RUSSELL HOTEL OF LAFOLLETTE
The following is an article taken from the writings of Maria Claiborne, based on her memories of the Russell Hotel in LaFollette. 

The Russell Hotel was originally the Adro Hotel and was built by Dr. W.C. Adams and Jim Rogers (ADams and ROgers). 

Dr. Adams was reared in Virginia where his family had lived on the James River near Richmond for many generations. After graduating from the Dental College of Virginia, he took note of the call “Go west, young man.” His decision took him to LaFollette, Tennessee, a coal and iron town, which was founded by Harvey M. LaFollette. He apparently arrived before the big LaFollette fire in 1904, for Dr. Adam’s tragedy during the fire was one of the narrowest of escapes. His apartment was located on the third floor where he was completely cut off by flames. Upon his retreat from the disaster, he was compelled to break the window, jump through a wire screen to the pavement below. Dr. Adams broke his hip and suffered from a limp for the rest of his life. 

Jim Rogers was from an old Claiborne family dating back to Major David Rogers. Jim wed Melvina Bolinger and subsequently operated a mill on Indiana Avenue. Adams and Rogers were previously engaged in several businesses together, and in 1922 built the hotel. 

The Russell Hotel, during the depression, was purchased by Bill Russell and later passed on to Bill’s nephew, C.H. Russell, and Icey Russell, who was a daughter of Jim Rogers. The name continued on, in essence, to provide a welcome for travelers and was known specifically for its delicious meals. Wedding receptions and distinctive parties were given in the congenial hotel. 

Dr. Adams walked down the aisle with Sarah Elizabeth Sharp. Old letters were found in an attic trunk of their home, which were written by Dr. Adams and Sarah Sharp while she was studying music at the Conservatory in Cincinnati. 

As of July 1997, the Russell Hotel had been razed and the lot was prepared for a building by the housing authority. 

Maria Claiborne also wrote of different happenings in LaFollette. She states that brothers D & G Lobertini arrived in East Tennessee in the 1900s. D. Lobertini, at the time of WW I, owned a coal mine on Davis Creek, and G. Lobertini was a weighman and a checker at a mine. 

She writes that D. Lobertini built the Piedmont Hotel in LaFollette. According to the marble stone in the corner of the building, the hotel was built in 1923. It was considered quite attractive. It was relatively spacious and the masonry floor was considered very appealing. A wide stairway led to the second floor and a bridge from the back of the second floor led to a parking lot at a second level behind the building. 

Nephews, Frank and Leo Lobertini, began making ice in the 1920s and later established the concrete block business that later expanded into the rather large operation known as Loby Blox. 
The Piedmont Hotel was owned and controlled by Carl Burnette of Powell Valley Hardware Company. The hotel was later sold to Charlie Russell, who also operated the Russell Hotel. It was later sold to John Brown and others. Sometime later, a fire damaged the building to the degree that the third story was removed and the building was converted to a two-story dwelling. 

Many thanks to the personnel at the Campbell County Historical Society for submitting the information for this article.
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